Happiness and The Art of Being

A layman's introduction to the philosophy and practice of the spiritual teachings of

Bhagavan Sri Ramana

Copyright © 2006-2007 Michael James

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, except for brief and duly acknowledged quotations, or as expressly permitted by law, without the prior permission in writing of the author.

This e-book is available for free download on the author's website: www.happinessofbeing.com.

First e-book edition December 2006
Second e-book edition March 2007
Third e-book edition August 2007
First printed edition August 2007

For information about the availability of the printed version of this book, please refer to www.happinessofbeing.com/happiness art being.html.

DEDICATION

To

Bhagavan Sri Ramana,

who taught me all that I know, and gave whatever inspiration created this book,

and to his closest disciples, such as

Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai,

who first elicited and recorded his basic teachings, which he later formed into his precious treatise *Nan Yar?* (Who am I?),

Sri Muruganar,

who not only elicited his finest philosophical poems and verses, but also recorded his oral teachings most comprehensively, profoundly and poetically in *Guru Vachaka Kovai*,

and

Sri Sadhu Om,

who helped me to understand his teachings more clearly and deeply.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my gratitude to V.S. Ramanan, President of Sri Ramanasramam, for kindly giving me permission to include in this book my own translations of verses and other passages from the writings of Sri Ramana and Sri Muruganar, the originals of which are copyrighted by Sri Ramanasramam.

I would particularly like to express my gratitude to all those friends who read the manuscript of this book, made helpful and encouraging comments, and pointed out many typing errors that I had overlooked, especially M.V. Sabhapathy, M.K. Srinivasan, N. Sankaran, M. Sahadevan, Ginny Porter, Chris Quilkey, Robin Koch, John Manetta and Ellen Mack, and to all those friends who have generously contributed towards the cost of publishing both the international and the Indian editions this book, including H.K. Seshadri, Vasuki Seshadri, Steve Harnish, M. Sahadevan, M.S. Venketraman, Chris Quilkey, Wasyl Nimenko, Jayashree Poddar, Rajashekar Reddy, N.T. Bhoj, Preeti Kini, Hrishikesh Menon, Josef Bruckner, Eugene Shearn, Sam Ruthnum, Reinhard Jung, Ginny Porter, Thomas and Allyn Fisher, Linda Sherman, Srinivas Rajagopalan, Jim Peters, Archith Goverdhan, Umesh Prabhu, Tom Davidson-Marx, David Pomatti, Mark McEntagart and several others who preferred to keep their generous contributions anonymous.

I would also like to express my gratitude to everyone else who contributed in any way to the production of this book, particularly to those friends whose questions prompted me to write and incorporate in it additional explanations about certain subjects that I had not adequately discussed in the first two e-book editions that I had posted on my website, www.happinessofbeing.com, prior to its publication in print.

Contents

		Page
	Introduction	1
1	What is Happiness?	65
2	Who am I?	95
3	The Nature of Our Mind	167
4	The Nature of Reality	237
5	What is True Knowledge?	291
6	True Knowledge and False Knowledge	359
7	The Illusion of Time and Space	393
8	The Science of Consciousness	417
9	Self-Investigation and Self-Surrender	435
0	The Practice of the Art of Being	489
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	611
	INDEX	615

Introduction

Happiness lies deep within us, in the very core of our being. Happiness does not exist in any external object, but only in us, who are the consciousness that experiences happiness. Though we seem to derive happiness from external objects or experiences, the happiness that we thus enjoy in fact arises from within us.

Whatever turmoil our mind may be in, in the centre of our being there always exists a state of perfect peace and joy, like the calm in the eye of a storm. Desire and fear agitate our mind, and obscure from its vision the happiness that always exists within it. When a desire is satisfied, or the cause of a fear is removed, the surface agitation of our mind subsides, and in that temporary calm our mind enjoys a taste of its own innate happiness.

Happiness is thus a state of being – a state in which our mind's habitual agitation is calmed. The activity of our mind disturbs it from its calm state of just being, and causes it to lose sight of its own innermost happiness. To enjoy happiness, therefore, all our mind need do is to cease all activity, returning calmly to its natural state of inactive being, as it does daily in deep sleep.

Therefore to master the art of being happy, we must master the art and science of just being. We must discover what the innermost core of our being is, and we must learn to abide consciously and constantly in that state of pure being, which underlies and supports (but nevertheless remains unaffected by) all the superficial activities of our mind: thinking, feeling and perceiving, remembering and forgetting, and so on.

The art of just being, remaining fully conscious but without any activity of the mind, is not only an art - a practical skill that can be

cultivated and applied to produce an experience of inexpressible beauty and joy – but also a science – an attempt to acquire true knowledge by keen observation and rigorous experiment. And this art and science of being is not only the art and science of happiness, but also the art and science of consciousness, and the art and science of self-knowledge.

The science of being is incredibly simple and clear. To the human mind, however, it may appear to be complex and abstruse, not because it is in any way complex in itself, but because the mind which tries to comprehend it is such a complex bundle of thoughts and emotions – desires, fears, anxieties, attachments, long-cherished beliefs and preconceived ideas – that it tends to cloud the pure simplicity and clarity of being, making what is obvious appear to be obscure.

Like any other science, the science of being begins with observation and analysis of something that we already know but do not fully understand, and proceeds by reasoning to formulate a plausible hypothesis that can explain what is observed, and then rigorously tests that hypothesis by precise and critical experiment. However, unlike all other sciences, this science does not study any object of knowledge, but instead studies the very power of knowing itself – the power of consciousness that underlies the mind, the power by which all objects are known.

Hence the truth discovered by means of this science is not something that can be demonstrated or proved objectively by one person to another. It can, however, be directly experienced as a clear knowledge in the innermost core of each person who scrupulously pursues the necessary process of experiment till the true nature of being – which is the true nature of consciousness, and of happiness – is revealed in the full clarity of pure unadulterated self-consciousness.

Just as the science of being is fundamentally unlike all other sciences, so as an art it is fundamentally unlike all other arts, because it is not an art that involves doing anything. It is an art not of doing but of non-doing – an art of just being.

The state of just being is one in which our mind does not rise to do, think or know anything, yet it is a state of full consciousness – consciousness not of anything else but only of being. The skill that is to be learnt in this art is not simply the skill to be – because we always are and therefore require no special skill or effort to be –, nor is it merely the skill to be without doing or thinking anything – because we are able to be so each day in deep dreamless sleep. The skill to be cultivated is the skill to remain calmly and peacefully without doing or thinking anything, but nevertheless retaining a perfectly clear consciousness of being – that is, consciousness of our own being or essential 'am'-ness. Only in this pristine state of clear non-dual self-conscious being, unclouded by the distracting agitation of thought and action, will the true nature of being become perfectly clear, obvious, self-evident and free from even the least scope for doubt or confusion.

Our first and most direct experience of being is that of our own being or existence. First we know that we exist, and then only can we know of the existence of other things. But whereas our own existence is self-conscious, the existence of each other thing depends on us to be known.

We know our own being because we are consciousness. In other words, our being is itself the consciousness that knows itself. It knows itself because it is essentially self-conscious. Thus it is reasonable to hypothesise that consciousness is the primal and essential form of being. Without consciousness, being would be unknown, and without being, consciousness would not exist.

Our being and our consciousness of being are inseparable – in fact they are identical – and both are expressed by the single phrase 'I am'. This being-consciousness, 'I am', is our most fundamental experience, and the most fundamental experience of every sentient being. 'I am' is the one basic consciousness – the essential non-dual self-consciousness – without which nothing would be known. 'I am' is therefore the source and foundation of all knowledge.

What then is the use of knowing anything else if we do not know the truth of our own being-consciousness, our self-consciousness, 'I am', on the basis of which all else is known? All that we know about the world and all that we know about God – all our sciences and all our religions – are of no real value to us if we do not know the truth about ourself, who desire to know the truth about the world and God.

We are the being-consciousness 'I am', yet our knowledge about this 'I am' is confused. We all believe 'I am this body', 'I am a person', 'I am called so-and-so, and was born on such-and-such a date at such-and-such a place'. Thus we identify our consciousness 'I am' with a particular body. This identification is the result of a confused and unclear knowledge of the true nature of consciousness.

Our consciousness 'I am' is not something material, whereas our body is merely a bundle of physical matter, which is not inherently conscious. Yet somehow we are deluded into mistaking this material body to be our consciousness 'I'. As a result of our unclear knowledge of consciousness, we mistake matter to be conscious, and consciousness to be something material.

That which thus mistakes this body to be 'I' is our mind. Our mind comes into existence only by imagining itself to be a body. In deep sleep we are unaware of either our mind or our body. As soon as we wake up, our mind rises feeling 'I am this body, I am so-and-so', and only after thus identifying itself as a particular body does it perceive the external world through the five senses of that body.

Exactly the same thing happens in dream – our mind identifies itself as a particular body and through the five senses of that body it perceives a seemingly real and external world. When we wake up from a dream, we understand that the body we mistook to be 'I' and the world we mistook to be real and external were both in fact only figments of our imagination.

Thus from our experience in dream we all know that our mind has a wonderful power of imagination by which it is able to create a body, to mistake that imaginary body to be 'I', and through that body to project a world which, at the time we perceive it, appears to be every bit as real and external to us as the world that we now perceive in this waking state.

Knowing that our mind possesses this wonderful power of

creation and self-deception, is it not reasonable for us to suspect that the body we take to be 'I' and the world we take to be real in our present waking state may in fact be nothing more than a mere imagination or mental projection, just like the body and world that we experience in dream? What evidence do we have that the body and world we experience in this waking state are anything other than a creation of our own mind? We may be able to point out certain differences between waking and dream, but on analysis we will discover that those differences are superficial, being concerned with quality or quantity rather than with substance.

If we compare the world drama we see in waking or dream to a drama we see on a cinema screen, we may say that the drama seen in waking is a better quality and more impressive production than that seen in dream, but both are productions none the less – productions not of some external agency but of our mind which sees them.

In substance, there is no essential difference between our experience in waking and that in dream. In both states our mind rises, attaching itself to a body by taking it to be 'I', and through the senses of that body it sees a world bound within the limits of time and space, and filled with numerous people and other objects, both sentient and insentient, all of which it is convinced are real. How can we prove to ourself that what we experience in the waking state exists at all outside our own imagination, any more than a dream exists outside our imagination?

When we carefully analyse our experience in our three states of waking, dream and deep sleep, it is clear that we are able to confuse our consciousness 'I' to be different things at different times. In waking we mistake our present body to be 'I', in dream we mistake some other imaginary body to be 'I', and in sleep we mistake unconsciousness to be 'I' – or at least on waking from sleep what we remember is that 'I was unconscious'.

What we were in fact unconscious of in sleep was our mind, our body and the world, but not our own existence or being. Our experience in sleep was not that we ceased to exist, but only that we ceased to be aware of all the thoughts and perceptions that we are accustomed to experiencing in the waking and dream states. When we say, 'I slept peacefully, I had no dreams, I was unaware of anything', we are confidently affirming that 'I' was in sleep – that is, that we existed and knew that we existed at that time.

Because we associate consciousness with being conscious of all the thoughts and perceptions that make up our life in waking and in dream, we consider sleep to be a state of unconsciousness. But we should examine the so-called unconsciousness of sleep more carefully. The consciousness that knows thoughts and perceptions is our mind, which rises and is active in waking and dream, but which subsides in sleep. But this rising and subsiding consciousness is not our real consciousness. We are conscious not only of the two states of waking and dream, in which our mind rises to experience thoughts and perceptions, but also of a third state, sleep, in which our mind has subsided in a state devoid of thoughts and perceptions.

This fact that we are conscious of sleep as a state distinct from waking and dream clearly indicates that we are the consciousness that underlies the rising and subsiding of the transient consciousness that we call 'mind'. The consciousness that enables us to affirm confidently, 'I did exist in sleep, but I was unconscious of anything', is not our 'rising consciousness' but our 'being consciousness'.

This 'being consciousness', which exists in all our three states, is our real consciousness, and is what is truly denoted when we say 'I am'. Our mind, the 'rising consciousness' that appears in waking and dream and disappears in sleep, is only a spurious form of consciousness, which on rising mistakes itself to be both our basic consciousness 'I am' and this material body.

Thus, by analysing our experience in our three states of waking, dream and deep sleep, we can understand that though we now mistake ourself to be a body limited by time and space, we are in fact the consciousness that underlies the appearance of these three states, in only two of which the sense of being a body and the consequent limitations of time and space are experienced.

However, a mere theoretical understanding of the truth that we are only consciousness will be of little use to us if we do not apply it in practice by endeavouring to gain real experiential knowledge of that truth. By itself, a theoretical understanding will not and cannot give us true and lasting happiness, because it cannot destroy our deeprooted sense of identification with the body, which is the root of all ignorance, and the cause of all misery.

That which understands this truth theoretically is only our mind or intellect, and our mind cannot function without first identifying itself with a body. Since our mind or intellect is thus a confused knowledge whose existence is rooted in ignorance about who or what we really are, no intellectual understanding can ever by itself give us true self-knowledge. Self-knowledge can only be gained by direct experience of the pure unlimited consciousness which is our real self, because only such experience can root out the ignorance that we are anything other than that consciousness.

Therefore a theoretical understanding of the truth can be of real benefit to us only if it prompts us to investigate our essential consciousness of being – our simple self-consciousness, 'I am' – and thereby attain through direct experience a clear knowledge of our own true nature. Only by attaining such a clear knowledge of the consciousness that is truly 'I', can we destroy our primal ignorance, the confused and mistaken knowledge that we are the mind, the limited form of consciousness that identifies a body as 'I'.

If we truly understand that we are not a body, nor the mind which imagines itself to be a body, and that every form of unhappiness that we experience is caused only by our mistaken identification with a body, we will endeavour to destroy that false identification by undertaking practical research to discover who or what we really are. To know what we really are, we must cease attending to any other things, and must attend instead to ourself, the consciousness that knows those other things.

When we attend to things other than 'I', our attention is a 'thought' or activity of the mind. But when we attend to our essential consciousness 'I', our attention ceases to be an activity or 'thought', and instead becomes mere being. We know other things by an act of knowing, but we know ourself not by an act of knowing but by

merely being ourself. Therefore, when we attend to the innermost core of our being – that is, to our essential and real self, which is simple thought-free non-dual self-conscious being – we cease to rise as the incessantly active mind and instead remain merely as our naturally actionless consciousness of being. Therefore self-attention is self-abidance, the state of merely being what we really are.

So long as we attend to things other than ourself, our mind is active, and its activity clouds and obscures our natural clarity of self-consciousness. But when we try to attend to ourself, the activity of our mind begins to subside, and thus the veil that obscures our natural self-consciousness begins to dissolve. The more keenly and intensely we focus our attention upon our basic consciousness 'I', the more our mind will subside, until finally it disappears in the clear light of true self-knowledge.

In this book, therefore, I will attempt to explain both the theory and the practice of the art of knowing and being our real self. The theory of this science and art of self-knowledge is necessary and helpful to us insofar as it enables us to understand not only the imperative need for us to know the reality, but also the practical means by which we can achieve such knowledge.

All the unhappiness, discontent and misery that we experience in our life is caused only by our ignorance or confused knowledge of who or what we really are. So long as we limit ourself by identifying a body as 'I', we will feel desire for whatever we think is necessary for our survival in that body, and for whatever we think will make our life in that body more comfortable and pleasant. Likewise we will feel fear and dislike of whatever we think threatens our survival in that body, and of whatever we think will make our life in it less comfortable or pleasant. When we do not get whatever we desire or like, and when we cannot avoid whatever we fear or dislike, we feel unhappy, discontented or miserable.

Thus unhappiness or suffering is the inevitable result of desire and fear, or likes and dislikes. Desire and fear, and likes and dislikes, are the inevitable result of identifying a body as 'I'. And identifying a body as 'I' results from our lack of clear knowledge of our real nature – our essential self-conscious being. Therefore if we want to be free of all forms of misery and unhappiness, we must free ourself from our ignorance or confused knowledge of what we really are.

In order to free ourself from this confused knowledge, which makes us feel that we are a body, we must attain a clear knowledge of our real self. The only means by which we can attain such clear self-knowledge is to turn our attention away from our body, our mind and all other things, and to focus it keenly upon our own essential self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

Thus the theory that underlies the science and art of self-knowledge enables us to understand that all we need do in order to experience perfect and unlimited happiness is to attain true self-knowledge, and that the only means to attain true self-knowledge is to practise keen scrutinising self-attention. Unless we know ourself as we really are, we can never experience true and perfect happiness, untainted by even the least unhappiness or dissatisfaction, and unless we keenly attend to our essential consciousness of our own mere being – our simple non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am' – we can never know ourself as we really are.

For the majority of spiritual aspirants, the process of attaining self-knowledge, like the process of learning any other art or science, is said to be a threefold process of repeated *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana*, or learning, assimilation and practice. The Sanskrit word *sravana* literally means 'hearing', but in this context it means learning the truth by hearing, reading or studying. The word *manana* means thinking, pondering, musing, reflection or meditation, that is, dwelling frequently upon the truth that we have learnt through *sravana* in order to imbibe it and understand it more and more clearly, and to impress it upon our mind more and more firmly. And the word *nididhyasana* means keen observation, scrutiny, attentiveness or profound contemplation, that is, in our context, putting what we have learnt and understood by *sravana* and *manana* into practice by keenly scrutinising, attending to or contemplating upon our essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

In the life of a serious spiritual aspirant, this threefold process of *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana* should continue repeatedly until the experience of true self-knowledge is attained. In our day-to-day lives our mind encounters innumerable different impressions through our five senses, and thinks innumerable thoughts about those impressions, so the impression made by one thing is quickly replaced by the impression made by other things. Therefore even though we have once learnt about the spiritual truth – the truth that we are not the limited body but are only the unlimited spirit or consciousness – the impression made by that truth will quickly fade if we do not repeatedly study books that remind us of it, and frequently reflect upon it in our mind.

However mere reading and thinking about the truth will be of little benefit to us if we do not also repeatedly attempt to put it into practice by turning our attention back to our mere consciousness of being, I am', whenever we notice that it has slipped away to think of other things. To stress the paramount importance of such practice, Sri Adi Sankara declared in verse 364 of *Vivekachudamani* that the benefit of *manana* is a hundred times greater than that of *sravana*, and the benefit of *nididhyasana* is a hundred thousand times greater than that of *manana*.

For some very rare souls, repeated *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana* is not necessary, because as soon as they first hear the truth, they at once grasp its meaning and importance, turn their attention selfwards, and thereby immediately experience true self-knowledge. But the majority of us do not have the spiritual maturity to be able to experience the truth as soon as we hear it, because we are too strongly attached to our existence as an individual person, and to all that is associated with our life as a person.

By repeated *nididhyasana* or self-contemplation, supported by the aid of repeated *sravana* and *manana*, our consciousness of our own essential being and our corresponding understanding of the truth will become increasingly clear, and by that increasing clarity we will steadily gain more love to know ourself as we really are, and more detachment from our individuality and all that is associated with it.

Therefore, until we gain such true spiritual maturity – the willingness and love to lose our individual self in the experience of true non-dual self-knowledge – we have to continue the process of repeated *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana*.

Even more rare than those highly mature souls who are able to experience the truth as soon as they hear it, there are some people who without ever hearing the truth experience it spontaneously. But such people are very rare indeed.

All that I write in this book is what I have learnt and understood from the teachings of the sage known as Bhagavan Sri Ramana Maharshi, who was one such extremely rare being who experienced the truth spontaneously without ever having heard or read anything about it. He spontaneously attained the experience of true self-knowledge one day in July 1896, when he was just a sixteen-year-old schoolboy. That day he was sitting alone in a room in his uncle's house in the south Indian town of Madurai, when suddenly and with no apparent cause an intense fear of death arose within him. Instead of trying to put this fear out of his mind, as most of us would do, he decided to investigate and discover for himself the truth about death.

'All right, death has come! What is death? What is it that dies? This body is going to die – let it die.' Deciding thus, he lay down like a corpse, rigid and without breathing, and turned his mind inwards to discover what death would actually do to him. He later described the truth that dawned upon him at that moment as follows:

"This body is dead. It will now be taken to the cremation ground, burnt, and reduced to ashes. But with the destruction of this body, am I also destroyed? Is this body really 'I'? Although this body is lying lifeless as a corpse, I know that I am. Unaffected in the least by this death, my being is shining clearly. Therefore I am not this body which dies. I am the 'I' which is indestructible. Of all things, I alone am the reality. This body is subject to death, but I, who transcend the body, am that which lives eternally. The death that came to this body cannot affect me."

Although he described his experience of death in so many words, he explained that this truth actually dawned upon him in an instant, not as reasoning or verbalised thoughts, but as a direct experience, without the least action of mind. So intense was his fear and consequent urge to know the truth of death, that without actually thinking anything he turned his attention away from his rigid and lifeless body and towards the innermost core of his being – his essential, unadulterated and non-dual self-consciousness 'I am'. Because his attention was so keenly focused on his consciousness of being, the true nature of that being-consciousness revealed itself as a flash of direct and certain knowledge – knowledge that was so direct and certain that it could never be doubted.

Thus Sri Ramana discovered himself to be the pure transpersonal consciousness 'I am', which is the one, unlimited, undivided and non-dual whole, the only existing reality, the source and substance of all things, and the true self of every living being. This knowledge of his real nature destroyed in him for ever the sense of identification with the physical body – the feeling of being an individual person, a separate conscious entity confined within the limits of a particular time and place.

Along with this dawn of non-dual self-knowledge, the truth of everything else became clear to him. By knowing himself to be the infinite spirit, the fundamental consciousness 'I am', in which and through which all other things are known, he knew as an immediate experience how those other things appear and disappear in this essential consciousness. Thus he knew without the least doubt that everything that appears and disappears depends for its seeming existence upon this fundamental consciousness, which he knew to be his real self.

When reading some of the recorded accounts of his death experience, people often get the impression that when he lay down like a corpse, Sri Ramana merely simulated the signs of physical death. But he explained on several occasions that he did not merely simulate it, but actually underwent the experience of physical death at that time. Because he fixed his whole attention so firmly and intensely upon his non-dual consciousness of being, not only did his breathing cease, but his heart stopped beating, and all the other

biological functions that indicate life also came to a standstill. Thus his body literally lay lifeless for about twenty minutes, until suddenly life surged through it once again, and his heartbeat and breath started to function as normal.

However, though life returned to his physical body, the person who had previously identified that body as 'I' was dead, having been destroyed forever by the clear light of true self-knowledge. But though he had died as an individual person, he had thereby been born again as the infinite spirit – the fundamental and unlimited consciousness of being, the non-dual self-consciousness 'I am'.

Though outwardly he appeared to behave as an individual person, his personality was in fact just an appearance that existed only in the view of other people, like the charred form of a rope that remains after the rope itself has been burnt. Inwardly he knew himself to be the all-inclusive consciousness that transcends all limitations, and not merely a separate individual consciousness confined within the limits of a particular body. Therefore, the conscious being that other people saw acting through his body was not really an individual person at all, but was only the supreme spirit – the infinite and absolute reality that we usually refer to as 'God'.

Soon after this true self-knowledge dawned upon him, Sri Ramana left his childhood home and travelled a few hundred miles north to Tiruvannamalai, a temple town nestled at the foot of the holy mountain Arunachala, where he lived as a *sadhu* or religious mendicant for the remaining fifty-four years of his bodily life. Since he had ceased to identify himself with the body that other people mistook to be him, he also ceased to identify with the name that had previously been given to that body. Therefore, from the time he left home, he stopped using his childhood name Venkataraman, and he signed his parting note with just a line.

Thus when he first came to Tiruvannamalai, no one there knew his name, so they referred to him by various names of their choosing. More than ten years later, however, one of his devotees, who was a Sanskrit poet and Vedic scholar, announced that he should be called 'Bhagavan Sri Ramana Maharshi', and somehow this became the

name by which he was generally known thereafter.

However, till the end of his bodily life, Sri Ramana never claimed this or any other name as his own, and he always declined to sign any signature, even when asked to do so. When he was once asked why he never signed his name, he replied, "By what name am I to be known? I myself do not know. At various times various people have called me by various different names". Because he did not experience himself as an individual person, but knew himself to be the one reality, which is the source and substance of all names and forms, but which has no name or form of its own, he responded to whatever name people called him, without ever identifying any of those names as his own.

Of the four words of the name 'Bhagavan Sri Ramana Maharshi', only the word 'Ramana' is a personal name, and the other three words are titles of various sorts. 'Ramana' is a shortened form of 'Venkataramana', a variant of his childhood name 'Venkataraman', and is a word that is commonly used as a term of affection. Whereas in the name 'Venkataraman', the letter 'a' in the syllable 'ra' is a long form of the vowel and is therefore pronounced with a stress, in the name 'Ramana' all the three 'a's are short forms of the vowel, and therefore none of the three syllables are pronounced with any stress. Etymologically, the word *ramana* comes from the verbal root ram, which means to stop, to set at rest, to make steady or calm, to delight or to make happy, and is a noun that means 'joy' or that which gives joy, that which is pleasing, charming or delightful, and by extension is used as an affectionate term meaning a beloved person, a lover, husband or wife, or the lord or mistress of one's heart.

The word 'Bhagavan' is an honorific and affectionate title meaning the glorious, adorable and divine Lord, and is used generally as a term meaning 'God', and more particularly as a title of veneration given to a person who is considered to be an incarnation of God or a human embodiment of the supreme reality, such as the Buddha, Sri Adi Sankara, or most commonly Sri Krishna, whose teachings are given in the *Bhagavad Gita* and in parts of the *Srimad*

Bhagavatam. The word 'Sri' is a sacred monosyllable meaning light, lustre, radiance or splendour, and is customarily used as an honorific prefix appended to the names of holy people, places, texts or other objects of veneration. As a reverential prefix, it means 'sacred', 'holy' or 'venerable', but it is also commonly used as a simple title of respect which may be appended to the name of any person in place of the English title 'Mister'. The word 'Maharshi' means a great *rishi* or 'seer'.

To the world at large, particularly outside India, Sri Ramana is generally known as 'Ramana Maharshi' (probably because to a western mind the title 'Maharshi' placed after his personal name appears to be a surname, which it is not), and since he is so frequently referred to as such, some people even refer to him simply as 'the Maharshi'. However those who are close to him seldom use the title 'Maharshi' when referring to him. In Indian history and mythology, the term rishi originally denoted one of the inspired poets or 'seers' who 'saw' and wrote down the hymns of the Vedas, or any person who was adept in the performance of Vedic rituals and had thereby attained psychic or supernatural powers, but in later times it was used more generally to denote an ascetic or saint who was considered to have achieved some degree of spiritual attainment. The term *rishi* has therefore never specifically meant a person who has 'seen' or attained true self-knowledge, and nor has the term maharishi. The few rishis, such as Vasishtha, and later Viswamitra, who did attain true knowledge of brahman, the absolute reality or God, were called not merely maharishis but brahma-rishis, a term that denotes a *rishi* of the highest order. Hence many people feel that it is not particularly appropriate to apply the title 'Maharshi' to Sri Ramana, who had attained true knowledge of brahman, and who therefore can be accurately described as being nothing less than a brahma-rishi.

Besides being not particularly appropriate, the title 'Maharshi' sounds rather cold and distant when applied to Sri Ramana, so rather than referring to him as 'the Maharshi', his disciples and devotees usually prefer to refer to him by the more affectionate and respectful

title 'Bhagavan'. Therefore, if I were writing this book for people who are already his followers, in accordance with the usual custom I would refer to him as 'Bhagavan' or 'Sri Bhagavan'. However, since I am writing it for a wider audience, and particularly for people who have no previous acquaintance with his teachings, I will refer to him by his personal name as 'Sri Ramana' or 'Bhagavan Ramana'.

However, by whatever name I or anyone else may refer to him, to all those who have followed his teachings and thereby attained the blissful state of true self-knowledge, he is 'Ramana', the beloved giver of joy, and 'Bhagavan', a gracious embodiment of God, the supreme reality, which he discovered to be his own true self, and which he prompted and guided each one of us to discover likewise as our own true self. Sri Ramana is not merely an individual person who lived sometime in the past, nor does he belong to any particular religion or culture. He is the eternal and unlimited spirit, the ultimate and absolute reality, our own true self, and as such he always lives within each one of us as our pure and essential consciousness of being, which we each experience as 'I am'.

Bhagavan Sri Ramana never sought of his own accord to teach anyone the truth that he had come to know, because in his experience that truth – the consciousness 'I am' – alone exists, and hence there is no person either to give or to receive any teaching. However, though he inwardly knew that consciousness is the only reality, he was nevertheless outwardly a personification of love, compassion and kindness, because, knowing both himself and all other things to be nothing but the consciousness 'I am', he saw himself in everything, and hence he quite literally loved all living beings as his own self. Therefore, when people asked him questions about the reality and the means of attaining it, he patiently answered their questions, and thus without any volition on his part he gradually revealed a wealth of spiritual teachings.

Many of the answers that he thus gave were recorded in writing, more or less accurately, by his devotees and disciples, but the most accurate and authentic record of his teachings lies in the poetry that he himself wrote, mostly in Tamil, and also in Sanskrit, Telugu and

Malayalam. Most of the poetry he wrote was in response to requests made by his disciples, but some of it was composed by him spontaneously. His poetry falls into two general categories – poems that directly convey spiritual teachings, and devotional hymns that convey spiritual teachings indirectly in the allegorical language of mystical love.

Since he was asked questions on a wide range of subjects by people whose interests and level of understanding varied greatly, the answers that he gave were in each case tailored to the needs of the person he was talking to, and hence they did not always reflect the essence of his teachings. Therefore when we read the various records of the conversations that he had with people, they may appear to contain inconsistencies, and to convey no single, clear or coherent set of teachings. However, a very clear, coherent and consistent account of his central teachings can be found in his poetry and other writings, and if we read all the records of his conversations in the light of those central teachings, we can clearly understand that he had a very definite message for all who were ready to hear it.

Before he attained the experience of true self-knowledge, Sri Ramana had not read or heard anything that described that experience, or prepared him in any way for it. Having been brought up in a normal family of south Indian brahmins, he was familiar with the outward forms of the Hindu religion and with a few devotional texts, and having been educated in a Christian missionary school, he was familiar with the outward forms of Christianity and with the Bible. Moreover, having had some childhood friends who were from Muslim families, he also had some familiarity with the outward forms of Islam. But though he had a general idea that all these religions were just different ways of worshipping the same one God, he had had no opportunity to learn anything about the real inner essence that lies behind the outward forms of all religions.

The teachings that he gave in later years were therefore derived entirely from his own inward experience, and did not originate from any outward learning. However, whenever anyone asked him to explain any sacred or spiritual text, he would read it and would often recognise that in one way or another it was expressing the truth that was his own experience. Thus he was able to interpret such texts with authority and to explain their inner meaning in clear and simple words. Since the cultural and religious milieu in which he lived was predominantly Hindu, and since most of the people who sought his spiritual guidance were either born Hindus or were familiar with traditional Hindu philosophy, the texts he was most often asked to explain were those of the Hindu philosophical tradition known as *advaita vedanta*. Thus Sri Ramana's teachings are often identified with *advaita vedanta* and are taken to be a modern expression or interpretation of that ancient philosophy.

The word *vedanta* literally means the 'conclusion' or 'end' (*anta*) of 'knowledge' (*veda*), and denotes the philosophical conclusions of the Vedas. These philosophical conclusions are contained in Vedic texts known as the *Upanishads*, and were later expressed more clearly and in greater detail in two other ancient texts known as the *Brahma Sutra* and the *Bhagavad Gita*. These three bodies of literature, which are known as the 'triple source' (*prasthana-traya*) of *vedanta*, have been interpreted in very different ways, giving rise to three distinct systems of *vedantic* philosophy, the pure monistic system known as *advaita*, the dualistic system known as *dvaita*, and the qualified monistic system known as *visishtadvaita*. Of these three systems of philosophy, *advaita* is not only the most radical but also the least convoluted interpretation of the ancient *prasthana-traya* of *vedanta*, and hence it is widely recognised as being *vedanta* in its purest and truest form.

However, *advaita* is more than just a scholarly interpretation of some ancient texts. Like the literature of any other system of religious or spiritual philosophy, the literature of *advaita* includes a huge amount of elaborate and abstruse material written by and for scholars, but such material is not the essence or basis of the *advaita* philosophy. The life and heart of *advaita vedanta* lies in a number of crucial texts that contain the sayings and writings of sages like Sri Ramana who had attained true self-knowledge, and whose words therefore reflect their own direct experience of the reality. Thus

advaita vedanta is a system of spiritual philosophy that is based not upon mere reasoning or intellectual speculation, but upon the experience of sages who have attained direct knowledge of the non-dual reality that underlies the appearance of all multiplicity.

The word *advaita* literally means 'no-twoness' or 'non-duality', and denotes the truth experienced by sages – the truth that the reality is only one, a single undivided whole that is completely devoid of any duality or multiplicity. According to sages who have attained true self-knowledge, all multiplicity is a mere appearance, a distorted view of the one reality, like the illusory appearance of a snake seen in a dim light. Just as the reality underlying the illusory appearance of the snake is just a rope lying on the ground, so the reality underlying the illusory appearance of multiplicity is only the non-dual consciousness of being that we each experience as 'I am'.

Sri Ramana's teachings are therefore identified with advaita vedanta for three main reasons: firstly because he experienced and taught the same non-dual reality that was experienced by the sages whose sayings and writings formed the foundation of the advaita vedanta philosophy; secondly because he was often asked to explain and elucidate various texts from the classical literature of advaita vedanta; and thirdly because in his teachings he made free but nevertheless selective use of the terminology, concepts and analogies used in that classical literature. The reason he thus used the terminology and concepts of advaita vedanta more than those of any other spiritual tradition, such as Buddhism, Taoism, Jewish or Christian mysticism, or Sufism, is that most of the people who sought his spiritual guidance were more familiar with advaita vedanta than with those other spiritual traditions, and hence it was easier for them to understand such terminology and concepts. However, whenever anyone asked him to elucidate any text or passage from the literature of those other spiritual traditions, he did so with the same ease, clarity and authority that he elucidated the texts of advaita vedanta.

Though in his teachings Sri Ramana borrowed some of the terminology, concepts and analogies commonly used in the classical

literature of *advaita vedanta*, his teachings are not merely a repetition of the old and familiar teachings contained in that literature. Because he was teaching the truth that he had known from his own direct experience, and not merely learnt from books, he was able to set aside all the dense mass of non-essential, complex and ponderous arguments and concepts found in that literature, and to throw a fresh and clear light upon the inner essence of *advaita vedanta*.

In his teachings he has revealed the true spirit of *advaita vedanta* in a clear and simple manner that can easily be understood even by people who have no previous acquaintance with such philosophy. Moreover, the simplicity, clarity and directness of his teachings have helped to clear the confusion created in the minds of many people who have studied the classical literature of *advaita vedanta*, but have been misled by the many well-established misinterpretations of it made by scholars who had no direct experience of the truth. In particular, his teachings have cleared up many misunderstandings that had long existed about the practice of *advaita vedanta*, and have clearly revealed the means by which we can attain the experience of true self-knowledge.

Since the means to attain self-knowledge is for some reason seldom stated in clear and unambiguous terms in the classical literature of *advaita vedanta*, many misconceptions exist about the spiritual practice advocated by *advaita vedanta*. Therefore perhaps the most significant contribution made by Sri Ramana to the literature of *advaita vedanta* lies in the fact that in his teachings he has revealed in very clear, precise and unambiguous terms the practical means by which self-knowledge can be attained.

Not only has he explained this practical means very clearly, he has also explained exactly how it will lead us infallibly to the state of self-knowledge, and why it is the only means that can do so. Unlike many of the older texts of *advaita vedanta*, the teachings of Sri Ramana are centred entirely around the practical means by which we can attain self-knowledge, and all that he taught regarding any aspect of life was aimed solely at directing our minds towards this practice.

Though this practical means is essentially very simple, for many people it appears difficult to comprehend, because it is not an action or state of 'doing', nor does it involve any form of objective attention. Since the practice is thus a state beyond all mental activity – a state of non-doing and non-objective attention – no words can express it perfectly. Therefore, to enable us to understand and practise it, Sri Ramana has expressed and described it in various different ways, each of which serves as a valuable clue that helps us to know and to be the pure consciousness that is our own true self.

Sri Ramana spoke and wrote mostly in Tamil, his mother tongue, but he was also conversant in Sanskrit, Telugu, Malayalam and English. Tamil is the oldest surviving member of the Dravidian family of languages, and has a rich and ancient classical literature. Though in its origins it belongs to a family of languages that is entirely independent of the Indo-European family, for the past two thousand years or so Tamil literature has made rich and abundant use of words borrowed from Sanskrit, the oldest surviving member of the Indo-European family. Therefore, most of the terms Sri Ramana used to describe the practical means by which we can attain self-knowledge are either Tamil words or words of Sanskrit origin that are commonly used in Tamil spiritual literature.

The words he thus used in Tamil have been translated in English by a variety of different words, some of which convey the import and spirit of his original words more clearly and accurately than others. Perhaps two of the clearest and most simple terms used in English to convey the sense of the words that he used in Tamil to describe the practical means to attain self-knowledge are 'self-attention' and 'self-abidance'. The term 'self-attention' denotes the knowing aspect of the practice, while the term 'self-abidance' denotes its being aspect.

Since our real self, which is non-dual self-consciousness, knows itself not by an act of knowing but merely by being itself, the state of knowing our real self is just the state of being our real self. Thus attending to our self-consciousness and abiding as our self-consciousness are one and the same thing. All the other words that

Sri Ramana used to describe the practice are intended to be clues that help to clarify what this state of 'self-attention' or 'self-abidance' really is.

A few of the terms which he used to describe the practice of 'self-attention' or 'self-abidance' are in fact terms already used in some of the classical texts of *advaita vedanta*. However though such texts have used some of the same terms that Sri Ramana used to express the practice, they have seldom explained the true import of those terms in a clear and unambiguous manner. Thus, even after thoroughly studying the classical literature of *advaita vedanta*, many people are left with only a vague understanding of what they can do to attain self-knowledge. As a result, many misconceptions about the practice of *advaita vedanta* arose, and some of these misconceptions have been prevalent among students and scholars of *advaita vedanta* since time immemorial.

One of the terms that occurs in the classical literature of advaita vedanta and that Sri Ramana frequently used to denote the practice of self-attention is vichara, but the significance of this term was not clearly understood by most of the traditional scholars of advaita vedanta. According to the Sanskrit-English dictionary of Monier-Williams, the term vichara has various meanings, including 'pondering, deliberation, consideration, reflection, examination, investigation', and it is in these senses that this same word is used in Tamil, as is clear from the Tamil Lexicon, which defines it both as 'deliberation' or 'consideration', and as 'unbiased examination with a view to arriving at the truth' or 'investigation'. Therefore the term atma-vichara, which Sri Ramana frequently used to describe the practice by which we can attain self-knowledge, means 'selfinvestigation' or 'self-examination', and denotes the practice of examining, inspecting or scrutinising our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am' with a keen and concentrated power of attention.

Though the term *atma-vichara* can best be translated in English as 'self-investigation', 'self-examination', 'self-inspection', 'self-scrutiny', 'self-contemplation', or simply 'self-attention', in most

English translations of Sri Ramana's teachings it has been translated as 'self-enquiry'. This choice of the English word 'enquiry' to translate vichara has had unfortunate consequences, because it has created an impression in the minds of some people that atmavichara, or the vichara 'who am I?' as Sri Ramana often called it, is merely a process of questioning or asking ourself 'who am I?'. This is clearly a misinterpretation, because in Sanskrit the word vichara means 'enquiry' in the sense of 'investigation' rather than in the sense of 'questioning'. When Sri Ramana spoke of the vichara 'who am I?' he did not intend it to imply that we can attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge simply by asking ourself the question 'who am I?'. The vichara 'who am I?' is an investigation, examination or scrutiny of our fundamental consciousness 'I am', because only by keenly scrutinising or inspecting our consciousness 'I' can we discover who we really are – what this consciousness 'I' actually is.

Besides describing the means to attain self-knowledge by the use of terms that mean 'self-attention' or 'self-abidance', Sri Ramana also described it by terms that mean 'self-surrender' or 'self-denial'. By using the latter terms, he affirmed that the ultimate aim of all forms of dualistic devotion – devotion to a God who is conceived as other than the devotee – is in fact the non-dual state of true self-knowledge. In order to know our true self, we must give up our identification with the false individual self that we now mistake to be 'I'. Therefore, surrendering or denying our personal self – our mind, which is our confused and distorted consciousness 'I am this body, a person called so-and-so' – is essential if we are to know our true unadulterated consciousness 'I am', which is our real self.

Our individual self, which is the limited and distorted consciousness that we call our 'mind' or 'ego', and that in theological terminology is called our 'soul', nourishes its seeming existence by attending to things other than itself. When we cease attending to other things, as in sleep, our mind or individual self subsides, but as soon as we begin to think of other things, it again rises and flourishes. Without thinking of things other than 'I', our

mind cannot stand. Therefore, when we attempt to turn our attention away from all objects and towards our fundamental consciousness 'I', we are surrendering or denying our individual self, our mind or ego. Self-attention or self-abidance is thus the perfect means to attain the state of 'self-surrender' or 'self-denial'.

This is why in verse 31 of *Vivekachudamani* Sri Adi Sankara defines *bhakti* or 'devotion' as *sva-svarupa-anusandhana* or 'self-attention', the investigation or close inspection of our own true form or essential nature, which is our fundamental self-consciousness – our non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Sri Ramana expresses the same truth in verse 15 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*, but at the same time explains why it is so:

Since God exists as *atma* [our essential 'spirit' or real self], *atma-anusandhana* [self-investigation, self-inspection or self-attention] is *parama-isa-bhakti* [supreme devotion to God].

He also expresses a similar idea in the thirteenth paragraph of his brief treatise *Nan Yar?* (Who am I?):

Being completely absorbed in *atma-nishtha* [self-abidance, the state of just being as we really are], giving not even the slightest room to the rising of any thought other than *atma-chintana* [the thought of our own real self], is giving ourself to God. ...

People who practise dualistic devotion believe that the highest form of devotion to God – the purest form of love – is to surrender ourself wholly to him. In order to surrender themselves to him, they try to deny themselves by giving up their attachment to all that they consider as 'mine', and in particular by renouncing their own individual will. Thus the ultimate prayer of every true devotee is, 'Thy will be done – not my will, but only thine'.

However, so long as the mind exists, it will inevitably have a will of its own. Desire and attachment are inherent in the mind, the very fabric of which it is made. Therefore, so long as we feel ourself to be an individual 'I', we will also have an individual will, and will feel a sense of attachment to 'mine'. The only way we can surrender our own will and give up all our attachments is to surrender the mind that has an individual will and feels attachment to the body and other

possessions.

Trying to surrender our individual will and sense of 'mine' – our desires and attachments – without actually surrendering our individuality, our ego or sense of being a separate 'I', is like cutting the leaves and branches off a tree without cutting its root. Until and unless we cut the root, the branches and leaves will continue sprouting again and again. Similarly, until and unless we surrender our ego, the root of all our desires and attachments, all our efforts to give up our desires and attachments will fail, because they will continue to sprout again and again in one subtle form or another. Therefore self-surrender can be complete and final only when our individual self, the limited consciousness that we call our 'mind' or 'ego', is surrendered wholly.

So long as we feel that we exist as an individual who is separate from God, we have not surrendered ourself wholly to him. Though we are in truth only the pure, unlimited and non-personal consciousness 'I am', which is the spirit or true form of God, we feel that we are separate from him because we mistake ourself to be a limited individual consciousness that has identified itself with a particular body.

This individual consciousness – our feeling 'I am a person, a separate individual, a mind or soul confined within the limits of a body' – is merely an imagination, a false and distorted form of our pure consciousness 'I am', but it is nevertheless the root cause of all desire and all misery. Unless we give up this individual consciousness, this false notion that we are separate from God, we can never be free of desire, nor of misery, which is the inevitable consequence of desire.

True self-surrender is therefore nothing but giving up the false notion that we are separate from God. In order to give up this false notion, we must know who we really are. And in order to know who we really are, we must attend to the consciousness that we feel to be 'I'.

Though the consciousness that we now feel to be 'I' is only a false consciousness, a limited and distorted form of the real

consciousness that is God, by attending to it keenly we can know the real consciousness that underlies it. That is, attending keenly to this false form of consciousness is similar to looking closely at a snake that we imagine we see lying on the ground in the dim light of dusk. When we look closely at the snake, we discover that it is in fact nothing but a rope. Similarly, if we keenly attend to the limited and distorted individual consciousness that we now feel to be 'I', we will discover that it is in fact nothing but the real and unlimited consciousness 'I am', which is God. Just as the illusory appearance of the snake dissolves and disappears as soon as we see the rope, so the illusory feeling that we are a separate individual consciousness confined within the limits of a body will dissolve and disappear as soon as we experience the pure non-dual consciousness, which is the reality both of ourself and of God.

We can thus achieve complete and perfect self-surrender only by knowing ourself to be the real consciousness that is devoid of all duality and separateness. Without knowing our true self, we cannot surrender our false self, and without surrendering our false self, we cannot know our true self. Self-surrender and self-knowledge are thus inseparable, like the two sides of one sheet of paper. In fact, the terms 'self-surrender' and 'self-knowledge' are just two ways of describing one and the same state – the pure non-dual state of consciousness devoid of individuality.

Since true self-knowledge is therefore the state in which our individual consciousness, our mind or ego, is known to be a false appearance that never existed except in its own imagination, Sri Ramana often described it as the state of 'egolessness', 'loss of individuality' or 'destruction of the mind'. Another term that is commonly used, both in Buddhism and in *advaita vedanta*, to describe this state of annihilation or extinction of our personal identity is *nirvana*, a word that literally means 'blown out' or 'extinguished'. This is the same state that most religions refer to as 'liberation' or 'salvation', because only in this state of true self-knowledge are we free or saved from the bondage of mistaking ourself to be a separate individual, a consciousness that is confined

within the limits of a physical body.

The sole reality that exists and is known in this state of egolessness, *nirvana* or salvation is our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am'. Since it does not identify itself with any delimiting adjunct, our essential and pure consciousness 'I am' is a single, undivided and unlimited whole, separate from which nothing can exist. All the diversity and multiplicity that appears to exist so long as we identify ourself with a physical body, is known only by our mind, which is merely a distorted and limited form of our original consciousness 'I am'. If this consciousness 'I am' did not exist, nothing else could appear to exist. Therefore, our fundamental consciousness 'I am' is the source and origin of all knowledge – the one basis of all that appears to exist.

Our essential consciousness 'I am' is thus the ultimate reality, the original source from which everything arises, and the final destination towards which all religions and spiritual traditions seek to lead us. Most religions call this fundamental reality 'God' or the 'Supreme Being', or else they refer to it in a more abstract manner as the true state of being. But by whatever name they may call it – and whether they describe it as a being or a state of being – the truth is that the supreme and absolute reality is not anything other than our own being, the consciousness which we experience as 'I am'.

In his true form, his essential nature, God is not something or some person who exists outside us or separate from us, but is the spirit or consciousness that exists within us as our own essential nature. God is the pure consciousness 'I am', the true form of consciousness that is not limited by identifying itself with a physical body or any other adjunct. But when we, who are that same pure consciousness 'I am', identify ourself with a physical body, feeling 'I am this body, I am a person, an individual confined within the limits of time and space', we become the mind, a false and illusory form of consciousness. Because we identify ourself with adjuncts in this manner, we seemingly separate ourself from the adjunctless pure consciousness 'I am', which is God. By thus imagining ourself to be an individual separate from God, we violate his unlimited wholeness

and undivided oneness.

The inner aim of all religions and spiritual traditions is to free us from this illusory state in which we imagine that we are separate from God, the one unlimited and undivided reality. For example, in Christianity this state in which we violate the oneness and wholeness of God by imagining ourself to be an individual separate from him is called the 'original sin', which is the root cause of all misery and unhappiness. Because we can become free from this 'original sin' only by knowing the truth, Christ said, "... ye shall know the truth, and the truth shall make you free" (*John* 8.32). The truth that we must know in order to be made free is the truth that we are nothing but the adjunctless pure consciousness 'I am' – that 'I am' which is the true form of God, as disclosed by him when he revealed his identity to Moses saying, "I AM THAT I AM" ("ehyeh asher ehyeh" – Exodus 3.14).

To "know the truth" does not mean to know it theoretically, but to know it as a direct and immediate experience. In order to destroy the illusion that we are a limited individual consciousness, a person separate from the perfect whole which is called God, we must ourself as the unlimited and experience undivided consciousness 'I am'. Therefore, to know the truth and thereby be made free from the illusion called 'original sin', we must die and be born again – we must die to the flesh and be born again as the spirit. That is why Christ said, "Except a man be born again, he cannot see the kingdom of God. ... Except a man be born of ... the Spirit, he cannot enter into the kingdom of God. That which is born of the flesh is flesh; and that which is born of the Spirit is spirit" (John 3.3) & 3.5-6).

That is, to experience and enter into the true state of God, we must cease to exist as a separate individual, a consciousness that identifies itself with the flesh and all the limitations of the flesh, and must rediscover ourself to be the unlimited and undivided spirit, the pure, unadulterated and infinite consciousness 'I am', which is the absolute reality that we call 'God'. When we identify ourself with a body made of flesh, we become that flesh, but when we cease to

identify ourself with that flesh and know ourself to be mere spirit, we are born again as our original nature, the pure spirit or consciousness 'I am'.

The need for us to sacrifice our individuality in order to be born anew as the spirit is a recurring theme in the teachings of Jesus Christ. "Except a corn of wheat fall into the ground and die, it abideth alone: but if it die, it bringeth forth much fruit. He that loveth his life shall lose it; and he that hateth his life in this world shall keep it unto life eternal" (John 12.24-25). "Whosoever shall seek to save his life shall lose it; and whosoever shall lose his life shall preserve it" (Luke 17.33). "And he that taketh not his cross, and followeth after me, is not worthy of me. He that findeth his life shall lose it: and he that loseth his life for my sake shall find it" (Matthew 10.38-39). "If any [man] will come after me, let him deny himself, and take up his cross, and follow me. For whosoever will save his life shall lose it: and whosoever will lose his life for my sake shall find it. For what is a man profited, if he shall gain the whole world, and lose his own soul? or what shall a man give in exchange for his soul?" (Matthew 16.24-26, and also Mark 8.34-37 and Luke 9.23-25).

That is, in order to rediscover our true and eternal life as the spirit, we must lose our false and transient life as an individual. If we seek to preserve our false individuality, we shall in effect be losing our real spirit. This is the price we have to pay to live as an individual in this world. Therefore, whatever we may gain or achieve in this world, we do so at the cost of losing our real self, the state of perfection and wholeness (which in this context is what Christ means by the term our 'own soul'). In exchange for regaining our original and perfect state of wholeness, we have only to give up our individuality and all that goes with it. Which is truly profitable, to lose the whole and gain merely a part, or to give up a mere part in exchange for the whole?

In order to give up or lose our individuality, as Christ had done, he says that we must follow him by denying ourself and taking up our cross. To deny ourself means to refrain from rising as an individual separate from God, who is the whole – the 'fullness of being' or totality of all that is. To take up our cross means to embrace the death or destruction of our own individuality, because in the time of Christ the cross was a powerful symbol of death, being the usual instrument of execution. Thus, though he used somewhat oblique language to express it, Christ repeatedly emphasised the truth that in order to rediscover our real life as the spirit we must sacrifice our false life as an individual.

This sacrifice of our individuality or identification with the flesh, and our consequent resurrection or rebirth as the spirit, was symbolised by Christ through his own crucifixion and subsequent resurrection. By dying on the cross and rising again from the dead, Christ gave us a powerful symbolic representation of the truth that in order to become free from the 'original sin' of identification with the flesh and thereby to enter the 'kingdom of God', we must die or cease to exist as a separate individual, and thereby rise again as the pure spirit, the infinite consciousness 'I am'.

The 'kingdom of God' which we can see and enter only by being born again as the spirit is not a place – something that we can find externally in the material world of time and space, or even in some celestial world called heaven. When Christ was asked when the kingdom of God would come, he answered, "The kingdom of God cometh not with observation: neither shall they say, Lo here! or, lo there! for, behold, the kingdom of God is within you" (*Luke* 17.20-21).

The kingdom of God cannot be found by observation, that is, by any form of objective attention – by looking externally here or there. It cannot be found in any place outside us, either here in this world or there in heaven, nor indeed is it something that will come in the future. It exists within us even now. To see and enter into it, we must turn our attention inwards, away from the external world of time and space that we observe by means of the limited flesh-bound consciousness that we call our 'mind', and towards our true consciousness 'I am', which is the underlying base and reality of the observing consciousness 'I am so-and-so'.

The exhortation 'behold' that Christ used in the above passage is very important. He did not merely tell us the fact that the kingdom of God is within ourself, but exhorted us to look and see that it is within ourself. That is, he did not merely tell us the truth that he saw, but told us that we should each see it for ourself. In more modern English, we would express the passage "... neither shall they say, Lo here! or, lo there! for, behold, the kingdom of God is within you" as "... and they should not say, 'Look here or look there', because, see, the kingdom of God is within you". This exhortation that Christ makes to us not to look here or there but to see that the kingdom of God is within ourself, is the essence of the spiritual practice taught by Sri Ramana and all other true sages. We should give up attending to anything outside ourself, and should instead turn our attention inwards to see the reality that exists within us.

The kingdom of God is not a place but a state – our natural state of pure self-conscious being. When we see it within ourself by turning our attention towards the innermost core of our being, we enter into it and become one with it. This is the state of being born again as the spirit – the state of mystical union with God that all Christian contemplatives seek to attain. In this state called the 'kingdom of God', the pure consciousness 'I am', which is the spirit or true form of God, exists and shines alone in all the splendour and glory of its undivided oneness and unlimited wholeness.

The teachings of Sri Ramana thus throw a fresh light upon the spiritual teachings contained in the Bible. In the same manner, they also throw fresh light upon the spiritual teachings of all other religions. Though his teachings are easily recognised as a fresh and clear expression of the ancient teachings of *advaita vedanta*, they in fact clarify the inner essence not only of *advaita vedanta* but also of all other spiritual traditions. The truth that he taught is not a relative truth that is limited to any particular religion or human culture, but is the absolute truth which underlies all human experience, and which is the source and foundation of the spiritual teachings of all religions. For certain cultural or other reasons, in some religions this truth is expressed less openly and clearly than in others, but it is nevertheless

the truth that lies at the heart of every religion.

Though this truth is not recognised by most of the followers of the various religions, particularly by the followers of those religions in which it is hidden more obscurely, it is nevertheless expressed in some form or other in the scriptures and the philosophical and mystical writings of every religion, and it can be discerned and recognised by all who have the eyes to see it. The teachings of Sri Ramana, if understood clearly and correctly, give us the eyes or insight required to discern and recognise it wherever it is expressed, no matter how seemingly obscure may be the words that are used to express it.

All words are open to interpretation – and misinterpretation. This is particularly true of words that speak about the spirit – the reality that lies beyond the limitations of physical matter, and that therefore cannot be perceived by the five senses, or known as an object of consciousness. All interpretations of such words fall into two distinct categories – interpretations that are strictly non-dualistic, admitting no division of the one and only reality, and interpretations that are either completely dualistic, or that at least concede that within the one reality there are divisions and distinctions that are real. Ultimately the interpretation that we each choose to accept depends not upon the truth itself – because the nature of the truth cannot be proved objectively – but upon our own personal preferences.

Most people — whether they hold religious beliefs or cherish a more materialistic outlook on life — prefer to take a dualistic view of reality, because such a view assures them of the reality of their own individuality, and of the world they perceive through their senses, and (if they choose to believe in God) of God as a separately existing entity. Therefore the only basis for a dualistic view of reality is the attachment that people have to their own individuality, to the world that they think gives them happiness, and to their idea of a God who they believe will give them the things that will make them happy.

There is no way that a dualistic view of reality can be proved to be correct and valid. All our knowledge of duality is obtained by our mind and exists only within our mind. If our mind is real, then duality may be real. But the reality of our mind is open to question and doubt.

If we are not overly attached to our existence as a separate individual, we can begin to question and doubt the reality of our mind. If we do so, we will be led unavoidably to a non-dualistic view of reality. Of all the knowledge we know, the one knowledge whose reality we cannot reasonably doubt is our own essential consciousness 'I am'. Knowledge can exist only if there is a consciousness to know it. Since all knowledge depends for its seeming existence upon consciousness, consciousness is the one fundamental, irreducible and indubitable truth of our experience. Because we know, our consciousness is undoubtedly real.

The one essential quality of consciousness is that it is always self-conscious – it always knows its own existence or being – and that consciousness of its own existence is what we experience as 'I am'. However, in addition to knowing its own existence, our consciousness sometimes seems to know other things also. When our consciousness thus appears to know things other than itself, we call it our 'mind'.

What exactly is this 'mind', this consciousness that knows otherness and duality? Is it the true form of our consciousness, or merely a false superimposition upon our real self-consciousness 'I am'? Is it real, or is it merely a false appearance?

Whenever our mind rises, it rises in conjunction with a body, with which it identifies itself, feeling 'I am this body'. Without identifying itself with a body, our mind cannot rise. Once it has risen, identifying itself with a particular body, through the five senses of that body it perceives the world. Thus our mind's identification with a body is fundamental to its ability to know the world.

But how does this identification with a body arise? Our mind is a form of consciousness, whereas this body is a physical form composed of inconscient matter. By identifying itself with this body, our mind is confusing two different things as one. It is confusing consciousness, which is not physical matter, with the physical form of this body, which is not consciousness. Therefore our mind is a confused and spurious form of consciousness, a phantom which is neither our real consciousness 'I am', nor the physical form of this body, but which mixes these two different things together, feeling 'I am this body'.

Though our mind usurps the properties of both our consciousness 'I am' and this physical body, it is in fact neither of these two things. Since it appears and disappears, and constantly undergoes change, it is not our real consciousness 'I am', which neither appears nor disappears, but exists and knows its own existence at all times and in all states without ever undergoing any change. And since our mind is conscious, it is not this body, which is inconscient matter.

Moreover, our mind does not always identify the same body as 'I'. In waking it takes one body to be 'I', but in each dream it takes some other body to be 'I'. Since it can identify itself with different bodies at different times, it cannot really be any of those bodies.

By identifying itself with a body, our mind deludes itself into experiencing our consciousness 'I am' as being something confined within the limits of a body, and a body composed of inconscient matter as being something that is endowed with consciousness. If our mind did not delude itself in this manner, it would not exist as a separate entity called 'mind', but would remain as pure consciousness, undefiled by any form of limitation. Because the very nature of our mind is to delude itself into experiencing that it is what it is not, Sri Ramana said that our mind itself is *maya*, the primordial power of delusion, illusion or self-deception – the power that makes what is real appear to be unreal, and what is unreal appear to be real.

In dream our mind projects an imaginary body, which it identifies as 'I', and through the five senses of that body it perceives an imaginary world. So long as our mind continues to be in that state of dream, it takes the body and world that it experiences in dream to be real. However absurd some of the things which it experiences may appear to be, still our mind deludes itself into believing that those things are real. So long as our mind experiences itself as a body, it cannot but experience all that it perceives through the senses of that

body as real. But when we wake up from a dream, we cease to experience the dream body as 'I', and we simultaneously cease to experience the dream world as real.

Thus from our experience in dream, and our contrasting experience on waking from dream, we can clearly understand that by the power of its imagination our mind has the ability to create a world of duality and simultaneously convince itself that that world is real. When we know that our mind has this power of simultaneous creation and self-deception, we have to doubt whether all the duality that it now experiences in the waking state is anything other than a product of its own self-deceiving power of imagination.

The only thing whose reality we cannot doubt is our consciousness of our own existence — our non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'. Other than this non-dual and fundamental consciousness 'I am', everything that we experience is open to doubt. Hence we cannot reasonably avoid doubting the reality of all duality, and suspecting that in fact the only reality is our non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

By what standard can we determine whether or not something is real? A thing can be truly said to be real only if it is absolutely, unconditionally and independently real, and not if its reality is in any way relative, conditional or dependent upon something else. Therefore, according to Sri Ramana, something can be called real only if it satisfies three essential criteria: it must be eternal, unchanging and self-shining.

If something is not eternal, though it may appear to be real for a certain period of time, it was not real before it came into existence, and it will not be real after it ceases to exist, so in fact it is unreal even while it appears to be real. Because it is confined within the limits of time, its seeming reality is relative and conditional. That which is absolutely and unconditionally real must be real at all times, and cannot be limited in relation to anything else.

Moreover, if something undergoes change during the course of time, it is one thing at one time, but becomes another thing at another time, and hence it does not exist eternally as any one thing. Being impermanent, that which changes is not real.

However, the most important criteria by which we can determine something as real is that it must be self-shining. By the term 'self-shining', Sri Ramana means 'self-knowing' or 'self-conscious', that is, knowing itself by its own light of consciousness. That which is absolutely and unconditionally real need not depend upon any consciousness other than itself to be known. If something depends upon something else in order to be known as existing or real, then its reality depends upon the reality of the consciousness that knows it. Since it does not know itself to be real, it is not real at all, but merely appears to be real so long as it is known by the consciousness that knows it.

Measured by this standard, the only existing reality is our fundamental consciousness 'I am', because among all the things that we experience or know, it is the only thing that is permanent, the only thing that never undergoes any change, and the only thing that knows its own existence without the aid of any other thing.

Unlike this consciousness 'I am', our mind is impermanent, because it appears in the states of waking and dream, and disappears in deep sleep. Even while it does appear to exist, our mind is constantly undergoing change, thinking of one thing at one moment and another thing at another moment. And though our mind appears to know itself by its own power of consciousness, in fact the consciousness by which it knows itself and all other things is only our basic consciousness 'I am', which it seemingly usurps as its own, but which is nevertheless independent of it.

Our mind is distinct from our essential consciousness 'I am', by the light of which it seemingly knows the existence of itself and other things, because our consciousness 'I am' can exist in the absence of our mind, as in sleep. Whereas our consciousness 'I am' is permanent, our mind is impermanent. Whereas our consciousness 'I am' is ever unchanging being, which always remains as it is, our mind is a constantly changing flow of thoughts. And whereas our consciousness 'I am' is always conscious of its own being, our mind is sometimes conscious of itself and other things, and sometimes

conscious neither of itself nor of any other thing. Therefore our consciousness 'I am' is real, whereas our mind is merely an unreal appearance.

If the essential nature of something is consciousness, it must always be conscious, because nothing can ever be separated from its essential nature. Because consciousness is the essential nature of our consciousness 'I am', it is conscious at all times and in all states. Similarly, because the essential nature of our consciousness 'I am' is also being or existence, it exists at all times and in all states.

In contrast, since our mind is conscious only during the waking and dream states, and ceases to be conscious in sleep, its essential nature cannot be consciousness. Similarly, since it exists only in waking and dream, but ceases to exist in sleep, its essential nature cannot be being or existence.

In fact, there is nothing that can be pointed out as being the essential nature of our mind, because it is not constantly any one thing. The body cannot be its essential nature, because though it identifies itself with a particular body in the waking state, in dream it identifies itself with some other body, and in sleep it identifies itself with no body at all. Similarly, its essential nature cannot be any thought or even the act of thinking, because throughout the waking and dream states the thoughts it thinks are constantly changing, and in sleep it ceases to think any thought. Though our mind in fact has no essential nature of its own, in the waking and dream states its essential nature appears to be consciousness. However, since it ceases to be conscious in sleep, the consciousness that appears to be its essential nature in waking and dream is in fact borrowed by it from our real consciousness 'I am'.

Since our mind therefore has no essential nature of its own, we can definitely conclude that it has no reality of its own, but borrows its seeming reality only from our essential consciousness 'I am'. Our mind is therefore an unreal phantom, something that is in fact neither one thing nor another. It is a false appearance, an illusion or hallucination, a self-deceiving imagination that appears and disappears in our one real consciousness 'I am'.

However, though our mind deceives itself by appearing in and as our real consciousness 'I am', it does not deceive our consciousness 'I am', which always remains as it is, knowing only its own existence, and being affected by nothing else whatsoever. Because our real consciousness 'I am' always remains as pure consciousness, undefiled by the knowledge of anything other than itself, nothing that appears or disappears can ever affect it even in the least. That is, whatever else may appear or disappear, we always know 'I am'.

The essential nature of our real consciousness 'I am' is only self-consciousness – consciousness of our own existence or being – and not consciousness of anything other than ourself. Because our consciousness of other things appears and disappears, it cannot be the essential nature of our real underlying consciousness 'I am'. In its real and essential nature, our consciousness 'I am' is ever unchanging, and ever unaffected by any change that may appear to occur. Therefore, whatever other knowledge may appear or disappear, it cannot affect our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which exists and knows its own existence in all states and at all times.

Our mind is therefore a false form of consciousness, an imaginary, confused and self-deceiving form of knowledge, a spurious entity that has no real existence of its own. Since all duality or multiplicity is known only by this mind, it depends for its seeming existence upon this mind – this imaginary, confused, self-deceiving and unreal form of consciousness. Hence our mind is the root cause of the appearance of duality. Without our mind to know it, no duality could exist. Therefore duality can only be as real as our mind, which knows it. Since our mind is an unreal appearance that rises and subsides in our real consciousness 'I am', all duality is likewise an unreal appearance.

Therefore we can reasonably conclude that our pure consciousness 'I am' is the only existing reality, and that our mind and all the duality or multiplicity which is known by it is only an unreal appearance – an appearance that is unreal because it is impermanent, constantly changing, and dependent for its seeming

existence upon the one real consciousness 'I am'.

Thus, if we have the courage and intellectual honesty to seriously doubt and question the reality of our mind, and to analyse its nature impartially, we will be led unavoidably to a non-dualistic view of reality – to the conclusion that the only existing reality is our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, our pure non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', and that all else is only an illusion or false appearance, an imagination created and known only by our imaginary mind.

This non-dual reality is the one truth about which all religions speak. Though they do not always describe the non-dual nature of this truth in explicit terms, all religions do so implicitly in one way or another.

No religion has a monopoly on the truth. What is true in one religion is true in every religion. The truth can never be in any way exclusive, because if it were, it would only be a partial truth and not the whole truth – a relative truth and not the absolute truth. To be wholly and absolutely true, the truth must be all-inclusive – it must be the one whole that includes everything within itself.

The one whole truth that does include everything within itself is the infinite spirit, the single consciousness that we all know as 'I am'. Everything that appears to exist does so only within this consciousness. Though the manifold forms in which things appear are unreal as such, the one real substance of all things is the consciousness in which they appear. Therefore the one truth about which all religions speak is the single, all-inclusive and non-dual whole, the spirit or consciousness in which all things appear and disappear.

However, because they interpret the spiritual teachings of their religion in a dualistic manner, most of the followers of the various religions tend to believe that their own religion somehow has a monopoly or exclusive claim upon the truth, and is therefore the only means to salvation. For example, throughout the history of Christianity, most ordinary Christians have believed that true salvation can only be attained through the person of Jesus Christ, and that atheists, agnostics and the followers of other religions can be

saved only by converting to Christianity. They have justified this unreasonable and arrogant belief by their dualistic interpretation of Christ's saying, "I am the way, the truth, and the life: no man cometh unto the Father, but by me" (*John* 14.6). Because of their dualistic understanding of his spiritual teachings, they interpret the words 'I am' and 'me' that he used in this passage to denote only the individual person Jesus Christ, who was born at a certain time in a certain place called Bethlehem.

However, Christ did not mistake himself to be merely an individual person whose life was limited within a certain range of time and place. He knew himself to be the real and eternal spirit 'I am', which is unlimited by time and place. That is why he said, "Before Abraham was born, I am" (*John* 8.58). The person who was Jesus Christ was born long after the time of Abraham, but the spirit which is Jesus Christ exists always and everywhere, transcending the limits of time and place. Because that spirit is timeless, he did not say, "Before Abraham was born, I was", but, "Before Abraham was born, I am".

That timeless spirit 'I am', which Christ thus knew to be his own real self, is the same 'I am' that God revealed to be his real self when he said to Moses, "I AM THAT I AM" (*Exodus* 3.14). Therefore, though Christ appears to us to be a separate individual person, he and his Father God are in fact one and the same reality, the spirit that exists within each one of us as our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. That is why he said, "I and the Father are one" (*John* 10.30).

Therefore, when Christ said, "I am the way, the truth, and the life: no man cometh unto the Father, but by me" (*John* 14.6), by the words 'I am' and 'me' he was referring not merely to the time-bound individual called Jesus, but to the eternal spirit 'I am', which he knew to be his own real self. The inner meaning of his words can therefore be expressed by rephrasing them thus, "The spirit 'I am' is the way, the truth, and the life: no man cometh unto the spirit 'I am', which is the Father or source of all things, but by this same spirit".

The spirit 'I am' is not only the truth or reality of all things, the source from which they all originate, and the life or consciousness

that animates every sentient being, but is also the only way by which we can return to our original source, which we call by various names such as 'God' or the 'Father'. Except by turning our attention within towards the spirit, the consciousness that we each experience as 'I am', there is no way by which we return to and become one with our source. Therefore true salvation can only be attained not merely through the person who was Jesus Christ, but through the spirit which is Jesus Christ – the eternal spirit 'I am' that exists within each one of us.

Not only did Christ affirm his oneness with God, his Father, he also wanted us to become one with him. Before his arrest and crucifixion, Christ prayed for us, "Holy Father, ... that they may be one, as we [are]. ... that they all may be one; as thou, Father, [art] in me, and I in thee, that they also may be one in us ... that they may be one, even as we are one: I in them, and thou in me, that they may be made perfect in one" (*John* 17.11 & 21-23). That is, the aim of Christ was that we should cease to mistake ourself to be an individual separate from God and should know ourself to be the one indivisible spirit, the pure fundamental consciousness 'I am', which is the reality of God. Thus oneness or non-duality is the central aim of the spiritual teachings of Jesus Christ.

Every religion consists of a vital central core of non-dualistic truth, expressed either explicitly or implicitly, and a thick outer shell of dualistic beliefs, practices, doctrines and dogmas. The differences that we see between one religion and another – the differences that throughout the ages have given rise to so much conflict, intolerance and cruel persecution, and even to bloody wars and terrorism – lie only in the superficial forms of those religions, their outer shells of dualistic beliefs and practices.

All the disharmony, conflict and strife that exist between one religion and another arise only because most of the followers of those religions are too attached to a dualistic view of reality, which limits their vision and prevents them from seeing what all religions have in common, namely the one underlying truth of non-duality. Therefore true peace and harmony would prevail among the

adherents of the various religions only if they were all willing to look beyond the external forms of those religions and see the one simple and common truth of non-duality that lies at the heart of all of them.

If we accept and truly understand the truth of non-duality, we will have no cause to quarrel or fight with anyone. We will be happy instead to let each person believe what they want to believe, because if a person is so attached to their individuality that they are unwilling to doubt its reality, no amount of reasoning or argument will convince them of the truth of non-duality. Therefore no one who truly understands this truth would ever try to convince the unwilling. If anyone does try to force the truth of non-duality upon someone who is unwilling to accept it, they are only displaying their own lack of correct understanding of that truth.

Non-duality is not a religion that needs evangelists to propagate it, or converts to join its ranks. It is the truth, and will remain the truth whether or not anyone chooses to accept and understand it. Therefore we can and should do no more than make this truth available to whomsoever is ready to understand it and apply it in practice.

Many religious people believe that it is blasphemy or sacrilege to say that we are one with God, because they mistake such a statement to mean that an individual is claiming himself to be God. But when we say that we are God, what we mean is not that we as a separate individual are God, which would be absurd, but that we are not an individual separate from God. By thus denying that we have any existence or reality separate from God, we are affirming that the reality we call God is one, whole and undivided.

If instead we were to claim that we are in reality separate from God, as most religious people believe us to be, that would be blasphemy or sacrilege, because it would imply that God is not the one and only reality. If we were to have any reality of our own separate from God, then he would not be the whole truth, but only a part or division of some larger truth.

If we believe that the reality that we call God is truly the infinite

'fullness of being', the one undivided whole, then we must accept that nothing can exist as other than or separate from him. He alone truly exists, and all else that seems to exist as separate from him is in fact nothing but an illusion or false appearance whose sole underlying reality is God. Only in the state of perfect non-duality is the true glory, wholeness and fullness of God revealed. So long as we experience a state of seeming duality by mistaking ourself to be an individual separate from God, we are degrading and demeaning him, denying his indivisible oneness, wholeness and infinity, and making him into something less than the only existing reality that he truly is.

Though the inner aim of all religions is to teach us the truth of non-duality, in their scriptures this truth is often expressed only in an oblique manner, and can be discerned only by people who are able to read between the lines with true insight and understanding. The reason why the truth is not expressed more openly, clearly and unambiguously in many of the scriptures of the various religions is that at any given point in time the majority of people have not yet reached a state of sufficient spiritual maturity to be able to digest and assimilate it if it is told as it is. That is why Christ said, "I have yet many things to say unto you, but ye cannot bear them now" (*John* 16.12). However, though most of us may be unable to bear and accept the raw and naked truth of non-duality now, with the passing of time we will each eventually gain the spiritual maturity required to understand and accept the truth as it is, and not merely as we would now like it to be.

Our life in this world is a dream that is occurring in our long sleep of self-forgetfulness – forgetfulness or ignorance of our true state of pure non-dual self-consciousness. Until we wake from this sleep of self-forgetfulness by regaining our true and natural state of self-knowledge, dreams such as our present life will continue recurring one after another. When our present body 'dies', that is, when we cease to identify ourself with this body, which by our wonderful power of imagination we have now projected as 'I' and through which we see the present world, we will subside temporarily in the

sleep of self-forgetfulness, but will sooner or later rise again to project another dream body as ourself and see through it another dream world. This process of passing from one dream to another in the long sleep of self-forgetfulness is what is called 'rebirth'.

As we thus pass through one dream life after another, we undergo many experiences that gradually enkindle within us a clarity of spiritual discrimination, by means of which we come to understand that our life as a separate individual is a constantly fluctuating flow of pleasurable and painful experiences, and that we can therefore experience true and perfect happiness only by knowing our real self and thereby destroying the delusion that makes us feel ourself to be a separate individual. Thus the truth of non-duality is the ultimate truth that each and every one of us will eventually come to understand and accept.

However, a mere theoretical understanding and acceptance of the truth of non-duality is of no real value to us in itself, because it will not remove the basic self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance that underlies our delusion of individuality. Acceptance of the truth of non-duality is only of use to us if it prompts us to turn our attention within towards our real self – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, which we each experience as 'I am'.

We can never experience the truth of non-duality merely by studying scriptures or other spiritual books, no matter how correctly we may understand and interpret their inner meaning. The truth itself can be discovered and experienced only within us, in the very core of our own being, and not in books or in words, no matter how sacred they may be. Books or words can be helpful to us only if they enable us to understand that we can experience true knowledge only by turning our attention away from the world of objects and ideas and towards the consciousness by which all things are known.

In every religion and authentic spiritual tradition throughout the ages there have been people who have attained the same non-dual experience that Sri Ramana attained – the experience of true self-knowledge. In this book I shall refer to such people as 'sages', a term which I will use not just in the usual general sense of a 'person

of great wisdom' but in the more specific sense of a 'person of self-knowledge'. Thus whenever I use the term 'sage', I use it as an English equivalent of the Sanskrit term *jñani*, which means a 'person of *jñana* or [true] knowledge', or more specifically *atma-jñani*, a 'person of *atma-jñana* or self-knowledge'.

Just because a person is said to be a saint, prophet, seer, *rishi*, mystic or some such revered being, he or she may not necessarily be a true sage, because such appellations do not specifically denote a person who has attained true self-knowledge. True sages are however the cream of the saints, prophets, seers, *rishis* and mystics of all religions and all times, and a sample of such sages may be found in every religion and spiritual tradition.

Many such sages have remained unknown to the world, because though they experienced the ultimate truth, they never attempted to express it in words, or even if they did so, their words were never recorded. However, in every culture and every religion some sages have expressed the truth either in writing or in speech, and hence between them they have left the world a large legacy of spiritual literature, all of which testifies to the non-dual experience they attained.

Though all such sages have experienced the same truth, the words they have each used to express it often differ greatly, and sometimes they may even seem to contradict one another. The reason for this is that no words can adequately express the truth of non-duality, because it lies beyond the range of the dualistic consciousness we call 'mind'. Words are an instrument used by the mind to convey its feelings, ideas, perceptions and so on, all of which arise from its experience of duality. Since the mind is a form of consciousness that feels itself to be distinct from whatever it knows, it can know only duality, and can never know the non-dual reality that underlies itself.

The words that sages use to express the truth are therefore only pointers, drawing our attention to that which is beyond our mind, yet which lies deep within us, and which contains within itself all things. The true import of their words cannot be understood by the normal worldly intelligence that we use to understand other things, but it can

be understood by the inner clarity that shines naturally in our mind when its surface agitation caused by the storm of desire and attachment is calmed at least partially. If we attempt to experience the truth that is indicated by their words by scrutinising our fundamental consciousness 'I am' and thereby cultivating skill in the art of just being, we will gain increasingly the inner clarity that is required to perceive the true import of their words.

Because no words can adequately express the truth, all sages have declared it to be ineffable, and many of them have therefore chosen to use the language of allegory to express the inexpressible. The allegorical language that sages have used most commonly to express the journey that we must take in order to merge in the source from which we originated is the language of mystical love. In this language, the individual soul seeking union with God is described as a young girl seeking union with her beloved. Much of the finest spiritual literature in the world is the poetry composed by sages in this language of mystical love, and samples of such poetry can be found in many diverse cultures. When we read such poetry with an understanding of the truth of non-duality, we can clearly see in it an unmistakable expression of that truth.

In the language of allegory the truth is implied rather than stated explicitly, and can therefore remain hidden from readers who have no prior understanding of it. Therefore some sages, when questioned by people who earnestly seek to know the truth, have set aside the language of allegory and have instead attempted to use the language of philosophy to express the truth more explicitly and clearly. However, even the language of philosophy cannot express the truth perfectly, but can only indirectly indicate the nature of it and the means of attaining it.

The philosophical terminology that sages in different cultures and different ages have used to express the truth differs greatly, and if understood only superficially may often appear to be conflicting. For example, many sages have used terms such as 'God' to refer to the absolute reality, while others like Buddha and Mahavira have avoided using such a term. This has led some people to claim that

such sages have denied the existence of God. But such a claim is misleading, and arises from an overly simplistic understanding both of the reality and of the term 'God'.

The sole aim of the teachings of Buddha and Mahavira, like that of all other sages, was to lead us to the one absolute reality. The terminology they each used when talking about that reality may vary, but the reality about which they all talked is the same. That reality can be known only by direct non-dual experience, and can never be conceived by the mind, nor expressed by words. Being infinite, it transcends all the conceptual qualities that our finite minds attribute to it, so it cannot be correctly described as being either this or that. It is everything, and at the same time it is nothing. Therefore it is equally correct, and also equally incorrect, either to refer to it as 'God' or not to refer to it as 'God'.

The term 'God' has no fixed meaning. In certain contexts it means one thing, and in other contexts it means another thing, because it is a name given to a wide range of notions that people hold about the supreme or ultimate reality. Some of our notions about God are decidedly anthropomorphic, whereas others are more abstract, but none of them are either entirely correct or entirely incorrect.

In *vedanta*, therefore, a distinction is made between two basic forms of God. One form is called *saguna brahman*, which means '*brahman* with *gunas*', and the other form is called *nirguna brahman*, which means '*brahman* without *gunas*'. The word *brahman* means the absolute reality, the supreme being or God, and the word *guna* means quality or attribute. Thus *saguna brahman* is the relative form of God, God with qualities and attributes as conceived by the human mind, while *nirguna brahman* is the absolute and real form of God, God without any conceivable quality or attribute. The God of human conception, whatever that conception may be, is *saguna brahman*, whereas the reality of God, which transcends all human conception, is *nirguna brahman*. Thus *nirguna brahman* is the substance or absolute reality that underlies *saguna brahman*, the God of our limited conception.

Though God as *saguna brahman* is not the ultimate or absolute reality, he and all the divine qualities we attribute to him are as real as our own individuality. Therefore so long as we take ourself to be a separate individual, God and all his divine qualities are for all practical purposes real. But when we attain the experience of true self-knowledge and thereby destroy the false notion that we are an individual consciousness that is separate from God, God will remain as our own real self or essential being, the absolute reality or *nirguna brahman*, which transcends all human conception.

Because the aim of the Buddha and Mahavira was to teach us the means by which we can attain the absolute reality, which is beyond all *gunas*, qualities or attributes, they did not consider it necessary to talk about 'God', a term that is generally understood to mean *saguna brahman*, the supreme being endowed with divine qualities. Other sages, however, have used the term 'God' either as a word referring to *nirguna brahman*, the absolute reality that transcends all qualities, or because they understood that the people to whom they were speaking had need of a concept of a personal God who would aid them in their efforts to attain the transpersonal reality. There is thus no fundamental difference between the teachings of sages who have used the term 'God' and those who have not used this term. Both are speaking about the same absolute reality, but have simply chosen to express it in different terms.

The fact that the Buddha clearly acknowledged the existence of the absolute reality or *nirguna brahman* is evident from one of his important and well-known teachings, which is recorded in the *Tipitaka* 2.5.3.8.3 (*Udana* 8.3):

There is, mendicants, that which is not born, that which has not come into being, that which is not made, that which is not constructed. If there were not, mendicants, that which is not born, that which has not come into being, that which is not made, that which is not constructed, here [in this world or in this lifetime] escape from that which is born, from that which has come into being, from that which is made, from that which is constructed, would therefore not have been [a state that could be] clearly known [or experienced]. But because, mendicants,

there is indeed that which is not born, that which has not come into being, that which is not made, that which is not constructed, therefore escape from that which is born, from that which has come into being, from that which is made, from that which is constructed, is [a state that can be] clearly known [or experienced].

Though there is a wealth of profound meaning in these words of the Buddha, this is not a suitable place to examine them in depth, so we will study them in more detail in a sequel to this book that I have already begun to write.

Another superficial difference between the teachings of the Buddha and those of *advaita vedanta* is that the Buddha taught the truth of *anatta*, a Pali term that is a modified form of the Sanskrit word *anatma*, which means 'no self', whereas sages of the *advaita vedanta* tradition teach that *atma* or 'self' is the sole existing reality. Some people claim that this is a fundamental contradiction between their respective teachings, whereas in fact this is merely a superficial difference in terminology.

When Buddha taught that there is no 'self' or *atma*, he was referring only to our finite individual self or *jivatma*, which all sages of the *advaita vedanta* tradition also say is unreal. And when those sages teach that 'self' or *atma* is the sole existing reality, they are referring not to our false individual self but only to our real self – our true being or essential 'am'-ness, our pure, unlimited, undivided, unqualified and absolutely non-dual consciousness of our own being, which alone remains in the state of *nirvana*, in which the false appearance of our individual object-knowing consciousness is completely extinguished. Thus there is no contradiction at all between the truth of 'no self' or *anatta* taught by the Buddha and the truth that 'self' or *atma* is the sole existing reality taught by *advaita vedanta*.

The teachings of different sages appear to differ from one another, or even to contradict one another, for three main reasons. Firstly, it is because of the different terminology that they have used to teach the truth, which words can never express perfectly, but can

only indicate. Secondly, it is because they had to adapt their teachings to suit the receptivity of the people they were teaching. And thirdly, it is because their original teachings have often become mixed with the ideas of their followers, many of whom had no direct experience of the truth they taught, nor even a clear and correct understanding of it.

The records that have survived of the teachings of many sages were not written by those sages themselves, but were recorded by their followers, often long after their lifetime. Therefore such records often do not reflect the teachings of those sages perfectly, but only reflect the understanding that some of their literate followers had of their teachings.

In almost all religions and spiritual traditions, the original teachings of sages have become mixed up with elaborate systems of theology, cosmology, philosophy and psychology, which bear very little relation to the actual experience of those sages. Such theologies and cosmologies originate from the minds of people who were unable to understand the simplicity and immediacy of the truth taught by the sages, and who therefore created such elaborate and complex systems of belief in an attempt to explain what they themselves could not understand. Because they originated in this manner, all the complex theologies and cosmologies that exist in every religion only serve to confuse people and obscure from their minds the simple truth of non-duality taught by sages.

However, in spite of all the confusing complexity found in the spiritual literature of the world, running throughout that literature there is a common thread of simple truth, which we can easily discern if we are able to understand the original teachings of the real sages. Because the same fundamental truth of non-duality has been expressed in the recorded words of sages from so many diverse cultures throughout the ages, modern students of philosophy often call it the 'perennial philosophy', a term that corresponds to the ancient Sanskrit term *sanatana dharma*, which literally means 'that which always upholds' or 'that which is ever established', and which therefore by implication means the 'eternal truth', the 'eternal law',

the 'eternal principle', the 'eternal support', the 'eternal foundation', the 'eternal nature', the 'eternal essence', the 'eternal way' or the 'eternal religion'.

Fortunately for us, Sri Ramana's teachings were not only recorded in his lifetime by many of his followers, some of whom understood them very clearly, but were also written by him in various poems and other works. Since he composed poetry not only in the language of allegory and mystical love, but also in the language of philosophy, and since in his poetry he described the reality and the means of attaining it in very clear and unambiguous terms, he has made it extremely easy for us to understand the simple truth that underlies the teachings of all sages.

Having read and understood his teachings, if we read the teachings of any other real sage, we can easily recognise that the same truth is expressed in all of them. Moreover, his teachings also serve as a key that enables us to unravel and extract the true teachings of the sages from the dense mass of extraneous theologies, cosmologies and philosophies with which they have become mixed in every religion and spiritual tradition.

Therefore readers who are already familiar with the *sanatana dharma*, the timeless and universal truth or 'perennial philosophy' taught by all sages, will find that the teachings of Sri Ramana also express that same basic philosophy. However, they will also find that his teachings throw a clear and fresh light upon that philosophy, elucidating many subtle and profound truths that have seldom been expressed so explicitly by other sages, particularly with regard to the practical means by which we can attain the true experience of nondual self-knowledge.

Because the teachings of Sri Ramana are a simple yet very profound revelation of the fundamental and absolute reality that underlies the appearance of all multiplicity and diversity, they express the ultimate truth that is the inner essence of all religions and spiritual traditions. Hence people of many diverse religious and cultural backgrounds have recognised that his teachings are a profoundly insightful and authentic exposition of the true import of

their own religion or spiritual tradition, and have understood that after studying his teachings they need not study any other spiritual texts.

Though the same simple truth of non-duality can be found expressed in all the spiritual literature of the world if we search for it hard enough, it is not necessary or advisable for us to waste our time searching for it in the vast jungle of scriptures and sacred writings, where it is usually hidden among a dense mass of extraneous ideas. That is why in verse 60 of *Vivekachudamani* Sri Adi Sankara warned all serious spiritual aspirants to avoid excessive study of the scriptures or *sastras*, which he described as a "great forest of delusive snares of noisy words" (*sabda jala maharanyam*) and a "cause of unsteadiness, bewilderment and confusion of mind" (*chitta bhramana karanam*), and advised us that with the guidance of a sage who knows the truth we should instead try to investigate and know the truth of our self through direct experience.

For us to attain such direct non-dual experience of our own real self, all the guidance required can be found expressed in an extremely clear and simple manner in the teachings of Sri Ramana. If we read and understand his teachings, there will be no need for us to study any other scriptures or sacred writings, because from his teachings we will learn that the truth does not lie outside us in any books, but only within us, in the innermost core of our being, and that the only means to experience it is therefore to turn our attention selfwards to know the reality of the consciousness by which we know all other things.

Though Sri Ramana wrote and spoke comparatively little, and that too mostly only in response to questions put to him or requests made to him by other people, through those relatively few words that he wrote and spoke he has given us a complete set of spiritual teachings — a set of spiritual teachings which are so clear, simple, profound and all-embracing that they contain the seed or foundation of an entire philosophy and science of ourself and of every essential aspect of our whole life as an individual existing in this world of duality and multiplicity.

In this book I attempt to develop this seed and build upon this foundation by presenting in the clear light of his spiritual teachings a detailed analysis of our entire experience of ourself in our three normal states of consciousness, waking, dream and deep sleep, of our experience of the world that we perceive around us, and of the notions and beliefs that we hold not only about ourself and the world, but also about God and many other crucial aspects of our life as an individual in this world of baffling diversity and complexity. However, though I initially intended to explore his teachings in this book from a broad and comprehensive range of different angles, when I actually attempted to cover all the many different aspects of his teachings in sufficient detail and depth, I found that what I had written and what I still had to write was far more than could be comfortably contained within a single volume. Therefore I decided to limit myself in this present book to an in-depth exploration of only the most essential aspects of his teachings, and to cover more peripheral aspects in some subsequent books.

The detailed analysis that I present in this book consists of ideas that I have learnt from three principal sources. In part it consists of ideas that I have learnt directly from the writings and recorded sayings of Sri Ramana, in particular from the most comprehensive and profound record of his sayings that his pre-eminent disciple Sri Muruganar preserved in the form of Tamil verses in Guru Vachaka Kovai. In part it consists of ideas that I learnt personally from Sri Sadhu Om, who was one of the closest disciples of Sri Ramana (by which term I mean not those who merely lived close to him physically, but those who followed his teachings most closely and truly), who was a lucid and extremely profound exponent of his teachings, in whose close company I had the good fortune to live for more than eight years, and under whose guidance I studied Guru Vachaka Kovai and all the original writings of Sri Ramana in minute detail and great depth. However, for the most part it consists of my own understanding of Sri Ramana's teachings, an understanding that I have gained by studying his teachings deeply and in the original Tamil in which he wrote and spoke them, by reflecting upon them

for many years, and by attempting to practise the empirical technique of self-investigation that he taught as the only means by which we can experience true self-knowledge.

However, though the ideas that I express in this book are a mixture of ideas that I have learnt directly from the writings or recorded sayings of Sri Ramana, of ideas that I have learnt through the channel of the profound explanations of his teachings that I heard from Sri Sadhu Om, and of ideas that that I have formed from my own reflections upon and understanding of his teachings, I believe that the actual source of all these ideas is only Sri Ramana, without whose inspiration and inner guidance I would not have been able to understand his teachings with any degree of clarity, or thereby to write this book.

Whereas what I write is based merely upon my repeated *sravana* and *manana* and my limited experience of *nididhyasana* – that is, upon what I have read, upon my own personal reflections, and upon the limited experience that I have gained by attempting to practise contemplation, the empirical method of self-investigation taught by Sri Ramana – I believe that his words are derived from his direct, perfect and complete experience of the non-dual true knowledge about which he speaks. Similarly, I believe that the words of his foremost disciples, such as Sri Muruganar and Sri Sadhu Om, are based upon the experience of true self-knowledge that they attained by his grace and inner guidance, which drew their attention inwards and thereby dissolved their separate individuality in the non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am', which is the true form of Sri Ramana, and the real and essential nature of each and every one of us.

Therefore I believe that the ideas that I express in this book, which are based largely on what I have learnt and understood from the words of Sri Ramana and these two disciples of his, are not merely speculative hypotheses, but are facts that have been verified by their transcendent experience, and by the transcendent experience of many other sages. However, as Sri Ramana himself emphasised, mere belief in certain ideas is not true knowledge, so we must all

hold our beliefs tentatively, and must endeavour to verify them for ourself by seeking to attain true experiential knowledge of the fundamental and absolute reality through empirical research, that is, through practical self-investigation. Therefore, the sole aim of all the theory discussed in this book is to guide us and encourage us in our practical quest for the direct, immediate, non-dual and absolute experience of true self-knowledge.

When I first started to write the material that is contained in this book, I had no idea that I would later decide to form the ideas that I was writing into a book. I have for long been in the habit of writing my private reflections about the teachings of Sri Ramana, but I always did so for my own benefit, because I find that writing helps me to clarify my thinking and to enkindle in my mind fresh ideas and new angles or ways of understanding his teachings. In my experience, musing on his teachings, and expressing my musings in writing, is a great aid and encouragement in my attempt to practise his teachings in the midst of my day-to-day life.

However, the greatest obstacle that for many years has prevented me from devoting enough of my time to this valuable exercise of writing my musings has been the necessity to work long hours and to expend a great deal of mental energy in a 'nine-to-five' job for which I felt no affinity. I felt that for the sake of earning a living I was wasting too much of my life engaged in activities that were draining my energy and diverting my attention away from the real purpose of life, which for each of us is to turn our attention inwards to know who we really are.

Since I believe that I had been singularly blessed to have had the opportunity to study the teachings of Sri Ramana in great depth under the close and clear guidance of Sri Sadhu Om, whose unique clarity of understanding arose both from his wholehearted and single-minded devotion to Sri Ramana and his teachings, and from his own profound spiritual experience, which resulted from such devotion, I recently began to feel that if I were to share my writings with others by forming them into a book, some people might be interested to read them and a few might perhaps be benefited by

them. In particular I felt that my writings might help people who were entirely unacquainted with the teachings of Sri Ramana and with the philosophical, spiritual, religious and cultural background against which they were set, because not only have I studied them in the original Tamil in which he wrote them, but I am also able to rethink them in English, which is my own native language, as a result of which I am able to understand them from the perspectives of both a Hindu and a non-Hindu mindset.

With these thoughts in mind, I began tentatively to edit all that I had written into the form of a book, thinking that at least I could see what shape it would take and thereby test whether or not it might prove useful to any sincerely interested readers. While doing this, I found that I needed to write many more ideas in order to form a coherent and comprehensive exposition of his teachings, and I became pleasantly surprised to find a wealth of fresh ideas arising in my mind and finding expression in my writings.

Nevertheless, I continued to feel diffident about the idea of publishing my private musings upon the teachings of Sri Ramana, and I felt so for two main reasons. Firstly and most importantly, I do not wish to fall victim to the subtle and powerful delusion of pride and egoism that might result if my writings were to be appreciated by many people. And secondly, since the spiritual teachings of Sri Ramana are the love of my life, and since I revere them as the most worthy object of meditation, adoration and inward worship, I am not entirely comfortable about the idea of utilising my love of them as a means to earn a livelihood.

However I have gradually overcome these two reservations. I have overcome the first one by deciding that pride and egoism are challenges that we all have to face if we are to follow the spiritual path, and that we can conquer them not merely by avoiding external circumstances that could strengthen them, but only by facing them with an honest recognition of our own weaknesses and imperfections, and a consequent sense of complete dependence upon the protecting power of divine grace. And I have overcome the second one by reconciling my mind to the fact that, since I have to

earn a livelihood in some manner, I may as well try to do so writing about the subject I love, since this will help me to keep my mind immersed in the teachings of Sri Ramana, rather than allowing it to become immersed in any more worldly occupation. Therefore, after much hesitation, I have finally decided to take the plunge and have this first volume published.

When I began to form my writings as a book, I planned to divide it into two parts in one volume. According to the initial outline I had in mind, the first part was going to be called 'The Essentials' and would be largely concerning ourself, both our true self and our false self, whereas the second part was going to be called 'The Peripherals' and would be largely concerning things that we imagine to be other than ourself, such as the world and God. As this idea developed, my proposed outline came to consist of this introduction, ten chapters in the first part, eighteen chapters in the second part, and an appendix.

However, by the time I had written almost two hundred thousand words, but had still not completed writing even half of what I expected to write, I understood that it would be far too much to fit into a single volume. Therefore I decided to form this introduction and the proposed first part into this present book, *Happiness and the Art of Being*, to form the proposed second part into a separate book, which I have tentatively entitled *The Truth of Otherness*, and to form the proposed appendix into a third book entitled *Yoga and the Art of Being*.

When I decided to split the then partially written book into these three volumes, I had already written many portions of each of these volumes, but none of them were complete. Though the material that I had written for this present book came to nearly one hundred thousand words, most of the chapters were still incomplete and some had not even been started. Therefore, since this book was logically the first volume in the series of then partially developed books, and since it would form the foundation of the subsequent volumes, I decided that I should try to complete it first. In order to complete the next two volumes, I still have much to write, and by the time I have

finished, it may be necessary for me to split them further into more volumes.

Because this book has been formed from a collection of material written at different times, some chapters contain a certain amount of material that is not directly pertinent to the title of that chapter, but is nevertheless connected to the other material within that chapter. For the same reason, within certain chapters the overall flow of ideas is not entirely sequential, and may sometimes appear to have taken a few steps backwards. Though I have taken trouble to edit the material in an easy flowing and logically coherent fashion, in many places I decided not to sacrifice certain valuable ideas just for the sake of a perfectly polished flow. I am aware, therefore, that some of the ideas in this book are presented in a slightly rambling fashion, but I believe that the overall value of such ideas will justify their inclusion.

Moreover, certain ideas in this book are repeated in several different contexts. I have allowed such repetition to occur because each time a particular idea is repeated, it is examined from a fresh angle, and therefore its repetition will help us to understand it more deeply and in a broader perspective. Furthermore, by reiterating a particular idea in a new context, we are not only able to examine it from a fresh angle, but are also able to use it to clarify whatever subject is then under discussion.

In a book such as this, repetition of certain central ideas is in fact unavoidable. Though the material in this book and in the subsequent volumes covers a wide range of subjects, all these subjects are in one way or other related to the central subject, which is our search for true and absolute happiness, a happiness that can be experienced only in the state of actionless, thought-free and therefore perfectly peaceful being, which is the state of true self-knowledge, the state in which we remain only as our own real self, knowing nothing other than our own essential being. Because we examine all these subjects from the perspective of our search for true self-knowledge, certain central themes necessarily recur throughout this book, and will also recur in the subsequent volumes.

Of all the central themes that recur throughout this book, the centremost is our fundamental, essential and non-dual consciousness of our own being, our simple self-consciousness 'I am', which is not only our true self, but is also the one and only absolute reality, the source and substance of all things, and the abode of perfect, eternal and infinite happiness. This self-consciousness 'I am' is the only thing that we experience permanently, and it is the centre and foundation of all our knowledge and experience. As such, it has to be the primary concern of any serious philosophical or scientific investigation. Unless we know the true nature of this fundamental consciousness, without which we would know nothing else, the truth of any knowledge that we may have about anything else is dubious and open to question.

All the other recurring themes in this book are closely related to this one centremost theme, our fundamental self-consciousness 'I am', and the more frequently they recur, the more important they are to our search for true self-knowledge. Their recurrence serves an important purpose, because it enables us to explore the foundations of this philosophy and science of self-knowledge from various different perspectives, and thereby to develop a deeper and more comprehensive understanding of it.

The deeper and more comprehensive our understanding grows, the firmer will become our conviction that we can experience infinite happiness only if we know the true nature of our own self, and that the most important and essential thing in our life is therefore to seek and attain true self-knowledge. The firmer this conviction becomes, the more strongly we will be motivated to withdraw our attention from all other things, and to fix it wholly and exclusively in the core of our being – in our essential self-consciousness, 'I am'.

Though the philosophy presented in this book is based largely upon the testimony of Sri Ramana and other sages, we cannot attain true knowledge merely by understanding this philosophy intellectually. The reason why sages have expressed their experience of the absolute reality in words is only to prompt us and guide us to attain that same experience. Therefore the philosophy presented here

is not an end in itself, but is only a means to a much greater end, the experience of true self-knowledge. This philosophy is not only a theoretical philosophy but also a practical science, and hence the sole purpose of all its theory is to motivate us and guide us in its practice, the empirical method of self-investigation and consequent self-surrender.

When we begin to study any science, whether it be one of the many sciences concerned with knowing some aspect of the objective world, or this science of self-knowledge, which is concerned not with knowing any object but only with knowing the consciousness by which all objects are known, it is necessary for us to have tentative trust in the experience and testimony of those who have already acquired practical knowledge of that science. When we study physics, for example, we initially have to accept many of its advanced discoveries, such as the theory of relativity, on trust. Only later, when we become personally involved in experimental physics, will we be in a position to test the truth of such theories for ourself. If from the outset we were to refuse to believe any of the truths discovered by physicists until we ourself had tested and verified each one of them, we would unnecessarily impede our speed of learning, and we would never have time to acquire the knowledge required to engage in advanced experimental physics.

All learning requires a keen, inquisitive and questioning mind, but just as honest doubt plays an important part in the learning process, so too does tentative trust. Knowledge is acquired most efficiently and effectively by an intelligent use of both doubt and trust. A discriminating student knows what is to be doubted, and what is to be tentatively trusted.

More than in any other science, in this science of self-knowledge doubt is essential, because to know the truth that underlies all appearances, we must doubt the reality of everything — not just the reality of the objects known by our mind, but the reality of our knowing mind itself. However, though doubt plays such a vital role in the process of acquiring self-knowledge, tentative trust in the testimony of sages, who have already attained the experience of true

self-knowledge, is nevertheless extremely helpful.

Since the testimony of sages challenges us to question and doubt all the beliefs that we have cherished for so long about what we are and about the reality of our life in this world, we may initially find it difficult to trust their words. That is why, rather than asking us to believe anything that we do not already know, Sri Ramana based his teachings upon an analysis of our own everyday experience. When we critically analyse our experience of the three states of consciousness that we undergo each day, we cannot reasonably avoid doubting most of what we normally take for granted about who we are and about the reality of all that we experience in these states.

In order to acquire knowledge that we cannot reasonably doubt, we must first disentangle ourself from all the confused and uncertain knowledge we now have about ourself. Such disentanglement can be achieved only by turning our attention away from all objects of knowledge and towards ourself, the consciousness by which everything is known. This process of disentanglement is the journey of self-discovery that all sages urge us to undertake.

As explained above, this book presents a philosophical analysis of our everyday experience of ourself, and the purpose of this analysis is only to enable us to obtain a clear theoretical understanding of who we really are, and thereby to ascertain the practical means by which we can attain direct experience of our own real nature. Though in this journey of self-discovery we will be guided by the revelations of Sri Ramana and other sages, we will nevertheless be relying primarily upon our own personal experience of our being or consciousness, and thus we will as far as possible avoid the need to rely upon belief in what we ourself do not actually know. If we take this journey depending always upon our own experience of ourself as our guide, we will be able to verify for ourself the truth of all that has been revealed through the words of sages, who have taken this journey before us.

However, while we are proceeding on this journey of selfdiscovery, and before we complete it, we are likely to discover that our rational analysis of our already existing experience of our own being and consciousness, together with our experience of practising the art of self-conscious being, will inspire in our mind a steadily increasing trust in the words of sages. Such trust should not be mistaken to be mere 'blind belief', because it is a trust born not of intellectual blindness but of a deep inner clarity of mind gained by dwelling repeatedly upon the true light of self-consciousness, which ever shines in the core of our being, as the core of our being, but which till now we have always habitually ignored due to our infatuation with the external world of sense perceptions.

Though it is possible for us to turn our attention away from the external world and towards our own essential consciousness 'I am' in order to discover our true nature even without our placing our trust in the words of anyone, in practice while pursuing the journey of self-discovery, and while confronting all the obstacles that inevitably arise on the way, we can derive much benefit by trusting and learning from the testimony of those who have taken and completed this journey before us. Therefore in the forthcoming sequel to this book, while investigating certain peripheral subjects which, though not essential, are nevertheless closely related to the journey of self-discovery, we will come across certain explanations which have been given by Sri Ramana and other sages who have completed that journey, but which we cannot verify from our own experience until we complete the journey and discover for ourself the truth that they have experienced. Each one of us is free to decide for ourself whether or not we wish to trust such explanations.

However, though we may not be able to verify the truth of such explanations until we attain the experience of true self-knowledge, we can at least understand that they are all logical implications, or at least reasonably possible implications, of the conclusions and truths that we arrive at by analysis and deduction in this present book. Therefore if we have been convinced by the conclusions that we deduce in this book from our critical analysis of our everyday experience of our three states of consciousness, waking, dream and deep sleep, it should not be too difficult for us to trust at least

tentatively most of the explanations that are given in the sequel to this book.

If we do trust them, or at least accept them as tentative hypotheses to be tested by means of self-investigation, we will find them to be helpful to us in our attempts to turn our attention away from the external world and towards our essential self-consciousness 'I am' in order to remain merely as this fundamental consciousness of our own being. However, even if we are unwilling to trust anything that we do not already know for certain, we can still pursue this journey of self-discovery by taking all our doubts to their logical conclusion – by doubting the reality of our doubting mind, and therefore turning our attention towards the consciousness that underlies it in order to know the ultimate source from which it has arisen along with all its doubts.

The aim of this book or any subsequent books is not to persuade anyone to believe anything, but is only to prompt all of us who have a truly enquiring mind to question critically our habitual view of ourself, the world and God, and to encourage us to embark upon the journey of self-discovery by investigating our consciousness 'I am', which is the centre and fundamental basis of all our experience and knowledge.

Let us now embark upon this journey of self-discovery, and verify for ourself the truth revealed in the words of Sri Ramana and other sages.

CHAPTER 1

What is Happiness?

What is the one thing that all sentient beings desire? Is it not happiness? In the final analysis, are not all our desires just various forms of our one fundamental desire to be happy? Is not our fundamental desire for happiness the essence of every form of desire that we may ever have?

Our desire for happiness is the driving force behind all the countless forms of effort that we are always making. We do not do anything – whether through mind, speech or body – that is not driven by our fundamental desire to be happy. Each and every one of our actions is motivated by our desire to be perfectly happy.

For whom do we desire happiness? Do we not each desire happiness for ourself? First and foremost, we each want ourself to be happy. Though we may also want other people to be happy, we want them to be happy because seeing their happiness makes us feel happy. All our actions of mind, speech and body are impelled by our desire for our own happiness.

However unselfish we may think our actions to be, they are still all motivated by our desire for our own happiness. Even if we sacrifice our time, our money, our comforts and conveniences, or anything else that is precious to us, in order to do some altruistic action, whether to help some other person or to support some noble cause, the ultimate driving force behind such sacrifice is our desire to be happy. We do altruistic actions only because doing so makes us feel happy.

Because we feel unhappy when we see other people suffering, we are ready to do anything to alleviate their suffering, even if by doing so we seem to cause some suffering to ourself. We feel happier

suffering to help other people than we would feel if we did nothing to help them. In fact we may derive positive happiness from our suffering, because we know we are undergoing it for the sake of others.

Taking this to an extreme, some people actually choose to suffer for the sake of suffering, because they cannot feel happy unless they feel that they are suffering. They derive pleasure by undergoing what appears to be suffering, because for them that seeming suffering is not really suffering but is only a form of pleasure. Whatever extreme form our desire may take, whether some truly noble altruistic form or some deeply perverse masochistic form, in essence it is still only a desire for our own happiness.

Why is our desire for our own happiness the fundamental and ultimate cause of our desire for the happiness of other people? Why do we desire their happiness primarily because it contributes to our own happiness? Why, in other words, do we ultimately desire our own happiness more than we desire the happiness of others?

We are primarily concerned with our own happiness because we love ourself more than we love any other person or thing. We love other people and things because we believe that they can contribute to our own happiness. We love each of them only to the extent to which we believe that they are able to make us happy, and if we thought that they did not or could not in some way or other contribute to our happiness, we would feel no particular love for them.

Our greatest love is only for ourself, and it is for our own sake that we love other people and things. We love our family, our friends and our possessions because we feel that they are *ours*, and because loving them makes *us* feel happy. Our love for our own happiness is inseparable from our love for our own self.

Because we love our own self above all other things, we desire our own happiness above all other things. We love and desire whatever makes us happy, and we dislike and fear whatever makes us unhappy. All our likes and dislikes, all our desires and fears, are rooted in our love for our own happiness, which in turn is rooted in our love for our own self.

Why do we love our own self more than we love any other person or thing? The reason we love certain other people and certain other things is because we feel that they make us happy, or at least can make us happy. That is, we love whatever we believe can give us happiness. If we know that something does not make us happy, and cannot make us happy, we do not feel any particular love for it. Is not happiness, therefore, the fundamental cause of all forms of love? Is not all the love that we feel for various people and things in essence only our love for our own happiness? Do we not love only those things that are potential sources of happiness for us? Therefore, since we love our own self above all other things, is it not clear that we ourself are foremost among all the potential sources of our happiness?

In fact, we are the only true source of all our happiness, because whatever happiness we seem to derive from other people or things arises only from within us. Since all our happiness ultimately comes only from within us, is it not clear that happiness is something inherent in us? In fact, happiness is our own true and essential nature. Therefore, the reason why we love our own self more than any other person or thing is simply that we ourself are happiness – the fullness of perfect happiness, and the one ultimate source of all the various forms of happiness that we seemingly derive from other people and things.

Our love for our own self and for our own happiness is not wrong. It is perfectly natural, and therefore unavoidable. It becomes wrong only when, due to our lack of correct understanding about where true happiness lies, it impels us to do actions that cause harm to other people. Therefore, in order to avoid doing any harm to anyone – to avoid making anyone else unhappy – it is essential that we understand what true happiness is and where our true happiness lies.

In order to understand this, we must first understand more about ourself. Since love and happiness are subjective feelings that are experienced by us, we cannot understand the true nature of either of them without first understanding the true nature of ourself. Only if we understand our own true nature will we be able to understand how the desire for happiness arises within us, and why we love our own self and our own happiness above all other things.

The converse side of our desire to be happy is our desire to be free from pain, suffering, misery or any other form of unhappiness. What we all desire is to be perfectly happy, free from even the least form of unhappiness. In fact, what we call happiness is just the state in which we are free from unhappiness.

Our natural state is to be happy. Our desire for happiness is our desire for our natural state. Consciously or unconsciously, we are all seeking what is natural for us. For example, when we have a headache, why do we wish to be free of it? Because a headache is not natural to us, when we experience one, we desire to be free of it. The same is the case with all other things that are not natural to us. We cannot feel entirely comfortable or happy with anything that is not truly natural to us. That is why we never feel perfectly happy, in spite of all the material, mental and emotional pleasures that we may be enjoying. All such pleasures come and go, and hence they are not natural to us.

Whatever is truly natural to us — whatever is inherent in our essential nature — must be with us always. Since the physical body that we now take to be ourself is experienced by us only in our present waking state, and not in dream or in deep sleep, it is not our essential nature. Likewise, since our mind is experienced by us only in the states of waking and dream, and not in the state of deep sleep, even it is not our essential nature. Because in deep sleep we remain peacefully and happily without either our mind or our body, neither of them is natural to us.

Though this contention that we exist in the absence of our mind and body in deep sleep may initially seem strange to us, and may therefore on superficial observation appear to be questionable, if we consider it carefully, we will clearly understand that it is not merely a dubious supposition, but is in fact the obvious truth that each one of us actually experiences in deep sleep, as we shall see more clearly when we examine our three states of consciousness in greater detail in the next chapter. Therefore, since our mind and body are not natural to us, we can never feel completely at ease or happy with either of them, or with any of the material, sensual, mental, intellectual or emotional pleasures that we may enjoy though them.

Why should we think that happiness is our natural state, and that unhappiness is something unnatural to us? If our true nature is really happiness, why do we not feel perfectly happy at all times? How does unhappiness arise?

We can understand this by critically analysing our experience of our three states of consciousness, waking, dream and deep sleep. In our waking and dream states we experience a mixture of pleasure and pain, or happiness and unhappiness. But what do we experience in deep sleep, when this mixture of pleasure and pain is removed? In the absence of this mixture, do we experience happiness or unhappiness? In the state of deep sleep, do we not feel perfectly happy, and free from all misery or unhappiness? Is it not clear therefore that neither unhappiness, nor a mixture of happiness and unhappiness, is natural to us? Since we can exist in the absence of unhappiness, it cannot be our real nature. Unhappiness is merely a negation of happiness, which is natural to us.

If unhappiness cannot be our real nature because we can exist in its absence, can we not say the same about happiness? When we are unhappy, are we not existing in the absence of happiness? No, happiness is something that is never entirely absent.

Unhappiness is a relative state, one which exists relative only to happiness. Without the underlying existence of happiness, there would be no such thing as unhappiness. We feel unhappy only because we desire to be happy. If happiness were ever to become absolutely non-existent, we would not feel any desire for it, and hence we would not feel unhappy. Even in a state of the most intense unhappiness, happiness still exists as something for which we feel desire. There is therefore no such thing as absolute unhappiness.

If unhappiness is something that is merely relative, can we not say the same about happiness? Is not happiness also a relative state, one which exists relative only to unhappiness? The happiness that we experience in waking and dream is certainly relative, and is therefore always incomplete or imperfect. But can we say the same about the happiness that we experience in deep sleep? Does the happiness of deep sleep exist relative only to unhappiness?

No, in deep sleep unhappiness is totally absent. When we are asleep, unhappiness does not exist even as a thought, or as something that we fear or desire to avoid. Therefore, since unhappiness cannot exist without a desire for happiness, but happiness can exist without even the slightest notion of unhappiness, unhappiness is entirely relative, whereas happiness may be either relative or absolute.

The relative happiness and unhappiness that we experience in our waking and dream states are a distorted reflection of the absolute happiness that is our true nature, and that underlies all our three states of waking, dream and deep sleep. We experience relative happiness and unhappiness in the waking and dream states because at that time our real nature of absolute happiness is somehow clouded over and obscured.

What is it in the waking and dream states that obscures our natural state of absolute happiness? Why in deep sleep do we experience perfect happiness, untainted by even the least trace of unhappiness, whereas in the waking and dream states we experience only a mixture of relative happiness and unhappiness? What is the difference between deep sleep and our other two states that allows us to experience absolute happiness in the former, but only relative happiness and unhappiness in the latter?

In deep sleep our mind is absent, and along with it all forms of thought are absent, whereas in the waking and dream states our mind has risen and is active, thinking thoughts of innumerable different things. When our mind and all its thoughts are absent, as in deep sleep, we experience perfect happiness, whereas when our mind is active, thinking one thought after another, as in waking and dream, we experience only a mixture of partial happiness and partial unhappiness. Is it not clear, therefore, that the rising of our mind and its thoughts is what obscures our natural state of absolute happiness?

Even now, in this waking state, our true and essential nature is absolute happiness, but that absolute happiness is clouded over and obscured by the persistent activity of our mind. Therefore, since our mental activity is the cloud or veil that obscures from our experience our own inherent and natural happiness, all we need do to experience that happiness in full is to put an end to all our mental activity – to cease rising as a mind to think anything. Since we experience perfect happiness in sleep due to the cessation of mental activity, we can experience the same happiness even now in the waking state, provided we refrain from all thought or mental activity.

Since our natural and absolute happiness is thus obscured by our mind's constant flow of thoughts, which rise one after another in rapid succession, how in the midst of that flow do we experience varying degrees of relative happiness and unhappiness? Since our activity of thinking is the cloud that obscures our natural happiness, the more intense that activity grows, the more densely it obscures our inherent happiness.

When our mind is extremely agitated, that is, when its activity of thinking becomes very intense, we are unable to experience more than a glimmer of our inherent happiness, and therefore we feel restless and unhappy. But when our mind becomes relatively calm, that is, when its activity of thinking decreases, we are able to experience our inherent happiness more fully, and therefore we feel comparatively peaceful and happy.

Thus calmness and peace of mind makes us feel relatively happy, while restlessness and agitation of mind makes us feel relatively unhappy. Is this not the experience of all of us? Do we not all feel peaceful and happy when our mind is calm and at rest? And do we not all feel restless and unhappy when our mind is agitated and disturbed?

The reason why we experience perfect happiness in deep sleep is that our mind has then become perfectly calm and peaceful, having subsided by withdrawing from all its activity. Since no thoughts rise in deep sleep to disturb our natural state of peaceful being, in that state we experience our inherent happiness without the least obstruction.

Is it not clear, therefore, that happiness is a state of being, and unhappiness is a state of doing? So long as our mind is active or doing something, thinking one thought or another, we experience only a mixture of happiness and unhappiness, and whatever happiness we do experience in the midst of that mixture is imperfect, limited and relative. We experience perfect, unlimited and absolute happiness only when our mind becomes perfectly still.

Our own essential being is therefore happiness. When we remain merely as being, without rising to think or do anything, as in deep sleep, we experience perfect happiness, untainted by even the least sorrow, unhappiness or discontent. But as soon as we rise as this thinking mind, we experience restlessness, discontent and unhappiness.

Since we thus experience perfect happiness in the absence of all mental activity, as in our deep sleep, is it not clear that such happiness is something that is inherent within us, and that our mental activity is the only obstacle that prevents us from experiencing it in full in our waking and dream states? Therefore whatever limited happiness we may experience in the waking and dream states when our mind becomes comparatively calm and peaceful, is only a fraction of the happiness that is already inherent within us.

Happiness is something that arises from within ourself, and not something that comes from outside us. Why then do we think that we derive pleasure or happiness from material objects and external circumstances? Does happiness actually lie in any material object or any external circumstance? No, happiness is obviously not something that exists in any object or circumstance outside us.

How then do we seem to obtain happiness from certain objects and circumstances? Whatever relative happiness we may seem to obtain from them is actually a state of our own mind. Happiness is something that is latent within us, and it sometimes becomes manifest when we experience certain material objects or external circumstances. How does this happen?

Whenever we obtain something that we like, and whenever we

avoid or get rid of something that we dislike, we feel happy. Conversely, whenever we lose or are unable to obtain something that we like, and whenever we cannot avoid or get rid of something that we dislike, we feel unhappy. In other words, we feel happy when our desires are fulfilled, and unhappy when they are not fulfilled.

Thus the real cause of the happiness that we seem to obtain from external objects and circumstances is not those objects or circumstances themselves, but is only the fulfilment of our desire for them. Whenever we experience a desire, whether in the form of a like or a dislike for a certain thing, our mind is agitated by it. So long as that desire persists in our mind, the agitation caused by it persists, and that agitation makes us feel unhappy. But when our desire is fulfilled, that agitation subsides, and in the temporary calm that results from its subsidence, we feel happy.

The happiness that we thus experience when one of our desires is fulfilled is a fraction of the happiness that always exists within us. When a desire arises and agitates our mind, our inherent happiness is obscured, and hence we feel restless and unhappy until that desire is fulfilled. As soon as it is fulfilled, the agitation of our mind subsides for a short while, and because our inherent happiness is thus less densely obscured, we feel relatively happy.

Therefore, though happiness is our own true nature, and though in reality there is no happiness at all in anything outside us, we nevertheless feel happy whenever our desire for anything is fulfilled, and hence we wrongly believe that we derive happiness from the objects of our desire. We feel love or desire for other people and for external objects and circumstances only because we believe that we can derive happiness from them. And we believe this only because we experience happiness whenever any of our desires for those external things are satisfied.

Our delusion that happiness comes from the things that we desire, and that therefore by desiring and acquiring more things we will become more happy, is thus a vicious circle. Because we desire something, we feel happy when we obtain it, and because we feel happy when we obtain it, we desire more of it. In this way our desires are always continuously increasing and multiplying.

The raging fire of our desires can never be quenched by the objects of our desire. The more we acquire those objects, the more intensely our desire for them and for other such objects will rage. Trying to quench the fire of our desires by fulfilling them is like trying to quench a fire by pouring petrol upon it.

The objects of our desire are the fuel that keeps the fire of our desires burning. The only way we can extinguish this fire of our desires is by knowing the truth that all the happiness that we seem to derive from the objects of our desire does not actually come from those objects but only from within ourself.

However, we should not think that understanding this truth by means of our intellect or power of reasoning is the same as actually knowing it. We cannot actually know this truth without experiencing ourself as happiness. So long as we feel ourself to be a limited individual consciousness that experiences relative degrees of happiness and unhappiness, we clearly do not experience the truth that we ourself are absolute happiness.

No amount of intellectual understanding can give us the true experiential knowledge that happiness is our own true nature, and is not something that we obtain from the objects of our desire. We can understand something intellectually, but nevertheless actually experience something that is quite contrary to what we understand. For example, if we see water in a desert, we may understand that it is only a mirage, but we nevertheless continue to see it as something that looks quite real, and the mere sight of it continues to make us feel thirsty. Similarly, though we may understand intellectually that happiness is our true nature and that we do not actually obtain happiness from anything outside ourself, we nevertheless continue to feel ourself to be somehow lacking in happiness, and therefore continue to experience desire for things outside ourself, as if happiness could really be obtained from them.

Intellectual knowledge is only a superficial and shallow form of knowledge, because our intellect is only a function of our mind, which is itself just a superficial and shallow form of consciousness. Our delusion that makes us feel that happiness comes from things outside ourself and not from within us is, on the other hand, deeply rooted in our mistaken identification of ourself with a physical body, which is in turn rooted in our lack of clear self-knowledge.

In fact, the delusion that makes us feel that happiness comes from things outside ourself is the same delusion that makes us feel that we are something that we are not. This fundamental delusion of ours arises only because we do not clearly know what we really are, and hence it can only be destroyed by a clear and correct knowledge of our own real nature. No intellectual knowledge, therefore, can destroy this deep-rooted delusion of ours. The only knowledge that can destroy it is true experiential knowledge of what we really are.

When by true experiential self-knowledge we thus destroy the delusion that we are anything other than the fullness of absolute happiness, the fire of our desires will automatically be extinguished.

Though no amount of intellectual understanding can destroy our deeply rooted delusion, a clear intellectual understanding of the truth is nevertheless necessary, because without such an understanding we would not know how to discover what true happiness is. A clear and correct understanding of the true nature of happiness will enable us to know not only where we should seek happiness, but also how we should actually endeavour to seek it. Let us therefore analyse more deeply how our delusion that we obtain happiness from external objects and circumstances arises.

Let us suppose that we like chocolate. In our mind we associate the bittersweet taste of chocolate with the feeling of pleasure that we are accustomed to experience whenever we taste it. But does the taste of chocolate necessarily create a feeling of pleasure? No, it creates such a feeling in us because we like it so much, but it will create no such feeling in a person who is indifferent to it, and it will create a feeling of disgust in a person who positively dislikes it. Moreover, if we eat too much chocolate and thereby make ourself sick, we will begin to feel an aversion for it, at least temporarily, so if we eat more of it at that time, it will not create any feeling of pleasure but only a feeling of disgust. Therefore it is clear that the

happiness we think we derive from eating chocolate is determined not by the actual taste of chocolate, but only by our liking for that taste.

The same is the case with any of the pleasures that we experience through our five senses. Our senses can only tell us the impressions created by a thing, for example the taste, aroma, texture and colour of chocolate, and the crinkling sound of the silver foil in which it is wrapped, but it is our mind which determines whether or not we like those impressions. If we like them, we do not even have to taste chocolate to feel pleasure from it. Even the sight or smell of chocolate, or the sound of its silver foil being opened, will give us pleasure.

In fact we often seem to derive more pleasure from the anticipation of enjoying something, than we do when we actually experience it. Therefore even the thought of some object of our desire can give us pleasure, though that pleasure will always be mixed with a restlessness to experience it actually. Only when we actually experience it, will our desire for it be fully satisfied. However, since that satisfaction is usually experienced only momentarily, we may sometimes appear to enjoy more pleasure from the cumulative build-up of our anticipation for it than we actually enjoy when we experience it.

Moreover, if our mind is distracted by other thoughts, we may not feel any particular pleasure when we eat chocolate, even though we have so much liking for it. Only when our mind is relatively free of other thoughts can we really enjoy the taste of chocolate, or the pleasure of satisfying any of our other desires.

A clear illustration of this is something that most of us have probably experienced. If we are watching a good film or an entertaining programme on television while eating a meal, no matter how tasty and to our liking that meal may be, we will hardly notice its taste and we will experience no particular pleasure in eating it. After the programme and meal are both finished, we may notice that we failed to enjoy that tasty meal at all, and we may wish we had eaten it when we were not distracted by watching the television.

Because we were more interested in the programme or film we were watching than in the meal we were eating, we failed to enjoy the meal. And the reason why we took greater interest in enjoying the film than in enjoying our meal was that at that time our desire for the enjoyment of the film was greater than our desire for the enjoyment of the meal.

However, if we had been really hungry before sitting down to eat that meal and watch that film, we would probably have enjoyed the meal with great relish and would therefore have hardly noticed the film we were watching. Even if the meal were not particularly tasty, if we had been really hungry we would have enjoyed it nonetheless. When we are really hungry, that is, when our desire for food is very intense, we can relish and enjoy even the most tasteless meal.

Our hunger or real desire for nourishment is the best of all condiments. The spice of real hunger will give the pleasantest taste even to the most tasteless food, and even to food that would normally taste positively unpleasant. Conversely, if the spice of real hunger is missing, we can eat even the most tasty food without particularly relishing it.

Is it not clear, therefore, that the relative degrees of happiness that we derive from enjoying the objects of our desires are not only entirely subjective and dependent upon our relative degree of liking for those objects, but are primarily determined by the fluctuations of our mind and of the successive waves of excitement of our desires, our anticipations and our ultimate satisfactions?

In the midst of all this excited activity of our mind, how do the fragments of happiness that we experience appear? These successive waves of our mental excitement have their peaks and their troughs. They rise to their peaks when our mind is most agitated by its desires, and they subside to their troughs when our mind experiences the satisfaction of anticipating or actually enjoying the objects of its desires. During the brief troughs between the successive peaks of our desires, our mind is momentarily calm, and in that calmness the happiness that is always inherent in us is less densely obscured and therefore manifests itself more clearly.

So long as our mind is active, it is constantly fluctuating between the peaks of its desire or dissatisfaction and the troughs of its contentment or satisfaction. Our desires and our fears, our likes and our dislikes, our cravings and our aversions, all agitate and impel the activity of our mind to the peaks of its intensity, and such intense peaks of activity obscure our inherent happiness and thereby make us feel dissatisfied, discontented and unhappy.

The more intense and agitated the activity of our mind becomes, the more rapidly it rises from one peak to another, and hence the briefer and shallower the troughs between those peaks become. However, if we are able to restrain our desires, fears, likes, dislikes, cravings, aversions and other such passions, the activity of our mind will become less intense, that is, its peaks will be less frequent and will rise less high, and the troughs between those peaks will be wider and deeper. Thus, when the agitated and passionate activity of our mind becomes less intense, we feel calmer and more contented, and hence we are able to experience more clearly the happiness that is always within us.

The happiness that we derive from eating a piece of chocolate comes not from that piece of chocolate itself, but only from the satisfaction we feel as a result of the gratification of our desire for it. When such a desire is gratified, from where does the resulting feeling of satisfaction or happiness actually come? It clearly does not come from the object of our desire, or from anything else outside us, but only from within ourself. If we carefully observe the feeling of happiness that we experience when we eat a piece of chocolate, or when we enjoy any other object of our desire, we will clearly see that it arises from within ourself, and as a result of the temporary subsidence of our mental agitation caused by that desire.

Our satisfaction and the happiness that seems to result from it are both subjective feelings that arise from our innermost being, and that we accordingly experience only within ourself. Since all happiness thus comes only from our own innermost self, is it not clear that happiness already exists within us, at least in a latent form? Why then should we waste our time and energy trying to experience that happiness in a roundabout manner by gratifying our desires for external objects and circumstances? Why should we not try instead to experience it in a direct manner by turning our attention within to discover the source from which all happiness arises?

Desire arises within us in various forms – as likes or dislikes, as cravings or aversions, as hopes or fears – but in whatever form it rises, it disturbs the natural peace of our mind, and thereby obscures the happiness that is always within us. All the misery or unhappiness that we experience is caused only by our desires. Therefore, if we wish to experience perfect happiness, untainted by even the least misery, we must free ourself from all our desires.

But how can we actually do this? Our desires are deeply engrained within us and cannot easily be changed. Though we may be able to modify them to a certain extent, our ability to do so is nevertheless limited. Our present desires, or likes and dislikes, have been formed by our previous experiences, not only in the lifetime of the physical body that we now identify as ourself, but also in the lifetimes of all the physical bodies that we formerly identified as ourself, whether in our dreams or in some other states of consciousness similar to our present so-called waking state.

One of our strongest desires is our desire for sexual pleasure. Though the intensity of this desire may vary with age and circumstances, it always exists within us, at least in the form of a dormant seed. As anyone who has tried to 'conquer' lust knows only too well, we can never entirely overcome it.

Like all our other desires, our lust or desire for carnal pleasure is rooted in our wrong identification of ourself with a physical body. Because we mistake a physical body to be ourself, we mistake the natural biological urges of that body to be our natural urges. All our desires will therefore remain at least in seed form so long as we continue to have the habit of identifying ourself with a physical body, whether our present physical body in this waking state, or some other physical body in dream.

Therefore the only way to put an end to all our desires is to put an end to their root, which is our mind, our limited consciousness that

feels 'I am this body'. Unless and until we know what we really are, we cannot be free from our desires, which arise only due to our mistaking ourself to be what we are not.

By fighting our desires we can never get rid of them, because we who try to fight them are in fact the cause, source and root of them. That which seeks to fight our desires is our mind, which is itself the root from which all our desires spring. The very nature of our mind is to have desires. Without desires to impel it, our mind would subside and merge in the source from which it originally arose. Therefore the only way to conquer our desires is to bypass our mind by seeking the source from which it has arisen. That source is our own real self, the innermost core of our being, our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am'.

Our mind is a limited form of consciousness that arises within us, and that mistakes a particular body to be itself, and all the other objects that it knows to be other than itself. In fact all that our mind knows, including the body that it mistakes to be 'I', are only its own thoughts, products of its own power of imagination. Therefore nothing that is known by our mind is actually other than itself. However, because it mistakes the objects of its imagination to be other than itself, it feels desire for those objects that it thinks will contribute to its happiness, and aversion for those objects that it thinks will detract from its happiness.

So long as we experience otherness or duality, we cannot but feel desire for some of the things that we see as other than ourself, and aversion for some of the other things. Because we mistake a particular body to be ourself, certain things are necessary for our survival and our comfort in that body, and certain things are a threat to our survival and our comfort in it. As a general rule, therefore, we feel desire for those things that contribute to our bodily survival and comfort, and aversion for those things that threaten our survival or detract from our comfort.

However, even after we have secured all the things that we require for our bodily survival and comfort, we still do not feel satisfied. Because we fear for our future, we strive to acquire more than we actually require at present. Because of our restlessness caused by our concern for our future happiness and wellbeing, we seldom enjoy the present moment to the fullest, but instead think constantly about what we may or may not enjoy in future.

Most of our thoughts are not concerned with the present moment, but only with what is already past, or what may or may not happen in future. We live much of our life in varying degrees of anxiety, mostly about what may happen to us in future, but also sometimes about what we did or what happened to us in the past. We wish the past were other than it was, and we hope the future will be better than it probably will be.

Because our mind is filled with thoughts about the past, and with aspirations for or anxiety about the future, we seldom feel completely satisfied with the present moment, and with all that we now enjoy and possess. All our lack of satisfaction or contentment with the present moment is caused only by our desires, and by their inevitable consequences, our fears.

Desire and fear are in fact not two different things, but just two aspects of the same one thing. So long as we desire whatever things appear to contribute to our happiness, we will inevitably fear whatever things appear to detract from our happiness. Fear is therefore simply the converse side of desire. Every fear is in fact a form of desire, because our fear of a particular thing is simply our desire to avoid or be free of that thing. However, whatever form our desire may take – whether it manifests as a hope or a fear, a like or a dislike, a craving or an aversion – it always deprives us of our natural peace or contentment. Therefore so long as we have any form of desire, we can never be perfectly satisfied.

However favourable and pleasant our present circumstances may be – however much material wealth we may have, however many possessions we may have accumulated, however much security we may have surrounded ourself with, however many friends and admirers we may have, however affectionate and kind our relatives and associates may be – we still do not feel perfectly satisfied, and we restlessly search for something more. Even if we do not attach

much importance to wealth and material possessions, we still seek satisfaction and happiness outside ourself, in some form of external pursuit or entertainment such as a social activity, an involvement in politics, an intellectual pastime, a religion, a philosophy, a science, an art, a profession, a sport or a hobby. Through all our mental and physical activities, of whatever kind they may be, we are seeking to obtain happiness and to avoid misery, and our activities will not cease permanently until we experience happiness in full, untainted by even the least misery, sorrow or unhappiness.

All our efforts to attain happiness will continue until our all-consuming desire for perfect happiness is permanently satisfied. We know from experience that this fundamental desire of ours is never completely satisfied in spite of all our efforts to obtain happiness from external objects and circumstances. Nothing and no person in this material world can ever make us perfectly happy. However happy we may sometimes feel ourself to be, our happiness is nevertheless imperfect and short-lived, and hence we continue to search restlessly for more happiness.

Every effort that we make through our mind, speech and body – every thought, word and deed of ours – is impelled only by our desire for happiness and our fear of unhappiness. Because of our mistaken conviction that happiness and unhappiness both come from external objects and circumstances – a conviction that is so strong and deep-rooted that it persists in spite of all our intellectual understanding that happiness actually comes only from within us, and that unhappiness is caused only by the agitated activity of our mind – we unceasingly direct our attention and efforts towards those external objects and circumstances.

Whenever we experience something that we desire, the agitation of our mind caused by that desire subsides temporarily, allowing us to experience for a short while the happiness that always exists within us. However, because we fail to recognise that the happiness that we thus experience already exists within us, we always wrongly associate it with the objects of our desire, and thus we have developed a strong and deeply rooted conviction that we obtain

happiness from people, objects and circumstances outside ourself. Because of this strong conviction, we continue to desire those things that we believe to be potential sources of happiness for us. Our desires can therefore never be satisfied fully, because whenever we experience a little happiness from the satisfaction of one of our desires, our fundamental desire for complete and perfect happiness impels us to seek greater happiness by attempting to satisfy more of our desires.

Therefore, the happiness that we experience when one of our desires is fulfilled is very short-lived, because some other desire immediately arises in our mind. That is, we experience such happiness only in the temporary period of calm that results from the satisfaction of one of our desires, and such a period of calm creates an opportunity for some other desire to arise. Innumerable desires exist in our mind in a dormant or latent form, and each one of them is awaiting a suitable opportunity to rise to the surface of our mind.

At any single moment our mind can attend to only one thought. Therefore each of our thoughts can rise only when our previous thought has subsided. However, since our thoughts rise and subside in rapid succession, we feel that we are thinking of several things simultaneously. That is, just as the speed at which the frames of a movie film are projected on a cinema screen is so rapid that we are unable to perceive the gap between two consecutive frames, and hence we see a continuous moving picture, so the speed at which our thoughts rise and subside is so rapid that we are unable to perceive the extremely brief gap between two consecutive thoughts, and hence we experience a continuous and unbroken flow of thoughts.

However, though our thoughts rise and subside so rapidly, there is nevertheless a limit to the number of thoughts that can rise in our mind during each fraction of a second, because at any precise moment only one thought can be active. Hence, in order to rise to the surface of our mind, each of our many latent thoughts or dormant desires must await a suitable gap between the subsiding and rising of our other thoughts or desires. Therefore, as soon as a relative quiescence occurs in our mental activity due to the satisfaction of

one of our desires, many of our other desires will clamour to rise in its place.

This process of some thought or other rising as soon as a relative quiescence occurs in our mental activity can be clearly perceived by us if we deliberately try to quieten the activity of our mind by some form of meditation. Whenever we try to avoid thinking of one thing, the thought of some other thing will rise in our mind. The more we try to quieten our mental activity, the more vigorously other thoughts will arise to take the place of the thoughts we are trying to avoid. All such thoughts that arise in our relatively quiescent mind are impelled by our desire to obtain happiness from things other than our own essential self.

So long as we mistake ourself to be this limited form of consciousness that we call our 'mind', we will experience desire to obtain those things other than ourself that we believe will make us happy, and to avoid those things that we believe will make us unhappy, and so long as such desire persists, our mind will continue to think one thought after another. Whenever our mind becomes tired of this restless activity of thinking innumerable thoughts, it subsides temporarily in deep sleep. But from such sleep it will soon be roused once again by its dormant desires, and will thereby experience either a dream or a state such as our present one, which we take to be a state of waking. Therefore, until we put an end to our mistaken identification of ourself with our mind, which is the root of all our desires, we can never put an end to all our desires, and hence we can never remain without either thinking of things other than our essential self, or instead falling temporarily into the state of deep sleep.

Throughout our waking and dream states, our mind experiences an unceasing turmoil of desires. One desire or another is always raging in our mind. All our mental activity is driven only by desire. Every thought that rises in our mind is impelled by some desire, and every desire is a form of thought. Desire and thought are therefore inseparable. In the absence of desire, as in deep sleep, there is no thought or mental activity, and in the absence of mental activity,

there is no desire. The more intensely we experience a desire, the more active and agitated our mind becomes.

Whenever our mind is active, that activity obscures to a greater or lesser extent the happiness that always exists within us. The more intense our mental activity becomes, the more densely our natural happiness is obscured. Therefore, since all our mental activity is caused only by our desires, is it not clear that desire is the sole cause of all our unhappiness? Whatever form of unhappiness we may experience, we can always trace its origin back to some desire that exists in our mind.

The raging of countless petty desires in our mind is usually so intense that we fail to notice how they obscure our natural sense of peaceful happiness, and how the fragments of happiness that we experience in the midst of all our restless mental activity result only from certain moments of temporary slackness in the intensity of that activity. Often so many desires are active in our mind that we are not fully aware of most of them. That is, because our mind is usually so busy thinking so many different thoughts in such rapid succession, it often fails to notice all the desires that are niggling away inside it. Only when a certain unnoticed desire is fulfilled and we experience the resulting feeling of relief or pleasure, do we actually become aware how strong that desire was and how much it was irritating our mind.

For example, when our mind is busy with some activity that engages its entire attention, we may not notice that we have a strong urge to go to the toilet. Only when we go to the toilet and experience the resulting relief, do we actually become aware how strong our urge to do so was. The satisfaction of our unnoticed desire to relieve ourself may be so intense that for a while we consciously feel a positive pleasure arising from our sense of great relief. In this way, we sometimes become aware of one of our desires, and discover how strong it is and how much uneasiness or agitation it causes in our mind, only when we experience the happiness that results from the perhaps quite accidental satisfaction of it.

When a desire rises, our mind becomes agitated, and that agitation

obscures the happiness which is our true nature. When no desire rises, as in deep sleep, our mind remains perfectly inactive, and hence we experience not even the least unhappiness. Therefore, if we were perfectly contented – free of all desires and fears – our mind would remain perfectly calm, and hence we would experience in full the absolute happiness that always exists in the very core of our being.

In reality, in the innermost core or depth of our being we are always perfectly calm and happy, no matter how much our surface mind may be agitated. All our agitation and unhappiness is experienced only by our mind, and not by our real self – our fundamental and essential self-consciousness, which is conscious only of our own unqualified being, 'I am'.

Our essential being always remains calm and peaceful, just like the eye of a storm. No agitation of our mind can ever disturb it even in the least, because it is perfectly non-dual self-consciousness, and hence it knows nothing other than 'I am'. No matter what our mind may be doing, we are – that is, we exist, and we remain essentially as our own self-conscious being, 'I am'. No amount of doing can ever prevent us from being.

Being is what underlies all forms of doing, just as consciousness underlies all forms of knowing, and happiness underlies all forms of love or desire. Our essential being is consciousness, and our essential consciousness of our being is happiness. Thus our essential being, our essential consciousness and our essential happiness are all one and the same reality – the one absolute reality, which is our true and essential self.

Relative existence and non-existence, relative consciousness and unconsciousness, and relative happiness and unhappiness, are all only a distorted reflection of our own absolute being, absolute consciousness and absolute happiness. Because we are distracted by all the superficial activity of our mind, we overlook our own essential being, consciousness and happiness, which are our own true self or fundamental nature. And because we overlook this essential and fundamental nature of our own true self, we mistake

ourself to be the limited consciousness that we call our 'mind', through which we experience our absolute being, consciousness and happiness only in their relative forms as the pairs of opposites: existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness.

Therefore, if we wish to experience complete and perfect happiness, free from even the least taint of unhappiness, all we need to do is to know our own true self as it really is. So long as we experience ourself as anything other than absolute being, consciousness and happiness, we cannot experience true and perfect happiness. So long as we continue to seek happiness outside our own essential self, we will continue to experience only relative happiness and unhappiness.

Since the activity of our mind is what seemingly obscures our essential nature as absolute being, consciousness and happiness, in order to experience our essential nature we must put an end to all our mental activity — to all the thoughts that are constantly rising and raging in our mind. All forms of thought or mental activity are nothing but the attention that we pay to objects — to things that are seemingly other than ourself. Throughout our waking and dream states, we are constantly thinking only about things other than our own essential being or fundamental consciousness.

So long as we attend to anything other than our mere consciousness of being, 'I am', our mind is active. However, if we try to turn our attention back on ourself to know our own essential self-conscious being, the activity of our mind will begin to subside. If we are able to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our consciousness of being, 'I am', then all our thoughts or mental activity will subside completely, and we will clearly know the true nature of our own real self, which is perfect and absolute being, consciousness and happiness.

Did we not see earlier that happiness is a state of being, and unhappiness is a state of doing? In deep sleep we remain as mere being, without rising to do anything, and hence we experience perfect happiness. In waking and dream, on the other hand, we forsake our essential and natural state of mere being by rising as our mind, whose nature is to be constantly doing, and hence we experience happiness mixed with unhappiness. Whereas deep sleep is a state of mere being, and therefore a state of perfect happiness, waking and dream are states in which our essential being is mixed with and obscured by all our doing, and are therefore states in which our essential happiness is mixed with and obscured by varying degrees of unhappiness.

Since our being is permanent and our doing is impermanent, our being is natural and all our doing is unnatural. Hence our happiness is natural, because it is our essential being, and all our unhappiness is unnatural, because it is a result of our doing or thinking.

The root of all our doing, and hence the root of all our unhappiness, is only the rising of our mind. Whenever our mind rises, it is active, thinking thoughts of innumerable different kinds. Our mind cannot remain for a moment without activity — without thinking of something other than our own essential being. As soon as our mind ceases to think of anything other than our own being, it subsides and merges motionlessly in our natural state of mere being, which is the source from which it rose. Thus, whenever our mind becomes inactive, it ceases to be the thinking entity that we call 'mind', and remains instead as our essential self-conscious being, which is its own true nature.

Though in deep sleep our mind subsides and remains merely as our essential being, the perfect happiness that we experience in that state appears to be short-lived, because our mind driven by its dormant desires eventually rises again to experience a state of waking or dream. Therefore in sleep our mind and its inherent desires are not destroyed completely, but have merely subsided in a state of abeyance, dormancy or temporary quiescence.

If we wish to experience our natural and perfect happiness permanently, therefore, we must not merely make our mind subside temporarily in a state of abeyance like sleep, but must destroy it completely. Since the rising of our mind is the rising of all our unhappiness, the temporary quiescence of our mind is the temporary quiescence of all our unhappiness, and the destruction of our mind is the destruction of all our unhappiness.

Why is our mind, which is the root of all our desires and therefore the cause of all our unhappiness, not destroyed in deep sleep? Why does it rise again from that state? To answer this, we must understand why it rose in the first place.

As we saw earlier, this individual entity that we call our 'mind' is a limited form of consciousness that always identifies a physical body as itself. In our present waking state, our mind mistakes this particular body to be itself, whereas in each dream it mistakes some other body to be itself. Because it takes one body to be itself in the waking state, and another body to be itself in dream, our mind clearly does not know what its real self is.

Therefore, so long as we mistake ourself to be our mind, and the particular body that our mind at any given time mistakes to be itself, we do not know who or what we really are. In sleep we do not mistake ourself to be our mind or any particular body, whereas in waking we mistake ourself to be our mind and this particular body, and in dream we mistake ourself to be our mind and some other particular body.

In sleep, when we do not take ourself to be our mind or any body, what do we take ourself to be? As we shall see when we address this question in more detail in later chapters, all we know of ourself in sleep is 'I am'. However, though in sleep we know *that we are*, we do not clearly know *what we are*.

For some inexplicable reason, our knowledge of ourself in sleep is somehow obscured and vague. In sleep we definitely know that we are, because if we did not, we would not be able to remember so clearly in the waking state 'I slept happily and peacefully, and did not know anything at that time'. What we did not know in sleep is anything other than ourself — our own essential self-consciousness, our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. However, just as in waking and dream we appear to identify our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am' with our mind and some particular body, in sleep we appear to identify it with a seeming lack

of clarity of self-knowledge.

Because we do not clearly know our real self in waking, dream or deep sleep, we are able to mistake ourself to be our mind and some particular body in waking and dream. Thus our lack of clear self-knowledge is the root cause for the rising of our mind, and the consequent rising of all our desires, thoughts and unhappiness. If we clearly knew what we really are, we could not mistake ourself to be anything other than that. Therefore the only way to put an end permanently to all our desires, thoughts and consequent unhappiness is to know what we really are.

Since our mind is a form of false or wrong knowledge, a knowledge or consciousness that wrongly knows itself as 'I am this body' and that wrongly knows all its other thoughts as being objects other than itself, it can be destroyed only by our experiencing a true or correct knowledge of our own essential being, 'I am'. Until and unless we know the true nature of our own real self, we cannot free ourself from the self-delusive grip of our mind, and we therefore cannot permanently experience the natural and absolute happiness which is our own real nature.

All that we have examined and discovered in this chapter about the nature of happiness is expressed succinctly by Sri Ramana in the opening sentence of his introduction to his Tamil translation of Sri Adi Sankara's great philosophical poem, *Vivekachudamani*:

Since all living beings in the world desire that they should always be happy [and] devoid of misery, just as [they desire] that they should be happy as always [by] getting rid of those [experiences] such as illness which are not their own nature, since all [living beings] have love completely only for their own self, since love does not arise except for happiness, and since in sleep [all living beings have] the experience of being happy without anything, when what is called happiness is [therefore] only [their own real] self, only due to [their] ignorance of not knowing [their real] self do they rise and engage in *pravritti* [extroverted activity], whirling in boundless *samsara* [the state of restless and incessant wandering of the mind], forsaking the

path [of self-discovery] which bestows [true] happiness, [believing] as if attaining the pleasures of this world and the next were alone the path to happiness.

Sri Ramana expresses the same truth even more tersely in the opening paragraph of *Nan Yar?* (Who am I?), a brief twenty-paragraph treatise that he wrote about the need for us to attain true self-knowledge, and the means by which we can do so:

Since all living beings desire to be always happy [and] devoid of misery, since all [of them] have greatest love only for their own self, and since happiness alone is the cause of love, [in order] to attain that happiness, which is their own [true] nature that they experience daily in [dreamless] sleep, which is devoid of the mind, knowing [their own real] self is necessary. For that, *jñana-vichara* [scrutinising our consciousness to know] 'who am I?' alone is the principal means.

The crucial practical conclusion with which Sri Ramana ends this paragraph, "jñana-vichara 'who am I?' alone is the principal means", was highlighted by him in bold type in the original Tamil. The term jñana-vichara literally means 'knowledge-investigation', and is the process (or rather the state) of investigating our essential self-consciousness 'I am', which is our primary knowledge and the base of all our other knowledge, in order to attain true knowledge of our own real self.

What Sri Ramana means here by the term "knowledge-investigation who am I?" is therefore not a mere intellectual analysis of our knowledge 'I am', but is an actual examination or deep scrutiny of our fundamental knowledge or consciousness 'I am' in order to know through direct experience what it really is. Such an investigation or scrutiny cannot be done by thinking, but only by turning our attention back on ourself to know our own essential consciousness of being. When our attention or power of knowing is turned outwards to know things other than ourself, it becomes our thinking mind, but when it turns back inwards to know our essential self, it remains in its natural state as our essential self – that is, as our true non-dual self-conscious being.

Further on, in the fourteenth paragraph of the same treatise, Sri Ramana explains more about the true nature of happiness:

What is called happiness is only svarupa [the 'own form' or essential nature] of atma [self]; happiness and atma-svarupa [our own essential self] are not different. Atma-sukha [the happiness of self alone exists; that alone is real. Happiness is not obtained from any of the objects of the world. We think that happiness is obtained from them because of our lack of discrimination. When [our] mind comes out, it experiences unhappiness. In truth, whenever our thoughts [or wishes] are fulfilled, it [our mind] turns back to its proper place [the core of our being, our real self, which is the source from which it arose] and experiences only the happiness of [our real] self. In the same way, at times of sleep, samadhi [a state of intense contemplation or absorption of mind] and fainting, and when a desired thing is obtained, and when termination occurs to a disliked thing [that is, when our mind avoids or is relieved from some experience that it dislikes], [our] mind becomes introverted and experiences only the happiness of self. In this way [our] mind wavers about without rest, going outwards leaving [our essential] self, and [then] turning [back] inwards. At the foot of a tree the shade is delightful. Outside the heat of the sun is severe. A person who is wandering outside is cooled by going into the shade. Emerging outside after a short while, he is unable to bear the heat, so he again comes to the foot of the tree. In this way he continues, going from the shade into the sunshine, and going [back] from the sunshine into the shade. A person who acts in this manner is someone lacking in discrimination. But a person of discrimination will not leave the shade. Similarly, the mind of a jñani [a person of true selfknowledge] does not leave brahman [the fundamental and absolute reality, which is our own essential being or self]. But the mind of an ajñani [a person lacking true self-knowledge] continues to undergo misery by roaming about in the world, and to obtain happiness by returning to brahman for a short while. What is called the world is only thought [because all that we

know as the world is nothing but a series of mental images or thoughts that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination]. When the world disappears, that is, when thought ceases, [our] mind experiences happiness; when the world appears, it experiences unhappiness.

What Sri Ramana here describes as the restless wavering or oscillation of our mind, fluctuating repeatedly between going outwards and turning back inwards, is the same process that we described earlier as the rising and subsiding of our thoughts. Each moment of our waking and dream lives innumerable thoughts rise and subside in our mind in rapid succession. With the rising of each thought our mind or power of attention goes outwards, leaving our real self or essential being and thereby forgetting the happiness that is always within us, while with the subsiding of each thought our mind turns back towards ourself to experience momentarily the happiness of just being.

However, because this rising of our mind or thoughts is impelled by innumerable strong desires, no sooner does one thought subside than another one rises in its place, and hence the gap between the subsiding and rising of two consecutive thoughts is so extremely brief that we are hardly aware of the peaceful being or happiness that we experience in that gap. This is the reason why in our waking and dream states our attention is so absorbed in thinking of other things that we barely notice our own peacefully self-conscious being, and the happiness that is inherent in it. Generally, the only occasion on which we are clearly aware of the peaceful happiness of being that we experience between two consecutive thoughts is during sleep, because sleep is a comparatively long gap between two consecutive thoughts, brought about by the sheer exhaustion of our mind.

Nevertheless, though we may hardly notice it, even during waking and dream, in the extremely brief moment between the subsiding of each thought and the rising of the next, we do in fact experience our own essential self-conscious being or *brahman* in its true and perfectly pure form, uncontaminated by thinking or doing. Moreover, whenever one of our desires – whether a desire to

experience something that we like or a desire to avoid experiencing something that we dislike – is fulfilled, the momentum with which thoughts rise in our mind slows down temporarily, so not only does each thought rise with less vigour, but also the momentary gap between two consecutive thoughts becomes slightly longer. Thus for a short while we are able to experience the peaceful happiness of our own being more clearly, until some other desire takes hold of our mind, thereby reanimating the momentum and vigour with which our thoughts rise, and thus once again obscuring our happiness of being more densely.

The true, motionless, unadulterated and thought-free form of our own essential being or *brahman*, which we experience momentarily between each two consecutive thoughts, is both our fundamental consciousness of being, 'I am', and the perfect happiness of our thus being conscious only of our being. Therefore, if we wish to experience our own natural and perfect happiness constantly, our attention must penetrate beneath the wavering or oscillation of thoughts on the surface of our mind in order to experience in its pure unadulterated form our essential and fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which always underlies our wavering mind.

Thus we can permanently experience perfect and absolute happiness only in the state of true self-knowledge – the state in which we always remain merely as our own essential being, our fundamental self-consciousness 'I am', without rising to think or do anything. Therefore, let us now examine the knowledge that we have about ourself at present in order to understand not only how it is a wrong knowledge, but also what the correct knowledge of ourself really is, and how we can attain immediate experience of that correct knowledge.

CHAPTER 2

Who am I?

In order for us to determine the means by which we can discover who or what we really are, it is necessary for us first to gain a clear theoretical understanding of what we are and what we are not. We can gain such an understanding only by carefully and critically analysing our experience of ourself. For such an analysis to be complete and thorough, we must consider our experience of ourself not only in our present waking state, but also in each of our other two states of consciousness, dream and sleep.

This approach is similar to the well-established method of research adopted in all the objective sciences. In those sciences, researchers first carefully consider all the already known facts about the subject under investigation in order to formulate a reasonable hypothesis that can explain those facts, and then they proceed to test that hypothesis by rigorously conducted experiments.

The hypothesis formulated by spiritual scientists, or sages as they are more commonly called, is that we are not the body composed of inconscient matter, nor are we the mind consisting of thoughts, feelings and perceptions, but that we are the essential underlying consciousness by which the body and mind are both known. This hypothesis has been independently tested and verified by many sages before us, but unlike the findings of the objective sciences, the findings of this spiritual science cannot be demonstrated objectively. Therefore, to be truly benefited by this science of self-knowledge, we each have to test and verify this hypothesis for ourself.

In order to do so, we must each experiment to see whether or not the consciousness that we experience as 'I' can stand alone without our body or mind. If we are able to remain as consciousness in the absence of any kind of body or mind, we will prove to ourself that we are neither of those two objects known by us.

In order to remain as our mere consciousness 'I am' without any awareness of our body or mind, it is necessary for us to know our consciousness in its pure form, devoid of any contents – devoid of any objects of knowledge. We are so accustomed to identifying our consciousness 'I am' with our body and mind that it may initially appear difficult for us to distinguish our essential consciousness from these objects known by it. Because of this identification of our consciousness with its objects or contents, our knowledge of it appears to be clouded and unclear. Therefore, in order to distinguish between our consciousness and its objects, we must gain a clear knowledge of it as it really is.

Whether we are a scientist or just any ordinary person, when we seek to obtain knowledge about something, the primary and essential instrument we use is our power of attention. Without paying attention to something, we cannot know it.

In their experiments, scientists often use mechanical aids to observe things that they cannot perceive directly through their five senses, but it is nevertheless only through their five senses that they are able to read and interpret the information provided by those mechanical aids. It is only by means of one or more of our five senses that we can obtain knowledge about anything in the external world.

However, though our five senses provide us with information about the external world, we can only know that information by attending to it. If we do not pay attention to the information provided by our senses, we can fail to see something that happens right in front of our eyes, or to hear a conversation between two people sitting just beside us. Therefore all knowledge is ultimately obtained by us only by means of our power of attention.

Since our consciousness is not an object, it cannot be observed by means of any mechanical aid, nor can it be observed by means of any of our five senses. The one and only instrument by which we can observe and know our consciousness is our own power of attention, unaided by anything else. Since we are consciousness, and since our consciousness knows itself without any sort of aid, all we need to do to obtain a clear knowledge of our consciousness as it really is, is to withdraw our attention from all the objects known by our consciousness and to concentrate it only upon our consciousness itself.

Since our power of attention is our power of knowing or consciousness, which we are free to direct towards whatever we wish to know, concentrating our attention upon our own consciousness means concentrating our attention upon itself, or concentrating our consciousness upon itself. Since we experience our consciousness or power of knowing as 'I', as our own essential self, attending to it is not any form of objective attention, but is a purely subjective attention – a perfectly non-dual self-attention, an attention to our own essential self or 'I'.

Only by thus attending to our own essential consciousness, which we experience as 'I', will we be able to distinguish between this consciousness and all the objects known by it, including the body and mind that we now mistake to be 'I'. By thus attending to our consciousness and thereby distinguishing it from its contents, we can experiment and know for certain whether or not we can remain as mere consciousness, entirely separate from our body, our mind and all its thoughts, feelings and perceptions. If we are able to do so, we will prove to ourself that in essence we are only consciousness, and that we are neither the body nor the mind that we now mistake to be 'I'.

Let us therefore now analyse our experience of ourself thoroughly, examining how exactly we experience ourself in each one of our three states of consciousness, waking, dream and sleep, in order to obtain a clear theoretical understanding of what we are and what we are not. By doing so, we will be able to verify for ourself whether or not we can reasonably arrive at the hypothesis mentioned above.

When we analyse our experience of ourself in our present waking state, we can see that our knowledge of who or what we are is confused and unclear. If we are asked, 'Who are you?', we reply, 'I

am Michael James', 'I am Mary Smith', or I am whatever else our name may be. This name is the name given to our body, and we identify ourself with this name because we take our body to be 'I'. We feel 'I am sitting here, reading this book' because we identify ourself with our body.

This sense of identification, 'I am this body', is so strong that it remains with us throughout our waking state. In fact it is the basis of all that we experience in this waking state. Without first feeling this body to be 'I', and thereby limiting ourself within its confines, we would not know or experience any of the things that we experience in this waking state.

Not only is the external world known by us only through the five senses of this body, but even the thoughts and feelings that we experience within our mind are felt by us to be occurring only within this body. All our perceptual, emotional, mental and intellectual life in the waking state is centred in this body. All that we take ourself to be, and all that we take to be ours, is centred in and around this body. For us this body is not only the centre of our life, it is the centre of the whole world that we perceive around us.

However, we identify ourself not only with our body, but also with our mind, and though our body and our mind are obviously very closely connected, we speak of them as two different things. Since we simultaneously identify ourself with two things that we take to be different, is it not clear that in our present waking state our knowledge of who or what we actually are is confused and uncertain?

Moreover, though our sense of identification with this body is the foundation of all that we experience in our present waking state, we cease to identify this body as 'I' as soon as we fall asleep, or go into a coma or any other such state. In sleep, we either remain in the state of deep dreamless sleep, in which we are not aware of any body or any other thing, or we dream some imaginary experiences. In dream, as in waking, we identify ourself with a body, and through the five senses of that body we perceive a seemingly external world consisting both of inanimate objects and of people and other sentient

beings like ourself.

While we are in a dream state, we identify a dream body as 'I' in exactly the same manner that we identify our present body as 'I' in this waking state, and we take the dream world that we see to be real in exactly the same manner that we take the world that we see in this waking state to be real. But as soon as we wake up from a dream, we understand without the least doubt that all that we experienced in that dream was only a product of our own imagination, and was therefore unreal. Thus the dream state clearly demonstrates to us that by the power of its imagination our mind has the ability not only to create a body and world, but also simultaneously to delude itself that that imaginary body is 'I' and that that imaginary world is real.

Knowing that our mind possesses this wonderful power of creation and self-deception, can we reasonably avoid doubting whether the body we take to be 'I' and the world we take to be real in our present waking state are in fact any more real than the body and world we experience in a dream? Do we not have good reason to suspect that our body and this world that we experience in our present waking state are merely imaginary creations of our own mind, just as the body and world that we experienced in dream were? What evidence do we have that our body in this waking state and the world we perceive through the senses of this body are anything other than a creation of our mind?

In this waking state we understand that the bodies and worlds we experience in our dreams are merely products of our imagination, and exist only within our own mind, yet we generally assume without question that the body and world we now experience are not mere products of our imagination, but exist independently, outside our mind. We believe that this body and world exist even when we are unaware of them, as in dream and deep sleep, but how can we prove to ourself that this is so?

'Other people who were awake when we were asleep can testify that our body and this world continued to exist even when we were unaware of them' is the answer that immediately comes to our mind. However, those other people and their testimony are themselves part of the world whose existence in sleep we want to prove. Relying on their testimony to prove that the world exists when we do not perceive it is like relying on the testimony of a confidence trickster to prove that he did not swindle our money.

The people we meet in a dream may testify to us that the world we perceive then existed even before we perceived it, but when we wake up we realise that their testimony proves nothing, because they were just a part of the world that our mind had temporarily created and deluded itself into believing to be real. There is no way we can prove to ourself that the world exists independent of our perception of it, because any proof we may wish to rely upon can come only from the world whose reality we are doubting.

"But the body and world that we experience in dream are fleeting and insubstantial. They appear one minute, and disappear the next. Even within one dream, we flit from one scene to another – one moment we are in a certain place, and the next moment it has become another place; one moment we are talking with a certain person, and the next moment that person has become someone else. In contrast, the world we experience in waking is consistent. Each time we wake up from sleep or from a dream, we find ourself to be in the same world that we were in before sleeping. Though the world we see in the waking state is constantly changing, those changes are all happening in a reasonable and comprehensible manner. If we are in one place now, we do not suddenly find ourself to be in another place the next moment. If we are talking to a certain person, that person does not suddenly become some other person. Therefore what we experience in waking is definitely more real than what we experienced in dream." In this way we reason with ourself and convince ourself that it is reasonable for us to believe that the body and world that we experience in waking are not merely a product of our imagination, like the body and world that we experience in dream, but really exist independent of our imagination.

However, none of these superficial differences that we can point out between our experience in waking and our experience in dream can actually prove that what we experience in waking is any more real than what we experienced in dream. These superficial differences are not differences in substance, but only differences in quality. Just because the world we perceive in waking appears to be more lasting and internally consistent than the world we perceive in dream, we cannot reasonably conclude thereby that it is not merely a product of our wonderful power of imagination and self-deception.

The differences that we can point out between our experience in waking and our experience in dream can be reasonably accounted for in another way. The reason why the world we perceive in waking appears to be more lasting and internally consistent than the world we perceive in dream is that we are more strongly attached to our waking body than we normally are to any body that we identify as ourself in a dream.

If we experience any severe shock, pain, fear or excitement in a dream, we usually wake up immediately from that dream, because we do not feel strongly attached to the body that we then identify as 'I'. In contrast, we can usually bear a much greater degree of shock, pain, fear or excitement in the waking state without swooning, because we feel very strongly attached to this body that we now identify as 'I'. Thus, because our attachment to the body that we identify as 'I' in a dream is usually quite tenuous, our experience of the world that we see in that dream is fleeting, fluid and often inconsistent. In contrast, because our attachment to this body that we now identify as 'I' in this waking state is very strong, our experience of the world that we now perceive around us generally appears to be more lasting, substantial and consistent.

However, even in our waking state there are times when this world appears to be dream-like and unreal, for example after we have been deeply absorbed in a reverie or daydream, or in reading a book or watching a film, or after we have experienced an intense shock, joy or bereavement. The reality that we attribute to our body and this world is therefore subjective and relative. All that we know of this world is what we experience in our own mind, and is therefore coloured by our mind.

In this waking state our mind tells us that the world we are now

experiencing is real and that the world we experienced in dream is unreal, but in dream our same mind told us that the world we were then experiencing was real. The differences that we now imagine to exist between that state and our present state did not appear to exist then. In fact, while dreaming, we generally think we are in the waking state. If we were to discuss the reality of waking and dream with someone in a dream, we would probably agree with each other that this 'waking state' – as we would then take our dream to be – is more real than a dream.

Our experience of our body and this world is entirely subjective, because it exists only in our own mind. Likewise, the reality that we attribute to our experience of them is entirely subjective. What we know of our body and this world is only our sense perceptions. Without our five senses, we would know neither our body nor this world. Every sense perception is an image or thought that we have formed within our own mind by our power of imagination, yet we imagine that each one of them corresponds to something that actually exists outside our mind. Since we cannot know anything about our body or this world except the images or thoughts that our mind forms about them within itself, we have no way of knowing for certain that either of them actually exists outside our mind.

Therefore, since we know from our experience in dream that our mind not only has the power to create a seemingly real body for itself, and to perceive a seemingly real world through the five senses of that body, but also has the power to delude itself into mistaking its imaginary creations to be real, and since we have no way of knowing for certain that our body and this world that we now experience in this waking state are not just imaginary creations of our own mind, like the body and world that we experienced in dream, we have good reason to suspect neither our body nor the world actually exists outside our own mind. If they do not exist outside our mind, then they do not exist when we do not know them, as in dream and deep sleep.

Since we can be sure that our body exists only when we know it, and since we know our present body in only one of our three states of

consciousness, our notion that this body is ourself is open to serious doubt. Since we know that we exist in dream, when we do not know the existence of this present body, is it not reasonable for us to infer that we are the consciousness that knows this body, rather than this body itself?

If we are consciousness, that is, if consciousness is our real and essential nature, we must be consciousness in all the states in which we exist. Since our consciousness cannot know anything else without first knowing itself – without knowing 'I am', 'I know' – the essential nature of our consciousness is self-consciousness, the consciousness of its own being or existence. Whatever else it knows, our consciousness always knows 'I am', 'I exist', 'I know'.

Since it always knows itself as 'I am', our consciousness cannot be something that it knows at one time and does not know at another time. Therefore, if we are consciousness, we must be something that we know in all the states in which we exist, something that we know whenever we exist.

Since we now feel ourself to be not only this body, but also the consciousness that knows this body, and since we feel ourself to be the same consciousness in dream, even though at that time we also feel ourself to be some other body, is it not clear that this consciousness that knows these bodies is more real than either of them? Since we are the same consciousness in both waking and dream, and since we are conscious of one body as ourself in waking, and of some other body as ourself in dream, is it not clear that our identification with either of these bodies is an illusion – a mere imagination?

Can we then say that we are the consciousness that knows our body and this world in the waking state, and that knows some other body and world in dream? No, we cannot, because the consciousness that knows these bodies and worlds is a transient form of consciousness, which appears to exist only in waking and in dream, and which disappears in dreamless sleep. If we exist in deep dreamless sleep, we cannot be this form of consciousness that knows a body and world, because this object-knowing form of

consciousness does not exist as such in deep sleep.

Do we exist in deep sleep? Yes, obviously we do, because when we wake up we know clearly and without any doubt 'I slept'. If we did not exist in sleep, we could not now know that we slept. Since sleep is a state that we actually experience, it is not only a state in which we exist, but is also a state in which we are conscious of our existence. If we were not conscious in sleep, we could not know our experience in sleep – we could not know with such certainty that we slept and did not know anything at that time. What we are unconscious of in sleep is anything other than our own being or existence, 'I am', but we are not unconscious of our own being.

Let us imagine a conversation that might occur between two people, whom we shall call A and B, just after B has woken up from a deep dreamless sleep.

A: Did someone come into your room ten minutes ago?

B: I do not know, I was asleep.

A: Are you sure you were asleep?

B: Yes, of course, I know very well that I was asleep.

A: How do you know that you were asleep?

B: Because I did not know anything.

If someone were to question us as A questioned B, would we not normally answer in words similar to those used by B? What can we infer from such answers?

When we say that we did not know anything in sleep, what we mean is that we did not know any external object or event at that time. But what about our own being – did we know that we existed in sleep? If someone were to ask us if we are sure we were asleep, we would answer like B, 'I know very well that I was asleep'. That is, we have no doubt that we existed, even though we were in a state that we call 'sleep'.

When we say, 'I know I was asleep', what exactly do we mean? These words express a certainty that we all feel when we wake up from sleep. From this certainty that we each of us feel, it is clear not only that we did exist in sleep, but also that we knew we existed in sleep, even though we did not know anything else at that time.

Moreover, just as we feel with certainty, 'I know I was asleep', so we feel with equal certainty, 'I know I knew nothing in sleep'. Since we know this with such certainty, it is clear that we did exist in sleep as the consciousness that knew that state of nothingness.

After we wake up from a deep sleep, we do not need anyone else to tell us that we have been asleep, because sleep was a state that we ourself consciously experienced. What we experienced in sleep was a state in which we were not conscious of anything else. But though we were not conscious of anything else in that state, we were nevertheless conscious that we were in that state in which we knew nothing. The so-called 'unconsciousness' of sleep was a conscious experience for us at that time.

In other words, though we are not conscious of anything else in sleep, we are nevertheless conscious of being in that seemingly unconscious state. Therefore, since the so-called 'unconsciousness' of sleep is a state clearly known by us, sleep is in fact a conscious state of being. Hence, rather than describing sleep in negative terms as a state of 'unconsciousness' — a state of being unconscious of anything — it would be more accurate to describe it in positive terms as a state of 'consciousness' — a state of being conscious of nothing other than our own being.

How do we come to be so sure that we know nothing in sleep? How exactly does this knowledge of not knowing anything in sleep arise? In waking this knowledge takes the form of a thought, 'I did not know anything in sleep', but in sleep no such thought exists. The absence of knowledge in sleep is known by us only because at that time we know that we exist. That is, because we know that we exist, we are able to know that we exist without knowing any other thing. In waking we are able to say that we knew nothing when we were asleep because in sleep we not only existed in the absence of all other knowledge, but also knew that we existed thus.

However, it is important to remember that though in our present waking state we say, 'I knew nothing in sleep', the knowledge that we actually experience while asleep is not 'I know nothing', but is only 'I am'. In sleep what we actually know is 'I am', and nothing

but 'I am'. Since this knowledge or consciousness 'I am' exists in all our three states of consciousness, and since nothing else exists in all three of them, is it not clear that we are in reality only this essential consciousness 'I am' – or to be more precise, this essential self-consciousness 'I am'?

Thus by critically analysing our experience of ourself in each of our three states of consciousness, we come to understand that we are in essence only self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Unless we analyse our experience of our three states of consciousness in this manner, we cannot arrive at a clear, certain and correct understanding of who or what we really are. This critical analysis is thus the essential foundation upon which the entire philosophy and science of true self-knowledge is built.

Therefore, since this analysis is so essential to our correct understanding of ourself, let us delve into it more deeply, examining our experience of our three states of consciousness from several alternative angles. Though certain ideas may appear to repeat themselves when we do so, it is nevertheless useful to explore the same ground again from various different perspectives, because unless we gain not only a clear understanding but also a firm conviction about our real nature from our critical analysis of our three states of consciousness, we will lack the motivation required to pursue the rigorous and extremely demanding empirical research or investigation into our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', without which we cannot attain direct and immediate experience of true self-knowledge.

Do we not all feel ourself to be a particular human body? When we say, 'I was born at such-and-such a time in such-and-such a place. I am the son or daughter of so-and-so. I have travelled to so many different places. Now I am sitting here, reading this book', and suchlike, is it not clear that we identify ourself with our body so strongly that we habitually refer to it as 'I'? But do we not at the same time also feel ourself to be the consciousness within this body, and do we not therefore refer to this body not only subjectively as 'I', but also objectively as 'my body'?

Are we then two different things, this physical body that we call 'I', and the consciousness that feels itself to be within this body, but at the same time regards this body as an object that it calls 'my body'? No, we obviously cannot be two different things, because we all know very clearly 'I am one'. That is, we each feel that we have only one self or 'I', and not two or more different 'I's. When we say 'I', we refer to a sense of selfhood that is intrinsically single, whole and indivisible.

Does that then mean that this physical body and the consciousness within it that feels it to be 'my body' are not two different things, but are one and the same? No, they are very clearly two quite different things, because we all know that our body is not inherently conscious. Though we cannot know our own body when our consciousness is separated from it, we do know that when the body of some other person dies, it remains just as a lump of insentient matter, devoid of any consciousness. Since a physical body can thus remain without being conscious, the consciousness that appears to be united with it when it is alive and awake is clearly something that is different from it.

Moreover, and more importantly, just as we know that a body can remain without any consciousness of its own, we also know from our experience in dream that our own consciousness can remain without this body that we now mistake to be 'I'. In dream we are conscious, both of ourself as a body and of a world around us, but we are not conscious of this body, which at that time is supposedly lying asleep on a bed, unconscious of the world around it. Is it not clear, therefore, that our consciousness and our body are two different things?

Since we thus know from our own experience that our consciousness and this body are two separate and distinct things, and since in the waking state we feel ourself to be both our consciousness and this body, can we say that we are not just one or other of these two separate things, but are a compound formed by the union of the two of them? If we are indeed just a compound of these two separate things, we must cease to exist when they are parted.

Our consciousness is united with this body only in the waking state, and parted from it in both dream and deep sleep. Since we continue to exist in both dream and deep sleep, we must be something more than just a compound of our consciousness and this body.

When our consciousness and this body are separated, which of these two things are we? Since we are conscious of our existence not only in the waking state, but also in dream and in deep sleep, is it not evident that we cannot be either this body or a compound of our consciousness and this body, but must be some form of consciousness that can separate itself from this body, and that persists through all these three passing and contrasting states?

Is it not clear, therefore, that the knowledge we have at present about who or what we are is confused and uncertain? Are we this body, which is composed of inconscient matter, or are we our consciousness, which knows this body as an object distinct from itself? Since we feel ourself to be both, and refer to both as 'I', it is evident that we have no clear knowledge of what our 'I' actually is.

When we say, 'I know I am sitting here', we are equating and thereby confusing the knowing 'I', which is our consciousness, with the sitting 'I', which is this body. In this way, throughout our waking and dream states, we persistently confuse our consciousness with whatever body it currently appears to be confined within.

Our confusion about our true identity, which is obvious enough from our experience in waking, is made still more clear by our experience in dream. In that state, this body that we now identify as 'I' is supposedly lying unconscious either of itself or of the world around it, but we are nevertheless conscious of another body, which we mistake to be 'I', and another world, which we mistake to be real. Does not this experience that we have in every dream clearly demonstrate to us that we have the ability to delude ourself into believing that we are a body which is in reality nothing but a figment of our own imagination?

How are we able to delude ourself in this manner? If we clearly knew exactly what we are, we could not mistake ourself to be something that we are not. Is it not clear, therefore, that all our confused and mistaken notions about what we are arise only from our lack of true and clear self-knowledge? Until and unless we gain a clear and correct knowledge about what we really are, we will continue to be confused and to delude ourself into believing that we are a body, a mind, a person, or some other thing that we are not.

So long as our knowledge of our own real self thus remains unclear, uncertain and confused, can we really be sure about anything else that we may know? All the so-called knowledge about other things that we think we now possess rests solely upon the unsteady foundation of our confused and uncertain knowledge about ourself. How can we rely upon or feel confident about any such knowledge?

Which is actually real, the body and world that we experience in the waking state, or the body and world that we experience in dream? Or are neither of them real? As far as we know when we are dreaming, the body and world of this waking state are non-existent. Even now, when we are in the waking state, the idea that they existed when we were unconscious of them, as in the states of dream and deep sleep, is merely an assumption for which we have no concrete evidence.

Like all our other assumptions, this assumption is based upon our first and most fundamental assumption – our wrong assumption that we are somehow a mixture of both a physical body and the consciousness that knows that body not only subjectively as 'I' but also objectively as 'my body'. Before we seek to acquire any knowledge about other things, all of which we merely assume to be real, but which are quite possibly nothing more than figments of our own imagination, is it not necessary for us first to question this fundamental assumption about who or what we are?

Since in dream and in deep sleep we are consciously separated from this body that we now in the waking state identify as 'I', is it not clear that this body cannot actually be our real self? In dream we identify another body as 'I', and through the five senses of that body we see a world of objects and people around us, just as in waking we identify this body as 'I', and through the five senses of this body we see a world of objects and people around us. Does not dream

therefore clearly demonstrate to us that our mind has a power of imagination that is so strong and self-deceptive that it can not only create for us a body and a whole world, but can also deceive us into believing that that body is 'I' and that world is real?

Does this not give us a very compelling reason to doubt the reality of this body and world in the waking state? Is it not quite possible that this body and the world full of objects and people that it sees around it are just another creation of the same self-deceptive power of imagination that created a very similar body and world in dream – a body and world that at that time seemed just as real as this body and world now seem to be?

In both waking and in dream we appear to be a confused mixture of both consciousness and a physical body. This confused mixture or compound that is formed by our identification of our consciousness with a physical body is what we call our 'mind'. Since this mind is a confused and transitory form of consciousness that appears to exist only when it identifies itself with a body in either waking or dream, and ceases to exist when it relinquishes its identification with any body in sleep, can it be anything more than a mere illusion – an unreal appearance, a phantom product of our self-deceptive power of imagination?

Since all things other than our fundamental consciousness 'I am' are known by us only through the unreliable medium of this confused, self-deceiving and transitory form of consciousness called 'mind', can we confidently say that any of them are real? Is it not reasonable for us instead to suspect that they are all nothing more than an illusory and unreal apparition, just like all the things that we see in a dream?

Since the body that we mistake to be 'I' in the waking state, and the body that we mistake to be 'I' in a dream, are both transitory appearances, appearing as they each do in one state and not in another, is it not clear that we cannot be either of these two bodies? If we are neither of them, then what in fact are we?

We must be something that exists in both waking and dream. Though the body and world that we now know in the waking state and the body and world that we knew in dream may be very similar to each other, they are clearly not the same body and world. Is there anything that exists and remains the same in both of these two states, and if so what is it? On superficial observation, the only thing that is common to these two states is our mind, the consciousness that knows them. Are we then this consciousness that knows both waking and dream, and that identifies one body as 'I' in waking and another body as 'I' in dream?

We cannot answer this question without first asking another. Are we this same consciousness not only in waking and dream, but also in sleep? No, this consciousness that knows a body and world in the waking and dream states ceases to exist in deep sleep. But do we also cease to exist in deep sleep? No, though we cease to be conscious of any body or world in the state of deep sleep, we nevertheless do exist in that state, and we also know our own existence at that time.

When we wake up from deep sleep, we are able to say with certainty, 'I slept peacefully and happily. I knew nothing at that time, and was not disturbed by any dream'. Does not this certain knowledge that we have about our experience in sleep clearly indicate not only that we did exist at that time, but also that we knew we existed?

Generally we think of deep sleep as a state of 'unconsciousness'. But what we were unconscious of in sleep was only things other than 'I', such as any body or world. We were not, however, unconscious of our own existence. We need other people to tell us that our body and the world existed while we were asleep, but we need no one to tell us that we existed at that time. Without the help or testimony of any other person or thing, we know clearly and without any doubt 'I slept'.

In sleep we may not have known exactly what we were, but we did know very clearly that we were. The clear knowledge that we possess about our experience in sleep, and that we express when we say 'I slept peacefully, and knew nothing at that time', would not be possible if in sleep we had not been conscious of that experience – or

to be more precise, if we had not been conscious of ourself as the consciousness that was unconscious of anything other than our own peaceful and happy being.

If we did not know 'I am' while we were asleep, now after we have woken from sleep we could not know so clearly 'I slept'. That is, we could not now know so clearly that we were then in the state that we now call 'sleep' – in other words, that we did indeed exist in that state. We know that we existed in sleep because in that state we did actually experience our own existence – our essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Since in the waking state we know clearly not only that we slept, but also that in sleep we did not know anything, is it not clear that sleep was a state that we actually experienced? The seeming 'unconsciousness' of sleep — the absence at that time of any knowledge about anything other than 'I am' — was our own experience, something that we ourself experienced and knew at that time.

We can employ another parallel line of reasoning to demonstrate the fact that we were conscious of our existence in sleep. After we wake up from sleep, do we not have a clear memory of having slept, and of having known nothing while we slept? Since we can have no memory of something unless we have actually experienced it, our memory of having slept and having known nothing while asleep is a clear proof of the fact that we did experience ourself sleeping and knowing nothing at that time.

If we did not truly remember our experience in sleep, we could not know with such certainty that we were unconscious of anything at that time. What we would know about sleep is not the positive knowledge that we slept and knew nothing at that time, but merely a negative knowledge that we do not remember any such state at all.

Instead of remembering a clear gap between one period of waking and the next – a thought-free gap in which we were clearly unconscious of anything other than our own being – we would remember no break at all between two such consecutive periods of waking. The end of one period of waking would in our experience

simply merge without any perceptible break into the beginning of the next period of waking, and all our many consecutive periods of waking would appear to us to be one single continuous and unbroken period of waking, just as the many frames of a movie film when projected in rapid succession upon a screen appear to be one single continuous and unbroken moving picture. If there were no continuity of our consciousness during sleep, the gap that exists between one period of waking and the next would be imperceptible to us, just as the gap between each frame of the movie film is imperceptible to us.

Deep sleep is thus a state of which we do have a direct and first-hand experience. Since there can be no experience without consciousness, the fact that we experience sleep clearly proves that we certainly do have some level of consciousness even in that state. That level of consciousness that we experience in sleep is our deepest and most fundamental level of consciousness – our simple non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, which is our true self-consciousness 'I am'.

We are so accustomed to associating consciousness only with our mind, the consciousness that knows things other than itself, that with regard to sleep we overlook the obvious. We overlook the fact that the 'unconsciousness' of sleep is something that we ourself have experienced, and that in order to have experienced that so-called 'unconsciousness' in sleep we ourself must have been conscious.

Therefore, as far as we can ever possibly know, there is no such thing as a state of absolute unconsciousness. Such a state of absolute unconsciousness would be a state that could never be known or experienced. The only type of unconsciousness that we can experience and know is not a state of absolute unconsciousness, but merely a state of relative unconsciousness — a state in which the consciousness of duality with which we are familiar in the waking and dream states has subsided, a state in which we are not conscious of anything other than our mere being, our fundamental non-dual self-consciousness 'I am'.

If we were really unconscious in sleep, or at any other time, we could not be consciousness, because consciousness can never be

unconscious. However, since we are conscious of sleep and other such states of relative unconsciousness, we are the absolute consciousness that underlies and supports yet transcends all states of relative consciousness and unconsciousness.

Does not the fact that we experience waking, dream and deep sleep as three distinct states clearly prove that we exist and are conscious of our existence in all these three states? There is thus a continuity of our existence and our consciousness through all our three states of waking, dream and deep sleep.

However the consciousness of our existence or mere being that continues unbroken in all these three states is distinct from the consciousness that knows a body and world in just two of them, namely waking and dream. Our simple and fundamental consciousness of our own mere being that continues throughout our three states is our pure uncontaminated consciousness 'I am', whereas the consciousness that identifies itself with a particular body and that knows a world through the five senses of that body is the mixed and contaminated consciousness 'I am this body'.

This mixed consciousness that identifies itself with a body is a limited and distorted form of our original and fundamental consciousness 'I am'. Since this distorted consciousness, which we call our 'mind', appears only in the states of waking and dream, and disappears in deep sleep, it cannot be our real nature, our true and essential self. Our real nature is only our pure, uncontaminated and unlimited consciousness 'I am', which underlies and supports the passing appearance of our three states.

Thus from our critical analysis of our experience in our three ordinary states of consciousness, we can conclude that we are the underlying consciousness that knows both the conscious states of waking and dream and the seemingly unconscious state of sleep. Or to be more precise, we are that fundamental consciousness which always knows 'I am', and which in sleep knows nothing but 'I am', but which in waking and dream appears to know other things in addition to 'I am'.

Neither the consciousness of things other than 'I' that we

experience in waking and dream, nor the unconsciousness of other things that we experience in sleep, are ever able to conceal completely our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. Nevertheless they do appear to cloud over and obscure this consciousness 'I am', making us feel in waking and dream 'I am this body' and in sleep 'I am unconscious', and thereby they deprive us of our clear knowledge of our true state of mere self-conscious being. Therefore, to know clearly the true nature of our being, we must use our power of knowing to attend to our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am', thereby penetrating beyond the transitory appearances of both the objective consciousness of waking and dream, and the seeming unconsciousness of sleep.

We normally think of sleep as a state of unconsciousness because we are accustomed to associating consciousness with the state of knowing things other than ourself in waking and dream. When the knowing of other things subsides in sleep, we experience a state of seeming darkness or emptiness that we mistake to be unconsciousness. So accustomed have we become to associating consciousness with knowing things other than our own being, that we overlook the fact that in sleep we are clearly conscious of our being. The reason why we thus overlook our clear consciousness of our own being in sleep is because we have habituated ourself to overlooking it in waking and in dream.

In both waking and dream we usually spend all our time paying attention only to the thoughts and feelings in our mind, and to the objects and events in the seemingly external world, and we seldom if ever pay any attention to our mere being, our self-consciousness 'I am'. Because we habitually ignore our consciousness of our own being, we mistakenly believe that our dualistic consciousness — our consciousness that knows things that are seemingly other than ourself — is the only consciousness there is. Since this dualistic consciousness subsides in sleep, that state appears to us to be a state of unconsciousness.

The consciousness that knows other things is a transitory phenomenon that exists only in waking and dream, but it is not the only form of consciousness that exists. Even in waking and dream, a more subtle form of consciousness exists, underlying and supporting the transitory appearance of our dualistic consciousness. This more subtle form of consciousness is our non-dual consciousness of our own being, the consciousness by which we each know 'I am'. Thus our consciousness in waking and dream has two distinct forms: our fundamental 'being consciousness', by which we know 'I am', and our superficial 'knowing consciousness', by which we know everything else.

Though we can thus distinguish two forms of our consciousness, these are not two different consciousnesses, but just two forms of one and the same consciousness – the one and only consciousness that exists. The relationship between these two forms of consciousness is similar to the relationship between the illusory appearance of a snake and the rope that underlies and supports that illusory appearance. When walking in a dim light, we may mistake a rope lying on the ground to be a snake. Because we see the rope as a snake, we fail to see the rope as it is, and hence we mistakenly think that what is lying on the ground is only a snake. Similarly, because as a 'knowing experience our 'being consciousness' consciousness', we fail to know our 'being consciousness' as it is, and hence we mistakenly think that the only form of consciousness that exists is our 'knowing consciousness'.

Just as the rope underlies and supports the illusory appearance of the snake, so our 'being consciousness' underlies and supports the transitory appearance of our 'knowing consciousness'. Whereas our 'knowing consciousness' is a transitory and illusory appearance, like the snake, our 'being consciousness' is not a transitory and unreal appearance, but is our true self, our essential being, which exists and is known by us at all times, in all places, and in all states.

Since our 'knowing consciousness', which is what is commonly called our 'mind', appears in waking and dream but disappears in sleep, it is impermanent, and hence it cannot be our real self – our true and natural form of being and consciousness. Since our 'being consciousness', on the other hand, exists in all our three states of

consciousness, waking, dream and deep sleep, it is permanent, and hence it is our real self, the very core and essence of our being – our true and natural form of consciousness.

Since both the 'being' form and the 'knowing' form of our consciousness are experienced by us in the waking state, we have a choice of attending either to the thoughts, feelings, objects and events that are known by the knowing form of our consciousness, or to the 'I am' that is known by the being form of our consciousness. When we attend to things other than our being, we seemingly become our false form of 'knowing consciousness', which is our mind, whereas when we attend only to our own being, 'I am', we remain as our essential form of non-dual 'being consciousness', which is our real self.

The nature of our essential 'being consciousness' is just to be, and not to know anything other than itself. Since it is consciousness, it knows itself merely by being itself. Its knowledge of itself is therefore not an action, a 'doing' of any sort, but is just being.

In order to know our real self, therefore, all we need do is just be. What seemingly prevents us from knowing our real self, our mere 'being consciousness', is our 'doing', our rising to know things that we imagine to be other than ourself. Whereas knowing ourself is not a 'doing' but just 'being', knowing other things is a 'doing' or action. The very nature of our 'knowing consciousness' or mind is therefore to be constantly doing.

Our 'knowing consciousness' comes into existence only by an act of imagination – by imagining itself to be a body, which it creates by its power of imagination. Thus it is nothing but a form of imagination. Since it is itself an imagination, all that it knows is likewise an imagination. Since imagining is a doing or action, the very formation of our 'knowing consciousness' in our imagination is a doing, and of all doings it is the first.

Since the rising of our 'knowing consciousness' from sleep is a doing or act of imagination, all that it gives rise to – all our dualistic knowledge, which rises in the form of our thoughts, some of which appear to exist externally as our body and the other objects of this

world – is just a product of doing, a result of our repeated acts of imagination. Thus from the moment it rises from sleep till the moment it subsides once again in sleep, our mind or 'knowing consciousness' is in a state of constant activity or doing. Without doing, without thinking or knowing something other than itself, our mind cannot stand. As soon as it ceases doing, it subsides in sleep, which is a state of mere being.

However, though in sleep we remain as our mere 'being consciousness', we somehow appear to lack a perfect clarity of self-knowledge in that state. If we clearly knew our true nature in sleep, we could not again mistake ourself to be a body or anything else that we are not, and hence we would never rise again as our 'knowing consciousness' or mind.

Throughout all our normal three states of consciousness, we experience our 'being consciousness' as 'I am', yet we somehow imagine that it is obscured by a lack of clarity of self-knowledge. This lack of clarity of true self-knowledge is only imaginary, but because in our imagination it appears to be real, it enables us to imagine that we are a 'knowing consciousness' in waking and dream, and that we do not clearly know ourself even in sleep, when that 'knowing consciousness' has temporarily subsided.

How exactly we are able to sustain this imaginary lack of clarity of self-knowledge even in sleep cannot be understood by our mind or 'knowing consciousness'. However, if we are able now in our present waking state to scrutinise our 'being consciousness' sufficiently keenly, we will discover that this imaginary lack of clarity of self-knowledge never really existed.

That is, if we turn the attention of our 'knowing consciousness' away from all forms of duality and focus it keenly upon our non-dual 'being consciousness', which we always experience as 'I am', we will begin to experience our 'being consciousness' more clearly. The more clearly we experience it, the more keenly we will be able to focus our attention upon it. By constantly practising self-attention, therefore, we will eventually be able to focus our attention so keenly upon our 'being consciousness' that we will experience it with full

and perfect clarity. When we thus come to experience our 'being consciousness' with perfect clarity, we will discover that we never really experienced any lack of clarity of self-knowledge.

Our 'being consciousness' always knows itself perfectly clearly, and never experiences any lack of clarity of self-knowledge. Our seeming lack of clarity of self-knowledge is merely an illusion, an unreal product of our self-deceptive power of imagination, and is experienced only by our mind or 'knowing consciousness'. Therefore, as soon as we experience our 'being consciousness' with perfect clarity, we will discover that in reality our imaginary lack of clarity of self-knowledge is ever non-existent, and thus the illusion of it will be destroyed forever.

Since our entire experience of duality or multiplicity arises only in our mind, and since our mind is built upon the flimsy foundation of our imaginary lack of clarity of self-knowledge, when this mist-like imaginary lack of clarity is dissolved in the clear light of unadulterated self-consciousness, our mind and all the duality that it now experiences will disappear for ever, just as a dream disappears as soon as we wake up from sleep. Therefore in verse 1 of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana says:

Having forgotten ourself [our real self, our pure unadulterated consciousness 'I am'], having thought '[this] body indeed is myself', [and] having [thereby] taken innumerable births, finally knowing ourself [and] being ourself is just [like] waking from a dream of wandering about the world. See [thus].

Our present waking state is in fact just a dream that is occurring in our long sleep of self-forgetfulness or lack of clarity of true selfknowledge. So long as this sleep persists, we will continue dreaming one dream after another. Between our dreams we may rest for a while in dreamless sleep, but such rest can never be permanent.

Our sleep of self-forgetfulness is imaginary, but from the perspective of our mind, which is a product of it, it appears to be quite real. That is, so long as we feel ourself to be this mind, we cannot deny the fact that we do appear to lack clear knowledge of our real self, as a result of which the knowledge of ourself that we

now appear to experience is confused and uncertain.

This lack of clarity of true self-knowledge is what Sri Ramana describes as 'self-forgetfulness'. He also describes it as a 'sleep', because sleep is a state in which we forget our normal waking self. Just as in our everyday sleep we forget our present waking self, so in our primal sleep of imaginary self-forgetfulness we seem to have forgotten our real self, which is our ever-wakeful consciousness of our own essential and infinite being.

So long as we experience this state of imaginary self-forgetfulness, we do not experience ourself as we really are – that is, as infinite and absolute being, infinite and absolute consciousness, and infinite and absolute happiness. Instead we experience ourself as a finite and relative being – a person who seems to exist now but apparently did not exist before his or her birth, and apparently will not exist after his or her death, a person who sometimes rises as this finite and relative consciousness that we call our mind, and sometimes subsides in the state of relative unconsciousness that we call sleep, a person who experiences only finite and relative happiness, mixed with equally finite and relative unhappiness.

In the state of relative unconsciousness that we call sleep, we do not experience ourself as a person, but simply as our own happy self-conscious being. Though in sleep we do not actually experience any form of relativity or finitude, from the perspective of our present waking mind we have to say that sleep is only a relative and therefore finite state, because it is a state which we seem to enter and from which we seem to rise repeatedly. Therefore, though sleep is not finite in itself, relative to our other two states, waking and dream, it does appear to be finite.

Since sleep is a state in which our mind has subsided, it transcends our mind, and hence it cannot be defined categorically as being either finite or infinite, or as being either relative or absolute. From the perspective of our mind, sleep is a finite and relative state, but from the perspective of our true non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am', it is our real and natural state of infinite and absolute being, infinite and absolute consciousness, and infinite and absolute

happiness.

What we actually experience in sleep is only our non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am', so as such sleep is a state devoid of any form of relativity or finitude. What makes sleep appear to be a relative and therefore finite state is the rising of our mind in the two truly relative and finite states of waking and dream.

As Sri Sadhu Om used to say, if we raise two walls in a vast open space, that one open space will appear to be divided into three confined spaces. Similarly, when our mind imagines the existence of two different types of body – the body that it imagines to be itself in its current state, which it considers to be waking, and the body that it imagined to be itself in another state that it now considers to be dream – the infinite space of our true and absolute self-conscious being appears to be divided into three separate and therefore finite states, which we call waking, dream and sleep.

In reality, the state that we now call 'sleep' is our true, natural, infinite and absolute state of unadulterated self-consciousness. However, so long as we feel ourself to be this relative and finite consciousness that we call our mind, we cannot know sleep as it really is. That is, since we do not experience our essential self-consciousness 'I am' in its true unadulterated form in our present waking state, from the perspective of this waking state we cannot recognise the fact that we did experience our self-consciousness 'I am' in its true unadulterated form in sleep. Therefore, in order to discover what we really experienced in sleep, we must experience our fundamental self-consciousness 'I am' in its true unadulterated form in our present waking state.

In the perspective of our real self, which is the non-dual consciousness that knows nothing other than itself, the state that we call sleep is a state of infinite, absolute and unadulterated self-consciousness. However, in the perspective of our real self, our other two states, which we call waking and dream, are equally states of infinite, absolute and unadulterated self-consciousness. That is, in the infinite perspective of our real self, there is only one state, and that state is our single, non-dual, true and natural state of absolute

consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'.

However, in the limited and distorted perspective of our mind, our one true state of non-dual self-consciousness appears to be three distinct states, which we call waking, dream and sleep. Since in the perspective of our waking and dreaming mind sleep appears to be a separate state, which exists relative to waking and dream, it seems to us now to be a limited state of relative unconsciousness – a state that results from a temporary forgetfulness of our waking and dreaming self, which is the object-knowing consciousness that we call our mind.

Most forms of philosophy and science are concerned only or at least principally with what we experience in our present waking state. Even when they study our other two states, dream and sleep, they do so only from the perspective of our waking mind. Therefore, since all such forms of philosophy and science are centred around the experience of our waking mind, they tend to consider our experience in our other two states as being of only secondary importance.

However, in our search for the absolute reality, dream and sleep are both crucially important states of consciousness, since they each give us essential clues concerning the true nature of our real self. Dream is important to us because it clearly demonstrates the fact that our mind has a wonderful power of imagination by which it is not only able to create a body and a whole world, but is also able to delude itself into mistaking its own imaginary creation to be real. Sleep is important to us because it clearly demonstrates the fact that we can exist and be conscious of our own existence even in the absence of our mind.

In our search for the absolute reality, which transcends all the limitations created by our mind, sleep is in fact the most important of our three states of consciousness, because it is the only state in which we experience our fundamental knowledge – our essential self-consciousness, 'I am' – devoid of any other knowledge. Not only does sleep provide us with incontrovertible evidence of the fact that our essential nature is only our non-dual self-consciousness – our unadulterated consciousness of our own being, 'I am' – but it

also provides us with the vital clue that we require in order to practise self-investigation effectively.

That is, self-investigation or self-scrutiny, which is the practical research that we must perform in order to experience true self-knowledge, is a state of non-dual self-consciousness — a state in which we knowingly abide as nothing other than our own essential self-conscious being. If we did not already have a taste of this non-dual self-consciousness in sleep, it would be difficult for our mind (which is always accustomed to experiencing only duality or otherness throughout its two states of activity, waking and dream) to comprehend what this state of non-dual self-consciousness actually is, and hence when we attempt to practise self-investigation, which Sri Ramana revealed to us is the only means by which we can experience true self-knowledge, it would not be so easy for us to abide knowingly as our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Sri Ramana sometimes described sleep as a sample of our true state of non-dual self-consciousness, and at other times he described it as an imaginary state of self-forgetfulness. Why did he refer to sleep in these two different ways, which are seemingly contradictory?

Sleep appears to be a state of self-forgetfulness only from the perspective of our mind, which is itself an imaginary product of our seeming self-forgetfulness. If we had not seemingly forgotten our real self, we could not now imagine ourself to be this mind, which appears to be something other than our real self – our true non-dual consciousness of our own essential being or 'am'-ness. Therefore, though our self-forgetfulness is truly imaginary, from the perspective of our mind it is a fact that is undeniably real.

Our imaginary self-forgetfulness is like a sleep. Just as sleep is the seeming darkness or lack of clarity without which no dream could appear, so our self-forgetfulness is the seeming darkness or lack of clarity without which we could not imagine ourself to be experiencing the states of dualistic knowledge that we call waking and dream.

Though our mind disappears in sleep every day, it reappears from sleep as soon as it has thereby recuperated sufficient energy to engage in another period of activity. It appears, therefore, that in sleep our mind somehow continues to exist in a seed form - a dormant and unmanifest form, which will again become manifest as soon as the conditions become favourable, the favourable conditions in this case being a sufficient internal store of energy to become active once again.

Since our mind reappears after a period of rest in sleep, from the perspective of this mind our idea that in sleep we continue to be unaware or forgetful of our real self — our true non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am' — appears to be quite true. Therefore, when talking from the perspective of our mind, Sri Ramana used to describe sleep as an imaginary state of self-forgetfulness.

However, when we analyse our experience in sleep more deeply, as we have done in this chapter, it becomes clear to us that though we now imagine that we did not experience any consciousness in sleep, we did in fact experience our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'. Therefore, though sleep does appear to our waking mind to be a state of self-forgetfulness, on more careful consideration we cannot deny the fact that we did indeed experience our natural and eternal self-consciousness even in sleep. Hence, when talking from the perspective of the absolute reality, which is our own infinite self-consciousness, 'I am', Sri Ramana used to describe sleep as our true state of non-dual self-consciousness.

The truth is that we do indeed know that we are even in sleep. However, though in sleep we know that we are, we appear not to know what we are. Nevertheless, though we appear not to know what we are in sleep, we should remember that this seeming ignorance or forgetfulness of our real self in sleep is imaginary and therefore unreal, just as our present ignorance or forgetfulness of our real self is imaginary and unreal.

We have never truly forgotten our real self, or been ignorant of it. We merely imagine that we do not know ourself as we really are. However, as Sri Ramana repeatedly pointed out to us, this imaginary self-ignorance or self-forgetfulness is experienced only by our mind, and not by our real self, which always experiences itself as infinite and eternally happy consciousness of just being.

Since in sleep we do not experience our mind, which alone imagines the existence of self-forgetfulness, sleep cannot really be a state of self-forgetfulness. Indeed, in sleep no individual consciousness exists to experience self-forgetfulness. All that exists in sleep is our unadulterated consciousness of our own real self or essential being, 'I am'. Therefore, though the relative truth about sleep is that it is a state of self-forgetfulness, the absolute truth about sleep is that it is a state of perfect self-consciousness or self-knowledge.

However, though the absolute truth is that sleep is a state of infinite non-dual self-consciousness, which is the only existing reality, so long as we imagine ourself to be this mind, for all practical purposes we have to concede that sleep does indeed appear to be a relative state of self-forgetfulness. Only if we recognise the fact that the sole cause of the appearance of our mind is our imaginary self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance, will we be able to understand that the only means by which we can transcend the limitations that are seemingly imposed upon us by our mind is to destroy this illusion of self-forgetfulness.

In order to destroy this illusion, we must know ourself as we really are, and in order to know ourself as we really are, we must attend to ourself – to our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'. Therefore, though Sri Ramana experienced the absolute truth – the truth that we have never really forgotten ourself, because we are the perfectly non-dual self-consciousness, which never knows anything other than itself – in his teachings he accepted the relative reality of our present imaginary self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance. This is the reason why he began the above verse of *Ekatma Panchakam* with the words, "Having forgotten ourself".

After saying, "Having forgotten ourself", Sri Ramana says, "having thought '[this] body indeed is myself", because our present

imagination that we are this body arises as a result of our self-forgetfulness. If we clearly knew what we really are, we could not imagine ourself to be anything that we are not. Therefore we could not imagine ourself to be this body if we did not first imagine our seeming self-forgetfulness or lack of clarity of self-consciousness.

Whenever our mind becomes active, whether in waking or in dream, it first imagines itself to be a body, and then through the five senses of that imaginary body it perceives an imaginary world. Our mind cannot function without first limiting itself within the confines of an imaginary body, which it mistakes to be 'I'. Hence our mind is an intrinsically limited and therefore distorted form of consciousness.

Without imagining itself to be something finite, our mind could not imagine anything that is other than itself. All otherness or duality is an imagination that can come into existence only when we imagine ourself to be a separate and therefore finite consciousness. Though we are in reality the infinite consciousness of just being – the essential non-dual self-consciousness 'I am' – we imagine ourself to be this finite object-knowing consciousness that we call our mind.

All that we know as other than ourself – all our thoughts, feelings and perceptions – are merely products of our own imagination, and they appear to exist only because we imagine ourself to be something separate from them. In sleep we experience our non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', but we do not experience any otherness, separation or duality. Even in waking and dream we experience this same non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', but along with it we also experience the illusion of otherness, separation or duality.

Nothing that we experience is actually other than our own essential consciousness. Our consciousness is the fundamental substance that appears as all other things. Other things are all products of our imagination. What we call our imagination is a power or faculty that our consciousness possesses to modify itself seemingly into the form of our thoughts, feelings and perceptions.

When we imagine our experience of thoughts, feelings and

perceptions, we create a seeming separation between ourself and these objects of our consciousness. Therefore if we did not first imagine ourself to be something separate – something limited or finite – we could not experience anything as being other than ourself. Hence, in order to imagine the existence of things other than ourself, we must begin by imagining ourself to be one among the many finite things that we thus imagine.

Thus in order to experience a world, whether this world that we perceive in our present waking state or the world that we perceive in any of our other dreams, we must simultaneously imagine ourself to be a particular body in that world. We can clearly recognise this fact when we consider our experience in dream.

We do not experience a dream in the same manner that we experience a cinema show. When we watch a cinema show or television programme, we experience ourself as a spectator who exists outside the moving picture that we are watching, but when we experience a dream, we experience ourself as a person – a body and mind – who is a part of the dream world that we are experiencing. Similarly, when we experience our present waking state, we experience ourself as a person – a body and mind – who is a part of this waking world that we are now experiencing.

The consciousness that experiences both waking and dream is our mind, and our mind always experiences itself as being a particular body, which is a part of the world that it is currently experiencing. If we did not limit ourself as a body and as a body-bound mind, we could not experience anything as being other than ourself, because in reality we are the unlimited consciousness in which this entire dream of duality appears.

Since we are the infinite consciousness in which all things appear and disappear, we alone really exist, and nothing that appears to exist can really be other than ourself. Therefore our real consciousness can never know anything other than itself – our own real self or essential being, 'I am'. All otherness is experienced only by our mind, which is a limited and distorted form of our real consciousness.

A dream actually appears within our own mind, but our mind experiences itself as being a body that exists within that dream. Such is the self-delusive power of our imagination. Therefore in verse 3 of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana says:

When [our] body exists within ourself [who are the basic consciousness in which all things appear], a person who thinks himself [or herself] to be existing within that inconscient [material] body is like someone who thinks that the screen, [which is] the *adhara* [the underlying support or base] of a [cinema] picture, exists within that picture.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana added the compound word *sat-chit-ananda*, which means 'being-consciousness-bliss', before the initial word of this verse, *tannul* or 'within [our] self', thereby reminding us that what we are in essence is only the perfectly peaceful consciousness of being, 'I am'. Other than our basic consciousness of our own being, everything that we know appears within the distorted object-knowing form of our consciousness that we call our mind, which arises within us during waking and dream, and subsides back into ourself during sleep. Our true consciousness of being – our essential self-consciousness 'I am' – is therefore like the screen on which a cinema picture is projected, because it is the one fundamental *adhara* or underlying base that supports the appearance and disappearance of our mind and everything that is known by it.

Just as a dream appears within our own mind, so everything that we experience in this waking state appears within our own mind. However, though the world that we now perceive is experienced by us within our own mind, we imagine ourself to be a particular body, which is one among the many objects that exists in this world.

Therefore if we wish to know the truth about ourself and this world, should we not determine which of these two conflicting experiences is real and which is an illusion? Does this world really exist only in our own mind, or is our mind really something that exists only within a particular body in this world? Is this entire universe, which seems to be so vast, extending with no known limit

in time or space, merely a series of thoughts in our mind, or are we merely an insignificant person who lives for a few brief years in a small corner of this universe? In other words, is this whole world really in us, or are we really in it?

If this body and world actually exist only in our own mind, as the body and world that we experience in a dream do, our experience that we are confined within the limits of this body cannot be real, and must therefore be an illusion. We could know that it is real, and not an illusion, only if we could prove to ourself that this body and world really do exist outside of and independent of our own mind.

Can we ever prove to ourself that anything that we know exists independent of our own mind? No, except our own essential self-consciousness, 'I am', which we experience in sleep in the absence of our mind, we cannot prove to ourself that anything is more than a mere imagination that is created and experienced only in and by our own mind. All we know of our body and this world is only the thoughts or mental images of them which we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination. Except our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', everything that we know can be known by us only within our own mind.

Our belief that our body and this world really exist outside our mind is just wishful thinking. It is a blind belief, because it is not based upon any adequate evidence, and is therefore without any real foundation. When we know in this waking state that the world we perceived and the body we mistook to be ourself in a dream were in fact just figments of our imagination, and therefore existed only in our own mind, what reasonable grounds do we have for believing that our present body and the world that we now perceive are anything more than mere figments of our imagination?

In the eighteenth paragraph of Nan Yar? Sri Ramana says:

Except that waking is *dirgha* [long lasting] and dream is *kshanika* [momentary or lasting for only a short while], there is no other difference [between these two imaginary states of mental activity]. To the extent to which all the *vyavaharas* [doings, activities, affairs or occurrences] that happen in waking

appear [at this present moment] to be real, to that [same] extent even the *vyavaharas* that happen in dream appear at that time to be real. In dream [our] mind takes another body [to be itself]. In both waking and dream thoughts and names-and-forms [the objects of the seemingly external world] occur in one time [that is, simultaneously].

Though in the first sentence of this paragraph Sri Ramana says that the only difference between waking and dream is that in their relative duration waking is long and dream is short, in verse 560 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai* he points out that even this difference is merely an illusion:

The answer which stated that dream appears and disappears momentarily, [whereas] waking endures for a long time, was given as a consoling reply to the question asked [that is, it was a concession made in accordance with the then level of understanding of the questioner]. [In truth, however, time is merely a product of our mind's imagination, and hence the illusion that waking endures for a long time whereas dream is momentary is] a deceptive trick that occurs due to the adherence of mind-maya [our power of maya or self-delusion, which manifests in the form of our own mind].

Since time is a figment of our imagination, we cannot measure the duration of one state by the standard of the time that we experience in another state. We may experience a dream which appears to last a long time, but when we wake up we may find that according to the time experienced in this waking state we have slept for only a few minutes.

Though it may now appear to us that our present waking state endures for many hours each day, and resumes every day for many years, and that in contrast each of our dreams lasts for only a short period of time, this seeming distinction appears to be real only in the perspective of our mind in this waking state. In dream our same mind experiences that dream as if it were a waking state, and imagines that it is a state that endures for many hours each day, and resumes every day for many years.

Time is an imagination that we do not experience in sleep, but is a part of each of the worlds that we experience in waking and dream. Since the world that we experienced in a dream is not the same world that we experience now in this present waking state, the time that we experienced as part of that dream world is not the same time that we are experiencing now. Therefore if we try to judge the duration of dream by the standard of time that we experience now, our judgement will inevitably be distorted and therefore invalid.

The relative reality of all that we experience in waking and dream cannot be correctly judged from either of these two states. When we are dreaming, we mistake everything that we experience in that dream to be real, but when we are in our present waking state, we understand that everything that we experienced in that dream is actually a figment of our imagination. Just as we can correctly judge the reality of all that we experienced in dream only when we step outside that dream into our present waking state, so we will be able to judge correctly the reality of all that we experience now in this so-called waking state only when we step outside it into some other state that transcends it.

From the perspective of the all-transcending state of true self-knowledge, which is the state of non-dual and therefore absolute self-consciousness, Sri Ramana and other sages have been able to judge correctly the relative reality of all that we experience in waking and dream, and they have testified the fact that these two states are equally unreal, because they are both mere figments of our imagination.

In the second sentence of the eighteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says, "To the extent to which all the occurrences that happen in waking appear to be real, to that extent even the occurrences that happen in dream appear at that time to be real". This is a fact that we all know from our own experience, but what inference should we draw from it? Since we now know that whatever we experienced in a dream was just our own thoughts, even though at that time it appeared to be as real as whatever we experience in this waking state now appears to be, is it not

reasonable for us to infer that whatever we experience in this waking state is most probably likewise just our own thoughts?

Though this is a logical inference for us to draw, we can verify it for certain only when we ascertain the truth about ourself. Unless we know by our own experience what we really are, we cannot be sure of the reality of anything else that we know.

In order to know ourself, we must keenly scrutinise ourself – that is, we must focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. So long as we have any desire, attachment, fear or aversion for anything other than our own essential self-consciousness, whenever we try to focus our attention upon ourself, we will be distracted by our thoughts of whatever other things we desire, fear or feel averse to. And so long as we believe that those other things exist outside our own imagination and are therefore real in their own right, we will not be able to free ourself from our desire, attachment, fear or aversion for them.

Therefore to help us to free ourself from all our desires, attachments, fears and aversions, Sri Ramana and other sages teach us the truth that everything other than our own self-consciousness, 'I am', is unreal, being a mere figment of our own imagination. This is why in verse 559 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai* he confirmed the inference that we can draw from the fact that whatever we experienced in a dream appeared then to be as real as what we experience in this waking state appears now to be, stating explicitly:

If dream, which appeared [and was experienced by us as if it were real], is a mere whirling of [our own] thoughts, waking, which has [now] occurred [and is being experienced by us as if it were real], is also of that [same] nature [that is, it is likewise a mere whirling of our own thoughts]. As real as the happenings in waking, which has [now] occurred, [appear to be at this present moment], so real indeed [the happenings in] dream [appeared to be] at that time.

Sri Ramana affirms emphatically that waking and dream are both a "mere whirling of thoughts". That is, they are each a series of mental images that we form in our own mind by our power of imagination. In other words, except our fundamental self-consciousness 'I am', everything that we experience in either waking or dream is just a figment of our own imagination.

The state that we now experience as waking is in fact just another dream. Just as we now mistake our present state to be waking, in a dream we likewise mistake our then current state to be waking. We always mistake whatever state we are currently experiencing to be our waking state, and we consider all our other states to be dreams.

What distinguishes one state of dream from another is that in each such state or each series of such states we mistake a different body to be ourself. Since we remember a series of consecutive states in which we mistook ourself to be the same body that we now mistake ourself to be, we consider each of those states to be a resumption of this same waking state. However, we also remember other states in which we mistook ourself to be various other bodies, so we consider those other states to be dreams.

Since the fact that we take various different bodies to be ourself is what makes us imagine that there is a basic distinction between our present so-called waking state and our other states of dream, in the third sentence of the eighteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says, "In dream [our] mind takes another body". In our present state of dream, we consider certain other states of dream to be real, because in them we took this same body to be ourself, but we consider yet other states of dream to be unreal, because in them we mistook other bodies to be ourself.

How exactly do we "take another body" in each of our dreams? In a dream we imagine the existence of some other body, and we simultaneously imagine that body to be ourself. Similarly, in our present so-called waking state we imagine the existence of this body and simultaneously imagine it to be ourself. Just as the body that we mistook to be ourself in a dream was merely a product of our own imagination, so this body that we now mistake to be ourself is merely a product of our own imagination.

The relationship between ourself and our body is similar to the

relationship between gold and a gold ornament. Just as gold is the one substance of which the ornament is made, so we are the one substance of which our body and all the other objects of this world are made. Therefore in verse 4 of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana says:

Is [an] ornament other than [the] gold [of which it is made]? Having separated [freed or disentangled] ourself, what [or how] is [our] body? One who thinks himself [or herself] to be [merely a finite] body is an *ajñani* [a person who is ignorant of our one real, infinite and non-dual self], [whereas] one who takes [himself or herself] to be [nothing other than our one real] self is a *jñani*, [a sage] who has known [this one real] self. Know [yourself thus as this one infinite self].

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana added the word *vattuvam*, which means 'which is the substance', before the initial word of this verse, *pon* or 'gold'. The word *vattu* is a Tamil form of the Sanskrit word *vastu*, which means 'substance', 'essence' or 'reality', and which is a word that is often used in philosophy to denote the absolute reality, our own self-conscious being, which is the one essential substance of which all things are formed. Since Sri Ramana is here using gold as an analogy for our real self, by describing gold as the *vastu* or 'substance' he implies that we ourself are the one real substance of which our body and all other things are merely imaginary forms.

The rhetorical question "Having separated ourself, what is [our] body?" expresses two closely related truths. Firstly, it expresses the truth that our present body does not exist when we separate ourself from it, as we do in both sleep and dream. Secondly, and in this context more importantly, this question is an idiomatic way of expressing the truth that just as an ornament cannot be other than the gold of which it is made, so our body cannot be other than our real self, which is the one substance of which all things are made.

That is, we are consciousness, and everything that we know is merely a form or image that appears in our consciousness – that is, in us – like waves that appear on the surface of the ocean. Just as the

water of the ocean is the one substance of which all waves are formed, so our consciousness is the one substance of which all our thoughts – that is, all the objects known by us, including our body – are formed.

Our body and everything else that we know are just a series of thoughts or mental images, which we form in our own mind by our power of imagination. Since everything other than our own consciousness is just a figment of our imagination, our consciousness alone is real, and hence it is the one true substance of which all other things are formed.

In the final sentence of the eighteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says, "In both waking and dream thoughts and names-and-forms occur simultaneously". In this context the plural form of the compound word *nama-rupa*, which literally means 'name-forms' and which I have translated as 'names-and-forms', denotes all the objects of the world, which we imagine exist outside ourself. In each of our states of mental activity, whether we imagine that state to be waking or dream, we experience the fact that the objects that we recognise as being merely thoughts that we have formed in our own mind, and the objects that seem to exist outside ourself, both appear simultaneously.

Therefore in verse 555 of Guru Vachaka Kovai Sri Ramana says:

Sages say that those [two seemingly different states] that are called waking and dream are [both] creations of our confused [agitated and deluded] mind, [because] in both [states] called waking and dream thoughts and names-and-forms come into existence simultaneously [and] in conjunction. Know for certain that [this is so].

As Sri Ramana often pointed out, all the objects of the seemingly external world are in fact experienced by us only as images that we form in our own mind by our power of imagination, and hence they are only our own thoughts. This is the reason why in the absence of all thoughts, as in sleep, no knowledge of any object is experienced, whereas as soon as our mind becomes active, as in waking and dream, our knowledge of external objects appears together with our

other thoughts.

Even now in our present waking state, if we turn our attention away from all thoughts towards our own essential self-consciousness, 'I am', all our knowledge of external objects will disappear. Is it not clear, therefore, that all our objective knowledge depends upon our thoughts about the objects that we know? We appear to know an object only when we form an image of it in our mind. Since mental images are what we otherwise call thoughts, all that we know of external objects is only the thoughts of them that we form in our own mind by our power of imagination.

Except our essential self-consciousness, 'I am', everything that we know or experience is only a thought — one among the many mental images that we form in our own mind. Just as we understand that everything that we experience in a dream is merely our own imagination, by impartial and thorough analysis we can understand that everything that we experience in our present waking state is likewise merely our own imagination.

Our belief that our knowledge of this seemingly external world corresponds to something that actually exists outside ourself is merely an imagination – one among the many thoughts that we form in our mind. There is absolutely no evidence – and there never can be any evidence – that the world we now experience actually exists outside ourself, any more than there is any evidence that the world we experienced in a dream actually exists outside ourself.

In verse 1 of *Ekatma Panchakam*, after the first two clauses, "Having forgotten ourself" and "having thought '[this] body indeed is myself", Sri Ramana adds a third clause, "having [thereby] taken innumerable births". What exactly does he mean by this? How actually do we "take innumerable births"?

As we have discussed earlier, our present waking life is actually just a dream that is occurring in our imaginary sleep of self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance. When we imaginarily ignore or forget our real self, which is infinite being, consciousness and happiness, we seemingly separate ourself from the perfect happiness that is our own self. Therefore until we reunite with our own reality,

which is absolute happiness, we cannot rest, except during the brief but necessary interludes that we experience in sleep, death and other such states, in which our mind subsides in a state of temporary abeyance or inactivity.

Because we have imaginarily separated ourself from our own infinite happiness, we feel perpetually dissatisfied, and hence our innate love for happiness impels us to search restlessly for the happiness that we have lost. Thus our natural love for happiness, which is our own true being, is seemingly distorted, manifesting in the form of desire, which impels us to be active, thereby driving ourself further away from our true state of being. Whereas true love is our natural state of just being, desire gives rise to 'doing' or activity, which distracts us from our essential being.

How does our love for happiness become distorted as desire? Having imaginarily separated ourself from our infinite real self, we now feel happiness to be something other than ourself, and therefore we seek it outside ourself in objects and experiences that we imagine to be other than ourself. In our natural state of true self-knowledge, we experience happiness as our own self, and hence our love for happiness impels us just to be ourself. In our imaginary state of self-ignorance, on the other hand, we experience happiness as if it were something other than ourself, and hence our simple love for happiness is distorted as innumerable desires for things other than ourself – for objects and experiences that we imagine will give us the happiness for which we crave.

Because our self-ignorance clouds our natural clarity of discrimination, it deludes us, making us imagine that in order to be happy we must obtain things other than ourself – whether material objects, sensual experiences or intellectual knowledge. We imagine that certain experiences will make us happy, and certain other experiences will make us unhappy, and hence we desire those experiences that we imagine will make us unhappy.

Thus our self-ignorance inevitably gives rise to our desires and fears, which impel us to be constantly active, striving by mind,

speech and body to experience the happiness for which we yearn so intensely. Until we attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge, thereby dissolving the illusion of self-ignorance and all its progeny, we will not be able to free ourself from the gripping vice of desire and fear.

Even when our mind subsides temporarily in a state of abeyance such as sleep or death, our deeply rooted desires and fears are not dissolved, because our basic self-ignorance persists in a dormant form. Therefore as soon as we are sufficiently rested, our dormant desires and fears rouse us from sleep, giving rise either to the experience of this waking state or to the experience of a dream.

All our dreams are caused by our latent desires and fears, and our present waking state is just one of our dreams. Just as all that we experience in a dream is our own thoughts, which are formed by our latent desires and fears, so all that we experience in our present waking state is our own thoughts, which are likewise formed by our latent desires and fears.

Since our present waking life is actually just a dream in our imaginary sleep of self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance, the state that we call death is merely the final termination of this particular dream. The entire life of our present body is one continuous dream, which is interrupted each day by a brief period of rest in sleep, but which resumes as soon as we have recuperated sufficient energy to engage in another period of mental activity. One feature of this dream is that the imaginary body that we now mistake to be ourself appears to grow gradually older and more worn out, until eventually we forsake it permanently. The state in which we thus permanently cease to imagine our present body to be ourself is what we generally call death.

Since death is just the ending of an extended dream, it is merely a state of abeyance or temporary subsidence of our mind, like the sleep that we experience every day. After we have rested for a while in sleep, our latent desires and fears impel our mind to rise and become active once again in another state of dream. Similarly, after we have rested for a while in death, our latent desires and fears impel our

mind to rise once again in another state of activity, in which we imagine some other body to be ourself.

Therefore when Sri Ramana said, "having taken innumerable births", he was referring to this repeated process of forsaking one dream body and imagining another dream body to be ourself. Rebirth or reincarnation is therefore not real, but is just a dream – an imaginary event that occurs repeatedly in our seemingly long sleep of imaginary self-ignorance.

Though rebirth is merely a figment of our imagination – a dream created by our own desires and fears – it is as real as our present life in this world, which is itself just as real as our mind, the limited and distorted form of consciousness that experiences this and so many other dreams. Until we know what we really are, thereby putting an end to our imaginary sleep of self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance, we will continue to experience one dream after another, and in each of those dreams we will mistake ourself to be a body that we have created by our own imagination.

Since the fundamental cause of all the suffering and lack of perfect happiness that we experience in this dream-life and so many other dream-lives is our imaginary self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance, we can end all our suffering and attain perfect happiness only by experiencing the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge. Since the illusion of duality is caused by our self-forgetfulness – our forgetfulness of our fundamental non-dual consciousness of our own infinite and absolute being – it will be dissolved only when we experience perfectly clear non-dual self-knowledge or self-consciousness.

By seemingly forgetting our real self, we enable ourself to imagine that we have become a body. Therefore though we have never really ceased to be our infinite real self, we do appear to have become something else. Hence in this first verse of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana says that having forgotten our real self, having repeatedly imagined ourself to be a body, and having thereby seemingly taken birth in innumerable different bodies, when we finally know ourself we become ourself once again.

Though he says, "... finally knowing ourself [and thereby] becoming ourself ...", he does not mean to imply that the attainment of true self-knowledge is really a process of becoming. Relative to our present state of self-forgetfulness, in which we seem to have become a body and mind, the state of self-knowledge may appear to be a state in which we will once again become our real self, but in reality it is just our natural state of being, in which we remain as we always have been – that is, as our immutable real self.

The word that Sri Ramana actually uses in this verse is *adal*, which is a gerund that primarily means 'becoming' but can also mean 'being'. Therefore, though the words "*irudi tannai unarndu tan adal*", which form the subject of this verse, could be translated as "finally knowing ourself [and thereby] becoming ourself", they can be translated more accurately as "finally knowing ourself [and thereby just] being ourself".

The state of true self-knowledge is our natural, eternal, immutable and non-dual state of self-conscious being. Since it is the absolute reality, which underlies the appearance of all relativity, it can never undergo any form of change or becoming. It never has become anything, and it never will become anything. It just is.

When we imagine that we know anything other than ourself, we seem to become something limited. However, such becoming is only imaginary. In reality, we always remain as we really are – that is, as infinite and absolute being, consciousness and happiness. Hence when we know ourself as we really are, we do not become anything, but simply remain as the infinite and absolute reality that we always have been and always will be. Therefore in verse 26 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

Being [our real] self is indeed knowing [our real] self, because [our real] self is that which is devoid of two. ...

Since we are the absolute reality, we are in truth devoid of any form of duality, and hence we can know ourself only by being ourself, which is what we always are. Therefore the state that we call self-knowledge is not a state in which we know anything new, but is only the state in which we shed all knowledge of everything other than ourself.

When we wake up from a dream, we do not become anything new or know anything new. We merely shed the imaginary experience of our dream, and remain as we previously were. Similarly, when we wake up from our imaginary sleep of self-forgetfulness, in which we have experienced innumerable dreams, we will not become anything new or know anything new. We will merely shed the imaginary experience of our self-forgetfulness and all our resulting dreams, and remain as the infinite and absolutely non-dual self-consciousness that we always have been.

Therefore Sri Ramana concludes this first verse of *Ekatma Panchakam* by saying:

... finally knowing ourself [and] being ourself is just [like] waking from a dream of wandering about the world. See [thus].

When we wake up from a dream, we know that everything that we experienced in that dream was merely our own imagination, and was therefore entirely unreal. Similarly, when we attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge, we will know that everything that we experienced in this state of self-forgetfulness (including our self-forgetfulness itself) is merely our own imagination, and is therefore entirely unreal.

In our present experience, the only thing that is real is our own self-consciousness, 'I am'. If we did not exist, we could not know our own existence, nor could we imagine the existence of anything else.

The one real basis of all our knowledge and all our experience is our own consciousness. When we say 'I know' or 'I experience', we imply 'I am conscious'. However, though we sometimes appear to be conscious of things other than ourself, our consciousness of those other things appears and disappears. Being impermanent, it is only relatively real.

The only thing of which we are permanently conscious is ourself – our own being, 'I am'. Even when we are conscious of nothing else, as in sleep, we continue to be conscious of our own being, because our being is inherently self-conscious. In other words, we are self-consciousness, and hence we always experience ourself as 'I

am'.

Since our consciousness of other things appears only when our mind is active, it is merely an imagination. But since we are the consciousness that experiences both that imagination and the absence of it in sleep, we are the real consciousness that underlies the imaginary consciousness of otherness.

Since the only form of consciousness that we experience permanently is our own self-consciousness, we can definitely conclude that it is the true and essential form of consciousness. In other words, since we are the fundamental self-consciousness that underlies the appearance of all other forms of consciousness, we alone are the true and essential form of consciousness.

We can also conclude that we are the absolute reality, because we are the fundamental non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', which is essentially unqualified and unconditioned, being free from all limits and any form of dependence upon any other thing. Whatever else may appear or disappear, and whatever change or other action may seem to happen, our essential self-consciousness always remains unchanged and unaffected. Therefore, whereas all other things are relative, our true self-consciousness is absolute.

We are absolute being, absolute consciousness and absolute happiness. Therefore if we wish to free ourself from all unhappiness and all forms of limitation, we must know ourself as we really are. That is, we must actually experience ourself as the absolute non-dual self-consciousness that we really are, and that we now understand ourself to be.

In order to know ourself thus, we must concentrate our entire attention upon our essential self-consciousness 'I am'. This concentration of our attention upon ourself is the practice of *atmavichara* – self-investigation, self-examination, self-scrutiny or self-enquiry – which Sri Ramana taught as the only means by which we can experience true non-dual self-knowledge.

Before concluding this chapter, in which we have attempted to find a satisfactory theoretical answer to the crucial question 'who am I?', it is worth narrating an important event in the early life of Sri Ramana.

The first person who asked him truly pertinent and useful questions was a humble and self-effacing devotee called Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai, who first came to him in 1901, when he was just twenty-one years old. The first question Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai asked him was "Who am I?", to which he replied simply, "Knowledge [or consciousness] alone is I".

The actual Tamil words spoken by Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai were "nan yar?", which literally mean 'I [am] who?', and the words that Sri Ramana, who seldom spoke in those early times, wrote in reply with his finger on the sandy ground were "arive nan". The Tamil word arivu means 'knowledge' in the broadest sense, and is therefore used to denote many different forms of knowledge, including consciousness, wisdom, intelligence, learning, sense perception, anything that is known, and even atma, our real self, which is our fundamental knowledge 'I am'. In this context, however, it means only our fundamental knowledge 'I am' – our essential consciousness of our own being. The letter e that he appended to arivu is a suffix that is commonly used in Tamil to add emphasis to a word, conveying the sense 'itself', 'alone' or 'indeed', and the word nan means 'I'.

In these two simple words, *arive nan*, Sri Ramana summarised the essence of his experience of true self-knowledge, which is the basis of the entire philosophy and science that he taught. What he meant by these simple words is that our true and essential nature is only our fundamental knowledge or consciousness 'I am', which is the conclusion that we have to arrive at if we critically analyse our experience of ourself in our three ordinary states of consciousness, as we have done in this chapter.

The next question that Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai asked him was "What is the nature of [such] knowledge?", to which he replied either "The nature of knowledge is *sat-chit-ananda*" or more probably just "*sat-chit-ananda*". The compound word *sat-chit-ananda*, which is actually fused into one word, transliterated correctly as *saccidananda*, is a well-known philosophical term, which is of Sanskrit origin, but which is widely understood and

frequently used in Tamil and all other Indian languages. It is a term used to describe the nature of the absolute reality, and though it is composed of three words, it is not intended to imply that the absolute reality is composed of three distinct elements, but only that the single non-dual nature of the one absolute reality can be described in three different ways.

The word *sat* basically means 'being' or 'existing', but by extension also means 'that which really is', 'reality', 'truth', 'existence', 'essence', 'real', 'true', 'good', 'right', or 'that which is real, true, good or right'. The word *chit* means 'consciousness' or 'awareness', from a verbal root meaning 'to know', 'to be conscious of', 'to perceive', 'to observe', 'to attend to' or 'to be attentive'. And the word *ananda* means 'happiness', 'joy' or 'bliss'. Thus *saccidananda*, or as it is more commonly spelt in roman script, *satchit-ananda*, means 'being-consciousness-bliss', that is, being which is both consciousness and bliss, or consciousness which is both being and bliss, or bliss which is both being and consciousness.

True being and true consciousness are not two different things. If consciousness were not the essential nature of being, being would have to depend upon some consciousness other than itself in order to be known, and hence it would not be absolute being, but only relative being – being that existed only in the view of some other existing consciousness.

If we postulate that there is an absolute being that is not conscious of its own existence, and that exists even though it is not known either by itself or by any consciousness other than itself, such a being would be a mere supposition or imagination — a being that exists only in our own mind — and hence it would not be real being. We have no valid reason to suppose that any such unknown being exists. The term 'being' or 'existence' has a valid meaning only if it is applied to something that is known to exist, and not if it is applied to something whose existence is merely imaginary. Therefore true and absolute being must always be conscious of its own being, and hence consciousness must be its very nature.

Similarly, the very nature of consciousness must be being,

because if being were not the essential nature of consciousness, consciousness would not be – it would not exist. A non-existent consciousness, a consciousness that is not, would have absolutely no reality. It would be nothing, and hence it would not be conscious. To be conscious means to be, just as to be truly means to be conscious – to know that 'I am'.

True and absolute being, being that exists unconditionally and independent of any other thing, must be self-conscious being, being that knows 'I am'. Though it does not know any other thing, because there is nothing other than it for it to know, it must always know itself. Therefore the consciousness that knows its own being as 'I am' is the only true, independent, unconditional and absolute being. Any other being, any being that does not know itself as 'I am', is merely a figment of our imagination.

Since in its essential nature being or consciousness has no form, it is devoid of limits, and includes everything within itself. Since a thing can be said to be a thing only if it is, nothing exists separate from or other than being. Everything that exists is therefore in its essential nature just being.

Though a thing can be said to be only if it is known to be, most things do not actually know their own being. A thing that does not know that it is, and that is known only by some consciousness that is seemingly other than itself, does not exist independently or absolutely. Its seeming existence as a 'thing' is only relative. Therefore it is not real as the 'thing' that it appears to be, but is real only as the mere 'being' that is its essence.

The only 'thing' that is real as such is consciousness, because only consciousness knows its own being. Therefore, since being is the essential nature of everything, and since being is always conscious of its own being, anything that does not know 'I am' is a mere imagination – an illusion, an apparition that, though unreal as the thing that it appears to be, is nevertheless real in its essential nature as mere being.

Though being has no form of its own, it is the indefinable essence of all forms. Being essentially formless, being is devoid of all forms of limitation, and hence it is infinite. Since the infinite includes all things within itself, it is essentially single and non-dual. There cannot be more than one infinite reality, because if there were, none of those 'infinite realities' would actually be infinite. Being is therefore the non-dual infinite whole – the totality of all that is.

However, though being is infinite and non-dual in itself, it nevertheless includes within itself all that is finite and dual. Though duality appears to exist in being, it is not the essential nature of being, but is a mere illusion. It is an illusory form of being, an imagination that appears and disappears in being, yet does not affect the essential, formless, infinite and non-dual nature of being even in the least. However, though it is an illusory imagination, duality could not even appear to exist without the underlying support of the essential, infinite and non-dual being.

Just as being is non-dual, so the consciousness of being is non-dual, because it knows only its own being and nothing else. The consciousness that appears to know things that it imagines to be other than itself is not the infinite, absolute and therefore real consciousness, but is only a finite, relative and therefore unreal form of consciousness.

Just as any finite, relative or dual form of being is not the true and essential nature of being, so any finite, relative or dual form of consciousness is not the true and essential nature of consciousness. Therefore the compound word *sat-chit* denotes only the real and essential being-consciousness, which is completely unconditional, independent, non-dual, infinite and absolute.

Just as the essential, absolute and infinite reality is both being and the consciousness of being, so it is also perfect happiness or bliss. Unhappiness is not a natural condition, any more than either non-existence or unconsciousness is natural. Non-existence, unconsciousness and unhappiness are not in any way absolute, but are merely relative conditions that appear to arise only when we mistake ourself to be the finite form of a physical body.

In sleep, when we do not mistake ourself to be a body or any other finite thing, we exist happily knowing only our own being. Our being, our consciousness of being, and the happiness that we enjoy when we are conscious only of our being, are therefore our essential nature. When everything else is taken away from us, what remains is only our essential nature, and that is our perfectly peaceful and happy consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Unhappiness is an unnatural and therefore unreal condition that appears to arise only when by our power of imagination we superimpose some other knowledge upon our fundamental and essential knowledge 'I am'.

Therefore, as Sri Ramana stated in answer to the second question of Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai, the nature of our fundamental knowledge 'I am' is *sat-chit-ananda* or 'being-consciousness-bliss'. This does not mean that our true nature, which we always experience as 'I am', is any relative or finite form of being, consciousness or happiness, but only that it is absolute, infinite, eternal, immutable, undivided and non-dual being-consciousness-bliss, as Sri Ramana states explicitly in verse 28 of *Upadesa Undiyar* and verse 18 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*:

If we know what our [real] nature is, then [we will discover it to be] beginningless, endless [and] unbroken *sat-chit-ananda* [being-consciousness-bliss].

If we know our real form in [our] heart [in the innermost core or depth of our being], [we will discover it to be] being-consciousness-bliss, which is fullness [infinite wholeness, completeness or perfection] without beginning [or] end.

Though these two verses express the actual truth experienced by Sri Ramana and all other real sages, the idea that we ourself are the infinite and absolute reality may appear to many of us to be fanciful and far-fetched. Though by critically analysing our experience of ourself in our three ordinary states of consciousness, as we did earlier in this chapter, we may have been convinced that in essence we are nothing other than our fundamental consciousness of being, 'I am', we may still find it hard to comprehend the fact that our fundamental consciousness or knowledge 'I am', which is our real self, is in truth the infinite and absolute reality. Let us therefore examine this idea more closely in order to ascertain whether or not

we have any reasonable grounds for believing it to be the truth.

Because sages experience this truth as their own real nature, they do not need any philosophical analysis or theoretical arguments to convince them that it is the truth, but for those of us who mistake ourself to be a finite individual, a clear understanding of the rationality of this idea is necessary to convince us that it is the truth, and that it is the one and only experience that is truly worthy for us to make effort to attain. Let us therefore see what reasonable grounds we may have, if any, to conclude that we are in truth the infinite and absolute reality.

Assuming that we have all been convinced by our earlier analysis that our essential nature is only our basic self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am' - let us take that conclusion as our starting point. Unlike our mind, our superficial 'knowing consciousness', which always mistakes itself to be a body, self. our particular our real fundamental consciousness', does not mistake itself to be any particular thing, and hence it has no particular form or dimension. Therefore, whereas our mind has limited itself within the dimensions of time and space by identifying itself with a finite body, our real consciousness of being is not limited in any way.

In sleep, when we cease to mistake ourself to be a finite body, we do not feel that we exist in any particular time or place, but feel only 'I am'. The limits of time and space are ideas that arise only when we imagine ourself to be a particular body in either waking or dream.

Even now in this waking state, if we try for a moment to ignore our body and mind and to be conscious only of our own being, 'I am', we will be able to recognise that our consciousness 'I am' is not something that is limited within the bounds of our physical body. It just is, and is not something that can be located at any particular point in time or space.

Even when we identify ourself with a body and therefore feel ourself to be located at a particular point in time and space, we always know 'I am'. Our consciousness or knowledge 'I am' is

therefore unaffected by any changes in time and space. It exists unconditionally, and since it exists in all our three states of consciousness, it exists independent of any body, and therefore independent of time and space.

Just as the time and space that we perceive in a dream are both ideas that exist only in our own mind, so the time and space that we perceive in our present waking state are likewise both ideas that exist only in our own mind. When our mind subsides, as in sleep, time and space both cease to exist, or at least they disappear and are no longer known by us. Therefore, since we have no reason to suppose that they exist in any way independent of or separate from the idea or mental image that we have of them, we can reasonably hypothesise that they are both mere thoughts, a fact that is confirmed by Sri Ramana and other sages. Since time and space as we know them arise only in our mind, and since our mind rises only in our fundamental being-consciousness 'I am', is it not reasonable for us to infer that our being-consciousness transcends both time and space?

Just as it transcends time and space, it transcends every other imaginable dimension. Only that which has a particular definable form, and which therefore occupies a distinct and definable extent in one or more dimensions, can be said to be limited or finite. But since our fundamental and essential being-consciousness 'I am' has no definable form or extent, it is not limited in any way, and is therefore infinite. Since everything that we know arises in our mind, and since our mind arises in our being-consciousness, all finite things are contained in our infinite being-consciousness, 'I am'.

So long as we do not imagine ourself to be a body or any other object that seems to appear in our consciousness, we are infinite. Our being and our consciousness of being are both infinite, or to be more precise, they are both the one infinite and non-dual reality. Since our being is infinite, nothing can be separate from it, and hence it alone truly exists.

However, when we imagine ourself to be a body, innumerable other objects seem to arise in our consciousness, and we imagine that each of them truly exists. Thus by our power of imagination we give a seeming being or reality to many things, and thereby we delude ourself into believing that each thing has its own independent and finite being.

In reality, however, nothing has an independent or separate being. Being is not a finite thing that can be divided into parts, but is the one infinite and therefore indivisible whole, other than which nothing can be. Since it is infinite, it includes everything within itself, and hence it is the one essential being of each and every thing. No particular thing is real as the particular thing that it appears to be – as its particular form, or as the particular name, description or definition that we give to its form – but is real only as the being that it essentially is. Other than being, nothing is.

Since we always know ourself as 'I am', our essential being is itself our consciousness of our being. Our consciousness of our being, our knowledge 'I am', is the one fundamental basis of all our other knowledge. If we did not know 'I am', we could not know any other thing. Whatever we may know, we know it only because we first know our own being as 'I am'. Therefore our fundamental knowledge 'I am' – our real and essential self-consciousness or being-consciousness – is the true foundation that underlies and supports the seeming existence of all other things.

Without depending upon the support of our being, nothing else could appear to be. All other things appear to be only because we are. We are therefore the one fundamental and absolute being, other than which nothing is. Since nothing is other than us, we are infinite, and include all things within ourself – that is, within our own self-conscious being. We are therefore the one non-dual and infinite being.

Because the one non-dual and infinite being is our own essential self, which we always experience as 'I am', we refer to it as 'our own' being. However, though we have no real being other than the one infinite reality, is it correct for us to consider it to be just 'our' being? Since it is the only being that really is, is it not the essential being of all things – of everything that appears to exist?

Yes, to the extent that 'things' exist, they do all share in the one common being of the infinite reality. However, there is a fundamental difference between the being that we imagine we see in other things and the being that we experience in ourself.

All the things that we know as other than ourself are only thoughts or mental images that exist in our own mind, and therefore they are known not by themselves but only by our mind. But whereas other things are not conscious of their own being, we are conscious of our own being. Therefore, though in other things we know only being, in ourself we know both being and consciousness.

The consciousness that we imagine we see in other people and in other creatures is not actually experienced by us, but is only inferred by us, just as we infer that each person and creature that we see in a dream has consciousness. The only consciousness that we know directly and not by mere inference is our own consciousness. Since we know that our consciousness is, and since we do not exist apart from our consciousness, our consciousness is itself our being, and hence we experience it as 'I am'.

Just as the consciousness that we see in all other people and creatures is only inferred by us, so the being that we see in all other things is only inferred by us. The only being we know directly is our own being. The being or existence of all other things is known by us not directly but only through the imperfect channel of our mind, our limited and distorted consciousness that feels 'I am this body'. The seemingly separate being or existence of other things deludes us and reinforces in our mind the illusion that being or reality is divided, mutable and relative.

The seemingly separate being of other things depends upon the seemingly separate being of our mind, because it is known only by our mind, and not by our essential non-dual consciousness of being, which knows only itself and no separateness or otherness. The seemingly separate being of our mind depends upon the real being of our essential consciousness 'I am', because without identifying that real consciousness as itself our mind would not appear to know either its own being or the being of any other thing.

However, since it appears and disappears, the separate being or existence of our mind is not real being, but is only a semblance of real being. A thing that appears to be at one time, and ceases to be at some other time, is not real being, but is only a seeming form of being — a being which depends upon time and is therefore conditional. If a thing really is, it must be at all times and under all conditions.

The only being that is at all times and under all conditions is our own essential being, which we always know as 'I am'. Not only does it exist at all times and under all conditions, but it also exists immutably, without ever undergoing any change. In contrast, the being of all other things appears and disappears, and constantly undergoes change. Moreover, unlike all other things, our own essential being always knows itself, and does not depend upon any other thing to be known. Therefore it is the only being that really is.

Since the being of all other things is not real but is only an illusion or apparition, and since the only real being is our own essential being, 'I am', real being is in fact never divided, even though it appears to be divided as many separate 'beings' — as the separate being of each of the many different things that appear to be. Our own real and essential being is always single, non-dual and indivisible, and since nothing exists apart from it, it is infinite and includes all things within itself.

Therefore what Sri Ramana and other sages tell us about their experience of true self-knowledge, namely that they know themself to be the one and only truly existing reality, whose nature is beginningless, endless, eternal, undivided, non-dual and infinite being, consciousness and bliss, is not as fanciful and far-fetched as it may initially appear to be.

What they experience as the truth of their own real self or being is also the truth of our own real self or being, because our being is no different from their being. We appear to be separate from them only because we mistake ourself to be a finite body, but even when we mistake ourself to be such, we still know our essential being as 'I am'. In reality, therefore, what each and every one of us experiences

as 'I am' is the one eternal, undivided, non-dual and infinite being.

The fundamental difference between the experience of sages such as Sri Ramana, who know themself to be the one infinite and undivided self-conscious being, and the experience of those of us who imagine ourself to be anything other than this one infinite and undivided self-conscious being, which is our true and essential self, lies only in the limitations that we imaginarily superimpose upon our truly infinite being. This fundamental difference is expressed by Sri Ramana in verses 17 and 18 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

[Both] to those who do not know themself [and] to those who have known themself, the body [is] indeed 'I'. [However] to those who do not know themself 'I' [is limited to] only the extent of the body, [whereas] to those who have known themself within the body 'I' itself shines devoid of limit [boundary or extent]. Understand that this indeed is the difference between them.

[Both] to those who do not have knowledge [that is, true self-knowledge] [and] to those who do have [true self-knowledge], the world is the reality. [However] to those who do not know [themself] the reality is [limited to] the extent of the world, [whereas] to those who have known [themself] the reality abides [or pervades] devoid of form as the *adhara* [support, substratum, foundation or base] to [the imaginary appearance of] the world. Understand [that] this is the difference between them.

That which limits a finite thing is only its form, because its form defines its extent in time and space, and thereby separates it from all other forms. If we are a definite form, we are limited within the confines or extent of that form, but if we have no definite form, we are unlimited or infinite.

Because we imagine ourself to be the form of this body, we have seemingly limited ourself within a certain extent of time and space, and hence we feel ourself to be separate from everything that exists outside this limited extent of time or space. Moreover, because we imagine the form of this body to be 'I', we mistake it to be real, and hence we mistake all the other forms that we perceive outside this body to be real.

Since Sri Ramana and other sages teach us that we are not the body that we imagine ourself to be, and that the world is not real as we imagine it to be, it is reasonable for us to infer that such sages do not experience their body as 'I' or this world as real. Why then does Sri Ramana say in these two verses that to sages, who are those who have known themself as they really are, their body is 'I' and the world is real?

To understand why he says this, we have to understand the exact meaning of what he says in the second half of each of these two verses. In verse 17 he says that for sages 'I' shines devoid of any limit, boundary or extent, thereby implying that in their experience 'I' is the infinite reality that is the essence or true substance of everything, including this body. Similarly, in verse 18 he says that for sages the reality is the formless substratum, foundation or base that supports the world, thereby implying once again that in their experience the reality is the one essence or true substance that underlies everything, including all the manifold forms of this world.

That is, since our true self or real 'I' is the infinite reality, nothing can be separate from or other than it. Therefore it alone truly exists, and whatever else appears to exist is not anything other than it, but is just an imaginary form that it appears to be. Since neither our body nor this world can have any reality other than our own consciousness, in which they appear as thoughts or mental images, they are in essence nothing but our own consciousness.

Since sages experience only the absolute reality, which is infinite, indivisible and therefore perfectly non-dual self-conscious being, they do not experience any forms or any limitations. They know only the formless and limitless reality, which is their own true self.

Since they know that the one real 'I' alone is, they know that there is nothing that is not 'I' or not real. Hence from their absolute non-dual perspective, they say that everything is 'I' and is therefore real. That is, since they do not experience this body or world as limited forms but only as their own formless and therefore unlimited

reality, they say that this body is 'I' and this world is real.

Therefore, when Sri Ramana says that for sages this body is 'I' and this world is real, he does not mean that our body as such is 'I' or this world as such is real, but only that as our own formless and limitless real self, which is their true essence and sole reality, they are both 'I' and real.

Therefore what Sri Ramana is affirming in these two verses is not the reality of the limited forms of this body and world, but is only the reality of our own essential formless and therefore infinite being, which always experiences itself and nothing other than itself.

Though we are infinite and absolute being, we do not know ourself as such because we ignore our essential being and imagine ourself to be a finite body. So habituated have we become to ignoring our own being that even in sleep, when we cease imagining ourself to be a body, and therefore cease knowing any other thing, we appear to be ignorant of the real nature of our essential being, 'I am'.

However, though we appear to be ignorant of our real nature in all our three states of consciousness, in truth our essential being always knows itself clearly as the infinite, absolute and non-dual consciousness 'I am'. Our essential being never ignores or is ignorant of our real nature. That which is ignorant of our real nature is only our mind, and therefore we appear to be ignorant of our real nature only because we imagine ourself to be our mind.

Since our self-ignorance is therefore not real but only imaginary, in order to put an end to it all we need do is cultivate the habit of remembering or being attentive to our own essential being, 'I am'. As Sri Ramana says in the eleventh paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

... If one clings firmly to uninterrupted *svarupa-smarana* [remembrance of one's own essential nature or real self, 'I am'] until one attains *svarupa* [that is, until one attains true knowledge of one's own essential nature], that alone [will be] sufficient. ...

In this one sentence, Sri Ramana encapsulates the empirical method of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation, which is the only means by which we can attain true self-knowledge – true

experiential knowledge of our own real nature. Since we appear not to know the true nature of our essential being, our own real self, only because of our long-established habit of ignoring it, we can know it only by cultivating the opposite habit of constantly remembering or being attentive to it.

In practice we may initially be unable to remember our being-consciousness 'I am' uninterruptedly, but by remembering it repeatedly and frequently, we can gradually cultivate the habit of remembering it even while we are engaged in other activities. Whatever we may be doing or thinking, we *are*, and therefore we can remember our 'being' even while we seem to be 'doing'. As we become more accustomed to remembering our being, we will find that we remember it more frequently and easily, in spite of any amount of distracting external influences.

As our self-remembrance thus becomes more firmly established, our clarity of self-consciousness will gradually increase, until finally we are able to experience and know our essential being with full and perfect clarity. When we once experience ourself as we really are, our delusion of self-ignorance will be destroyed, and thus we will discover that we are nothing but our own real and essential being, which always knows itself with perfect and ever-unfading clarity.

Since we have examined in so much detail Sri Ramana's replies to the first two questions that Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai asked him, it is appropriate to mention here another fact that is related to them. Following on from his first two questions, Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai asked Sri Ramana many other questions, and Sri Ramana answered most of them by writing either on the sandy ground, or on a slate or slips of paper that Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai gave him. Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai copied many of these questions and answers in a notebook, and more than twenty years later he was requested by other devotees to publish them as a small booklet. The first edition of this booklet was published in 1923 under the title *Nan Yar?*, which means 'Who am I?', or more precisely 'I [am] Who?'.

Before its publication, a draft of this booklet was shown to Sri Ramana for his approval, and when he read it he noticed that Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai had expanded his original answer to the first question, adding a detailed list of things that we mistake ourself to be, but that in fact we are not. On seeing this, he remarked that he had not answered in such a detailed manner, but then explained that, because Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai was familiar with *neti neti*, he had added such detail thinking that it would help him to understand his answer more clearly.

By the term *neti neti*, Sri Ramana meant the rational process of self-analysis described in the ancient texts of *vedanta*, a process that involves the analytical elimination or denial of everything that is not 'I'. The word *neti* is a compound of two words, *na*, which means 'not', and *iti*, which means 'thus', and hence *neti neti* literally means 'not thus, not thus'. The ancient texts of *vedanta* use these words *neti neti* when explaining the rational basis for the theory that our body, our senses, our life-force, our mind and even the seeming ignorance that we experience in sleep are all not 'I'.

During the ten years or so that followed the first publication of *Nan Yar?* various versions of it were published, and various other versions of it exist in manuscript form in the notebooks of Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai. Each of these versions has a different number of questions and answers, with slight variation in their actual wording, and with a varying amount of content in some particular answers. The standard and most authentic version, however, is the essay version that Sri Ramana himself wrote a few years after the first version was published.

Sri Ramana formed this essay version, which consists of twenty paragraphs, by rewriting the first published question and answer version, and possibly by drawing on some of the other versions, and while doing so he made several improvements, removing all but the first question, rearranging the order in which the ideas in his answers were presented, and making some changes to the actual wordings.

Of all the changes he made, the most significant was to add an entirely new paragraph at the beginning of the essay. This opening paragraph, a translation of which is given in the previous chapter of this book, serves as a suitable introduction to the subject 'Who am

I?', because it explains that the reason why we need to know who we are is that happiness is our real nature, and that we can therefore experience true and perfect happiness only by knowing ourself as we really are.

However, though he made such changes, out of respect for Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai he did not remove the detailed *neti neti* portion that he had inserted, but instead simply instructed that the first question and the actual words of his first two answers should be printed in bold type in order to distinguish them from the inserted portion. The first question, the inserted portion and Sri Ramana's first two answers together constitute the second paragraph, the meaning of which is as follows:

Who am I? The sthula deha [the 'gross' or physical body], which is [composed] of the sapta dhatus [the seven constituents, namely chyle, blood, flesh, fat, marrow, bone and semen], is not 'I'. The five *jñanendriyas* [sense organs], namely the ears, skin, eyes, tongue and nose, which individually [and respectively] know the five vishayas [sense 'domains' or types of sense perception], namely sound, touch [texture and other qualities perceived by touch], form [shape, colour and other qualities perceived by sight], taste and smell, are also not 'I'. The five karmendriyas [organs of action], namely the vocal cords, feet [or legs], hands [or arms], anus and genitals, which [respectively] do the five actions, namely speaking, walking, holding [or giving], defecation and [sexual] enjoyment, are also not 'I'. The pancha vayus [the five 'winds', 'vital airs' or metabolic forces], beginning with prana [breath], which perform the five [metabolic] functions, beginning with respiration, are also not 'I'. The mind, which thinks, is also not 'I'. The ignorance [the absence of all dualistic knowledge] that is combined with only vishaya-vasanas [latent inclinations, impulsions, desires, liking or taste for sense perceptions or sense enjoyments] when all sense perceptions and all actions have been severed [as in sleep], is also not 'I'. Having done *neti* Inegation, elimination or denial of whatever is not ourself by thinking] that all the abovesaid things are not 'I', not 'I', the

knowledge that [then] stands detached alone is 'I'. The nature of [this] knowledge ['I am'] is sat-chit-ananda [being-consciousness-bliss].

The qualification of the word 'knowledge' by the addition of the defining clause 'that stands detached [separated or alone] having done *neti* [by thinking] that all the abovesaid things are not I, not I' is potentially misleading, because it could create the impression that simply by thinking *neti neti*, 'not thus, not thus' or 'this is not I, this is not I', we can detach our essential consciousness or knowledge 'I am' from everything with which we now confuse it. In fact, many scholars who attempt to explain the ancient texts of *vedanta*, which often describe this process of *neti neti* or negation of all that is not our real self, interpret it to be the actual means by which we can attain self-knowledge. However, the sages who first taught the rational process of self-analysis called *neti neti* did not intend it to be understood as the actual technique of practical or empirical research, but only as the theoretical basis upon which the empirical technique of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation should be based.

The rational and analytical process which is described in the ancient texts of *vedanta* as *neti neti* or 'not thus, not thus' is essentially the same as the logical analysis of our experience of ourself that we described earlier in this chapter. If we did not first critically analyse our experience of ourself in this manner, we would not be able to understand either the reason why we should seek true self-knowledge, or what exactly we should scrutinise in order to know our real self.

So long as we imagine that we are really our physical body, our thinking mind or any other object, we will imagine that we can know ourself by attending to such things, and hence we will not be able to understand what is really meant by the terms *atma-vichara*, self-investigation, self-examination, self-scrutiny, self-enquiry, self-attention, self-attentiveness or self-remembrance. Only when we understand the essential theory that we are nothing other than our fundamental non-dual self-consciousness — our adjunct-free consciousness of our own mere being, which we experience just as 'I

am' and not as 'I am this' – will we be able to understand what actually is the 'self' or 'I' that we should scrutinise or attend to.

Once we have understood that we are truly not our physical body, our thinking mind or any other object known by us, we should not continue thinking, 'this body is not I', 'this mind is not I', and so on, but should withdraw our attention from all such things, and focus it wholly and exclusively upon our real and essential being. We cannot know our real self by thinking of anything that is not 'I', but only by investigating, scrutinising or attending keenly to that which is really 'I' – to that which we really are, to our essential being. Unless we withdraw our attention entirely from all other things, we will not be able to focus it wholly and exclusively upon our essential being, which we always experience as 'I am', and unless we focus it thus upon our essential being, we will not be able to attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge.

For those of us who happen to be familiar with all the concepts and terminology of ancient Indian philosophy and science, the portion added by Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai may appear to be of some use as an aid to understanding Sri Ramana's simple answer, "Knowledge alone is I". However, the presentation and wording of this added portion does not truly reflect Sri Ramana's natural style of teaching, or his usual choice of words.

His natural style was always to answer questions briefly, simply and to the point. Unless he was talking to someone whose mind was already steeped in the complex and often obscure concepts and terminology of traditional *vedanta*, he generally avoided using such concepts and terminology, and instead used only simple Tamil words, or words borrowed from Sanskrit whose meaning was clear and straightforward. Since many people who came to him were not well versed in traditional *vedantic* or *yogic* concepts, he avoided as far as possible cluttering and burdening their minds with such concepts, except for a few that were really useful and pertinent.

In particular, he avoided all the detailed descriptions and classifications of the 'non-self' – whatever is not our real self –, which are given in many traditional texts. As he writes in the

seventeenth paragraph of Nan Yar?:

Just as no benefit [is to be gained] by a person, who should sweep up and throw away rubbish, scrutinising it, so no benefit [is to be gained] by a person, who should know [his or her real] self, calculating that the *tattvas*, which are concealing [our real] self, are this many, and scrutinising their qualities, instead of gathering up and rejecting all of them. It is necessary [for us] to consider the world [which is composed of these *tattvas*] like a dream.

That is, in plainer English, just as we would derive no benefit by scrutinising a mass of rubbish, instead of just sweeping it up and throwing it away, so we will derive no benefit by enumerating and investigating the nature of the *tattvas*, which constitute all that is 'non-self' and which therefore obscure our knowledge of our real self, instead of rejecting all of them and thereby knowing our real self, which is the one true being or essential substance that underlies their imaginary appearance.

The word *tattva*, whose etymological meaning is 'it-ness' or 'thatness', basically means that which is real, true and essential, the 'reality', 'truth' or 'essence', but it is commonly used to mean any basic element or constituent quality that is considered to be real. In this context, therefore, the plural term *tattvas* denotes all the ontological principles – the basic elements, essential components or abstract qualities of which all things are supposed to be made. The various schools of Indian philosophy each give their own classification of these so-called *tattvas*, and each reckon that there are a different number of them, a number that usually does not exceed thirty-six.

However, though some of them may use a different word to describe it, most of these schools agree that the original and fundamental *tattva* is *paramatman*, the 'supreme self' or 'transcendent spirit', which is also called *purusha*, the primal 'person' or 'spirit'. This *purusha* or *paramatman* is in fact our own real self, our own spirit or essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am'. Since this primal spirit 'I am' is the

only *tattva* that exists permanently, without either appearing or disappearing, it is the only real *tattva*.

That is why in verse 43 of *Sri Arunachala Aksharamanamalai* Sri Ramana prays to Arunachala, who is our real self in its function as *guru*, the power of grace that bestows true self-knowledge:

tane tane tattuvam idanai tane kattuvay arunachala

The Tamil word *tan* is a singular reflexive pronoun meaning 'oneself', 'myself', 'itself', 'yourself' and so on, and the letter *e* that is appended to it is an emphatic suffix that conveys the sense 'itself', 'alone' or 'indeed'. Thus the meaning of this quintessential prayer is:

Myself itself alone is *tattva* [the reality]. Show this [to me] yourself, Arunachala.

Our real self is the only truly existing *tattva*, the one non-dual, infinite and absolute reality, and we can know this only when it shows itself to us, which it does by drawing our mind or power of attention inwards, towards itself, thereby dissolving us and absorbing us as one with itself, our own essential being. So long as we pay even the least attention to anything other than our essential being, we cannot know ourself as we really are.

Since all the other so-called *tattvas* – which include our intellect, our ego, our mind, our five sense-organs, our five organs of action, the five *tanmatras*, which are the subtle essences of each of the five forms of sense perception, namely sound, touch, form, taste and smell, and the five elements, namely space, air, water, fire and earth – appear and disappear, they are merely ephemeral apparitions or illusions, and hence they are not real *tattvas*. Since the world is composed of these ephemeral and illusory *tattvas*, it is itself a mere illusion, and therefore Sri Ramana concludes the seventeenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* by saying that we should consider it to be a mere dream. Hence, since our body is a part of this illusory and dream-like world, we should consider it likewise to be merely an unreal illusion, a product of our own power of imagination.

Since none of these other tattvas are real, neither they nor anything

composed of them can be our true self, and therefore we should not waste our time and energy thinking about them, enumerating them, classifying them or examining their properties, but should ignore them entirely and instead attend only to our real 'I' – our fundamental and essential consciousness of our own true being. The only need we have to consider our body, our mind and all our other adjuncts is to understand the fact that they are unreal, and are therefore not 'I'.

Hence in verse 22 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana briefly states the essential conclusion that we should arrive at by means of the rational process of self-analysis, which in the ancient texts of *advaita vedanta* is called *neti neti* or 'not thus, not thus':

Since [our] body, mind, intellect, life and darkness [the seeming absence of knowledge that we experience in sleep] are all *jada* [inconscient] and *asat* [unreal or non-existent], [they are] not 'I', which is [*chit* or consciousness and] *sat* [being or reality].

The five objects that Sri Ramana declares in this verse to be not 'I', namely our body, mind, intellect, life and darkness, are generally known in vedanta as the pancha-kosas or 'five sheaths', because they are the five adjuncts that seemingly cover and obscure our consciousness of our real self. These five adjuncts or 'sheaths' are the annamaya kosa or 'sheath composed of food', which is our physical body, the *pranamaya kosa* or 'sheath composed of *prana*, life, vitality or breath', which is the life-force that animates our physical body, the manomaya kosa or 'sheath composed of mind', which is our mind or faculty of mentation and cognition, the 'sheath composed of discriminative vijñanamaya kosa or knowledge', which is our intellect or faculty of discernment or judgement, and the anandamaya kosa or 'sheath composed of happiness', which is the happy but seemingly unconscious form in which we experience ourself in sleep.

However, instead of using these technical Sanskrit terms to denote these five adjuncts, Sri Ramana used five simple Tamil words, which literally mean body, mind, intellect, life and darkness. The word *udal* or 'body' here denotes our physical body or

annamaya kosa, the word pori, which usually means 'sense organ', here denotes our mind or manomaya kosa, the word ullam, which usually means 'heart' or 'mind', here denotes our intellect or vijñanamaya kosa, the word uyir or 'life' denotes our life-force or pranamaya kosa, and the word irul or 'darkness' denotes our anandamaya kosa, the blissful absence of objective knowledge that we experience in sleep.

However, what is important in this verse is not the terms that are used to denote these adjuncts that we imagine to be ourself, but is the conclusion that they are not actually our real self. Our real self is *sat* and *chit*, being and consciousness, whereas our body, our life-force, our mind, our intellect and the seeming darkness of sleep are all *asat* and *jada*, that is, they have no real being or consciousness of their own. They appear to exist only when we know them, and we do not know any of them in all our three normal states of consciousness.

Of these five adjuncts, we experience our mind and intellect, which are actually just two functions of the one individual consciousness that we generally call our mind or ego, in both waking and dream, but not in sleep. We experience our present physical body and the life-force within it only in this waking state, and in each of our other states of dream we experience some other physical body and its corresponding life-force. And we experience the fifth adjunct, the seeming darkness of sleep, only in sleep.

Therefore, since we experience none of these five adjuncts in all our three states of consciousness, they cannot be our real self. They are not our real being, or our real consciousness. They are merely impostors — phantoms that we imagine to be ourself for a short period of time, but from which we are able to separate ourself at other times. Independent of our real self-conscious being, 'I am', they do not exist, nor do they know their own existence.

Though our mind may appear to be conscious of itself now, it is not conscious of itself at all times and in all states. Its seeming self-consciousness is therefore not inherent in it, and hence is not real. It borrows its seeming self-consciousness from our real self-consciousness, which alone is conscious of itself at all times and in

all states.

The being and the consciousness of our body, our mind and our other adjuncts are not real, but are mere apparitions — illusions created by our power of imagination. Their being and their consciousness appear to be real only when we mistake them to be ourself. By our power of imagination we superimpose these adjuncts upon our own real being and consciousness, and hence they appear to exist and to be conscious.

Because these adjuncts have no inherent and permanent being or consciousness of their own, Sri Ramana concludes that they are all *asat* – unreal or devoid of true being or existence – and *jada* – inconscient or devoid of true consciousness. Therefore they cannot be 'I', our real self, which is absolute being or *sat* and absolute consciousness or *chit*.

Once we have thus understood that our body, our mind and all our other adjuncts are not our real self, we should ignore them. Instead of wasting our time and energy examining or thinking about them or anything else that is not our real self, we should direct all our energy and effort into scrutinising only ourself — our own essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am' — because we can know who or what we really are only by keenly scrutinising or attending to our own real and essential self.

As we have seen in this chapter, by analysing our experience of ourself in our three states of consciousness, we are able to gain a clear theoretical understanding of what we really are. However, this theoretical understanding is not an end in itself, but is merely the means to discover how we can gain true experiential knowledge of our real nature. Since we have learnt by our critical analysis that our true nature, our real self, is only our non-dual 'being consciousness', which we always experience as 'I am', all we need do in order to gain true experiential self-knowledge is to scrutinise our 'being consciousness' with a keenly focused power of attention.

Our real consciousness is only our 'being consciousness' – our essential self-consciousness 'I am'. Our mind or 'knowing consciousness' is merely an unreal form of consciousness, which

exists only in its own imagination, and which is therefore experienced only by itself, and not by our real 'being consciousness'. Since the imaginary rising of this unreal 'knowing consciousness' is the cloud that seemingly obscures our real 'being consciousness', preventing us from experiencing it as it really is, let us now proceed to examine the nature of this unreal 'knowing consciousness' – our own self-deceptive mind.

Though our ultimate aim, as we discussed above, is to ignore our mind and to attend only to our own true self, which is the reality that underlies it, we will nevertheless derive great benefit from examining the nature of our mind more deeply and thereby understanding it more clearly. There are two main reasons for this:

The first and most important reason is that it is essential that we should understand and be firmly convinced of the fact that our mind is unreal and is therefore not our true self or 'I' – our essential and real form of consciousness. Since our mind is an impostor who deludes us into mistaking it to be ourself, we must be able to see through its self-deceptive nature in order to recognise our real self, which underlies its false appearance, just as a rope underlies the false appearance of an imaginary snake.

The second reason is that when we try to scrutinise our real self, the only obstacle that will actually stand in our way will be our own mind. Since our mind is the primary enemy that will oppose and obstruct all our efforts to know our real self, we should understand this enemy correctly in order to use it to our advantage and to avoid falling a prey to all its subtle and self-delusive tricks. In particular, we should understand the unreality and insubstantiality of our mind, because only then will we be truly convinced of the fact that the only means to overcome it and all its self-delusive tricks is to ignore it by attending only to our real underlying consciousness – our essential non-dual self-consciousness 'I am'.

Therefore, before investigating the nature of our real consciousness in chapter four, let us first investigate the nature of this unreal consciousness that we call our 'mind'.

CHAPTER 3

The Nature of Our Mind

In the previous chapter we saw that what we call our 'mind' is just a limited and distorted form of our original and fundamental consciousness 'I am' – a spurious form of consciousness that identifies itself with a particular body, and that appears to exist only in the states of waking and dream, and disappears in deep sleep. Since this mind is the primary obstacle that stands in the way of our knowing ourself as we really are, let us now examine it more closely. What is the nature of this limited and distorted form of consciousness that we call our 'mind'?

Our mind as we now know it is just a bundle of thoughts – thoughts, that is, in the very broadest sense of the term, namely anything that our mind forms and experiences within itself, such as any perception, conception, idea, belief, feeling, emotion, desire, fear or suchlike. All thoughts are just images that our mind forms within itself by its power of imagination. Except our fundamental consciousness 'I am', each and everything that our mind knows or experiences is only a thought that it forms within itself.

Even our perceptions are only thoughts or mental images that our mind forms within itself by its wonderful power of imagination. Whether perceptions in the waking state are formed only by our mind's power of imagination without any external stimuli, as in dream, or whether they are formed by our mind's power of imagination in response to actual external stimuli, is something we can know for certain only when we discover the ultimate truth about our mind.

Because the fact that all our perceptions are only thoughts is so important, let us examine it a little more closely, using the example

of sight. According to the 'scientific' explanation of the process of seeing, light from the outside world enters our eyeballs and stimulates electrochemical reactions in the light-sensitive cells at the back of them. These cells then stimulate a chain of further electrochemical reactions along our optic nerves, and these in turn reach our brain and cause more electrochemical activity to take place there. Thus far the process is very clear-cut and simple to understand. But then something mysterious happens. Our mind, which is a form of consciousness that interfaces with our brain, then somehow interprets all this electrochemical activity by forming images within itself that we believe to correspond to the shape, colour and size of external objects, and to their relative distance from our body. But all we actually know when we see something is the image that our mind has formed within itself.

Our belief that such images correspond to actual external objects, and all our scientific explanations of the supposed process by which light from those objects stimulates our mind to form such images, are also only images or thoughts that our mind has formed within itself. The same applies to all the images of sound, smell, taste and touch that our mind forms within itself, supposedly in response to external stimuli.

Therefore all that we know of the external world is actually only the images or thoughts that our mind is constantly forming within itself. Do we not have to accept, therefore, that the world that we think we perceive outside ourself may in fact be nothing other than thoughts that our mind has formed within itself, just as the worlds that we see in our dreams are? Even if we are not ready to accept the fact that the world may actually be nothing but our own thoughts, must we not at least accept the fact that the world as we know it, and as we ever can know it, is indeed nothing but thoughts?

Of all the thoughts that are formed in our mind, the first is the thought 'I'. Our mind first forms itself as the thought 'I', and only then does it form other thoughts. Without an 'I' to think or know them, no other thoughts could be formed.

All the other thoughts that are formed in our mind are constantly

coming and going, rising and then subsiding, but the thought 'I' persists so long as our mind itself persists. Thus the thought 'I' is the root of all other thoughts, and is the one essential thought without which there would be no such thing as 'mind' and no such action as 'thinking'.

Therefore our mind consists of two distinct aspects, namely the knowing subject, which is our root thought 'I', and the known objects, which are all the other thoughts that are formed and experienced by this 'I'. However, though it consists of these two distinct aspects or elements, the one fundamental and essential element of our mind is only our causal thought 'I'.

Hence, though we use the term 'mind' as a collective term for both the thinker and its thoughts, our mind is in essence just the thinker, the basic thought 'I' that thinks all other thoughts. This simple but important truth is expressed succinctly by Sri Ramana in verse 18 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

[Our] mind is only [a multitude of] thoughts. Of all [the countless thoughts that are formed in our mind], the thought 'I' alone is the root [base, foundation or origin]. [Therefore] what is called 'mind' is [in essence just this root thought] 'I'.

Just as on analysis our mind can thus be resolved into being in essence only this fundamental thought 'I', so on further analysis this fundamental thought 'I' can in turn be resolved into being in essence only consciousness. Because it knows other thoughts, this thought 'I' is a form of consciousness, but because it rises or is formed only by feeling 'I am such-and-such a person', and because it subsides and loses its separate form in sleep, when it ceases to feel thus, it is not our permanent and real form of consciousness, our pure consciousness 'I am'. Because it can rise only by identifying a physical body as 'I', as it does in both waking and dream, it is a mixed and contaminated form of consciousness, a consciousness that confuses itself with a body, feeling mistakenly 'I am this body, an individual person called so-and-so'.

What we mean when we say 'I am such-and-such a person' is that we are an individual consciousness that identifies itself with an adjunct – a particular body. This identification of our consciousness with a particular body is what defines us as a person or individual. Our individuality or separate and distinct existence is thus nothing other than this adjunct-bound consciousness that feels 'I am this body'.

By mistaking itself to be a particular body, this consciousness confines itself within the limits of that body, and feels itself to be separate from all the objects and people it perceives outside that body. This seemingly separate individual consciousness 'I am this body' is what we call by various names such as the mind, the ego, the psyche or the soul, and it is the first thought that gives rise to and experiences all other thoughts.

In religious terminology, our limited individual consciousness 'I am this body' is what is called our 'soul', whereas our unlimited fundamental consciousness 'I am' is what is called our 'spirit', our 'heart' or the 'core of our soul'. The popular belief that our whole self is a compound of these three elements, our body, our soul and our spirit, is rooted in our wrong identification of ourself with a particular body. Though we know ourself to be one, because of our mistaken identification of ourself with a body, we wrongly imagine ourself to be all these three different things. This notion of ours is logically absurd, because since we are one, how can three quite different things be ourself?

Every day in sleep both our body and our soul (our mind or individual consciousness) disappear, yet we continue to exist, and to know that we exist. Therefore, since we remain in sleep without either our body or our soul, neither of these two elements can be our real self. In truth, therefore, these three elements constitute only our false individual self, which is a mere illusion, and not our real self. Our real self, our whole and complete self, does not consist of three elements, but of only one element, the fundamental and essential element that we call our 'spirit', which is our single non-dual consciousness of our own being — our true self-consciousness 'I am'.

Because this non-dual spirit is entirely distinct from our body and our individual soul, it is not limited in any way, nor is it divided.

Therefore the spirit that exists as the heart or core of each individual soul is essentially the same single, undivided, non-dual and infinite consciousness of being. What each one of us experiences as our own essential consciousness of being, 'I am', is the same non-dual real consciousness that exists in every other living being.

Because our mind or soul is a form of consciousness that has limited itself within the confines of a particular body, and because it sees many other bodies, each of which seems to have a consciousness of its own, in the outlook of our mind there appear to be many other minds or souls. However, because the fundamental consciousness 'I am', which is experienced by each one of us as the essential core of our own being, always exists as it is, without limiting itself in any way by identifying itself with an adjunct, there is in reality only one consciousness 'I am', even though due to our distorted individualised consciousness we think that the 'I am' in each person is different to that in every other person.

The mind or separate individual 'I' that we see in each person is just a different reflection of the one original 'I' that exists in the innermost depth of each one of us, just as the bright light that we see in each fragment of a broken mirror lying on the ground is just a different reflection of the one sun shining brightly in the sky. Therefore though it is formed only by imagining itself to be a particular body, the mind of each one of us nevertheless contains within itself the light of our original non-dual consciousness 'I am'. Just as each reflected sun lying on the ground could not be formed without borrowing both the light of the sun and the limited form of a fragment of mirror, so without borrowing the light of consciousness from its original source, 'I am', and without at the same time borrowing all the limitations of a physical body, our mind – our root thought 'I' – could not be formed or rise into existence.

Thus our mind is a mixture composed of two contrary and discordant elements, the essential element of consciousness and the superimposed element of physical limitations. As Sri Ramana says in verses 24 and 25 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

The inconscient body does not say 'I'; sat-chit [being-

consciousness, that is, our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'] does not rise [that is, it does not newly appear or come into being]. [However] between [these two], [some spurious consciousness that feels itself to be] 'I' rises [imagining itself to be limited] as the extent [dimension, size or nature] of [a] body. Know that this [the spurious consciousness that knows itself as 'I am this body'] is *chit-jada-granthi* [the 'knot between consciousness and inconscient matter'], bondage, the soul, the subtle body [the subtle seed-form of all the gross physical bodies that the mind creates for itself in waking and in dreams], the ego, this *samsara* [the mundane state of persistent activity], and the mind.

Grasping form [a body] it comes into existence. Grasping form [that body] it persists. Grasping and feeding on form [thoughts or objects] it flourishes abundantly. Leaving form [one body] it grasps form [another body]. If [we] examine [it], [this] formless phantom ego takes flight. Know [that is, know this truth, or experience this disappearance of the ego by examining it].

That is, our mind or ego is a spurious entity, an impostor that poses both as consciousness and as a body composed of inconscient matter. It seems to come into existence and to endure only by grasping an imaginary body as itself, and it feeds itself and flourishes by constantly attending to thoughts or imaginary objects. If we scrutinise it closely, however, it disappears, having no form or real existence of its own.

As Sri Ramana says in verses 17 and 20 of Upadesa Undiyar:

When [we] scrutinise the form of [our] mind without forgetfulness [interruption caused either by sleep or by thinking other thoughts], [we will discover that] there is no such thing as 'mind' [separate from or other than our fundamental consciousness 'I am']. For everyone, this is the direct path [the direct means to experience true self-knowledge].

In the place [the state of clear self-knowledge] where 'I' [our mind or spurious individual consciousness] merges [by thus scrutinising its own form], the one [real being-consciousness]

appears spontaneously as 'I [am] I'. That itself is the whole [the unlimited and undivided reality].

That is, when our mind or root thought 'I' – this mixed and limited consciousness that feels 'I am this body' – turns its attention inwards to scrutinise itself, it loses its grasp on its imaginary body and all its other thoughts, and since it has no separate form of its own, it subsides and disappears. What then remains and is known in the absence of this spurious and limited consciousness 'I am this body' is our one, non-dual, real and unlimited consciousness 'I am', which experiences itself not as 'I am this' or 'I am that', but only as 'I am I'.

Whereas our adjunct-bound consciousness that feels 'I am this' or 'I am that' is a dual form of consciousness, our adjunct-free consciousness that feels only 'I am I' is the non-dual, undivided and infinite whole. Since it is infinite, nothing can truly be separate from or other than it. Anything that appears to be separate is merely a false appearance — an apparition or illusion, a figment of our own imagination. Hence our true adjunct-free and therefore non-dual consciousness 'I am I' is the sole truly existing reality — the one and only absolute reality.

Sri Ramana also expresses this same truth in verse 2 of *Anma-Viddai*:

Since the thought 'this body composed of flesh is I' is the one string on which [all our] various thoughts are attached, if [we] go within [ourself scrutinising] 'who am I? what is the place [the source from which this fundamental thought 'I am this body' rises]?', [all] thoughts will disappear, and within the cave [the core of our being] self-knowledge will shine spontaneously as 'I [am] I'. This alone is silence [the silent or motionless state of mere being], the one [non-dual] space [of infinite consciousness], the sole abode of [true unlimited] happiness.

The words 'nan ar idam edu' used here by Sri Ramana can be taken to mean either one question, 'what is the place where I abide?', or two questions, 'who am I? what is the place?', depending upon whether the word ar is taken to be an interrogative pronoun meaning

'who' or a verbal adjective meaning 'where [I] abide'.

As in many other instances in his teachings, Sri Ramana here uses the word *idam*, which literally means 'place' or 'space', in a figurative sense to denote our real being or self, because our real self is the source or 'birthplace' from which our individual sense of 'I' arises, and because it is also the infinite space of consciousness in which our mind resides. Since all other things are only thoughts that we form in our mind by our power of imagination, the infinite space of our non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am', is the original source and only abode not only of our own mind, but also of all other things.

When Sri Ramana says, "The thought 'this body composed of flesh is I' is the one string on which [all our] various thoughts are attached", what exactly does he mean by the word 'thought'? In this context the word 'thought' does not mean merely a verbalised or conceptualised thought. It means anything that we form in our mind by our power of imagination. Everything that we form and experience within our mind is a thought or imagination — whether we call it a thought, a feeling, an emotion, a desire, a fear, a belief, a memory, an idea, a conception or a perception. In other words, any other form of objective knowledge or dualistic experience is a thought — an idea or image that we have formed in our mind.

Of all our many thoughts, Sri Ramana says that the one basic thought that supports all our other thoughts is our thought or imagination that a particular body is ourself. Each of our other thoughts is linked directly to this basic thought 'I am this body', and they are all held together by it, just as the pearls in a necklace are all held together by a string. That is, since the 'I' that thinks all other thoughts is our mind, which creates and sustains itself by imagining itself to be a body, this fundamental feeling that we are a body underlies and supports every thought that we think.

Whenever our mind is active, whether in waking or in dream, we always feel ourself to be a body. Even when we daydream, whatever we imagine is centred around our basic imagination that we are a body. Even if we imagine ourself being in some state of existence

that is beyond this present material world, such as either heaven or hell, we imagine ourself being some form of subtle or ethereal body in that other world.

Though we now consider that the body that we experienced ourself to be in a dream, or the body that we will experience ourself to be in some other state such as heaven or hell, is not a material body but is a more subtle body – a mind-created or ethereal body –, when we actually experience such a body, as in dream, we do not feel it to be a subtle body but a solid material body – a body of flesh and blood. That is why Sri Ramana says, "The thought 'this body composed of flesh is I' is the one string on which [all our] various thoughts are attached".

The feeling or imagination that a particular body is ourself is the foundation upon which our mind and all its activity is based. In both waking and dream we always feel ourself to be a body. Our mind first forms itself by imagining itself to be a physical body, and then only can it think of any other thing.

Like all our thoughts, this feeling that a body is ourself is an imagination. It is our first and fundamental imagination — our original and most basic thought, which Sri Ramana otherwise refers to as our root thought 'I'. Whenever our mind rises, whether in waking or in dream, it always does so by imagining itself to be a body. Without this first imagination, we cannot imagine any other thought. Therefore every other thought that we think depends entirely upon this first thought 'I am this body'.

In fact, the basic and essential form of our mind is only this root thought 'I' — our deeply rooted imagination that we are a material body. So why and how does this imagination arise? It arises only due to our imaginary self-ignorance. Because we first imagine that we do not know what we really are, we are then able to imagine that we are something that we are not.

Since our mind – our finite individual consciousness, which arises by imagining itself to be a body – is an illusion that comes into existence due to our imaginary self-ignorance, it will be destroyed only when we experience true self-knowledge – that is, only when we experience ourself as we really are. In order to experience ourself thus, we must cease attending to any of our thoughts, and must instead attend keenly to our essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

When we do so, the clarity of our vigilant self-consciousness will dissolve the illusion of our self-ignorance, and hence we will cease to imagine ourself to be a body or anything else that we are not. Since our basic imagination that we are a body will thereby be dissolved, along with it all our other thoughts will also be destroyed. That is why Sri Ramana says in this verse, "... if [we] go within [ourself scrutinising] 'who am I? what is the place [the source from which this fundamental thought 'I am this body' rises]?', [all] thoughts will disappear, and within the cave [the core of our being] self-knowledge will shine spontaneously as 'I [am] I'...".

Since all our other thoughts depend for their seeming existence upon our first and fundamental thought 'I am this body', and since everything that we know as other than ourself is just one of our thoughts – an image that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination – when we discover that we are not this body but are only the adjunct-free and therefore infinite non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', everything that appears to be other than this fundamental and essential self-consciousness will disappear, just as an imaginary snake will disappear when we discover that what we mistook to be that snake is in fact only a rope.

Therefore, since our body and this whole world are only a series of thoughts or images that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination, they will all disappear along with our mind when we attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge. This truth is clearly implied by Sri Ramana in verse 1 of *Anma-Viddai*:

Though [our] self uninterruptedly [and] undoubtedly [or imperishably] exists as real [that is, though it is the one constant, indivisible, imperishable and undoubtable reality], [this] body and world, which are unreal, sprout and arise as [if] real. When thought [our mind], which is [composed of] the unreal darkness [of self-ignorance], is dissolved [or destroyed] without reviving even an iota [that is, in such a manner that it

can never revive even to the slightest extent], in the heart-space [the innermost core of our being], which is [the one infinite] reality, [our real] self, [which is] the sun [of true knowledge or consciousness], will indeed shine spontaneously [that is, by and of itself]. The darkness [of self-ignorance, which is the basis for the appearance of our mind, being the background darkness in which the cinema-show of our shadow-like thoughts is projected] will [thereby] disappear, suffering [which we experience in this darkness of self-ignorance due to the intense activity of our thoughts] will cease, [and] happiness [which is always our true and essential nature] will surge forth.

In this verse Sri Ramana emphatically states that our body and the world that we seem to perceive through it are both unreal, and he implies that they arise as mere thoughts in our mind. Since our mind, which is the sole cause for the seeming existence of both our body and this world, is composed only of thoughts, in this context he uses the word *ninaivu* or 'thought' to denote it, and he describes it as *poy mai ar*, which means 'which is [composed of] unreal darkness', because it is formed from the darkness of self-ignorance, which is itself unreal, being nothing but an imagination.

Our body and this world are both mere thoughts that we form in our mind by our power of imagination, and like all our thoughts, including our fundamental thought 'I am this body', we imagine them due to the darkness of our self-ignorance. Therefore when we destroy this darkness of self-ignorance by experiencing the absolute clarity of true non-dual self-knowledge, our body, this world and all our other thoughts will be destroyed in such a manner that they will never reappear even to the slightest extent.

This state of absolute annihilation of our mind and all its progeny – all our thoughts, including our body, this entire universe and every other world that we imagine – is the state that Sri Ramana describes when he says, "poy mai ar ninaivu anuvum uyyadu odukkidave", which means, 'when thought, which is [composed of] unreal darkness, is dissolved [or destroyed] without reviving even an iota'. Just as when the sun rises the darkness of night is dissolved by its bright light, so when the sun of true self-knowledge dawns our mind,

which is formed from the unreal darkness of self-ignorance, will be dissolved by the true light of our absolutely clear self-consciousness.

Though Sri Ramana says in this verse, "when thought is destroyed", he does not explicitly specify how exactly we can bring about this destruction of our mind. This is why in the next verse of *Anma-Viddai*, which we discussed above, he first explains that all our thoughts depend upon our basic thought or imagination that a body is 'I', and he then says that if we penetrate within ourself by keenly scrutinising ourself in order to know 'who am I?' or 'what the source from which this thought that a body is myself originates?' all our thoughts will disappear.

That is, since the cause and foundation of all our thoughts is our basic imagination that a body is ourself, we can destroy all our thoughts only by destroying this basic imagination, and since this basic imagination is an illusion – a mistaken knowledge about what we are – we can destroy it only by keenly scrutinising it in order to discover the reality that underlies it. We cannot kill an imaginary snake by beating it with a stick, but only by scrutinising it carefully in order to discover the reality that underlies it. Likewise, we cannot destroy our imaginary feeling that we are a body by any means other than keen self-scrutiny or self-attention.

When we look carefully at a snake that we imagine we see lying on the ground in the dim light of night, we will discover that it is not really a snake but is only a rope. Similarly, when we carefully scrutinise our basic consciousness 'I am', which we now experience as our mind, our limited consciousness that imagines itself to be a body, we will discover that we are not really this finite mind or body, but are only the infinite non-dual consciousness of our own being.

When we thus experience ourself as being nothing other than our own absolutely non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', our primal imagination that a body is ourself will be destroyed, and along with it all our other thoughts will be destroyed, since they are merely shadows that can be formed only in the obscured and therefore limited light of self-ignorance. That is, though we allow our unlimited natural clarity of non-dual self-consciousness to be obscured by an imaginary self-ignorance, we never entirely cease to be conscious of ourself, and hence in the dim light of our distorted self-consciousness, which we experience as our mind, the shadow-play of our thoughts appears to take place. However, since this shadow-play is unreal, it can occur only in the dim light of our imaginary self-ignorance, and hence it will disappear in the clear light of true self-knowledge, in which we experience ourself as the infinite consciousness of being that we always really are.

Thus in this second verse of *Anma-Viddai* Sri Ramana teaches us the truth that when we turn our attention within, towards the core of our being, in order to know the true nature of our real 'I', which is the source from which our spurious individual sense of 'I' arises, we will discover that we are not this body composed of flesh, but are only the infinite space of non-dual being-consciousness, which is the silent and peaceful abode of perfect happiness. Since all our thoughts depend for their seeming existence upon our mind, which is nothing but the spurious consciousness that imagines 'I am this body composed of flesh', they will all disappear for ever when we thus discover that we are not this body but are only the non-dual infinite spirit – the one real self or *atman*, which is the sole absolute reality.

This non-dual infinite spirit is our adjunct-free and therefore unadulterated consciousness of our own true being, which in truth we experience eternally as 'I am', 'I am I', 'I am nothing but I', 'I am only what I am', or to quote the words of God in *Exodus* 3.14, 'I AM THAT I AM'.

The same truth that Sri Ramana expresses in the second verse of *Anma-Viddai* is expressed by him in more mystical language in verse 7 of *Sri Arunachala Ashtakam*:

If the thought 'I' does not exist, no other thing will exist. Until then, if [any] other thought rises, if, [responding to each such thought by investigating] "To whom [does this thought occur]? To me [this fundamental thought 'I']. What is the place from which [this fundamental thought] 'I' rises and [in which it] merges?", we sink within [ourself] and reach [our] heart-seat

[the innermost core of our being, which is the source from which all our thoughts rise], [we will merge and become one with] the Lord under the shade of the unique umbrella [the nondual infinite spirit, which outwardly manifests as God, the supreme Lord of all that is]. [In that state of non-dual being] the dream of [duality with all its imaginary pairs of opposites such as] inside and outside, the two *karmas* [the two kinds of action, good and bad], death and birth, happiness and misery, and light and darkness, will not exist, O boundless ocean of light of grace called Aruna Hill, who dance motionlessly within the court of [our] heart.

The 'boundless ocean of light of grace called Aruna Hill', whom Sri Ramana addresses in this verse, is the non-dual infinite spirit, which outwardly manifests as God, who is worshipped in the form of the holy hill Arunachala. This is not the place to answer the question why the non-dual spirit should be worshipped dualistically as an external form, but this question will be answered in the sequel to this present book. Suffice it to say here that Sri Ramana wrote this verse as part of a hymn written in the allegorical and poetic language of mystical love.

The 'boundless ocean of light of grace called Aruna Hill' is therefore an allegorical description of God, and he is said to 'dance motionlessly within the court of our heart' because he is our unlimited consciousness of being, which shines motionlessly yet vividly as 'I am' in the innermost core of our being. The 'Lord under the shade of the unique umbrella' is likewise an allegorical description of God, the supreme Lord of all that is, whose reality is nothing but our infinite non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am'. Therefore, though Sri Ramana describes it allegorically in the language of dualistic devotion, what he is actually describing in the later part of this verse is only the state of perfect non-duality, which we can experience only when we put an end to our dream of duality.

Our dream of duality is known only by our mind, our fundamental thought 'I', which is the limited consciousness that feels 'I am this body'. If we do not rise as this limited consciousness, we cannot know any duality. Since all duality is only an imagination, it does not exist when we do not know it. Therefore Sri Ramana begins this verse by stating the fundamental and all-important truth, "If the thought 'I' does not exist, no other thing will exist".

That is, all things depend for their seeming existence upon the seeming existence of our fundamental thought 'I', which is a limited and distorted form of our fundamental consciousness of being, 'I am'. Therefore, in order to put an end to the illusory appearance of duality, we must put an end to the illusory appearance of our first and fundamental thought 'I'.

In this verse Sri Ramana explains in a few very simple words how we can put an end to the illusory appearance of this primal thought 'I'. Since every thought that rises in our mind is formed and known only by our first thought 'I', and since our first thought 'I' rises from and always depends upon our essential consciousness of being, 'I am', whatever thought may rise, we can know it only because we first know 'I am'. Thus every thought can serve as a reminder to us of our own being. In order to show us how we can make the rising of any thought an opportunity for us to remember our being, Sri Ramana gives us the simple formula, "To whom? To me. What is the place from which I rise?".

By giving us this formula, Sri Ramana does not mean that we should constantly question ourself, "To whom has this thought occurred? Only to me. What is the place from which this 'me' has risen?". What he means is that we should use any thought that rises to remind ourself of our thinking mind, which we now feel to be 'I', because remembering this 'I' that thinks and knows each thought will in turn remind us of our essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which underlies the feeling that we are thinking and knowing thoughts, and which is thus the 'place' or source from which our thinking mind arises. That is, whatever thought rises, we should remember, 'I know this thought because I am', and thereby we should turn our attention away from the thought towards our own essential consciousness of being – our real self-consciousness 'I am'.

When we thus turn our attention towards our consciousness of being, 'I am', our mind, which had risen to think thoughts, will begin to subside in our true self-conscious being, which is the source from which it has risen. If we are able to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our consciousness of being, our mind will subside completely into the innermost core of our being, and thus we will experience our own true being with absolutely unadulterated clarity of non-dual self-consciousness.

When we once experience our true being with such perfect clarity, we will discover that we are the non-dual infinite spirit, and thus we will destroy for ever the illusion that we are a body, a mind or anything other than that spirit. When this illusion is thus destroyed, the dream of duality, which depends upon it, will also come to an end.

This technique of using the rising of each thought to remind ourself of our own essential being, which Sri Ramana explains very concisely in this verse, is explained by him in more detail in the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

Only by [means of] the investigation 'who am I?' will [our] mind subside [shrink, settle down, become still, disappear or cease to be]; the thought 'who am I?' [that is, the effort we make to attend to our essential being], having destroyed all other thoughts, will itself in the end be destroyed like a corpseburning stick [that is, a stick that is used to stir a funeral pyre to ensure that the corpse is burnt entirely]. If other thoughts rise, without trying to complete them [we] must investigate to whom they have occurred. However many thoughts rise, what [does it matter]? As soon as each thought appears, if [we] vigilantly investigate to whom it has occurred, 'to me' will be clear [that is, we will be clearly reminded of ourself, to whom each thought occurs]. If [we thus] investigate 'who am I?' [that is, if we turn our attention back towards ourself and keep it fixed firmly, keenly and vigilantly upon our own essential selfconscious being in order to discover what this 'me' really is], [our] mind will return to its birthplace [the innermost core of our being, which is the source from which it arose]; [and since we thereby refrain from attending to it] the thought which had

risen will also subside. When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly established in its birthplace will increase [that is, by repeatedly practising turning our attention towards our mere being, which is the birthplace of our mind, our mind's ability to remain as mere being will increase]. When [our] subtle mind goes out through the portal of [our] brain and sense organs, gross names and forms [the thoughts or mental images that constitute our mind, and the objects that constitute this world] appear; when it remains in [our] heart [the core of our being], names and forms disappear. Only to [this state of] retaining [our] mind in [our] heart without letting [it] go outwards [is] the name 'ahamukham' ['I-facing' or self-attention] or 'antarmukham' ['inward-facing' or introversion] [truly applicable]. Only to [the state of] letting [it] go outwards [is] the name 'bahirmukham' ['outward-facing' or extroversion] [truly applicable]. Only when [our] mind remains firmly established in [our] heart in this manner, will [our primal thought] 'I', which is the root [base, foundation or origin] of all thoughts, go [leave, disappear or cease to be], and will [our] ever-existing [real] self alone shine. The place [that is, the state or reality] devoid of even a little [trace] of [our primal] thought 'I' is svarupa [our 'own form' or essential self]. That alone is called 'mauna' [silence]. Only to [this state of] just being [is] the name 'jñana-drishti' ['knowledge-seeing', that is, the experience of true knowledge] [truly applicable]. That [state] which is just being is only [the state of making [our] mind to subside [settle down, melt, dissolve, disappear, be absorbed or perish] in atma-svarupa [our own essential self]. Besides [this state of non-dual being], these [states of dualistic knowledge] which are knowing the thoughts of others, knowing the three times [what happened in the past, what is happening now, and what will happen in future], and knowing what is happening in a distant place cannot be jñana-drishti [the experience of true knowledge].

Since our mind rises only by attending to thoughts, which it imagines to be other than itself, it subsides only by withdrawing its attention from all thoughts. Though our mind subsides in this way every day in deep sleep, and occasionally in other states such as swooning, general anaesthesia, coma, bodily death, or in a similar state of subsidence brought about artificially by certain forms of meditation or by the *yogic* practice of breath-control, in all such states it subsides without clear consciousness of its being.

Therefore in all such states, though we know 'I am', our consciousness of our being is not perfectly clear, so though we know that we are, we do not know exactly what we are. Because we do not experience a perfect clarity of true self-knowledge or self-consciousness in such states of subsidence, our mind sooner or later rises again from such states, attending once again to its own thoughts, which it imagines to be other than itself.

The reason why our consciousness of our being is not perfectly clear in such states is that our mind subsides in them merely by withdrawing its attention from its thoughts, but without focusing its attention clearly on itself. Only if we focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our own consciousness of being, 'I am', will our mind subside with perfect clarity of self-consciousness. If we are able to make our mind subside in this manner, we will not only know that we are, but also know exactly what we are.

Since we thus experience a perfect clarity of true self-knowledge in that state, we will never again be able to mistake ourself to be anything that we are not, and hence our mind will never rise again. Thus the subsidence of our mind that we can achieve by attending to our consciousness of being will be permanent.

The subsidence of our mind which Sri Ramana discusses in the above paragraph of *Nan Yar?* is not the usual dull and temporary form of subsidence that we experience in states like sleep, which we bring about by merely withdrawing our attention voluntarily or involuntarily from all thoughts, but is the clear and permanent form of subsidence that we can experience only in the state of true self-knowledge, which we can bring about only by focusing our attention intentionally upon our consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Therefore, when he says, "Only by the investigation 'who am I?'

will the mind subside", he means that we can make our mind subside permanently and with full clarity of self-consciousness only by investigating, examining, inspecting or scrutinising our own consciousness of being, 'I am'.

Even though our essential being is eternally self-conscious – that is, even though we are always conscious of ourself as 'I am' – so long as our mind is active, we will feel we have to make an effort to scrutinise or attend to our essential self-consciousness, our consciousness of our own being. Therefore, since self-attention involves an effort made by our mind, Sri Ramana refers to that effort as "the thought 'who am I?" and says that, after destroying all other thoughts, it will also be destroyed.

Every thought that we form in our mind is a form of effort, because we can form and know any thought only by making an effort to do so. Because we think with great desire and enthusiasm, and because we are thoroughly habituated to doing so, it appears to us that we think effortlessly. However, thinking does in fact require effort, and therefore as a result of thinking we become tired.

Because thinking is tiring, our mind needs to rest and recuperate its energy every day, which it does by subsiding and remaining for a while in sleep. In sleep our mind remains subsided temporarily in our own real self – our true state of self-conscious being – and because our real self is the source of all power, our mind is able to recharge its energy by remaining for a while in sleep.

The energy or power that impels our mind to think is our desire to do so. Desire is the driving force behind all thought and all activity. Unless impelled by some desire, we do not think or do anything. When we make effort to attend to our consciousness of being, we do so because of our desire or love for true self-knowledge.

When we repeatedly practise such self-attention, the clarity of our consciousness of our own mere being increases, and because of the happiness we find in such clarity, our love to attend to our being increases. Since this love to attend to our being is the power that enables us to do so, Sri Ramana says, "When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly

established in its birthplace will increase".

The more we experience the joy of just being, the less we will feel desire to think or do anything, and thus by the practice of self-attention our tendency to think will be gradually weakened and will finally be destroyed. When we have no desire to think anything, we will remain effortlessly established in our own essential being, and thus even our effort to attend to our being will subside. This is what Sri Ramana means by saying that the thought or effort to know 'who am I?' will destroy all other thoughts and will itself finally be destroyed.

Sri Ramana says, "If other thoughts rise, without trying to complete them [we] must investigate to whom they have occurred". What he means by saying that we should not try or make effort to complete a thought is that we should not continue attending to it.

Our thoughts rise only because we attend to them, and the more we attend to them the more they flourish. If, instead of thus allowing our effort or attention to flow outwards to think thoughts, we direct it inwards to know the consciousness to whom those thoughts are known, the vigour with which we form our thoughts will begin to wane.

Therefore Sri Ramana says, "As soon as each thought appears, if [we] vigilantly investigate to whom it has occurred, 'to me' will be clear". The verb he uses to mean 'will be clear' is *tondrum*, which also means 'will be visible', 'will appear', 'will spring up', 'will rise into existence', 'will come to mind' or 'will be known', so by the words "to me will be clear" he means that we will be clearly reminded of ourself, the 'me' to whom each thought occurs. In other words, our attention will turn back on itself, away from the thought that it had begun to think.

Though the 'me' who knows thoughts is not our real self, our 'being consciousness', but is only our mind, our spurious 'knowing consciousness' or 'rising consciousness', when we turn our attention towards it, it will automatically subside in and become one with our 'being consciousness'. This is what Sri Ramana means when he then says, "If [we thus] investigate 'who am I?', [our] mind will return to

its birthplace".

Because he first says, "if [we] vigilantly investigate to whom this [thought] has occurred", and then in the next sentence says, "if [we] investigate who am I", some people wrongly mistake him to mean that we should first ask ourself to whom each thought has occurred, and that after remembering that it has occurred to me, we should then ask ourself who this 'me' is, or 'who am I?'. In fact, however, since by the mere remembrance of 'me' our attention turns back towards ourself, we do not then need to do anything further except to keep our attention fixed on ourself.

Since we can investigate 'who am I?' only by scrutinising or attending to our consciousness of our own being, which we always experience as 'I am', the mere remembrance of the 'me' to whom each thought occurs is itself the beginning of the process of investigating 'who am I?'. Thus all we need do after remembering that 'this thought has occurred to me' is to keep our attention fixed on that 'me'.

Therefore we can best understand the connection between these two sentences by interpolating the words 'thus' or 'continue thus to': "if [we thus] investigate who am I", or, "if [we continue thus to] investigate who am I". Even if we choose to interpolate the word 'then' instead the word 'thus', we should still understand this 'then' in the sense of 'then continue to': "if [we then continue to] investigate who am I". That is, we should not understand this clause to mean, "if we then initiate a fresh process of investigation by newly thinking 'who am I?"", but should understand it to mean, "if we then continue this state of investigation (which we initiated when we remembered 'me') by keeping our attention firmly and keenly fixed on our self-conscious being, 'I am'".

When Sri Ramana says, "If [we thus] investigate 'who am I?', [our] mind will return to its birthplace", what exactly does he mean by saying that our "mind will return to its birthplace"? In this context the term 'birthplace' denotes the source from which our mind has risen, which is our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Since our mind seemingly rises or leaves its birthplace only by

attending to thoughts – which it forms by its power of imagination, but which it imagines to be other than itself – it returns to its birthplace only by withdrawing its attention from all its thoughts.

However, if we are not only to return to our birthplace, but also to be fully conscious of that 'place' or natural state of being to which we are thus returning, we must not only withdraw our attention from all our thoughts, but must also turn it back towards ourself, focusing it keenly upon our essential consciousness of our own being. Thus when Sri Ramana says that our "mind will return to its birthplace", he means that our attention will turn back towards our natural self-consciousness, and thus our mind will subside in that perfectly clear consciousness of our own being.

Our mind is in fact nothing but our power of attention. When we direct our power of attention towards thoughts and objects, which we imagine to be other than ourself, we rise as our mind, leaving our natural state of mere being. But when instead we direct our power of attention back towards ourself, we return to our natural state of mere being, and so long as we keep our attention fixed on ourself, without allowing it to stray out towards anything else, we remain as our mere being – that is, as our own essential self. In other words, our outward facing attention is our mind, whereas our inward or 'I'-ward facing attention is our real self – our own simple and essential self-conscious being.

Our power of attention, which is our power of consciousness or knowing, is not anything separate from us. It is ourself – our own true and essential being. In other words, we ourself are the power of attention or consciousness by which all is known.

When we misuse our power of consciousness by imagining that we are knowing things other than ourself, we seemingly become the separate and therefore finite individual consciousness that we call 'mind'. But when we do not misuse our power of consciousness in this manner, we remain as we always really are – as the true infinite non-dual consciousness of mere being, 'I am'.

When we thus remain as our true consciousness of our own mere being, we experience ourself as 'I just am', but when we imagine ourself to be a separate individual consciousness or 'mind', we experience ourself as 'I am this' or 'I am that' – 'I am this body', 'I am a person', 'I am so-and-so', 'I am such-and-such', 'I am knowing', 'I am doing' and so on and so forth. Our mind and all that it knows or experiences is therefore just an imaginarily distorted and limited form of our own natural non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am', which is our true self.

What we call 'attention' is the power that we as consciousness have to direct or focus ourself. When we focus our consciousness upon itself, that is, when we focus ourself upon ourself — upon our mere self-conscious being — we experience the true knowledge 'I just am'. But when we focus ourself or our consciousness upon anything other than our own essential self, we experience the false knowledge 'I am knowing this thing other than myself'.

This focusing of our consciousness upon anything other than ourself is what we call 'imagination', because everything other than our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', is merely a thought or image that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination. Since this 'imagination', which is another name for our mind, causes us to delude ourself into experiencing things that do not truly exist, it is also called *maya*, a word that means 'delusion' or 'self-deception'. Thus our mind or object-knowing attention is merely a product of our own self-deceiving power of imagination, which is the distorted use that we make of our power of consciousness when we use it to imagine that we are experiencing anything other than ourself.

Because our attention is the focusing of our entire being upon something, it has tremendous power. In fact it is the only power that truly exists, and it is the source from which all other forms of power arise. From our experience in dream we know that by misusing our power of attention to imagine and know things other than ourself, we can create an entire world and delude ourself into mistaking that world to be real. Since we know that we can create a seemingly real world by our mere power of imagination in dream, we have no valid reason to suppose that the world we experience now in this so-called

waking state is anything other than a creation of our same power of imagination.

Thus our attention has the power to create a world that does not truly exist, and in the process of doing so, it deludes us into mistaking that world to be real. All the power that we see in the world that we imagine to be outside ourself appears to exist only because of our power of attention. All that we experience appears to be real only because we attend to it. Since our attention is so powerful, it is a dangerous weapon that we should use carefully and wisely.

The wise way to use our power of attention is to know ourself. Until we know the truth of ourself, who know all other things, we cannot know the truth of anything else. To know ourself we must attend to ourself – to our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Other things appear to come into existence only when we attend to them, and they disappear when we cease attending to them. This is why Sri Ramana says, "When [our] subtle mind goes out through the portal of [our] brain and sense organs, gross names and forms appear; when it remains in [our] heart, names and forms disappear".

What exactly does he mean when he says this? When we attend to or know anything that is seemingly other than our consciousness of being, we feel that our mind or attention is going outwards, away from ourself. When our attention thus goes outwards, it does so either through just the portal or gateway of our brain, or through the portals of both our brain and one or more of our five sense organs. When our attention goes out only through the portal of our brain, we experience thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind, but when our attention goes out still further, not only through our brain but also through our sense organs, we experience objects that we imagine to exist outside and independent of our mind.

Sri Ramana describes both the thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind and the objects that we imagine to exist outside our mind as 'names and forms', because every thought is just a mental form or image, and every external object is

likewise just a form or image that we experience in our own mind, and because we give or can give a name to every form that we know. Thus in this context the word 'names' denotes our verbalised thoughts, whereas the word 'forms' denotes our pre-verbalised thoughts. However, since our verbalised and pre-verbalised thoughts are intimately associated and interwoven, the distinction between them is blurred, and hence in Indian philosophy they are regarded as an indistinguishable whole, which is expressed by the compound word *nama-rupa*, which means 'name-form'.

Because all the thoughts that we think and all the objects that we know are nothing but 'names and forms', this compound word nama-rupa or 'name-form' is frequently used in advaita vedanta to denote collectively all thoughts and all external objects. One important reason why this term nama-rupa is thus used so frequently to denote all thoughts and external objects is that it clearly distinguishes them from our essential consciousness of being, 'I am', which is nameless and formless, because it has no definable form and is therefore beyond all mental conception.

Since our mind is in essence mere consciousness, and since it therefore has no form of its own, Sri Ramana describes it as 'subtle', whereas he describes all thoughts and external objects as 'gross', because they are all mere forms – images that we form in our mind by our power of imagination.

We form all such mental images only by allowing our mind or attention to go outwards, away from ourself. Therefore, when we retain our attention within ourself, not allowing our mind to rise to know anything other than 'I am', all such mental images disappear. This is what Sri Ramana means when he says, "when it remains in [our] heart, names and forms disappear". By the word 'heart' he means only the core of our being, which is our own fundamental and essential self-consciousness 'I am', and which is the source or 'birthplace' of our imaginary mind.

Sri Ramana describes this state of retaining our attention in our 'heart' or the core of our being as 'introversion', but while doing so he significantly uses not just one but two Sanskrit terms to denote 'introversion'. The second of these two terms is antarmukham, which is the term most commonly used in both Sanskrit and Tamil philosophical literature to denote introversion, and which is a compound of two words, antar and mukham. The word antar means 'within', 'inside', 'internal', 'interior' or 'inward', while the word mukham means 'face', 'direction', 'facing', 'turning towards', 'turned towards' or 'looking at'. Thus the compound word antarmukham means 'facing inward', 'looking inward', 'turned inward' or 'directing attention inward'.

The first of the two terms that he uses to describe the state of introversion is *ahamukham*, which is a more rarely used term, but which is actually more meaningful than *antarmukham*. Like *antarmukham*, *ahamukham* is a compound of two words, *aham* and *mukham*. In Sanskrit the word *aham* means only 'I', but in Tamil it not only means 'I' or 'self', but also from another root it means 'inside', 'mind', 'heart', 'abode', 'home', 'house', 'place' or 'space'. Thus the compound word *ahamukham* means not only 'introversion', but also more specifically 'facing I-ward', 'facing selfward', 'looking selfward', 'turned selfward' or 'directing attention towards I'.

Sri Ramana then goes on to say that when our mind or attention thus remains firmly established in our heart or *hridaya*, the innermost core of our being, our first and fundamental thought 'I' will vanish, and only our ever-existing real **self** will shine or be known. That is, when we are able to keep our attention firmly fixed in our consciousness of being, the clarity of self-consciousness that we experience in that state – the clarity of self-consciousness that always exists in our heart, but which we experience only when we keep our attention firmly fixed upon it – will destroy forever our tendency to rise as the thought 'I', the spurious individual consciousness that imagines itself to be a body, and thus our real and essential **self** will remain alone, shining clearly as 'I am' or 'I am I'.

In order to emphasise the fact that the non-dual reality which alone remains after our individual consciousness 'I' has ceased to exist is not anything alien to us but is only we ourself, in the original Tamil text, in the final and main clause of this sentence, "... [our] ever-existing **self** alone will shine", Sri Ramana highlighted in bold type the pronoun *tan*, which means 'self' or 'ourself'. Though we always experience this ever-existing **self** as 'I am', it will destroy our mind or individual consciousness only if we fix our attention firmly upon it.

Sri Ramana then describes our essential self or *svarupa* as being the 'place' in which not even the slightest trace of the thought 'I' exists. That 'place' is our 'heart', the innermost core of our being. He refers to it figuratively as a 'place' for two reasons, firstly because it is the source or birthplace of our mind (and of all the progeny of our mind, namely its thoughts and the objects that constitute this world), and secondly because we experience it as the core of our being – the central point in the space of our mind, the point from which we conceive all thoughts and perceive all external objects. Besides being described as a 'place', it can also be described as a 'state', because it is the state of perfect egolessness, the state in which we experience only our pure, uncontaminated and adjunctless consciousness of mere being, 'I am'.

Sri Ramana also describes this 'place' or state of egolessness as being *mauna* or 'silence', because it is the state of perfectly silent or motionless being. Since our real self is thus the state of perfect silence, we can know it only by remaining silent, that is, by just being, without rising to think anything. That is, since the restless activity or chattering of our mind is the noise that prevents us from knowing the silence of pure being, we can experience that silence only by silencing all our mental activity. Therefore silence in this context does not mean mere silence of speech, but complete silence of mind.

Sri Ramana further describes this state of silence or egoless being as the state of 'just being'. The Tamil words that he uses to mean 'just being' are *summa iruppadu*. The word *summa* is an adverb meaning 'just', 'merely', 'silently', 'quietly', 'peacefully', 'restfully', 'leisurely', 'without doing anything', 'motionlessly', 'freely' or 'continuously', while *iruppadu* is a gerund or verbal noun

meaning 'being', from the root *iru*, which is an imperative that means 'be'.

This term *summa iruppadu* is a key concept in Tamil philosophical literature, and its imperative form, *summa iru*, which means 'just be', is considered to be the ultimate and most perfect form of spiritual instruction. The reason for the pre-eminence given to this term is that it expresses as perfectly as any words can express the state of true self-knowledge, which is the state of perfect silence. Sri Ramana defines it simply as "making [our] mind to subside [settle down, melt, dissolve, disappear, be absorbed or perish] in *atma-svarupa* [our own essential self]".

The Sanskrit word *atman*, which is used in Tamil in various modified forms such as *atma*, *attuma* and *anma*, means 'self', 'spirit', 'life', 'soul', 'mind', 'supreme spirit', 'essence' or 'nature', and is also used as the singular reflexive pronoun for all three persons and all three genders, 'oneself', 'myself', 'yourself', 'himself', 'herself' or 'itself', or as the genitive form of the reflexive pronoun, in the sense 'one's own', 'my own' and so on. In a spiritual context, *atman* means our real self, our spirit or essential being, which is also called *brahman*, the supreme spirit or absolute reality, the essence or sole substance of all things.

The Sanskrit word *svarupa*, which in Tamil is usually modified as *sorupam*, is a composite noun formed of two parts, *sva*, which means 'own', 'one's own', 'my own', 'your own', 'his own', 'her own', 'its own', 'our own' or 'their own', and *rupa*, which means 'form', 'appearance', 'image' or 'nature'. Thus the compound word *atmasvarupa* literally means 'oneself's own true nature', that is, the true nature of our own real self, which is our mere consciousness of being – our essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

Since our mind is our false self, a spurious form of consciousness that we mistake to be ourself, we can effect its dissolution only by fixing our attention firmly in our real self, the innermost core of our being, which we always experience as our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am'. When we dissolve our mind thus in our real own self, the true nature of our real self will reveal itself as mere

being – being which is silent, peaceful and devoid of any movement or activity. This state in which we thus dissolve our mind in our real self is therefore described as *summa iruppadu*, the state of 'just being' – that is, the state in which we merely are as we truly ever are, devoid of even the least activity or 'doing'.

Sri Ramana says that only this state of 'just being' can be called *jñana-drishti* or the 'experience of true knowledge'. The Sanskrit word *jñana*, which is derived from the verbal root *jña* meaning 'to know', 'to cognise' or 'to experience', means 'knowing' or 'knowledge', and in a spiritual context it means true knowledge – that is, knowledge of our own real self. The Sanskrit word *drishti* means the act of 'seeing', 'beholding' or 'looking at', or the faculty of 'sight', the 'eye', a 'look', a 'glance' or a 'view'. Thus the compound word *jñana-drishti* means the 'seeing' or experience of true knowledge. Therefore, since the experience of true knowledge is nothing other than the experience of knowing our own real self, and since we can know our real self only by being nothing other than our real self, the state of just being what we always really are is the experience of true knowledge or *jñana-drishti*.

In the popular imagination, however, the term *jñana-drishti* is wrongly believed to mean the power or ability to know certain things that could not normally be known by the human mind, such as what other people are thinking, what will happen in the future, or what is happening in some faraway place. But such miraculous or supernatural powers do not in fact have anything to do with true knowledge. On the contrary, they are merely additional forms of ignorance, delusion or self-deception – forms of delusion that only add to the density of our already existing and deeply rooted delusion about who or what we really are.

Since our mind has created this entire universe by the power of its imagination, there would be nothing that it could not do if only it could master complete control over its imagination. However, since our power of imagination is a power of delusion and self-deception, we can never master it perfectly. If we try to control it in one way, it will deceive us in some other way.

Nevertheless, since our mind is so powerful, it is possible for us to manipulate our power of imagination by certain techniques (such as certain forms of meditation, concentrated repetition of certain *mantras* or sounds that are supposedly endowed with some mystical power, certain *yogic* practices, occult rites and rituals, carefully controlled use of certain entheogenic or so-called mind-expanding herbs, fungi or other drugs, certain other forms of magic that supposedly enable a person to invoke the aid of spirits, *jinn*, demons, angels, petty deities or *devas*, or some other such artificial means) in such a way as to delude ourself and others into believing that we possess certain miraculous powers, just as in dream we are able to manipulate our power of imagination in such a way as to delude ourself into believing that we are actually flying.

However, since the world we see in this waking state is no more real than the world we saw in a dream, any miraculous powers that we may be able to display in this waking state are no more real than our ability to fly in a dream. Therefore, in verse 35 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

Knowing and being the [absolute] reality [our own essential being], which is [eternally] *siddha* [attained], is [the only true] *siddhi* [attainment]. All other *siddhis* [attainments such as miraculous powers] are merely [like] *siddhis* that [we] experience in dream. If [we] consider [such *siddhis* after we have woken up] leaving sleep, will they [still appear to us to] be real? Consider [likewise], will those who have left [or ended] unreality [by experiencing and] abiding in the real state [of true self-knowledge] be deluded [by the deceptive illusion of miraculous powers]?

Whatever we experience in a dream appears to us to be real only so long as we are experiencing that dream. When we wake up and consider what we had experienced, we understand clearly and without any doubt that it was all unreal, being merely a figment of our imagination.

Likewise, all that we experience in this so-called waking state appears to us to be real only so long as we are experiencing this state. When we wake up into our real waking state, which is the non-dual state of perfectly clear self-consciousness or self-knowledge, we will discover that all the duality that we are now experiencing in our present state of self-ignorance is as unreal as all the duality that we experienced in our dream, being nothing but a mere figment of our own imagination.

When we clearly know ourself as we really are – that is, as our non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am', which is the one and only absolute reality – we will discover that we alone are real, and that everything that formerly appeared to be other than ourself is therefore entirely unreal. Experiencing and abiding firmly in this state of absolute clarity is therefore the only attainment or *siddhi* that is truly worth achieving.

By achieving this self-attainment or *atma-siddhi*, we will free ourself from the delusion that we are this mind, the false finite form of consciousness that imagines itself to be experiencing duality or otherness, and thereby we will transcend all our present imaginary knowledge of otherness. Having thus discarded the entire fabrication of duality, will we be deluded by any appearance such as the display of miraculous powers?

If we understand that this whole world is a mere dream, we will find no wonder and take no delight in miracles or any such display of supernatural power. Miracles happen according to people's faith in them, and such faith is nothing but an act of imagination.

We are only able to fly in a dream because at that time we believe that we can fly. If we did not believe that we could fly, we would not even attempt to do so. Similarly, we would not look for miracles in this world if we did not believe that miracles were possible. If we see a miracle, we must have already believed, either consciously or unconsciously, that such a miracle was possible. We may attribute such miracles to some form of divine agency, but in fact they are nothing but a product of our own imagination, just as this whole world is a product of our own imagination.

Therefore, if we have understood at least theoretically that all knowledge of duality or otherness is merely a figment of our own imagination, like all the knowledge we have of things other than ourself in a dream, we will feel no desire to acquire any form of supernatural power or to perform any miracle. If we were able to perform miracles, we may be able to delude other people, but by doing so the first person we would delude is ourself. Therefore, in verse 8 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal* Sri Ramana says:

A conjuror will delude the people of this world without himself being deluded, [my] son, but a *siddha* [a person who has acquired *siddhis* or miraculous powers] deludes the people of this world and is himself [also] deluded [believing his own powers and miracles to be real]. What a wonder this is!

Whatever supernatural power of knowing we may have, whether the power to know what other people are thinking, the power to know what will happen in the future, or the power to know what is happening in faraway places, such power is only a power to know something other than ourself, and it cannot help us to know ourself. All such powers are therefore only a means of self-deception, and cannot be a means to true self-discovery.

No knowledge of anything other than ourself can be true knowledge, because all such knowledge is acquired by us through the delusive and self-deceiving consciousness that we call our 'mind'. The only knowledge that is true or real is the correct and uncontaminated knowledge of our own real self – our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

The knowledge of anything other than 'I am' is merely a form of imagination, and is therefore not really knowledge but only ignorance. Therefore if we wish to attain true knowledge, without which we cannot experience true and perfect happiness, we should not waste our time and energy practising meditation, *yoga* or any other occult technique with an aim to acquire any form of supernatural power.

Since we know from our own experience in dream that our mind has the power to create an entire world within itself, and since we therefore have to suspect that even this world that we experience in our present waking state is likewise a mere creation of our mind, we know that our mind is already endowed with immeasurable power. However, all the wonderful power of our mind – all its present power and all its potential power – is nothing but the power of our own imagination.

Moreover, all such power is only a power of extroversion, a power that is directed outwards, away from ourself, and therefore it only serves to delude us and to obscure from our experience the clarity of true self-consciousness or self-knowledge, which always exists in the core of our being. That is, since the outward-going power of our mind, the power of our mind to know anything other than ourself, is the power of *maya*, the power of delusion or self-deception, it is the obstacle that stands in the way of our knowing our real self.

Hence, if we attempt to increase the outward-going power of our mind in any way, we will merely succeed in increasing the density of our ignorance – the density of the cloud of false knowledge that obscures our ever-existing inner clarity of true self-knowledge. Therefore, in verse 16 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana asks:

Since [absolute] peace [or calmness] of mind alone is *mukti* [liberation from the bonds of self-ignorance or delusion], which is [in truth always] attained, tell [me], how can those whose minds are bound to [the desire for] *siddhis* [supernatural powers of mind], which cannot be attained without activity of mind, immerse in the bliss of *mukti*, which is [completely] devoid of movement [oscillation, wavering or activity] of mind?

The opening words of this verse, *chittattin santi*, which literally mean 'peace of mind', denote the state in which our mind has subsided and dissolved in the absolute peace of mere being, which is completely devoid of any kind of movement or activity. Only in that state of absolute peace and calmness can we experience full and perfect clarity of true self-knowledge.

This peaceful state of true self-knowledge is often described as being the state of *mukti*, which means 'liberation' or 'emancipation', because only true self-knowledge can free us from our bondage to

finite existence, which is caused by our self-ignorance — our imaginary delusion that we are something other than the infinite and absolute reality, which is what we really are. Sri Ramana describes this state of *mukti* as being *siddha*, which means 'attained', because it is in truth our ever-existing or eternally attained natural state of being.

Sri Ramana expresses the central idea in this verse in the form of a rhetorical question, a question whose answer is clearly implied in its wording. Since we can experience infinite and absolute happiness only in the perfectly peaceful state of liberation or true self-knowledge, the state in which all mental activity has ceased, it is obvious that we cannot experience such happiness if we allow our mind to be bound by the desire for any form of *siddhi*, supernatural or miraculous power of mind, because all such mental powers can be attained only by mental activity.

So long as our mind is active we cannot know our real self, which is perfectly peaceful and inactive being, because our mind becomes active only when we imagine ourself to be the limited form of a particular body. When we do not imagine ourself to be any body, as in sleep, all the restless activity of our mind subsides, and we remain peacefully and happily in the state of mere being.

As soon as our mind rises, either in the state of waking or in a state of dream, we imagine ourself to be a body, and through the five senses of that body we see a world, which we imagine to be separate from ourself. Therefore, since all forms of dualistic knowledge, and all forms of activity, come into existence only when our mind rises, the rising of our mind obscures our natural state of peaceful, blissful and inactive being, in which we experience only the non-dual knowledge of our own real self, 'I am'.

Since the appearance of this world in the waking state, or of any other world in a dream, is caused only by the rising of our mind, we cannot experience the peaceful non-dual state of true self-knowledge so long as we perceive this world. Therefore in the third paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says:

If [our] mind, which is the cause of all [dualistic, relative or

objective] knowledge and of all activity, subsides [becomes still, disappears or ceases to exist], [our] perception of the world will cease. Just as knowledge of the rope, which is the base [that underlies and supports the appearance of the snake], will not arise unless knowledge of the imaginary snake ceases, svarupa-darsana [true experiential knowledge of our own essential nature or real self], which is the base [that underlies and supports the appearance of the world], will not arise unless [our] perception of the world, which is an imagination [or fabrication], ceases.

The world and everything else that we know – except our own real self, our non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am' – is merely a figment of our imagination, a fabrication or illusion created by our own mind, which is the power of *maya*, our delusive and self-deceiving power of imagination. Therefore in the seventh paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says:

That which actually exists is only *atma-svarupa* [our essential self]. The world, soul and God [which are the three basic elements of finite existence] are imaginations [or fabrications] in it [our essential self], like [the imaginary] silver [that we see] in a shell. These three [basic elements of relativity or duality] appear at the same time [such as when we rise up from sleep] and disappear at the same time [such as when we subside in sleep]. [Our] *svarupa* [our 'own form' or essential self] alone is the world; [our] *svarupa* alone is 'I' [the consciousness that appears as our individual self, our mind or soul]; [our] *svarupa* alone is God; everything is *siva-svarupa* [our essential self, which is *siva*, the absolute and only truly existing reality].

Since our individual self or soul, and the world and God (that is, God as a separate entity) that appear along with it, are all mere imaginations superimposed upon the one fundamental reality, which is our own real self, their appearance prevents us from experiencing that reality as it actually is, that is, as our own absolutely inactive, non-dual, self-conscious being. Therefore we cannot experience the true nature of our own real self unless we cease imagining the

existence of any such form of duality or relativity.

Any world that we may perceive is nothing but a series of mental images or thoughts that we form in our mind by our power of imagination. Since the world is therefore nothing but our own thoughts, and since the root of all our thoughts is our primary thought 'I am this body', the appearance of the world, which includes the appearance of the body that we mistake to be ourself, obscures our true knowledge of ourself – our non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'. This process of obscuration is explained clearly by Sri Ramana in the fourth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

That which is called 'mind' is an atisaya sakti [an extraordinary or wonderful power] that exists in atma-svarupa [our essential self]. It projects all thoughts [or causes all thoughts to appear]. When [we] see [what remains] having removed [relinquished, discarded, dispelled, erased or destroyed] all [our] thoughts, [we will discover that] solitarily [separate from or independent of thoughts] there is no such thing as 'mind'; therefore thought alone is the svarupa [the 'own form' or basic nature] of [our] mind. Having removed [all our] thoughts, [we will discover that] there is no such thing as 'world' [existing separately or independently] as other [than our thoughts]. In sleep there are no thoughts, [and consequently] there is also no world; in waking and dream there are thoughts, [and consequently] there is also a world. Just as a spider spins out [a] thread from within itself and again draws [it back] into itself, so [our] mind projects [this or some other] world from within itself and again dissolves [it back] into itself. When [our] mind comes out from atma-svarupa [our essential self], the world appears. Therefore when the world appears, svarupa [our 'own form' or essential self] does not appear [as it really is, that is, as the absolute and infinite non-dual consciousness of just being]; when svarupa appears (shines) [as it really is], the world does not appear. If [we] go on investigating the nature of [our] mind, 'tan' alone will finally appear as [the one underlying reality that we now mistake to be our] mind. That which is [here] called 'tan' [a

Tamil reflexive pronoun meaning 'oneself' or 'ourself'] is only atma-svarupa [our own essential self]. [Our] mind stands only by always following [conforming or attaching itself to] a gross object [a physical body]; solitarily it does not stand. [Our] mind alone is spoken of as sukshma sarira [our 'subtle body', that is, the subtle form or seed of all the imaginary physical bodies that our mind creates and mistakes to be itself] and as jiva [our 'soul' or individual self].

The world that we imagine we perceive outside ourself is in fact nothing but our own thoughts, a series of mental images that our mind projects from within itself, and experiences within itself. It is therefore a creation and projection of our own mind, just like the world that we experience in a dream.

Since our thoughts are the veil that obscures our true nature, which is perfect peace and happiness, our experience of thoughts and the world created by our thoughts is the real cause of all our unhappiness. As Sri Ramana says at the end of the fourteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* (a complete translation of which is given in the final pages of the first chapter):

... What is called the world is only thought. When the world disappears, that is, when thought ceases, [our] mind experiences happiness; when the world appears, it experiences unhappiness.

The happiness that we experience when the world disappears along with all our other thoughts is our own real self, our essential being. Though Sri Ramana says that our mind experiences happiness when our thoughts cease, that which actually experiences happiness at that time is not our mind as such, but is only our true self, which is the sole reality underlying the false appearance of our mind. Our mind as such is only thoughts. In the absence of thoughts, what remains is not our mind but only our own essential being — our pure self-consciousness, 'I am', which is ever uncontaminated by any thought.

So long as we attend to thoughts, our mind appears to exist, but when we turn our attention away from all thoughts to scrutinise the essential consciousness aspect of our mind, we will discover that our mind is truly not a separate entity but is only our own real self, the nature of which is non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am'. This is what Sri Ramana means in the fourth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* when he says cryptically, "If [we] go on investigating the nature of [our] mind, 'self' alone will finally appear as [our] mind".

The Tamil verb *mudiyum*, which I have here translated as 'will finally appear', literally means 'will end', but also has many other meanings such as 'will be accomplished', 'will be complete' or 'will appear'. When he says, "... 'self' alone will end as mind", he means that when we persistently scrutinise the essential nature of our mind we will finally discover that what now appears to be our mind is in fact nothing other than our real self, our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. He expresses this same truth in verse 17 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

When [we] scrutinise the form of [our] mind without forgetfulness, [we will discover that] there is no such thing as 'mind' [separate from or other than our real self]. For everyone, this is the direct path [the direct means to experience true self-knowledge].

We are nothing but pure and absolute consciousness – not consciousness of anything other than ourself, but just consciousness of our own essential being, which we always experience as 'I am'. When we imagine that we are conscious of anything other than 'I am', we appear to be our mind, a separate object-knowing consciousness. But when we examine this consciousness that appears to know things other than itself, it will dissolve and disappear, and what will remain is only our true non-dual consciousness of being, because there is truly no such thing as 'mind' other than our fundamental and essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

When our mind appears, the world appears along with it. The appearance of the world depends upon the appearance of our mind. But our mind cannot stand alone without a world. Whenever our mind appears, it does so by attaching itself to a physical body, which it mistakes to be itself. The body which we mistake to be ourself is a

part of the world, but due to our identification of that one particular body as 'I', we create an artificial distinction between what we imagine to be ourself and what we imagine to be other than ourself.

This false distinction is created by our mind, but without it our mind cannot stand. Though the world is its own imaginary creation, our mind cannot imagine a world without simultaneously imagining itself to be a particular body in that world.

This is why in the fourth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says, "[Our] mind stands only by always following [conforming or attaching itself to] a gross object [a physical body]; solitarily it does not stand". This is our experience in both waking and dream. We never experience our mind without feeling ourself to be a particular body in a seemingly objective world. Therefore Sri Ramana often described our mind as the consciousness 'I am this body', for which he sometimes used the traditional Sanskrit term *dehatma buddhi*, which literally means 'body-self sense', that is, the sense, feeling, thought or imagination that our body is ourself. He also says that our mind is what is called the *sukshma sarira* or 'subtle body', because it is the seed or subtle form of all the imaginary physical bodies that it creates by its power of imagination and mistakes to be itself.

Our imagining a particular body to be 'I' is prerequisite to our perception of the world, because it is through the five senses of the body that we imagine to be ourself that we perceive the world. As Sri Ramana says, this world is projected by our mind, and in the process of this projection, the five senses of our body function like the lens in a cinema projector. Though we feel that we perceive the world through our five senses, we in fact not only perceive it but also project it through our senses.

Just as thinking is a two-fold process of forming and experiencing thoughts in our mind, so perception is a two-fold process of projecting and experiencing the world. Forming a thought and experiencing it are not two separate actions, but are just two inseparable aspects of the single process of thinking. Similarly, projecting external objects and experiencing them are not two separate actions, but are just two inseparable aspects of the single

process of perception.

Thinking and perception are both processes of imagination. The only difference between them is that we recognise that the thoughts we think exist only in our own mind, whereas we imagine that the world we perceive exists outside our mind. However, this distinction is not real, but exists only in our own imagination.

In a dream we imagine that the world we perceive at that time exists outside our mind, but when we wake up we recognise that it actually existed only within our mind. The world that we perceive now in this so-called waking state is experienced by us in exactly the same manner that we experience that world in our dream, so we have no valid or adequate reason to suppose that it is not merely a figment of our imagination, just as that other world was.

In both waking and dream we first experience a body, which we mistake to be ourself, and then through the five senses of that body we experience a world that seems to exist outside ourself. Whenever we experience a body as ourself and a world as existing outside ourself, whether in waking or in dream, that experience appears to us to be real. Only after waking up from a dream are we able to recognise without the least doubt that it was only a figment of our imagination, a projection of our own mind.

In a dream the body that we mistake to be ourself is a projection of our own mind. When we begin to dream, the first thing we do is simultaneously to imagine a body and to delude ourself into experiencing that body as ourself. Without this self-induced delusion that an imaginary body is ourself, we could not experience the imaginary world that we perceive at that time. Whenever we perceive a world, we always do so from within the confines of a particular body, which we feel to be ourself.

Hence our perception of any world is dependent upon our imagining ourself to be a body in that world, which in turn is dependent upon our mind, the finite consciousness that imagines itself to be that body. Therefore in verses 5, 6 and 7 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

[Our] body [is] a form [composed] of five sheaths [the pancha

kosas or five adjuncts that seemingly cover and obscure our consciousness of our real self when we imagine any of them to be ourself]. Therefore all five [of these 'sheaths' or adjuncts] are included in the term 'body'. Without [some kind of] body, is there [any such thing as a] world? Say, having left [all kinds of] body, is there [any] person who has seen [this or any other] world?

The world [is] nothing other than a form [composed] of five [kinds of] sense perception [sight, sound, smell, taste and touch]. Those five [kinds of] sense perception are objects [known] to [our] five sense organs. Since [our] mind alone cognises the world through [these] five sense organs, say, without [our] mind is there [any such thing as a] world?

Though the world and [our] mind rise and subside as one [that is, together and simultaneously], the world shines [or is known only] by [our] mind. Only that [our own real self] which shines without [ever] appearing or disappearing as the space [or base] for the appearing and disappearing of the world and [our] mind [is] *porul* [the true substance, essence or absolute reality], which is the whole [the infinite totality of all that is].

Sri Ramana begins verse 5 by saying that our body is a form composed of five sheaths, and that all these five sheaths are therefore included in the term 'body'. As we saw when we discussed the meaning of verse 22 of *Upadesa Undiyar* in the final pages of the previous chapter, the *pancha-kosas* or 'five sheaths' are our physical body, the life-force in our body, our mind, our intellect and the darkness of relative ignorance that we experience in sleep.

These five 'sheaths' or adjuncts appear to obscure our natural consciousness of our real self because we imagine ourself to be one or more of them in each of our three usual states of consciousness, waking, dream and sleep. In waking and dream we experience ourself as a combination of four of our five sheaths – a physical body, the life in that body, our mind and our intellect – and hence through the five senses of our physical body we experience a world of material objects.

In sleep, on the other hand, we cease to experience ourself as any of those outer four sheaths. Instead we identify ourself with our innermost sheath, which is a seeming darkness or ignorance, because we imagine ourself to be unconscious of anything, and hence at that time we do not know any world other than that darkness.

We perceive a physical world only when we imagine ourself to be a physical body in that world. Therefore in verse 5 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana asks, "... Without [some kind of] body, is there [any such thing as a] world? Say, having left [all kinds of] body, is there [any] person who has seen [this or any other] world?".

In verse 6 he points out the obvious truth that everything that we call the 'world' is just a combination of the five types of sense perception – sights, sounds, smells, tastes and tactile sensations – which we experience through the medium of our five sense organs. However, that which actually experiences these five types of sense perception is only our mind. Therefore Sri Ramana asks, "... Since [our] mind alone cognises the world through [these] five sense organs, say, without [our] mind is there [any such thing as a] world?".

That is, the appearance of any world depends not only upon our body, through the five senses of which we perceive it, but also upon our mind, which is the consciousness that actually knows it. This dependence of the appearance of any world upon our mind is further emphasised by Sri Ramana in verse 7, in which he says, "Though the world and [our] mind rise and subside together, the world shines by [our] mind".

What exactly does he mean by saying that the world shines by our mind? Here the word *olirum* or 'shines' means 'appears', 'becomes perceptible' or 'is known'. That is, the world appears or is known only due to our mind, which is the consciousness that cognises it.

Any world appears or is known only when our mind attends to it. In our present waking state this world appears because our mind attends to it, whereas in dream some other world appears because at that time our mind is attending to it. Therefore our mind does not depend upon the appearance of any particular world, whereas the

appearance of any particular world does depend upon our mind.

Though the world and our mind both appear and disappear, underlying their appearance and disappearance is a reality that neither appears nor disappears. That reality is our own real self – our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being, which we always experience as 'I am'. In both waking and dream our mind appears along with a world, whereas in sleep our mind and all worlds disappear. However in all these three states we continue to experience ourself as 'I am'.

Since our essential self-consciousness — our knowledge that we are — persists even in the absence of our mind, it is clearly more real than our mind. Since it transcends all the limitations that are experienced by our mind, it is not limited in any way, and hence it is both infinite and absolute. It is the one enduring reality, and hence it is the true substance that appears as our mind, our body, this world and every other thing.

Therefore, referring to our basic self-consciousness 'I am', which we experience continuously, Sri Ramana concludes verse 7 by expressing his own transcendent experience of true self-knowledge:

... Only that which shines without [ever] appearing or disappearing as the space [or base] for the appearing and disappearing of the world and [our] mind [is] *porul* [the true substance, essence or absolute reality], which is the whole [the infinite totality of all that is].

Just as a rope appears to be a snake without ever ceasing to be a rope, so our non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', which is the one absolute reality, appears as our mind and all the duality experienced by our mind without ever ceasing to be what it really is.

Sri Ramana summarises the truth that he expresses in the above three verses of *Ulladu Narpadu* in verse 99 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

[This or any other] world does not exist without [a corresponding] body [that we imagine to be ourself], [any such] body does not exist at any time without [our] mind, [our] mind does not exist at any time without [our essential] consciousness, and [our essential] consciousness does not exist at any time

without [our true] being [our own reality or 'am'-ness].

The existence of any world is dependent upon the body through which we perceive it. The existence of any such body is dependent upon our mind, which experiences it as 'I'. The existence of our mind is dependent upon our essential consciousness, without which it could not know either its own existence or the existence of any other thing.

How exactly does this sequence of dependence take place? Our real consciousness – that is, our basic self-consciousness 'I am' – does not depend upon any other thing, because it always exists and knows its own existence. Our mind, on the other hand, does not always exist, or at least it does not always know its own existence. It knows its own existence only in waking and dream, but not in sleep. It appears to know its own existence only when it superimposes an imaginary body upon our real self-consciousness 'I am', thereby experiencing that body as 'I', and only after it has thus imagined itself to be a body is it able to experience a world through the five senses of that body. Therefore the appearance of the world depends upon our body, the appearance of our body depends upon our mind, and the appearance of our mind depends upon our essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

After expressing this sequence of dependence, Sri Ramana concludes by saying, "... consciousness does not exist at any time in the absence of being". By saying this, he does not mean to imply that consciousness is some separate thing that is dependent upon being, but only that consciousness itself is being.

If consciousness were other than being, it would not be – that is, it would not exist – and hence it could not know either itself or any other thing. Similarly, if being were other than consciousness, it could not know itself, and hence it would have to depend upon some consciousness other than itself in order to be known. Hence in order to be independently and therefore absolutely real, being must be conscious of itself, and consciousness must be.

The real being is only our own being, because our being is selfconscious, whereas the seeming being or existence of every other thing is known only by us, and is therefore dependent upon us. Since our being is self-conscious, it is a perfectly non-dual consciousness, and hence it is not dependent upon any other thing either to be or to be known to be. Being completely independent, it is free from all forms of limitation, all conditions and all relativity. It is therefore the one infinite and absolute reality.

In this verse of *Guru Vachaka Kovai* the word that I have translated as 'being' is *unmai*, which usually means 'truth' or 'reality', but which etymologically means 'is'-ness or 'am'-ness. Since real being or 'am'-ness is self-conscious, it is not an objective form of being, but is the one infinite reality that underlies and supports the appearance of all objectivity or duality. It is the fundamental consciousness that makes the appearance of all other things possible.

Since our mind, our body, this world and every other conceivable thing depend upon our non-dual self-conscious being, and since they all appear and disappear, they are all mere imaginary appearances, and the sole reality that underlies and supports their appearance is only our own being or consciousness. In other words, the one substance that appears as everything is only our own essential being-consciousness, 'I am'.

Whereas every other thing is only relatively real, being a mere imagination, our own consciousness is the one and only absolute reality. In essence, therefore, everything is only our own consciousness. Hence our consciousness alone is real. Other than it, nothing truly exists. This is the final conclusion to which Sri Ramana leads us.

However, understanding theoretically that everything is only our own consciousness is not an end in itself. Sri Ramana leads us to this conclusion in order to convince us that the only means by which we can experience the absolute reality is to experience ourself as the infinite non-dual consciousness of being that we really are. In order to experience ourself thus, we must divert our attention away from all other things, and focus it wholly and exclusively upon ourself – that is, upon our own self-conscious being, which we always

experience as 'I am'.

Our present knowledge of duality or otherness is what obstructs us from experiencing our own consciousness as the adjunct-free and absolutely non-dual self-consciousness that it truly ever is. Since our knowledge of duality arises only when we imagine ourself to be a body, we cannot experience ourself as the infinite, undivided, nondual and absolute reality so long as we experience the seeming existence of any other thing.

In order to remove our imaginary knowledge of duality, we must cease to imagine ourself to be this or any other body, and in order to cease imagining ourself thus, we must know ourself as we really are. Our mind rises, imagining itself to be a body and thereby experiencing things that appear to be other than itself, only because of our self-ignorance, and hence it will be destroyed only by true self-knowledge.

Our primal imagination that we are a physical body is the foundation upon which our mind is built. Whenever our mind rises, whether in a dream or in a so-called waking state, it always imagines itself to be a body. Without this fundamental imagination 'I am this body', it could not rise and imagine any other thing.

When our mind is active, perceiving the world or thinking thoughts (all of which pertain to the world in one way or another), we always feel, 'I am a person called so-and-so, I am distinct from this world around me, and from all the other people and creatures that I see in this world', and these feelings are all rooted in our fundamental imagination that a particular body is ourself. Whatever else we may be experiencing, this fundamental imagination 'I am this body' is always there in the background, underlying all our experiences.

In our essential nature, we are just formless consciousness, and as such we do not think any thoughts or experience anything other than 'I am'. We experience this natural state of formless consciousness in deep sleep, which is a state in which we know nothing other than our essential being, 'I am'. The fact that we can be and can know our being in the formless state of deep sleep clearly indicates that in our

essential nature we are not any form, but are just formless consciousness of being.

Though we are formless consciousness, in the waking and dream states we imagine ourself to be the form of a particular body. The form-bound consciousness that seemingly comes into existence when we thus attach ourself to a body is what we call our 'mind'. Our mind, which in reality is just formless consciousness, forms itself as a form-bound consciousness by imagining itself to be the form of a particular body.

The basic form that our mind takes upon itself is its fundamental imagination 'I am this body'. This fundamental imagination is itself our mind. Other than this imagination 'I am this body', our mind does not exist as a separate entity. Our mind arises only when it forms itself as this fundamental imagination, and only after forming itself thus does it begin to form all its other imaginations. Therefore the root of all imagination is our primal imagination 'I am this body'.

In the fifth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana describes more about this primal imagination 'I am this body', which he refers to as the thought 'I' that rises in this body:

What rises in this body as 'I', that alone is [our] mind. If [we] investigate in what place the thought 'I' rises first in [our] body, [we] will come to know that [it rises first] in [our] heart [the innermost core of our being]. That alone is the birthplace of [our] mind. Even if [we] remain thinking 'I, I', it will take [us] and leave [us] in that place. Of all the thoughts that appear [or arise] in [our] mind, **the thought 'I' alone is the first thought**. Only after this rises do other thoughts rise. Only after the first person appears do the second and third persons appear; without the first person the second and third persons do not exist.

Though our body is an imagination, an image that our mind has formed within itself, our mind cannot rise without imagining this mental image to be itself. Such is the enigmatic nature of *maya*, our self-deceptive power of imagination.

Being a mental image, our body actually exists only in our mind,

but we delude ourself into imagining that our mind exists only within our body. As a result of this delusion, when our mind rises we feel that it rises within the confines of our body.

The limited feeling 'I' that rises within this body, mistaking it to be itself, is our mind. Though this feeling 'I', which is a thought or mental image, seems to arise or originate within this body, if we scrutinise it keenly in order to ascertain from where in this body it originates, we will discover that it does not actually originate from any place within this body, but only from the innermost core of our being.

In spiritual literature this innermost core of our being, which is our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am', is what is called our 'heart' or *hridaya*. As Sri Ramana often explained, the word 'heart' in this context does not denote any organ within our body, but is synonymous with our real self, the formless and infinite spirit, which is the absolute reality and which we always experience as our fundamental consciousness of mere being, 'I am'.

Our fundamental consciousness 'I am' is referred to as our 'heart' or the core of our being because we experience it as the centre from which we experience all other things. In every experience and every knowledge our fundamental consciousness 'I am' is present as both the centre and the base.

All our knowledge is based upon and centred in our first and fundamental knowledge 'I am'. All our other forms of knowledge appear and disappear, but this knowledge or consciousness 'I am' remains as our only constant and unchanging knowledge. It is therefore the 'heart' or core of all that we consider to be ourself, and of all that we as an individual know, experience and do.

Because it is the source from which our mind and everything known by our mind arises, Sri Ramana says that our 'heart' or real self is the 'birthplace' of our mind. Though he uses the word 'place' to denote the core or 'heart' of our being, he does not use it in the literal sense of a place existing within the limited dimensions of time and space, but only in a figurative sense. That is, though the core of our being is not confined within the limits of time and space, he

refers to it figuratively as a 'place' because we always experience it as the central point in time and space, as the 'now' and 'here', the single point from which we perceive and conceive all other points in time and space.

Some people appear to have difficulty in understanding the simple fact that our true being is formless and infinite consciousness, presumably because they are either unable or unwilling to conceive of any consciousness beyond their present finite consciousness of themself as a physical body. Because they cannot conceive that they are anything more than their limited mind-body complex, and because some of them are therefore enamoured by the idea of *chakras* or mystic centres located at certain points within the physical body, such people often used to ask Sri Ramana at which point in the physical body the *hridaya* or spiritual 'heart' is located. Knowing that such people were unable or unwilling to comprehend the simple truth that the word 'heart' truly denotes the infinite reality, the formless spirit or consciousness, Sri Ramana used to appease their curiosity by saying that the spiritual 'heart' is located two digits to the right from the centre of our chest.

The reason why he specified this particular point as being the location of the 'heart' in our physical body is that this is the point in our body at which our sense of 'I' appears to originate and from which it spreads throughout our body. However this location of our 'heart' is not absolutely true, but is true only relative to our body. This location is only as real as our body, and our body is no more real than our mind, of which it is a creation. Since our body is a mere imagination, like the whole world of which it is a part, how can any point in it be our true 'heart', the core of our being, which is the infinite and absolute reality?

Therefore, to all people who were able to understand the simple truth of his teaching, namely that our essential self is the sole reality, and that our mind and everything known by it except 'I am' is a mere figment of our self-deceiving imagination, Sri Ramana often emphasised the truth that the spiritual 'heart' is not any place in our body but is only our own real self, our fundamental and essential

consciousness of being, 'I am'.

Not only is the location of our spiritual 'heart' in this physical body merely a relative truth, it is also a truth which is of no practical value. When someone once asked him whether we should meditate on the right side of our chest in order to meditate upon our spiritual heart, he replied, "The 'heart' is not physical. Meditation should not be on the right or on the left. Meditation should be on our self. We all know 'I am'. What is this 'I'? It is neither inside nor outside, nor is it on the right or on the left. 'I am' – that is all". For practical purposes, all we need know about the spiritual 'heart' is that it is our basic consciousness 'I am', which is the core of our being, and the centre of all that we experience.

In this fifth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana teaches that the means by which we can experience a clear knowledge of this 'heart', which is the source or 'birthplace' of our mind, is to keenly scrutinise our primal thought 'I' in order to ascertain from 'which place' or from what it has originated. Though he expresses this process of self-investigation or *vichara* by saying, "If [we] investigate in what place the thought 'I' rises first in [our] body, [we] will come to know that [it rises first] in [our] heart. That alone is the birthplace of [our] mind", this is essentially the same process that he expresses more directly in the sixth paragraph (which we cited in full earlier in this chapter) by saying, "If [we] investigate 'who am I?', [our] mind will return to its birthplace".

Our mind or attention returns to its source or 'birthplace', the innermost core of our being, whenever we cease thinking of anything other than our own essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am'. Our mind rises from its source only by thinking, that is, by imagining and attending to anything other than itself, so it naturally subsides and merges in its source whenever it stops thinking. This subsidence and merging of our mind in our essential being happens every day when we fall asleep. However in sleep we do not experience a clear unclouded knowledge of our true being, because we subside in sleep only by withdrawing our attention from other things, but without focusing it keenly upon our

own consciousness of being – our essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

Our mind rises due to the cloud of self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance with which we have seemingly obscured our natural clarity of pure self-consciousness. We mistake ourself to be this finite body-bound consciousness called 'mind' only because we have chosen seemingly to ignore our true being, the infinite and uncontaminated consciousness 'I am'. This voluntary self-ignorance or self-forgetfulness persists until we choose to remember what our true being really is. We can remember what we really are only by focusing our attention wholly and exclusively upon our essential being, our consciousness 'I am', because the true nature of our essential being is pure non-dual self-consciousness.

Since we subside and merge in the state of sleep without focusing our attention wholly and exclusively upon our essential consciousness of being, 'I am', the cloud of our self-ignorance or self-forgetfulness continues to exist in sleep. The ordinary sleep that we experience every day is just a state in which our mind rests from its ceaseless activity and recuperates its energy to engage in more activity. By temporarily merging and becoming one with its original source, which is the true source of all power, our mind is able to recharge its energy, which it then expends on another bout of activity in either waking or dream. Having expended its limited supply of energy, our mind must again merge in sleep to renew that supply.

No machine can gain energy merely by ceasing to be active. We cannot recharge a battery simply by ceasing to use it for a while. In order to recharge it, we have to connect it to some source of power, such as the mains electricity or a generator. Likewise, our mind does not renew its energy in sleep merely because it is inactive. It does so because in sleep it is connected to a source of power, which is our own essential being. The power that our mind derives by remaining for a while in sleep does not come from anywhere outside ourself. It comes only from a source within ourself, and that source is our own real self or spirit, the essential nature of which is our mere consciousness of being – our self-consciousness 'I am'.

In sleep all that we experience is 'I am'. But by merely experiencing this consciousness 'I am' for a while, our mind is able to recharge its energy. However, though we do experience the knowledge 'I am' in sleep, we do not experience it with perfect clarity. Though our mind has subsided in sleep together with all its knowledge of other things, the clouding influence of our basic self-forgetfulness persists. Therefore though in sleep we know *that we are*, we do not clearly know *what we are*.

The reason why we do not clearly know what we are in sleep is that we subside in that state merely by withdrawing our attention from other things, but without focusing it upon ourself. In order to know what we are, we must focus our attention keenly upon our own essential being. This focusing of our attention wholly and exclusively upon ourself, our consciousness of being, 'I am', is what Sri Ramana calls 'self-investigation' or *atma-vichara*.

Sri Ramana describes this simple process of 'self-investigation' in various different ways, each of which is suited to a particular context. In the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, in the context of how we should deal with other thoughts, which tend to distract us whenever we try to attend to our mere being, he describes it as a process of investigating, 'To whom do these thoughts occur? To me. Who am I?'. In the fifth paragraph, in the context of how our mind always rises as a limited sense of 'I' that is seemingly confined within a body, he describes it as a process of investigating in what place the thought 'I' rises first in our body.

Because our mind always rises in a body by imagining that body to be 'I', Sri Ramana says that we should investigate in what place it rises in our body. However he explains that when we do so we will discover that it does not actually rise from any place within our physical body but only from our 'heart', the non-physical core of our being.

In order to ascertain from where our mind rises as 'I', we must focus our attention keenly upon the essential consciousness that we experience as 'I'. When we do so, our attention will automatically be withdrawn from our body and from everything else, and will be centred entirely in our basic sense of being – our own fundamental self-consciousness, 'I am'. Therefore, by suggesting that we investigate from where in this body our mind rises as 'I', Sri Ramana is providing us with a trick to divert our attention away from our body towards the essential consciousness that, when seemingly contaminated with our cognition of this body and the world that we perceive through it, enables us to feel that this body is 'I'.

In whatever way he may describe this process of self-investigation or self-scrutiny, the sole aim of Sri Ramana is to provide us with clues that will help us to divert our attention away from our thoughts, our body and all other things, and to focus it wholly and exclusively upon our fundamental and essential consciousness of being, which we always experience as 'I am'. In his writings and sayings there are many examples of how he does this. In this fifth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, for instance, after first suggesting that we should investigate in what place the thought 'I' rises in our body, he goes on to give us a still simpler means by which we can consciously return to the source from which we have risen, saying, "Even if [we] remain thinking 'I, I', it will take [us] and leave [us] in that place".

He expresses this same truth in slightly different words in verse 716 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

Even if [we] incessantly contemplate that [divine] name 'I, I' [or 'I am I'], with [our] attention [thereby fixed firmly] in [our] heart [that is, in our real 'I', which is the core of our being], it will save [us], taking one [that is, ourself] into the source from which [our] mind [or thought] rises [in such a manner as] to destroy [our] ego, [which is] the body-bound embryo [germ, cause or foundation from which all other things arise].

In this verse the words 'that name' refer to the name 'I', 'am', 'I am' or 'I [am] I', which he declared in the preceding verses 712 to 715 to be the original and most appropriate name of God. When we contemplate this name 'I', our attention will be drawn to our basic self-consciousness, which we always experience as 'I am', and thereby our mind will be drawn back to its own source.

When our mind or ego thereby sinks back into our real self, which is the source from which it had risen, it will be destroyed, being consumed in the infinite clarity of unadulterated self-consciousness. Since our mind deludes us, causing us to imagine ourself to be bound within the limitations of a physical body, the destruction of our mind in the clear light of true self-knowledge is the only real salvation, and hence Sri Ramana says that we will be saved by contemplating upon the original name of God, which is 'I', 'I am' or 'I am I'.

Sri Ramana describes our mind as *un ar karu ahandai*, which means the 'ego, [which is] the body-bound embryo', because it comes into existence only by imagining itself to be a body, and because it thereby gives rise to the appearance of all other things. The Tamil word *karu*, which I have translated as 'embryo', also means 'germ', 'efficient cause', 'substance' or 'foundation', and it derives from the Sanskrit word *garbha*, which means 'womb' or 'the interior'. In this context, therefore, it implies that our ego or mind is the embryo or seed from which all duality or otherness is born, the substance of which it is formed, the active cause or creator that brings it all into being, the foundation that supports its appearance, and the womb inside which it is all contained.

Since our body and all other things are imaginary appendages that distract our attention away from our essential self-consciousness 'I am', we can free ourself from them only by keeping our attention fixed firmly upon our self-consciousness. A simple and easy means by which we can draw our attention back towards our self-consciousness, and which will help us to a certain extent to keep it fixed there, is to remember the name 'I' or 'I am' incessantly.

This is a very practical clue given to us by Sri Ramana, and it is particularly useful for those people who initially have difficulty in understanding what exactly is meant by the term 'self-attention'. Such people are so accustomed to objective attention that they cannot understand how we can attend to our non-objective and formless consciousness 'I am', and hence they complain that they cannot find any such thing as 'I' to attend to. Because they imagine

that they must look for an 'I' as if it were some kind of subtle object, they complain that it is too elusive for them to be able to attend to it.

The real cause of their imagined difficulty, however, is that our consciousness 'I' is not an object of any kind, but is the subject that knows all objects. We cannot objectify our first person consciousness 'I', and if we try to do so we will be diverting our attention away from the real 'I' that we should be attending to. Though our consciousness 'I am' is not an object, it is nevertheless something that we always know. None of us doubt the obvious truth 'I am', even though we do not have a perfectly clear knowledge of what exactly this 'I am' is.

Since many people experience such difficulty in grasping exactly what Sri Ramana means when he says that we should attend to our mere consciousness 'I am', he sometimes suggested that they should continuously think 'I, I, I' or 'I am, I am, I am'. If we think thus, our attention will naturally be drawn back to the consciousness that is denoted by the words 'I' and 'I am'.

Whenever we think of the name of a person or an object, a remembrance of that person or object naturally comes to our mind. The thought of any name will bring to our mind the form or thing denoted by that name. Likewise, the thought of the name 'I' or 'I am' will draw our attention to the subject, the non-objective consciousness denoted by that name. Therefore thinking 'I, I, I' is a useful aid to the practice of self-attention, at least until such time as we become familiar with the experience of attending to our mere consciousness of being.

However, since even the verbalised thought 'I' or 'I am' is an object known by us, the practice of thinking 'I, I, I' or 'I am, I am, I am' can become a distraction, preventing our attention from penetrating deep into the consciousness that is actually denoted by the words 'I' or 'I am'. This practice of thinking continuously 'I, I' is therefore beneficial only to a certain extent, but it will drop off naturally when it has become unnecessary, that is, when we have become sufficiently accustomed to the experience of true self-attention. However, even when we have become accustomed to

attending to our mere being, we may sometimes find that thinking 'I, I' or 'I am, I am' a few times can be an aid to divert our attention away from other thoughts and to centre it exclusively upon our own essential self-conscious being.

In this extremely valuable small treatise *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana has given us many other clues that can help us to practise self-attention. For example in the eleventh paragraph, when describing how we must overcome all our *vishaya-vasanas*, our deeply rooted mental impulsions or desires to attend to things other than our own real self, he says:

... If one clings firmly to uninterrupted *svarupa-smarana* [remembrance of one's own essential nature or real self, 'I am'] until one attains *svarupa* [that is, until one attains true knowledge of one's own essential nature], that alone [will be] sufficient. ...

In plain English the Sanskrit term *svarupa-smarana* can best be translated as 'self-remembrance', which is just another way of describing the state of self-attention. However, every word has it own particular flavour, and by using the word *smarana* or 'remembrance' in this context Sri Ramana is able to convey a shade of meaning that would not have been conveyed if he had instead used the word 'attention'. The word 'remembrance' suggests something that we already know but have forgotten or overlooked.

We always know 'I am', but we somehow overlook or ignore it because we are too enthralled by the delusive attraction of other things. If we wish to free ourself of the bondage of attachment to anything other than our own real self, all we need do is to remember uninterruptedly our essential consciousness of being, 'I am'. Since our self-forgetfulness is the root cause of all our unhappiness and all our other problems, self-remembrance is the only antidote that will cure all our problems.

Moreover, whereas terms such as 'self-investigation', 'self-examination', 'self-enquiry', 'self-scrutiny' and 'self-attention' tend to suggest an active process of investigating, examining, enquiring into, scrutinising or attending to ourself, the term 'self-

remembrance' tends to suggest a more passive state of simply remembering ourself. All these words do of course denote the same 'process' or state, which is not actually a process of doing anything, but is only a state of just being. However, though they all denote the same state of just being, each of them depicts that state in a subtly different manner, so Sri Ramana used whichever such term was most appropriate to the context in which he was speaking.

Another two terms that he often used to denote this same state of just being were *atma-nishtha*, which means 'self-abidance', and *atma-chintana*, which literally means 'self-thought' or the 'thought of ourself'. The first of these two terms, 'self-abidance', is particularly significant, because it implies the truth that attending to and knowing ourself is not an action, but is just the state of consciously abiding as our real self, or in other words, simply being what we really are, which is perfectly thought-free self-conscious being. However, the other term, 'self-thought', could easily be mistaken to imply that self-attention is an act of 'thinking' of ourself.

Though these two terms seem to imply conflicting meanings, Sri Ramana uses both of them in the first sentence of the thirteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* in the context of describing the state of complete self-surrender:

Being completely absorbed in *atma-nishtha* [self-abidance], giving not even the slightest room to the rising of any thought except *atma-chintana* [the thought of our own real self], is giving ourself to God. ...

The reason why he uses the term *atma-chintana* or 'self-thought' in this context is to emphasise the fact that in order to abide in the state of perfect self-surrender we should not attend to or 'think of' anything other than our own essential being, 'I am'. If we think of anything else, we rise as this separate object-knowing consciousness that we call our 'mind'. Thinking is therefore what separates us from God. Hence, if we truly wish to surrender our individual self or mind entirely to God, we must refrain from thinking anything.

Why then does Sri Ramana say 'except atma-chintana' in this sentence? He makes this exception because atma-chintana or 'self-

thought' is not actually a thought like any other thought that we think. Thinking of anything other than our true self is an action, and as such it requires the rising of our mind or individual self to perform that action, whereas 'thinking of' our true self is not an action. When we try to 'think of' our true self, our attention turns inwards, towards our essential self-conscious being, and thus our mind subsides in the source from which it originated. This subsidence of our mind in the innermost core of our being, 'I am', which is the true form of God, is the state of true and perfect self-surrender.

Therefore, though *atma-chintana* literally means 'self-thought' or the 'thought of ourself', it is truly not a state of thinking but is simply the state of just being. Whenever Sri Ramana talks about 'thought of ourself', 'thinking of ourself' or 'thinking of I', he is not using the words 'thought' or 'thinking' in a precise sense, but is using them loosely to mean 'attention' or 'attending'.

A thought or the act of thinking is actually just the act of paying attention to something. When we attend to anything other than our essential being, our attention takes the form of an action, which we call 'thinking', but when we attend only to our essential being, our attention remains as being. Therefore if we try to 'think' of ourself – of our true being or 'I am' – our mind will become motionless, all our thinking will cease, and we will remain in the state of just being.

In its strict sense, thinking is the act of forming and experiencing a thought in our mind. Our forming a thought and our experiencing that thought are not two separate actions, because we form a thought by our very act of experiencing or knowing it. As such, thinking is a process of imagination, a process by which we conjure up the experience of images, thoughts or feelings in our mind.

This process of thinking is what gives our mind a seeming identity or separate existence. When we think, we rise as the separate consciousness we call our 'mind', and when we do not think, this mind of ours subsides and dissolves in its source, which is our essential being or true self.

Our mind is the separate and finite consciousness in which we

form and experience all our thoughts or imaginations. However, it is not only that in which all our thoughts are formed and experienced, but also that by which they are formed and experienced. Moreover, since our mind forms itself by its act of thinking, it is itself a thought, a product of its own imagination. Therefore, since our mind always experiences itself as the 'I' which thinks all other thoughts, Sri Ramana often refers to it as the thought 'I'.

In the fifth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, after explaining that this thought 'I', which seems to rise in our body, actually rises from our 'heart', the innermost core of our being, and that by attending to this thought 'I' we can return to that source, Sri Ramana goes on to say:

... Of all the thoughts that appear in [our] mind, the thought 'I' alone is the first thought. Only after this rises do other thoughts rise. Only after the first person appears do the second and third persons appear; without the first person the second and third persons do not exist.

In the clause "the thought 'I' alone is the first thought", which is highlighted in bold type in the original Tamil text, the word that I have translated as 'first' is *mudal*, which has various related meanings such as first, foremost, primary, root, base, basis, origin and cause, all of which are appropriate in this context. Not only is this basic thought 'I' the first thought to rise and the last thought to subside, it is also the origin and cause of all other thoughts. Without it no other thought can rise, because this primal thought 'I' is the thinker that thinks all those other thoughts.

Being not only a thought but also the thinker, it is fundamentally different to all our other thoughts, because it is the knowing subject, whereas they are all just known objects. That is, it is the only thought that is endowed with an element of consciousness. It is conscious both of all other thoughts, and of itself as 'I'. However, because it appears to be limited within the confines of a physical body, it is not a pure uncontaminated form of consciousness, but is a mixture of consciousness and all the limitations of this body that it imagines to be 'I'.

When Sri Ramana says, "Of all the thoughts that appear in [our]

mind...", he means every type of thought, including all our verbalised thoughts, our concepts, our beliefs, our memories, our dreams, our feelings and our perceptions. Except our essential consciousness 'I am', everything that we know is a thought, an impression or image that appears in our mind.

When describing the dependence of all our other thoughts upon our primal thought 'I', Sri Ramana refers to the latter as the 'first person', and the former as the 'second and third persons'. Which of our other thoughts does he refer to as 'second persons', and which does he refer to as 'third persons'? Our 'second person' thoughts are all those thoughts that we recognise as existing only in our own mind, and which we therefore feel are most close and intimate to us, whereas our 'third person' thoughts are all those thoughts that we imagine to be external objects that we perceive through one or more of our five senses.

All our other thoughts – that is, both our 'second person' thoughts and our 'third person' thoughts – arise in our mind only after our 'first person' thought 'I' has arisen. In the absence of our first person thought 'I', neither our second person thoughts nor our third person thoughts can exist. Except our essential consciousness 'I am', everything that we know depends for its seeming existence upon our mind, our first person thought 'I', which is the consciousness that knows them.

Our mind, our compound consciousness 'I am this body', is merely an imagination superimposed upon our real consciousness 'I am', just like an imaginary snake that is superimposed upon a rope. In the dim light of dusk, when we see a rope lying on the ground, we may imagine it to be a snake. But if we look closely at that imaginary snake, we will see that it is in fact nothing but a rope. Similarly, if we look at the compound consciousness 'I am this body' sufficiently closely and keenly, we will discover that it is in reality nothing but the pure and simple consciousness 'I am', and that the adjunct 'this body' is merely an illusion superimposed upon it by our power of imagination.

This illusory body, and all the other objects or thoughts known by

our mind, will continue to appear real so long as we attend to them, just as a dream continues to appear real so long as we experience it. Our power of attention is what gives a seeming reality to the things that we know. The delusion 'I am this body' will therefore be sustained so long as we continue to attend to this body or to any of the objects that we know through the media of its five senses. To disperse this delusion, we must cease attending to any object known by our mind, and must instead turn our attention back on ourself in order to know our underlying consciousness 'I am'.

Therefore in order to experience our real consciousness 'I am' as it is, unlimited and undefiled by identification with any form, we must turn our attention away from all forms – all objective thoughts, feelings or mental images such as our body and this world – towards the one essential element of our mind – our basic consciousness 'I am'. So long as we continue to cling or attend to any form of objective thought, we can never experience our consciousness 'I am' as it really is. Instead, we will continue to delude ourself into believing that our mind and everything known by it are real.

Can anything known by our mind actually be real? Or rather, can anything that we know through the deceptive medium that we call our 'mind' be real? Except our essential self-consciousness 'I am', each and everything that we know is only a thought of some form or another. All thoughts are a form of knowledge, and conversely, all knowledge other than our basic consciousness 'I am' is a form of thought.

All thoughts are known by us only through the medium of our mind, which is our first thought 'I', but our essential consciousness 'I am' is known by us directly, not through our mind or any other medium. All the knowledge that we have of everything other than 'I am' depends for its seeming reality upon the reality of the mind through which we know it. If our mind is unreal, all things known by it must also be unreal, since they are only thoughts that it has formed within itself.

The only thing that appears to be known by our mind yet is nevertheless not dependent upon our mind for its reality is our fundamental consciousness 'I am', because it is not merely a thought that our mind has formed within itself. Even in the absence of our mind, in thought-free states such as sleep, we experience this basic consciousness 'I am'. Moreover, what our mind actually knows is not our consciousness 'I am' as it really is, but is only our consciousness 'I am' obscured by our imagination 'I am this body'. On waking from sleep, the first thing our mind knows is 'I am', but as soon as it knows 'I am' it superimposes upon it this false identification 'I am this body'.

Thus from its very outset our mind is a lie, a false mixture of our fundamental consciousness 'I am' with a physical body composed of inconscient matter. When its most basic knowledge, the knowledge it has of itself, is thus a lie or falsehood, how can we trust any other knowledge that our mind may acquire? All that our mind knows is based upon its first knowledge, its wrong knowledge 'I am this body'. Because it always superimposes this false identification 'I am this body' upon our pure, original and fundamental consciousness 'I am', our mind can never know our pure uncontaminated consciousness as it really is.

The one essential quality of consciousness is that it is always self-conscious – it always knows its own existence or being – and that consciousness of its own existence is what we call 'I am'. However, in addition to knowing its own existence, consciousness sometimes also seems to know other things. When our consciousness thus knows other things, we call it our 'mind'.

The nature of our mind is to know otherness or duality. Our mind is thus a mixed consciousness, a consciousness in which our fundamental knowledge 'I am' is mixed with the knowledge of other things. However, whereas the knowledge of other things is something that appears and disappears, and while appearing constantly undergoes change, our basic knowledge 'I am' does not appear or disappear, but exists permanently and without undergoing any change. Moreover, whereas the knowledge of otherness depends upon our consciousness in order to be known, our basic knowledge 'I am' does not depend upon anything else in order to be known,

because it is itself the consciousness by which all things are known.

Thus in the mixed consciousness that we call our 'mind', what is real is only our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. This fundamental and uncontaminated consciousness 'I am' seems to become the mixed consciousness called 'mind' only when we superimpose upon it the knowledge of other things. But whereas our basic consciousness 'I am' is permanent and therefore real, all our knowledge of other things is merely a temporary appearance, and is therefore unreal. Our consciousness 'I am' alone is real because it alone satisfies all three conditions by which we can judge something to be real. That is, it is permanent, unchanging, and not dependent upon any other thing, either to exist or to be known to exist.

Our mind is a temporary form of consciousness that appears and disappears, and that constantly undergoes change during the time of its appearance. Though it appears to know its own existence as 'I am', it actually borrows this knowledge of its own existence from our real consciousness, which underlies it and gives it a seeming existence of its own.

Our knowledge 'I am' is experienced by us even in sleep, when our mind has disappeared, but when our mind appears in waking or in dream, it usurps from us this basic knowledge 'I am', and masquerades as if this knowledge were its own. Our knowledge or consciousness 'I am' is our real self, and hence it is the one thing that we experience always, but our mind is not our real self, because we only experience it temporarily.

There is therefore a clear distinction between our knowledge 'I am' and our mind, which merely assumes this knowledge in waking and dream, as if it were its own, but is separated from it in sleep. Thus the seeming union of our mind with our knowledge 'I am' is not a real oneness, but is only a transitory appearance. Therefore our mind is not independently conscious of its own existence. To know its own existence as 'I am', it depends entirely upon our real consciousness, without whose support it could not appear to exist.

Being impermanent, constantly subject to change, and entirely dependent upon our real consciousness, both for its seeming

existence and for its seeming knowledge of its own existence, our mind is not real. Whatever reality it appears to have is only relative, and not absolute. That which is only relatively real is not truly real at all, but merely appears to be real. Only that which is absolutely and unconditionally real can be called 'real' in the truest sense of this word.

In the previous chapter we described our mind as our 'knowing consciousness', because its nature is to be always knowing things that it imagines to be other than itself. Since it rises and subsides, or appears and disappears, we can also describe it as our 'rising consciousness', in contrast to our real consciousness, which is our 'being consciousness', the consciousness that just is, and that never rises to know anything other than itself.

Our mind or 'rising consciousness' cannot rise or come into existence without imagining itself to be a distinct and separate entity, and without simultaneously imagining something other than itself to know. It imagines itself to be a separate entity by imagining a physical body and by simultaneously imagining that imaginary physical body to be itself. Thus our mind or 'rising consciousness' rises by imagining 'I am this body', and it simultaneously imagines that it knows things other than itself. Without simultaneously imagining both of these things, our mind cannot rise.

As soon as we wake up from sleep, we feel as if we have woken up or risen in a particular body, which we feel to be ourself, and we simultaneously feel as if we have become aware of a world around us, which we feel to be other than ourself. This feeling of rising as a body and of knowing other things is all an imagination, but so long as we identify ourself with our 'rising consciousness' it appears to us to be quite real.

We are able to know things other than ourself only through the medium of our mind, our limited 'rising consciousness'. Generally we divide all the objects that we know into two broad categories, our thoughts and the external objects perceived by us. In this context the term 'our thoughts' includes all the 'second person' objects known by us, that is, all our thoughts, feelings and emotions, and everything

else that we recognise as existing only in our own mind. The term 'external objects', on the other hand, includes all the 'third person' objects known by us, that is, everything that we perceive through any of our five senses, and that we therefore imagine exists outside of and independent of our mind.

If we are asked whether we think that our thoughts exist apart from our knowledge of them, most of us would readily admit that they can exist only if we know them. We may think that we are only vaguely aware of some of the thoughts in the background of our mind, but any thought exists only to the extent to which we know it. A thought is essentially just an image in our mind, an object that exists only in our own consciousness, and as such it exists only because we know it.

However, though we recognise that for their seeming existence our thoughts depend upon our knowledge of them, we imagine that the external objects that we perceive through our five senses somehow exist independent of our knowledge of them. But this distinction that we make between our 'thoughts' and 'external objects' is false.

Whatever we know, we know only in our own mind. Even the 'external objects' that we think we perceive outside ourself are actually experienced by us only as images in our own mind, and therefore they are also thoughts that we form and know by our power of imagination. Except our basic consciousness of our own being, 'I am', everything that we know is just a thought that we have formed in our mind.

Knowing anything other than ourself is therefore synonymous with thinking. It is a process of imagination, and can happen only when we imaginarily limit our consciousness as something other than the thoughts and objects that we know. Limiting ourself as a mind, a separate individual form of consciousness, is therefore the fundamental and essential factor in the process of thinking or knowing things other than ourself.

Though we usually imagine that our mind rises as soon as we wake up from sleep, and does not subside until we again fall into sleep, our mind actually rises and subsides countless times each second. With the rising of each thought, our mind rises to think and know it, and with the subsidence of each thought our mind momentarily subsides, before rising almost instantaneously to think and know some other thought.

Thinking is essentially a process of forming and simultaneously knowing thoughts. As we discussed earlier, our forming a thought and our knowing that thought are not actually two separate actions, because we form thoughts only by imagining them, and imagination necessarily involves knowing what we imagine.

Since our mind forms its thoughts only by imagining them, and since imagining something essentially involves attending to and knowing a mental image or thought, all thoughts are ultimately formed only by our attention or power of knowing. In other words, our power of imagination, which forms all our thoughts, is just a faculty of our power of knowing or consciousness.

Since at any single moment our mind can attend to and know only one thought, it cannot imagine or form more than one thought at the same time. Therefore, as we discussed in the first chapter, our thoughts rise and subside in our consciousness one at a time. Each consecutive thought can rise or be formed only after the previous thought has subsided or dissolved.

However, because each individual thought rises and subsides in an infinitely small period of time, during each second a countless number of consecutive thoughts can rise and subside in rapid succession. Therefore, because of the rapidity with which thoughts thus rise and subside, our surface mind is unable to discern the rising and subsiding of each individual thought, and therefore cognises only the collective impression formed by a series of such individual thoughts.

This is similar to our eye being unable to discern each individual spot of light on a television screen, as a result of which it cognises only the collective impression formed by a series of such spots covering the entire screen in rapid succession. The picture that we see on the screen of a cathode-ray tube television is formed by many

horizontal lines of light, each of which is formed by many individual spots of light of varying colours and intensity. These individual spots of light, which are known as pixels (the syllable 'pix' standing for pictures, and 'el' standing for element), are formed on the screen one at a time by a ray of electrons discharged from the cathode at the back of the tube. Controlled by the steady sequence of oscillations of the magnetic or electrostatic field through which the ray of electrons is sprayed, in a fraction of a second the entire television screen is covered with a series of pixels of varying colours and intensity, thereby collectively forming a complete picture.

Because each individual pixel is formed only momentarily, and dissolves almost immediately, within a fraction of a second the oscillating ray of electrons is able to form another pixel of different colour and intensity upon the same spot on the screen, and thus in each successive fraction of a second it forms a slightly different picture upon the screen. Because the cognitive power of our eyes is not sufficiently subtle and refined for us to be able to perceive distinctly the rapid formation and dissolution of each individual pixel, or even the slightly less rapid formation and dissolution of each entire picture that is formed on the screen by a single sweep of the ray of electrons, what we cognise is not many rapidly changing individual spots of light but only a complete and continuously changing picture.

Each individual thought that momentarily rises and subsides in our mind is similar to a pixel that is momentarily formed and dissolved on a television screen. Because each individual thought rises or is formed only momentarily, and subsides or dissolves almost immediately, within an infinitely small fraction of a second our mind can form another thought in its place. Because the cognitive power of our mind is usually not sufficiently subtle and refined for us to be able to discern distinctly the extremely rapid formation and dissolution of each individual thought, what we usually cognise is not many rapidly rising and subsiding individual thoughts but only a single but continuously changing flow of thoughts.

However, if we practise being attentive to our infinitely subtle consciousness of being, 'I am', our power of attention or cognition will gradually become more subtle and refined, and eventually we will be able to cognise each individual thought as it rises. When by the practice of self-attentiveness our power of attention is thus refined and made sufficiently subtle to be able to detect distinctly the rising or formation of each individual thought, it will also be able to cognise clearly our pure and essential being, which always underlies and supports the formation of our thoughts, and which momentarily remains alone in the gap between the dissolution of one thought and the formation of our next thought.

When our power of attention or cognition thus becomes sufficiently refined to enable us to experience clearly our essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am', in the clarity of that pure self-consciousness or self-knowledge our mind will be dissolved, being a mere apparition that had risen only due to our lack of clear self-knowledge. That is, since our mind is merely a limited form of consciousness that feels 'I am this body', it cannot arise or be formed in the bright light of true self-knowledge, which shines only as our adjunct-free and therefore unadulterated self-consciousness 'I am'. And since this illusory feeling 'I am this body' is our first and fundamental thought, which is the root or base of all our other thoughts, when this feeling is dissolved by true self-knowledge no other thought will be able to rise or be formed in our consciousness.

As we saw earlier in this chapter, our mind first forms itself as our root thought 'I', and then only does it form each other thought. Our root thought 'I' is the thinker, the agent who thinks all other thoughts. Therefore underlying the formation of each individual thought is the formation of our root thought 'I'.

No thought can be formed without our thought 'I' being formed first. That is, we cannot form any other thought without first forming ourself as the thought 'I', which is the agent that thinks that thought. However, the obvious corollary of this truth is that we cannot form ourself as the thinker or first thought 'I' without simultaneously thinking or forming some other thought.

Without forming some other thought to cling to, we cannot rise as the thinking thought 'I'. The nature of our first thought 'I' is to think other thoughts, and without thinking other thoughts it cannot appear to be formed as a separate individual consciousness. That is, our essential consciousness of being, 'I am', seemingly forms itself into our first thought 'I am this body' only by thinking some other thought.

Therefore, along with the formation and dissolution of each of our other thoughts, our thought 'I' is formed and dissolved. In other words, the repeated formation and dissolution of our fundamental thought 'I' is part and parcel of the formation and dissolution of each of our other thoughts. Hence in the brief gap between the dissolution and formation of each two consecutive thoughts, our mind or root thought 'I' is itself dissolved and re-formed.

Thus this gap between each two thoughts is a miniature sample of sleep, and the rising and subsiding of each thought is a miniature sample of waking or dream. Therefore our states of waking and dream are a macrocosm of which the formation and dissolution of each one of our individual thoughts is the microcosm.

Therefore if we gradually refine our power of attention or cognition by our persistent practice of self-attentiveness, we will eventually be able to cognise the underlying reality that remains between each successive subsidence and subsequent rising of our mind or root thought 'I'. That underlying reality is our essential self-consciousness, which we always experience as 'I am'.

Though we always experience our true self-consciousness 'I am', at present we do not experience it as it really is, because we are experiencing it mixed with the distorting limitation of our mind. Therefore if we are able to experience it clearly in the momentary mind-free gap that exists between the subsidence of one thought and the rising of the next thought, we will be able to know it as it really is, unadulterated by even the slightest form of duality or otherness.

Hence when we practise self-attentiveness, our aim is to experience our own natural self-consciousness unadulterated by even the slightest appearance of our mind or any object known by our mind. Instead of experiencing ourself as a body or any other adjunct, we should attempt to experience ourself clearly as our true adjunct-free self-consciousness 'I am'.

The immediate substratum, background or screen upon which our states of waking and dream, and all our individual thoughts within those states, are formed and dissolved is the state of sleep, in which we experience only our own essential consciousness of being, but in a manner that is somehow not perfectly clear or distinct. However, the ultimate substratum or space in which not only waking and dream but also sleep are formed and dissolved is our true state of self-conscious being, 'I am', in which we experience our fundamental and essential consciousness of being in its full, natural and absolute clarity.

Therefore, since the entire universe and the physical space in which it is contained are nothing but thoughts that we have formed in our mind by our own power of imagination, in *advaita vedanta* it is said that the physical space or *bhutakasa* is contained within the space of our mind or *chittakasa*, and that the space of our mind is contained within the space of our true consciousness or *chidakasa*.

If we can cognise how within our own consciousness we form and dissolve our thoughts, we will have understood the secret of how the entire universe is created and destroyed. To attain first-hand and immediate knowledge of this secret, we need not tax our mind pondering over any of the various religious or scientific theories of the origin of the universe, but need only scrutinise our own consciousness, which is the source from which and the space in which all our thoughts and this entire universe arise, momentarily stand, and then again subside. Both 'Genesis' and the 'Big Bang', which are each believed by certain groups of people to account for the appearance of this universe, occur in our mind every moment, with the formation of each one of our thoughts.

CHAPTER 4

The Nature of Reality

What is reality? What do we mean when we use the nouns 'reality' and 'truth', and their corresponding adjectives 'real' and 'true'? We consider many things to be real or true, but are any of those things absolutely real, or is their reality merely relative? If the reality of something is only relative, can it actually be called real in the strictest sense of the term?

If something is relatively real, it is also relatively unreal. It may appear to be real at certain times or under certain conditions, but it ceases to be real at other times and under other conditions, so its reality is impermanent. Because its reality is dependent upon certain conditions, it is not independently real. Its so-called reality is limited by and relative to the reality of whatever conditions it depends upon, and is therefore imperfect. Being relative, conditional and dependent, it is not real in its own right, but merely appears to be real under certain conditions.

That which appears at one time will inevitably disappear at some other time. Since it is not real either before it appears or after it disappears, it is in truth not real even when it appears to be real. Its seeming reality is only a transitory appearance or apparition, and is therefore not absolutely true. That which appears at one time and disappears at another time merely appears to exist, but does not really exist. That which really exists, that which really is, must be at all times. Hence all temporal forms of existence are mere appearances, and are therefore not real.

Only that which is absolutely, unconditionally, independently and permanently real is real in the strictest sense of the term. That which is perfectly real must be real at all times, in all circumstances and under all conditions. Its reality must not be in any way dependent upon, limited by or relative to any other thing. Moreover, it must not change, or cease to be as it once was.

That which changes exists in one form at one time, and in some other form at some other time, so it has no permanent form of its own. Being impermanent, none of its forms are absolutely real. Moreover, since change occurs within time, that which changes is time-bound, and hence its reality is dependent upon, limited by and thus relative to time. Only that which is unchanging and immutable, therefore, is real in an absolute sense.

Thus a thing can be considered to be absolutely real only if it is permanent, immutable, unaffected by the passing of time and the changing of conditions, independent of any other thing, unlimited by any other thing, and in no way relative to any other thing.

If we are satisfied with things that are impermanent, imperfect, changeable, relative, conditional and dependent, we may take such things to be real. But are any of us really satisfied with such things? Do we not all consciously or unconsciously seek happiness that is permanent, perfect, immutable, absolute, unconditional and independent?

We cannot attain such happiness from anything that is impermanent, imperfect, changeable, relative, conditional and dependent, and therefore we can never be truly satisfied with any such thing. Something that is relatively real can give only relative happiness, and only that which is absolutely real can give absolute happiness.

Therefore, if we are serious in our desire for absolute happiness, we should accept only an absolute definition of reality. If instead we choose to accept a relative definition of reality, we clearly have not understood that what we really desire is only absolute happiness. Because we wrongly think that we can obtain the happiness that we desire from objects and circumstances in this relative and temporal world, we delude ourself into thinking that such relative and transient objects and circumstances are real. However, so long as we continue to believe that such transient and relative things are real, we

can never experience the absolute happiness that we all desire, and that can be found only in that which is absolutely real.

We are all free to choose either to accept the relative as real, or to accept only the absolute as real. Therefore the definition we give to reality is dependent upon what we truly want. If we think we can be satisfied with things that are relative, we will accept a relative definition of reality. But if we understand that we can never be satisfied with any form of relative reality, we will not accept any definition of reality that is not absolute.

Since this book is concerned only with the attainment of absolute happiness and absolutely true knowledge, the definition of reality upon which the reasoning in this book is based is an absolute one. Therefore, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, wherever the nouns 'reality' or 'truth', or the adjectives 'real' or 'true', are used in this book, they should be understood to mean only that which is absolutely, unconditionally, independently, permanently and immutably real.

When we say that our mind, our body and this world, and the God who is believed to have created all these things, are all unreal, we do not mean to deny the fact that they are real in a relative sense. What we mean to say is that they are not absolutely real – permanently, immutably, unconditionally and independently real. They are all transitory appearances that are conceived or perceived by our own mind, and hence their apparent reality depends upon our mind, which is itself impermanent and ever changing.

Though our mind, and all that is known by our mind as other than itself, is unreal, it could not appear to be real if there were not some reality underlying it. The reality that underlies all relativity is absolute. What is the nature of that absolute reality?

Since every form of duality is relative, the absolute reality cannot be more than one. It is therefore single and non-dual. There cannot be more than one absolute reality, because if there were, each such reality would be limited, and would be relative to each other one, and hence none of them would be the unrestricted whole.

To be absolute is to be free of all conditions, restrictions,

limitations and modifying influences – to be infinite, whole, complete, uncontaminated, perfect and independent. Therefore the absolute reality is by definition only one perfectly non-dual whole, apart from which nothing else can exist.

Everything else that appears to exist is not actually other than the one non-dual absolute reality. The absolute reality is like the rope, and everything else is like the snake that that rope is mistaken to be. Just as only the rope really exists, and the snake is merely an imaginary appearance that is superimposed upon it, so the absolute reality alone truly exists, and all the duality and relativity that appears in it is merely an imagination that is superimposed upon it. The absolute reality is not only the substratum underlying the appearance of all duality and relativity, it is their sole substance, because other than it nothing exists.

So long as we see the illusory snake, we cannot see the real rope as it is. Similarly, so long as we experience duality, we cannot know the non-dual absolute reality as it is. Therefore, if we wish to attain true experiential knowledge of the absolute reality, we must stop attributing reality to any form of duality and relativity.

So long as we believe that duality and relativity are real, our mind will continue to attend to them, believing that it can attain real happiness thereby. Only if we are firmly convinced that all forms of duality and relativity are illusory and unreal appearances — mere figments of our own imagination — will we be willing to turn our mind away from them to seek the absolute reality that underlies them.

Does such an absolute reality actually exist, and if so can we attain true experiential knowledge of it? Before deciding whether it actually exists, we must first decide exactly what its nature must be. We have already seen that the absolute reality must be permanent, unchanging, unconditional and independent, but there is one other necessary quality of the reality that we have not yet examined.

According to Sri Ramana, the definition of reality is that it is that which is eternal, unchanging and self-shining. To be eternal is to be permanent, so we have already examined the first two elements of

Sri Ramana's definition, eternal and unchanging. But what does he mean by self-shining, and why should self-shining be a defining quality of the absolute reality?

Self-shining means the quality of knowing oneself by the light of one's own consciousness. If something is known only by some consciousness other than itself, or if it cannot know itself without the aid of some 'light' that is other than itself, it cannot be real, because it must depend on that other thing in order to be known. Since it cannot be known without the aid of that other thing, its seeming reality is dependent upon the reality of that other thing, and hence it is not absolutely real.

If the absolute reality were not consciousness, it could not know itself, and hence it would have to depend upon some consciousness other than itself in order to be known. However, if it had to depend upon anything other than itself for any reason whatsoever, it would not be absolute.

Therefore, a necessary quality of the reality is that it should not only exist permanently and without ever undergoing any form of change, but that it should also know its own existence or being. The absolute reality is, and it knows that it is. That is, it is not only being, but is also the consciousness of being. Since it is non-dual, the absolute reality is both being and consciousness. Its being and its consciousness are not two different things, but are one and the same essence.

But does any such reality actually exist, or is it merely a hypothetical concept? Do we know anything that exists always, that never undergoes any change, and that always knows itself by its own self-shining light of consciousness?

All the objects that we know, and our mind through which we know them, are impermanent and subject to change. Though our mind seems to know itself, it cannot be the absolute reality, because it is impermanent and constantly changing. Our mind seems to exist and to know itself in waking and dream, but in sleep it ceases to know itself, and ceases to exist as the thinking and object-knowing consciousness that we call 'mind'.

However, as we have seen earlier, underlying our mind we have a deeper level of consciousness that continues to know itself in all our three states of consciousness, waking, dream and sleep. This deeper level of consciousness is our fundamental consciousness of our own being – our true and essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

This fundamental and essential consciousness of our own being exists permanently, not only throughout our three normal states of consciousness, but beyond the limits of the life of the physical body that we now imagine to be ourself. Since this physical body is merely an imaginary product of our own mind, just as any body that we mistake to be ourself in a dream is, our mind will retain its power to create imaginary bodies to identify as 'I' even after the life of this body – the dream that we call our present waking life – has come to an end. The existence of our mind is not limited to the lifetime of this present body, because this lifetime is merely one of the many dreams that our mind imagines and experiences in its long sleep of self-forgetfulness. So long as our mind remains in this slumber of self-forgetfulness or lack of clarity of self-knowledge, it will continue to imagine such dreams, and thus it will continue to reappear after each occasion that it disappears temporarily either in sleep or in death. Since the essential foundation that underlies and supports the appearance and disappearance of our mind is our fundamental consciousness of being, 'I am', it endures throughout our sleep of self-forgetfulness, in which so many dreams or so-called lives appear and disappear.

Like our mind, which appears in it, our sleep of self-forgetfulness is just a temporary apparition. Though we seem to lack a clear knowledge of what we really are, this lack of clarity affects only our mind, our superficial object-knowing consciousness. Our real consciousness, which is our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, always knows itself clearly as 'I am'. It is therefore unaffected by the illusory appearance and disappearance of our seeming self-forgetfulness.

Our self-forgetfulness or lack of clarity of self-knowledge exists only in the view of our mind, and not in the view of our real consciousness 'I am'. Therefore our real non-dual consciousness of being exists and knows its own existence eternally, whether or not our sleep of self-forgetfulness appears to occur.

Not only does our fundamental and essential consciousness of being exist eternally, but it also remains without ever undergoing any change. All change is an appearance that is experienced only by our mind, which is a limited and distorted form of our original consciousness of being, 'I am', and not by the true form of this consciousness. That is, our original consciousness of being knows nothing but itself, 'I am', which alone truly exists. Therefore it never knows the illusory appearance of our changeful mind, or any of the ever-changing knowledge of duality that our mind experiences.

Our fundamental consciousness 'I am' therefore remains unaffected by any changes that may appear to occur within it. Whatever we may be doing or thinking, or whatever experiences we may be undergoing, we always know our being, 'I am', even if we do not pay any particular attention to it. Thus from our own experience we clearly know that our essential consciousness of being remains ever unchanged.

Moreover, our fundamental and essential consciousness of our own being is self-shining, because we continue to know ourself as 'I am' both when our mind appears and when it disappears. We require the aid of our mind to know all the imaginary duality that it creates by its power of imagination, but we do not require the aid of anything to know 'I am'. Even in sleep, when our mind and everything else has disappeared, we continue to know 'I am'. In sleep nothing else exists, yet in that absence of all other things our essential consciousness continues to know itself as 'I am'. Since it knows itself without any external aid, our consciousness of our own being is eternally and immutably self-shining.

Thus our consciousness of being is the only thing we experience that has all the essential qualifications required to be the absolute reality. It is eternal, unchanging and self-shining, it is non-dual, it is not affected in the least by the passing of time and the changing of conditions, and it is independent of any other thing, unlimited by any other thing, and in no way relative to any other thing. Therefore, is it not clear that the one and only absolute reality is our essential consciousness of our own being — our fundamental non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'?

When we clearly know that our own self-consciousness is absolutely real, how can we accept that any transitory and relative phenomenon like our mind or any of the things known by it are real? Though they may appear to be real from a relative standpoint, from an absolute standpoint they are all unreal. The only thing that is real in an absolute sense is our non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

As we have seen, our being is itself our consciousness of our being. Our essential being and our essential consciousness are one and the same reality. Since our being is consciousness, it knows itself just by being itself. And as we saw in the first chapter, perfect happiness is only the state in which we remain merely as our essential consciousness of being. That is, being conscious of ourself as mere being is the state of supreme happiness.

Why do we experience perfect happiness when we thus remain as our mere consciousness of being? It is because happiness is our essential nature. Our being is not only consciousness but is also happiness. Our essential being, our essential consciousness and our essential happiness are not three separate things, but are all one and the same reality.

Being, consciousness and happiness appear to be three separate things only in the view of our mind. That is, they appear to be separate only from a relative standpoint. In the limited and distorted view of our mind, we exist throughout the lifetime of our physical body. But though we recognise that we exist whether our mind is in the state of waking, dream or deep sleep, it appears to us that we are conscious only in waking and dream, and that we become unconscious in sleep. And it appears to us that our happiness is even more fleeting than our consciousness. Our experience of happiness appears to be so transient and relative that it even seems to have different degrees of intensity, and to be constantly fluctuating from

one degree to another.

From the relative perspective of our mind, not only do being, consciousness and happiness appear to be three separate things, but they each also appear to have an opposite, and their opposites appear to be as real as them. We imagine that we exist for a certain period of time, and are non-existent at all other times – that we came into existence when our body was born, and that we may or may not continue to exist after our body dies. We also imagine that we are conscious in some states and unconscious in other states, and that we are happy sometimes and unhappy at other times. Likewise, we imagine that all other things come into existence at one time, and become non-existent at other times, that they are either conscious or unconscious, and that if they are conscious they may be happy or unhappy.

In the view of our mind, existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness are all equally real. However, the reality of each of these opposites is only relative. Their reality is time-bound and dependent upon circumstances, and the knowledge of their reality is dependent upon our mind. Therefore none of these opposites is absolutely real.

Since everything that is known by our mind is only relatively real, is there no such thing as absolute existence or non-existence, absolute consciousness or unconsciousness, or absolute happiness or unhappiness? Let us first consider the negative qualities. A negative quality such as non-existence, unconsciousness or unhappiness can never be absolute, because a negative quality can only 'exist' relative to its corresponding positive quality. In fact a negative quality does not really 'exist', but is only the absence or non-existence of a corresponding positive quality.

Non-existence or non-being can never really exist, because it is just an absence or negation of existence or being. There is truly no such thing as non-existence or non-being, because if there were, it would be an 'existent non-existence', which is a contradiction in terms. Non-existence or non-being is therefore real only as a mental concept, and it does not exist except as an idea or thought in our

mind. As such, non-existence is an essentially relative quality, and can therefore never be absolute.

Similarly, there can be no such thing as absolute unconsciousness. What we call 'unconsciousness' is just an absence of consciousness, but in a complete absence of consciousness no 'unconsciousness' could he known or experienced. Like non-existence, unconsciousness is therefore real only as a mental concept. The consciousness or unconsciousness of other people, creatures and things can never be known by us directly, but is only inferred by our mind, and as such it is real only as an idea or thought in our own mind. Moreover, though we do know our own consciousness, we can never know our own unconsciousness. Unconsciousness is therefore something that we can never actually know, either in ourself or in anything else, and hence it is merely a hypothetical condition, and not a condition that is ever really experienced.

When we wake up from sleep, we think that we were unconscious in sleep, but we did not actually know or experience complete unconsciousness in that state. What we actually experienced in sleep was merely the absence of any knowledge or consciousness of anything other than ourself. When we say, "I know that I was unconscious in sleep", we are describing our actual experience in sleep, but we are doing so in very loose terms, because we have not reflected deeply about what we actually experienced at that time, or what exactly we mean by the term 'unconscious'. In order to know that we were unconscious in sleep, we must have been conscious of that seeming 'unconsciousness'. That is, we were able to experience the relative 'unconsciousness' of sleep only because we were actually conscious at that time.

When we say, "I was unconscious", we do not mean that we were absolutely unconscious, but only that we were unconscious of our body, the world and all the other things that we are accustomed to knowing in our waking and dream states. Our 'unconsciousness' or lack of objective knowledge in sleep is relative only to our objective knowledge in waking and dream. The absence of all objective knowledge in sleep, which is what we mean to describe when we

say, "I was unconscious", is not merely inferred by our mind, but was actually experienced by us in sleep.

When we say, "I did not know anything in sleep", we do so with a strong sense of certainty, because we remember what we actually experienced at that time, which was a relative absence of knowledge. The fact that we now remember having experienced at that time an absence of all objective knowledge clearly proves that we were conscious in sleep. Though we call that experience of no objective knowledge as a state of 'unconsciousness', it is only a relative unconsciousness, because we were present as consciousness to know that condition of seeming unconsciousness.

We can therefore definitely say that non-existence and unconsciousness are real only as mental concepts, and can never exist or be known as absolute qualities, but can we say the same about unhappiness? Is not unhappiness something that we actually experience? If we reword our description of unhappiness as 'suffering', 'pain' or 'misery', does it not become a positive quality?

Firstly, we cannot equate the word 'pain' with unhappiness. Pain is a word that is usually used to describe a physical sensation, and a physical sensation of pain makes us feel unhappy only because we strongly dislike it and are unwilling to tolerate it. As we all know, a person can be in great physical pain yet feel quite happy and cheerful. To the extent to which we are willing to tolerate pain, we are able to feel happy in spite of it.

However if we use the word 'pain' in the sense of mental anguish, it does then describe a state of actual unhappiness. We can mentally detach ourself from physical pain, and thereby remain unaffected by it, but we cannot so easily detach ourself from mental pain, and if we are able to do so, then it will cease to be mental pain.

Though we may use positive terms such as 'suffering', 'misery', 'pain' or 'anguish' to describe it, unhappiness is still just a relative state, and is experienced by us as a lack or absence of something that we desire and feel is rightfully ours. We desire happiness because we feel it is natural to us, and we are uncomfortable with suffering or misery because it feels unnatural and alien to us.

If we did not have any desire or liking to be happy, or any aversion for feeling unhappy, happiness would not make us feel happy, and suffering would not make us feel miserable. What we suggest in this sentence is of course a self-contradictory absurdity. But more than being just absurd, it is in fact an impossibility, because our experience of happiness is inseparable from our love for happiness, and our experience of unhappiness is inseparable from our aversion for unhappiness. Happiness makes us feel happy because we love it, and we love it because it makes us feel happy. Likewise, unhappiness makes us feel unhappy because we are averse to it, and we are averse to it because it makes us feel unhappy.

Though we speak of them as if they were two different things, our love for happiness and our aversion for unhappiness are actually one and the same thing. These two terms, 'love for happiness' and 'aversion for unhappiness', are just two ways of describing the same single feeling, a feeling that is inherent in our very being. The words 'aversion for unhappiness' are just a negative description of our positive feeling of love for happiness. Because we love happiness, and because unhappiness is a state in which we are deprived of the happiness that we love, when we are confronted with unhappiness we experience our love for happiness as an aversion for that unhappiness.

Even if we use seemingly positive words such as 'suffering' or 'misery' to describe it, unhappiness is essentially just a deprivation of happiness. Whatever way we look at it, we cannot avoid the conclusion that unhappiness, suffering or misery is basically just a negation, an absence of the happiness that we all desire. Therefore, since unhappiness exists only in contrast to happiness, it is an essentially relative quality, and hence there can be no such thing as absolute unhappiness.

If non-existence, unconsciousness and unhappiness are each necessarily just relative qualities, qualities that can never have any absolute reality, can we not say the same of their opposites? Are not existence, consciousness and happiness likewise just relative qualities?

Yes, when we speak of each of these qualities as one of a pair of opposites, they are certainly relative, and cannot be absolute. For example, when we speak of existence and non-existence, the existence we are speaking of is relative to its opposite, non-existence. When we consider existence to be a quality in contrast to its opposite, it is only a relative quality.

However, just because in the limited and distorted view of our mind existence, consciousness and happiness all appear to be just relative qualities, does this mean that there can be no such thing as absolute existence, absolute consciousness and absolute happiness? To answer this question, we must again consider what we mean by the word 'absolute'.

Etymologically, absolute means 'loosed from' or 'freed from', and hence to be absolute is to be free from all conditions, restrictions and limitations, free from all forms of confinement, free from all dimensions such as time and space, free from all boundaries or limits, free from all divisions and parts, free from all relationships and modifying influences, free from all dependence, free from all forms of imperfection or incompleteness, free from all finiteness, relativity and duality. Or to express it in more positive terms, absolute means complete, whole, infinite and perfect. Therefore our question is whether or not there is any such thing as an existence, consciousness or happiness that is infinite, undivided, independent and free of all conditions and relativity.

Infinitude does not allow for the existence of any other. To be infinite, a thing must be the one single whole, apart from which nothing else can exist. If anything were to exist apart from, outside of or independent of the infinite, that would set a limit upon the infinite, and hence it would cease to be infinite.

Not only can there be nothing other than the infinite, there can also be no divisions within the infinite, because a division is an internal form of restriction or limitation, and the infinite is by definition devoid of all limits, both internal and external. Therefore, if there is any such thing as an infinite or absolute reality, it must be the only reality, the whole reality, and a reality that is essentially

single, undivided and non-dual.

There cannot be more than one absolute reality. Hence, if there is indeed an absolute existence or being, an absolute consciousness and an absolute happiness, they cannot be three separate things, but must be one and the same reality. Is there such a reality, and if so is it existence, consciousness and happiness?

To answer this, we must first consider consciousness, because consciousness is the starting-point and foundation of everything, the basis of all that we know or ever can know. If the absolute reality were not consciousness, it could not know its own existence or being, and since there can be nothing other than the absolute to know it, it could never be known and would therefore be merely a hypothetical concept or supposition.

All talk of being or existence presupposes consciousness, because without consciousness to know it, who could say that it is? The very word 'exist' etymologically means to 'stand out', because a thing can be said to be or to exist only if it 'stands out' in consciousness. An unknown being or existence is a mere imagination, an unfounded supposition, and as such it cannot be real.

Is there therefore any such thing as an absolute consciousness, a consciousness that is free of all conditions and limitations, free of all external boundaries and internal divisions, free of all modifying influences, free of all dependence, and free from all relativity and duality? Since we cannot know any consciousness other than our own consciousness, we can answer this question only by applying it to our own consciousness.

Faced with this question, most of us would conclude superficially that our mind is the only consciousness that we know, and that our mind meets none of the criteria required to be called absolute. It is of course true that our mind is not absolute, but is our mind the only consciousness that we know? Since we are conscious of our own being in sleep, when our mind is absent, we are clearly a consciousness that transcends our mind and all its limitations. Our real consciousness is therefore not our mind, but is some other more basic consciousness that underlies our mind. That basic underlying

consciousness is our essential self-consciousness, our non-dual consciousness of our own being, which we always experience as 'I am'.

Applying the above question to our own fundamental self-consciousness, 'I am', we will find that it meets all the criteria that distinguish the absolute reality. It is free from all conditions, restrictions and limitations. It is free from all forms of confinement. It is free from all dimensions such as time and space. It is free from all boundaries or limits. It is free from all divisions and parts. It is free from all relationships and modifying influences. It is free from all dependence. It is free from all forms of imperfection or incompleteness. It is free from all finiteness, relativity and duality. It is therefore complete, whole, infinite and perfect.

This fundamental self-consciousness is non-dual and devoid of all relativity because it is not a consciousness of any other thing, but only of itself – of its own essential being, which it experiences as 'I am'. Since it is, and is conscious of its 'is'-ness, or rather of its 'am'-ness, it is not only consciousness but is also being.

However, though it is being, it is not any form of objective being or existence, because objective being requires some consciousness other than itself in order to be known. Whereas the existence of any other thing depends upon consciousness to be known, the existence of consciousness cannot be known by anything other than itself.

Consciousness is not an object, and hence its existence or being can never be known objectively. Though there may be objective signs or indications of the existence of the finite consciousness we call 'mind', the actual existence of that consciousness can never be known by anything other than itself. When even that finite consciousness, which interacts with the objects known by it, cannot be known objectively or by anything other than itself, how can the real infinite consciousness be known as an object?

The being or existence of our fundamental consciousness 'I am' is perfectly self-conscious being, and therefore it is non-dual, undivided and entirely independent of all other things. All other things depend for their seeming existence upon this fundamental

consciousness, but this fundamental consciousness depends upon nothing. It is, and it knows its 'is'-ness or being without the help of any other thing. Its being and its consciousness of its being are therefore one and the same thing – the one non-dual, undivided, unlimited and absolute reality.

Because it is not confined within any limits or boundaries, our essential self-conscious being, 'I am', is the infinite fullness of being. It is truly the only being that is. The being of all other things are only limited and distorted reflections of this one real being, which experiences itself eternally as 'I am'. True being is not any being that is experienced either as 'is'-ness or as 'are'-ness, because 'is' and 'are' both denote an objectified experience of being. True being is only that being which is experienced as 'am'-ness, because the first person singular verb 'am' alone denotes the self-conscious and non-dual experience of being as it really is.

Thus we have established the fact that our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am' is the absolute reality, and that it is also the infinite fullness of being. However, it is not only absolute consciousness and absolute being, but is also absolute happiness.

We experience unhappiness only in the states of waking and dream, in which our mind has risen and is active, but in the state of deep sleep we experience no such thing. In sleep we only experience happiness, and while we experience that happiness it is not relative to any other thing. Though it appears to come to an end when we wake up, the happiness that we experience in sleep does not actually cease to exist but is merely obscured when our mind rises.

In sleep we experience no duality, so whatever we experience at that time must be one with our essential being and our consciousness of our being. Therefore, since we experience happiness in sleep, which is a perfectly non-dual state of pure self-conscious being, happiness must be the very nature of our essential being. Hence, since our essential being is the infinite and absolute reality, and since it is also perfect happiness, the absolute reality must not only be the fullness of consciousness and being, but must also be the fullness of perfect happiness.

Therefore, though there can be no such thing as absolute non-existence, absolute unconsciousness or absolute unhappiness, there is a single reality that is absolute being or existence, absolute consciousness and absolute happiness. However we should not confuse this absolute existence, consciousness and happiness with relative existence, consciousness and happiness, which each possess a corresponding opposite quality.

Like all other forms of duality, these pairs of opposites, existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness, are all relative and therefore mutually dependent. Absolute existence, consciousness and happiness, on the other hand, are one single reality, which is entirely independent and completely free of all forms of duality and relativity.

The non-dual and absolute reality, which is infinite being, consciousness and happiness, transcends these relative pairs of opposites, existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness, and is entirely unaffected either by their appearance or by their disappearance. However, though the absolute reality is in no way related to these pairs of opposites, they are intimately and unavoidably related to it. It is their substratum and support, and without it they could not even appear to be real.

The absolute reality is not related to any form of duality or relativity, because in truth it alone exists. In its view, therefore, there is no such thing as duality or relativity, or anything other than itself. Hence it transcends and is unaffected by any relationship that other things may appear to have with it.

In the view of our mind, however, all other things that appear to be are known by the consciousness that knows itself as 'I am', and are therefore unavoidably related to it. The truth is, therefore, that all things are related to our mind, because it is the consciousness that knows them, and our mind is related to the absolute reality, because the absolute reality is the fundamental consciousness 'I am' that our mind mistakes to be its own.

Our mind exists only in its own view, and not in the view of our

true, non-dual and absolute consciousness of being, which knows nothing other than itself. Therefore the relationship between our mind and our absolute consciousness 'I am' appears to be real only from the standpoint of our mind, whose view of our real consciousness is distorted.

In the limited and distorted view of our mind, our being, our consciousness and our happiness, which are the one non-dual and absolute reality, are mistaken to be three separate things, each of which is experienced as one member of a pair of opposites. What our mind sees as relative existence and non-existence is merely a limited and distorted reflection of our true and absolute being. Similarly, what it sees as relative consciousness and unconsciousness is merely a limited and distorted reflection of our true and absolute consciousness, and what it sees as relative happiness and unhappiness is merely a limited and distorted reflection of our true and absolute happiness.

What is it that imparts a seeming reality to duality and relativity? It is only our mind. But how is our mind able to impart such reality to things that exist only in its own imagination?

Because our mind is a confused mixture of our real consciousness 'I am' and a set of unreal limitations, it mistakes itself together with all its limitations to be real. And because it mistakes this mixture of itself and all the limitations it has imposed upon itself to be real, it also mistakes everything known by it to be real.

In a dream we see and experience many things, all of which appear to be real, but when we wake up, we find that all those things that we experienced were in fact unreal, being mere figments of our imagination. After waking up, we feel that the only thing that was real in our dream was ourself, that is, our own mind, the consciousness that experienced that dream. However, the truth is that our mind is as unreal as the dream that it experienced.

Our mind was confused about the reality of the dream it experienced because it was and is confused about its own reality. And just as it was confused about the reality of everything that it experienced in a dream, it is also confused about the reality of everything that it is now experiencing in this so-called waking state.

In dream we felt, 'I am walking, I am talking, I am seeing all these things and hearing all these sounds', but in fact we were not walking or talking, nor were we seeing or hearing anything. We were only imagining all these things. We felt that we were walking and so on because we mistook ourself to be a particular body, but that body was in fact just a figment of our imagination. We mistook ourself to be that imaginary body because we are confused about what we really are.

As our essential consciousness 'I am' we are real, but as our mind we confuse this real consciousness 'I am' with various limitations, all of which are unreal. Because we are real as 'I am', and because we confuse this real 'I am' with an imaginary body and its imaginary actions such as walking, talking, seeing and hearing, we mistake that imaginary body and its imaginary actions to be real.

Since that imaginary body is part of an imaginary world, and since we perceive that imaginary world by means of our imaginary actions such as seeing and hearing, everything that we perceive or experience, whether in a dream or in this so-called waking state, appears to us to be as real as the imaginary body and imaginary actions that we have confused with 'I am'.

Our confused knowledge of 'I am' is therefore the root cause that imparts reality to all the duality and relativity that we experience. So long as we imagine any experience such as 'I am this body, I am this person, I am walking, I am talking, I am seeing, I am hearing, I am thinking' and so on, we cannot but mistake all these experiences to be real, because they are all superimposed upon and identified as 'I am', which is the only thing that is actually real.

Therefore, if we wish to free ourself from all confusion, and to know what is truly real, we must first endeavour to know the reality of our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. Until we gain a clear and unconfused knowledge of our own consciousness 'I am', all our knowledge about other things will remain confused, and we will be unable to distinguish clearly between reality and our own imagination.

So long as we mistake duality and relativity to be real, we cannot experience the absolute reality as it truly is. Conversely, and more importantly, until we experience the absolute reality as it truly is, we cannot avoid mistaking duality and relativity to be real. Therefore, in order to transcend and free ourself from all duality and relativity, and all the confusion that results therefrom, we must gain true experiential knowledge of the absolute reality.

If there were no absolute reality, or if the absolute reality were something that we could not know, we would be doomed to remain for ever in confusion, both about our own reality and about the reality of all other things. So long as we experience only relative reality, our knowledge of reality will always be confused, because relative reality is a knowledge that we experience only through the medium of our mind, which is itself an inherently confused knowledge or consciousness. Since we are the consciousness that knows all other things, we cannot know the reality of any of those other things unless we know the reality of ourself.

What is the reality of ourself? Are we merely a finite and relative reality, or are we the infinite and absolute reality? If there is indeed an infinite and absolute reality, we cannot be separate from or other than it, and conversely, it cannot be separate from or other than us. The absolute reality must therefore be our own essential being.

Hence we cannot know the absolute reality as an object, as something separate from ourself, but can only know it as our own true and essential self. Therefore in order to experience the absolute reality, and thereby to transcend all relative knowledge, we must know our own real self – that is, we must attain the non-dual experience of true and perfectly clear self-knowledge.

Many people feel confused and frightened when they are first told that their mind is not real, and that the world perceived by their mind and the God in whom their mind believes are both as unreal as their mind. Though this truth may at first appear to be very daunting and unpalatable, and for many people therefore quite unacceptable, it is not actually as terrible or as unpalatable as it may appear to be.

"If this world is unreal, like a dream, why should I not behave in

any way I wish? In an unreal world, what need is there for ethics or morality? If all other people are just figments of my imagination, like the people I saw in a dream, why should I care for their feelings, and why should I feel compassion when I see them suffering? If this world is just a dream, why should I not just enjoy it to my heart's content, unmindful of any suffering that I may thereby appear to cause to other people? Even if I cannot bring myself to behave in such a heartless and uncaring manner, if everyone is told that this world is just a dream, will not many of them begin to behave in such a manner?".

Questions such as these arise in the minds of some people when they first come to know that sages such as Sri Ramana have taught that our life in this world is just a dream, and some people even remark that this is potentially a very dangerous philosophy, because it could induce people to act irresponsibly. However these questions are all based upon a basic misunderstanding of the truth taught by Sri Ramana and other sages. When they say that this world and everything else that we know, except our basic self-consciousness 'I am', is unreal, they mean only that none of these things are absolutely real, and they do not mean to deny the relative reality of anything.

The world we perceive, and the God we believe in, are both as real as our mind. So long as we feel ourself to be real as an individual, the world and God are also equally real, as are all our actions and their consequences. The other people and creatures that we see in this world are as real as our mind, which sees them, and hence their feelings – their happiness and their sufferings – are all as real as our own feelings.

If our actions cause harm to any other sentient being, we will have to suffer the consequences of those actions, because the consequences we experience are as real as the actions that we do. The laws of *karma* – which include the fact that we must sooner or later experience the consequences of each of our actions, whether good or bad, and the fact that the appropriate time, place and manner in which we must experience those consequences are all ordained by

God in such a way that we gradually develop spiritual maturity – are all real so long as we mistake ourself to be real as an agent or 'doer' of action, and as the one who experiences the 'fruit' or consequences of action.

As Sri Ramana says in verse 38 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

If we are the doer of action, we will experience the resulting fruit [the consequences of our actions]. When [we] know ourself [by] having investigated 'who is the doer of action?', *kartritva* [our sense of doership, our feeling 'I am doing action'] will depart and the three *karmas* will slip off [vanish or cease to exist]. [This state devoid of all actions or *karmas* is] the state of liberation, which is eternal.

The compound word *vinai-mudal*, which I have translated as 'the doer of action', literally means the origin or cause of an action, but is used idiomatically, particularly in grammar, to mean the subject or agent who performs an action. In the context of *karma* or action, the word 'fruit' is used idiomatically in both Tamil and Sanskrit to mean the moral consequences that result from any of our actions, whether good or bad, in the form of correspondingly pleasant or unpleasant experiences that we must sooner or later undergo.

Each action that we do by mind, speech or body is like a seed, as indicated by the words *vittu pondra*, which Sri Ramana added before the first line of this verse when, in order to make it easy for people to memorise and chant *Ulladu Narpadu*, he appended an additional one and half metrical feet between each of its consecutive verses, thereby transforming it from two plus forty verses in *venba* metre to one single verse in *kalivenba* metre. These words, *vittu pondra*, which mean 'seed-like', are appended to the opening sentence of this verse, which in combination with them mean, "If we are the doer of actions, which are like seeds, we will experience the resulting fruit".

Just as a fruit contains two elements, its edible portion and its seed, so the consequence of each of our actions is twofold. One element of the consequence of each action is the pleasure or pain that we must sooner or later experience as a result of it. This element is like the edible portion of a fruit. The other element, which is like the

seed contained within that fruit, is the resulting *karma-vasana*, the tendency or inclination to do that same action again.

That is, our *karmas* or actions are habit forming. The more we indulge in any particular type of action, the more we will generate and nourish a corresponding *vasana*, an inclination or liking that will impel us to do the same type of action again. Therefore in verse 2 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

The fruit [produce, result or consequence] of [any] action having perished [passed away or ceased, as it does as soon as it has been appropriately experienced by us in the form of a pleasure or pain], will as [a] seed make [us] fall into the ocean of action. [Therefore action and its results, its fruits and its seeds] will not give liberation.

The truly harmful consequence of any action that we do is not just the pleasant or unpleasant experience that will sooner or later result from it, but is the seed or latent impulse that it generates or nourishes within our mind. Just as the edible part of a fruit passes away when we eat it, so the potential experience that results as the moral consequence of an action will pass away when we undergo it. But though that experience passes away, a harmful residue of our action will still remain in our mind in the form of a *vasana*, an inclination or liking to repeat such an action. That is, just as the seed survives the consumption of a fruit, waiting for a suitable opportunity to germinate and produce more such fruit, so the tendency or impulse to do such an action again will remain within us in a dormant form, waiting to assert itself either when some seemingly external experience prompts it or when no other stronger impulse has a hold on our mind.

These *karma-vasanas* or mental impulses are the seeds of our desires, which are the forces that impel us to do actions by mind, speech and body. Whether any particular action can be classified from a relative perspective as being a good action or a bad action, the impulse or latent desire to do such an action again is yet another knot that helps to bind us to the perpetually revolving wheel of *karma* or action.

If bad actions are like iron chains that bind us and immerse us in the restless ocean of action, good actions are like golden chains that bind us and immerse us in that same ocean. The only difference between the seeds left by good actions and the seeds left by bad actions is that the former will impel us to do more good actions, which will yield relatively pleasant fruit or resulting experiences, whereas the latter will impel us to do more bad actions, which will yield relatively unpleasant fruit or resulting experiences.

Therefore Sri Ramana says in verse 2 of *Upadesa Undiyar* that any action that we may do will only immerse us further in the ocean of action, and will therefore not liberate us from the bondage of compulsively doing more action. Since this bondage results from our illusion that we are this body-bound mind, which is the doer of actions and the experiencer of the resulting pleasant and unpleasant fruits, it cannot be removed by any action that this mind may do, but can only be removed by the absolutely clear experience of true self-knowledge.

So long as we do any action, we will perpetuate the illusion that we are this mind and body, which are the instruments that actually do such actions. Since we are in reality not this ever-active mind or body, but only the underlying self-conscious being, 'I am', in which they appear and disappear, in order to experience ourself as we really are we must separate ourself from these instruments of action by remaining unswervingly as our ever-inactive self-conscious being.

Therefore we cannot attain liberation by 'doing' anything but only by just 'being'. That is, liberation from the bondage of our present illusion that we are a finite individual, who does actions by mind, speech and body, cannot be achieved by our doing action of any sort whatsoever, but only by our being just the absolutely non-dual self-conscious being that we always really are. Since the goal that we seek to achieve is just action-free self-conscious being, the only path or means by which we can achieve it is likewise just action-free self-conscious being.

This oneness of the path and the goal is expressed by Sri Ramana clearly and emphatically in verse 579 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

Because of the non-dual nature [or greatness] of [our eternally] enduring *svarupa* [our own essential self], [and] because of the [consequent] fact that excluding [this non-dual] self there is no other *gati* [refuge, remedy or way to attain it], the *upeya* [the goal] which is to be reached is only self and the *upaya* [the means to reach it] is only self. [Therefore] see that they [our goal and our path] are *abheda* [not different].

In this verse Sri Ramana emphasises three times the truth that our goal and the path to reach it are essentially the same. Firstly he says that because our ever-existing self is non-dual there is no way by which we can experience it other than this self itself. Hence our essential self is our only refuge if we wish to be saved from the bondage of *karma* or action, that is, from the illusion that we are a finite person who is ensnared in duality and who consequently does actions and experiences their results. Secondly he says, "*upeyamum tane upayamum tane*", which means 'the aim is only self, and the means is only self'. And finally he concludes emphatically that our goal and our path are therefore *abheda* or 'not different'.

That is, since our essential self is eternally and absolutely non-dual self-conscious being, it is devoid of all otherness and therefore of all action or 'doing', and hence there can be no means to attain it or experience it other than just to be as it is – that is, to remain simply as the thought-free non-dual self-conscious being that we always truly are.

The 'three *karmas*' that Sri Ramana mentions in verse 38 of *Ulladu Narpadu* are (1) our present actions, which we perform by our free will under the influence of our *vasanas* or the latent 'seeds' of our desires, and which therefore generate not only more such 'seeds' but also 'fruits' to be experienced by us later, (2) the store of the 'fruits' of our past actions that are yet to be experienced by us, and (3) our present destiny or fate, which is the set of those 'fruits' of our past actions that God has selected and ordained for us to experience now. These 'three *karmas*' will all appear to be real so long as we mistake ourself to be a doer and an experiencer, that is, an individual who does actions and experiences pleasure and pain, which are the

'fruits' or consequences of actions that we have done in the past.

If we investigate 'who am I, who now feel that I am doing actions?' – that is, if we keenly scrutinise our own essential consciousness 'I am', which we now confuse with the mind, speech and body that do actions – we will discover that we are actually not a finite individual who does actions by mind, speech and body, but are only the infinite consciousness that just is. When we thus come to know ourself as we really are, we will cease to mistake ourself to be either the doer of any action or the experiencer of the fruit of any action.

In the absence of any such sense of doership or experiencership, all our 'three *karmas*' will slip off us like the skin that slips off a snake. Sri Ramana describes the state in which we will then remain as the state of *mukti* – liberation, emancipation or salvation – which he says is *nitya*, a word that is usually translated as 'eternal' or 'perpetual', but that also means 'internal', 'innate', 'natural' or 'one's own'.

What is the significance of his using this word *nitya* or 'eternal' to describe the state of true self-knowledge, in which we are liberated from our sense of doership and from all the 'three *karmas*', which result from that sense? This state is eternal because it is the only state that really exists. There is truly never a time when we do not clearly know ourself as we really are.

Our sense of doership, 'I am doing this or that', and all our other confused knowledge about ourself is experienced only by our mind, and not by our real self, which is the infinite and eternal non-dual consciousness that knows only 'I am'. Our mind is a mere apparition or imagination, and it exists only in its own distorted view of the reality. When we know what we really are, we will discover that we have always known only our own real self, and that our mind is a phantom that never really existed.

However, though the absolute truth is that our mind has never really existed, so long as we imagine ourself to be this mind, its existence will appear to be real, but only in its own distorted view. And so long as our mind thus experiences itself as real, it will also

experience everything that is known by it as equally real.

That is, all that our mind experiences appears to it to be as real as it itself appears to be. However, except our basic knowledge 'I am', neither our mind nor anything that is known by it is absolutely real. But though none of our knowledge of anything other than 'I am' is absolutely real, it is all relatively real. That is, in relation to our mind, which experiences it, all our knowledge of otherness or duality is real.

Moreover, because our entire experience of duality is real in relation to our mind, each individual element in our experience of duality is also real in relation to certain other individual elements. However, though a particular element may be real in relation to certain other elements, it may appear to be unreal in relation to various other elements. The reality or unreality of anything that we experience within the realm of duality is therefore relative.

For example, in a dream we may feel hungry, and if we eat some food in that dream our hunger will be appeased. Though neither our hunger nor the food that we ate was absolutely real, they were both real in relation to each other, and also in relation to our mind, which experienced them both in the same state of dream. Because the dream food was as real as our dream hunger, it was able to appease it, or rather to give rise to a sense of appeasement, which was as real as our former sense of hunger.

However, shortly before experiencing that dream, we may actually have eaten a full meal in the waking state. In relation to the full belly we experienced before falling asleep, the hunger we experienced in dream was unreal. But our mind had forgotten the full meal it had just enjoyed in the waking state, so the hunger it felt in dream appeared to it to be real.

Though the reality of what we experience in one state may negate the reality of what we experienced in another state, we cannot say that either state is more real than the other. Just because we really felt hungry in dream, we cannot conclude that we did not really have a full belly in the waking state. The reason why the two sets of reality that we appear to experience in these two states seem to contradict each other is that the body we imagine to be ourself in one state is different from the body we imagine to be ourself in the other state. Relative to our waking body, our feeling of fullness is real, but relative to our dream body, our feeling of hunger is equally real.

What we experience in each one of these states is just as real as what we experience in the other one, but neither of them is the absolute reality. Our same mind, which takes one set of experiences to be real in one state, takes another set of experiences to be real in another state.

Because the reality that we experience in waking and the reality that we experience in dream are both only relative forms of reality, neither of them can permanently and conclusively establish the unreality of the other. In waking we may think that we know our experiences in dream to be unreal, but before long we will again mistake our experiences in another dream to be real. However clever we may think we are, our mind will always delude us and make us mistake our present imaginations to be real.

Not only does the reality that we experience in waking fail to convince us permanently that the reality that we experience in dream is unreal, and vice versa, but in fact both these sets of reality have a quite opposite effect. That is, they both serve only to reconfirm the reality of our mind, and in doing so they each reinforce the basic delusion that makes us feel that whatever state our mind currently happens to be experiencing is real.

So long as we experience our mind as real, we cannot but experience whatever we are currently knowing through the medium of our mind as equally real. Only in contrast to some other experience that our mind may later experience will it then be able to conclude that what it is now experiencing was unreal.

Our mind will always feel that what it is now experiencing is more real than what it experienced in the past or will experience in the future. The present moment in time is always experienced by our mind as being relatively the most real moment, and every other moment is felt by it to be relatively less real. Therefore since we always feel that our present set of experiences are real, when we are awake we always feel that our present waking experiences are real, whereas when we are dreaming we always feel that our then present dream experiences are real.

Since our mind is the root cause that makes all our relative experiences appear real, and since our experiences in both waking and dream reinforce the seeming reality of our mind, nothing that we experience in either of these two states, except of course our basic and permanent consciousness 'I am', can enable us to discover with absolute clarity and certainty the unreality of all relative experience. Only in the real, absolute and non-dual state of true self-knowledge will all relative knowledge be dissolved permanently. That is, we can know for certain that our mind and all that it experiences in both waking and dream are entirely unreal only when we actually experience the absolute reality of our own essential consciousness of being, 'I am'.

Until we experience the absolute reality of our own essential self, we will continue to experience our mind and its knowledge of duality and otherness as real. However, though we experience them as if they were real, neither our mind nor anything known by it, except 'I am', is absolutely real. Therefore the reality of our mind and of all the duality and otherness that it experiences is only relative.

Relative to our mind or individual consciousness, this world is real. Since it is real, everything that exists in it is equally real, including all the people and the innumerable other sentient creatures, and all their various actions and experiences. However, though they are real, none of these things are absolutely real, but are only relatively real. They are in fact all just figments of our imagination, but that does not make them any less real than our mind, which simultaneously imagines and experiences them, because our mind is also just a figment of our imagination.

In a dream we imagine not only the dream world, but also the person who experiences that dream world. Unlike a cinema show, in which the spectators are not actually participants in the drama they are watching, but are quite separate from it, in a dream we are not only the spectator but also a participant who is intimately involved in

the drama we are experiencing. We do not experience a dream as an outsider looking in, but as an insider who is actually a part of the dream world. In a dream we cease to be the person we were in the waking state, who is then supposedly lying asleep in a bed, and we become another person – another body – who is engaged in various activities and experiences in some other imaginary world.

The imaginary world that is experienced in a dream is as real as the imaginary person who experiences it. So long as we are dreaming, we mistake that person to be ourself, but when we wake up we understand that he or she was only a product of our imagination. Similarly in our present waking state, we have not only imagined this world, but have also imagined this person who experiences this world. This world is therefore as real as this person, whom we mistake to be ourself so long as we remain in this waking state. In dream we cease to mistake this imaginary person to be ourself, but instead mistake some other imaginary person to be ourself, and in sleep we cease to mistake ourself to be any imaginary person whatsoever.

Though the imaginary person we mistake to be ourself in waking and the imaginary person we mistake ourself to be in a dream are essentially the same person, in that it is our same mind that as each of them experiences a corresponding world, we speak of them as if they were two different persons for two closely related reasons. Firstly and most obviously, the body that we mistake to be ourself in a dream is not the same body that we mistake to be ourself in this waking state. Secondly, in a dream we not only identify ourself with another imaginary body, but we also consequently identify ourself with the experiences we undergo in that body, whereas when we wake up we cease to identify ourself either with that body or with those experiences.

For example, in dream we may have felt, 'I am hungry', but in waking we think, 'I was not really hungry'. In dream we may have felt that we had injured ourself, but in waking we think, 'I was not really injured'. Thus in each state we dissociate ourself both from the body and from the experiences of the person we mistook ourself to

be in another state, and in doing so we in effect deny the reality of that person who experienced that other state.

In these two states, waking and dream, we experience two distinct and independent sets of relative reality, and each of those sets of relative reality include a distinct and independent person whom we mistake to be ourself. When we wake up from a dream, we allow the relative reality of this waking state to supplant and supersede the relative reality of that dream. Likewise, when we begin to dream, we allow the relative reality of that dream to supplant and supersede the relative reality of this waking state. Therefore when we wake up from a dream in which the person we mistook ourself to be was hungry or injured, and when we find the person we now mistake ourself to be is neither hungry nor injured, we allow the relative reality of this waking person to supplant and supersede the relative reality of that dream person, and hence we think 'I was not really hungry' or 'I was not really injured'.

The non-hungry and uninjured person of our present waking state is in fact no more real than the hungry or injured person of our dream state, but because we now mistake this waking person to be ourself, he or she appears to us to be more real than the person we mistook to be ourself in dream. Exactly the same thing happens when we begin to dream. The hungry person we mistake ourself to be in our dream is no more real than the person we mistook ourself to be in the waking state, who had just gone to bed with a full belly. However, because in our dream we mistake that hungry person to be ourself, at that time he or she appears to us to be more real than the person we mistook to be ourself in the waking state, and hence the reality of his or her hunger supersedes the reality of the full belly of the waking person.

The person we now mistake ourself to be and the person we mistook ourself to be in our dream are both figments of our imagination, and are therefore both equally unreal. However, at the time that we actually experience each one of these persons to be ourself, that person and his or her experiences appear to be quite real, whereas the other person and his or her experiences appear to

be quite unreal. Therefore the judgement that we now make in this waking state about the reality of our present experience and the unreality of our dream experience is one-sided and therefore unfair.

However, we continue to maintain this biased and prejudiced judgement in favour of the reality of our present experience in this waking state only so long as we mistake this waking person to be ourself. As soon as we begin to mistake some other person to be ourself in dream, we make another equally biased and unfair judgement in favour of the reality of our experience in that state.

For example, in a dream we may meet a friend who had died many years before in our waking state, and though we may be surprised to see that friend alive, we nevertheless feel happy to be able to talk to him and tell him all that has happened in our life since we last met him. Though we remember that he was supposed to have died long ago, now that we actually see him we are unable to doubt his present reality, and so we feel convinced that our memory of his having died is somehow not quite correct. In this way, our judgement of reality will always favour whatever state we are currently experiencing.

The reason why we always feel our present state to be real is that at this particular moment we mistake this particular person, who is not only experiencing but also participating in this present state, to be ourself. We cannot but feel that what we mistake to be ourself is real. In a dream, because we mistake that dream person to be ourself, we cannot but mistake him or her to be real, and therefore we mistake all of his or her experiences to be real. Exactly the same happens in this waking state. Because we now mistake this waking person to be ourself, we cannot but mistake him or her to be real, and therefore we mistake all of his or her experiences to be real.

Therefore, if we analyse our experiences in waking and dream carefully and without partiality, we will have to conclude that our waking experiences have no greater claim to reality than our dream experiences. Both are relatively real while we experience them, even though they each appear to be unreal while we are experiencing the other state. Each is real relative only to the person who experiences

them, whom at that time we mistake to be our real self. However, though they each appear to be real from the standpoint of the person who experiences them, they are both actually mere products of our imagination.

What gives all our imaginary experiences a seeming reality is only the actual reality of ourself. Our experiences all appear to be real while we experience them because they are experienced by us. But what is the actual reality of ourself, who experience them? We experience them as a person, and that person is a part of our imaginary experience. What reality does that imaginary person have? There is only one element of actual reality in that imaginary person, and that is our essential consciousness of being, 'I am'. Because we feel 'I am experiencing this', whatever we experience appears to be real.

However, though our simple consciousness 'I am' is absolutely real, our compound consciousness 'I am experiencing' is unreal. That is, it is unreal in the sense that it is not absolutely real. It is a mere imagination, a transient apparition, which appears at one time and disappears at another time.

Moreover, not only is its appearance transient, but it appears only in its own view, and not in the view of our simple adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'. In the view of this simple self-consciousness 'I am', only 'I am' exists. Other than this simple and basic consciousness 'I am', everything is an imagination, and is experienced only by the imaginary consciousness that imagines 'I am experiencing'.

This imaginary consciousness 'I am experiencing' is our mind, which is what becomes one person in one state and another person in another state. This imaginary consciousness cannot remain without becoming a person, because it needs to limit itself as an imaginary form in order to be able to imagine and experience things other than itself. The basic form in which it always limits itself is a physical body, which it imagines to be itself, and through the five senses of that imaginary body it experiences an imaginary world. The compound consciousness that arises when we imagine 'I am this

body' is what constitutes the person we become.

In each state of dualistic experience – that is, in each of the many dreams that we experience, of which our present waking state is just one – we become a person, who is an intimate part of that dualistic state, and who is therefore entirely caught up in the seeming reality of everything that he or she experiences in that state. Since everything that we experience in any state of duality is a product of our own imagination, the imaginary person that we mistake ourself to be whenever we experience such a state is no more real than any of the other imaginary people and things that we experience in that state.

The only thing about this imaginary person that distinguishes him or her from all the other imaginary people in that state is that our experience of this imaginary person is mixed and confused with our consciousness 'I am', and therefore we feel 'I am this person who is experiencing all this'. Because we thus imagine ourself to be this experiencing person, who is a part of the world that we are experiencing in that state, we become entangled and ensnared in the seeming reality of all that we are then experiencing.

That is, because we confuse our essential consciousness 'I am' with this imaginary person, who seems to be experiencing the current state, we mistake him or her to be real. And because we thus attribute reality to this experiencing person, we thereby attribute the same degree of reality to all that he or she is experiencing. Therefore, though everything that we experience is just as real as this experiencing person, whom we imagine to be ourself, everything that we experience actually derives its seeming reality only from this experiencing person, who in turn derives his or her seeming reality only from our own essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

In a dream we may sometimes think that we are just dreaming, but even then we are unable to change what we are experiencing in that dream. Since the dream is our own imagination, why can we not imagine it in any way we wish?

The reason is that we who wish to change that imaginary experience are ourself a part of it. Because we have imagined ourself

to be a person who is not only experiencing an imaginary world, but is also a part of that imaginary world, we have in effect become a figment of our own imagination. Being a part of the dream we have imagined, we are powerless to change it. Our power of imagination is so intense and vivid that whenever we imagine something, we become ensnared in our own imagination.

Since we who experience our imagination are unable to control it, who or what does control it? Is it running haphazardly, or is it being regulated in some way? Though there does often appear to be an element of disorderliness and haphazardness in the events we experience in a dream, at least in our waking world there does appear to be a high degree of order and regularity. What then is the power or controlling force that regulates all the events that we experience in this imaginary world that we are now experiencing? Clearly it is not us as an individual, because as a part of this imaginary world we are subject to the order by which it is running. We cannot change this world at will, just as we cannot change our dream world at will.

Though the world we experience is a product of our own imagination, as an individual in this world we are unable to regulate the order by which it is running. Therefore the power that is regulating this imaginary world is separate from this individual that we now imagine ourself to be. What then is that power? Is it our real self?

No, it cannot be, because our real self is just being, and knows nothing other than mere being. Our real self is just our essential consciousness of being, 'I am', and since it knows only its own being, in its view there is no imagination or any product of imagination. Since it is infinite, undivided and non-dual, it alone truly exists, and there is nothing other than it for it to know. That is, our real self is the absolute reality, and as such it has no function, but is just the substratum, support and only true substance of this world of relativity and duality.

Since it is not us as our individual mind, nor us as our real self, the power that regulates all that we imagine appears to us to be something separate from us. That seemingly separate power is what we commonly refer to as 'God'.

Though God appears to be separate from us, his separateness exists only in the limited and distorted view of our mind. In the unlimited view of God, neither we nor this world are separate from him, but are just distorted forms of his own essential being.

In reality, God is not other than our own real self, but what seemingly distinguishes him from our real self is his function. The only 'function' of our real self is to be, whereas the function of God is to regulate this entire world of our imagination. Because he has this function of regulating or governing this entire world, God is in effect an entity or being that is separate both from the world and from us as individuals.

In reality neither this world, which we imagine we experience through our five senses, nor God, who regulates exactly what we experience in this world, are separate from us, that is, from our real self. However, because we have separated ourself as a finite mind or individual consciousness, the world and God both appear to be separate from us. Therefore the root cause of the seeming separation or division that we experience between ourself, the world and God is our basic imagination that we are a separate individual consciousness.

In a state devoid of form, there can be no separation, so we are able to separate ourself only by imagining ourself to be a form. Because we imagine ourself to be a distinct form, other forms that are separate from us also appear to exist. The basic form that we imagine to be ourself is our physical body, but by imagining ourself to be this body, we also give rise to a more subtle form, namely our mind, which is the individual consciousness that feels 'I am this body', and we thereby feel ourself to be this more subtle form also. Thus the form that distinguishes us as an individual is a compound form consisting of the physical form of this body and the subtle form of this mind.

By imagining this compound form to be ourself, we seemingly divide or separate ourself from our own absolute reality – our

formless, infinite and indivisible real self – and having separated ourself thus, we experience our own self as two other basic entities, namely the world and God. Because we imagine the world and God to be separate from us, we imagine them to be forms like us. Therefore in verse 4 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

If we are a form, the world and God will be likewise. If we are not a form, who could see their forms, [and] how? Can the sight [whatever is seen] be otherwise than the eye [the consciousness that sees it]? We, that eye [the formless consciousness 'I am'], are the limitless eye [the infinite consciousness].

The form in which this world exists in our imagination is a physical form, like our physical body, and the form in which God exists in our imagination is a more subtle form, like our mind. Just as we cannot see our mind as a physical entity, we cannot see God as a physical entity, but that does not mean that he does not have a form. Though we cannot see his form in the same manner that we see the physical form of this world, he is not for that reason any less real than this world.

Just as our mind is the soul that animates the physical form of our body, so God is the soul that animates the physical form of this entire world. We cannot see the mind in the physical body of another person, but from the behaviour of that physical body we are able to infer that a mind is present within it. Likewise we are able to infer the presence of God in this world even though we cannot see him.

Just as our mind is a subtle and intangible form, a form that we experience as our first thought 'I', so God is also a subtle and intangible form, a form that we can experience only as a thought, a concept, a belief or a mental image. However, just because the form of God as we know him is only a thought or mental image, this does not mean that he is unreal. As a form or separate being, God is as real as this world and as our individual self.

Even the physical forms of our body and of this entire world are actually only thoughts or mental images, but that does not mean that they are unreal. Our individual self, the world and God are all thoughts, and as such they are real, but only relatively real. As separate entities, none of them is the absolute reality, but they are each a relative reality. The world and God are both as real as our mind, our individual consciousness, which experiences them both as mental images.

As distinct mental images, not only the world and God but even our own individual self or mind exists only in our imagination. As soon as we imagine ourself to be a separate individual, the world and God also come into existence as separate entities. The reality of each one of these three basic entities is inseparable from the reality of the other two. Though all three of them are imaginary, so long as we experience the existence of ourself as an individual, we will also experience the existence of the world and God.

As Sri Ramana says in the seventh paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, which we discussed in the previous chapter:

That which actually exists is only *atma-svarupa* [our own essential self]. The world, soul and God are *kalpanaigal* [imaginations, mental creations or fabrications] in it [our essential self], like [the imaginary] silver [that we see] in a shell. These three [basic elements of relativity or duality] appear at the same time and disappear at the same time. [Our] *svarupa* [our 'own form' or essential self] alone is the world; [our] *svarupa* alone is 'I' [our mind or individual self]; [our] *svarupa* alone is God; everything is *siva-svarupa* [our essential self, which is *siva*, the absolute and only truly existing reality].

Therefore, though God as a separate entity is only a figment of our own imagination, he is nevertheless as real as this world, and also as real as our mind, which imagines him to be separate from itself. So long as we experience our mind as if it were real, we cannot deny the relative reality of God. Since he is the infinitely subtle power that regulates everything that we experience in this or any other world, he is as real as anything else that we experience.

As we saw above, the function of God is to regulate or govern this world and all the individuals in it. His overall function of governing everything in this universe includes many aspects or sub-functions, including various material functions such as ensuring that all the

physical objects in this universe obey the various 'laws of nature' – the laws of mathematics, physics, chemistry, biology and so on. However, his most important and significant function is his most subtle one, which is to bestow his 'grace' or 'blessing' upon all us individual souls in such a manner as to guide us towards and along the path that leads to 'salvation' or true self-knowledge.

This function of bestowing grace includes ordaining the time, the place and the manner in which each of the 'fruits' or consequences of all our past actions should be experienced by us. We generate these 'fruits' by thought, word and deed, that is, by using our free will to perform *karmas* or actions through our mind, speech and body. All these actions that we thus perform by our free will are driven by the force of our desires.

When our desires are strong and we do not keep them in check, they rage wildly as thoughts in our mind and impel us to speak and act rashly, selfishly and without concern for the effects that our words and actions will have upon others. Such selfishly motivated thoughts, speech and actions are 'bad *karmas*' or 'sins', and by such sins we generate bad 'fruits', which we will later have to experience as some form of suffering or pain.

When we keep a check on our desires, and shape them with due concern for other people and creatures, we will think, speak and act more carefully and with greater compassion, not wishing to cause any harm to any other living being. Such actions of mind, speech and body that we perform with due care and true compassion are 'good *karmas*', by which we generate good 'fruits', which we will later have to experience as some form of pleasure.

Good desires lead to good actions, which in turn yield good 'fruit', while bad desires lead to bad actions, which in turn yield bad 'fruit'. The rate at which we generate 'fruit' is determined by the strength of our desires. Whether they are good desires or bad desires, or as is usually the case, a mixture of both, if our desires are strong we will generate 'fruit' rapidly. We can avoid generating fresh 'fruit' only by surrendering our will to God, that is, by giving up all our desires, both good and bad.

However, because our desires are generally very strong, we usually generate fresh 'fruit' at a much greater rate than we are able to experience them. Thus in each single lifetime we generate far more 'fruit' than we could possibly experience in a single lifetime, so during the course of many lifetimes we have each accumulated a vast store of 'fruits' that we are yet to experience. Even if our desires are now greatly reduced due to our efforts to surrender our own will and to yield ourself to the will of God, we will still have a vast stock of 'fruits' that we have accumulated as a result of our past desires.

From the vast store of the 'fruits' of our past actions that we have not yet experienced, God is able to select carefully those 'fruits' that will be most beneficial for us to experience now, and he therefore ordains that those 'fruits' should be experienced by us as our destiny or fate in this present lifetime. The 'fruits' that he destines us to experience now are those that will be most conducive to the development of our spiritual maturity, that is, to enkindling in our mind the clarity of discrimination that will enable us to free ourself from our desires, fears and attachments, and to develop the true love just to be. Since everything that we experience is our destiny, and since our destiny is those 'fruits' of our past actions that for our own greatest good God has carefully selected and ordained for us to experience now, whatever we happen to experience is truly the 'will of God'.

All the divine qualities of God that are described by our various religions are true. Most importantly, he is all-loving, all-knowing and all-powerful. Because he is omniscient or all-knowing, nothing can happen in this world that he does not know. Because he is omnipotent or all-powerful, nothing can happen in this world without his consent. And because he is all-loving, or rather because he is love itself, nothing can happen in this world that is not for the ultimate good of all concerned.

All this is true, but only as true as our existence as a separate individual consciousness. If we are real as a separate individual, then the God and all his divine qualities are also real. In other words, until we attain true self-knowledge and thereby merge in our own real

self, losing our separate individuality, God will exist as a separate all-loving, all-knowing and all-powerful being, and he will always be guiding and assisting us in our efforts to know ourself. However, when we do finally know our real self and thereby become free from the delusion that we are a separate individual, God will also cease to exist as a separate being, and will instead be experienced by us as our own real self.

As a separate being, God is real, but only relatively real. So long as we imagine him to be separate from us, he cannot as such be the absolute reality, which is infinite and therefore separate from nothing. However, his separation from us is real only in the limited and distorted view of our mind. In his real nature or essential being, God is always one with our own essential being, so when we experience our essential being as it really is, we will discover that God is our own real self, and that as such he is the absolute reality.

So long as we feel ourself to be a person, a distinct and finite individual, we have a tendency to consider God to be some sort of a person – not a limited person like ourself, but somehow a person nonetheless. We believe God to be infinite, yet we nevertheless consider him to be a person. How can we reconcile this obvious contradiction, and what is the actual basis of this almost universally held concept of God?

How can God be both the infinite fullness of being and any sort of person, even if we consider that person to be the 'Supreme Person'? If he is truly infinite, he cannot be a person of any sort whatsoever, because a person is by definition a finite individual, a distinct and separate being. What then are we to infer from the fact that we have this confused notion of an infinite yet personal God? Does this not indicate that none of our concepts of God are actually an adequate depiction of his true nature, because in reality he transcends all human conception?

It is true that God is infinite, but as such he cannot be separate either from ourself or from any other thing. Since he is the infinite fullness of being, he is the whole that includes all things within itself, and as such he is the essence of everything. However, so long as we do not experience his infinite being as our own real self – our own true essence – we mistake ourself to be a finite individual, and this mistaken view of ourself distorts our conception of the infinite reality that we call God, making us feel that he is somehow separate from us.

Given the fact that we mistake ourself to be somehow separate from the infinite reality that we call God, relative to this mistaken view both of ourself and of God do we have any valid reason to consider God to be a person? Is our concept of a personal God even a remote approximation to the truth of his nature? Surprising though it may seem, our conception of God as a person does in fact have a reasonable and valid basis in reality. What is that basis?

The ultimate reality of God is that he is our own real self, our essential being. As we have seen earlier, an intrinsic characteristic of ourself is that we love ourself and we love happiness, because happiness is our own true nature. When we remain as we really are, that is, as our pure self-conscious being, devoid of all 'doing' and dualistic 'knowing', we experience perfect happiness, because our essential being, which is our adjunct-free non-dual consciousness of being, is itself the infinite fullness of happiness. However, when we imagine ourself to be a finite individual, we seemingly separate ourself from the infinite happiness which is our own true being, and hence we become restless, hankering to experience once again that infinite happiness.

Our love to be happy is inherent not only in us as an individual, but also in us as the infinite and non-dual consciousness of being. Love is in fact our true nature — our own essential being. We can never for a moment remain without love for happiness, because we are that love. Our true self-conscious and perfectly happy being is infinite love, because happiness and love are inseparable. We love whatever makes us happy, and we are made happy by experiencing whatever we love. The ultimate happiness lies in experiencing that which we love most, which is ourself — our own true self-conscious being.

When we imagine ourself to be a finite individual, we seemingly

separate ourself from God, who is in reality nothing other than our own true being, which is perfect peace and absolute happiness. Whether we know it or not, our love for happiness is love for God, because 'God' is a name that we give to the infinite happiness that we all seek.

Since God is in truth our own real self, he loves us as himself, and his only 'will' or 'desire' is that we should be perfectly happy. Because he loves each and every living being as himself, and because he therefore loves us all to be infinitely happy as he is, all religions teach the fundamental truth that God is love.

Because we each feel ourself to be a human being, we cannot avoid thinking of the love of God in anthropomorphic terms. Due to our deluded experience of ourself as an individual person, we mistake love to be something personal, and we are unable to conceive of a love that is impersonal, or rather, transpersonal. Hence, though in reality the love of God transcends all forms of limitation, including the limitation that is inherent in the love of one person for another person, we are not entirely mistaken in considering God to be a person whose love is all-embracing. That is, from the limited standpoint of our human mind, the love that God has for each one of us does function in a manner that is very similar to the love between one person and another.

The love that is the true nature of God, and that manifests in our view as a seemingly personal love for each one of us, is the basis of our belief in a personal God. Though in reality he is not a person, but is the essential substance and infinite totality of all that is, from the finite standpoint of our human mind, he does in effect appear to act as a person who has unbounded love for each and every one of us.

Therefore, though our belief in the seemingly personal nature of God may appear to be incompatible with the ultimate truth of his nature, namely that he is the infinite, indivisible, non-dual and absolute reality, which is our own true self or essential being, this superficial incompatibility is reconciled by the fact that God is not only infinite being and consciousness, but is also infinite love.

Because he is infinite being, and because there is therefore

nothing that is separate from or other than him, he is indeed all-powerful or omnipotent. Because he is infinite consciousness or knowledge, being the ultimate foundation and essential substance of all forms of knowledge, he is indeed all-knowing or omniscient. And because he is infinite love, having unbounded love for everything as his own self, he is indeed all-loving.

So long as we imagine ourself to be a particular person, the almighty, all-knowing and all-loving infinite reality that we call 'God' does appear to function as a person, and therefore we are able to experience an intensely personal love for him, even though we may understand the truth that he is the impersonal absolute reality. By cultivating such love for him in our heart, we can learn to surrender our self-deluded individual will to his divine 'will' – which is the simple love just to be – and thereby we can attune ourself to his true nature of non-dual self-conscious being.

The personal love that we feel for God is by no means a love that is one-sided on our part. In fact, if it is in any way one-sided, it is on his part and not ours, because his love for us is infinitely greater than our love for him. Therefore, when we cultivate sincere love for him, he responds in far greater measure, helping us to surrender ourself entirely to him by drawing our mind inwards, thereby establishing it firmly in our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which is his real nature.

In truth, however, God does much more than just respond to the love that we feel for him, because he is actually responsible for enkindling such love in our heart. That is, since he is the ultimate source of all love, whatever love we feel for him originates only from him.

Though we speak of our personal relationship with God in this apparently dualistic manner, the duality that seems to exist in the love between him and us actually exists only in the inherently dualistic outlook of our own mind, and not in the inherently non-dualistic outlook of his real being. Since he knows us and loves us as his own essential self, his love is in truth always perfectly non-dual, and therefore completely non-personal. Nevertheless, though the

absolute truth is that his love for us is non-dual and non-personal, from the relative standpoint of our mind the seemingly dualistic and personal nature of his love is quite real.

That is, his personal love for us is every bit as real as our seeming existence as a separate individual person. So long as we mistake ourself to be a person, the non-dual love that God has for us will appear to us to be a personal love, albeit a love that is infinite. Only when we respond to his infinite love by surrendering our mind or separate individuality entirely to him – sacrificing it in the clarity of our own self-conscious being, which is his true essence – will we be able to experience the real non-dual and transpersonal nature of his love.

Though in the limited and distorted view of our mind God appears to perform certain functions, in reality he is just being, and hence he does not do anything. All the functions that he appears to perform happen due to his mere presence, without him actually doing anything. This fact is explained graphically by Sri Ramana in the fifteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

Just as in the mere presence of the sun, which rose without iccha [wish, desire or liking], samkalpa [volition or intention], [or] yatna [effort or exertion], a crystal stone [or magnifying lens] will emit fire, a lotus will blossom, water will evaporate, and people of the world will engage in [or begin] their respective activities, do [those activities] and subside [or cease being active], and [just as] in front of a magnet a needle will move, [so] jivas [living beings], who are caught in [the finite state governed by] muttozhil [the threefold function of God, namely the creation, sustenance and dissolution of the world] or panchakrityas [the five functions of God, namely creation, sustenance, dissolution, concealment and grace], which happen due to nothing but the special nature of the presence of God, move [busy themselves, perform activities, make effort or strive] and subside [cease being active, become still or sleep] in accordance with their respective karmas [that is, in accordance not only with their prarabdha karma or destiny, which impels them to do whatever actions are necessary in order for them to experience all the pleasant and unpleasant things that they are destined to experience, but also with their *karma vasanas*, their inclinations or impulsions to desire, think and act in particular ways, which impel them to make effort to experience certain pleasant things that they are not destined to experience, and to avoid certain unpleasant things that they are destined to experience]. Nevertheless, he [God] is not *samkalpa sahitar* [a person connected with or possessing volition or intention]. Even one *karma* does not adhere to him [that is, he is not bound or affected by any *karma* or action whatsoever]. That is like world-actions [the actions happening here on earth] not adhering to [or affecting] the sun, and [like] the qualities and defects of the other four elements [earth, water, air and fire] not adhering to the all-pervading space.

Like the sun, whose mere presence causes so many things to happen on this earth, God has no *iccha* or *samkalpa*, desire or intention, and hence he never makes any *yatna* or effort to do anything, yet his mere presence causes all living beings to act, each according to his or her own destiny and personal inclinations. Though all that happens happens due to his mere presence, he remains completely unaffected by anything that happens – either by any action or by its effects. He does not do anything, and he is not affected by anything that appears to be done, because he is pure being.

Being is the single, non-dual, undivided and infinite 'is'-ness or essence of all that is, and as such it just is, and never does anything. Whatever we or anything else may appear to do, our essential 'is'-ness or being remains as it is. All *karma*, all action or 'doing', is finite and therefore relative and superficial. That which is infinite, absolute and essential is only being. All 'doing' depends upon 'being', and it can happen only in the presence of 'being'. Unless we are, we cannot do, but whatever we do does not in any way affect, change or modify the fact that we are. Being therefore transcends all forms of doing.

God is the infinitude or fullness of being. He is the 'is-ness' or

essence of all that is. Because he is the essence of everything, he is present everywhere, in all places and at all times. His all-pervading presence is therefore just his being, which is the essential being or 'is'-ness of everything. Because he is the one infinite whole or fullness of being, nothing can exist apart from him, and hence he is present in everything as everything.

Because he is everything, he is also said to be *mahakarta*, the 'great doer', or *sarvakarta*, the 'all doer', the one who does everything, including the five fundamental actions or *panchakrityas*, namely *srishti*, the creation or projection of this entire appearance of duality, which we call the 'world' or 'universe', *sthiti*, the sustenance or maintenance of this appearance, *samhara*, the dissolution or withdrawal of this appearance, *tirodhana* or *tirobhava*, the concealment or veiling of the reality, which not only enables *srishti*, *sthiti* and *samhara* to take place, but also more specifically enables living beings to continue to do *karmas* and to experience their consequences so long as they have desire to do so, and *anugraha* or grace, the revealing of the reality, which enables us to experience true self-knowledge and thereby to transcend the unreal state of duality in which all these *panchakrityas* appear to happen.

However, though in our limited outlook it appears that God does all these 'five actions' or *panchakrityas*, he does not in fact do anything. He just is, and due to the mere presence of his 'is'-ness or being all these *panchakrityas* happen automatically and spontaneously.

Therefore, if we wish to say that God does everything, that is true only in the sense that he does it all by just being. This is why Sri Ramana says that these *panchakrityas* all happen due to *isan sannidhana visesha matra*, which means 'nothing but the special nature of the presence of God'.

The fact that God is just the infinite fullness of being and therefore does not do anything is the ultimate and absolute truth. However, from the limited standpoint of our finite mind, the fact that he is separate from us and has certain functions to perform is relatively real. That is, so long as we feel ourself to be a doer of

action, it will appear to us that the functions of God are actions that he is actually doing.

So long as any action is done, there has to be something or someone who is doing that action, so from our relative standpoint we are correct in believing that God is the ultimate doer of everything. The fact that he is just being, and that due to his mere being or presence all actions appear to be done, can be fully comprehended by us only when we experience ourself as just being, and thereby discover that we have never done anything, and that all action or 'doing' was a mere imagination that existed only in the distorted view of our unreal mind.

All 'doing' is merely a distortion of being. Though being is truly the only reality, and though it just is, in the limited and distorted view of our mind it is experienced as doing. Though all doing is an unreal appearance, being a mere figment of our imagination, it could not even appear to be real if it were not supported by the underlying reality of being. Before we can imagine that we are doing anything, we must first know that we are. The imagination that we are endures. Since our being alone endures, it is the only permanent and absolute reality, and therefore the appearance of doing is an illusion that can occur only due to being, or rather, due to our mind's distorted view of being.

Just as we are real in two very distinct senses, so God is real in the same two distinct senses. As a finite individual consciousness that imagines 'I am this body', 'I am doing this or that', we are relatively real, but as the infinite consciousness 'I am', we are absolutely real. Likewise, as a separate all-doing, all-loving, all-knowing and all-powerful being, God is relatively real, but as our own infinite consciousness 'I am', which is the limitless fullness of being, love, knowledge and power, he is absolutely real.

So long as God and ourself appear to be two separate beings, the world will also appear to exist. Relative to our individual self or mind, God and the world are both perfectly real. None of these three separate entities is any less real than the other two. We cannot

experience either the world that we perceive or the God who governs it as unreal so long as we experience our experiencing mind as real.

Understanding theoretically that our mind, the world and God are all unreal is necessary, but it is of practical value to us only to the extent that it enables us to develop true inward detachment from our mind and our entire life in this world, and true love to know and to be our own real self. If we believe that we have understood the world to be unreal, but we still have desire to enjoy any of the seeming pleasures of this world, we are only deluding ourself. The sole purpose and benefit of our understanding the theory of spiritual philosophy is to enable ourself to develop the true love to experience only our own essential self, which is the one and only absolute reality, and the true freedom from any desire to experience anything else.

If we really understand that this world, our mind and everything other than our essential consciousness of being is unreal, we should turn our attention inwards to discover what is real. However, until we actually experience the absolute and infinite reality as our own self, we will continue to experience our finite mind as ourself, and hence we will inevitably experience our mind and everything known by it as real. So long as we experience ourself to be this mind-body complex, we will continue to experience the world as real.

Though for our true inward purpose of discovering the absolute reality we must develop the understanding and conviction that this world is unreal, for all outward purposes we must behave as if this world were real, because it is unreal only from the standpoint of the absolute reality, and not from the standpoint of our equally unreal mind.

Relative to our mind, this world is real, so we must interact with it accordingly. For example, the fact that fire burns may not be the absolute reality, but it is definitely a relative reality. Though we may imagine that we have understood fire to be unreal, if we touch it we will still feel pain. The fire, our pain and our mind, which experiences that pain, are all equally real.

Therefore in the non-dualistic philosophy of advaita vedanta, an

important distinction is always made between absolute reality and relative reality, which in Sanskrit are called respectively paramarthika satya and vyavaharika satya. The word satya means 'truth' or 'reality', and the word paramarthika is an adjectival form of paramartha, which in this context means the 'ultimate substance' or essence. Thus the term paramarthika satya, which is usually translated as the 'supreme reality' or 'absolute reality', literally means the reality that is the ultimate substance or essence of all things. The word vyavaharika is an adjectival form of vyavahara, which means doing, action, practice, conduct, behaviour, occupation, activity or any worldly interaction such as business, trade, commerce or litigation, and thus vyavaharika satya means mundane, practical, interactive reality. Hence in advaita vedanta the term vyavaharika satya is used to denote the relative reality of our mind and all that it experiences, while the term paramarthika satya is used to denote the absolute reality of our essential being.

In addition to these two quite distinct forms of reality, some scholars like to distinguish a third form of reality called pratibhasika satya. The word pratibhasika is an adjectival form of pratibhasa, which means an appearance, a semblance or an illusion, and thus pratibhasika satya means 'seeming reality' or 'illusory reality'. In certain philosophical texts of *vedanta* the world that we experience in the waking state is described as vyavaharika satya or 'practical reality', whereas the world that we experience in dream is described as pratibhasika satya or 'seeming reality'. However the same texts also say that certain things that we experience in the waking state, such as a mirage or the illusion of a snake in a rope, are not vyavaharika satya but only pratibhasika satya. Thus the distinction that is supposed to exist between vyavaharika satya and pratibhasika satya is that the former is a reality experienced 'objectively' by many people, whereas the latter is a reality experienced 'subjectively' by just one person.

However, this distinction is false, and it appears to be true only in relation to our present experience in this waking world. Just as we now imagine that this waking world is experienced objectively by many people, so in dream we imagined that that dream world was experienced objectively by many people. In both states, however, the 'many people' exist only as images in our own mind. All forms of relative reality or *vyavaharika satya* are in fact only an illusion, a seeming reality or *pratibhasika satya*, and conversely, all forms of seeming reality are real relative to the mind that experiences them. Therefore, though the distinction between *vyavaharika satya* and *pratibhasika satya* may appear to be true from a mundane standpoint, from a strictly philosophical standpoint both these terms denote the same form of reality, the relative but illusory reality experienced by our mind.

Basically there are just two forms of reality, absolute reality and relative reality. Everything that we experience is either absolutely real or only relatively real. Since there can truly be only one absolute reality, everything else is only a form of relative reality. Though we may be able to distinguish different forms of relative reality, such distinctions are of no use to us if our aim is to experience the absolute reality.

We distinguish relative reality from absolute reality only because, in order to experience the absolute reality, we must learn to ignore everything that is not absolutely real, and to focus our attention only on that which is absolutely real. However, when we do actually experience the absolute reality as it is, we will discover that it alone exists, and that there is nothing other than it. In that state all relative reality will have merged and disappeared, being found to be nothing other than the one infinite, undivided and non-dual absolute reality.

Some scholastic philosophers describe absolute reality and relative reality as being different 'levels' or 'planes' of reality. However, absolute reality and relative reality cannot be compared in this manner. The absolute reality is absolutely real, so it is relative to nothing, and therefore cannot be compared in any way to anything else.

However, from the limited and distorted perspective of relative reality, we have to say that the absolute reality is the ultimate foundation, substratum or support of all this relative reality. Therefore, though the absolute reality is not related in any way to relative reality, relative reality is intimately, intrinsically and unavoidably related to the absolute reality, because it is entirely dependent upon it. That is, all relativity depends for its own seeming reality upon the true reality of the one absolute essence, which is our own self-conscious being or 'am'-ness, whereas this absolute essence does not depend upon anything else.

The concept of such a one-way relationship would be meaningless and self-contradictory if it were formed with respect to anything other than this 'relationship' between the absolute reality and relative reality. However, we cannot explain this particular 'relationship' as being anything other than a one-way relationship, because of the two partners in this relationship, only the former is truly real, while the latter is a mere apparition — an illusion that exists only in the outlook of our mind, which is itself part of the illusion that it experiences.

The concept of 'levels' or 'planes' of reality can therefore be applied only to the various different forms of relative reality. So long as relative reality appears to exist, there may appear to be any number of different 'levels' or 'planes' of such reality. However, since our aim is to transcend all relative reality and to experience only the non-dual absolute reality, we need not concern ourself with any analysis of or discussions about any different 'levels' or 'planes' of reality, because in truth there is only one reality, and we are that.

To our minds, which are long accustomed to the idea that the problems of life are complex and difficult to comprehend fully, and that the solutions to those problems are equally complex and obscure, the account of reality given here may appear to be excessively simple and free of obscurity, and as such to be overly simplistic. However, the absolute reality is indeed perfectly simple and free of all obscurity.

Complexity and obscurity belongs only to the realm of relativity, and not to the realm of the absolute. That which is absolute is by its very definition perfectly simple and clear. To be absolute it must be perfectly non-dual, because all duality is by its very nature relative.

So long as we imagine any form of duality in the reality, that reality is not absolute but only relative.

If we consider the countless relative problems of life, they are indeed extremely complex and impossible to comprehend fully or adequately, and the aim of our discussion here is not to pretend otherwise. What we are considering here is not any relative problems, but is only the absolute reality that underlies all relativity, and since it is absolute that reality must be perfectly simple and free of all obscurity.

Since the absolute reality cannot be limited in any way, it must be infinite and undivided, and as such it must be single, non-dual and free of all complexity. Since it is infinite, nothing can be other than it, so it must be the true and essential being of everything, including ourself. Therefore the absolute reality is nothing other than our own essential being, which we always experience as our perfectly simple, self-knowing and therefore ever clearly self-evident consciousness 'I am'. The absolute reality is as simple and as obvious as that.

The root of all the relative problems that we experience in our life is our mind. Our mind by its power of imagination creates all duality and relativity, and duality and relativity inevitably give rise to conflict and complexity. The problems of the relative world will persist in one form or other so long as we seek to solve them only by relative means.

No relative solution can solve a relative problem perfectly or absolutely. As soon as one relative problem is solved, or appears to be solved, another relative problem pops up. In a relative world, therefore, a problem-free life is inconceivable. Utopia can never be experienced in a world of duality and relativity, but only in a state beyond all duality and relativity – in a state of absolute non-duality.

Since all duality and relativity are experienced only within our own mind, if we wish to find a perfect solution to all the relative problems of life, we must look beyond our mind to the absolute reality that underlies its appearance. Our mind is a relative form of consciousness, and as such it is extremely complex and fraught with problems. In fact our mind thrives on complexity and problems, and

it instinctively shies away from a perfectly simple and problem-free state of non-dual self-consciousness. Why? Because in a state of perfectly clear non-dual consciousness, a state of simple and true self-knowledge, our mind cannot survive.

Being an illusory phantom, our mind can appear to exist only in the confusion and darkness of the complex duality of its own self-created state of relative consciousness. In the state of perfectly clear non-dual self-consciousness, all that is known is our simple consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. In the clarity of such absolute non-dual self-consciousness, therefore, the illusory appearance of the relative object-knowing consciousness called 'mind' – the consciousness that feels not merely 'I am' but 'I am knowing this' or 'I am knowing that' – will dissolve and disappear.

CHAPTER 5

What is True Knowledge?

What is 'true knowledge'? Can any knowledge that we now have be called true knowledge, or is all our knowledge just a semblance of true knowledge? Is there indeed any such thing as true knowledge, and if so how can we know what it is? Is it something that we can attain, or is it beyond the power of the human mind to grasp? If it is beyond the power of our mind to grasp, do we have any deeper level of consciousness by which we can experience it? How can we experience true knowledge?

Let us first decide what knowledge can be considered as true. To qualify as being true knowledge in the strictest sense of the term, the knowledge in question must be absolutely true – perfectly, permanently, unconditionally and independently true. That is, it must be a knowledge that is true in its own right, a knowledge that is true at all times, in all states and under all conditions, a knowledge whose truth is not in any way dependent upon, limited by or relative to any other thing, a knowledge whose truth is ever unchanging and immutable, being unaffected by anything else that may appear or disappear, or by any changes that may occur around it. It must also be self-evident, perfectly clear and absolutely reliable – devoid of even the least ambiguity or uncertainty – and must be known directly – not through any intervening media upon whose truth and reliability its own truth and reliability would then depend. Only such knowledge can be considered to be true knowledge in an absolute sense.

Knowledge that is not true from such an absolute standpoint but only from a relative standpoint is not perfectly true. It may be true under some conditions, but it is not true under all conditions. It may be true at one time or in one state, but it is not true at all times or in all states. It is true only relative to certain other things, and hence its truth is dependent upon and limited by the truth of those other things, and is affected by their appearance and disappearance, and by changes that may take place within them. Such relative knowledge is uncertain and unreliable, particularly since it is invariably obtained by us not directly but only through the intervening media of our mind and our five senses, whose truth and reliability are (as we shall see later) open to serious doubt. Knowledge which is thus true only relatively and not absolutely does not warrant the name 'true knowledge' in a strict analysis of what knowledge can be considered as true or real.

Therefore whenever the term 'true knowledge' is used in this book, it means only knowledge that is absolutely true, and not just relatively true. The aim of this book is not to deny the relative truth or validity of any of the many forms of relative knowledge that we experience, but is to investigate our experience deeply in order to discover whether or not any knowledge within our experience is absolutely true.

If we can discover some knowledge that is absolute, from the perspective of that absolute knowledge we will be able to appreciate better the relativity of all the relative forms of knowledge that we now experience. Because we think that we do not now experience anything that is absolute, we attribute undue reality and give undue credence to the seeming truth of all our relative knowledge. This book, therefore, is primarily concerned not with determining the relative truth of any knowledge, but only with investigating whether there is any absolutely true knowledge that we can experience.

Most of the knowledge that we now take to be true is only relatively true. For example, we generally accept that, with the exception of optical illusions such as a mirage, and other such sensory misperceptions, the knowledge that we acquire by means of our five senses is true. However, all such knowledge is relative, because it is dependent upon the questionable reliability of our five senses, and because it is limited to their range of perception. Since our physical

senses are strictly limited and not entirely reliable, they are an imperfect media for acquiring true knowledge. Though they may provide us with knowledge that is relatively true and that meets many of our relative needs, including our biological survival, they cannot provide us with any knowledge that is absolutely true.

Not only is all the knowledge that we acquire by means of our five senses merely relative, but so also is all the knowledge that we acquire by means of our mind. Like our five physical senses, our mind is an imperfect medium for acquiring true knowledge, because it is a limited and unreliable instrument.

We all recognise the fact that much of the knowledge that our mind takes to be true at certain times is not actually true. For example, our mind may mistake an illusion to be true while it is experiencing it, but it later recognises that it was at that time mistaken in its judgement of what is true or real. Likewise, our mind mistakes its experiences in a dream to be true while it is actually experiencing that dream, but it later recognises that all those experiences were imaginary and therefore not true. Since we know that our mind is easily deceived into believing that whatever it is currently experiencing is true, how can we rely upon our mind as a dependable instrument through which we can acquire true knowledge?

Our mind is not just deluded temporarily into mistaking its own imaginations to be true, but is also deluded repeatedly into making this same mistake. Having once understood that in dream it was deluded into mistaking the unreal to be real, it does not thereby become immune from being again deluded in the same manner. The same delusion repeats itself again and again whenever our mind experiences a dream.

Since it is unable to learn from its repeated mistakes, our mind is a very unreliable judge of what knowledge is true and what knowledge is false. When it is so frequently incapable of recognising its own imaginations as false, how can we be sure that anything that it experiences is not merely an illusion, an unreal product of its own imagination? Our mind has access to only two basic sources of objective knowledge, namely its five physical senses, which it believes provide it with knowledge obtained from outside itself, and its own internally generated knowledge such as its thoughts, feelings, emotions, beliefs, concepts and so on. Neither of these two sources can provide it with consistently reliable information. Its physical senses often provide it with misperceptions, and its internally generated knowledge often provides it with dreams, and when it actually experiences such misperceptions or dreams, it is usually unable to distinguish them from all its other knowledge, which it assumes to be true.

Moreover, our mind is unable to distinguish between the knowledge that it is supposed to have obtained from each of these two sources. In a dream our mind believes that the world it is experiencing is perceived by it through its physical senses, and that that world therefore exists outside itself. However, when it wakes from that dream, our mind recognises that the world in its dream was not actually perceived by it through any physical senses, but was only an internally generated imagination.

Even now in our present waking state, our mind has no means of knowing for certain that the knowledge that it seems to obtain from outside itself through its physical senses is not actually just an internally generated imagination. All the knowledge that our mind experiences is experienced by it within itself, so it has no reliable means of knowing for certain that any of its knowledge is actually derived from outside itself.

Whether we imagine it to be derived from some external source or to be internally generated, or a combination of both, any knowledge we have of anything other than ourself is objective knowledge. All objective knowledge is dualistic and therefore relative, because it involves a distinction between the knowing subject and the known objects. Any knowledge that involves any form of duality must necessarily be relative.

Since the knowledge we have of everything else is objective, dualistic and therefore relative, the only knowledge we have that can possibly qualify as absolute is our subjective and therefore non-dual knowledge of ourself. Our knowledge of ourself, that is, of our own essential being, is the only knowledge that is devoid of all duality and relativity.

To know ourself, that is, to experience our own essential being as 'I am', we do not need the aid of our five senses or even of our mind. We know our own being, 'I am', even in sleep, when we are completely unaware either of our body and its five senses, or of our mind. Therefore our basic knowledge 'I am' is not dependent upon any other thing. In the complete absence of all otherness, such as in sleep, we know 'I am'.

Whatever else we may know, and even when we know nothing else, we always know 'I am'. Therefore our basic knowledge 'I am' is not only completely independent of all other knowledge, it is also permanent and unchanging. Other forms of knowledge may come and go, and they may even appear to be superimposed temporarily upon our basic knowledge 'I am', thereby seemingly obscuring it (though never actually hiding it), but this knowledge 'I am' itself remains permanently, without ever coming or going, appearing or disappearing, or beginning or ending, and without ever undergoing any change. Therefore this basic knowledge of our own being, 'I am', is the only absolute knowledge we experience.

The reason why we always know ourself as 'I am' is that we are consciousness, and consciousness is necessarily and essentially self-conscious. As consciousness, we always know our own being, not because our being is an object known by us, but because it is ourself, our own essential consciousness. We are therefore both being and consciousness. Our being and our consciousness are a single non-dual whole. Our consciousness is being, because it is, and our being is consciousness, because it knows itself.

However, when we say this, we are expressing the oneness of our being and our consciousness crudely and imperfectly, because we are speaking about them in the third person, as if they were objects. Our being-consciousness does not know itself objectively as a third person, but only subjectively as the first person. Therefore, rather

than saying that our consciousness is being because it is, we can express the truth more accurately by saying that we are being because we are. Likewise, rather than saying that our being is consciousness because it knows itself, we can express the truth more accurately by saying that we are consciousness because we know ourself.

Still more accurately, we can express the truth by saying that I am being because I am, and I am consciousness because I know myself, because not only does our being-consciousness know itself only subjectively as the first person, but it also knows itself not as the first person plural, but only as the perfectly non-dual first person singular.

In his teachings, whether he happened to be referring to our real self or to our individual self, Sri Ramana often used the first person plural pronoun 'we' rather than the first person singular pronoun 'I', but he did not mean to imply thereby that there is any sense of plurality or duality in our real self. He referred to our real self as 'we' in order to include whomever he was speaking to or writing for, and to indicate that we are all one reality.

In many cases, if he had used 'I' instead of 'we', it would have created the impression that our real self is exclusive, whereas in truth it is all-inclusive. Therefore, wherever he has used the term 'we' in reference to our real self, we should understand that he used it as the first person *inclusive* pronoun rather than as the first person *plural* pronoun.

All our objective knowledge is known by us indirectly through the imperfect media of our mind and five senses, whereas consciousness is known by us directly as our own self. No form of indirect or mediate knowledge can be absolute, because such knowledge is inherently partitioned and dualistic, since it involves a distinction between the subject that is knowing, the object that is known, and the medium through which the subject knows the object. Since absolute knowledge must be free of all limitations, both internal and external, it must be devoid of any divisions, parts or duality. It must therefore be direct and immediate knowledge, knowledge that knows itself, in itself and by itself, without the aid of any internal or

external medium.

Absolute knowledge must therefore be self-conscious – perfectly and singly self-conscious. It must be known by itself, and only by itself. It cannot be known by anything other than itself, because if it were it would not be absolute. The existence of anything other than it that could know it would set a limitation upon the wholeness of its being, and would therefore mean that it was not absolute in the fullest sense of the word.

Absolute knowledge cannot exist in relation to anything else, but only in itself and by itself. In order to be absolute, a knowledge must be the only truly existing knowledge. All knowledge that appears to be other than it must be false. Conversely, to be true – absolutely and perfectly true – a knowledge must be absolute.

Since true knowledge must therefore by definition be absolute, it must be a single, infinite, whole, undivided, non-dual, immediate and self-conscious knowledge. The only knowledge that knows itself is our essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Even our mind is not truly self-conscious, because it does not know itself as it really is, and because its seeming self-consciousness is limited to the two imaginary states of waking and dream. The only knowledge that is truly self-conscious, therefore, is our fundamental consciousness 'I am', because it knows itself always, undisturbed and unaffected by the passing of the three transient states of waking, dream and sleep.

Our essential consciousness 'I am' is not only immediately and eternally self-conscious, it is also single, undivided and non-dual. Is it, however, infinite? Is it the unlimited whole, other than which nothing can exist? Yes, it is, because it has no form of its own, and hence it is free of all boundaries and limits. Therefore, since it is not limited in any way, nothing can truly be other than it.

Everything else that appears to exist depends for its seeming existence upon our basic consciousness 'I am'. No other knowledge could exist if our first and original knowledge 'I am' did not exist. Since all other knowledge appears and disappears in our mind, and since our mind appears and disappears in our underlying consciousness 'I am', no knowledge is truly separate from or other

than this fundamental consciousness 'I am'.

The 'otherness' of all other knowledge – our feeling that what we know is separate from or other than ourself – is caused by the limitations that we seemingly impose upon ourself when we imagine ourself to be a finite creature, a consciousness that experiences itself as 'I am this body'. However, even when we experience this illusion of separation or 'otherness', all our 'other' knowledge is known in us and by us, so it is truly not separate from or other than ourself. It is in fact all just a product of our imagination, and our imagination is just a distorted function of our consciousness.

The apparent 'being' of every 'other' thing that we know is just a projection of our own true being, which is consciousness. Though other things appear to exist outside ourself, the outside in which they occur is actually just a part of our imagination. The process by which they are projected from within ourself into a seeming outside is in fact just an internal distortion of our consciousness – a distortion that nevertheless occurs not really but only seemingly.

None of the things that we know have any being or existence apart from our knowledge of them, and hence in the final analysis all 'things' are only knowledge, and knowledge is only consciousness. In a dream we experience knowledge of things that appear to be separate from and other than ourself, but when we wake up we recognise that all such knowledge was created by our imagination, and therefore had no independent existence outside our consciousness.

Like any other form of imagination, a dream is just an internal distortion of our natural consciousness. All the knowledge that we experience in our dream is formed in our own consciousness, and of our own consciousness. That is, the substance of which all our imaginations are formed is our own consciousness.

Other than our consciousness, there is no substance from which all our imaginations – our thoughts, feelings, perceptions and every form of dualistic knowledge – could be formed. The only substance we truly know is our own consciousness or being. Everything else that we seem to know is generated by our consciousness within itself

and from its own substance.

However, there is an important distinction between our consciousness that seems to imagine and experience other forms of knowledge, and our real consciousness, which experiences only our own being, 'I am'. Our consciousness that imagines that it is experiencing 'otherness' – knowledge of things other than itself – is what we call our 'mind'. Though this mind is in essence just our real and infinite consciousness of being, 'I am', it experiences itself as a finite consciousness because it imagines the appearance of things other than itself. Its separation or distinction from our real consciousness is therefore just an imagination.

Nevertheless, when we are critically analysing our various forms of knowledge or consciousness and testing their reality, this distinction between our object-knowing consciousness and our self-knowing consciousness is one that we have to make in order to be able to experience the latter as it really is. Because this distinction is the root cause of all duality, it is in effect very real and significant so long as we experience even the slightest trace of any duality or 'otherness'.

Since our aim is to experience our true and essential knowledge or consciousness as it really is, a need inevitably arises for us to distinguish it from all the unreal forms of knowledge that we have seemingly superimposed upon it by our power of imagination. Since all other forms of knowledge are experienced in and by our mind, in order to distinguish our true knowledge 'I am' from every other knowledge we need only distinguish it from our mind.

Our mind is just a distorted form of our true consciousness of being, 'I am', and it has become distorted only by imagining things other than itself. Since knowing itself just as 'I am' is the very nature of consciousness, the natural 'target' or resting-place of its attention is itself. That is, in its true and natural state, the focus or attention of our consciousness rests automatically and effortlessly upon itself, and not upon any other thing. Our attention becomes diverted away from ourself towards 'other things' only when we imagine them or form them in our consciousness.

So long as the focus of our consciousness or attention rests naturally upon ourself, we remain as the infinite real consciousness or true knowledge that we always are, but when the focus of our consciousness seems to be diverted towards imaginary objects or thoughts, we seem to become the finite consciousness that we call our 'mind'. Therefore, if our mind wishes to experience the true knowledge that is its own real self, all it need do is withdraw its attention from all other things and to focus it keenly upon its own essential consciousness, 'I am'. This state in which our mind thus rests its attention in itself, knowing only its own being or consciousness, is described by Sri Ramana in verse 16 of *Upadesa Undiyar* as the state of true knowledge:

[Our] mind knowing its own form of light, having given up [knowing] external objects, alone is true knowledge.

When our mind knows 'external objects' or things other than itself, it does so by mistaking itself to be a physical body, which is one among those other things that it knows. But when it withdraws its attention back towards itself, it will cease to know any other thing, and thereby it will cease to mistake itself to be a physical body or any other product of its imagination.

By thus attending only to its own essential consciousness or 'form of light', and thereby giving up attending to any form of imagination, our mind will experience itself as its own natural consciousness of being, 'I am'. In other words, by attending to and knowing only its own true consciousness of being, our mind will merge and become one with that consciousness. This non-dual experience of true self-consciousness is the state of true and absolute knowledge.

What exactly does Sri Ramana mean when he speaks of our "mind knowing its own form of light, having relinquished external objects"? What is our mind's 'own form of light'?

Our mind, as we saw in chapter three, is our compound consciousness 'I am this body', which is composed of two elements, our essential and fundamental consciousness 'I am', and the superimposed adjunct 'this body'. Since the adjunct 'this body'

appears at one time and disappears at another time, and since it changes its form, appearing as one body in waking and another body in dream, it is merely a superficial appearance, a spurious and unreal apparition. Therefore the only real element of our mind is our fundamental consciousness 'I am', our essential consciousness of our own existence, because this fundamental and essential consciousness is permanent – not something that appears at one time and disappears at another time – and never changes its form. Since this fundamental consciousness of our own being is thus the true and essential form of our mind, and since it is the 'light' that enables our mind to know not only itself and but also all other things, in this verse Sri Ramana refers to it as our mind's 'own form of light'.

When our mind turns its power of attention back on itself, away from all other things, focusing its attention keenly and exclusively upon its fundamental and essential consciousness of its own being, 'I am', it will subside and disappear, merging in and becoming one with that fundamental consciousness. That is, when we, who now mistake ourself to be this limited individual consciousness that we call 'mind', focus our attention exclusively upon our fundamental adjunct-free consciousness 'I am', we will discover this adjunct-free consciousness to be our own real self, and thus we will no longer mistake ourself to be this mind, the adjunct-bound consciousness 'I am this body'.

However, so long as we attend to things other than ourself, we will perpetuate the illusion that we are this mind. In order to know ourself as we really are, therefore, we must stop attending to other things and must attend only to our own essential being – our adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'.

Therefore, when our mind gives up its habit of attending to external objects, and instead knows only its own true form of light – our clear self-luminous consciousness 'I am' – it will no longer appear to be a separate entity called 'mind', but will instead shine only as its own true and essential being, which is our eternally self-knowing consciousness 'I am'. Hence, that which knows our adjunct-free consciousness 'I am' is not actually our mind, but is

only our adjunct-free consciousness itself. Since it knows only itself, and is known only by itself, our adjunct-free consciousness 'I am' is essentially non-dual.

Therefore, our "mind knowing its own form of light, having relinquished external objects" is the non-dual state in which, by knowing its own true and essential nature, our mind has ceased to be the imaginary adjunct-bound, object-knowing consciousness called 'mind', and instead remains only as our essential adjunct-free self-consciousness – our true consciousness, which always knows only its own being, 'I am'.

As Sri Ramana says, this non-dual state of clear self-consciousness or self-knowledge is alone the state of true knowledge. Why is this so? The only thing we know with absolute certainty is 'I am'. If we ourself did not exist, we could not know any other thing. Therefore, because we are conscious, we do exist.

We may not know exactly *what we are*, but we cannot reasonably have any doubt about the fact *that we are*. Our consciousness 'I am' is therefore the only knowledge that we can be absolutely sure is a true knowledge.

Unlike all our other knowledge, which is only relatively or conditionally true, our consciousness 'I am' is absolutely and unconditionally true, because it is permanent, unchanging and perfectly self-evident. Since it is known directly by itself, and not by anything else or through any other medium, its truth or reality does not depend upon any other thing. Because it is true at all times, in all states and under all conditions, and because it is ever unchanging and immutable, being unaffected by anything else that may appear or disappear, or by any changes that may occur around it, it is true in its own right – absolutely, unconditionally and independently true.

Since it is the only thing we experience at all times, in all states and under all conditions, and since it always remains as it is without ever undergoing any change, this fundamental consciousness 'I am' must be our real self, our true and most essential nature. However, though we already know this consciousness 'I am', we do not clearly know it as it is, because it seems to be clouded by the

superimposition of our mind – the spurious consciousness that always knows itself mixed with adjuncts, and that can never know itself free of adjuncts as the mere consciousness 'I am'. Therefore, rather than being the means to true knowledge, our mind is in fact the primary obstacle to true knowledge.

Why can no knowledge other than self-knowledge – the non-dual state in which we clearly know and firmly abide as the consciousness that knows only its own being, 'I am' – be considered to be true knowledge? All knowledge other than our real adjunct-free non-dual consciousness 'I am' is known only by our mind – our false adjunct-bound consciousness 'I am this body'. Whereas our unadulterated consciousness 'I am' is essentially non-dual, because it knows only its own being, our mind is an intrinsically dual form of consciousness, because it appears as a separate individual consciousness only by seemingly knowing things other than itself.

All dual knowledge, that is, all knowledge in which what is known is separate from or other than that which knows it, is relative knowledge. That which is known as an object distinct from the knowing subject exists relative to that subject which knows it, and is therefore dependent for its seeming reality upon that subject. Unless the knowing subject is itself real, none of its knowledge of objects can be real.

All the knowledge that we have of objects is only thoughts that our mind has formed within itself by its power of imagination. We cannot know any objects – anything other than our own being, 'I am' – except through the medium of our mind. Hence we cannot know whether any object really exists independent of the thought of it that we have formed in our mind. Therefore all our knowledge about everything other than 'I am' is nothing but thoughts, which are only as real as our mind that has formed them.

As we have seen earlier, our mind, together with all its knowledge of duality, is merely an imagination superimposed upon the one real knowledge, which is our non-dual consciousness 'I am'. Our consciousness 'I am' is non-dual because it knows only itself – its own essential being – and not any other thing. That which knows

things that are seemingly other than itself is only our mind.

All objective knowledge – all knowledge of duality, all knowledge other than 'I am' – is known only by our mind, and therefore exists only relative to our mind. Hence all knowledge other than 'I am' is dualistic and relative knowledge, and as such it depends for its seeming reality upon our mind that knows it.

Our mind is an unreal form of consciousness, because it comes into existence as a separate object-knowing consciousness only by falsely identifying itself – its essential consciousness 'I am' – with an adjunct, 'this body', which is merely one of its own thoughts – an image that it has formed within itself by its power of imagination. Since our mind is thus formed only by our power of imagination, all that is known by it is also only a product of our imagination.

How can any such imaginary, relative, dualistic and objective knowledge be considered to be true knowledge? Is it not clear, therefore, that the only true knowledge that we can attain is the clear knowledge of ourself as we really are, devoid of any superimposed adjuncts – that is, knowledge of ourself as our unadulterated and essential self-consciousness, 'I am', which is the absolute non-dual consciousness that knows only itself?

All objective knowledge involves a basic distinction between the subject, who is knowing, and the object, which is known. It also involves a third factor, the subject's act of knowing the object.

Because our knowledge of ourself involves only the inherently self-conscious subject, and no object, we know ourself just by being ourself, and we do so without the aid of any other thing. Because we are naturally self-conscious, we do not need to do anything in order to know ourself. Therefore unlike all our objective knowledge, our knowledge of ourself involves neither an object nor any act of knowing, and hence it is a perfectly non-dual knowledge.

Objective knowledge involves an act of knowing because of the seeming separation that exists between the knowing subject and the known object. That is, because the object is something that seems to be other than the subject, in order to know the object the attention of the subject must move away from itself towards the object. This

movement of our attention away from ourself towards something that seems to be other than ourself is an action or 'doing'.

Whereas we know ourself by just being ourself, we can know other things only by actively attending to them – that is, only by directing our mind towards them. When we know ourself, our attention, which is our power of knowing or consciousness, rests in itself, without moving anywhere. But when we know any other thing, our attention must be diverted from ourself towards that other thing.

This act of directing our attention towards something that appears to be other than ourself is what we call thinking. Every thought involves a movement of our attention away from ourself towards some image in our mind. Our mind forms all its thoughts or mental images only by seemingly moving its attention away from itself.

Since all our objective knowledge is just thoughts or mental images that our mind has formed within itself by seemingly moving its attention away from itself, it appears to exist only because of this action, which we call by various names such as thinking, knowing, cognising, experiencing, seeing, hearing, remembering and so on. Likewise, all the objects that we know come into existence only because of our act of knowing them. That is, since all objects are thoughts or images that arise in our mind, they are formed by our action of thinking or imagining them – an action that can occur only when we allow our attention to move seemingly away from ourself.

Thus all objective knowledge involves three basic elements, the knowing subject, its act of knowing and the objects known by it – or in other words, the knower, the knowing and the known. These three basic elements or factors of objective knowledge are known in Sanskrit as *triputi* and in Tamil as *mupputi*, two terms which both literally mean 'that which is threefold' but which can be translated more comfortably by the word 'triad'.

Of these three factors of objective knowledge, the first and foremost is the knower, which is our own mind or object-knowing consciousness. Without this first factor, the other two factors could not appear to exist. Therefore our knowing mind is the root or original cause of the appearance of these three factors of objective knowledge. In other words, what these three factors depend upon for their appearance or seeming existence is the appearance of our mind. Hence they will appear to exist only so long as our mind appears to exist.

This truth is clearly stated by Sri Ramana in verse 9 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

The pairs and the triads exist [only by] clinging always to one [that is, to our mind or object-knowing consciousness]. If [we] look within [our] mind 'what is that one?', they will slip off [because we will discover that their cause and supporting base, our mind, is itself non-existent]. Only those who have [thus] seen [the non-existence of our mind and the sole existence of our real self] are those who have seen the reality [the absolute reality or true 'am'-ness]. They will not be deluded [confused or agitated by again imagining the existence of such pairs and triads]. See [this absolute reality, which is our own true self – our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'].

In this verse the word *irattaigal* or 'pairs' means the pairs of opposites such as life and death, existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, happiness and unhappiness, real and unreal, knowledge and ignorance, light and darkness, good and bad, and so on. The word *mupputigal* or 'triads' means the various forms that the 'triad' or set of three factors of objective knowledge assumes, such as the knower, the knowing and the known, the thinker, the thinking and the thought, the perceiver, the perceiving and the perceived, the experiencer, the experiencing and the experienced, and so on.

The unreality both of these 'triads', which form the totality of our objective knowledge, and of these 'pairs', which are an inherent part of our objective knowledge, being objective phenomena experienced by our knowing mind, is emphasised by the word *vinmai*, which Sri Ramana added between the previous verse and this verse in the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu*. Being placed immediately before the opening words of this verse, *irattaigal mupputigal*, this

word *vinmai*, which literally means 'sky-ness' – that is, the abstract quality or condition of the sky, which in this context implies its blueness – defines the nature of these 'pairs' and 'triads'. That is, these basic constituents of all our objective or dualistic knowledge are unreal appearances, like the blueness of the sky.

Just as the sky is actually just empty space, which devoid of colour, so we are actually just the empty space of unadulterated self-consciousness, which is devoid of duality or otherness. But just as the seeming blueness of the sky is formed because the light of the sun is refracted when it enters the earth's atmosphere, so the appearance of duality is formed in the undivided space of our consciousness because the clear light of our non-dual self-consciousness is seemingly divided into many thoughts or mental images when the phantom of our mind arises within us.

This is why Sri Ramana says that these pairs of opposites and triads exist only by 'clinging always to one'. The 'one' to which they always cling is our mind or object-knowing consciousness, and they are said to cling to it because for their seeming existence they all depend upon its seeming existence. When our mind seems to exist, as it does in waking and dream, the pairs of opposites and the triads also seem to exist, and when it does not seem to exist, as in sleep, they also do not seem to exist.

Therefore Sri Ramana says that if we look within our mind to see what that 'one' is, the pairs of opposites and the triads will slip off. That is, if we keenly scrutinise ourself in order to know what this object-knowing consciousness really is, we will discover that it is actually just our essential non-dual self-consciousness, which knows nothing other than itself, and hence all the otherness and duality that it now appears to know will vanish.

Our mind or object-knowing consciousness appears to exist only when we ignore our true non-dual self-consciousness, and hence it will cease to exist when we attend only to ourself – that is, to our fundamental and essential self-consciousness. When we look closely at an imaginary snake, it will disappear, and in its place only the real rope will remain. Similarly, when we look closely at this imaginary

object-knowing consciousness that we call our 'mind', it will disappear, and in its place only our real non-dual self-consciousness will remain.

Just as the snake disappears because it is imaginary and therefore never really existed, so our mind will disappear because it is imaginary and has therefore never really existed. And just as the sole reality underlying the imaginary appearance of the snake is the rope, so the sole reality underlying the imaginary appearance of our mind is our fundamental non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'.

When we look closely at the object-knowing consciousness that we call our 'mind', we will discover that it is non-existent as such, being nothing other than our real consciousness – our non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', which never knows anything other than itself. When we thus discover that our object-knowing mind is non-existent as such, we will also discover that all the duality that appeared to be known by it was likewise non-existent. This is why Sri Ramana says that if we look within our mind to see what this object-knowing consciousness really is, the pairs of opposites and the triads will 'slip off' – that is, they will disappear along with their root cause, our mind.

After saying that the pairs of opposites and the triads will slip off if we see what the one object-knowing consciousness really is, Sri Ramana says, "Only those who have seen [thus] are those who have seen the reality". Here the word *kandavare*, which I have translated as 'only those who have seen', means only those who have thus 'seen' or experienced the non-existence of our mind and the sole existence of our real self. The word *unmai*, which I have translated as 'the reality', but which etymologically means 'is'-ness or 'am'-ness, here denotes the absolute reality, which is our true 'am'-ness – our own essential non-dual self-conscious being.

Sri Ramana then declares, "kalangare", which means, 'They will not be deluded, confused or agitated'. That is, since all delusion, confusion and agitation arise only due to our knowledge of duality or otherness, which in turn arises only due to the imaginary appearance of our mind, and since our mind will disappear for ever when we

experience the absolute and only truly existing reality, which is our own perfectly non-dual self-conscious being, after we have experienced this reality we will never again be deluded or confused by the imaginary appearance of duality.

Thus in this verse Sri Ramana emphasises the fact that our mind is the one foundation upon which this entire imaginary appearance of duality is built, and that we can therefore experience the absolute reality that underlies this appearance only by scrutinising its foundation, our mind. Until we thereby free ourself from our self-delusive imagination that this mind is our real self, we will continue to experience the unreal knowledge of duality, and we will therefore be unable to experience the non-dual true knowledge that is our own real self.

The knowledge that our mind has about the world is twofold, taking the form of knowledge about some things and ignorance about other things. Such relative knowledge and ignorance (which is one of the pairs of opposites to which Sri Ramana refers in verse 9 of *Ulladu Narpadu*) is possible only about things other than ourself.

About ourself we can never really be ignorant, because we always know ourself as 'I am'. However, until we know ourself without the obscuring veil of superimposed adjuncts, we do not know ourself as we really are, but know ourself wrongly as 'I am such-and-such a person'.

Though this wrong knowledge that we seem to have about our true nature is sometimes called 'self-ignorance', 'ignorance of our real self' or 'spiritual ignorance', it is not in fact real, but is merely an appearance that seems to exist only in the outlook of our mind. That is, it is just a seeming ignorance that is experienced only by our mind, and not by our real consciousness, which always knows itself merely as 'I am'. In the experience of our real consciousness 'I am', there is no such duality as knowledge and ignorance, because it is the sole reality underlying all appearances, and hence nothing exists apart from or other than it for it either to know or not to know.

Like all the other knowledge and ignorance that is experienced by our mind, our seeming ignorance of our true and essential nature is only relative. Moreover, even the state of self-knowledge that we now seek to attain exists only relative to our present state of self-ignorance. However, it is relative only from the standpoint of our mind, which seeks to attain it as if it were some knowledge that we do not now possess, and that we can therefore newly experience at some time in future.

This concept that our mind has about self-knowledge is a false image of what the true experience of self-knowledge really is. When we actually experience the state of true self-knowledge, we will discover that it is not something that we have newly attained at a particular point in time, but is the one and only real state, which we have always experienced and will always experience, because it exists eternally, beyond the relative dimensions of time – past, present and future. That is, in that state we will clearly know that we have always been only the pure consciousness of being, 'I am', and that ignorance – the wrong knowledge 'I am this body' – never really existed, just as when we finally see the rope as it really is, we will understand that we were always seeing only that rope, and that the snake we imagined we saw never really existed.

Even when we imagine that we do not know our real self and therefore try to attend to ourself in order to know what we really are, we are in fact nothing other than our real self, which always knows itself as it really is. Our seeming ignorance of the true non-dual nature of our real self is only an imagination, and the sole purpose of our effort to know ourself is only to remove this imagination. This truth is stated emphatically by Sri Ramana in verse 37 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

Even the argument that says, 'Duality [is real] in [the state of] spiritual practice, [whereas] non-duality [is real] in [the state of] attainment [of self-knowledge]', is not true. Both when we are lovingly [earnestly or desperately] searching [for ourself], and when [we] have attained ourself, who indeed are we other than the tenth man?

The word *dasaman* or 'the tenth man' refers to an analogy that is often used in *advaita vedanta*. According to the traditional story on

which this analogy is based, ten dull-witted men once forded a fastflowing river. After crossing the river, they decided to count how many they were in order to make sure that they had all crossed safely. Each one of them counted the other nine men, but forgot to count himself, so they all imagined that they had lost one of their companions, and instead of trying to know who that missing 'tenth man' was, they all began to lament his loss.

Seeing them weeping over the loss of their supposedly missing companion, a passer-by understood that each of them had forgotten to count himself, so to convince them that none of them was really missing, he suggested that he would tap each of them one by one, and that starting from 'one' each man should count the next number in sequence as he was tapped. When the last man was tapped he counted 'ten', whereupon they all understood that none of them was ever really missing.

Who then was the 'tenth man' whom they had each imagined they had lost? Each man, who had counted the other nine men but forgotten to count himself, was himself the supposedly missing 'tenth man'. Just as the 'tenth man' appeared to be missing only because each one of them had ignored himself and counted only the others, so we appear not to know ourself only because we habitually ignore ourself and attend only to things that appear to be other than ourself.

Therefore when Sri Ramana asks, "... who indeed are we other than the tenth man?", what he means by the word *dasaman* or 'the tenth man' is only our own real self, which we now imagine we do not know. Hence the meaning of the rhetorical question that Sri Ramana asks in the last sentence of this verse is that we are always truly nothing other than our own real self, both when we are searching for it, and when we have discovered ourself to be it.

Just as the loss of the 'tenth man' was merely an imagination, so our present state of self-ignorance is likewise a mere imagination. Therefore, since all the duality that we experience in this state is a result of our imaginary self-ignorance, it is also a mere imagination. Hence, even in our present state of seeming self-ignorance, the only

reality is our own essential non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'.

In order for any of the ten men to discover the missing 'tenth man', all that was required was for him to remove his imagination that one of them was missing, and that could be achieved only by drawing his attention to himself. Similarly, in order for us to discover our own real self, all that is required is for us to remove our imagination that we know anything other than our real self, and that can be achieved only by drawing our attention towards ourself. That is, since the cause of our imaginary experience of duality or otherness is our seeming self-ignorance, it can be removed only by the experience of clear non-dual self-knowledge, which we can achieve only by attending keenly and exclusively to ourself.

The necessity for spiritual practice – for our making effort to be keenly and exclusively attentive to our own self-conscious being – arises only because we imagine ourself to be anything other than our real self, which is our essential non-dual self-consciousness. This is the meaning implied by two words that Sri Ramana added before the opening words of this verse in the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu*, namely *ariyade muyalum*, which mean 'which [we] attempt [or make effort to do] only [due to] not knowing'.

Being placed before the initial word of this verse, *sadhakattil*, which means 'in [the state of] spiritual practice', these two words imply that we make effort to do any form of spiritual practice, including the ultimate practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation, only because we do not experience true self-knowledge – the true knowledge that we are just absolutely non-dual and therefore perfectly clear self-conscious being. Though this self-ignorance or lack of true self-knowledge is only imaginary, so long as we experience ourself as being anything other than absolutely unadulterated self-consciousness – consciousness that knows nothing other than itself, its own essential being or 'am'-ness – it is necessary for us to practise self-investigation, which is the real spiritual practice of abiding undistractedly as our own true self-conscious being.

However, since our present self-ignorance is truly imaginary,

when as a result of our practice we do experience our real self – our absolutely non-dual self-conscious being – we will discover that we have never known anything other than it. Just as the 'tenth man' was never anyone other than the man who imagined him to be missing, so the real self that we are now seeking is never anything other than ourself, who now imagine it to be something that we do not clearly know. Therefore Sri Ramana says that it is not true to say that duality is real when we are seeking our real self. Even now we are truly nothing other than the non-dual real self that we seek.

Since we ourself are the real self that we now seek, and since the true nature of our real self is to know nothing other than itself, we have never really experienced any duality. Our present experience of duality is therefore just a dream – an imagination that exists only in our own mind. Since our mind is itself just an imagination, and since it will therefore disappear when we experience ourself as we really are, our dream of duality will be dissolved by our experience of true self-knowledge.

In the state of true self-knowledge we will discover that we are the one non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am', which never knows anything other than itself. Since this true non-dual selfconsciousness is our real self, we are actually this at all times and in all states, even when we imagine ourself to be something else.

Therefore, since we are the one non-dual, undivided, infinite, eternal and immutable self-consciousness, we ourself are the only true knowledge. That is, we are the one absolute knowledge that transcends all relativity – all knowledge and ignorance, all distinctions such as that between the knowing subject, the act of knowing, and the objects known, all time and space, and all other forms of duality.

All forms of duality or relativity exist only in the imagination of our mind, which itself is no more than a figment of our imagination – something which in truth has never really existed. However, though true knowledge transcends not only all forms of duality or relativity, but also our mind, by which all forms of duality and relativity are known, it is nevertheless the ultimate substratum that

underlies and supports the appearance of all of them.

True knowledge is therefore only the absolute knowledge that underlies yet transcends all relative knowledge and ignorance. It transcends them because, though it is their ultimate substratum or support, it nevertheless remains distinct from, independent of and unaffected by them, just as a cinema screen is the support that underlies the appearance of the pictures that flit across it, yet nevertheless remains distinct from, independent of and unaffected by them. Just as the screen is not burnt when a picture of a raging fire is projected upon it, nor does it become wet when a picture of a flood is projected upon it, so true knowledge — our real non-dual self-consciousness 'I am' — is not affected in the least by any relative knowledge or ignorance that may seem to arise within it.

Though our true, absolute and non-dual knowledge 'I am' is the ultimate support or substratum that underlies all forms of duality or relativity, it is not their immediate support or base. The immediate base upon which all duality depends, and without which it ceases to exist, is only our wrong knowledge 'I am this body', which is our individualised sense of selfhood, our ego or mind. Therefore in verse 23 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

This body does not say 'I' [that is, it does not know 'I am', because it is just inconscient matter]. No one says 'in sleep I do not exist' [even though in sleep this body does not exist]. After an 'I' has risen [imagining 'I am this body'], everything rises. [Therefore] by a subtle intellect scrutinise where this 'I' rises.

What exactly Sri Ramana means by saying in the first sentence of this verse, "This body does not say 'I", was clarified by him in the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu*, in which he added before it the words *mati iladal*, which mean 'since it is devoid of *mati*'. The word *mati* usually means mind, intellect or power of discernment and understanding, but in this context Sri Ramana uses it in a deeper sense to mean consciousness.

That is, since our body has no consciousness of its own, it cannot by itself say 'I am'. Here 'say' is not used objectively to mean 'make sound by mouth', but is used more subjectively to mean 'testify', 'bear witness', 'declare' or 'make known'. Our body does not experience or witness its own existence, any more than a corpse does, and hence it cannot testify 'I am'. That which now experiences its seeming existence is only we – the consciousness or mind within this body – and since we imagine it to be ourself, we feel 'I am this body'. Hence, when this body seems to say 'I', it is in fact we who speak through it referring to it as 'I'.

Our mind, ego or individual sense of 'I', which now feels this body to be itself, is actually neither this body nor our real consciousness 'I'. It is not this body because this body is just inconscient matter, which does not know its own existence as 'I am', and it is not our real 'I', because we know that we exist in sleep, even though we do not experience our mind in that state.

Because our mind does not exist in sleep, no duality exists in that state. Duality or multiplicity appears to exist only after our mind has risen, posing itself as our real 'I'. Therefore the cause of the appearance of duality in waking and dream is only the appearance of our mind or ego, which arises by imagining itself to be a body.

Since our mind or individual sense of 'I' is not real, but arises merely as an imagination, Sri Ramana concludes this verse by advising us to scrutinise the source from which it rises. That source is ourself – our real 'I' or essential self-consciousness, which we experienced even in sleep. If we scrutinise ourself with a 'subtle intellect', that is, with a clearly refined and therefore deeply penetrating power of discernment, cognition or attention, we will experience ourself as the true non-dual self-consciousness that we really are, and thus our mind or ego will vanish.

In the last line of this verse, the two words *nun matiyal*, which literally mean 'by a subtle intellect', are very significant, and in order to understand their meaning more clearly we should compare them with two similar words that Sri Ramana uses in verse 28, namely *kurnda matiyal*, which literally mean 'by a sharp intellect' or 'by a pointed intellect', that is, by a sharp, keen, intense, acute and penetrating power of discernment, cognition or attention. Since he says in verse 28 that by such a 'sharp intellect' or *kurnda mati* we

"should know the place [or source] from which [our] rising ego rises", it is clear that the 'subtle intellect' that he refers to in verse 23 is the same as the 'sharp intellect' that he refers to in verse 28.

Our real self is infinitely subtle, because it is formless consciousness, whereas in comparison all our thoughts are gross, because they are forms or images that appear to be other than ourself. Therefore if we are habituated to attending only to thoughts or objects, our intellect or power of discernment will have become comparatively gross, blunt and dull, having lost its natural subtlety, sharpness and clarity, and hence it will not be able to discern clearly our true, subtle, adjunct-free self-consciousness.

Since by constantly attending to gross thoughts and objects we have lost our natural subtlety, sharpness and clarity of attention or discernment, in order to regain these qualities we must attempt to attend repeatedly to our infinitely subtle self-consciousness. The more we practise such self-attentiveness, the more subtle, sharp and clear our power of attention or discernment will become, and as its subtlety, sharpness and clarity thus increases we will be able to discern our true self-consciousness more clearly, precisely and correctly, until eventually we will experience it in its absolutely pristine purity. This pristine experience of our real non-dual self-consciousness is alone the state of absolute true knowledge.

The result that will be achieved when with a truly subtle power of attention we scrutinise our essential self-consciousness, 'I am', which is the source from which our mind or false finite sense of 'I' arises, is stated by Sri Ramana explicitly in the words that he added at the end of this verse in the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu*. The final word of this verse is *en*, which is an imperative that in this context means 'scrutinise', but in the *kalivenba* version he modified it as *enna*, which is the infinitive form of the same verb that is used idiomatically to mean 'when [we] scrutinise', and he added a concluding verb *nazhuvum*, which literally means 'it slips off', 'it steals away' or 'it escapes', and which therefore implies that it will depart, disappear, vanish, evaporate, dissolve or become entirely non-existent. Thus the meaning of this final sentence in the

kalivenba version is: "When [we] scrutinise by a subtle intellect where this 'I' rises, it [this rising 'I'] will vanish".

This rising 'I', our mind or ego, appears to exist only when we imagine ourself to be a body, and hence its seeming existence depends upon our turning our attention away from our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', towards a body and other thoughts, all of which are objects that we have created by our own power of imagination. When we do not attend to any imaginary object, such as this body, the world or any of the other thoughts in our mind, our mind or finite sense of 'I' cannot stand, and hence it subsides and vanishes within us, being found to be entirely non-existent. Therefore when we scrutinise the source of our finite rising 'I' – that is, when we turn our attention away from all thoughts or mental images and focus it wholly and exclusively upon our own essential self-conscious being – this false 'I' will vanish in the absolute clarity of our perfectly adjunct-free non-dual self-consciousness.

In the second half of verse 23 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana points out the obvious truth that everything – that is, all duality or otherness – rises only after our mind or individual sense of 'I' has risen, and he advises us that we should therefore scrutinise with a 'subtle intellect' the source from which this 'I' arises. He also adds that when we scrutinise thus, this 'I' will slip away, vanish or become entirely non-existent. The inference that we should understand from his statement, "After an 'I' has risen, everything rises", from his subsequent advice, "By a subtle intellect scrutinise where this 'I' rises", and from his final statement that this 'I' will then vanish, is stated by him clearly in verse 26 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

If [our] ego comes into existence [as in the waking and dream states], everything comes into existence. If [our] ego does not exist [as in sleep], everything does not exist. [Hence our] ego indeed is everything [this entire appearance of duality or relativity]. Therefore, know that examining 'what is this [ego]?' is indeed relinquishing everything.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana added the word *karuvam*, which means 'which is the *karu*', before the first

word of this verse, which is *ahandai* or 'ego'. As I explained in chapter three when discussing the meaning of verse 716 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, the word *karu* means 'embryo', 'germ', 'efficient cause', 'substance', 'foundation' or 'womb', and Sri Ramana describes our ego or mind as being the *karu* because it is the embryo or seed from which everything – all duality or otherness – is born, the substance of which everything is formed, the active cause or creator that brings everything into being, the foundation that supports the appearance of everything, and the womb inside which everything is born and contained.

Except our essential self-consciousness 'I am', everything that we know or experience is just a thought or image that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination. Therefore everything is just an expansion of our own mind, our ego or root thought 'I'. This is why Sri Ramana states emphatically that our "ego indeed is everything".

Why does he then proceed to say that examining or scrutinising our ego in order to know what it is, is renouncing or casting off everything? Examining our ego is similar to examining the seeming snake that we see lying on the ground in the half-light of dusk. When we look carefully at the snake, we will discover that what we were seeing was never really a snake, but was always only a rope. Similarly, when we scrutinise our ego or individual sense of selfhood with a keen and subtle power of attention, we will discover that what we have always been aware of as 'I' was never really a limited adjunct-bound consciousness, but was always only the unlimited adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'.

Just as the snake as such never really existed, so our ego as such has never really existed. And just as the sole reality underlying the illusory appearance of the snake was merely a rope, so the sole reality underlying the illusory appearance of our ego is only our own true self, our adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'. Therefore, when we carefully examine our ego and discover that it is non-existent as such, the entire appearance of duality, which depended for its seeming reality upon the seeming reality of the ego, will cease to

exist – or rather, it will be found to be truly ever non-existent.

In reality, therefore, the true knowledge 'I am' alone exists, and all other forms of knowledge – all relative knowledge and ignorance – are ever non-existent. However, so long as we experience the illusion of relative knowledge and ignorance, it must, like every illusion, have some reality underlying it, and that reality can only be our true and absolute knowledge 'I am'.

Our true knowledge 'I am' is the support or base underlying our false knowledge 'I am this body', and our false knowledge 'I am this body' is in turn the support or base underlying our illusion of relative knowledge and ignorance. Therefore, to experience true knowledge as it is, we must not only remove the illusion of relative knowledge and ignorance, but must also remove its base, which is our false sense of individual selfhood, our knowledge 'I am this body'.

This truth is expressed by Sri Ramana in verses 10, 11 and 12 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

Without [relative] ignorance, [relative] knowledge does not exist. Without [relative] knowledge, that [relative] ignorance does not exist. The knowledge that knows [the non-existence of] that [individual] self which is the base [of all our relative knowledge and ignorance], [by investigating] thus 'that [relative] knowledge and ignorance [are known] to whom?' is indeed [true] knowledge.

Knowing [any] other thing without knowing [the non-existence of our individual] self, which knows [such other things], is ignorance; instead [can it be] knowledge? When [we] know [the non-existence of our individual] self, [which is] the *adhara* [the support or container] of knowledge and [its] opposite, [both] knowledge and ignorance will cease to exist.

That which is [completely] devoid of both knowledge and ignorance is indeed [true] knowledge. That which knows [that is, our mind or individual self, which alone knows things other than itself] is not true knowledge. Since it [our real self] shines [as the only existing reality] without [any] other [thing] to know or to make known [that is, either for it to know, or to make

itself or anything else known], [our real] self is [true] knowledge. It is not a void. Know [this truth].

Though our real self, our essential adjunct-free consciousness 'I am', is completely devoid of knowledge and ignorance about anything other than itself, it is not merely an empty void, because it is the fullness of being – the fullness of perfectly clear self-conscious being, which is the fullness of true self-knowledge. Therefore the term *sunya* or 'void', which is used to describe the absolute reality not only in Buddhism but also in some texts of *advaita vedanta*, is in fact intended to be understood only as a relative description of it – a description of it relative to the multiplicity of relative knowledge that our mind now experiences.

Though the absolute reality, which is our essential self-conscious being, is devoid of all relative knowledge – all knowledge of duality or otherness – it is not an absolute void, because it is not devoid of true knowledge, which is the absolute clarity of perfectly non-dual self-consciousness. Therefore rather than describing the absolute reality as a state of *sunya*, 'emptiness' or 'void', it is more accurate to describe it as the state of *purna*, 'fullness', 'wholeness' or 'completeness', because it is the absolute fullness of true knowledge.

The same truth that Sri Ramana expresses in verse 12 of *Ulladu Narpadu* is expressed by him even more succinctly in verse 27 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

The knowledge which is devoid of both knowledge and ignorance [about objects], alone is [true] knowledge. This [true knowledge] is the [only existing] reality, [because in truth] there is nothing to know [other than ourself].

Why is there truly nothing for us to know other than our own self? All knowledge of otherness or duality is known only by our mind, which is merely a false form of knowledge – an apparition that appears only when by our power of imagination we superimpose some illusory adjuncts upon our true knowledge 'I am'. When we examine this illusory apparition, it disappears, being truly non-existent, like the illusory snake that we created by our power of imagination. When we thus discover that our mind is truly non-

existent, we will also discover that all other things, which were known only by our mind, are equally non-existent.

However, though all our knowledge of duality is unreal as such, we are able to imagine that we experience such knowledge of duality only because we experience the true knowledge 'I am'. If we did not know our own existence, 'I am', we could not imagine that we know any other thing. Therefore our imaginary knowledge of duality is only an illusory form of our true knowledge 'I am', as explained by Sri Ramana in verse 13 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

[Our true] self [our essential being], which is knowledge [our essential knowledge or consciousness 'I am'], alone is real. Knowledge which is many [that is, knowledge of multiplicity] is ignorance. [However] even [that] ignorance, which is unreal, does not exist apart from [our true] self, which is [the only real] knowledge. The multiplicity of ornaments is unreal; say, does it exist apart from gold, which is real?

This verse is a terser but more content-rich version of an earlier verse that Sri Ramana composed, which is included in *Upadesa Tanippakkal* as verse 12:

Knowledge [the true knowledge 'I am'] alone is real. Ignorance, which is nothing other than the [false] knowledge [our mind] that sees [the one real knowledge 'I am'] as many, itself does not exist apart from [our true] self, which is [the only real] knowledge. The multiplicity of ornaments is unreal; say, does it exist apart from gold, which is real?

The diversity of gold ornaments is merely a diversity of transient forms, and as such it is unreal. What is real and enduring in all those diverse ornaments is only the substance of which they are made, namely gold. Similarly, though the knowledge of multiplicity is unreal, being merely a transitory appearance, its underlying reality or substance is only the true knowledge 'I am', without which it could not even appear to exist.

Therefore the only thing that is worth knowing is our own real self, our essential consciousness 'I am'. That is why Sri Ramana

says in verse 3 of Anma-Viddai:

What [worth does all our knowledge have] if [we] know whatever else without knowing [our real] self? If [we] know [our real] self, then what [else] is there to know? When [we] know in ourself that [real] self, which shines undivided [as the unlimited, adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'] in all the divided [or separate] living beings, within ourself the light of self [the clarity of true self-knowledge] will shine. [This is] indeed the shining forth of grace, the annihilation of 'I' [our ego, mind or separate individual self], [and] the blossoming of [true and eternal] happiness.

Just as in verse 16 of *Upadesa Undiyar*, which we discussed earlier in this chapter, Sri Ramana used the term 'its own form of light' to denote our mind's essential consciousness 'I am', so in this verse he uses the term 'the light of self' to denote the clear consciousness or knowledge of our real self. Why does he use the word 'light' in this figurative manner to denote consciousness or knowledge? Since our consciousness 'I am' is that by which both ourself and all other things are made known, in the poetic language of mysticism it is often described as being the true 'light' that illumines everything, including the physical light that we see with our eyes.

This metaphorical use of the word 'light' to denote our true consciousness of being, 'I am', can be found in the sayings and writings of sages from all traditions and all cultures. Jesus Christ, for example, referred to our consciousness 'I am' as the 'light of the world'. Since it is the light that enables us to know the world, and since it shines as the essential being of each and every one of us – including even God, who declared himself to be that 'I am' when he said to Moses, "I AM THAT I AM. ... Thus shalt thou say unto the children of Israel, I AM hath sent me unto you" (*Exodus* 3.14), and Christ, who indicated that he was that same timeless 'I am' when he said, "Before Abraham was born, I am" (*John* 8.58) –, Christ not only said, "I am the light of the world" (*John* 8.12 and 9.5), but also addressing people said, "Ye are the light of the world" (*Matthew*

5.14).

Hence this consciousness 'I am' can rightly be said to be the 'spark of divinity' within each one of us. Indeed, this pure consciousness of our being, which we each know as 'I am', is itself the ultimate and absolute reality, which in English is called 'God' or the 'Supreme Being', and which in Sanskrit is called *brahman*. This truth is affirmed not only by the above-quoted statement of God in the Bible, "I AM THAT I AM", but also by the four 'great sayings' or *mahavakyas* of the Vedas, which declare the oneness of ourself and that absolute reality.

Of these four *mahavakyas*, one is contained in each of the four Vedas, in the portions of them that are known as the *upanishads*, which are some of the earliest known expressions of *vedanta*, the 'end' or philosophical conclusion and essence of the Vedas. The *mahavakya* of the Rig Veda is "*prajñanam brahma*", which means 'pure consciousness is *brahman*' (*Aitareya Upanishad* 3.3), that of the Yajur Veda is "*aham brahmasmi*", which means 'I am *brahman*' (*Brihadaranyaka Upanishad* 1.4.10), that of the Sama Veda is "*tat tvam asi*", which means 'it [*brahman*] you are' (*Chandogya Upanishad* 6.8.7), and that of the Atharva Veda is "*ayam atma brahma*", which means 'this self is *brahman*' (*Mandukya Upanishad* 2).

Our oneness with the absolute reality called 'God' is explained by Sri Ramana more clearly in verse 24 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

By [their] nature which is [that is, in their essential nature or being, 'I am', which merely is], God and souls are only one *porul* [substance or reality]. Only the adjunct-sense is [what makes them appear to be] different.

We feel ourself to be a soul or individual being because we identify ourself with certain adjuncts, and these adjuncts distinguish us from God and from every other living being. Just as we identify ourself with a certain set of attributes or adjuncts, we identify God with another set of attributes or adjuncts. However, none of the attributes that we ascribe either to God or to ourself are actually inherent in or essential to the fundamental being which is the true

nature of both himself and ourself, but are all merely adjuncts that are superimposed upon it.

Since all such attributes or adjuncts are mere thoughts or mental images created by our power of imagination, Sri Ramana refers to them collectively as upadhi-unarvu, the 'adjunct-sense' or 'adjunctconsciousness' - that is, the feeling, notion or experience of adjuncts. Though the exact meaning of *upadhi* is a 'substitute' or thing that is put in place of something else, it actually comes from the verbal root upadha meaning to place upon, impose, seize, take up, add, connect or yoke, and therefore by extension it also means a disguise, a phantom, a deceptive appearance, an attribute, an adjunct, a qualification or a limitation. Thus in our present context it means any extraneous adjunct, anything that is superimposed upon some other thing, making itself appear to be that other thing. Therefore whatever is not actually ourself but we mistake to be ourself, such as our body or mind, is one of our *upadhis* or limiting adjuncts, and our mistaken notion or imagination that such adjuncts are ourself is our upadhi-unarvu.

Since we superimpose such *upadhis* or limiting adjuncts not only upon ourself but also upon God, we experience an *upadhi-unarvu* or feeling of adjuncts both with respect to ourself and with respect to God. However, since our experience of adjuncts that distinguish us from God is created only by our own power of imagination, and not by God, all these distinguishing adjuncts exist only in the outlook of our mind and not in the outlook of God, who is in reality only our own true self-conscious being – our being that knows only itself.

Therefore, in order to know God as he really is, all we need do is to eradicate our own illusory sense of adjuncts. When we thus cease to identify ourself with any adjuncts, we will no longer imagine God as having any adjuncts, but will discover him to be nothing other than our own true and essential self-conscious being. Therefore in verse 25 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

Knowing [our real] self, having relinquished [all our own] adjuncts, itself is knowing God, because [he] shines as [our real] self.

The knowledge that remains when we relinquish all of our adjuncts is only our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being, which is the true nature of God. That which experiences this true self-knowledge is not our mind but is only our own real self, our essential being, which is ever conscious of itself as 'I am'. Our mind is our essential consciousness mixed with adjuncts, which are the various forms of wrong knowledge that we have about ourself, and it therefore cannot survive as such in the perfectly clear state of true self-knowledge.

Thus the state in which we know ourself as we really are, and in which we thereby know God as our own self, is the state in which our mind has been entirely consumed in the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge. Therefore in verse 21 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

If [it is] asked what is the truth of [the supreme state that is indicated in] many sacred texts which say '[our] self seeing [our] self' [and] 'seeing God', [we have to reply with the counter questions] since [our] self is one, how [is our] self seeing [our] self [possible]? If it is not possible [for us] to see [ourself], how [is] seeing God [possible]? Becoming food [to God] is seeing [him].

Our mind can only know things other than itself, because if it turns its attention selfwards to know itself, it will subside and drown in its own essential self-conscious being. When it truly knows itself, or rather, when we truly know ourself, we will cease to be the mind or object-knowing consciousness that we now imagine ourself to be, and will remain instead in our natural state as our own non-dual consciousness of being.

Knowing or seeing, when understood from the distorted perspective of our mind, means experiencing duality – a separation between the consciousness that knows and the object that is known. Therefore, since we are one, we cannot know or see ourself as an object. We can know or see ourself only by being ourself, and not by any act of knowing or seeing. Therefore Sri Ramana asks, "Since [our] self is one, how [is our] self seeing [our] self [possible]?".

Since it is not possible for us to see ourself as an object, how is it possible for us to see God as an object? That is, since God is the reality of ourself, we cannot see him as an object any more than we can see ourself as an object. Therefore Sri Ramana asks, "If it is not possible [for us] to see [ourself], how [is] seeing God [possible]?".

Since we cannot know either ourself or God by an act of objective knowing, in order to know both ourself and God we must give up all objective knowing. That is, we must cease to be this object-knowing mind, and must instead remain as our natural non-dual consciousness of our own being — our true and essential self-consciousness 'I am'. Therefore Sri Ramana concludes, "un adal kan", which means, "Becoming food [is] seeing". That is, we can see God only when we are wholly consumed by him, thereby becoming one with the infinite self-conscious being that is the absolute reality of both himself and ourself.

Until and unless we know and remain as our own real self, our simple non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am', we cannot know God. If we imagine that we are seeing God as an object other than ourself, we are seeing only a mental image. Therefore in verse 20 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

Leaving [ignoring or omitting to know our own] self [our individual self or mind], which sees [all otherness or duality], [our] self seeing God is [merely] seeing a mental vision [sight, image or appearance]. Only he who sees [his real] self, [which is] the base [or reality] of [his individual] self, is a person who has [truly] seen God, because [our real] self – [which alone remains after all our mental images or objective forms of knowledge have disappeared due to their causal] root, [our individual] self, having gone [perished or ceased to exist] – is not other than God.

The wording of this verse is very terse and therefore difficult to translate exactly into fluent English, but its sense is quite clear. The opening words, 'leaving self which sees', refer to our usual habit of ignoring and making no attempt to know the reality of our individual self or mind, which is the self-deceiving consciousness that imagines

itself to be seeing or knowing things other than itself. The remainder of the first sentence, 'self seeing God is seeing mental vision', means that, when we do not know the truth of ourself who is seeing, if we imagine that we are seeing God, what we are seeing is actually nothing but a mind-made or *manomaya* vision – a vision that is made or formed by and of our own mind.

The words that Sri Ramana uses in the original manomayamam katchi, which literally mean a 'sight which is composed of mind'. Though the word katchi literally means 'sight', 'vision' or 'appearance', being derived from the verbal root kan, which literally means 'to see', but which is often used in a broader sense to mean 'to perceive', 'to cognise' or 'to experience', like its verbal root it can imply any form of experience. In this context, therefore, it implies not only a vision of God in some visual form such as Siva, Sakti, Krishna, Rama, Buddha or Christ, but also any other experience of God in which he is felt to be other than ourself, such as hearing the 'voice' of God or feeling his presence. So long as the 'presence of God' that we feel is experienced by us as something other than our own simple self-conscious being, 'I am', it is only a manomayamam katchi, a mental image, thought or conception. Any experience of God as other than ourself is known only by our mind, and is therefore a product of our own imagination.

The second sentence of this verse is still more terse. For poetic reasons it begins with its main clause, which in Tamil prose would normally conclude such a sentence. The meaning of this main clause, 'only he who sees self is a person who has seen God', is quite clear. That is, we can truly see God only by 'seeing' or knowing our own real self.

The next two words, tan mudalai, are linked in meaning to the word 'self' in the opening words of the main clause, 'only he who sees self'. The word tan (with a short a) is the possessive form of the reflexive pronoun tan (with a long a), and therefore means 'of self', 'one's own', 'our own' or 'his own'. The word mudalai is the accusative form of mudal, a word whose primary meaning is 'first' or 'beginning', and which in this context means the source, base,

reality or essential substance. Thus these two words here mean 'the base [or reality] of [the individual] self', and they are a description applied to the real self referred to in the first clause, which with their addition means, 'only he who sees [his real] self, [which is] the base [or reality] of [his false individual] self, is a person who has seen God'.

In the next group of words, tan mudal poy, tan refers to our individual 'self', mudal means 'root', and poy means 'having gone', 'having perished' or 'having ceased to exist'. Thus three words together mean 'the root, [which is our individual] self, having gone [perished or ceased to exist]'. The reason why our individual self is thus described as the 'root' is that it is the root or primary cause of the appearance of all duality, otherness or objective knowledge. Whereas our essential being or real self is the ultimate mudal or base of our false individual self, our false individual self is the immediate mudal or base of every other thing.

The final words are 'because [or since] self is not other than God'. Here the word *tan* or 'self' denotes our real self, and coming immediately after the previous three words, *tan mudal poy*, it implies that our real self is that which remains after our false individual self, the base of all our objective knowledge, has ceased to exist.

Thus the meaning conveyed by this second sentence can be paraphrased as follows: Since our real infinite self, which remains alone after our false finite self, the base of all our objective knowledge, has ceased to exist, is not anything other than the absolute reality called God, when we 'see' or experience our own real self, the base of our false self, we will truly be seeing God.

Thus the combined conclusion of verses 20 and 21 of *Ulladu Narpadu* is that we can see or know God only by knowing our own real self, because our own real self is itself the absolute reality that we call God, and that we can know our own real self only by ceasing to exist as our false individual self, that is, by surrendering ourself entirely to God, the infinite fullness of being, thereby becoming a prey to him and being wholly consumed in his absolute, infinite, undivided, unqualified and perfectly non-dual self-conscious being.

The only means by which we can thus experience God as our own real self or essential being is then clearly explained by Sri Ramana in verse 22 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

Except [by] turning [folding or drawing our] mind back within [and thereby] keeping [it] immersed [sunk, settled, subsided, fixed or absorbed] in the Lord, who shines within that mind, giving light to [our] mind, how [can we succeed in] knowing the Lord by [our] mind? Know [the Lord by thus turning back within and immersing in him].

The 'Lord' or *pati* referred to in this verse is God, who is the infinitely luminous light of pure self-consciousness. As we saw earlier, in spiritual literature our own essential consciousness of being is figuratively described as the original light, the light by which all other lights are known, because just as physical light enables us to see physical objects, our consciousness of being is that which enables us to know all things.

However, whereas our basic consciousness of our own being is the true and original light, the consciousness that we call our mind, which is the light by which we know all other things, is merely an illusory reflected light, because it comes into existence only when our original light of self-consciousness is seemingly reflected in imaginary adjuncts or *upadhis* such as our body and our individual personality. Therefore, when Sri Ramana says that the Lord shines within our mind giving light to it, he means that he shines within our mind as our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', thereby giving it the consciousness by which it is able to know all other things.

Because everything other than our essential self-consciousness – that is, all otherness, duality or multiplicity – is known only by our mind, in the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana added the words *evaiyum kanum*, which mean 'which sees everything', before the initial word of this verse, *mati* or mind. Since our mind is an object-knowing form of consciousness, its nature is to know everything other than its own real self, but in order to know all those other things it must borrow the light of consciousness from its real

self – from its own essential self-conscious being, which is the absolute reality that we call 'God' or the 'Lord'.

Since God is the original light of consciousness – that is, the true light of non-dual self-consciousness – which shines within our mind, enabling it to know all other things, how can our mind know him except by turning itself back within itself, thereby drowning itself in his infinite light? So long as our attention is turned outwards, we can only know things that appear to be other than ourself, which are all merely products of our own imagination. Since God is the true light of consciousness, which enables us to know all other things, we can never know him as he really is so long as we are misusing his light to know any other thing. Only when we turn our mind or attention back to face him within ourself, will we be able to know him truly.

However, even when we turn back to attend to him within ourself, we will not know him as an object, because our object-knowing mind will drown and be dissolved in his infinite light of adjunct-free self-consciousness. Therefore when we turn back within ourself, we will know him by becoming one with his true self-conscious being.

If we use a mirror to reflect the light of the sun upon objects here on earth, that reflected ray of light will illumine those objects, enabling us to see them clearly. But if we turn that mirror towards the sun itself, its reflected ray of light will merge and dissolve in the brilliant light of the sun. Similarly, the reflected light of consciousness that we call our mind enables us to know the objects of our imagination so long as we turn it towards them. But when we turn it back within ourself to face our own essential self-conscious being, which is the source of its light, it will merge and dissolve in the infinitely luminescent and therefore all-consuming light of that source.

The state in which the limited light of our mind dissolves in the infinite light of God, thereby disappearing as a separate entity and becoming one with him, is the state that Sri Ramana described in the last sentence of the previous verse when he said, "Becoming food [to God] is seeing [him]". The fact that the only means by which we can truly see or experience God, the absolute reality, is to become one

with his essential self-conscious being by carefully examining or scrutinising our own essential self-conscious being and thereby subsiding and dissolving in it, is also emphasised by Sri Ramana in verse 8 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

Whoever worships [the absolute reality or God] in whatever form giving [it] whatever name, that is a path [or means] to see that [nameless and formless] reality in [that] name and form. However, becoming one [with that reality], having carefully scrutinised [or known] one's own truth [essence or 'am'-ness] and having [thereby] subsided [or dissolved] in the truth [essence or 'am'-ness] of that true reality, is alone seeing [it] in truth. Know [thus].

The word *ettinum*, which I have translated as 'worships', literally means 'even if or though [anyone] praises', but in this context it implies the act of worshipping in any manner, whether by body, speech or mind. However, as Sri Ramana explains in verse 4 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

This is certain, *puja* [ritual worship], *japa* [vocal repetition of a *mantra* or name of God] and *dhyana* [meditation] are [respectively] actions of body, speech and mind, [and hence each succeeding] one is superior to [the preceding] one.

That is, vocal worship such as the chanting of hymns or the repetition of a name of God is superior to any form of physical worship such as the performance of rituals, and mental worship such as silent meditation upon a name or form of God is superior to vocal worship, the word 'superior' or *uyarvu* meaning in this context more efficacious. Therefore as a means to see God in any chosen name and form, meditating with love upon that name and form is the most efficacious form of worship.

By saying, "Whoever worships [the absolute reality or God] in whatever form giving [it] whatever name", Sri Ramana indicates that we are free to worship God in any name or form that attracts our love and devotion, because God himself has no particular name and form of his own. No matter in what name or form a devotee may worship God, if that worship is sincere and performed with true love

for him, God will certainly respond to it favourably, because even though his devotee may not know it, he knows that the true object of his devotee's love and worship is his nameless and formless reality or true being.

Therefore any sectarian form of religion or theology that teaches that only one particular name or form of God is his true name or form, and that all other names and forms are merely false 'gods', has failed to understand the true, infinite and all-transcendent nature of God. No concept or mental image that we may have of God (including even the concept espoused by certain religions that he is formless and therefore should not be worshipped in the form of any idol, icon, symbol or 'graven image') can truly define God or adequately depict him as he really is, because he is the absolute and infinite reality that transcends all concepts and mental forms of knowledge.

In the words *per-uruvil*, which Sri Ramana placed in this verse before the words "a path to see that reality", the terminating syllable *il* can either be the locative case ending meaning 'in', or a negative termination signifying non-existence or absence. Thus in this context they can mean both 'in name and form' and 'nameless and formless'. In the sense 'nameless and formless' they qualify 'that reality', indicating the fact that the absolute reality is completely devoid of all names and forms. In the sense 'in name and form' they qualify the manner in which we can see that reality by worshipping it in name and form. That is, though the absolute reality transcends all names and forms and therefore has no name or form of its own, it is possible for us to see or experience it in any name and form in which we choose to worship it.

However, seeing God thus in name and form is not seeing him as he really is, but is only seeing him as we imagine him to be. No matter how real such a vision of God in name and form may appear to be, it is in fact just a *manomayamam katchi* or 'mind-made image', as Sri Ramana says in verse 20 of *Ulladu Narpadu*.

In both the first and the second sentence of verse 8, the word that I have translated as 'reality' is *porul*, which literally means 'thing',

'entity', 'reality', 'substance' or 'essence', and which is used in Tamil philosophical literature to denote the absolute reality or God as the true substance or essence of all things. In the second sentence Sri Ramana further clarifies the sense in which he uses this word *porul* by qualifying it with the word *mey*, which means 'true' or 'real', thereby forming the compound word *meypporul*, which means 'true essence' or 'real substance', and which is another term commonly used in Tamil philosophical literature to denote God. Thus the nameless and formless reality which he is discussing in this verse is absolute self-conscious being, which is the true essence or real substance both of God and of ourself.

In order to see or know this absolute reality or essential being 'in truth', that is, as it really is, Sri Ramana says that we must become one with it by scrutinising and knowing our own truth and thereby subsiding and dissolving in the truth of that real essence. The word that I have translated as 'truth', which he uses three times in the second sentence of this verse, is *unmai*, which etymologically means *ul-mai*, 'am'-ness or 'is'-ness, and which is therefore a word that is commonly used to denote existence, reality, truth, veracity, or the intrinsic nature or essential being of anything.

Since *ul* is the base of a tenseless verb meaning 'to be', in its basic form *ul* it just means 'be', and hence *ul-mai* or *unmai* literally means 'be'-ness. Because it is a verbal base, *ul* does not denote specifically the first person, second person or third person, so from a purely grammatical perspective *ul-mai* can equally well be taken to mean 'am'-ness, 'are'-ness or 'is'-ness.

However, since true being is self-conscious, and since it is known by nothing other than itself, from a philosophical perspective *ul-mai* is more accurately described by the term 'am'-ness than by the terms 'are'-ness or 'is'-ness. That is, true being is only our own self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am', and not any other objective being that we experience either as 'you are' or as 'he is', 'she is' or 'it is'. Therefore, since Sri Ramana uses the word *unmai* here to denote true being, in this context its etymological meaning is best translated as 'am'-ness.

Since true, self-conscious and unqualified being is single, infinite, indivisible and hence absolutely non-dual, the 'am'-ness of God and of ourself is truly one. Hence, by scrutinising and knowing our own 'am'-ness, we will subside and dissolve in the infinite 'am'-ness that is God, thereby becoming one with it, as in truth we always are. Becoming one with God, having thus known our own 'am'-ness and having thereby dissolved in his true 'am'-ness, is alone seeing him as he really is. Such is the true non-dual experience of Sri Ramana, as expressed by him in this verse.

The true nature or essential being both of God and of ourself is only that which merely is, and not that which is either 'this' or 'that'. That which merely is, and is not contaminated by association with any adjuncts such as 'this' or 'that', is what is described in philosophy as 'pure being' or 'pure existence'. This pure adjunct-free being is the one true substance of which all things are formed – the sole reality underlying all appearances. In truth, therefore, pure being alone exists.

Hence, since nothing can exist as other than being or existence, there can be no consciousness other than being to know being. If consciousness were other than being, consciousness would not be. Since consciousness exists, it cannot be other than being or existence. Therefore that which knows that which is, is only that which is, and not some other thing which is not.

Since that which knows pure being is thus pure being itself, pure being is itself consciousness. Our being and our consciousness of our being are one. Both are expressed when we say 'I am', because the words 'I am' signify not only that we are, but also that we know that we are. Therefore in verse 23 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

Because of the non-existence of [any] consciousness other [than 'that which is'] to know 'that which is', 'that which is' is consciousness. [That] consciousness itself exists as 'we' [our essential being or true self].

Since we are both being and consciousness, we need not know ourself in the same manner in which we know other things. We know other things by an act of knowing, and hence all our knowing of other things is an activity of our mind – an activity that we describe by various terms such as 'thinking', 'feeling', 'perceiving' and so on. But no such activity or act of knowing is required for us to know ourself. We know ourself merely by being ourself, because our being is self-conscious – that is, our being is itself our consciousness of our being. Therefore in verse 26 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

Being [our real] self is indeed knowing [our real] self, because [our real] self is that which is devoid of two. This is *tanmaya-nishtha* [the state of being firmly established in and as *tat* or 'it', the absolute reality called *brahman*].

Because our real self is totally devoid of even the least duality or two-ness, the only way we can know it is by being it – by relinquishing all our adjuncts and thereby being entirely absorbed in and firmly established as the one absolute reality, which in the philosophical terminology of *vedanta* is known as *tat* or 'it', and which is our own pure, adjunct-free, essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

The state of true knowledge, therefore, is not a state of knowing anything, but is just a state of being — a state of being our own real self-conscious self. It is the state in which we simply abide as pure knowledge, which is our fundamental non-dual knowledge or consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'.

Pure knowledge, which is our own real self or essential being, is absolute and non-dual. However, though we are always pure knowledge, and nothing other than that, we imagine ourself to be a finite individual consciousness that knows objects. Therefore the state which is described as 'being our real self' or 'abiding as pure knowledge' is the state in which we refrain from imagining ourself to be an object-knowing consciousness. Thus true knowledge is just our present knowledge of our own being, bereft of our imaginary activity of 'knowing' anything.

Our real self, 'I am', is not only pure being and pure consciousness, it is also pure happiness. All misery and unhappiness exists only in our mind, and when our mind subsides, as in deep sleep, we

experience perfect peace and happiness. The peaceful happiness that we experience in deep sleep is the very nature of our true self. Because our mind always thinks in terms of duality and differences, we think of being, consciousness and happiness as being three different things, but in essence they are one and the same reality. Just as absolute being is itself absolute consciousness, so it is also itself absolute happiness.

There is no such thing as absolute non-existence, because non-existence does not exist. If at all something called 'non-existence' does exist, it is not absolute non-existence, but just a non-existence that only exists relative to some other equally relative existence. Likewise, there is no such thing as absolute unconsciousness, because unconsciousness can be said to exist only if some consciousness other than it exists to know it. Any unconsciousness that is known to exist, exists relative only to the equally relative consciousness that knows its existence. For example, the unconsciousness that we experience in deep sleep exists relative only to our mind, the relative consciousness that we experience in waking and dream, because the state of deep sleep is a state of unconsciousness only in the outlook of our mind.

Just as both non-existence and unconsciousness are merely relative, so unhappiness is also merely relative. Since unhappiness is merely an absence or negation of happiness, and since a negation can only be relative, requiring something other than itself to negate, there can be no such thing as absolute unhappiness. Only that which is positive, and not that which is negative, can be absolute, because that which is positive does not require anything other than itself either to negate or to relate to in any other way.

However, though our real self, which we may call either our essential being, our essential consciousness or our essential happiness, is in truth absolute, in the outlook of our mind these three essential and absolute qualities appear to be relative to their opposites, non-existence, unconsciousness and unhappiness. Since the vision of our mind is essentially dualistic, it can only experience relativity, and can never experience the absolute as it is.

However, since our mind could not appear to exist without the absolute reality that underlies its appearance, it always knows that absolute reality, but only in a distorted form. Just as it knows the absolute reality 'I am' in the distorted form of a relative entity that feels 'I am this body', so it knows absolute being, absolute consciousness and absolute happiness as three relative pairs of opposites, existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness. These relative pairs of opposites are each merely a distorted reflection of the absolute quality to which they correspond.

Our mind experiences many relative pairs of opposites, but not all of those relative pairs of opposites correspond to a particular quality of the absolute reality. For example, long and short, or rich and poor, do not correspond to any particular quality of the absolute reality. Why then should we say that certain pairs of opposites, such as existence and non-existence, consciousness and unconsciousness, and happiness and unhappiness, do correspond to a particular quality of the absolute reality?

We know that each these three pairs of opposites do indeed correspond to a particular quality of the absolute reality because in deep sleep, when our mind has subsided along with all its knowledge of duality and relativity, we experience our natural being, our natural consciousness, and our natural happiness, devoid of any notion of their opposites. Therefore from our experience in deep sleep, we know that our natural being, consciousness and happiness do exist beyond our mind, and hence beyond all duality and relativity.

Therefore, though no words can adequately express the true nature of the absolute reality, which is beyond the range of thoughts or words, in *advaita vedanta* – the philosophy of *advaita* or non-duality, the essence of which is declared in the Vedas as their *anta* or ultimate conclusion – the absolute reality or *brahman* is often described as being-consciousness-happiness or *sat-chit-ananda*.

Though in its true nature the absolute reality 'I am' is totally devoid of any form of duality or relativity, it is nevertheless the essential substance that underlies and gives a seeming reality to the

appearance of all forms of duality or relativity, just as a rope is the essential substance that underlies and gives a seeming reality to the appearance of the imaginary snake. Therefore, since the absolute reality is the essential being that underlies and gives a seeming reality to the appearance of relative being and non-being, or existence and non-existence, we can aptly describe it as *sat*, true and absolute being or existence. Since it is the essential consciousness that underlies and gives a seeming reality to the appearance of relative consciousness and unconsciousness, or knowledge and ignorance, we can aptly describe it as *chit*, true and absolute consciousness or knowledge. And since it is the essential happiness that underlies and gives a seeming reality to the appearance of relative happiness and unhappiness, we can aptly describe it as *ananda*, true and absolute happiness or bliss.

However, though these separate three words, being, consciousness and happiness, are used to describe the absolute reality, which is our true self, we should not think that this implies that the absolute reality is anything more than one single whole. The absolute reality is essentially non-dual, and hence these three different words are used to describe it only because they are in fact words that all denote the same single reality. Being is itself the consciousness of being, and is also the happiness of merely being as that consciousness of being. True being or existence, true consciousness or knowledge, and true happiness or love, are all only the one non-dual absolute reality that we always experience as 'I am'.

In most of the major religions of this world, the absolute reality or 'God' is described as being not only the fullness of being, the fullness of consciousness or knowledge, and the fullness of perfect happiness, but also the fullness of perfect love. Why is the absolute reality thus said to be infinite love?

We all love ourself, and such love of oneself is natural to all living beings. What do we all love above everything else? If we analyse deeply, it will be clear that we all love ourself more than we love any other thing. We love other things because we believe that in

some way or other they are giving, will give or can give happiness to ourself.

We love whatever gives us happiness, and because absolute happiness is our true and essential nature, we love ourself above all other things. Happiness and love are inseparable, because they are in fact one and the same reality – our own essential non-dual nature, 'I am'. Happiness makes us love, and love gives us happiness. We love ourself because being ourself and knowing ourself is the supreme happiness. Therefore, a term that is sometimes used in *advaita vedanta* in place of *sat-chit-ananda* or being-consciousness-bliss is *asti-bhati-priya*, which means being-luminescence-love.

The state of true self-knowledge is thus the state of pure and perfect being, consciousness, happiness and love. Therefore in verse 28 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

If we know what our [real] nature is, then [what will remain and be known as the sole reality is] *anadi ananta akhanda sat-chit-ananda* [beginningless, endless and unbroken being-consciousness-bliss].

The Sanskrit word *ananta*, which literally means 'endless' or 'limitless', also means 'eternal' and 'infinite'. In the original Tamil verse, the adjectives 'beginningless' and 'endless' are appended before the noun 'being', *anadi ananta sat*, and the adjective 'unbroken' is appended before the nouns 'consciousness-bliss', *akhanda chit-ananda*, but these words are formed in this manner only to fit the poetic metre. Since being, consciousness and bliss are one single non-dual reality, the implied meaning of these words is that being-consciousness-bliss as a single whole is beginningless, endless and unbroken.

Why does Sri Ramana describe the one absolute reality, which exists and shines as being-consciousness-bliss, as beginningless, endless and unbroken? A beginning, an end or a break are each a limit or a boundary, and as such they can occur only in time, in space or in some other dimension. Anything that has a beginning, an end or a break is therefore finite and relative, and hence it cannot be the absolute reality. That which is absolute is by definition infinite,

because it is free of all limits and boundaries, and hence it cannot have any beginning, any end or any break.

A being, a consciousness or a happiness that has a beginning, an end or a break is finite, and hence it cannot be absolutely real. True being, true consciousness and true happiness must therefore be absolute, and as such they can have no beginning, end or break. Being absolute and infinite, they have no limits or boundaries in time, in space or in any other conceivable dimension, and therefore they are all-transcending.

Being is the essence of each and every thing that is, and consciousness is the essence of our knowledge of each of those things. Though things appear to be many, they are divided and made manifold only due to the limitations inherent in their respective forms. However, in their essence, which is their 'is'-ness or being, they are undivided. Similarly, though knowledge appears to be manifold, it is divided and made manifold only by the limitations inherent in its various forms, which are thoughts or mental images. However, in its essence, which is consciousness, knowledge is undivided.

The being which is the essence of all things, and the consciousness which is the essence of all knowledge, are not two separate things, because no thing can be separated or distinguished from our knowledge of that thing. Indeed, the notion that being and consciousness could in essence be two separate things is a logical absurdity, because if they were, consciousness would not be, and therefore being would be unknown.

Being and consciousness are therefore one essence, and being the essence of everything and every knowledge, they have no limits or boundaries. Since true being and true consciousness are therefore one single reality, and since that one reality has no limits or boundaries, it is beginningless, endless and unbroken.

The beginning and the end of something are its external boundaries, boundaries that limit and define its extent in time, space or some other dimension. Since that which is absolutely real is infinite, it is free of all such external boundaries, and it transcends the limits of all dimensions. Therefore, since there is no limit to its extent either in time or in space, it is eternal and omnipresent.

Moreover, being infinite and absolute, it is not only free of all external boundaries or limits, but also of all internal boundaries. Whereas a beginning and an end are external boundaries, a break or division is an internal boundary, and hence the absolute reality is not only devoid of any beginning or end, but is also devoid of any break or division.

Because it is unlimited in its extent, nothing can be separate from or other than the absolute and essential being-consciousness, and therefore it exists alone, without anything outside itself. And because it is unbroken and undivided in itself, it consists of no parts. It is therefore perfectly non-dual. It is the single, infinite, eternal and omnipresent whole, other than which nothing exists.

Since no other thing exists to disturb the perfect peace of its being, the absolute being-consciousness is also absolutely peaceful and happy. Hence, since peace and happiness are inherent in being, the non-dual, infinite and absolute whole is not merely being-consciousness but is being-consciousness-happiness. Therefore, being devoid of all internal and external limits, it is indeed beginningless, endless and unbroken being-consciousness-happiness.

Since it is beginningless, endless and unbroken both in time and in space, it is eternal and omnipresent. There is no time and no place in which it does not exist. Since no break ever occurs in the continuity of its being or existence, it does not cease to exist at one moment and begin to exist again at another moment. Moreover, because it is unbroken, it is devoid of all forms of division and all distinctions. It is a single, partless and indivisible whole, and hence there is absolutely no distinction between its being, its consciousness and its happiness.

Being-consciousness-bliss is the eternally undivided infinite whole, other than which nothing exists. Though all appearances seem to arise and subside in it, it is not itself divided or affected in any way by such appearances, because in reality it merely exists as it is, devoid of the appearing or disappearing of anything. All that appears and disappears does so only in the view of our mind, which is itself a mere apparition that never truly exists, and not in the view of the absolute reality, which, being without any beginning, end or break, never undergoes any kind of change or modification.

However, though we speak of the beginningless, endless and unbroken being-consciousness-bliss as 'it', as if it were a third person, it is in fact the sole reality of the first person 'I', which is in turn the cause, foundation and support of all second and third persons. Therefore the unlimited, undivided, eternal, omnipresent, infinite and absolute being-consciousness-bliss is our own true and essential self, and hence we can experience it only by knowing what our real nature is.

The state in which we thus know what our real nature is and thereby experience ourself as infinite being-consciousness-bliss is the state of true knowledge. Because this state of true self-knowledge has no beginning, end or break, it is our eternal state. Thus when we cease to mistake ourself to be our time-bound mind, we will discover that true self-knowledge has always existed, and that we have therefore always known ourself as we really are. Hence we will not experience self-knowledge as something newly attained, but as that which always exists, without any beginning, break or end.

When we discover by keen self-examination that our mind is truly non-existent, we will also discover that time is likewise truly non-existent, being nothing more than a product of our mind's power of imagination. Beginning, break and end are all phenomena that can occur only within the limits of time and space, but time and space are themselves phenomena that are known only by our mind.

In the state of true self-knowledge, all that exists and is known is only being-consciousness-bliss — the infinite joy of being and knowing our own true self, 'I am'. In that perfect non-dual state of true knowledge, time, space and all other forms of duality or relativity are non-existent. Therefore the absolute reality, which is *sat-chit-ananda* or the blissful state of being conscious of ourself as mere being, 'I am', is that which is without *adi* or beginning, *khanda* or break, and *anta* or end.

Though the absolute reality is given many names and descriptions such as God, *allah*, *brahman*, the absolute, the eternal, the infinite, the fullness of being, *purna* or the whole, pure knowledge, *sat-chit-ananda* or being-consciousness-bliss, *tat* or 'it', *nirvana*, the kingdom of God and so on, Sri Ramana often said that the words that express its real nature most perfectly and accurately are 'I' and 'am', or their combined form 'I am'.

This is so because what these words 'I' and 'am' express is not only being, but also the essential self-consciousness of being. Therefore, no matter in which language these words are expressed, the first person singular pronoun, 'I', and the equivalent first person singular form of the basic verb to be, 'am', both express the whole truth as accurately as any words possibly can express it.

This is why in most of the major religions of the world the name 'I am' is revered as the first, foremost and ultimate name of God. The supreme sanctity of this divine name 'I am' is expressed and enshrined in the Old Testament (upon which are based the three great religions of west Asian origin, Judaism, Christianity and Islam) in the words spoken by God to Moses, "I AM THAT I AM" (*Exodus* 3.14), and also in the Vedas (upon which are based the broad family of south Asian religions known as Hinduism) in the *mahavakya* or great saying "I am *brahman*" (*Brihadaranyaka Upanishad* 1.4.10).

The fact that 'I' and 'am' are the original and natural names of the absolute reality or God is stated emphatically by Sri Ramana in verses 712, 713, 714 and 715 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

When *meypporul* [the 'real substance', 'true essence' or absolute reality], which is called *ullam* [the 'heart' or 'core'], itself [seemingly] comes out and spreads gradually from the heart as consciousness [that is, when it seems to manifest outwardly as innumerable names and forms, which are actually just imaginary distortions of the one true formless and undivided consciousness 'I am', which is that 'real substance' itself], among the thousands of [sacred] names that are [attributed] to [this] *ulla-porul* [the 'being-essence' or absolute reality], know that when [we] scrutinise [we will discover that] 'I' indeed is the first [the original and foremost].

Since [together] with that 'I', which was previously [in the above verse] said to be the primary name [of the absolute reality or God], as its *meypporul-vilakkam* [the light which is its real essence] it ['am'] always exists as 'I am' [in the heart of each one of us], that name 'am' also is [the primary name of the absolute reality or God].

Among the many names [attributed to God in all the different religions and languages of this world], which are thousandfold, no name has [such] real beauty [or] is [so] truly appropriate to *kadavul* [God, who is *kadanda-ullavan*, 'he who exists transcending'], who abides in [our] heart devoid of thought, like this name ['I' or 'am']. [That is, 'I' or 'am' is the most beautiful and truly appropriate name of God, because he exists in our heart as our naturally thought-free self-conscious being, 'I am'.]

Among all [the names of God] that are known, only the [original, natural and true] name of God, [which is experienced] as 'I [am] I', will thunder [its sole supremacy] to those whose attention is selfward-facing, shining forth as the *mauna-paravak* [the supreme word, which is absolute silence], filling the space of [their] heart, in which [their] ego has been annihilated.

When we turn our attention selfwards and thereby experience ourself as we really are, our mind or ego will be annihilated, all duality will disappear, and in the thought-free space of our heart, which is the infinite space of being-consciousness-bliss, only our non-dual self-consciousness 'I am' will remain shining clearly in all its pristine purity. Since there is nothing to disturb the perfect peace of this experience of true self-knowledge, and since it reveals its own absolute reality more clearly than any spoken or written words could ever do, Sri Ramana describes it as the *mauna-para-vak*, the 'supreme word' or *para-vak*, which is absolute silence or *mauna*.

The power of the silent clarity of unadulterated self-consciousness to reveal itself as the absolute reality is expressed by Sri Ramana poetically in verse 5 of *Ekatma Panchakam*:

That which always exists is only that *ekatma vastu* [the one reality or substance, which is our own true self]. Since the *adi-*

guru at that time made that vastu to be known [only by] speaking without speaking, say, who can make it known [by] speaking?

The word *eka* means 'one', *atma* means 'self', and *vastu* is the Sanskrit equivalent of the Tamil word *porul*, which means the absolute reality, substance or essence. Therefore the *ekatma vastu*, which Sri Ramana declares to be *eppodum ulladu*, 'that which always is', is the one absolute reality or essential substance, which is our own true self.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ekatma Panchakam* Sri Ramana added two more words to qualify *ulladu*, which means 'that which is', namely *tanadu oliyal*, which mean 'by its own light'. Thus he declared not only that the *ekatma vastu* is the only thing that always exists, but also that it is 'that which always exists by its own light', that is, by its own light of non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'.

The compound word *adi-guru* means the 'original *guru*', and is a term that denotes Sri Dakshinamurti, a form of God that symbolises the revelation of the absolute reality through silence, which is the 'supreme word' or *para-vak*, and which Sri Ramana describes poetically as 'speaking without speaking', that is, communicating the truth without thought or spoken words. Since the *ekatma vastu* is our own thought-free and therefore absolutely silent self-conscious being, it can only reveal itself by shining within us silently and clearly as 'I am I', without the obstruction of any thoughts or words.

Since this silent, thought-free, peaceful and absolutely clear experience of pure non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am', is the true and natural state of our real self, which is the one absolute reality or essential substance that we call 'God', Sri Ramana says that the original and most beautifully appropriate name of God is only 'I', 'am', 'I am' or 'I am I'.

Though 'I' and 'am' are two separate words, they both denote our single, non-dual and absolutely indivisible sense of self — our essential consciousness of our own being, our fundamental knowledge of our own existence. Each of these two words is therefore implied in the other.

The pronoun 'I' implies that we exist, and this existence of ourself is expressed by the verb 'am'. Conversely, the verb 'am' implies the existence of nothing other than ourself, which is expressed by the pronoun 'I'. In many languages, therefore, either of these two words can be used on its own, since its counterpart is implied in it and is therefore clearly understood. In such languages, the compound form 'I am' is an option that is used only for added emphasis.

In this respect, English is an exception. For example, if we wish to say that we are a human being, in English we have to use both the words 'I' and 'am' and say, "I am a human being", whereas in many other languages it is sufficient in such a context to use either just 'I' or just 'am'. In Tamil, for example, we need not say the long-winded sentence "nan manidanay irukkiren", which means 'I am [a] man', because we can convey exactly the same sense simply by saying either "nan manidan", which means 'I [am a] man', or "manidanay irukkiren", which means '[I] am [a] man'. Similar is the case with many other ancient and modern Asian and European languages, of which Sanskrit, Hebrew, Greek and Latin are a few examples.

In the Gospel according to St John, which was originally written in a form of ancient Greek, there are many well-known 'I am' sayings of Jesus, in several of which he is alluding more or less clearly to the Old Testament usage of the words 'I am' to denote the essential self-conscious being of God. This allusion is particularly clear in the seven verses (8.24, 8.28, 8.58, 13.19, 18.5, 18.6 and 18.8) in which he uses 'I am' without appending any predicate to it, and which Biblical scholars therefore describe as being instances of his 'absolute' use of 'I am'.

In each of these seven verses, the best known of which is, "Before Abraham was born, I am" (8.58), his saying ends with the Greek words *ego eimi*, which mean 'I am'. By using these two words together, and by placing them at the end of each respective sentence, these verses succeed in placing great emphasis upon the meaning of 'I am' intended by Jesus, but in some cases this emphasis has unfortunately been lost in translation.

Besides these seven instances of his 'absolute' use of 'I am', there are more than thirty other sayings in which he uses 'I am' with a predicate, but whereas in some of these sayings the words *ego eimi* are used in the original Greek, in others the word *eimi*, which means 'am', is used on its own without the word *ego*, which means 'I'.

Such a valid use of the verb 'am' without its logical subject 'I' is common in those languages in which all verbs take a particular form in each of the three persons and each of the two or more tenses. One such language is Latin, and therefore in Latin the word *sum*, which means 'am', and also the first person singular forms of other verbs can be used without the word *ego* or 'I'. For example, when Descartes famously concluded, "*cogito ergo sum*", which means '[I] think, therefore [I] am', he did not need to use the word *ego* either before *cogito* or before *sum*, because it is clearly implied in the grammatical form of each of these verbs. As we shall see in the next chapter, this conclusion of Descartes is really putting the cart before the horse, but I cite it here only as an example of the verb 'am' conveying a complete sense without the explicit use of its corresponding pronoun 'I'.

In the original Hebrew in which *Exodus* was written, the words that are usually translated as 'I AM THAT I AM' are "*ehyeh asher ehyeh*". The word *ehyeh* actually means just 'am', and the pronoun 'I' is simply implied in it, so a more literal translation would be 'AM THAT AM' or 'AM WHAT AM'.

In ancient Hebrew there were no tenses as such, but only two 'aspects' of a verb, the 'perfect' and the 'imperfect'. The 'perfect aspect' of a verb was used to denote an action that has been completed or ended, and was therefore equivalent in function to the past tense, whereas the 'imperfect aspect' was used to denote an action that was not yet completed or ended, and was therefore used in cases in which we would use either the present or the future tense.

Since *ehyeh* is the first person 'imperfect' form of the verb 'to be', it implies a continuous present tense, which we could translate as 'am being'. Thus "*ehyeh asher ehyeh*" could be translated as '[I] AM BEING WHAT [I] AM BEING', or more freely as '[I] ALWAYS AM

WHAT [I] ALWAYS AM'.

Some Biblical scholars suggest that it should be translated as a future tense, '[I] SHALL BE WHAT [I] SHALL BE', but if it is translated thus, it should be understood in the sense '[I] SHALL ALWAYS BE WHAT [I] SHALL ALWAYS BE' or '[I] SHALL ALWAYS BE WHAT I ALWAYS AM', because it is not an exclusively future tense, but only a tense continuing into the future. However, since the essential being that is God is eternal and ever present, *ehyeh* is most appropriately translated in this context by a continuous present tense, 'am' or 'am being'.

Since being is in reality always present, it transcends the three divisions of time, past, present and future. This eternally continuous nature of being is aptly expressed by the word *ehyeh*, which as an 'imperfect aspect' of the verb 'to be' implies an unended and continuing state of being.

Being as such never begins or ends, nor does it ever undergo any change. It always remains as it is, so in future it will always be what it always has been, and will never become anything new. Therefore the true nature or absolute reality of God is just eternal and unchanging being, and is not any form of 'becoming'. Becoming implies change, and change requires time, but the true being of God transcends the limits of time, and is therefore beyond all change and becoming.

Moreover, since true being is self-conscious, and since it can therefore never be an object of knowledge, a second or third person, but always experiences itself as the first person, the first person 'imperfect' form *ehyeh* is a perfect expression of the true nature of being.

However we may choose to translate this profound expression of the true nature of being, "ehyeh asher ehyeh", what is important is that we understand the truth that it expresses. On its own, the word ehyeh expresses the fact that being is self-conscious, non-objective and continuous – or in other words, that being is the eternally present self-conscious reality of the first person. This truth about being, which is expressed perfectly by the first person continuous verb

ehyeh or 'am', is reiterated and emphasised by the whole sentence "ehyeh asher ehyeh".

That is, by saying '[I] AM WHAT [I] AM', these words further emphasise the truth that the eternal self-conscious first person being 'am' is absolutely single and non-dual. They imply, 'I am only what I am', 'I am nothing but what I am', or more simply, 'I am just I, and nothing other than I'.

Because this Biblical saying, 'I AM THAT I AM', is such a perfect expression of the absolute, eternal, non-dual, non-objective, self-conscious, first person nature of being, Sri Ramana used to say that it is the greatest *mahavakya*, even greater than the four *mahavakyas* or 'great sayings' of the Vedas. Though the import of each of the Vedic *mahavakyas*, 'pure consciousness is *brahman*', 'I am *brahman*', 'it you are' and 'this self is *brahman*', is essentially the same as that of this Biblical saying, they are actually less perfect and accurate expressions of the reality because they each contain one or more words that are not first person in form.

That is, in 'I AM THAT I AM' the first person sense of being, 'am', is equated only with itself and not with anything else, whereas in each of the Vedic *mahavakyas* it is equated either with a third person noun, *brahman*, which means the absolute reality or supreme spirit, or with the third person pronoun, 'it', which denotes the same absolute reality. Though 'I am' is truly the absolute reality or *brahman*, as soon as we think that it is so, our attention is diverted away from our natural first person consciousness of being towards an unnatural and alien mental conception of 'the absolute reality'. To help us fix our whole and undivided attention upon 'I am', it is better that we are told that 'I am' is just 'I am', rather than being told that 'I am' is God, *brahman* or the absolute reality.

Just as the absolute truth of being is expressed by God in *Exodus* by equating 'am' only with 'am', and with nothing besides 'am', whenever Sri Ramana expressed the eternal experience of our being that is revealed when the imaginary obscuration caused by our mind is removed, he expressed it by equating 'I' only with 'I', and with nothing besides 'I'.

When doing so, he used the minimum words, just "nan nan", which literally mean 'I I', but which, in accordance with the Tamil custom of omitting 'am' whenever its sense is made clear by the use of 'I', clearly imply 'I [am] I'. That is, just as "nan yar?" means 'I [am] who?' and "edu nan?" means 'what [am] I?', or just as "nan manidan" means 'I [am a] man' and "nan innar" means 'I [am] so-and-so', so "nan nan" clearly means 'I [am] I'.

Three important instances of his use of these words "nan nan" or 'I [am] I' to describe the state of true self-knowledge are verse 20 of *Upadesa Undiyar*, verse 30 of *Ulladu Narpadu* and verse 2 of *Anma-Viddai*, in which he says:

In the place [the core of our being] where 'I' [our mind or individual self] merges [or becomes one], the one [true knowledge] appears [or shines forth] spontaneously [or as ourself] as 'I [am] I'. That itself [or that, which is ourself] is the whole [the infinite totality or fullness of being, consciousness and happiness].

When [our] mind reaches [our] heart [the core of our being] by inwardly scrutinising 'who am I?' [and] when he [our mind] who is 'I' [our ego or individual self] is [thereby] subdued [literally, 'when he suffers head-shame', that is, when he subsides, bowing his head in shame], the one [true knowledge] appears [or shines forth] spontaneously [or as ourself] as 'I [am] I'. Though it appears, it is not 'I' [our individual self]. It is the whole *porul* [the infinite essence, substance or reality], the *porul* which is [our own real] self.

Since the thought 'this body composed of flesh is I' is the one string on which [all our] various thoughts are attached, if [we] go within [ourself scrutinising] 'who am I? what is the place [the source from which this fundamental thought 'I am this body' rises]?', [all] thoughts will disappear, and within the cave [the core of our being] self-knowledge will shine spontaneously [or as ourself] as 'I [am] I'. This alone is silence [the silent or motionless state of mere being], the one [non-dual] space [of infinite consciousness], the sole abode of [true unlimited] happiness.

Though Sri Ramana describes this experience of true self-knowledge as 'appearing' or 'shining forth' spontaneously as 'I [am] I', it does not actually appear anew, because it is the eternal and infinite whole, the fullness of being and consciousness, which we always experience as 'I am'.

However, because we imagine ourself to be our mind or individual consciousness, the natural clarity of our non-dual self-consciousness or true self-knowledge now appears to be obscured. Therefore, when we scrutinise our basic consciousness 'I am', which is the essence of what we now feel to be our mind, and when our mind thereby ceases to exist as a separate individual consciousness, being found to be nothing other than our essential consciousness 'I am', we will experience this natural mind-free consciousness 'I am' as if it were a new and fresh knowledge.

However, the newness and freshness of this self-knowledge will be experienced as such only at the precise moment that our mind vanishes. What will remain thereafter is the clear knowledge that we are and always have been nothing other than this simple consciousness of our being, 'I am', which is the one, only, eternal and infinite reality. Therefore, in verse 30 of *Ulladu Narpadu*, after saying that it will appear or shine forth spontaneously as 'I am I', Sri Ramana adds:

... Though it appears [or shines forth], it is not 'I' [our individual self, which appears and disappears]. It is the [eternally existing] whole essence [substance or reality], the essence which is [our real] self.

Because we now experience ourself as a limited individual consciousness that mistakes itself to be this body, our knowledge of ourself now appears in the form 'I am this'. When this false and illusory knowledge of ourself is destroyed by the clarity of true self-knowledge, we will cease to feel 'I am this' and will instead feel only 'I am I'.

However, as soon as this fresh experience 'I am I' appears, we will recognise it as our eternal and natural state of being, which we always experience as 'I am', and thus we will no longer feel it to be

new or fresh in the sense that it was previously absent, but will instead experience it as the infinite whole, which transcends the imaginary dimension of time and is therefore eternally new and fresh.

To emphasise the fact that this 'whole' or infinite totality of being, which is the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge or self-consciousness that shines as 'I [am] I', is not something that ever appears or disappears, even though it momentarily appears to be newly experienced at the precise instant that our mind is dissolved in and entirely consumed by it, after saying in verse 20 of *Upadesa Undiyar* that it appears spontaneously as 'I [am] I' when our mind or ego, our finite individual sense of 'I', merges and becomes one with it, in verse 21 Sri Ramana affirms that, since it is always experienced by us as our own essential being, it is eternal:

That [one infinite whole that shines thus as 'I am I'] is at all times [in the past, present and future, and in all eternity] the [true] import of the word 'I', because of the absence of our non-existence even in sleep, which is devoid of [any separate or finite sense of] 'I'.

The opening words of this verse are *nan enum sol-porul*, which I have translated as 'the import of the word I'. However, though I have translated the word *porul* as 'import', there is actually no adequate word in English to convey its full meaning, particularly as it is used in this context. When it is combined with the word *sol*, which means 'word', to form the compound word *sorporul*, as it is here, it would normally mean just the true 'import', 'meaning' or 'significance' of whichever word it refers to. However, when used in philosophy, *porul* has a much deeper significance, because it denotes the absolute reality, the true substance or essential being of all that is. Therefore in this context *nan enum sol-porul* means the absolute reality or essential being that is denoted by the word 'I'.

That is, though due to our confused knowledge of ourself we frequently use this word 'I' to denote our body or mind, what we actually feel when we say 'I' is our essential self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being. Because we are

conscious of our being, we feel 'I am', but because we confuse our being with this body and mind, we misapply this word 'I' by using it with reference to these extraneous adjuncts.

When we thus confuse our consciousness of our being with a body, the resulting mixed consciousness that feels 'I am this body' is the limited and distorted form of consciousness that we call our 'mind'. This mind or adjunct-bound consciousness is our finite 'I', our individual self or ego.

Though we experience this mind in waking and dream, it disappears in sleep. However, though this mind or individual 'I' is absent in sleep, we do not feel that we cease to exist at that time. Therefore in the second half of this verse Sri Ramana says, "... because of the absence of our non-existence even in sleep, which is devoid of 'I'".

Here the words 'because of the absence of our non-existence' are a poetic way of saying 'because we are not non-existent'. That is, even though our mind becomes non-existent in sleep, we continue to exist and to know our existence as 'I am', and hence our mind is not our real 'I' but only an impostor, an apparition or phantom which poses as 'I'. Our real 'I' can only be that which we are at all times and in all states.

Because we know 'I slept', we clearly recognise and acknowledge our continued existence or being in sleep, even though at that time we did not feel ourself to be this limited mind or adjunct-bound 'I' that we mistake to be ourself in waking and dream. Therefore, since we continue to exist even in the absence of this false 'I', it cannot be the true import of the word 'I'.

That is, since the word 'I' denotes ourself, its true import must be that which we are at all times, and not that which we appear to be only at certain times. Hence the true import of the word 'I' – the reality that is truly denoted by it – can only be our ever-present consciousness of our own essential being, which we always experience as 'I am', even in sleep.

Since our essential being remains eternally distinct from and untouched by any adjuncts or *upadhis* that may appear to be

superimposed upon it, it never feels 'I am this' or 'I am that', but is always clearly conscious of itself only as 'I am' or 'I am I'. Since this 'I am' does not become non-existent even in sleep, when our false adjunct-bound 'I' ceases to exist, it is at all times and in all states our true being – the real import of the word 'I'.

Therefore, since it is not limited in any way by any finite adjuncts, or by any finite dimensions such as time or space, our essential consciousness of being, which we always experience as 'I am', is eternal and infinite. Since it is not limited as 'this' or 'that', it is not separate from anything. Since we always experience it as the base of all our knowledge of everything, it is in fact the true essence of all things. Since it alone endures through and beyond all time, while all other forms of knowledge appear and disappear within time, it is the only knowledge that is absolutely true.

All other forms of knowledge appear and disappear because they are known only by our mind, which itself appears and disappears. Since it appears only in waking and dream, and disappears in sleep, our mind cannot be our real self – the true import of the word 'I'. Therefore in verse 717 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai* Sri Ramana says:

Since the body-soul [the embodied soul, the finite consciousness that imagines itself to be a body] itself appears and disappears, [it cannot be the enduring reality denoted by the word 'I', and hence] *atma* [our real self], which is the abiding base of the body-soul, alone is the correct [direct or honest] *porul* [import, significance or reality] of the word that [each embodied soul] says as 'I'. Know that when [we] scrutinise, [we will discover only our own *atma* or fundamental self-consciousness] to be the conclusive *porul* [the ultimate reality denoted by the word 'I'].

The basic reality that underlies the imaginary appearance and disappearance of our body-bound mind is only our own essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am'. Though everything else appears and disappears, our basic self-consciousness neither appears nor disappears, because it endures in all states and at all times, and hence it alone is the reality that is truly denoted when

we say the word 'I'.

Because Sri Ramana often used the terminology of *advaita vedanta*, making free use of many of its standard terms such as *sat-chit-ananda* or being-consciousness-bliss, his philosophy is generally considered to be a fresh expression of that ancient philosophy. However, he did not arrive at his philosophy by studying any of the philosophical texts of *advaita vedanta*, but did so even before he had had any opportunity to become acquainted with those texts.

His philosophy was an expression of his own direct experience of true self-knowledge, which he attained at the age of sixteen when, prompted by a sudden and intense fear of death, he turned his attention inwards and focused it keenly and exclusively upon his consciousness of being, 'I am', in order to discover whether or not his 'I' would die when his body died. As a result of this keenly focused self-scrutiny, he discovered that he was not the perishable body, but only the imperishable reality, which is beginningless, endless and unbroken being-consciousness-bliss. Only much later, when people asked him questions to clear their doubts about what they had read in the texts of *advaita vedanta*, did he have occasion to read such texts, and when he did so he recognised that they were describing his own experience.

Advaita vedanta is an ancient Indian system of philosophy, and its name etymologically means the philosophy of 'non-duality' (advaita) or 'no two-ness' (a-dvi-ta), which is the 'end' (anta) of all 'knowledge' (veda), or the ultimate conclusion of the Vedas. Though most of the knowledge expressed in the four Vedas concerns only duality, in their later portions each of the Vedas finally give some expression of the knowledge of non-duality. Where all the knowledge of duality (dvaita) expressed in the Vedas comes to an end (anta), there remains the knowledge of non-duality (advaita).

That is, the true non-dual knowledge 'I am' that alone remains when all dualistic knowledge – which is the central concern not only of the Vedas but also of most other scriptures, philosophies and sciences – has finally come to an end, is the knowledge of non-duality or *advaita* expressed in *vedanta*.

In truth, therefore, *advaita vedanta* is not a philosophy that is exclusive to the Vedic tradition of India, but is the 'perennial philosophy' that underpins all true forms of mysticism, metaphysics and radically profound philosophy. That is to say, though in the context of the Vedic tradition the philosophy of non-duality is named *advaita vedanta*, the essential philosophy of non-duality that is so named can be found expressed in other words in many other mystical and philosophical traditions throughout the world. However, while discussing the philosophy of non-dual true knowledge, it is often useful to refer specifically to *advaita vedanta*, because in the post-Vedic tradition known as *vedanta* this philosophy has been given a particularly clear expression.

Therefore, when it is said that the philosophy of Sri Ramana is a modern expression of the ancient philosophy of *advaita vedanta*, this does not mean either that his philosophy is derived from *advaita vedanta*, or that it is relevant only in the context of the Vedic religion and culture known as Hinduism. His philosophy expresses a truth that is beyond all religious and cultural differences, and that can be found expressed in some form or other in most of the major religions and cultures of this world.

All the philosophical verses and other writings of Sri Ramana that I quote in this book express the experience of a being who is in a state of consciousness that is quite different to the body-bound state of consciousness with which we are all familiar. Since he is talking about a state of absolute non-dual knowledge of which we personally have no experience (or rather, of which our experience has seemingly been obscured, and of which we therefore imagine that we have no experience), is there any reason why we should believe all that he says, or at least accept it tentatively?

Sri Ramana does not ask us to believe anything blindly. He begins his exposition of the philosophy of non-duality by asking us to analyse critically our own experience of ourself in our three states of consciousness, waking, dream and deep sleep, which we all experience every day. All the rest of his exposition of this philosophy follows on logically from the conclusions that we arrive at by means of this critical analysis.

Nothing that he says is unreasonable, nor is it based upon unsound premises. Therefore, though we may not at present be able to verify immediately from our own experience all that he says about the absolute reality, which is the state of true knowledge, we cannot reasonably refute it, and hence there is no reason why we should not accept it at least tentatively.

Moreover, when he spoke about the state of absolute true knowledge, he did not do so with the intention that we should merely believe his words. Believing something that we do not know for certain is of little use to us if it does not help us to attain certain knowledge of it. Therefore Sri Ramana not only told us the nature of the absolute reality, which is perfectly non-dual being-consciousness or true self-knowledge, but also told us the means by which we could attain direct experience of that reality.

The means that he taught fits logically into the whole philosophy of non-duality that he expounded. Since our critical analysis of our experience of ourself in our three states of consciousness leads us to understand that our essential self-consciousness 'I am' is the sole reality underlying the appearance of these three states, being the only thing which we experience continuously throughout all of them, it is reasonable for us to conclude that, before trying to know any other thing, we should first try to know the true nature of this fundamental consciousness 'I am'.

Since we cannot know something without attending to it, the only way we can know the true nature of this consciousness is to scrutinise it with a keenly focused attention. This simple yet profound method of self-investigation, self-scrutiny or self-attention is therefore quite logically the only means by which we can discover the true nature of the reality that underlies all the diverse forms of knowledge that we now experience.

Thus the philosophy of non-dual true knowledge expounded by Sri Ramana is not only a well-reasoned philosophy, but also a practical and precise science. Because it begins with a minute analysis of our own consciousness, which is the base of all our knowledge, and thereby builds for itself a foundation of carefully thought out and clearly reasoned theory, the quest for true knowledge or self-discovery that Sri Ramana urges us to undertake is a philosophy in the truest and most profound sense of that word. And because from that theory it naturally leads us on to the practice of the simple empirical technique of turning our power of attention – our power of knowing or consciousness – back on itself, towards our basic consciousness 'I am', in order to discover what this 'I' really is, this quest for true self-knowledge is also a true science. Thus it is a complete philosophy-science, one in which both theory and practice are necessary and inseparable parts of the whole.

The theory of this science of self-knowledge is necessary to start us, to guide us and to motivate us in its practice. But if we never commence the practice, or if we do not follow it through to its conclusion, all the theory is of little use to us. The theory by itself can never give us true knowledge, but only an intellectual understanding about it. Such intellectual understanding is merely a superficial and dualistic knowledge, a knowledge in which what is known is distinct from the person who knows it.

No intellectual understanding can ever be true knowledge, because our intellect is merely a function of our mind, our limited adjunct-bound consciousness, which is the root of all wrong knowledge, being itself a wrong knowledge that arises only when we mistake ourself to be a physical body. A theoretical understanding of this philosophy and science is therefore useful only to the extent that it both motivates us to seek direct experience of true non-dual self-knowledge, and enables us to understand clearly the means by which we can attain such direct experience.

CHAPTER 6

True Knowledge and False Knowledge

As we saw in the previous chapter, true knowledge is not a state that we can newly attain, because it always exists as our own essential and fundamental consciousness, 'I am', which we never even for a moment cease to know. What prevents us from experiencing it as it really is, is only the false knowledge that we have superimposed upon it. What do we mean when we speak of 'false knowledge' or 'wrong knowledge'?

Except our basic knowledge 'I am', everything that we know is only a thought that arises in our mind, a form of knowledge that is inherently dualistic, involving as it does three seemingly distinct components, ourself as the knowing subject, something other than ourself as the object known, and linking these two a separate act of knowing. That is, when we feel 'I know such-and-such', this knowledge involves a knowing consciousness or subject called 'I', a known thing or object called 'such-and-such', and an action or process of doing called 'knowing'. These three components constitute the basic triad of which every form of objective knowledge is composed.

In this basic triad of objective knowledge, the verb 'know' may be replaced by some other verb, such as 'perceive', 'see', 'hear', 'taste', 'experience', 'think', 'feel', 'believe' or 'understand', but still this triad remains as the basic structure of every form of knowledge or experience other than our essential and fundamental knowledge, which is our knowledge of our own being, 'I am'. Since

our fundamental knowledge 'I am' is non-dual, it does not involve any distinction between the consciousness that knows and itself that it knows, nor does it involve any separate act of knowing, because consciousness naturally knows itself simply by being itself, and not by doing anything.

Why do we say that all knowledge involving this triad is a false or wrong knowledge? Firstly, we say so because each component of this triad is a thought that we form in our mind by our power of imagination. Without our power of imagination, our power to form thoughts, we could not experience any knowledge other than 'I am'. Thus every knowledge other than 'I am' is essentially imaginary.

Even the idea that our knowledge of the external world is formed in our mind not only by our power of imagination, but also in response to actual external stimuli, is a thought that we form in our mind by our power of imagination. No reason or proof exists that can justify our belief that any of our knowledge actually corresponds to something outside our mind. All we know, and all we ever can know, is known only within our mind. Even the seemingly external world that we know through our five senses exists for us only within our mind, just as the world we know in a dream exists only within our mind.

Secondly, we say so because each component of this triad is a transitory appearance. Though the knowing subject, 'I', is relatively constant, in contrast to the objects known by it and its actions of knowing them, which are thoughts that are constantly changing, rising and then subsiding in our mind, each one being replaced the next moment by another, even this 'I', the subject who knows this constantly changing flow of thoughts, is transitory, rising only in waking and dream, and subsiding in deep sleep.

This subject who thinks and knows all other thoughts is our mind, our limited adjunct-bound consciousness that knows itself not merely as 'I am' but as 'I am this body'. Since this subject, all the objects known by it, and all its successively repeated actions of knowing those objects, are thus merely transitory appearances, they cannot be real, because though they appear to be real at one time,

they cease to appear real at another time. Their seeming reality is therefore just a false appearance, an illusory apparition formed in our mind by our power of imagination.

Though all our knowledge other than 'I am' is thus an imaginary and false appearance, how does it appear to us to be real? Whatever we know appears to us to be real while we are knowing it. Even the world that we experience in dream, and the body which we then take to be 'I', appear to us to be real so long as we are experiencing that dream. There is therefore something that makes all our current knowledge appear to be real. What is that something?

Every knowledge, we have seen, consists of three components, the first and basic one being the knowing subject, 'I'. This subject is a compound consciousness formed by the superimposition of an imaginary adjunct, 'this body', upon the real consciousness 'I am'. Thus underlying every knowledge is the true knowledge 'I am', and it is this true knowledge or consciousness that gives a seeming reality to every knowledge that we experience.

How exactly is the reality of our basic knowledge 'I am' thus seemingly transferred to all the other knowledge that we currently superimpose upon it, even though that other knowledge is false? All our other knowledge is known only by our mind, which is the knowing subject, and which comes into existence only by imagining itself to be a body. Before imagining and knowing any other thing, our mind first imagines a body to be itself. That is, it confuses a body, which is a product of its imagination, with 'I am', which is its real and basic knowledge. Since 'I am' is real, and since our mind mistakes that imaginary body to be 'I am', it cannot but feel that body to be real.

Whether the body that it now imagines to be itself happens to be this body of the waking state or some other body in dream, our mind always feels that its current body is real. Since that current body is one among the many objects of the world that it is currently experiencing, our mind cannot but feel that all the other objects that it is currently experiencing are as real as the body that it now mistakes to be itself. In other words, since we mistake certain current

products of our imagination to be ourself and therefore real, we cannot avoid mistaking all the other current products of our imagination to be equally real.

However, though our basic knowledge or consciousness 'I am' alone is real, and though all the other things that appear to be real borrow their seeming reality only from this consciousness, which is their underlying base and support, we are so accustomed to overlooking this consciousness and attending only to the objects or thoughts that we form in our mind by our power of imagination, that those objects and our act of knowing them appear in the distorted perspective of our mind to be more real than the fundamental consciousness that underlies them.

The only reason why we suffer from this distorted perspective is that we are so enthralled by our experience of duality or otherness, believing that we can obtain real happiness only from things other than ourself, that throughout our states of mental activity, which we call waking and dream, we spend all our time attending only to such other things, and we consequently ignore or overlook our underlying consciousness 'I am'.

This distorted perspective of our mind is what makes it so difficult for us to accept that our consciousness 'I am' alone is real, and that everything else is just an imagination or apparition. Whereas in our distorted perspective all our knowledge of this world appears to be solid, substantial, obvious and irrefutable, our underlying consciousness 'I am' appears in comparison to be something insubstantial and ethereal, something that we cannot quite know with the same degree of precision and certainty.

A clear example of the effect that this distorted perspective has upon our human intellect is the famous observation made by Descartes, "Cogito ergo sum", which means, 'I think, therefore I am'. What he implied by this conclusion is that because we think, we know that we are. But this is putting the cart before the horse. We do not need to think in order to know that we are. First we know 'I am', and then only is it possible for us to think, or to know 'I am thinking'.

More appropriately, therefore, his saying could be inverted as, 'I

am, therefore I think', or better still as, 'I am, therefore I seem to think'. Even when we do not think, as in deep sleep, we know 'I am'. Our thinking depends upon our knowledge of our being – our fundamental consciousness 'I am' – but our knowledge of our being does not depend upon our thinking.

However, what Descartes observed is not altogether untrue. Whatever we know and whatever we think does indeed prove that we do exist. All our knowledge and all our thoughts are irrefutably clear proof of our existence or being.

However, to know that we exist, we do not need any such external proof, because our existence or being, 'I am', is self-evident. Even in the absence of any other knowledge or thought, we know that we are. In sleep, for example, we do not think or know any other thing, but we do experience that state, and we remember our experience of it now in this waking state, saying 'I slept'. We experience the thought-free state of sleep because in that state we do indeed exist and know that we are existing. Therefore our existence and our knowledge that we do exist do not need any proof, least of all the proof provided by our thinking and knowing other things.

Our existence or being is self-evident because it is self-conscious. That is, our being is conscious of itself, and hence it does not need the aid of anything else to know itself. In other words, we are self-conscious being, and hence without the aid of anything else we know ourself as 'I am' simply by being ourself.

Therefore our basic self-consciousness 'I am' does not depend upon any other knowledge, but all our other knowledge does depend upon our basic self-consciousness 'I am'. Hence our basic selfconsciousness 'I am' is our one fundamental and essential knowledge.

In order to think, we must be, but in order to be, we do not need to think. And since our being is not separate from or other than our knowledge of our being, we can equally well say that in order to think, we must know that we are, but in order to know that we are, we do not need to think.

Since we always know 'I am', even when we know it mixed with

other knowledge or thoughts, why should we say that such other knowledge obscures our knowledge of 'I am', preventing us from knowing it as it really is?

The true and essential nature of our consciousness 'I am' is mere being, because it is able to be without knowing any other thing, as we experience each day in deep sleep. Merely by being itself, it knows itself, because its being is itself the consciousness of its being. Thus it is a perfectly non-dual knowledge — a knowledge in which that which is known is that which knows it, a knowledge that involves no action, a knowledge that involves nothing but mere being.

On the other hand, all other knowledge involves not only being, but also an act of knowing, in addition to a distinction between the knower and the known. This imaginary act of knowing is superimposed upon the reality of our mere being, making it appear to us that the nature of our consciousness 'I am' is not merely to be, but is to know things other than itself.

Thus by the transitory rising of any other knowledge, the real and permanent nature of our true knowledge or consciousness 'I am', which is mere being, is obscured. Instead of knowing merely 'I am', we know 'I am knowing this' or 'I am knowing that'. Since all knowledge other than 'I am' is imaginary and therefore unreal, the knowledge 'I am knowing this' is merely a false or wrong knowledge – a knowledge in which an imaginary adjunct has been superimposed upon our basic and only true knowledge, 'I am', thus obscuring it by making it appear otherwise than it really is.

In order for us to know our true self as it really is, is it therefore sufficient for us merely to cease knowing anything else? If we merely cease attending to any other thing, do we thereby automatically attain true knowledge of our real self, 'I am'?

No, we do not, because in deep sleep we cease attending to or knowing anything other than ourself, but even then we do not have a clear knowledge of what we really are. If in deep sleep we knew ourself truly and clearly as we really are, we could not again mistake ourself to be something else – a physical body – in waking and

dream. Though all knowledge of other things is removed in deep sleep, our consciousness 'I am' is nevertheless still obscured by a seeming darkness or lack of clarity of self-knowledge.

What is this darkness or lack of clarity that we experience in deep sleep, and that prevents us from clearly knowing the true nature of ourself, our real adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'?

In *advaita vedanta*, our power of delusion or self-deception by which we seemingly prevent ourself from knowing our true nature is called maya. The word maya etymologically means 'what (ya) is not (ma)', and is defined as the power that makes that which is unreal appear to be real, and that which is real appear to be unreal.

This power of *maya* or self-deception functions in two forms, as the power of veiling or obscuring called *avarana sakti*, and the power of scattering, dispersion, diffusion or dissipation called *vikshepa sakti*. The former, *avarana sakti*, which is our power of 'self-forgetfulness', 'self-ignorance' or lack of clarity of self-knowledge, is the root and primal form of *maya*, because it is the original cause that always underlies the latter, *vikshepa sakti*, which is our power of imagination that enables us to project from within ourself a seemingly external world of multiplicity. Whereas *vikshepa sakti* functions only in waking and in dream, the underlying *avarana sakti* functions not only in waking and dream but also in deep sleep.

Our power of 'self-forgetfulness', which is our power of veiling or *avarana sakti*, can be compared to the background darkness in a cinema, without which no picture could be projected on the screen. All the thoughts that we form in our mind, including the seemingly external world that we project and perceive through our five senses, are like the pictures projected and seen on the cinema screen. The power that projects this picture of thoughts and a seemingly external world is our power of imagination, which is our power of diffusion or *vikshepa sakti*.

Just as the cinema projector could not project any picture if its indispensable light were not shining brightly within it, so our mind could not project the imaginary picture of this or any other world if its indispensable light were not shining brightly within it. This indispensable light that shines brightly within our mind enabling it to project this imaginary picture of thoughts and objects is our essential consciousness 'I am'.

The states of waking and dream can be compared to the state in which a film reel is rolling in the projector, producing an ever changing picture on the screen, whereas sleep can be compared to the state in which one film reel is finished and another is about to be threaded into the projector. All the while, however, the bright light in the projector is shining, so in the gap between the removal of one reel and the fitting of the next all that is seen on the screen is a light.

However, though at that time we can see no pictures on the screen, but only a frame of light, the background darkness of the cinema still remains. Similarly in deep sleep, though we do not experience any of the effects of *vikshepa sakti*, but only the essential light of consciousness, 'I am', the veiling power of 'self-forgetfulness' or *avarana sakti* still remains, preventing us from knowing our consciousness 'I am' as it really is, free from any adjuncts such as a seeming lack of clarity.

Our power of self-delusion or *maya* can never entirely conceal our real self, because our real self is the consciousness that enables us to know the effects of our self-delusion. All our self-delusion or *maya* can do is to obscure our real self by making it appear to be something other than what it really is. We always know 'I am', whether our mind is functioning, as in waking and dream, or in temporary abeyance, as in sleep, but we do not know it as it really is. In all these three states we know *that we are*, but we do not know *what we are*.

In waking and in dream we know 'I am this body, a person named so-and-so, and I am conscious of this world around me'. In deep sleep, on the other hand, we know ourself as being seemingly 'unconscious'. Thus in waking and dream our identification with a physical body and our consequent perception of a world around us is superimposed upon our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. Similarly in sleep our identification with the seeming 'unconsciousness' of that state is superimposed upon our fundamental consciousness 'I

am'. That is, in all three of these states the true nature of our real self, our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am', is obscured by the superimposition of illusory adjuncts.

As we have seen earlier, our present so-called waking state is essentially no different to the many dream states that we experience while asleep. Out of our sleep of self-forgetfulness, we create both waking and dream. Since we create both of these states only by our power of imagination, they are both merely imaginary states that do not exist in reality.

Though from our point of view in this present waking state we may be able to point out certain differences between our experience in waking and our experience in dreams, these differences are only superficial differences in the quality of each of these states, and not differences in their essential substance. Because our attachment to our body in this waking state is normally stronger than our attachment to our body in a dream, this waking state appears to us (at least now while we are experiencing it) to be more solid, fixed, consistent and lasting than an ordinary dream. However, merely because from our present point of view in this waking state there appear to be such differences between the quality of our experience in this state and the quality of our experience in dream, we cannot conclude that this waking state is actually any more real than a dream.

Both waking and dream are states that we experience only within our own mind. All that we experience or know in either of these two states is only a series of thoughts that we have formed within our mind by our power of imagination. In both these states we imagine a body, which we mistake to be ourself, and further imagine that through the five senses of that body we perceive an external world, which we mistake to be real. However, these bodies that we mistake to be 'I' and these worlds that we mistake to be real are all merely images that we form and experience within our own mind.

So long as we mistake ourself to be this mind – this consciousness that has limited itself by mistaking an imaginary body to be itself – we cannot know anything outside the limits of this mind. In both our

waking and our dream states, we live our whole life only within our mind.

Since all that we know – other than our fundamental consciousness 'I am' – is known by us only within our mind, we have no valid reason to believe that any world or anything else other than 'I am' actually exists outside the confines of our mind. We consequently have no valid reason to believe that our present waking state is anything but another dream created entirely by our own self-deceiving power of imagination.

Under what circumstances, or in what condition, can a dream be experienced? A dream can occur only when there is an underlying sleep. When we are wide awake to the world around us, and to ourself as a particular body in that world, we cannot mistake another body to be 'I' or another world to be real. Only after we have fallen asleep, forgetting our normal waking self (this imaginary body that we now mistake to be ourself) and the fact that we are supposedly lying in our bed, can we mistake ourself to be some other imaginary body that is undergoing various experiences in some other imaginary world.

Therefore if our present waking state is only another dream, as we have good reason to suppose it is, there must be some sleep underlying it. What is that sleep that underlies this waking state – the sleep without which this waking state could not occur?

The difference between waking and sleep is that in waking we imagine ourself to be a particular body, whereas in sleep we forget this imaginary body-bound self of the waking state. Sleep is thus essentially a state of self-forgetfulness.

In our ordinary everyday sleep we forget our normal waking self, and because we have forgotten this waking self – this particular body that we now imagine to be ourself – we are able to imagine ourself to be some other body in dream. Though our waking self is supposedly lying asleep on a bed unaware of the world around it, we forget about this waking self and instead create another imaginary self for ourself in the dream state, identifying another body as 'I' and seeing another world around us. Therefore, just as the sleep that underlies

an ordinary dream is a state of forgetfulness of our waking self, so the sleep that underlies this dream that we call our present 'waking state' must be a state of forgetfulness of our real self.

However, what do we actually mean when we define sleep as a state of self-forgetfulness? In what way do we forget ourself in sleep? Even in sleep, we never actually forget *that we are*, but only forget *what we are*. Because in sleep we know that we are, but not what we are, in dream we are able to mistake ourself to be some other body. If we had not forgotten our waking self in sleep, we could not imagine that other body to be ourself in dream.

Similarly, if we had not forgotten the true nature of our real self, which always exists as our adjunct-free consciousness 'I am', we would not be able to imagine ourself to be anything other than that. That is, we would not be able to imagine ourself to be one body in the waking state, to be another body in dream, and to be 'unconscious' in sleep. Thus the fundamental sleep that underlies all our dreams, including the present dream that we now mistake to be our waking state, is our sleep of self-forgetfulness — the sleep in which we have forgotten our real self, the true nature of our essential consciousness 'I am'.

Though in our present waking state we mistake the seeming 'unconsciousness' that we experienced in sleep to be merely an unconsciousness of our body and the world, in sleep we did not actually know or think 'I am unconscious of my body and the world'. Only in waking and dream do we think 'In sleep I was unconscious of my body and the world'. That which thinks thus is our mind, but since our mind was not present in sleep, it cannot accurately tell us what our experience in sleep actually was.

All we can now say about sleep is that, though we knew 'I am' in that state, it nevertheless appears to us now to be a state of seeming darkness, ignorance or lack of clarity. That seeming lack of clarity is the 'unconsciousness' that we appear to have experienced in sleep. But what actually is that seeming lack of clarity? About what is it that we seem to have lacked clarity in sleep?

Since no body or world existed in sleep, to say that we were

unconscious of them is misleading. Saying that in sleep we were unconscious of our body and this world is like saying that in our present waking state we are unconscious of the body and world that appeared to exist in a dream. Since any body or world that we experience, whether in waking or in dream, is only an imagination — a collection of thoughts or mental images that appears only in our own mind — saying that we were unconscious of them in sleep is in effect saying that we were unconscious of our thoughts in sleep.

We could say that we are unconscious of our thoughts in sleep only if we actually had any thoughts in that state. When we say that we are unconscious of something, it implies that that thing actually exists, or at least appears to exist. Since in sleep we only experienced our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', we have no reason to believe that anything other than that actually existed in that state.

Therefore the clarity of knowledge that we seem to have lacked in sleep can only be a clarity concerning what actually existed in that state, namely our own real self-conscious being. In other words, the 'unconsciousness' that we now imagine that we experienced in sleep is only our seeming lack of clear self-knowledge – our seeming lack of clarity concerning the real nature of our essential consciousness 'I am'.

In sleep we know that we are, yet we seem to lack a clear knowledge of what we are. Therefore the seeming darkness of sleep, which in our present waking state we mistake to be merely an 'unconsciousness' of the body and world that we are now experiencing, is actually just our lack of clarity of true self-knowledge – our so-called 'forgetfulness' or 'ignorance' of our own real self. If our real self, which is our essential consciousness 'I am', were not seemingly obscured by the veil of our self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance, sleep would be a state of perfectly clear self-knowledge.

In deep sleep, therefore, the adjunct that we superimpose upon our real self, and that thereby prevents us from clearly knowing its true nature, is only this veil of self-forgetfulness called *avarana*. Though this veil of self-forgetfulness can never prevent us from knowing 'I am', it makes us experience 'I am' in a distorted form, thereby enabling us in waking and dream to imagine that we are a physical body, and that through the five senses of this body we are seeing a world of multiple objects and people.

Because this veil of self-forgetfulness is the original cause of the illusory appearance of our mind, the compound consciousness that imagines 'I am this body', in *advaita vedanta* it is described as our 'causal body' or *karana sarira*. Just as the self-forgetfulness that we experience in sleep is our 'causal body', so our mind which arises out of this 'causal body' is our 'subtle body' or *sukshma sarira* (as explained by Sri Ramana in the fourth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* and in verse 24 of *Ulladu Narpadu*, both of which we cited in chapter three), and the physical body that our mind creates for itself by its power of imagination in waking and in dream is our 'gross body' or *sthula sarira*. That is to say, our physical body is a gross form of our mind, which in turn is a more subtle but nevertheless gross form of our self-forgetfulness.

Whenever our mind rises, whether in waking or in dream, it does so by imagining itself to be a physical body. But when it subsides in sleep, all its imaginations cease, and hence it merges back into its causal form, which is our veil of seeming self-forgetfulness. Our forgetfulness of our real self is thus the primeval sleep that underlies the appearance of both our waking and our dream states.

Is this primeval sleep of self-forgetfulness, which thus causes the appearance of both waking and dream, a state distinct from the ordinary deep sleep that we experience every day, or are they both the same state?

Though we can experience a dream within a dream (as we sometimes do when we think we have woken up from a dream, but later wake up again and find that our first 'waking' was only from one dream into another dream), we cannot experience a sleep within a sleep. Since dream is a state of duality and diversity, we can experience any number of dreams. But since sleep is a state devoid of differences or duality, there can only be one state of sleep.

That one and only state of sleep is our fundamental sleep of self-

forgetfulness – the sleep that has come about due to our seeming lack of clear self-knowledge. This sleep of self-forgetfulness is the underlying cause for the rising of all other states – the original cause for the appearance of all duality. All our countless states of dream – including our present dream which, while we experience it, we imagine to be a waking state – arise only from this underlying sleep of self-forgetfulness. Therefore, the state of deep sleep that we experience every day is nothing other than this original sleep of self-forgetfulness that underlies the rising of both waking and dream.

Though waking and dream are both temporary states that occur in our long sleep of self-forgetfulness, we wrongly perceive sleep as being a short gap that occurs each day in our waking life. In truth, however, our present waking life is merely one of the many dreams that occur in our long sleep of self-forgetfulness.

Even now we are experiencing that sleep of self-forgetfulness, but within this sleep we are also experiencing a dream that we call our present waking life. The state of deep sleep that we experience every day is merely the state in which all our dreams have subsided, leaving only their underlying and causal state, our sleep of self-forgetfulness.

How do we forget our real self? In truth we always know our real self, and have never forgotten it. We only appear to have forgotten it. We can never really forget it, because we are the essential consciousness 'I am', and the very nature of this consciousness 'I am' is to be conscious of itself.

However, though our real consciousness 'I am' can never forget itself, we nevertheless somehow appear to mistake ourself to be our mind, which is a spurious and unreal consciousness that does not know its own real nature, and that thereby imagines 'I am this body'. Therefore to account for the appearance of this mind, we have to posit a seeming forgetfulness of our real self. However, this self-forgetfulness of ours exists only in the view of our mind, and not in the view of our original consciousness 'I am'. Our self-forgetfulness, therefore, is not real, but is merely an imagination — an illusory appearance that exists only in the view of our unreal mind.

Our self-forgetfulness, as we have seen, is the primal form of *maya* or self-delusion, and *maya* is *ya ma*, 'that which is not'. Our self-forgetfulness or lack of clear self-knowledge, therefore, is something that does not really exist.

Whereas our self-forgetfulness, which is our power of self-obscuration called *avarana*, is the primary form of *maya*, our mind, which is our power of imagination or self-diffusion called *vikshepa*, is the secondary form of *maya*. All forms of *maya*, including not only its two basic forms of self-forgetfulness and self-diffusion, but also all the duality or multiplicity that arises from these two basic forms, are known only by our mind, and not by our original consciousness 'I am', whose nature is to know only its own being. Being known only by our mind, therefore, our self-forgetfulness and all that arises from it is only an imagination.

That is, though our power of imagination arises only from our self-forgetfulness, our self-forgetfulness is nevertheless a mere imagination. Our self-forgetfulness is in fact the primal form or seed of our power of imagination or mind, and as such it is itself that which appears to us as our mind. Our mind or power of imagination is therefore merely a gross form of our extremely subtle self-forgetfulness.

Such is the inexplicable and illusory nature of *maya* that though our self-forgetfulness is the original cause that created the spurious and unreal consciousness we call our mind, it nevertheless does not exist except in the view of this unreal consciousness that it has created.

How then does this illusory self-forgetfulness arise? How do we appear to have forgotten our real self? Since we are in reality only our fundamental self-consciousness 'I am', which can never forget its own true nature, how can we even seemingly forget ourself?

Since we are in truth the unlimited consciousness 'I am', which alone is real, we alone truly exist. Since nothing exists other than ourself, there is nothing that can limit our freedom or our power in any way. Being the one and only absolute reality, therefore, we are perfectly free, and hence all powerful. Or to be more precise, we

ourself are perfect freedom and absolute power, because freedom and power cannot be other than the only existing non-dual reality, which is our real self.

Therefore, other than ourself, there is no power that could make us forget our real self, or even seemingly forget it. Hence it must be only by our own freedom of choice that we have seemingly forgotten our real self.

Because we ourself are perfect freedom, we are free to be whatever we choose to be, and to do whatever we choose to do. We are free either to be our real self – that is, to remain just as we ever really are, as mere being, which is our own infinite non-dual self-consciousness 'I am' – or to imagine ourself to be a finite body-bound consciousness that experiences an imaginary world of duality.

In order to imagine ourself to be a limited body-bound consciousness, we must first choose to overlook or ignore our real nature as the unlimited adjunct-free consciousness 'I am', or at least to imagine that we have overlooked it. This imaginary overlooking or ignoring of our real self is what we call 'self-forgetfulness', and it occurs only by our own choice – by our own misuse of our unlimited freedom and power.

Though it is only by our own unlimited freedom and power that we thus imagine that we have forgotten our real self, once we have imagined thus, we have thereby seemingly become a limited body-bound consciousness, and hence we no longer experience our unlimited freedom and power, but instead feel ourself to be a finite creature possessing only very limited freedom and power. Because of our imaginary and self-imposed limitations, it is no longer possible for us to be whatever we choose to be, and to do whatever we choose to do. Our freedom of choice, therefore, is now limited.

However, even now we have the freedom either to attend to the thoughts or objects that we have created by our power of imagination, or to attend to our own essential consciousness in order to discover our real nature — who or what we really are. Only by such self-scrutiny can we remove the veil of self-forgetfulness with which we have seemingly concealed our true nature.

When we, as the absolute reality, seemingly choose to misuse our unlimited freedom and power to forget our real self and thereby to imagine ourself to be a finite individual, our power assumes the unreal form of *maya*. But when instead we choose to use our unlimited freedom and power correctly to be merely as we really are, our power remains in its natural and real form, which in the language of mysticism or religion is called the power of 'grace'. Grace and *maya* are thus one and the same power – the only power that really exists.

When we misuse our power to delude ourself, we call it *maya*, and when we use it correctly to remain as we are, we call it grace. *Maya* is the power of delusion or self-deception, while grace is the power of 'enlightenment' or clear self-knowledge.

Therefore, if we want to free ourself from *maya*, we must turn our attention away from all other things towards our own essential consciousness 'I am' in order to know what we really are. When we do so, our own natural power of grace – which is the clarity of our essential self-consciousness, which ever shines peacefully in the core of our being as our own real self, 'I am' – will draw our attention towards itself by its overwhelming power of attraction, and will thereby dissolve the delusion of our self-forgetfulness within itself, which is the perfect clarity of true self-knowledge.

As we have seen, our self-obscuring and self-deceiving veil of self-forgetfulness is the sleep that underlies all the dreams that we ever experience, including our present dream, which we mistake to be a state of waking. This sleep of self-forgetfulness is what enables us to imagine that we are a limited person, who feels a particular body to be 'I', and who perceives a world of multiple objects through the five senses of that body.

The primal form of *maya* that first enables us to forget ourself is our power of self-obscuration called *avarana sakti*, while the secondary form of *maya* that then enables us to imagine a multitude of thoughts and objects that are seemingly other than ourself is our power of self-dissipation called *vikshepa sakti*. In waking and dream we experience the effects of both of these two forms of *maya*, but in

sleep we only experience the effect of the primal form of *maya*, the power of self-forgetfulness called *avarana sakti*.

Therefore in order to free ourself from the power of *maya* and thereby know our real self, we must not only set aside the false knowledge of multiplicity created by its *vikshepa sakti*, but must also pierce through the veil of self-forgetfulness cast by its *avarana sakti*. That is why in verse 16 of *Upadesa Undiyar*, which we have discussed earlier, Sri Ramana does not merely say, "[Our] mind giving up [knowing] external objects is true knowledge", but instead says, "[Our] mind knowing its own form of light, having given up [knowing] external objects, alone is true knowledge".

Without giving up attending to external objects, we cannot turn our attention inwards to focus it wholly and exclusively upon our 'form of light', which is our true self-consciousness 'I am'. But by merely giving up attending to external objects, we do not automatically focus our attention on our true consciousness 'I am'. Therefore Sri Ramana places "having given up [knowing] external objects" as a subordinate clause, and places our "mind knowing its own form of light" as the subject of the sentence.

True knowledge is not merely a state in which we have given up knowing any external objects, but is the state in which we clearly know our own true self. In sleep we give up knowing external objects, but we do not thereby attain true knowledge. In order to attain true knowledge, it is not sufficient for us merely to remove all our other forms of false knowledge – that is, our knowledge of multiplicity, duality or otherness – because mere removal of such false knowledge will not destroy its root and foundation, which is our forgetfulness of our own real self.

Removing our other forms of false knowledge without putting an end to our self-forgetfulness, which is our primal form of false knowledge, will result only in a temporary subsidence or abeyance of our mind. From such a state of abeyance, our mind will rise again, and when it rises, all our false knowledge of duality will rise again with it.

Our mind can rise and be active only by experiencing the false

knowledge of otherness – that is, only by knowing duality – because as a separate individual consciousness its very nature is to know things that appear to be other than itself. However, even without knowing any duality, it can still continue seemingly to exist in a dormant seed-form, as it does every day in deep sleep. The seed-form in which it seemingly remains in sleep and other such states of abeyance is its 'causal body', which is its basic self-forgetfulness or lack of clarity of self-knowledge.

Therefore, to attain true knowledge, it is necessary for us not merely to make our mind subside temporarily in a state of abeyance, but instead to destroy it forever by putting an end to its original cause and supporting base, which is our forgetfulness or ignorance of our real self.

When we finally put an end to our self-forgetfulness by knowing our real self as it is, we will discover that our mind was merely an apparition or illusory superimposition that never really existed, just like the illusory snake that our imagination superimposed upon a rope. The state in which we thus discover that our mind is truly ever non-existent is described in *advaita vedanta* as the state of 'mind-annihilation' or *mano-nasa*, and is the state that in both Buddhism and *advaita vedanta* is called *nirvana*, a word that means 'extinction', 'extinguished' or 'blown out'.

Being an illusory apparition, our mind can only be destroyed or annihilated by our recognising that it truly does not exist, which we can do only by knowing our real self. Just as we can 'kill' the illusory snake that we imagine we see lying on the ground only by recognising that it is merely a rope and not a snake, so we can 'kill' the illusory mind that we now imagine ourself to be only by recognising that it is merely our real self — our own unlimited adjunct-free consciousness 'I am'.

That is, when we know what we really are, we will discover that we were never the mind that we imagined ourself to be, and that that mind was merely a product of our power of imagination — an insubstantial shadow that appeared in the darkness of our ignorance or forgetfulness of our own real self.

Every day in deep sleep we remove all our false knowledge of duality, but because sleep is only a state of temporary abeyance of our mind, such false knowledge arises again as soon as our mind rises from sleep. However, instead of making our mind subside temporarily in a state of mere abeyance, such as sleep, if we destroy it by putting an end to our self-forgetfulness, it will never rise again, and hence all our false knowledge will be destroyed forever.

As Sri Ramana says in verse 13 of Upadesa Undiyar:

Subsidence [of our mind] is of two kinds, *laya* [abeyance] and *nasa* [annihilation]. That [mind] which is in abeyance will rise. [But] if [its] form dies, it will not rise.

By certain forms of meditation or *yogic* practices such as breath-control, it is possible for us to remove all our false knowledge of duality artificially and thereby to make our mind subside temporarily in a state of abeyance, sometimes even for a very prolonged period of time. But the only means by which we can destroy our mind is by knowing our real self, and we can know our real self only by scrutinising our essential consciousness 'I am'.

Therefore in verse 14 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

When [we] send [our] mind, which subsides [only temporarily] when [we] restrain [our] breath, on the one path of knowing [our real self], its form will die.

The words that Sri Ramana uses in this verse to mean 'the one path of knowing' are *or vazhi*, which can be taken to mean either *oru vazhi*, the 'one path', the 'unique path' or the 'special path', or *orum vazhi*, the 'path of knowing', the 'path of investigating', the 'path of examining' or the 'path of considering attentively'. Because examining and knowing our real self, our essential consciousness 'I am', is the unique and only means by which we can put an end to our self-forgetfulness, which is the cause and foundation for the illusory appearance of our mind and all its false knowledge, Sri Ramana deliberately chose to use these words *or vazhi* here, knowing that they would thus give this double meaning.

When our mind subsides temporarily in sleep, or in any other similar

state of abeyance brought about by some artificial means, why do we not thereby attain true knowledge? Since all our false knowledge of otherness is removed in sleep, what prevents us from knowing the real nature of ourself in that state? The only answer we can give is to say that our self-forgetfulness persists in sleep, and it does so because we have not put an end to it by knowing our real self as it is.

However, if we do not know anything other than 'I am' in sleep, why do we not know it as it is? What exactly do we know in deep sleep? Now in the waking state, when we mistake ourself to be our mind, we cannot say exactly what we experienced in deep sleep, because we as our mind did not exist at that time. That is, our waking mind cannot accurately tell what we experienced in deep sleep because it did not exist in that state.

We, however, did exist in sleep, and we knew that we existed at that time, because we now clearly know that we did sleep and that we did not know anything other than ourself at that time. We have a definite memory of having slept, even though we are unable to remember exactly what we experienced in deep sleep.

Since we wake up from sleep and again mistake ourself to be this body, we obviously did not experience a clear knowledge of our true self in that state. But though it is clear to us (at least from our present perspective as a waking mind) that sleep is not a state of perfect knowledge, we still do not know exactly what we experienced in sleep that prevented us from clearly knowing our true self. From the viewpoint of our present waking mind, we can vaguely recognise that we did experience our consciousness 'I am' in sleep, but we cannot say exactly in what form we experienced it.

To our present waking mind sleep appears to be a state in which we were enveloped by a confused cloud of seeming ignorance or lack of clarity of self-consciousness, just as in waking we are now enveloped by our confused identification of ourself with this particular body, and in dream we were enveloped by our confused identification of ourself with some other body. But though we do not know exactly what we experienced in deep sleep, other than the fact that we did experience 'I am', can we at least find a reason for our

lack of clarity of self-consciousness in that state? That reason must be the same fundamental reason why we also lack clarity of selfconsciousness in this present waking state, and in the state of dream.

Whatever may be the fundamental reason why we do not clearly know ourself in sleep, since that same fundamental reason is the underlying cause of our lack of clear self-knowledge not only in sleep but also in waking and in dream, all we need do is to find and do away with that cause now in our present waking state. If we can clearly know our real self now, that will destroy the inexplicable self-forgetfulness that underlies not only waking but also dream and deep sleep.

In our present waking state we do not know what we really are because we spend all our time attending only to things other than ourself, and never turn our attention to focus it wholly and exclusively upon our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. As a result of our thus not attending exclusively to our consciousness 'I am', we confuse ourself by imagining ourself to be something else.

Because we thus confuse ourself by mistaking ourself to be our body and mind in the waking state, and because our body and mind are absent in sleep, we continue to confuse ourself in that state by mistaking ourself to be in some way unaware of our real nature. However, since our mind is absent in sleep, we cannot in that state make any effort to focus our attention keenly upon our essential self-consciousness 'I am'. We can make such an effort only now in this waking state, or in dream.

In a dream, however, if we try to turn our attention towards our essential consciousness 'I am', we usually find that we awaken immediately from that dream into our present waking state. Because our attachment to the body that we mistake to be ourself in dream is not as strong as our attachment to this body that we now mistake to be ourself in this waking state, our attachment to that dream body is easily dissolved by our making even a little effort to attend to ourself.

However, if our self-attention in dream thus results only in our remembering our waking self, it is clearly not a very keen or deep self-attention. Since our illusory imagination that we are a body in dream is so easily dissolved by even a superficial self-attention, it is difficult for us to attend to ourself deeply and keenly in dream. Therefore it is only in the present waking state that we can seriously make an effort to attend to ourself deeply – that is, to attend wholly and exclusively to our essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

In a dream, if we cease to know any objects, but do so without actually knowing our waking self, we will slip either into deep sleep or into another dream. Similarly in this waking state, which is also a dream, if instead of trying to know our real self we merely try to give up knowing any of the objects or thoughts that we are experiencing, we will slip either into deep sleep or into another state of dream.

Therefore, in order to go beyond these three ordinary states of waking, dream and deep sleep, we must not only cease knowing other things, but must also remove our veil of self-forgetfulness by remembering our true self. That is, in order to awaken to our true self, we must turn our attention selfward to scrutinise and clearly know the true nature of ourself, our mere consciousness of being, 'I am'.

Though we know our essential consciousness 'I am' in all our three normal states of waking, dream and deep sleep, we know it in a different form in each of these states. In waking we know it in the form of this body, in dream we know it in the form of some other body, and in deep sleep we know it in the form of a seeming unconsciousness.

Since the form in which we know our consciousness 'I am' in each one of these states does not exist in the other two states, each of these forms is merely an illusory adjunct that we superimpose upon it. Therefore none of the forms in which we know it in any of these three states can be its true form.

If we clearly knew our consciousness 'I am' in its true form in any one of these three states, we could not mistake it to be anything other than that in the other two states. Therefore, since we experience ourself in a different form in each of these three states, and since we pass through each of these states repeatedly one after another, it is clear that we do not know the true form of our essential consciousness 'I am' in any of them.

However, since we are this consciousness 'I am', and since the very nature of this consciousness 'I am' is to be conscious of itself, it must be possible for us to know this 'I am' in its true form. In fact, at the very deepest level of our being, which is our absolutely pure and non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', we must even now know it clearly in its true form. Therefore, beyond our ordinary three states, which are all states of wrong knowledge, there must exist a state of true knowledge in which we always clearly know the real nature of our essential consciousness 'I am'.

Though this state of true knowledge – the state in which we are fully awake to the absolute reality of our own self – transcends all our ordinary three states, it nevertheless underlies them at all times, including this present moment. Therefore, in order to experience this fundamental state of true knowledge, all we need to do is to scrutinise and know our essential consciousness 'I am' at this precise moment.

Since this state of true knowledge transcends our ordinary three states, it must be devoid of all the false knowledge – all the imaginary knowledge of differences or duality – that we only experience in two of them. Therefore, since it is a state in which we experience no duality, it is a thought-free state like sleep, but since it is at the same time a state in which we experience absolute clarity of self-knowledge, it is also a state of perfect wakefulness. Hence in advaita vedanta this fundamental state of true self-knowledge is sometimes described as the state of 'wakeful sleep' or 'waking sleep' – jagrat-sushupti in Sanskrit, or nanavu-tuyil in Tamil.

Since this state of 'wakeful sleep' is beyond our three ordinary states of waking, dream and deep sleep, in *advaita vedanta* it is also sometimes referred to as the 'fourth state' or *turiya avastha*. Somewhat confusingly, however, in some texts another term is used to describe it, namely the 'fourth-transcending' or *turiyatita*, which has given rise to the wrong notion that beyond this 'fourth state'

there is some further 'fifth state'. In truth, however, the non-dual state of true self-knowledge is the ultimate and absolute state, beyond which no other state can exist.

Since it is the absolute state that underlies yet transcends all relative states, true self-knowledge is in fact the only state that really exists. Therefore in verse 32 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana says:

For those who experience waking, dream and sleep, [the real state of] 'wakeful sleep', [which is] beyond [these three ordinary states], is named *turiya* [the 'fourth']. [However] since that *turiya* alone exists, [and] since the three [states] that appear [and disappear] are [in reality] non-existent, [the one real state that is thus named *turiya* is in fact] *turiya-atita* [that which transcends even the relative concept that it is the 'fourth']. Be clear [about this truth].

Our fundamental and natural state of 'wakeful sleep' or true non-dual self-knowledge is described as the 'fourth' only to impress upon us that it is a state that is beyond our three ordinary states of waking, dream and sleep. However, when we actually go beyond our three ordinary states by experiencing our fundamental state of true self-knowledge, we will discover that this fundamental state is the only real state, and that our three ordinary states are merely imaginary appearances, which are seemingly superimposed upon it, but which in reality do not exist at all. Therefore, though it is sometimes called the 'fourth state', the state of true self-knowledge or 'wakeful sleep' is in fact the only state that truly exists.

Hence, since the term *turiya* or the 'fourth' implies the existence of three other states, it is actually not an appropriate name for the only state that truly exists. Therefore, though the true state of 'wakeful sleep' is named *turiya*, it could more appropriately be named *atita*, 'that which transcends'.

In other words, since it is the one absolute reality and is therefore completely devoid of all relativity, it transcends not only the three relative states of waking, dream and sleep but also the equally relative concept that it is the 'fourth' state. This is the reason why it is also described as *turiyatita*, a term that literally means 'that which transcends the fourth'.

The above verse was composed by Sri Ramana as a summary of the following teachings that he had given orally and that Sri Muruganar had recorded in verses 937 to 939 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

When all the states [waking, dream and sleep], which are seen as three, disappear in sages, who have destroyed ego [the self-conceited sense of being a separate individual], *turiya* [the 'fourth'], which is the exalted state, is that which predominates in them excessively as *atita* [that which transcends all duality and diversity].

Since the states [waking, dream and sleep] that huddle together [enveloping us] as the three components [of our life as an individual consciousness] are mere apparitions [that appear and disappear] in the non-dual *atita* [the one all-transcending state], [which is] the state of [our real] self, [which is known as] *turiya* [the 'fourth'], [and] which is pure being-consciousness ['I am'], know that for those [three illusory states] [our real] self is the *adhishthana* [the single base upon which they appear and disappear, and] in which they [must eventually merge and] become one.

If the other three [states] were fit [to be described] as real, [only then would it be appropriate for us to say that] 'wakeful sleep', [which is the state of] pure *jñana* [knowledge], is the 'fourth', would it not? Since in front of *turiya* [the so-called 'fourth'] those other [three states] huddle together [that is, they merge together and become one], being [revealed to be] unreal [as three separate states], know that that [so-called 'fourth' state] is [in fact] *atita* [the transcendent state], which is [the only] one [real state].

Whereas the reality of our fundamental state of true self-knowledge is absolute, the seeming reality of our three ordinary states is merely relative – relative only to our mind, which alone knows them. However, when we experience the absolute state of true

non-dual self-knowledge, we will discover that our mind was a mere apparition that never truly existed. Therefore when the phantom appearance of our mind is thus dissolved, all our three relative states of waking, dream and deep sleep, which are mere figments of our imagination, will dissolve along with it. After this dissolution of our mind, all that will remain is our natural state of 'wakeful sleep', the peaceful and non-dual state of absolute true knowledge.

All forms of duality or relativity are experienced by us only in the waking and dream states, and not in their underlying state, the state of deep sleep, from which they both arise. Since duality and relativity are known only by our mind, and since all things known by our mind are only thoughts that it forms within itself by its power of imagination, all forms of duality or relativity are mere imaginations, thoughts that we have ourself created.

Since our mind, which thus creates all duality and relativity, is itself a false form of knowledge – a spurious form of consciousness that arises only when we imagine ourself to be a body, which is itself just one of our imaginations – all forms of duality or relativity cannot be anything other than false or wrong knowledge.

Thus, since our mind is just a phantom that arises from the state of deep sleep, which is our sleep of self-forgetfulness, all the imaginary knowledge of duality or relativity that our mind experiences in waking and in dream arises likewise only from our sleep of self-forgetfulness. Therefore, since the non-dual state of true self-knowledge transcends not only the states of waking and dream but also their underlying state of deep sleep, it is the supreme and absolute state that transcends not only all forms of wrong knowledge, but also the fundamental self-forgetfulness which is the original cause of all wrong knowledge.

Since this absolute state of true knowledge is our natural state of being, it always exists within us as our own real self or essential consciousness, and hence we can experience it only by knowing ourself as we really are. Since we cannot know our real self unless we attend to it, the only means by which we can attain direct experience of true and absolute knowledge is to scrutinise keenly our

innermost being or essence.

Though this true knowledge, which is our real self or essential being, is the reality underlying all the three states that we are now accustomed to experiencing, we cannot make the necessary effort to attend to it while we are in sleep. And though we are able to make this effort in dream, whenever we attempt to do so our dream is usually dissolved instantly, because as we discussed earlier most of our dreams are fragile states based upon a feeble sense of attachment to our dream body and to the world that we experience through that body.

Hence in practice it is generally possible for us to succeed in our effort to know our real self only now in this waking state. Therefore in verse 16 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal* Sri Ramana says:

In waking the state of sleep [the true state of 'wakeful sleep' or clear self-knowledge] will [naturally] result by [your] subtle investigation [or minute examination], which is [the practice of] constantly scrutinising yourself. Until [such] sleep shines suffusing [and absorbing your entire attention both] in waking [and] in dream, incessantly perform [or practise] that subtle investigation.

The reason why Sri Ramana says here that we should continue the practice of subtle self-investigation until the state of 'wakeful sleep' is experienced throughout both waking and dream is that he composed this verse as a summary of verses 957 and 958 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, in which Sri Muruganar had recorded what he once said to a spiritual aspirant who complained that he was unable to experience the perfect clarity of self-consciousness or 'wakeful sleep' in dream:

Do not be disheartened, losing [your] mental fortitude [by] thinking that [wakeful] sleep does not [yet] suffuse [and absorb your entire attention] in [your] dream [states]. If the firmness of [such] sleep is achieved in the present [state of] waking, the suffusion of [such] sleep [will also be experienced] in dream.

Until the state of [such] sleep [is experienced] in waking, do not abandon [your] subtle investigation, which is [the practice of]

scrutinising [your essential] self. Therefore, until [such wakeful] sleep shines suffusing [your entire attention] in dream, performing that subtle scrutinising investigation [is] imperative.

Waking and dream are both states in which we experience the appearance of otherness or multiplicity. The 'wakeful sleep' that we seek to attain is a state devoid of all such otherness, but is nevertheless a state of perfectly clear self-consciousness. Therefore so long as we experience either otherness or a lack of perfectly clear self-consciousness, we are still caught in the illusion of the three states, waking, dream and deep sleep. Hence we should persist in our practice of subtle self-investigation until we experience a perfect clarity of pure self-consciousness devoid of even the slightest trace of otherness, duality or multiplicity.

Whatever knowledge we may obtain about anything other than ourself is indirect and therefore open to doubt. The only knowledge that is direct is the knowledge or consciousness that we have of ourself as 'I am', and hence it alone can be certain and free of all doubt.

Before we know anything else, we first know our own existence as 'I am'. This knowledge or consciousness of ourself is our primary and essential form of knowledge. Without knowing 'I am', we could not know anything else. Our consciousness 'I am' can stand alone without any other knowledge, as we experience daily in deep sleep, but no other knowledge can stand without this consciousness 'I am'.

Whenever this single, undivided and non-dual consciousness 'I am' appears to know other things in addition to itself, it does so by seemingly limiting itself as a separate individual consciousness that identifies itself with a body, one among the many objects that it then seems to know. This individual consciousness which thus feels 'I am this body, a separate person living in this world of manifold objects' is not our primary and essential form of knowledge, but only a secondary form of knowledge, a distorted form of our original and primary knowledge 'I am'.

All objective knowledge is known only by this secondary form of knowledge, the separate individual consciousness that we call our 'mind'. Therefore objective knowledge is not the primary form of knowledge, nor even the secondary form of knowledge, but only a tertiary form of knowledge. This tertiary form of knowledge depends for its seeming existence upon the secondary form of knowledge that we call our 'mind', which in turn depends for its seeming existence upon the primary form of knowledge, our fundamental and essential consciousness 'I am'.

Unlike all other forms of knowledge, this primary form of knowledge, 'I am', does not depend upon any other thing, and hence it is the only knowledge that is absolute and unconditional. All other knowledge is merely relative. Since the secondary form of knowledge, our mind, can appear as a separate entity only by knowing the tertiary form of knowledge, the objective thoughts that it forms within itself, each of these two forms of knowledge exist relative only to the other.

Since it is known only by our mind, and thus depends for its seeming existence upon our mind, objective knowledge has no reality of its own but borrows its seeming reality from our mind. Objective knowledge can therefore be no more real than our mind that knows it. Is this mind, the individual consciousness that feels 'I am this body, a separate person who knows a world full of objects', real? No, it is not, because it is, as we have seen above, merely an imaginary and distorted form of our true and original consciousness 'I am'.

Though both our mind and all the objective knowledge known by it appear to be real, the reality of each is relative only to the other. Whatever is real only relatively is not really real at all, because in order to be truly real, a thing must be absolutely and unconditionally real. Only that which is absolutely and unconditionally real is real at all times, in all states and under all conditions, whereas that which is relatively real appears to be real only at certain times, in certain states and under certain conditions. Whatever thus appears to be real only at certain times, in certain states and under certain conditions, is merely an appearance, and hence it is only seemingly real.

Therefore, the only knowledge that can surely be considered as

real or true knowledge is our direct, unconfused, clear and certain knowledge of our own essential consciousness 'I am'. Until and unless we attain such clear and certain knowledge, any other knowledge that we may attain will be uncertain and open to doubt.

Only when we attain true knowledge of our consciousness 'I am' will we be in a position to judge the truth and validity of all our other knowledge. Thus the belief that objective research can lead to true knowledge – a belief that is implicit in and central to the philosophy upon which all modern science is based – is philosophically unsound, and is based more upon wishful thinking than upon any deep or honest philosophical analysis.

All objective knowledge is known by us indirectly through the imperfect media of our mind and five senses, whereas consciousness is known by us directly as our own self. Therefore, if we seek true, clear and immediate knowledge, rather than attempting to elaborate our knowledge of objective phenomena by turning our attention outwards through our mind and five senses, we should attempt to refine our knowledge of consciousness by directing our attention selfwards, towards the essential consciousness that we always experience directly as 'I am'.

Though the philosophy and science of consciousness or true self-knowledge that we discuss in this book may seem to refute or deny the truth of all normal forms of human knowledge, it does not in fact deny the relative truth of any other philosophy, science or religion. It merely places them in a correct perspective. In the grand scheme of things, everything has its relative place, and this philosophy of self-knowledge enables us to understand the relative place of everything in a correct perspective.

The truth is that the 'grand scheme of things' and everything that has a place in it are all known only by our mind, and thus are ultimately only our thoughts. Since we cannot know anything except in our own mind, we have no adequate reason to suppose that anything exists outside of our mind. Even the idea that things exist independent of our mind, and are therefore more than just our thoughts, is itself merely a thought or imagination. What the

philosophy and science of consciousness refutes or calls into question, therefore, is not merely any particular thought, idea or belief that our mind may have about anything, but is ultimately the reality of our mind itself.

All dualistic systems of philosophy, science and religious belief are dealing with the truth – but not with the absolute truth. The truth or truths with which they are dealing are only some relative forms of truth, and because they are relative, the truths of one such system may appear to clash with those of another. However, the conflict between all the countless forms of relative truth can be reconciled when each is seen in its correct perspective, which is possible only from the standpoint of the absolute truth of non-dual self-knowledge – the fundamental consciousness 'I am', which is the impartial substratum and reality on which or in which all things appear and disappear.

Though the objective knowledge that we acquire by means of philosophy and science may appear to be true and valid knowledge from the relative standpoint of our mind, from the absolute standpoint of our real consciousness 'I am' it is not true knowledge. Whatever knowledge the human mind may acquire through philosophy, science, religion or any other means can only be relative knowledge, and not absolute or true knowledge.

Our mind is an instrument that can know only duality, relativity or limitations, and not that which is beyond all duality, relativity and limitations. However, the limit of our knowledge does not stop with our mind. Beyond our mind, or rather behind, beneath and underlying our mind, there is a deeper consciousness — our fundamental and essential self-consciousness, 'I am'. This essential self-consciousness or non-dual knowledge of our own mere being is itself the absolute knowledge — knowledge which is absolutely, unconditionally, independently and infinitely true, pure, clear and certain.

In this book we have been examining in detail the philosophy of self-knowledge, and showing how it calls upon us to question all our most basic assumptions about ourself and the world, and how it

offers us a rational view of reality that is fresh and entirely different to the one that most of us are familiar with. However, this philosophy will be of little use to us if we do not understand that it is not only a philosophy but also a science – a science that requires of us a steadfast commitment to practical research.

As a philosophy it is insufficient in itself, and will remain merely a body of thoughts, ideas or beliefs like any other philosophy, unless and until we make it a direct experience by practising its empirical method of self-investigation. Any benefit that we may gain by studying and reflecting upon this philosophy will be of little real value to us unless we also attempt to put it into practice by repeatedly turning our attention back to our mere consciousness of being whenever we notice that it has slipped away to think of other things.

The true knowledge that we all seek to attain is not a body of thoughts, ideas or theories, or anything else that could be grasped by our mind, but is the state of conscious non-dual experience of being, in which the absolute reality, our own essential consciousness 'I am', knows only itself. Therefore, unless and until we actually turn our attention away from all thoughts and objects towards our own fundamental consciousness 'I am', we can never attain direct, certain and true knowledge of the absolute reality that underlies and contains – but nevertheless transcends – all relativity.

CHAPTER 7

The Illusion of Time and Space

Though in chapter three, while discussing the formation and dissolution of each of our consecutive thoughts, we said that each individual thought rises and subsides in an infinitely small period of time, this is not the entire truth, because time is itself an illusion created by the rising and subsiding of our thoughts.

Just as we imagine the physical dimension of space in order to create in our mind a conceptual image of a universe consisting of separate objects of diverse forms, so we imagine the physical and psychological dimension of time in order not only to create in our mind a conceptual image of events and changes constantly occurring within that universe, but also more importantly to create the illusion that the thoughts we think and the consequent experiences we undergo are formed and dissolved in a consecutive manner. Without first imagining the basic dimensions of time and space, we cannot form any image or thought in our mind, and hence these dimensions are inherent in each and every thought that we think.

We think that we perceive time and space outside ourself, and that we are just limited creatures who exist for a very short period within the vast duration of time and who occupy a very small part of the vast expanse of space. This perception, however, is just an illusion, because like every other perception, we experience the perception of time and space only within ourself, in our own mind or consciousness.

Though time and space appear to exist outside us, we have no way of knowing that they actually do exist outside of or independent of ourself, because all that we know or can ever know of time and space is only the images of them that we have formed within our

own mind by our power of imagination. Therefore, like everything that we perceive within time and space, time and space themselves are merely mental images, conceptions or thoughts.

The conceptual dimensions of time and space are centred respectively around the notions of the present moment, 'now', and the present place, 'here'.

The concepts of past and future exist only with reference to the concept of the present moment, which is the central point in time. What was once present is now past, and what will once be present is now future. Both the past and the future are the present when they occur. But more importantly, the past and the future are both concepts that exist only in the present moment. Therefore, relatively speaking, the present is the only point in time that is real. Though all that passes by it is constantly changing, the present moment itself always remains without undergoing any change, and hence it is the static gateway through which we may pass from the illusion of everchanging time to the reality of our ever-unchanging being.

As Sri Ramana says in verse 15 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

The past and future stand [only by] clinging to the present. While occurring, they too are only the present. The present [is] the only one [point in time that truly exists]. [Therefore] trying to know the past and future without knowing the truth of the present [is like] trying to count without [knowing the fundamental number, the unit] one [of which all other numbers are merely multiples or fractions].

The third sentence of this verse, "nihazhvu ondre", which literally means 'present [is] one', with a stress (the terminating letter e) added to the word ondru or 'one' implying 'only one', can be interpreted in various ways. It can be taken to mean, 'The present is the only one time', 'Only the present truly exists', or 'All these three times are only the one present'. However, in effect all these three interpretations mean the same thing.

Since while occurring each moment in time is the present, all moments in time, whether past, present or future, are only the present moment. The present is therefore the only moment in time that truly exists. Hence the three divisions of time, past, present and future, are truly not three, but only one – the one ever-present present moment.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana added two extra words before the initial word of this verse, *nihazhvinai* or 'the present', namely *nitamum mannum*, which mean 'which always endures'. Thus he further emphasised the fact that the present moment is ever present, that all times are the present while they occur, and that the present is therefore the only time that actually exists – the only time that we ever experience directly and actually. All other times, both past and future, are just thoughts that occur in this present moment.

If we wish to estimate the value of something in a particular currency, we must first know the value of a single unit of that currency. Without knowing the value of the unit 'one', we cannot know the value of any other number. Similarly, we cannot know the truth of the past or the future if we do not know the truth of the present, because the present moment is the one basic unit of time – the sole substance of which all time is formed.

Just as the present moment, 'now', is the central point in the conceptual dimension of time, so the present place, 'here', is the central point in the conceptual dimension of space. Every point in space that we perceive or think of exists only with reference to this present place, the point in space at which we now feel ourself to be.

What determines which point in space and which point in time are experienced as being present? What we experience as the present place, 'here', and the present moment, 'now', is that point in space and time in which we feel ourself to be present. The presence of our consciousness of being, 'I am', is therefore what makes us feel that this place in space is present 'here', and that this point in time is present 'now'.

All definitions of time and place are relative to this fundamental time 'now' and this fundamental place 'here'. The past is the past because it is prior to this present moment, which we call 'now', and the future is the future because it is subsequent to this present moment. Similarly, all definitions of place such as 'near' or 'far', 'there' or 'elsewhere', are relative only to this present place, which we call 'here'. Therefore, since the definition of 'now' and 'here' is that these are the points in time and space in which we always experience ourself to be, all time and space ultimately exists only with reference to our essential, fundamental and ever-present consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

Because we feel this particular body to be ourself, we feel that the point in space where this body now exists is 'here'. Thus our mind, the limited consciousness that feels 'I am this body', always feels itself to be here and now, in the present place and present moment. Since this limited consciousness 'I am this body', which is the knowing subject or first person, is always experienced as the central point in space, it is not only the 'first person' but also the 'first place'. That is, the first or fundamental place, the central point in space, which we call 'here', is only our own mind, the consciousness that we always feel to be the first person, 'I'. Every other place or point in space exists only with reference to this fundamental place, the ever-present first person.

Because we identify ourself with a particular body, we feel that we move about in space, whereas in fact space moves about in us. That is, because we are not this material body but only consciousness, all space exists only within us, and hence all movement in space occurs only within us. Wherever we appear to go, the present place 'here' goes with us. When we seem to move from one place to another, that other place becomes 'here', that is, it moves into and becomes the central place in our consciousness.

Thus, just as the present moment, 'now', is the static and unchanging moment through which all moments in time pass, so the present place, 'here', is the static and unchanging place through which, near which or far from which all places in space move. Therefore, just as the present moment is the static gateway through which we may pass from the illusion of experiencing ever-changing time to the reality of our ever-unchanging being, so the present place is the static gateway through which we may pass from the illusion of

being a body that moves about in space to the reality of our everunmoving being.

Just as the first person, our consciousness 'I', is the primary or fundamental place, the central point in the space of our mind, so the second person, 'you', and the third person, the aggregate of 'he', 'she', 'it', 'this', 'that' and everything else that is other than 'I' or 'you', may be considered to be respectively the secondary and tertiary places or areas within our mental space. Therefore, what we call the 'three persons' in English grammar are known as the 'three places' in Tamil grammar. That is, in most languages the subject and all the objects known by it are grouped into three categories, but whereas in English and many other languages these three categories are called the 'three persons', in Tamil they are called the 'three places'.

This spatial conception of these three categories is based upon the fact that we experience each of them as occupying a different 'place' or point either in physical space or in our conceptual space. The first person, which in grammatical terms is the person who speaks or writes as 'I', is always experienced as being *here*, in the present place. The second person, which in grammatical terms is any person or thing that is spoken or written to as 'you', is experienced as being physically or conceptually *nearby*, in a place that is close to the first person. And the third person, which in grammatical terms is any person or thing that is spoken or written about as 'he', 'she', 'it', 'this', 'that', 'these', 'those', 'they' or 'them', is experienced as being physically or conceptually *elsewhere*, in a place that is other than that occupied by the first and second persons.

This spatial conception of these 'three persons', particularly that of the 'first person', is philosophically very significant, and is potentially very helpful to us in our understanding of the practice of self-investigation. In his teachings, therefore, Sri Ramana frequently used the Tamil equivalents of the English terms 'first person', 'second person' and 'third person'.

Since he used these terms in place of the usual philosophical terms 'subject' and 'object', he in effect divided all the objects known by us into two distinct groups. That is, he used the Tamil equivalent of the term 'second person' to denote all those mental objects or images that we recognise as being thoughts that exist only within our own mind, and the Tamil equivalent of the term 'third person' to denote all those mental objects or images that we imagine we are perceiving outside ourself through one or more of our five senses.

Whereas the 'second person' objects are those objects or thoughts that we recognise as existing only within the space of our own mind, the 'third person' objects are those objects or thoughts that we imagine we are perceiving in physical space, outside our mind. Thus the second person objects are those objects that we recognise as existing only within the field of our mental conception, while the third person objects are those objects that we imagine to exist outside the field of our mental conception, in the seemingly separate field of our sense perception.

This definition of the terms 'second person' and 'third person' differs from the normal definition of them, because Sri Ramana did not use them in their usual grammatical sense, but in a more abstract philosophical sense. The philosophical meaning that he gave to these terms does not correspond exactly to their usual grammatical meaning because, whereas the former is concerned with knowledge or experience, the latter is concerned only with language, either spoken or written.

That is, though we usually understand the term 'second person' to mean only 'you', the person, people, thing or things spoken or written to, and the term 'third person' to mean the person, people, thing or things spoken or written about, this definition of these terms is applicable only to the act of communicating through speech or writing. If we extend the use of these terms to apply to the act of knowing, we must form a new definition of them. In reference to the act of knowing, the term 'second person' means whatever we know most directly or immediately, while the term 'third person' means whatever we know more indirectly or mediately.

Compared to the objects that we perceive through the media of

our five senses, the thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind are known by us more directly or immediately, and hence they are our 'second person' thoughts or objects. Since the objects that we think we perceive outside ourself are known by us not only through the primary medium of our mind but also through the secondary media of our five senses, they are a comparatively indirect or more mediate form of knowledge, and hence they are our 'third person' thoughts or objects.

Though in Tamil these 'three persons' are collectively called the 'three places' or *muvidam*, individually they are not called the 'first place', 'second place' and 'third place', but are called respectively the 'self-ness place', the 'place standing in front' and the 'place that has spread out'. The actual term used in Tamil to denote the first person is 'tanmai-idam', or more commonly just 'tanmai', which etymologically means 'self-ness' or 'selfhood', and which therefore denotes our sense of 'self', the subject or first thought 'I'. The Tamil term for the second person is 'munnilai', which etymologically means 'what stands in front', and which therefore from a philosophical viewpoint denotes our most intimate thoughts, those mental objects or images that figuratively speaking stand immediately in front of our mind's eye, and that we therefore recognise as being thoughts that exist only within our own mind. And the Tamil term for the third person is 'padarkkai', which etymologically means 'what spreads out, ramifies, becomes diffused, expands or pervades', and which therefore from a philosophical viewpoint denotes those thoughts that have spread out or expanded through the channel of our five senses, and that have thereby been projected as the objects of this material world, which we seem to perceive through those five senses, and which we therefore imagine to be objects existing outside ourself.

The space of our mind is thus divided into three distinct parts, areas or fields, which we can picture as three concentric circles. The most intimate part of our mind, the innermost of these three circles, which is also their central point, is our first person thought 'I', our limited individual consciousness that feels 'I am this body', 'I am

such-and-such a person'. The next most interior or intimate part of our mind, the field or circle that most closely surrounds our first person thought 'I', is all our second person thoughts, the objects that we recognise as existing only within our own mind, and that we therefore consider to be the field of our mental conception. The most exterior part of our mind, the outermost field or circle surrounding our first person thought 'I', is all our third person thoughts, the objects that we imagine we perceive in an external physical space, and that we therefore mistake as existing outside our mind. Thus the entire external universe and the physical space in which we imagine it to be contained is just the outermost part of the space that is our own mind, the part of that space which we consider to be the field of our sense perception.

Though in our imagination we make a distinction between the thoughts that we recognise as existing within ourself and the material objects that we imagine we perceive outside ourself, this distinction is actually false, because both are in fact only thoughts that we form within our own mind by our power of imagination. Whereas we recognise some of our thoughts to be only images that we form in our mind, we wrongly imagine certain of our thoughts to be objects that actually exist outside us, and that are therefore distinct from our thoughts and our thinking mind. In fact, however, even the objects that we think we perceive outside ourself are only our own thoughts – images that we have formed within our own mind.

Nevertheless, though this distinction between our second person thoughts and our third person thoughts is illusory, in our mind it appears to be quite real. So long as we imagine that we are perceiving objects outside ourself, we will continue to imagine that there is a real distinction between those objects and the thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind. Therefore this seeming distinction between our second person objects, the thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind, and our third person objects, the objects that we think we perceive outside ourself, will continue to appear to be real so long as our thinking mind appears to be real.

Because it appears to us to be real, Sri Ramana allows for this seeming distinction between the second person and third person objects, but he does so only to make clear to us that the term 'objects' includes not only all the material objects we think we perceive outside ourself, but also all the thoughts that we recognise as existing only within our own mind. Even our most intimate thoughts or feelings are only objects known by us, and are accordingly distinct from us.

Therefore, when Sri Ramana advises us to withdraw our attention from all the 'second persons' and 'third persons' and to focus it instead on the 'first person', what he wants us to understand is that we should withdraw our attention from all objects – both those that we recognise as being merely our own thoughts or feelings, and those that we mistake to be objects existing outside ourself – and to fix it only upon our sense of self, 'I', which we always experience as being here and now, in this precise present point in space and time. In other words, in order to know our real self, we should withdraw our attention from all our thoughts – both our second person thoughts, which we recognise as being thoughts, and our third person thoughts, which we imagine to be material objects existing outside ourself – and should instead focus it wholly and exclusively upon our ever-present self-consciousness, our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'.

Since all objects are only thoughts that we form within our own mind, they depend for their seeming existence upon our mind, the subject or first person, which thinks and knows them. Therefore in verse 14 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

If the first person exists, the second and third persons will [also seem to] exist. If, by our investigating the truth of the first person, the first person ceases to exist, the second and third persons will [also] come to an end, [and the reality of] the first person, which [always] shines as one [the one non-dual absolute reality, which alone remains after the dissolution of these three false persons], will be [then discovered to be] our [true] state, [our real] self.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana added four extra words before the initial word of this verse, *tanmai* or 'first person', namely *udal nan ennum at*, which together with *tanmai* mean "that first person which says 'I am [this] body". Thus he defined the first person as being our *dehatma buddhi*, our root thought or primal imagination 'I am this body', which is the distorted and spurious form of consciousness that rises as our mind from our real non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'.

In the second sentence of this verse, the words that I have translated as 'the truth of the first person' are *tanmaiyin unmaiyai*, in which the word *unmai* or 'truth' etymologically means 'be'-ness or 'am'-ness. Hence the 'truth of the first person' is the essential being or 'am'-ness of our mind or individual sense of self, which we experience as 'I am this body'. Whereas our mind is an objectified form of consciousness – a form of consciousness that imagines itself to be an object, this body – its truth or 'am'-ness is its true and essential non-objective self-consciousness, 'I am', which is the sole reality underlying its false appearance.

Our individual 'selfhood' or *tanmai*, which is the adjunct-mixed consciousness that feels 'I am this body', appears to exist only because we have failed to investigate or scrutinise the underlying truth or 'am'-ness of it closely. If we scrutinise this false first person consciousness closely in order to know its underlying truth or reality, we will discover it to be nothing other than our non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which is our real and essential self, our true state of mere being.

When we thus discover that our real 'selfhood' is merely our non-dual self-consciousness 'I am', we will thereby discover that our false individual 'selfhood', which is our distorted and dualistic consciousness 'I am this body', and which by thus identifying itself with a physical body has limited itself within the bounds of time and space, is a mere apparition that has never truly existed. Just as the illusory snake, which we imagined that we saw lying on the ground, disappears as soon as we see that it is nothing but a rope, so the illusory first person will disappear as soon as we discover that it is

nothing but our real non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am'. When this illusory first person, our false individual 'selfhood', thus disappears, all the second and third person objects or thoughts, which were created and known only by this false first person, will disappear along with it.

Thus by scrutinising the present place, 'here', which is the precise point in space in which the false first person 'I' appears to exist, and which is the central point from which it conceives all thoughts and perceives physical space and all the objects contained within that space, we will discover that it is merely an unreal conception, a thought created by our own power of imagination. When we thus discover that this central point from which we seem to perceive the physical space around us is merely an imaginary apparition, an illusion of something that never truly existed, we will discover that what we mistake to be physical space is likewise just an imaginary apparition.

The sole truth or reality underlying not only the present place, 'here', but also all the other places in physical space that we perceive from this central point, is our fundamental and ever-present consciousness of being, 'I am'. In reality, therefore, the present place, 'here', is not a point in physical space, but is only our own self-conscious being. Our ever-present consciousness of being, which is the reality underlying our experience of being always in the present place, 'here', is what Sri Ramana means in the above verse by the words 'the truth of the first person'.

What exactly do we mean when we speak of scrutinising the present place, 'here'? The precise point in space that we feel to be 'here' is that point in which we feel ourself to be – that point at which we seem to experience our consciousness of being, 'I am'. Therefore, in order to scrutinise the precise present place, 'here', we must withdraw our attention from all other places – that is, from all other thoughts and objects – and focus it wholly and exclusively upon our fundamental and essential consciousness of being, 'I am', which alone is always present 'here' and 'now'.

Thus our experience of always being 'here', at this precise present

point in space, serves as a valuable clue in our investigation of our consciousness of being, 'I am', just as the scent of his master serves as a valuable clue in a dog's search for him. Similarly, our experience of always being 'now', at this precise present point in time, serves as another equally valuable clue in our investigation of our consciousness of being.

Either of these two clues, if followed correctly and diligently, will unfailingly lead us to experience the absolute reality that underlies yet transcends all time and space, because the reality underlying what we now experience as the relative 'here' and 'now', the 'here' and 'now' that appear to exist in space and time, is the absolute 'here' and 'now', the eternally omnipresent fullness of being, which is our own real self, our fundamental and essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Therefore, we should investigate and know the truth of either the present place, 'here', or the present time, 'now'.

Time is a constant flow from past to future. The present is that precise moment in time when the past ends and the future begins. With the passing of every moment, the present moment becomes part of the past, and a new moment, which was part of the future, becomes the present. If we break time down into its smallest fractions or moments, the duration of each such moment will be infinitesimal. Such infinitesimal moments pass so rapidly that the very instant each one appears it also disappears. A moment that is the immediate future moment at one instant, becomes the immediate past moment the next instant.

However, even to speak of a moment or instant of time is potentially misleading, because time is actually a continuous flow that does not consist of any entirely discrete or clearly definable units called moments. A moment is just a conceptual fraction of time, a fraction whose duration is arbitrary. The most infinitesimal moment is a point in time whose duration is zero, and the precise present moment is such a durationless point, because it is the immeasurably thin borderline or boundary that separates the past from the future. The very instant the past ends, the future begins.

Therefore the borderline or interface between the past and the future is an infinitely fine point, a point that has no duration or extent.

All that exists between the past and the future is pure being. In the immeasurably brief instant between the past and the future, time stands still, and all happening ceases. Time requires some extent or duration in which to move, so in the infinitely small instant between the past and the future, time cannot move, and nothing else can happen. Therefore all we can experience in that infinitely small instant, in the precise present moment, is our own self-conscious being, 'I am'.

If we scrutinise the present moment minutely in order to discern exactly which instant in time is present, we will not be able to discover any discernible instant in time that can be called the precise present moment, 'now'. To discern the precise present instant in time, we must set aside both the past and the future. The moment immediately preceding the present moment is past, and the moment immediately following it is future. If we try to set aside even the most immediate, subtle and minute past and future moments, and to discern what exists between them, all we will find is our own unmoving and unchanging being — our ever-present self-consciousness, 'I am'.

Being unmoving and unchanging, our self-conscious being is timeless. Therefore, the precise present moment, the infinitesimal instant between the past and the future, is a timeless moment - a moment that exists beyond the dimension of time.

Thus our experience that the present moment is a point in time is an illusion, just as our experience that the present place is a point in space is an illusion. As we saw above, if we set aside all thoughts of any place other than this precise present place, 'here', and keenly scrutinise only this precise present place in order to discover what the truth or reality of it is, we will discover that it is truly not a point in physical space, but is just our own self-conscious being. Similarly, if we set aside all thoughts of any moment other than this precise present moment, 'now', and keenly scrutinise only this precise present moment in order to discover what the truth or reality of it is,

we will discover that it is truly not a point in the passage of time, but is just our own self-conscious being. When we thus discover that there is no such thing as a precise present point in time, and that our experience of the present moment in time is therefore merely an illusion, an imaginary apparition, we will discover that the passage of time, which we always experience only in this illusory present moment, is likewise merely an imaginary apparition.

Since all points in time and all points in space are experienced only in this present point in time and this present point in space, they depend for their seeming existence upon these present points, the ever-present 'now' and 'here', which in reality are nothing but the presence of our ever-present consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. Therefore, our ever-present self-conscious being, 'I am', is the sole substance or reality not only of this present moment, 'now', and this present place, 'here', but also of the entire appearance of time and space.

Thus these two clues, the clue of the precise present place, 'here', and the clue of the precise present moment, 'now', both point to the same reality, our ever-present self-conscious being, 'I am', which is not limited either by time or by space. At certain times we may find it more helpful to follow the clue of 'here', at other times we may find it more helpful to follow the clue of 'now', and at other times we may find it more helpful to follow both of them simultaneously, but whichever of them we choose to follow, our attention should be focused wholly and exclusively upon our fundamental and ever-present consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

When we investigate our non-dual consciousness of our own being, which we always experience as being 'here' and 'now', we will discover that time and space are both unreal imaginations, and that our non-dual self-conscious being is the only reality, the only thing that truly exists. Therefore in verse 16 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

When [we] investigate [that is, when we scrutinise ourself], except 'we' [our essential self or fundamental consciousness of being], where is time [and] where is place? If we are [a] body,

we shall be ensnared in time and place. [But] are we [a] body? We are one [at each moment in time], now, then and always, one [at each] place [in space], here, there and everywhere. Therefore we, the timeless and placeless 'we', [alone] exist.

The superficial meaning implied by the rhetorical question "Except 'we', where is time and where is place?" is that time and space do not exist besides, apart from, or as other than us. However, its deeper meaning is that we alone exist, and time and space are completely non-existent, a fact that is reiterated in the last sentence of this verse.

In the *kalivenba* version of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana added three extra words before the initial word of this verse, *nam* or 'we', namely *unara nindra porul*, which literally mean 'the reality that stood to know', but which are a poetic way of saying 'the reality that exists knowingly', or more precisely 'the reality that exists and knows [its own existence]'. By placing these words before *nam* he defined exactly what he meant by it in this context. That is, when he asked, "Except 'we', where is time and where is place?", by the term 'we' he did not mean our object-knowing mind but only our real self – our essential and ever-existing self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am'.

Time and space are known only by our mind, and hence they depend upon it for their seeming existence. They are not known by our essential consciousness of being, which knows only itself, and hence they are not known by us in sleep, in which we experience only our own self-conscious being. However, though they are not known by our essential self-consciousness, they could not be known independent of it, because it is the sole reality that underlies and supports the appearance of the false object-knowing form of consciousness that we call our mind, in whose imagination alone they exist.

We are able to imagine ourself to be this mind, which experiences itself as a body that exists in time and space, only because we know ourself as 'I am'. However, whereas our mind and the time and space known by it are transitory appearances, we are the reality that

always exists and knows its own existence. Since our self-conscious existence or being exists independent of time and space, it is the absolute reality – the only reality that truly exists. Hence Sri Ramana asks, "Except 'we', where is time and where is place?", implying thereby that we alone truly exist, and that time and space are mere appearances – mental images that have no real existence of their own.

Time and space appear to exist only because we imagine ourself to be a finite body. In truth, however, we are not any finite body, because though in our present waking state we imagine ourself to be this body, in dream we imagine ourself to be some other body, and in sleep we do not imagine ourself to be any body at all. When we imagine ourself to be a particular body, as in waking and dream, we experience both time and space, but when we do not imagine ourself to be any body, as in sleep, we do not experience either time or space.

However, whether or not we imagine ourself to be a body, we always remain the same one unchanging consciousness of being, 'I am'. In all times, in all places and in all states of consciousness, we are always in essence only this single, non-dual consciousness of our own being. Therefore Sri Ramana says in this verse, "We are one [at each moment in time], now, then and always, one [at each] place [in space], here, there and everywhere".

Since time and space, and everything else other than our essential consciousness of our own being, 'I am', appear and disappear, they are not real, but are merely illusory figments of our imagination. In reality, therefore, we not only transcend time and space, but are in essence absolutely devoid of time and space. We – this timeless and spaceless 'we', who are nothing other than absolute non-dual self-conscious being – alone exist.

In verse 13 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*, which is the original form in which he composed the above verse, Sri Ramana says:

Except 'we', where is time? If, having not investigated [or scrutinised] ourself, we think that we are [a] body, time will devour us. [But] are we [a] body? We are always one, [in]

present, past and future times. Therefore we, the 'we' who has devoured time, [alone] exist.

We imagine that we are a physical body only because we ignore or fail to pay due attention to our true and essential self-conscious being, and since the body that we imagine to be ourself is confined within the limits of time and space, we are thereby in effect swallowed by time. However, if we investigate ourself by keenly attending to our own essential self-conscious being, we will discover that we are not this finite body but are only the one infinite and therefore timeless reality, and thereby we will in effect swallow the illusion of time.

Since we are the one infinite reality, which exists in all times and all places, and since nothing can exist apart from or other than the infinite, we alone truly exist. Therefore the body that we imagine to be ourself, and the time and space in which this body is confined, are all mere apparitions, and in reality do not exist at all. This is the clear meaning of the last line of verse 16 of *Ulladu Narpadu*, which I have translated as, "we, the timeless and placeless 'we', [alone] exist", but which could also be translated as, "we [alone] exist; time and place do not exist, [but only] we".

The only way for us to experience this truth that we alone exist, devoid of all time and space, is for us to scrutinise our own consciousness of being, which always exists here and now, in this precise present point in space and time. So long as we continue to attend to or think of anything in time or space other than the precise present moment and the precise present place, we will continue to perpetuate the illusion of time and space – the illusion of ourself being a body, an object confined within the limits of time and space. But if we attend only to either the precise present moment or the precise present place, which are actually one and the same point, we will find in them no time or space, no duration or extent, and therefore no thought of any kind, but only our own absolutely nondual consciousness of being, 'I am', which underlies yet transcends all time, all space and all forms of thought.

If we wish to locate either the precise present moment in time, the

exact 'now', or the precise present place in space, the exact 'here', we have to look within ourself, to the very centre or core of our being, because only there can we find the infinitely minute and subtle interior point that always makes us feel that we are 'here' and 'now', no matter at which exterior point in time and space we happen to experience ourself as being.

When we look within ourself, focusing our entire attention on the innermost core of our being, our thinking mind will come to a standstill, and thus all our thoughts will cease. Our thoughts all occur within the flow of time, and within the multidimensional space of our mind. If we did not experience the one-dimensional flow of time, the constant flow of our mind from past to future, we could not form any thought. Similarly, if we did not experience our mind as a multidimensional space in which thoughts of diverse kinds rise and subside, there would be no space in which we could form any thought.

However, in the precise present moment there is no movement or flow, and in the precise present place there is no space. The precise present moment is a point in time that has no dimensions, no duration, and the precise present place is a point in space that has no dimensions, no extent. Therefore, in neither the precise present moment nor the precise present place can any thought be formed.

A dimension is a particular way of measuring or defining the extent of something, so anything that can be measured in any way, anything that has any definable extent, has dimension. Time is one-dimensional, because it is a unidirectional flow from past to future. Physical space is three-dimensional, because it has height, breadth and depth. The space of our mind is multidimensional, because not only does it contain the one-dimensional flow of time and the three-dimensional physical space, but it also has many other dimensions of its own, such as its five forms of sense knowledge, its various forms of conceptual knowledge, and its various forms of emotion.

Moreover, the space of our mind contains dimensions within dimensions. For example, the dimension of taste has six basic subdimensions, namely sweetness, sourness, saltiness, pungency, bitterness and astringency, the dimension of sight has various subdimensions such as colour, shape and distance, and each dimension of conceptual knowledge, such as abstract mathematical thought, has many sub-dimensions. All the many ways in which our mind can measure or define the extent of whatever it knows or experiences – the objects of its sense perception, its concepts, its emotions, and so on – is a dimension of its space.

All things that have dimension extend within that dimension. The extent to which any particular thing extends within any particular dimension is the measurement of that thing within that dimension. Except our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', everything that is known by our mind extends in one or more of the many dimensions that are experienced by it. All forms of objective knowledge extend in one or more dimensions.

Whereas everything else that we experience in time and space extends either in time or in space, or in both, the only things in time and space that do not extend in either of them are the precise present moment, 'now', and the precise present place, 'here'. The precise present moment has no definable or measurable duration, and the precise present place has no definable or measurable extent. If a thing extends in some dimension, it is confined within that extent, but if it does not extend in any dimension, it is not confined or limited in any way. Therefore, since they do not extend in any dimension, the precise present place and the precise present moment are free of all limitations, and hence they are the absolute 'here' and 'now'.

Since they are each an infinitely small point, we may imagine that the precise present moment and the precise present place are therefore limited. However, since they do not exist at only one particular point in time or space, they are not actually limited in any way. Though the precise present moment appears to be an infinitesimal point in time, it is nevertheless not limited or restricted to any one particular point in time, because every point in time is experienced as the present moment while it is occurring. Similarly, though the precise present place appears to be an infinitesimal point

in space, it is nevertheless not limited or restricted to any one particular point in space, because many points in space are experienced as the present place at one time or another. Since the precise present moment exists at every point in time, and the precise present place exists at different points in space at different points in time, neither of them can be defined or delimited as existing at only one point. As soon as we attempt to define their location in time or space, time will have moved on and our definition will have become invalid.

Though the precise present moment and the precise present place appear to exist within the dimensions of time and space, at no time can their exact location within those dimensions be defined or cognised, because in truth they exist beyond the limitations of time and space. If we wish to discover their exact location, we cannot do so by looking outwards, towards the objective dimensions of time and space, but only by looking within ourself, towards the innermost depth of our being, towards the core of our consciousness, towards the precise point within us where we feel 'I am', 'I am here and now'.

The precise present moment and the precise present place cannot be located at any exact point in the objective dimensions of time and space because they are not objective points, but are subjective experiences. Therefore, though they appear to touch the objective dimensions of time and space, their existence is not limited or restricted to any fixed or clearly discernible point within those dimensions. Because they are the point at which we experience our timeless and placeless consciousness of being, 'I am', appearing to exist within the imaginary dimensions of time and space, they are the point at which the eternal meets the temporal, the infinite meets the finite, and the absolute meets the relative.

Though time is always moving on, and with each passing moment a new point in time becomes the present moment, and a new point in space becomes the present place, the precise present moment and the precise present place do not themselves move or undergo any actual change. Except these two precise points, everything in time and

space is constantly moving and undergoing change. The precise present moment remains unmoving and unchanged through all time, and the precise present place remains unmoving and unchanged, no matter at which point in space it may be experienced.

Though all moments in time seem to flow through the present moment, in the precise present moment no flowing or movement of any kind actually takes place, because movement requires a dimension in which to move. Similarly, though many places in space seem to move into and thereby to become the present place, in the precise present place no movement, becoming or change of any kind actually takes place, because change requires a dimension in which to occur.

A thing can be said to change only if it can first be defined in some way, because only a definable or definite thing can undergo a definable or definite change. Consequently, since a definition is a form of measurement or appraisal that can be made only with reference to some dimension, a point with no dimension cannot be defined or delimited in any way, and hence it cannot undergo any definable change.

Therefore, being completely devoid of dimension, extension, limitation, definition, change and movement, the precise present point in time and the precise present point in space are absolute. Though everything else exists relative only to them, the precise present moment and the precise present place are not relative to anything else, because they exist independently, and remain unaffected by the flow of time or any movement that takes place in space.

The 'here' and 'now' that appear to extend in space or time – that appear to be measurable and definable – are only the relative 'here' and 'now'. Our conception of what constitutes the present moment, 'now', and the present place, 'here', is not fixed, but varies according to the context. For example, when we say 'now', we may mean this very second, this minute, or a larger period of present time such as today, or we may extend its meaning even further to mean nowadays, during this period in our lives or in history. Similarly,

when we say 'here', we may mean this exact part of space that is now occupied by our body, or any particular point within our body, or any point that is close to our body, or we may extend its meaning further to mean the room, the house, the town or even the country in which we are now living. All such uses of these words 'here' and 'now' are relative. Any relative form of 'now' extends in time, and any relative form of 'here' extends in space, and hence they can be measured.

However, the precise present moment and the precise present place are points in time and space that have no extent, and that therefore cannot be measured. As we saw above, the precise present moment is the immeasurably fine boundary or interface between the past and the future. Where the past ends, the future begins, so the interface between them is an infinitely fine point that has no measurement or extent. Similarly, the precise present place is the immeasurably fine point that exists in the very centre of our perception of space.

Since they are both infinitely fine and subtle, and therefore not limited within any dimension, the precise present moment and the precise present place are not relative, but are the absolute 'here' and 'now'. Since movement and change cannot occur within an infinitely fine and therefore dimensionless point, and since the formation of thought involves movement and change, no thought can be formed within either the precise present moment or the precise present place, and hence the precise present point in time and space is the exclusive abode of our own self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Though we talk of the precise present moment and the precise present place as if they were two different things, they appear to be different only from the limited viewpoint of our finite mind. The difference between them is therefore merely conceptual. In reality they are one and the same.

The precise present moment and the precise present place are the single point at which time and space meet and become one. This single point, at which all dimensions meet, is itself devoid of any dimension. Though the dimensions that meet and become one in it

are all relative, this single, non-dual and dimensionless point is itself devoid of all forms of relativity. All that is contained within it is our mere consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. But even to say this is not entirely correct. It does not merely contain our essential consciousness of our own being, it is synonymous with it. Our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am', is itself the absolute 'here' and 'now', the precise present place and the precise present moment.

Because this absolute point has no dimensions, it cannot be measured in any way. It is therefore not only infinitely minute, but also infinitely vast. That is, because it is absolute, it is free of all limitations, and hence it is not limited as being merely the minutest, but is also the largest, the infinite whole that contains everything. It is both that which is contained within everything, and that within which everything is contained.

Everything, all time and all space, and all that is contained within time and space, is only a form of knowledge, a conception or a perception, and hence it is all contained within consciousness. And since no form of knowledge can exist without consciousness underlying it, consciousness not only contains everything, but is also contained within everything.

In fact, consciousness is the one fundamental substance of which all things are made. Therefore, since all forms of knowledge are in essence only our own consciousness, since our own consciousness is essentially self-conscious — that is, it is in essence just our consciousness of our own being — and since our consciousness of our own being is the absolute point that we experience as being the precise present place, 'here', and the precise present moment, 'now', this absolute point contains everything and is contained within everything.

In order to be contained within everything, this absolute point must be infinitely small, and in order to contain everything, it must be infinitely large. As that which is infinitely small, it contains nothing but our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', but as that which is infinitely large, it contains everything, the totality of all our knowledge, both our true knowledge and our false knowledge. All that is known is ultimately known only in the precise present moment, 'now', and the precise present place, 'here' — in the absolute present, which is our own ever-present self-conscious being, 'I am', and which is the only point in time and space that truly exists.

CHAPTER 8

The Science of Consciousness

A science is a means of acquiring valid knowledge, knowledge that can be independently verified. But what is the correct definition of valid knowledge? Is knowledge valid merely because it can be independently verified, or is there some other more strict standard by which we can measure the validity of any given knowledge?

As we saw in chapters five and six, there are two forms of valid knowledge, knowledge that is relatively valid and knowledge that is absolutely valid. Accordingly, there are also two forms of science, relative science and absolute science. Except the spiritual science, which is the science of true self-knowledge or consciousness, all forms of science are relative sciences, because the knowledge they seek to acquire is only relatively valid.

From the relative standpoint of our life as an individual in this material world, the knowledge sought and acquired by the various branches of objective science may be valid and useful, but such knowledge is not absolutely true. It is not valid and true under all circumstances and in all conditions or states. The laws of science that we experience as true in this waking state may be experienced as untrue in dream. In dream, for example, we are sometimes able to defy the law of gravity by flying. The law of gravity, which is undeniably valid according to our experience in this waking state, is not always equally valid in dream.

All our so-called scientific knowledge, though valid according to our experience in this waking state, is not valid according to our experience in sleep. In fact, our experience in sleep calls into question the validity of all our knowledge and experience in this waking state. Though we may each be able to verify independently the validity of our scientific knowledge in this waking state, in sleep none of us can verify even the existence of this world.

In this waking state we assume that this world existed while we were asleep, but we have no means by which we can independently verify the validity of this assumption. To verify it, we must depend upon the testimony of other people who claim to have been awake while we were asleep, but those other people are part of the world whose existence we wish to verify, so they cannot be independent witnesses.

Some philosophers believe that though much of our knowledge concerning this world is relative, our knowledge of the laws of mathematics is absolute. They believe that since two plus two equals four under all circumstances and in all conditions, it must be an absolute truth. However, their assumption that it is true under all circumstances and in all conditions is incorrect, because it depends upon the obvious condition of the existence of two. In sleep we do not experience the existence of two, so none of the laws of mathematics are valid in that state. Mathematics is a science of duality and multiplicity, and as such it is inherently relative. It is relative primarily to our mind and its power of imagination, because only when our mind imagines the existence of more than one do the laws of mathematics come into existence.

All our knowledge of duality is relative, and therefore though it may be relatively valid, it is not absolutely valid. The only knowledge that we can consider to be absolutely valid and true is a knowledge that is perfectly non-dual – that is, a knowledge that knows only itself and that is known only by itself.

Any knowledge that is known by a consciousness other than itself necessarily involves duality, distinction and relativity. Therefore the only science that could be absolutely true and valid is the science of consciousness, or more precisely, the science of self-consciousness.

What is consciousness? It is our power of knowing, or our power to know. Or to be more precise, it is the power within us that knows. However, since that which knows is only we ourself, our consciousness is not something other than ourself, but is our very

being or essence.

Of all the things that we know, the first is our own being, which we always know as 'I am'. All our other knowledge comes and goes, but this first and most basic knowledge 'I am' neither comes nor goes, but is experienced by us constantly, in all times and in all states. Thus our very nature as consciousness is to know ourself. Consciousness is always self-conscious, and it cannot but be conscious of itself – that is, of its own essential being or 'am'-ness.

The original and primary form of our consciousness is therefore our self-consciousness 'I am'. Whether or not our consciousness knows any other thing, it always knows itself. In every knowledge that it experiences, its basic knowledge 'I am' is mixed.

That is, our consciousness experiences all its knowledge of anything other than itself as 'I am knowing this'. Whereas it knows itself only as 'I am', it knows other things as 'I am knowing this'. However, though it always knows itself as 'I am', when it knows other things in addition to itself, it seems to ignore or overlook its own basic knowledge 'I am', and to give prominence instead to whatever else it is knowing.

Though our consciousness sometimes appears to be knowing things other than itself, its knowledge of those other things is only temporary, and hence that knowledge of otherness is not an essential part of its being. In sleep we know that we are, but we do not know anything else, so our knowledge of otherness is extraneous to our essential consciousness of our own being.

Since our consciousness of our own being is permanent, whereas our consciousness of otherness is temporary, there is a clear distinction between these two forms of our consciousness. The former is our essential consciousness, while the latter is a mere adjunct that is temporarily superimposed upon it. This temporary adjunct — which rises from our essential non-dual consciousness of our own being as a dualistic consciousness of otherness, and which thereby appears to be superimposed upon and intimately mixed with our essential consciousness — is the limited and relative form of consciousness that we call our 'mind'.

In order to know things other than itself, our mind must limit itself. But how can consciousness limit itself? Only that which has a definable or measurable extent is limited. Since consciousness has no boundaries, it has no such definable extent, so it is unlimited.

A limitation of any sort requires one or more dimensions within which it can set defined boundaries. But consciousness is not confined within any dimension, and therefore it does not have any boundaries that could limit it in any way. Since all dimensions, boundaries, limits and extents are concepts or thoughts that are known only by our mind after it has risen to know otherness, they are contained only within our mind and have no existence independent of it. How then does our mind confine itself within any limit?

Our mind limits itself by imagining itself to be one of the objects that it knows. That is, it first imagines itself to be a form, and then only does it know the forms of other things. A form is anything that is contained within boundaries, and that therefore has a definable extent in one or more dimensions. Every finite thing has a form of one type or another, because without a form a thing would have no limits and would therefore be infinite. Everything that we know as other than ourself is a form. Our thoughts, our feelings, our emotions, our perceptions and all other things that are known by our mind are forms, except of course our essential consciousness of our own being, which is formless and therefore infinite.

The form that our mind imagines to be itself is our physical body, through the five senses of which it perceives a world of objects and other bodies. Our mind cannot function or know anything other than its own being without first imagining itself to be the form of a physical body. Our identification with our physical body is so strong that we imagine that even our own thoughts occur only within our body. That is, we experience the grosser forms of our thoughts, such as our perceptions, our conceptions, our visualised imaginations and our verbalised thoughts, as if they were all occurring somewhere within our head, and we experience the more subtle forms of our thoughts, such as our feelings and emotions, as if they were

occurring somewhere within our chest.

Whatever body we currently imagine to be ourself, whether our present body in this waking state or some other body in one of our dreams, we always imagine that all our mental activity is occurring within it, and that the world we perceive through its five senses exists outside it. In dream we mistake ourself to be some other body, but we still feel that all our mental activity is occurring within that body, and that the world we perceive through its five senses exists outside it.

However, though we experience our thoughts as if they were occurring within the body that we currently mistake to be ourself, we still feel them to be other than ourself. Having limited our consciousness by mistaking ourself to be this finite body, we experience everything else that we know as if it were other than ourself. By our very act of limiting ourself within the confines of a particular form, we are able to know all other forms as other than ourself.

In fact, however, our body, our thoughts and all the other objects that we know are only images that appear and disappear within our consciousness, and hence they have no substantial reality other than our consciousness. That is, all the forms that we know are just modifications that occur in our consciousness, like the waves on the surface of the ocean. Just as the water of the ocean is the sole substance of which all the waves are formed, so our consciousness is the sole substance of which all things known by us are formed.

Because we mistake ourself to be this body, we imagine that both the thoughts that seem to occur inside it and the objects that seem to exist outside it are all other than ourself. However, though it is absurd for us to imagine that any of these things, all of which we know only within our own mind, are actually other than ourself, this is less absurd than the confused imagination we have regarding this body, which we mistake to be ourself. Though we experience this body as if it were ourself, and as if we were limited within the boundaries of its form, we nevertheless experience it as an object. We talk of my arms, my hands, my legs, my head and even my body,

as if these were our possessions, but at the same time we mistake them to be ourself.

Our knowledge about our exact identity is confused and unclear because, though we mistake the form of this body to be ourself, we still know ourself to be consciousness. Since this body and our mind, which mistakes it to be 'I', are actually experienced by us as two different things, we are unsure which is really ourself. When we say 'my body', we are identifying ourself with our mind, which cognises this body as an object. But we also sometimes say 'my mind', as if our mind were something distinct from ourself.

Because we know ourself to be consciousness, which is in fact infinite, but at the same time imagine ourself to be a body, which is finite, we are perpetually confused about our true identity. However, as a result of this confusion we feel ourself to be something limited, and hence we are able to know things as other than ourself.

Our mind is in reality nothing other than our essential consciousness 'I am', which is formless and therefore infinite, undivided and non-dual. Hence, since it is infinite, there is truly nothing other than it for it to know. However by imagining itself to be a finite form, it is able to know other forms as if they were truly other than itself.

Therefore our mind is able to know things other than itself only by deluding itself into experiencing itself as something that it is not – something that is actually just a product of its own powerful and self-deceptive imagination. Nothing that we experience in a dream is actually other than ourself, but by imagining ourself to be one of the imaginary forms that we experience in that dream, we experience all the other forms in that dream as if they were other than ourself.

All the duality or multiplicity that our mind seems to experience is therefore just a product of its self-deluding power of imagination, and it experiences all the manifold products of its imagination only by imagining that it is one among them. Therefore, though our mind is real as our essential and non-dual consciousness of being, as a consciousness that knows otherness it is merely a figment of its own imagination, and is therefore unreal.

We use the term 'mind' to refer to our consciousness only when it

seems to know otherness. When it ceases to know any otherness, it ceases to be a separate finite entity, and therefore it remains as our infinite consciousness 'I am', which in reality it always is. As our true infinite consciousness, it knows only itself, but as our 'mind' it imagines that it knows other things and is thereby deluded.

As our mind we can never attain true self-knowledge, because as our mind we can only know our consciousness 'I am' mixed with the imaginary knowledge of otherness. That is, as our mind our power of attention, which is another name for our power of knowing or consciousness, is constantly directed towards other things, and is thereby diverted away from ourself – from our own essential being, 'I am'.

Therefore, if we are to attain true knowledge, we cannot do so through the medium of our mind. We must turn our power of attention, which we have till now been constantly directing outwards through the media of our mind and its five senses, away from our mind and all its thoughts, back on itself, towards our real consciousness 'I am'.

However, when we do so we are likely to find that initially we are unable to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our extremely subtle consciousness of being, 'I am', because our power of attention has become gross and unrefined due to our constant habit of attending only to our thoughts. Only by repeatedly attempting to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our essential consciousness 'I am' will we gradually gain the skill required to do so.

Only practice can make perfect. By repeated and persistent practice of turning our attention back on itself to discover what this consciousness 'I am' really is, we will gradually refine our power of attention, making it more subtle, clear and penetrating, and thus we will gain a steadily increasing clarity of knowledge of the real infinite and non-dual nature of our consciousness 'I am'. Finally, when our power of attention has been perfectly refined or purified – that is, when it has become freed from its present strong attachment to attend only to thoughts and objects – we will be able to know with

perfect clarity our essential consciousness 'I am' as it really is, devoid of even the least superimposition of any limitation or identification with any other thing.

This empirical practice of self-attention, self-scrutiny, self-examination or self-investigation is the experimental method of the science of consciousness. The only practical means by which we can discover the true nature of consciousness is by turning our attention towards it. Since consciousness cannot be known as an object but only as our own knowing self, scientific research upon consciousness must therefore consist in our scrutinising our own consciousness with a keen, focused and one-pointed power of attention. Except by such self-attention or self-scrutiny, we can never attain direct knowledge or experience of our real consciousness 'I am' as it really is, devoid of any imaginary superimposition or limitation.

The consciousness 'I am' is not some unknown thing that we are yet to discover, because even now we all clearly know 'I am'. However, though we know 'I am', we do not know it as it really is. We know it in a limited and distorted form due to the false adjuncts that we superimpose upon it by our power of imagination. We know it wrongly as 'I am this body, I am a person named so-and-so, I am sitting here, I am reading this book, I am thinking about the ideas discussed in it' and so on and so forth.

All these adjuncts that we are constantly superimposing upon our consciousness 'I am' prevent us from knowing it as it really is. Therefore to know it as it is, we must look beyond all these adjuncts to the one basic consciousness that underlies them all. When we scrutinise our basic consciousness 'I am' with a keen and penetrating power of attention, all these false adjuncts will dissolve or drop off it, and thus we will know it as it really is.

Though we speak of our real consciousness 'I am' and our unreal consciousness 'I am this body', these are in fact not two different consciousnesses, but are merely two forms of the same consciousness, the one and only consciousness that exists. The true form of consciousness is only our pure non-dual consciousness of

our own being, 'I am'. Our mind, the mixed or impure consciousness 'I am this body', by which all duality is known, is merely a false, distorted and illusory form of our one real consciousness 'I am'.

When it knows only itself, our one real consciousness shines as it is, devoid of all false adjuncts, but when by its power of imagination it seemingly knows things other than itself, this same one real consciousness appears as our mind. This one real consciousness 'I am' is our true self. Therefore, when we remain as we really are, knowing only ourself, we are the real non-dual consciousness 'I am', but when we direct our consciousness or power of attention away from ourself towards the imaginary world of thoughts, we seemingly become this mind.

Thus in reality our mind is nothing other than our non-dual real consciousness 'I am', just as the snake that is superimposed by our imagination upon a rope is in reality nothing other than that rope. Its seemingly separate and limited existence as 'mind' is merely an illusion caused by our lack of clear self-knowledge, just as the snake is merely an illusion caused by the lack of clear daylight. When we once shine a clear light upon the rope and thereby distinctly see it for what it is, we will never thereafter mistake it to be a snake. Similarly, when we once shine the clear light of our keenly focused attention upon our consciousness 'I am' and thereby know it distinctly as it is, we will never thereafter mistake it to be what it is not – any of the alien adjuncts by which we formerly defined it.

Since our mind is thus nothing other than our non-dual real consciousness 'I am', all it need do to know that consciousness is to turn its attention back on itself, away from all other things. However, when it does so, it ceases to be the limited individual consciousness that we call 'mind', and becomes instead the unlimited real consciousness 'I am', which in reality it always has been and always will be. Therefore that which knows our real consciousness 'I am' is not our mind but only that consciousness itself.

In recent years a renewed interest in consciousness has arisen among a still quite small group of scientists and academic philosophers. The 'science of consciousness', as it is sometimes known, is now a recognised even if still quite minor branch of modern science. However it is more commonly referred to as 'consciousness studies', because it is considered to be an interdisciplinary field of study involving contributions made by philosophy, psychology, neuroscience and other related disciplines.

Though these modern 'consciousness studies' sometimes describe themselves as the 'science of consciousness', or at least say that they are an attempt to move towards a 'science of consciousness', they should not be confused with the true science of consciousness that we are discussing here, because their understanding about consciousness and their methods of research are fundamentally different to the clear understanding and simple method of research taught by Sri Ramana and other sages. The radical difference between these two approaches lies in the fact that these 'consciousness studies' attempt to study consciousness objectively, as if it were an objective phenomenon, whereas sages teach us that consciousness can never become an object of knowledge, but can only be known truly as the essential reality underlying our mind, which is the subject that knows all objects.

In conformity with the fundamental demand made by all modern objective sciences, namely that scientists should seek to acquire 'objective knowledge' (knowledge that can be demonstrated and verified objectively) about any field of study in which they undertake research, modern 'consciousness studies' attempt to take an objective approach to the study of consciousness. Therefore, since in the limited view of our body-bound mind our consciousness appears to be centred in our brain, 'consciousness studies' place great weight upon the efforts of modern science to understand the relationship between the electrochemical activity in our brain and consciousness, which they imagine results from such activity. since we generally take consciousness to mean Moreover, consciousness of something, 'consciousness studies' are also very much concerned with understanding cognition and our subjective experience of the sensory stimuli that we seem to receive from the outside world.

In other words, the basic assumption made by philosophers and scientists who are involved in these modern 'consciousness studies' is that we can understand consciousness by attempting to study it as an objective phenomenon. However, anything that is known as an objective phenomenon is merely an object of consciousness, and is not consciousness itself. Since consciousness is the subject that knows all objective phenomenon, it can never itself become an object of knowledge.

Consciousness can be known or experienced directly only by itself, and not by any other thing. Therefore if we try to study consciousness as an objective phenomenon, we will only succeed in studying something that is not consciousness itself, but is merely an apparent effect of consciousness. If we truly wish to study consciousness and to understand what it really is, we must study it within ourself, as ourself, because we ourself are consciousness, and anything other than ourself is not consciousness but is only an object known by us.

So long as we experience any form of dualistic knowledge, that is, any knowledge involving a distinction between subject and object, consciousness will always be the knowing subject and never a known object. Therefore since time immemorial one of the fundamental principles of *advaita vedanta* has always been that in order to know consciousness as it really is we must distinguish that which knows from that which is known.

This process, which in Sanskrit is often known as *drik drisya viveka* or 'discrimination between the seer and the seen', is a fundamental prerequisite for us to be able to practise effective self-investigation. Until we understand this basic distinction between consciousness and even the subtlest object known by it, we will not be able to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our essential consciousness, and thus we will not be able to experience it as it really is – that is, as our pure and unadulterated consciousness of our own being, which is devoid of even the slightest trace of duality or otherness.

Unless modern scientists are willing to accept this fundamental

but very simple principle, all their efforts to understand consciousness will be misdirected. Any scientist who imagines that they can understand consciousness by studying our physical brain, its electrochemical activity or its cognitive function, has failed to understand that all these things are merely objects that are known by consciousness as other than itself.

Our body, its brain, the many biochemical and electrochemical processes that occur within it, and the functioning of its cognitive processes, are all thoughts or mental images that arise in our mind due to our power of imagination, as also is the illusion that our consciousness is centred in our brain. In the actual experience of each one of us, our consciousness is always present and is clearly known by us as 'I am' even when we are not conscious of our present body or any other body, and though the rising and functioning of our mind is only a temporary phenomenon, no other phenomenon such as a body or brain can ever appear unless our mind rises to know it. Therefore, since we experience our mind whenever we experience our physical body or any other thing in this material world, we have no valid reason to believe or even to suppose that the existence of this world preceded the existence of our mind, or that our mind is a phenomenon that arises due to the functioning of our brain.

Since we experience our mind even when we do not experience our present body, as in dream, and even when we have no idea about the brain in this body, our mind is something that is clearly distinct from both our body and our brain. Moreover, since we experience our consciousness even when we do not experience our mind, our present body or any other body, as in sleep, our consciousness is something that is clearly distinct from both our mind and our body, and consequently from the brain in this body.

Since all that we know about our brain is just a collection of thoughts that arise in our mind, we can never discover the true nature either of our mind or of the basic consciousness that underlies it by studying the functioning of our brain. In fact by thinking in any way about our brain or any other such objective phenomenon, we are only diverting our attention away from ourself – that is, away from the consciousness that we seek to know.

Even if we knew nothing about our brain, we would still know 'I am', so if we truly wish to know the true nature of this basic consciousness that we experience as 'I am', we need not attempt to know anything about our brain. All we need do is to turn our attention away from everything that is known by us as other than our essential consciousness, and to focus it instead only upon our consciousness that knows all those other things.

However, when we actually turn our attention back towards ourself, whom we now feel to be a consciousness that knows things other than ourself, we will discover that our real self or essential consciousness is not actually a consciousness that knows any other thing, but is only the pure consciousness of being, which knows nothing other than itself. This pure non-dual consciousness of our own being is the real and fundamental consciousness that underlies and supports the illusory appearance of our mind, which is the consciousness that knows otherness, just as a rope is the reality that underlies and supports the illusory appearance of a snake.

Though the object-knowing form in which we now experience our consciousness is not its true form, we must nevertheless investigate it very minutely in order to discover the true consciousness that underlies it. Just as in order to see the rope as it really is we must look very carefully at the snake that it appears to be, so in order to know our true consciousness as it really is we must very carefully inspect the object-knowing consciousness that it now appears to be.

If instead of looking carefully at the seeming snake we were to look however carefully at any other thing, we would not be able to see the rope as it really is. Similarly, if instead of carefully inspecting our present consciousness, which now appears to know things other than itself, we make research however carefully on any of those other things that it appears to know, we will not be able to experience and know our true consciousness as it really is.

As we saw at the beginning of this chapter, all science is an attempt

made by our human mind to acquire knowledge that is true and valid. Therefore the most important research that any scientist can undertake is to test the truth and validity of his or her own mind, since that is the consciousness by which he or she knows all other things.

If we are not able to verify the reality of our own knowing consciousness, which is what we call our 'mind', we will never be able verify the reality of any other thing, because all those other things are known only by our mind. Therefore before considering undertaking any other research, every true scientist should first undertake research upon his or her own consciousness.

If we do not know the colour of the glasses we are wearing, we will be unable to judge correctly the colour of any of the objects we see. Similarly, if we do not know the reality of our own mind, which is the medium through which we know all other things, we will be unable to judge correctly the reality of any of those other things that we now appear to know.

As we have been observing throughout this book, our mind or knowing consciousness is a confused and unreliable form of consciousness. As a finite object-knowing consciousness, our mind functions basically as a power of imagination. Except our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am', everything that we know through the medium of our mind is a product of our power of imagination. Even if we choose to believe that the world that we seem to perceive through our five senses is truly something that exists outside us and that it is therefore separate from ourself, a belief which is in fact entirely ungrounded, we cannot deny the fact that this world as we experience it in our own mind is nothing but a series of thoughts or mental images that we have formed by our power of imagination.

Moreover, on careful analysis, not only do we find that all the things that we know through the medium of our mind are mere products of our imagination, but we also find that our mind itself is merely a product of our imagination. Our mind does not exist in our sleep, but it rises as an image in our consciousness as soon as we start to experience a state of waking or dream. When it rises thus, we experience our mind as if it were ourself. That is, through our power of imagination we seem to become our mind, which is a knowing consciousness, that is, a consciousness that appears to know things other than itself.

Since our mind is not only a transitory phenomenon but also a mere figment of our imagination, whatever we may know through it is also both a transitory phenomenon and a figment of our imagination. Therefore any knowledge that we may acquire by making research on anything known by our mind is imaginary, and is no more real than any knowledge that we could acquire by making research on anything that we experience in a dream. Hence, though the knowledge that we acquire by making objective research in our present waking state may appear to be quite valid and true so long as we experience this waking state, it is in fact nothing but a figment of our imagination, and it therefore cannot help us to know and experience the absolute reality that underlies and transcends all imagination.

In order to experience that absolute reality, we must penetrate beneath our mind and all its imaginary creations by seeking to know the true consciousness that underlies it. Since we are the consciousness in which our mind and all its imaginations appear and disappear, we are that which underlies and therefore transcends it. Hence to penetrate beneath our mind we must know ourself – our real self or essential consciousness, which we always experience as 'I am' – and we can do so only by focusing our attention wholly and exclusively upon ourself, thereby withdrawing it from all the products of our imagination.

Only when we thus know our essential consciousness 'I am', which is the absolute reality underlying the transient appearance of our mind, will we be able to judge correctly the reality of all the other things that we know. Until then, we should not waste our time making research upon any other thing, but should concentrate all our efforts in making research upon our essential consciousness by persistently trying to centre our entire attention upon it.

One objection that philosophers and scientists often raise about this true science of consciousness is that its findings cannot be demonstrated objectively, and therefore cannot be independently verified. However, while it is true that we can never demonstrate the absolute reality of consciousness objectively, it is not true to say that it cannot be independently verified. Since consciousness is the basic and essential experience of each one of us, we can each independently verify its reality for ourself.

The real reason why most people, including many philosophers and scientists, and even people with exceptionally brilliant minds, tend to shy away from this science of consciousness or true self-knowledge, and also in most cases from the entire simple and rational philosophy that underlies it, is that they are too strongly attached to their own individuality, and to all the things that they enjoy experiencing through the medium of their minds. Unlike other philosophies and sciences, which allow us to retain our individual self and all our personal interests, desires, attachments, likes and dislikes, this philosophy and science require us to relinquish everything, including our own mind or individual self.

Until and unless we are ready to surrender our individual self and everything that comes with it, we will be unable to know and remain as the infinite and non-dual consciousness, which is our own real self. We cannot eat our cake and still have it. We have to choose either to keep it intact or to eat it. Likewise, we have to choose either to retain our mind or individual consciousness and all that it experiences, or to annihilate it by surrendering it in the all-consuming fire of true self-knowledge.

In the case of a cake, we do at least have a third option, which is to eat a part of it and to keep the rest of it intact, but in the case of self-knowledge we have no such intermediate option. We must choose either to imagine ourself to be this finite consciousness that we call 'mind', or to experience ourself as the infinite consciousness that we really are.

Some philosophers are fascinated by the profundity and power of this simple philosophy of absolute non-duality, but are nevertheless not willing to make the personal sacrifice that is required to experience the non-dual reality that it expounds, and therefore they enjoy giving lectures and writing books about it, but avoid actually practising true self-investigation, which is the empirical means by which true non-dual self-knowledge is attained. Such philosophers are like a person who enjoys looking at a cake and reading about how tasty and enjoyable it is, but who never ventures to taste it himself.

Their failure to put into practice what they think they have understood clearly indicates that they have not truly understood the philosophy that they seek to explain to others. If we have really understood this philosophy, we will certainly try our utmost to put it into practice, because we will understand that such practice is the only means by which we can attain true and lasting happiness.

Each one of us can independently verify the absolute reality of our essential consciousness 'I am', but to do so we must pay the necessary price, which unfortunately most of us are not yet willing to do. The reason why we are not willing to do so is that we are too strongly attached to our individuality, and are therefore not ready to surrender it even in exchange for the perfect happiness of true self-knowledge.

However, our clinging thus to our individuality is the height of foolishness, because this individuality to which we cling with so much attachment is in fact the cause of all our unhappiness, and the only obstacle preventing us from enjoying the perfect happiness that is our own true nature. As Sri Ramana used to say, our unwillingness to surrender our finite individual consciousness together with all the petty pleasures and pains that it is constantly experiencing, when in exchange for it we can become the true infinite consciousness, which is the fullness of perfect happiness, is like being unwilling to give a copper coin in exchange for a gold one.

However, even if we are not yet entirely willing to surrender our individuality here and now, if we have at least understood that this is something that we must do in order to be able to experience true self-knowledge, which is the state of supreme and absolute

happiness, we should not be disheartened but should persist in our attempts to focus our attention upon our basic consciousness of being.

Since our consciousness of being is the ultimate 'light', the light by which all other lights are illumined or known, it is the source of perfect clarity. Therefore the more we focus our attention upon it, the more it will enkindle a deep inner clarity in our mind, and this clarity of self-consciousness will enable us to discriminate and truly understand that real happiness can be experienced only in the state of 'just being', that is, the state in which we remain merely as the simple non-dual essence or 'am'-ness that we always really are.

When we discriminate and understand this truth with profound clarity of self-consciousness, we will be consumed by absolute love to know and to be the reality that we always are, and thereby we will effortlessly surrender our false individual self and merge forever in the infinite consciousness that is our own real self.

CHAPTER 9

Self-Investigation and Self-Surrender

Sri Ramana often said that there are only two means by which we can attain the experience of true self-knowledge, namely self-investigation and self-surrender. However, he also said that these two means or 'spiritual paths' are truly one in essence. That is, though they are described in different words, in their actual practice they are identical. What exactly are these two means or paths, how are they one in essence, what is their one essence, and why did he describe that one essence in these two different ways?

According to the ancient philosophy of *vedanta*, there are four paths that lead to spiritual emancipation, namely the 'path of [desireless] action' or *karma marga*, the 'path of devotion' or *bhakti marga*, the 'path of union' or *yoga marga*, and the 'path of knowing' or *jñana marga*. Of these four paths, the second and the fourth are the principal means, while the first and the third are merely subsidiary aspects of these two principal means. In other words, all the various types of spiritual practice or 'paths' can in essence be reduced to these two principal paths, the 'path of knowing' and the 'path of devotion'. If any practice does not contain an element of either or both of these two paths, it cannot lead us to the state of spiritual emancipation, the state in which we are freed from the bondage of finite existence.

To express the same truth in a more simple fashion, we can attain spiritual emancipation or 'salvation' only by experiencing true self-knowledge – that is, by knowing ourself to be only the real and

infinite spirit or consciousness 'I am', and not this unreal and finite individual whom we now imagine ourself to be. In order to know ourself thus as the absolute reality, we must be consumed by intense love for our essential being, because if we are not consumed by such love, we will not be willing to relinquish our false individual self, which we now hold more dear than any other thing.

In other words, in order to attain spiritual emancipation we must know our essential being, and in order to know our essential being we must love it. Thus 'knowing' and 'love' or devotion are the two essential means by which we can attain emancipation from our present illusion of being a finite individual.

The more we love our essential being, the more we will attend to it, and the more we attend to it, the more clearly we will know it. Conversely, the more clearly we know our essential being, the more we will love it, because it is the true source of all happiness. Thus love and knowing go hand in hand, each feeding the other. We cannot know without loving, and we cannot love without knowing. Therefore the 'path of knowing' and the 'path of loving' or devotion are not two alternative means, but are just two aspects of the one and only means by which we can regain our natural state of absolute being.

The two means to attain true self-knowledge taught by Sri Ramana correspond to these twin paths of 'knowing' and 'devotion'. The practice of self-investigation is the true 'path of knowing', and the practice of self-surrender is the true 'path of devotion'. Therefore self-investigation and self-surrender are not two separate paths, but are just two aspects of the same one path – the only means by which we can experience the absolute reality, which is our own true and essential being.

Though Sri Ramana taught the practice that leads to true self-knowledge in these two different ways, describing it either in terms of self-investigation or in terms of self-surrender, he taught it most frequently in terms of the former. Let us therefore first consider this path of self-investigation. What exactly is this practice that Sri Ramana described as self-investigation, self-examination, self-

scrutiny, self-enquiry or self-attention?

Though he used various words in Tamil to describe this practice, one of the principal terms that he used was the Sanskrit term *atmavichara*, or more simply just *vichara*. The word *atma* means self, spirit or essence, and is often used as a singular reflexive pronoun applicable to any of the three persons and any of the three genders, though in this context it would be applicable only to the first person, meaning myself, ourself or oneself. The word *vichara*, as we saw in the introduction, means investigation or examination, and can also mean pondering or consideration, in the sense of thinking of or looking at something carefully and attentively. Thus *atma-vichara* is the simple practice of investigating, examining, exploring, inspecting, scrutinising or keenly attending to ourself – our own essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as our basic consciousness 'I am'.

In English the term *atma-vichara* is often translated as 'self-enquiry', which has led many people to misunderstand it to mean a process of questioning ourself 'who am I?'. However such questioning would only be a mental activity, so it is clearly not the meaning intended by Sri Ramana. When he said that we should investigate 'who am I?' he did not mean that we should mentally ask ourself this question, but that we should keenly scrutinise our basic consciousness 'I am' in order to know exactly what it is. Therefore if we choose to use this term 'self-enquiry' in English, we should understand that it does not literally mean 'self-questioning' but only 'self-investigation' or 'self-scrutiny'.

Because some people had misunderstood his teaching that we should investigate 'who am I?' or 'from where do I rise?', taking it to mean that we should ask ourself such questions, and were accordingly spending their time in meditation repeatedly asking themself these questions, towards the end of his bodily lifetime, when he composed the brief poem *Ekatma Panchakam*, Sri Ramana wrote in verse 2:

Declare a drunkard who says, 'Who am I? What place am I?', as equal to a person who himself asks himself 'who am I?' [or]

'what is the place in which I am?' even though oneself is [always] as oneself [that is, though we are in fact always nothing other than our own real self or essential being, which clearly knows itself as 'I am'].

Though Sri Ramana sometimes described the practice of self-investigation in terms of questions such as 'who am I?' or 'from what source do I rise?', he did so only to illustrate how we should divert our attention away from all thoughts towards our own essential self-conscious being, which is what we always truly are, and which is the source from which we seemingly rise as our mind or individual sense of 'I'. That is, when he said that we should investigate 'who am I?', he meant that we should turn our attention towards our basic consciousness 'I' in order to scrutinise it and know what it really is. He did not mean that we should allow our mind to dwell upon the actual question 'who am I?', because such a question is only a thought that is other than ourself and therefore extraneous to our essential being.

We can know our own real self with perfect clarity only by focusing our entire attention on our own essential self-conscious being to the exclusion of all thoughts. By focusing our attention thus, we will withdraw our mind from all activity, and thus it will sink deep into our clear, thought-free and ever-motionless consciousness of our own mere being.

Instead of penetrating deep within our own essential being in this manner, if we keep our attention dwelling upon thoughts such as 'who am I?' or 'what is the source from which I have risen?', we will continue to float on the surface of our mind, being perpetually agitated by thoughts that rise and subside there like waves on the surface of the ocean, and will thereby prevent ourself from gaining the true clarity of thought-free self-consciousness, which ever exists in the innermost core or depth of our being.

By comparing a person who meditates upon thoughts such as 'who am I?' or 'what is the place in which I am?', expecting thereby to gain true self-knowledge, to a drunkard who prattles such questions due to the confusion and consequent lack of clarity that

result from intoxication, Sri Ramana very emphatically asserts that if we meditate thus, we are as confused about ourself as a drunkard is, and that we have entirely misunderstood the practice of self-attentive and therefore thought-free being that he intended to teach us. Asking ourself repeatedly questions such as 'who am I?' is the very antithesis of the practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation that he taught, because as he often used to say, self-investigation is not 'doing' but only 'being'.

That is, self-investigation is not any action or activity of our mind, but is only the practice of keeping our mind perpetually subsided in our real self, that is, in our own essential and ever clearly self-conscious being. This is made clear by Sri Ramana in the sixteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, in which he defines the true meaning of the term *atma-vichara* or 'self-investigation' by saying:

... The name 'atma-vichara' [is truly applicable] only to [the practice of] always being [abiding or remaining] having put [placed, kept, seated, deposited, detained, fixed or established our] mind in atma [our own real self]...

In both Sanskrit and Tamil the word *atma*, which literally means 'self', is a philosophical term that denotes our own true, essential and perfectly non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am'. Hence the state that Sri Ramana describes in this sentence as *sadakalamum manattai atmavil vaittiruppadu* is the state of just 'being', in which we keep our mind firmly fixed or established in and as *atma*, our own essential non-dual self-conscious being.

The compound word *sada-kalamum* means 'always' or 'at all times', *manattai* is the accusative form of *manam*, which means 'mind', *atmavil* is the locative form of *atma* and therefore means 'in self', and *vaittiruppadu* is a compound of two words, *vaittu*, which is a past participle meaning 'having put', 'having placed', 'having kept', 'having seated', 'having fixed' or 'having established', and *iruppadu*, which is a gerund formed from the verbal root *iru*, which means 'be'. When it is used alone, this gerund *iruppadu* means 'being', but when it is appended to a past participle to form a compound gerund, it serves as an auxiliary verbal noun denoting a

continuity of whatever action or state is indicated by the past participle. Therefore the compound word *vaittiruppadu* can be interpreted either literally as meaning 'being having placed', or idiomatically as denoting a continuous state of 'placing', 'seating', 'fixing' or 'keeping'. However there is actually no essential difference between these two interpretations, because the state in which we keep our mind continuously placed, seated, fixed or established in *atma* or 'self' is not a state of activity or 'doing', but is only the state of just 'being' as we really are.

Thus in this sentence Sri Ramana clearly defines the exact meaning of the term *atma-vichara*, saying that it denotes only the state of just 'being' – the spiritual practice of keeping our mind firmly established in and as *atma*, our own real 'self' or essential self-conscious being, 'I am'. In other words, *atma-vichara* or the investigation 'who am I?' is only the practice of just being as we really are – that is, just being in our true and natural state, in which our mind has subsided peacefully in and as our own essential self, our thought-free and therefore absolutely actionless self-conscious being.

Thus from this extremely clear, simple and unambiguous definition of *atma-vichara* that Sri Ramana has given in *Nan Yar?*, and also from many other compatible truths that he has expressed elsewhere in his own writings, we are left with absolutely no scope to doubt the fact that the essential practice of self-investigation does not involve even the least activity of mind, speech or body, but is simply the non-dual state of mind-free and therefore perfectly inactive self-conscious being.

Since our real self is absolutely non-dual self-conscious being, we cannot know it by doing anything but only by being as it is — that is, by just being ourself, our own perfectly thought-free self-conscious being. Therefore true self-knowledge is an absolutely thought-free, non-dual and therefore non-objective experience of clear, uncontaminated self-conscious being. Hence in verse 26 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana defines the non-dual state of true self-knowledge by saying:

Being [our real] self is indeed knowing [our real] self, because [our real] self is that which is devoid of two. This is *tanmaya-nishtha* [the state of being firmly established in and as *tat* or 'it', the absolute reality called *brahman*].

Since our goal is only the non-dual state of self-conscious being, the path by which we can attain that goal must likewise be nothing other than self-conscious being. If the nature of our path were essentially any different from the nature of our goal, our path could never enable us to reach our goal. That is, since our goal is a state that is infinite and therefore devoid of all otherness, division, separation or duality, the only means by which we can 'reach' or 'attain' such a goal is just to be one with it by merging in it – that is, by losing ourself, our seemingly separate finite mind, entirely in it.

In other words, we cannot be firmly established as our own real non-dual self-conscious being by doing anything or by knowing anything other than ourself. No amount of 'doing' can enable us to merge completely in the real state of just 'being'. Hence in order to know and to be our own real self, we must attend to nothing other than ourself, our own essential self-conscious being.

Attending to anything other than ourself is an action, a movement of our mind or attention away from ourself. Attending to ourself, on the other hand, is not an action or movement, but is just an actionless state of being self-conscious, as we always really are. Therefore *atma-vichara* or 'self-investigation' is only the practice of being self-conscious – that is, the practice of being conscious of nothing other than our own self, 'I am'. Only by this simple practice of thought-free self-consciousness or self-attentiveness can we know who or what we really are.

However, though *atma-vichara* or 'self-investigation' is truly not any form of mental activity, such as asking ourself 'who am I?' or any other such question, but is only the practice of abiding motionlessly in our perfectly thought-free self-conscious being, in some English books we occasionally find statements attributed to Sri Ramana that are so worded that they could make it appear as if he sometimes advised people to practise self-investigation by asking

themself questions such as 'who am I?'. In order to understand why such potentially confusing wordings appear in some of the books in which the oral teachings of Sri Ramana have been recorded in English, we have to consider several facts.

Firstly, whenever Sri Ramana was asked any question regarding spiritual philosophy or practice, he usually replied in Tamil, or occasionally in Telugu or Malayalam. Though he understood and could speak English quite fluently, when discussing spiritual philosophy or practice he seldom spoke in English, except occasionally when making a simple statement. Even when he was asked questions in English, he usually replied in Tamil, and each of his replies would immediately be translated into English by any person present who knew both languages. If what he said in Tamil was seriously mistranslated, he would occasionally correct the translation, but in most cases he would not interfere with the interpreter's task.

However, though he seldom expressed his teachings in English, many of the books in which his oral teachings were recorded during his bodily lifetime were written originally in English. Unfortunately, therefore, from such records we cannot know for certain exactly what words he used in Tamil on each particular occasion. However, from his own original Tamil writings, and from the record of many of his oral teachings that Sri Muruganar preserved for us in *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, we do know what Tamil words he used frequently to express his teachings.

Therefore, when we read the books in which his teachings are recorded in English, we have to try to infer what words he may actually have used in Tamil. For example, when we read such books and find in them statements attributed to him such as "ask yourself 'who am I?"" or "question yourself 'who am I?"", in order to understand the correct sense in which he used whatever Tamil verb has been translated as 'ask' or 'question', we have to try to infer what that verb might have been.

The Tamil verb that is used most commonly in situations in which we would use the verbs 'ask' or 'question' in English is *kettal*.

Besides meaning to ask, question or enquire, *kettal* also means to hear, listen to, investigate, learn or come to know, so if this were the verb that Sri Ramana used on any of the occasions in which the English books have recorded him saying "ask yourself 'who am I?" or "question yourself 'who am I?", the inner meaning that he implied by these words would have been "enquire 'who am I?", "investigate 'who am I?" or "find out 'who am I?".

Another Tamil verb that is often used in the sense of 'question' or 'enquire', and that Sri Ramana sometimes used when describing the practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation, is *vinavutal*. Besides meaning to question or enquire, *vinavutal* also means to investigate, examine, listen to, pay attention to, bear in mind or think of.

One example of the use that Sri Ramana made of this verb vinavutal is in verse 16 of Upadesa Tanippakkal, which we discussed in chapter six. The words in this verse that I translated as "...by subtle investigation [or minute examination], which is [the practice of] constantly scrutinising yourself..." are endrum tannai vinavum usaval. The word endrum is an adverb meaning always, constantly or at all times, tannai is the accusative form of the pronoun tan, which means self, oneself, ourself, yourself and so on, and usaval is the instrumental form of the noun usa, which means subtle, close or minute investigation or examination. Together with its adverb endrum and its object tannai, the verb vinavum acts as an adjectival clause, which describes the nature of the usa or 'subtle investigation' and which means 'which is [the practice of] constantly scrutinising self'.

Being the third person singular form of *vinavutal*, in this context *vinavum* means 'which is investigating', 'which is scrutinising' or 'which is paying attention to'. If taken at face value, *vinavum* could also be translated here as 'which is questioning', thereby implying that the *usa* or 'subtle investigation' that Sri Ramana refers to here is merely the practice of constantly questioning ourself. However, since the central idea in the first half of this verse is that "in waking the state of sleep will result by subtle investigation", this 'subtle investigation' must be a practice that is much deeper than the mere

mental act of questioning oneself, and hence we cannot do justice to the truth that Sri Ramana expresses in this verse unless we interpret tannai vinavum to mean 'which is investigating ourself' rather than 'which is questioning ourself'.

Like *kettal* and *vinavutal*, most other Tamil verbs that could be translated as 'ask', 'question' or 'enquire' could also be translated as 'investigate', 'examine', 'scrutinise' or 'attend to'. Therefore just because in some English books we occasionally find statements attributed to Sri Ramana such as "ask yourself 'who am I?" or "question yourself 'who am I?", we should not conclude from these words that he meant that we should literally ask ourself 'who am I?', or that questioning ourself thus is the actual practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation.

In certain places where it has been recorded that Sri Ramana said "ask yourself 'who am I?" or "question yourself 'who am I?", the Tamil verb that he used may have been *vicharittal*, which is the verbal form of the noun *vichara*, because in such places he appears to be referring more or less directly to the following passage from the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

... If other thoughts rise, without trying to complete them [we] must investigate to whom they have occurred. However many thoughts rise, what [does it matter]? As soon as each thought appears, if [we] vigilantly investigate to whom it has occurred, 'to me' will be clear [that is, we will be clearly reminded of ourself, to whom each thought occurs]. If [we thus] investigate 'who am I?' [that is, if we turn our attention back towards ourself and keep it fixed firmly, keenly and vigilantly upon our own essential self-conscious being in order to discover what this 'me' really is], [our] mind will return to its birthplace [the innermost core of our being, which is the source from which it arose]; [and since we thereby refrain from attending to it] the thought which had risen will also subside. When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly established in its birthplace will increase. ...

In this passage the Tamil verb that I have translated as

'investigate' is *vicharittal*, which occurs once in the form *vicharikka vendum*, which means 'it is necessary to investigate' or '[we] must investigate', and twice in the conditional form *vicharittal* (with a long 'a' in the final syllable), which means 'if [we] investigate'.

As the Tamil form of the Sanskrit verb *vichar*, the principle meaning of *vicharittal* is to investigate, examine, scrutinise, ascertain, consider or ponder, but in Tamil it is also used in the secondary sense of 'enquire' in contexts such as enquiring about a person's welfare. This secondary sense in Tamil does give some slight scope for us to interpret the meaning of *vicharittal* in this context as 'enquire', 'ask' or 'question', but even if we choose to interpret it in this rather far-fetched manner, we should understand that Sri Ramana does not mean that we should literally ask or question ourself 'who am I?', but only that we should figuratively ask or question ourself thus.

That is, if any words used by Sri Ramana can be interpreted to mean that we should ask ourself any question such as 'who am I?', we should understand that the true inner meaning of those words is that we should figuratively ask ourself 'who am I?' in the sense that we should keenly scrutinise ourself in order to know clearly through our own immediate non-dual experience what the real nature of our essential self-consciousness 'I am' actually is. Since the only real answer to this question 'who am I?' is the absolutely non-dual and therefore perfectly clear experience of our own true thought-free self-conscious being, the only means by which we can effectively 'ask' or 'question' ourself 'who am I?' – that is, the only means by which we can 'enquire' in such a manner that we will thereby actually ascertain who or what we really are – is to withdraw our attention entirely from all thoughts or objects and to focus it keenly and exclusively upon our own essential non-dual self-consciousness, 'I am'.

In his teachings Sri Ramana frequently employed ordinary words in a figurative sense, because the absolute reality about which he was speaking or writing is non-objective and non-dual, and hence it is beyond the range of thoughts and words. Since the one undivided and infinite reality can never be known objectively by our mind, but can only be experienced subjectively by and as our own essential non-dual self-consciousness, no words can describe it adequately, and hence its true nature can often be expressed more clearly by a metaphorical or figurative use of simple words rather than by a literal use of the more abstract technical terms of scholastic philosophy.

Since the true nature of the one absolute reality cannot be known by our mind or described by any words (which are merely tools created by our mind to express its knowledge or experience of objective phenomena), the only means by which we can merge in and as that non-dual and otherless absolute reality is likewise beyond the range of thoughts and words. Hence Sri Ramana often used simple words figuratively not only when he was expressing the nature of the one absolute reality, but also when he was expressing the means by which we can attain our true and natural state of indivisible oneness with that infinite reality.

Therefore when we read the spiritual teachings of Sri Ramana, we should not always take at face value the meaning of each word or combination of words that he uses, but should understand the inner meaning that he intends to convey by such words. This is not to say that his teachings are difficult to understand, or that they contain any hidden meanings. He did in fact express his teachings in an extremely open, clear and simple manner, and hence they are very easy to understand. However in order to understand them correctly we must attune our mind and heart to the truth that he was expressing and to the manner in which he expressed it.

Though one of the great strengths of his teachings – one of the reasons why they are so powerful and compelling – is the simplicity and clarity with which he expressed even the most subtle and profound truths, the very simplicity of his teachings can at times be deceptive. Just because he used very simple words, we should not overlook the fact that what he was expressing though those simple words was an extremely subtle truth – a truth that can be understood perfectly only by an equally subtle clarity of mind and heart.

The extremely subtle inner clarity that we require in order to be able to comprehend perfectly the truth of all that Sri Ramana expressed in his teachings will arise in us only when our mind has been purified or cleansed of all the desires and attachments that are now clouding it. However, though we may not now possess such perfectly unclouded inner clarity, to whatever extent our mind is purified we will be able to comprehend his teachings, and if we sincerely try to put into practice whatever we have been able to understand, our mind will gradually but surely be further purified and clarified.

Though we cannot expect to be able to understand his teachings perfectly from the outset, if we sincerely wish to understand them we should not only try to put our present imperfect understanding into practice, but should also continue to study his teachings carefully and repeatedly, because as our practice of self-investigation and self-surrender progresses and develops, we will be able to understand what we study with increasing clarity. This is why it is said that *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana* – study, reflection and practice – should continue in the life of a spiritual aspirant until the final goal of true non-dual self-knowledge is attained.

In order to understand Sri Ramana's teachings as clearly and as perfectly as we can, we should not attempt narrowly to understand any of his words, writings or sayings in isolation, but should attempt to understand each of them comprehensively in the light of all his other teachings. Unless we understand all his teachings comprehensively, we will not be able to understand each individual teaching in its correct perspective. Only if we cultivate a truly comprehensive understanding of his teachings, will we be able to recognise and grasp the real inner meaning of the simple words that he uses figuratively, and will we thereby avoid the error of interpreting too literally any of his figurative expressions of the truth.

Therefore if we read in any book that Sri Ramana said, "Ask yourself the question 'who am I?", or any similar statement, in order to understand what meaning he really intended to convey by

such words, we should consider them carefully in the light of all his other teachings, particularly the teachings that he expressed in his own writings. When doing so, we should first consider whether or not the literal meaning of such a statement is entirely consistent with the fundamental principles of his teachings, because we should accept that literal meaning at face value only if it is clearly consistent with those principles. If it is not consistent, then we should consider whether the real meaning of that statement might perhaps be not merely its apparent literal meaning but only some other deeper and more figurative meaning.

If any statement attributed to Sri Ramana appears to be in any way inconsistent with the central principles of his teachings, there may be several plausible explanations for this. Firstly, it could be either an inaccurate recording or an inaccurate translation of what he actually said. Secondly, it could be one of the many instances in which he expressed his teachings in a modified or diluted manner in order to suit the limited understanding or maturity of mind of a particular questioner. Or thirdly, if it is an accurate recording of his actual words, and if it is not clearly an instance in which he deliberately diluted his expression of the truth to suit the individual needs of the concerned questioner, it could be a case in which the real meaning of his words is figurative rather than literal.

Though Sri Ramana did often express the truth in a diluted manner to suit the actual needs of whoever he was talking to, he usually did so only with regard to more general aspects of spiritual philosophy or practice, but not with regard to the actual practice of self-investigation, which is the very core of his teachings. Whenever he advised or prompted anyone to practise self-investigation, he expressed very clearly what that practice actually is. Therefore if he ever said any words that literally mean "ask yourself 'who am I?"" or "question yourself 'who am I?"", he was certainly not expressing the practice of self-investigation in a diluted manner but only in a figurative manner.

Just as he often figuratively described our real and essential self, which is formless, infinite, undivided and non-dual spirit or

consciousness – consciousness that knows nothing other than itself, because there is nothing that is truly other than itself – as an idam, sthana or 'place', or sometimes more specifically as the 'birthplace' or 'rising-place' of our mind, our false finite object-knowing consciousness, and just as he also often figuratively described it as a 'light', so he might also have figuratively described the thought-free, actionless and non-dual practice of self-investigation as being a state of 'questioning ourself', 'enquiring [into or about] ourself' or simply 'asking who am I?'. However, just because he used words that literally mean 'place' or 'light' to denote our real self, we should not misinterpret his figurative use of such words as implying that our essential self is actually a place confined within the objective dimensions of space and time, or that it is actually a light that we can see objectively by either our physical eyes or our mind. Likewise, just because he occasionally used words that could be taken literally to mean 'question yourself', 'enquire [into or about] yourself' or 'ask yourself who am I?', we should not misinterpret his figurative use of such words as implying that the ultimate spiritual practice known as self-investigation is merely a mental act of asking ourself questions such as 'who am I?'.

In spiritual philosophy, an important distinction often has to be made between *vachyartha*, the literal meaning of a word or group of words, and *lakshyartha*, its intended meaning. Whereas *vachyartha*, the 'spoken meaning' or 'stated meaning', is merely the meaning that is superficially expressed by a particular word or group of words, *lakshyartha*, the 'indicated meaning' or 'target meaning', is the implied meaning that is really denoted by it – the true inner meaning that it is actually intended to convey.

In many contexts in which Sri Ramana talks of the question 'who am I?', the *vachyartha* or meaning superficially suggested by these words is the verbalised thought 'who am I?', whereas the *lakshyartha* or true inner meaning that he actually intended these words to convey is the state in which we look keenly within ourself to see who or what this 'I' really is. Therefore if he says any words that superficially appear to mean that we should ask ourself the

question 'who am I?', we should understand that the *lakshyartha* of such words is that we should focus our entire attention upon our consciousness 'I am' in order to know what exactly it is.

When we see his words translated as 'who am I?', in most cases the actual words that he used in Tamil were 'nan yar?', which literally mean 'I [am] who?'. By placing nan before yar, that is, 'I' before 'who', he gave prime importance to it, thereby emphasising the fact that it alone is our lakshya – our real target or aim.

In these words, 'nan yar?' or 'I [am] who?', the vachyartha or superficial meaning of 'I' is our mind or ego, but its lakshyartha is our real self, our true adjunct-free self-conscious being, 'I am', which is the sole reality underlying this illusory apparition that we call our mind or ego. Likewise, the vachyartha of 'who' is merely a question that we frame in our mind as a thought, but its lakshyartha is the keenly scrutinising attention that seeks to experience this 'I' as it really is – that is, to experience thought-free, unadulterated and therefore absolute clarity of true self-consciousness.

We cannot ascertain who or what we really are by merely asking ourself the verbalised question 'who am I?', but only by keenly attending to ourself. If Sri Ramana were to say to us, "Investigate what is written in this book", we would not imagine that we could discover what is written in it by merely asking ourself the question 'what is written in this book?'. In order to know what is written in it, we must open it and actually read what is written inside. Similarly, when he says to us, "Investigate 'who am I?'", we should not imagine that he means that we can truly know who we are by merely asking ourself the question 'who am I?'. In order to know who or what we really are, we must actually look within ourself to see what this 'I' – our essential self-consciousness – really is.

In order to experience ourself as we really are, we must withdraw our attention from everything other than our own real self – our essential self-conscious being, 'I am'. Since the verbalised question 'who am I?' is a thought that can rise only after our mind has risen and is active, it is experienced by us as something other than ourself, and hence we cannot know who we really are so long as we allow

our mind to continue dwelling upon it.

Therefore though we can use this verbalised question 'who am I?' to divert our attention away from all other thoughts towards our own essential self-consciousness 'I am', we should not continuously attend to it. As soon as we have used it effectively to divert our attention away from all other thoughts towards this consciousness that we experience as 'I', we should forget this question and attend keenly and exclusively to its target or *lakshya*, which is 'I' – our own essential thought-free self-conscious being.

This letting go of the verbalised question 'who am I?' is a secondary but nevertheless valid meaning of the second half of the first sentence of the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, in which Sri Ramana says:

Only by [means of] the investigation 'who am I?' will [our] mind subside [or cease to be]; the thought 'who am I?', having destroyed all other thoughts, will itself in the end be destroyed like a corpse-burning stick [that is, like a stick that is used to stir a funeral pyre to ensure that the corpse is burnt entirely]...

The primary meaning of the statement "... the thought 'who am I?', having destroyed all other thoughts, will itself in the end be destroyed..." is that which is implied when we understand the term "the thought 'who am I?" to be a figurative description of the effort that our mind makes to investigate 'who am I?' – that is, the effort that it makes to turn its attention away from all other thoughts towards itself. This effort to investigate 'who am I?' is the *lakshyartha* or intended inner meaning of this term "the thought 'who am I?".

Since our mind has a strong and deeply engrained liking to attend to thoughts, which appear to be other than ourself, if we wish to turn our attention towards ourself in order to know 'who am I?', we have to make an effort to draw our attention back from all the thoughts that are now distracting it away from ourself. Since this effort to investigate 'who am I?' is made by our mind, Sri Ramana describes it figuratively as "the thought 'who am I?'".

Since other thoughts can survive only when we attend to them,

and since this effort to investigate 'who am I?' draws our attention away from all other thoughts, Sri Ramana says that this effort will destroy them all. Though our mind commences the practice of self-investigation by making this effort to attend to itself, as a result of this effort it will subside, because it can rise and remain active only by attending to thoughts. Therefore, since our mind will begin to subside as soon as it makes this effort to attend to itself, and since by persisting in this effort it will eventually subside entirely in the perfect clarity of thought-free self-consciousness, the effort that it makes to attend to itself will subside along with it. This is the real meaning that Sri Ramana intended to convey when he said, "... the thought 'who am I?', having destroyed all other thoughts, will itself in the end be destroyed like a corpse-burning stick".

Though this is the primary meaning of this statement, a secondary meaning of it is that which is implied when we understand the term "the thought 'who am I?" to mean literally the verbalised thought 'who am I?'. This verbalised thought 'who am I?' is the *vachyartha* or superficial meaning of this term "the thought 'who am I?". If we interpret this statement according to this more superficial meaning, we should understand that the verbalised thought 'who am I?' is only an aid that helps to remind us to direct our attention towards ourself, thereby drawing it back from all the thoughts that are now distracting it away from ourself.

The verbalised thought 'who am I?' will destroy all other thoughts only when we allow it to divert our attention away from those thoughts towards ourself, and it will itself be destroyed only when we allow it to divert our attention away from itself towards its actual aim or target, which is our essential self-conscious being, 'I am'. Just as a 'corpse-burning stick' is itself destroyed by the same fire that it stirs in order to destroy the corpse completely, so the verbalised thought 'who am I?', if used correctly, will itself be destroyed by the same fire of clear non-dual self-consciousness that it arouses and that destroys each and every other thought.

That is, if we use the verbalised thought 'who am I?' to divert our attention away from other thoughts towards ourself, it will thereby

enkindle within us a fresh clarity of self-consciousness. This clarity of non-dual self-consciousness is the fire of true knowledge that alone can destroy not only each individual thought that arises, but also our mind, which is our first thought and the root of all our other thoughts. Though this clarity of thought-free self-consciousness will be aroused whenever we use the verbalised thought 'who am I?' to draw our attention back towards ourself, if we then keep our attention fixed firmly upon ourself, the verbalised thought 'who am I?' will thereby subside automatically along with all other thoughts.

Hence as a verbalised thought the question 'who am I?' can be of use to us only when other thoughts have arisen. As soon as it has helped us to divert our attention away from other thoughts towards ourself, this verbalised thought 'who am I?' has served its purpose. That is, by asking ourself questions such as 'who is thinking this thought?', 'who knows this thought?' or 'who am I?', we can remind ourself of the 'I' that is thinking, and thus we can turn our attention away from any other thought towards ourself. This turning of our attention towards ourself is the only benefit to be gained by asking such questions.

If we choose to use any thought such as the question 'who am I?' as a means to turn our attention away from other thoughts towards ourself, that selfward-directing thought will act like a portal or doorway through which we can enter the state of self-attentiveness or clear self-consciousness, which is our natural state of mind-free being that Sri Ramana calls *atma-vichara* or self-investigation. No thought, word, sentence or question can be the actual state of true non-dual self-consciousness, because all thoughts and words are just objective forms of knowledge, and hence they can exist only in the state of duality. As Sri Ramana says in verse 25 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*:

Questions and answers [can occur] only in the language of this *dvaita* [duality]; in [the true state of] *advaita* [non-duality] they do not exist.

Just as a doorway is a means by which we can enter our house, but is not our house itself, so a thought such as 'who am I?' may be a means by which we can enter our own natural state of clear non-dual self-consciousness, but it is not our self-consciousness itself. If we wish to enter our house, we should not just stand at the doorway but should pass through it and leave it behind us. Similarly, if we wish to enter our real state of non-dual self-consciousness, we should not cling to any thought such as 'who am I?' but should pass through such thoughts and leave them behind us.

If we continuously dwell upon the thought 'who am I?', instead of passing through and beyond it, it will not enable us to enter into our natural state of thought-free self-conscious being. Therefore having turned our attention towards ourself by asking ourself 'who am I?', we should calmly subside without even the slightest thought into the innermost depth of ourself – that is, into the absolute isolation of our own true non-dual self-conscious being.

Though we may use a thought such as 'who am I?' as a means to turn our attention towards ourself and thereby to subside deep into our real thought-free self-conscious being, we should not imagine that the thought 'who am I?' is the actual practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation. The real practice of *atma-vichara* is only the state in which we have left behind all thoughts, including the thought 'who am I?', and have thereby sunk deep into our own essential and perfectly clear self-conscious being.

Therefore, having once asked ourself 'who am I?', we need not ask this same question again. In fact we should not ask it again, because once we have turned our attention successfully towards ourself, the verbalised thought 'who am I?' would only distract us away from our vigilantly attentive state of clear thought-free self-consciousness, just as any other thought would.

This is the reason why, whenever anyone asked Sri Ramana whether we should repeat the question 'who am I?' like a *mantra*, he replied emphatically that it is not a *mantra* and should not be repeated as such, and he explained that our sole aim while practising *atma-vichara* should be to focus our entire mind or power of attention in its source, which is our own self-conscious being. In the same context, he also sometimes stated explicitly that if the *vichara*

or investigation 'who am I?' were merely a mental act of questioning, it would be of no real benefit to us.

However, though he stated explicitly that we should not repeat the question 'who am I?' as if it were a *mantra*, and that the practice of *atma-vichara* is not merely a mental act of asking ourself this question, Sri Ramana did not actually say that we should never ask ourself this question, or that asking it is not of some value as an aid to our actual practice of *atma-vichara*. What he warned us to avoid was firstly the futile practice of misusing this question by repeating it in a parrot-like manner, and secondly the mistaken notion that *atma-vichara* is merely a mental practice of asking ourself this question either repeatedly or even occasionally.

If we carefully read all the teachings of Sri Ramana, which are expressed extremely clearly both in his original Tamil writings and in *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, and somewhat less clearly in the various books in which they were recorded in English, we should be able to understand very clearly what the actual practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation is and what it is not. Though many passages in the various English books may appear to be unclear or confusing, if we study such books with discrimination in the light of his original Tamil writings and *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, we should be able to sift and pick out all the grains of genuine wisdom from the chaff of imperfectly or inadequately recorded ideas.

Regarding the practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation, two of the fundamental truths that we should be able to understand by reading the various available books are as follows: Firstly, *atma-vichara* is not a mental practice of repeatedly asking ourself any question such as 'who am I?'. And secondly, asking ourself any such question even once is not actually an essential part of the practice of *atma-vichara*.

When we first try to practise self-attentiveness, we may find that asking ourself such questions occasionally is helpful as a means to divert our attention away from other thoughts towards ourself, but after we have gained even a little experience in this simple practice of self-attentiveness, we will find that it is easy for us to turn our

attention towards our natural and clearly self-evident consciousness 'I am' without having to think 'who am I?' or any other such thought.

Whether or not we choose to use any question such as 'who am I?' as an aid in our effort to turn our attention towards ourself is ultimately irrelevant, because all that is actually necessary is that we focus our attention keenly and exclusively upon ourself – that is, upon our essential self-conscious being, 'I am'. The actual practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation is only this intense focusing of our entire attention upon ourself. This practice of intense and clear self-attentiveness or self-consciousness is not a thought or an action of any kind whatsoever, but is only the absolutely silent and peaceful state of just being as we really are.

Besides using the Sanskrit word *vichara*, Sri Ramana used many other Tamil and Sanskrit words to describe the practice of self-investigation. One word that he frequently used both in his original writings such as *Ulladu Narpadu* and in his oral teachings was the Tamil verb *nadutal*, which can mean seeking, pursuing, examining, investigating, knowing, thinking or desiring, but which with reference to ourself clearly does not mean literally either seeking or pursuing, but only examining, investigating or knowing.

He also often used the word *nattam*, which is a noun derived from this verb *nadutal*, and which has various closely related meanings such as 'investigation', 'examination', 'scrutiny', 'sight', 'look', 'aim', 'intention', 'pursuit' or 'quest'. In the sense of 'scrutiny', 'look' or 'sight', *nattam* means the state of 'looking', 'seeing' or 'watching', and hence it can also be translated as 'inspection', 'observation' or 'attention'. Thus it is a word that Sri Ramana used in Tamil to convey the same sense as the English word 'attention'.

Since the term *atma-vichara* is a technical term of Sanskrit origin, in conversation Sri Ramana often used instead the more colloquial Tamil term *tannattam*, which is a compound of two words, *tan*, which means 'self', and *nattam*, which in this context means 'scrutiny', 'investigation', 'examination', 'inspection', 'observation' or 'attention'. In English books that record or discuss his teachings,

this term *tannattam* is usually translated as self-attention, self-investigation or self-enquiry, but is also sometimes translated as 'seeking the self' or 'quest for the self'.

Though the verb *nadutal* can mean to seek, search for or pursue, and though the noun *nattam* can correspondingly mean a quest or pursuit, when Sri Ramana uses these words in the context of self-investigation he does not mean that we should literally seek, search for, go in quest of or pursue our own self as if it were something distant or unknown to us, but that we should simply investigate, inspect, examine or scrutinise ourself – that is, that we should attend keenly to our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', which we always experience clearly, but which we now mistake to be our body-bound mind or ego, our false finite object-knowing consciousness that feels 'I am this body'.

Another verb that Sri Ramana used in the same sense as *nadutal* is *tedutal*, which literally means to seek, search for, trace, pursue or enquire into. However, just because he used words that literally mean to 'seek' or 'search for', we should not imagine that the 'self' he asks us to 'seek' is anything other than ourself – anything other than that which we already and always experience as 'I'.

The practice of *atma-vichara*, *tannattam* or self-investigation is not a practice of one 'I' seeking some other 'I', but is simply the practice of our one and only 'I' knowing and being itself. In other words, it is simply the absolutely non-dual practice of we ourself knowing and being ourself.

Since we are in truth ever self-conscious, in order to know ourself as we really are we do not need literally to 'seek' ourself but just to be ourself – that is, just to be as we really are, which is thought-free non-dual self-conscious being. Therefore the practice that Sri Ramana sometimes described figuratively as 'seeking' ourself is simply the practice of just consciously being ourself.

As we discussed earlier, Sri Ramana often used simple words in a figurative sense, and his use of the verb *tedutal* is a clear example of this. Therefore whenever he uses this verb *tedutal* in the context of self-investigation we should understand that he is not using it

literally to mean that we should seek some object that we do not already know, but is only using it figuratively to mean that we should 'seek' the perfect clarity of true non-dual self-knowledge by keenly scrutinising our own ever self-conscious essence, 'I am'.

Other words that he used to describe this extremely simple practice of self-investigation include the Tamil nouns araycchi and usa, which both mean a close and subtle investigation or scrutiny, their verbal forms araytal and usavutal, which mean investigating, examining or scrutinising keenly, the Tamil term summa iruppadu, which means 'just being', the Sanskrit term atma-nishtha, which means self-abidance or being firmly established as our own real self, atma-chintana, which means self-contemplation or 'thinking of self', svarupa-dhyana, which means self-meditation or self-attentiveness, svarupa-smarana, which means self-remembrance, ahamukham, which means facing 'I', looking towards 'I' or attending to 'I', and atma-anusandhana, which in Sanskrit means self-investigation or close inspection of ourself, and which in Tamil is also used in the sense of self-contemplation. These and other words that he used all denote the same simple practice of focusing our entire attention upon ourself, that is, upon our essential self-conscious being, our fundamental consciousness 'I am', in order to know who or what we really are.

The practice of *atma-vichara* or self-investigation is therefore just a calm and peaceful focusing of our entire attention upon the innermost core of our being, and hence it is the same practice that in other mystical traditions is known as contemplation or recollection – recollection, that is, not so much in the sense of remembering, as in the sense of re-collecting or gathering back our scattered attention from all other things by withdrawing it into its natural centre and source, which is our own innermost being – our true and essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Whereas attending to anything other than ourself is an activity, a movement or directing of our attention away from ourself towards something else, attending to ourself is not an activity or movement, but is a motionless retention of our attention within ourself. Since we

ourself are consciousness or attention, keeping our attention centred upon ourself is allowing it to rest in its natural abode. Self-attention is thus a state of just being, and not doing anything. It is consequently a state of perfect repose, serenity, stillness, calm and peace, and as such one of supreme and unqualified happiness.

Because the practice of self-investigation is thus a state of just being, a state in which our attention does not do anything but simply remains as it really is – as the perfect clarity of our natural non-dual self-consciousness – rather than describing self-investigation as 'self-attention' we could more accurately describe it as 'self-attentiveness'. That is, it is truly not a state of actively attending or 'paying' attention to ourself, but is instead a state of just being passively attentive or conscious of our own essential being.

Since we are in reality nothing other than absolutely and eternally clear self-conscious being, when we practise this art of just being self-attentive or self-conscious, we are merely practising being ourself – being our real self, being what we really are, or as Sri Ramana often used to describe it, simply being as we are.

Now let us consider the path of self-surrender. In this context what exactly does the word 'surrender' mean, what is the self that we are to surrender, and how can we surrender it?

In a spiritual context, the word 'surrender' means yielding, letting go, relinquishing everything, giving up all forms of attachment, renouncing all our personal desires, abandoning our own individual will, resigning ourself to the will of God, and submitting ourself entirely to him. Since the root of all our desires and attachments is our finite self – our sense of being a separate individual person – we can surrender all our desires and attachments completely and effectively only by surrendering this finite self. We cannot truly let go of everything that we consider to be 'mine' until we let go of everything that we consider to be 'I'.

The self that we are to surrender is therefore our false finite self, our mind or ego. Since this individual self is a mere illusion, which arises due to our imagining ourself to be something that we are not, we can surrender it only by knowing our true self as it really is. If we

clearly know what we really are, we will be unable to imagine ourself to be anything else. Therefore, as soon as we know our true self, we will automatically give up or surrender all the false notions that we now have about ourself. We can therefore truly surrender our false imaginary self only by knowing our real self.

The state of surrender is the state in which we do not attach ourself to anything or identify ourself with anything. Of all our attachments, the most fundamental is our attachment to our body, because we mistake it to be ourself. Our mind or separate individual consciousness can rise only by identifying a particular body as 'I', so all our experience of duality or multiplicity is rooted in our identification of ourself with a body. Without first attaching ourself to a body, we cannot attach ourself to anything else. Therefore, in order to give up all attachment, we must give up our attachment to our body.

We are attached to our body because we mistake it to be ourself, and we mistake it to be ourself only because we do not have a clear knowledge of what we really are. If we knew what we really are, we could not mistake ourself to be what we are not. Conversely, until we know what we really are, we will be unable to free ourself from all the mistaken notions that we now have about ourself. Hence, so long as we continue to lack a clear and correct knowledge of ourself, we will continue to mistake ourself to be what we are not.

Therefore we cannot surrender ourself entirely without first knowing our real self, that is, without actually experiencing our real nature or essential being. In other words, in order to surrender our false individual self, we must focus our entire attention upon our essential being in order to know what we really are. Thus self-investigation is the only effective means by which we can surrender ourself entirely.

Therefore in the thirteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana defines true self-surrender by saying:

Being completely absorbed in *atma-nishtha* [self-abidance, the state of just being as we really are], giving not even the slightest room to the rising of any thought other than *atma-chintana* [the

thought of our own real self], is giving ourself to God. ...

The term *atma-chintana* literally means 'self-thought' or 'thought of ourself', but could perhaps be better translated as 'self-contemplation', because in this context the word *chintana* or 'thought' does not actually mean 'thought' in the sense of a mental activity. Our mind is active only when we attend to anything other than ourself, and all its activity will therefore cease when we try to 'think' only of ourself. Thus 'self-thought' or 'self-contemplation' is not actually an act of thinking, but is only a perfectly inactive state of thought-free self-attentiveness or self-consciousness.

That is, when we try to 'think' of ourself, our attention will be withdrawn from all other thoughts and will remain motionlessly focused on ourself. Thus by 'thinking' of ourself exclusively we will avoid giving room to the rising of any other thought, and thereby we will remain calmly absorbed in self-abidance, the thought-free state of just being our own real self. Since in this state of clear self-attentiveness or firm self-abidance we do not rise as the separate thinking consciousness that we call our 'mind' or 'individual self', this is the state of complete self-surrender.

All action or 'doing', including our basic action of thinking or knowing thoughts, is a result of our failure to surrender our false individual self. We feel that we are thinking and doing other things only because we imagine ourself to be this thinking mind and this doing body.

That is, so long as we identify ourself with our body, speech or mind, we will feel that the actions of these instruments are being done by us. Everything that we experience ourself doing, 'I am walking', 'I am talking', 'I am seeing', 'I am hearing', 'I am thinking', 'I am feeling', 'I am knowing' and so on, is an effect of our identification of ourself with our body, speech, senses, emotions and mind.

All our actions and all our dualistic knowledge arise only because we identify ourself with these instruments of action and knowledge – this entire body-mind complex. Therefore, so long as we feel that we are doing anything or knowing anything other than our own essential

self-conscious being, 'I am', we have not surrendered our attachment to this body-mind complex, or to our individual self, which identifies this complex as 'I'.

Since complete and perfect surrender is the state in which we have entirely renounced our individual self, and thus all connection with its body and mind, it is a state devoid of any action and any knowledge of duality. That which feels 'I am doing' or 'I am knowing' is not our real self, but only our false individual self. The nature of our real self is just to be, and not to do or know anything other than itself. Therefore, if we have truly surrendered our finite individual self, we will remain as mere being, and will not feel that we are doing anything or knowing anything other than our own self-conscious being. The state of true surrender is therefore a state of just being, and not a state of doing anything.

Since perfect surrender is only the state of just being, the means to attain that state must also be just being. The practice of self-surrender is therefore the cultivation of the skill just to be, and not to be this or that. How can we cultivate this skill? According to the principles upon which the path of self-surrender is based, we can cultivate it by surrendering our individual will to the will of God, that is, by giving up all our own personal desires, because our desires are the power that impels us to do actions, and that thereby prevents us from just being.

By cultivating the attitude 'Thy will be done; not my will, but only thine', we will be able gradually to reduce the strength of our own individual will – our likes and dislikes, our desires, attachments and aversions – and thus we will begin to deprive our mind of the force or power that impels it to be active. The more we are able to reduce the power of our individual will, the more our mind will subside, and the closer we will come to the state of just being.

In order for us to surrender ourself completely, we must give up all our desires. But is it possible for us to remain completely free of desire? Is it not natural for us to be always driven by some form of desire? Can we not surrender ourself to God simply by giving up all our selfish desires, and replacing them with unselfish desires?

We can answer this last question only by understanding what we mean by an unselfish desire. Some people believe that if they are concerned only for the welfare of others, and that if they sacrifice all their own personal comforts and conveniences and dedicate all their time and money to helping other people, they are thereby acting unselfishly and without any personal desire. However, even if we are able to act in such an 'unselfish' manner, which few if any of us are actually able to do, what actually impels us to do so?

If we are perfectly honest with ourself, we will have to admit that we act 'unselfishly' for our own satisfaction. We feel good in ourself when we act 'unselfishly', and therefore acting in this way makes us feel happy. Hence our desire to be happy is what ultimately and truly motivates us to act 'unselfishly'. There is therefore truly no such thing as an absolutely 'unselfish' desire, because underlying even the most unselfish desire is our fundamental desire to be happy.

We all desire to be happy. However, because we each have our own personal understanding of what makes us happy, we each seek happiness in our own individual way. All our actions, whether good or bad, moral or immoral, virtuous or sinful, saintly or evil, are motivated only by our desire for happiness. Whatever we may do, and whatever effort we may make, we cannot avoid having the desire to be happy, because that desire is inherent in our very being.

Is it then impossible for us to be completely free of all desire? Yes, it is, or at least in a certain sense it is. If by the word 'desire' we mean our basic liking to be happy, then yes, it is impossible for us ever to be free from it. However, our liking to be happy exists in two forms, one of which is correctly called 'love' and the other of which is correctly called 'desire'. What then is the difference between our love to be happy and our desire to be happy?

'Love' is the only suitable word that we can use to describe the liking to be happy that is inherent in our very being. Happiness is truly not anything extraneous to us, but is our very being, our own real self. Our liking for happiness is therefore in essence just our love for our own real self.

We all love ourself, but we cannot say that we desire ourself.

Desire is always for something other than ourself. We desire things that are other than ourself because we wrongly imagine that we can derive happiness from them. We can therefore use the word 'love' to describe our liking to be happy when we do not seek happiness in anything outside ourself, but when we seek happiness outside ourself, our natural love to be happy takes the form of desire.

Therefore we can be completely free of desire only when our natural love of happiness is directed towards nothing other than our own essential being. We will never be able to free ourself from the bondage of desire until we replace all our desire to acquire happiness from other things with an all-consuming love to experience happiness only in ourself. In other words, we can transform all our finite desires into pure and infinite love only by diverting our liking for happiness away from all other things towards our own essential being.

The obstacle that prevents us from surrendering ourself entirely is our desire to obtain happiness from anything other than ourself. But how does such desire arise in the first place? If our love just to be is our real nature, how have we forgotten such love and fallen a prey to the vultures of our desires?

So long as we remain as our infinite consciousness of being, which is what we truly always are, we can experience nothing other than ourself. In such a state nothing exists for us to desire, and therefore we are perfectly peaceful and happy in ourself. But as soon as we rise as the finite body-bound consciousness that we call our 'mind' or 'individual self', we separate ourself seemingly from the happiness that we truly are, and we experience things that seem to be other than ourself. Having separated ourself from our own real self, which is infinite happiness and for which we therefore naturally have infinite love, we are overwhelmed by desire to regain that happiness.

However, because we have forgotten what we really are, and because we see our own self as the many objects of this world, we are confused and imagine that we can obtain the happiness we desire from those objects. Due to the illusory appearance of duality or otherness, we experience both our natural happiness and our natural

love for that happiness as two pairs of opposites, pleasure and pain, and desire and aversion. That is, we imagine that certain things give us pleasure or happiness, and that other things cause us pain or suffering, and therefore we feel desire for those things that seem to give us happiness, and aversion for those things that seem to make us unhappy.

Thus the root cause of all our desire is our forgetfulness or ignorance of our own real self. When we ignore our true and infinite being, we imagine ourself to be a false and finite individual, and therefore we experience things that seem to be other than ourself, and feel desire for them, thinking that they can give us the happiness that we seem to have lost. Since our imaginary self-ignorance is the sole cause of all our desires, we can free ourself from them only by regaining our natural state of true self-knowledge.

Until we regain our true self-knowledge, we cannot remain free of desire. We may be able to replace our 'bad' desires by 'good' desires, but by doing so we will only be replacing our iron chains with golden ones. Whether the chains that bind us are made of iron or of gold, we will still be bound by them. Therefore, in order to experience true and perfect freedom, we must give up all our desires, both our base desires and our noble desires, which we can do only by knowing ourself as we really are.

Since we can achieve true and complete self-surrender only by experiencing non-dual self-knowledge, why is the path of self-surrender generally associated with dualistic devotion to God? Though Sri Ramana taught that we can surrender ourself completely only by knowing our real self, even he often described self-surrender in terms of dualistic devotion, and he did so for a very good reason.

In the thirteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, for example, when defining true self-surrender as the state of thought-free self-abidance, he describes it as "giving ourself to God", and he goes on to explain the practice of self-surrender in terms of dualistic devotion to God:

Being completely absorbed in self-abidance, giving not even the slightest room to the rising of any thought other than selfcontemplation, is giving ourself to God. Even though we place whatever amount of burden upon God, that entire amount he will bear. Since one *paramesvara sakti* [supreme power of God] is driving all activities [that is, since it is causing and controlling everything that happens in this world], why should we always think, 'it is necessary [for me] to act in this way; it is necessary [for me] to act in that way', instead of being [calm, peaceful and happy] having yielded [ourself together with our entire burden] to that [supreme controlling power]? Though we know that the train is carrying all the burdens, why should we who travel in it suffer by carrying our small luggage on our head instead of leaving it placed on that [train]?

Why does Sri Ramana explain self-surrender in such dualistic terms? The necessity to surrender ourself arises only when we mistake ourself to be a finite individual, and in this state we experience all duality as if it were real. As we saw in chapter four, so long as we feel ourself to be a finite person or individual consciousness, the world and God both exist as entities that are separate from us. God as a separate being is as real as our own separate individuality. Because we have limited ourself as a finite individual, the infinite love and power which is our own real self appears to us to be separate from us, and therefore we give it the name 'God'. It is this power of our own real self that Sri Ramana describes here as the "one *paramesvara sakti*", the one 'supreme-God-power' or 'supreme ruling power'.

Everything that happens in this world happens only by the 'will of God', that is, by the love of this one supreme ruling power. Since God is all-knowing, nothing can happen without him knowing it. Since he is all-powerful, nothing can happen without his consent. And since he is all-loving, nothing can happen that is not for the true benefit of all concerned (even though our limited human intellect may be unable to understand how each happening is truly good and beneficial). In fact, since he is the source and totality of all the power that we see manifest in this universe, every single activity or happening here is impelled, driven and controlled by him. As an ancient Tamil proverb says, "avan arul andri or anuvum asaiyadu", which means 'except by his grace, not even an atom moves'.

Since God is therefore bearing the entire burden of this universe, he can perfectly well bear any burden that we may place upon him. But what exactly do we mean when we speak of placing our burden upon him, and how can we do so? We all feel that we have some cares and responsibilities, but since God is responsible for everything, and since he is taking perfectly good care of everything, the truth is that we need not take any care or responsibility upon ourself.

Our only responsibility is to surrender ourself to him – that is, to yield our individual will to his divine will, which simply means to give up all our personal desires, fears, likes and dislikes, and thereby to leave all our cares and worries in his perfectly capable hands. If we surrender our individual will in this manner, he will take perfect care of us and will bear all our responsibilities.

However, our surrender does have to be sincere. We should not delude ourself by thinking we have surrendered to him, and then indulging in irresponsible behaviour. If we have truly surrendered our individual will to him, he will prompt our mind, speech and body to act in an appropriate fashion in every situation. But so long as we have any lurking desires, any likes or dislikes, we have to accept responsibility for any of our actions that result from such desires. However, even if we have not yet been able to relinquish all our desires, so long as we sincerely want to surrender to his will and make every effort to do so, we can be sure that he will guide our actions and safeguard us from falling a prey to the delusion 'I have surrendered myself to God'.

If we do think 'I have surrendered myself to God', we have still retained our individual 'I', so our so-called 'surrender' is merely a self-deception. When we have truly surrendered ourself to him, we will not exist as an individual to think anything. We will have lost ourself in the all-consuming fire of true self-knowledge, and therefore we will only remain as mere being.

Until such time, we should conduct ourself with perfect humility, both inwardly and outwardly, and we should never imagine that we have gained any sort of spiritual achievement. So long as we are aware of any otherness or duality – anything other than our mere consciousness of our own being – we are still mistaking ourself to be a finite individual, and hence we should understand that we have not truly surrendered ourself or gained any worthwhile spiritual achievement.

Avoiding any form of pride or self-delusion is an integral part of self-surrender. True self-surrender is total self-denial. As individuals we are nothing, and should understand ourself to be nothing. Without the aid of God we are absolutely powerless to do anything, even to surrender ourself to him. Therefore if we truly wish to surrender to him, we should pray for his aid, and should depend upon him entirely to safeguard us from the self-deceptive rising of ego and pride.

However, knowing our powerlessness and worthlessness, we should not feel dejected. As a finite, confused and self-deluded mind, we truly cannot do anything to attain true self-knowledge, but why should we even imagine that we need to do anything? Our responsibility is not to do anything, but just to be. In order to be, we must reject our mind along with its sense of doership, and simply surrender ourself to the supreme power of love that we call 'God'. If we have even the slightest wish to surrender ourself thus, he will give us all the aid that is necessary to make our surrender complete.

In truth, even the iota of liking to surrender ourself that we now have has been given to us by him, and having given us this small taste of true love for the infinite being that is himself, he will not cheat us by failing to nurture this seed of love that he has planted in our heart. Having planted this seed, he will surely nurture it and ensure that it grows to fruition – the state in which we are wholly consumed by our love for absolute being.

Therefore whenever we feel dejected, knowing how feeble is our love for just being, and how half-hearted are our attempts to surrender ourself, we should console ourself by praying to God in the manner shown to us by Sri Ramana in verse 60 of *Sri Arunachala Aksharamanamalai*:

Having shown to me, who am devoid of [true] love [for you], [a

taste of] desire [for you], bestow your grace without cheating [me], O Arunachala.

Sri Ramana has composed many prayers like this showing us how we should be seech God to help us in our efforts to attain the state of just being, because prayer is an important part of the process of self-surrender. God of course does not need to be told by us that we require his help, but that is not the true purpose of prayer. The purpose of prayer is to enkindle in our heart a sense of total dependence upon God. Since we cannot surrender ourself and attain the state of being merely by our own effort, we must learn to depend entirely upon God, because he alone can enable us to surrender ourself completely to him.

Moreover, since God exists in the core of our being as the core of our being, that is, as our own true self, whenever we pray to him, we need not think of him as some far-off being up in heaven, but can address our prayers to him directly within ourself, and thus we can make prayer one more opportunity to turn our attention towards our own innermost being.

All the help that we need to enable us to attain the state of just being is available to us in our own heart, that is, in the core of our being, which is the true abode of God, the supreme power of love. To obtain all the divine aid or grace that we need, we need not look anywhere other than in our own heart, our real self or essential being. All our efforts, prayers and attention should therefore be directed inwards, towards our own being.

This truth is clearly implied by Sri Ramana in verse 8 of *Upadesa Undivar*:

Rather than *anya-bhava*, *ananya-bhava* [with the conviction] 'he is I' is indeed best among all [forms of meditation].

In this context *bhava* means 'meditation', but also has the added connotation of 'opinion', 'attitude' or 'outlook', and *anya* means 'other', whereas *ananya* means 'non-other'. Thus the meaning implied by *anya-bhava* is meditation upon God considering him to be other than oneself, whereas that implied by *ananya-bhava* is

meditation upon God considering him to be not other than oneself. This meaning of *ananya-bhava* is further emphasised by the words 'he is I', which are placed in apposition to it.

Therefore in whatever manner we may practise devotion to God, it is always better to consider him to be our own real self, rather than considering him to be other than ourself. The benefit of developing the attitude that God is our own real self or innermost being, and meditating upon him, worshipping him or praying to him accordingly is explained by Sri Ramana in verse 9 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

By the strength of [such] meditation [or attitude], being [abiding or remaining] in the state of being, which transcends [all] meditation, is alone the true state of supreme devotion.

So long as we consider God to be other than ourself, whenever we think of him our attention will be directed outwards, away from ourself, but when we consider him to be our own real self or essential being, 'I am', whenever we think of him our attention will be directed inwards, towards the innermost core of our being. When our attention is directed away from ourself, our mind is active, but when our attention turns back to the core of our being, our mind becomes motionless and thereby subsides in the state of being, which transcends all thought or meditation. The state in which we thus remain subsided in the state of being is the true state of supreme devotion, because it is the state in which we have surrendered ourself entirely to God, who is our own essential being.

This state of just being, in which our mind or individual self has completely subsided, is not only the pinnacle of true devotion or love, but is also the ultimate goal and fulfilment of the other three spiritual paths, the paths of desireless action, union and knowing, as affirmed by Sri Ramana in verse 10 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

Being [firmly established as our real self] having subsided in [our] rising-place [the core of our being, which is the source from which we had risen as our mind], that is *karma* and *bhakti*, that is *yoga* and *jñana*.

Though it is our mind that sets out to practise any of the four

'paths' or types of spiritual endeavour, namely the path of *karma* or action performed without desire for any reward, the path of *bhakti* or devotion, the path of *yoga* or union, and the path of *jñana* or knowing, our mind is in fact the only obstacle that stands in the way of our achieving the goal of these four paths. Therefore the final end of each of these paths can only be reached when our mind, which struggles to practise them, finally subsides in the state of being, which is the source from which it had originally risen. Thus complete self-surrender is the true goal of all forms of spiritual practice.

Even self-investigation, which is the true path of knowing or *jñana*, is necessary only because we have not yet surrendered ourself completely. Since the correct practice of self-investigation is not doing anything, but is just being, we cannot practise it correctly without surrendering ourself — our 'doing' self or thinking mind. Conversely, since we cannot effectively surrender our false finite self without knowing what we really are, the correct practice of self-surrender is to keenly scrutinise ourself and thereby to subside in the state of just being. Thus in practice self-investigation and self-surrender are inseparable from each other, like the two sides of a single sheet of paper.

When we try to surrender ourself, we have to be extremely vigilant to ensure that our mind or individual self does not surreptitiously rise to think of anything. Since our mind rises only when we think of or attend to anything other than ourself, we can prevent it from rising only by vigilantly attending to the source from which it rises, which is our own real self.

When we thus attend vigilantly to our own innermost being, we will be able to detect our mind at the very moment it rises, and thus we will be able to crush its rising instantaneously. In fact, if we are vigilantly self-attentive, our mind will not be able to rise at all, because it actually rises only on account of our slackness in self-attention.

To return once again to our discussion of the thirteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, in the third sentence Sri Ramana asks, "Since one

paramesvara sakti is driving all activities, why should we always think, 'it is necessary [for me] to act in this way; it is necessary [for me] to act in that way', instead of being having yielded to that?". Besides what we have discussed already, there are two more important points to note in this sentence.

Firstly, when he asks us why we should think that we need to do this or that, the meaning he implies is not only that it is unnecessary for us to do anything, but also that it is unnecessary for us to think anything. If we truly believe that God is doing everything, and is always taking care of every living being, including ourself, we will have the confidence to place upon him the burden of thinking for us, and thus we will be freed of the burden of thinking anything for ourself.

If we really surrender ourself entirely to God, he will take full control of our mind, speech and body, and will make them act in whatever way is appropriate in all situations. Only when we thus cease to think anything will our surrender to God be complete.

Secondly, the words that I have translated as "instead of being having yielded to that" are very significant, because they are an apt description of what real self-surrender is. In the original Tamil, the words used by Sri Ramana are *adarku adangi iramal*. The word *adarku* means 'to that' or 'to it', that is, to the one *paramesvara sakti* or 'supreme ruling power'. The word *adangi* is a past participle that means not only 'having yielded', but also having subsided, settled, shrunk, laid down, submitted, been subdued, become still, ceased or disappeared. The word *iramal* means 'without being' or 'instead of being'. Thus the meaning implied by these words is that true self-surrender is a state of just being, that is, a state in which we remain as mere being, having yielded or submitted ourself to God, and having thereby subsided, settled down and become still, and having in fact ceased altogether to exist as a separate individual.

As we saw earlier, God is our own real self, and he appears to be separate from us only because we have limited ourself as a finite individual consciousness. In other words, as soon as we delude ourself into imagining that we are a finite individual, our own real

self manifests as God, the power that guides and controls our entire life as an individual, and that thereby gradually leads us back towards our natural state of true self-knowledge.

However, God is not the only form in which our real self manifests to guide us back to itself. At a certain stage in our spiritual development, our real self also manifests as *guru*, and in this form it reveals to us through spoken or written words the truth that we ourself are infinite being, consciousness and happiness, and that to experience ourself as such we should scrutinise ourself and thereby surrender our false individual self. When we have once heard or read this truth revealed by our real self in the form of *guru*, and if we have been genuinely attracted by this truth, we have truly come under the influence of *guru*, and we are therefore well on our way to reaching our final goal of true self-knowledge.

This state in which we have come under the influence of *guru* is described by Sri Ramana in the twelfth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* as being caught or ensnared in the 'glance of *guru*'s grace':

God and *guru* are in truth not different. Just as that [prey] which has been caught in the jaws of a tiger will not return, so those who have been caught in the glance of *guru*'s grace will surely be saved by him and will never instead be forsaken; nevertheless, it is necessary [for them] to proceed [behave or act] unfailingly according to the path that *guru* has shown.

Though the real *guru* outwardly appears to be a human being, he is in fact God in human form, manifested as such in order to give us the spiritual teachings that are necessary to prompt us to turn our mind towards the source from which it had risen, and thereby to subside and merge in that source for ever. Or to explain the same truth in another manner, since the person who had previously occupied the body in which *guru* is manifested had surrendered himself entirely to God and had thereby been consumed in the fire of true self-knowledge, that which remains and functions through that body is only God himself. Therefore that which speaks, sees, hears and acts through the human form in which *guru* is manifested is not a finite individual, but is the infinite power of love and true

knowledge that we otherwise call God.

This absolute oneness of God, *guru* and our own real self is the true significance of the Christian Trinity, as explained by Sri Ramana. God the Father is God as the power that governs this whole universe and the life of each individual in it, God the Son is *guru*, and God the Holy Spirit is our own real self. Though in the limited and distorted outlook of our mind they appear to be three distinct entities or 'persons', God, *guru* and self are in reality the one infinite and indivisible being.

Though the word *guru* is used in many different contexts and may therefore mean a teacher of any ordinary art, science or skill, in a spiritual context it correctly denotes only the *sadguru*, the 'real *guru*' or 'being-*guru*', that is, the *guru* who is *sat*, the reality or true being of each one of us. Though there are many people who claim to be spiritual *gurus*, the true spiritual *guru* is very rare, and hence in a spiritual context the term *guru* should only be applied to those rare beings like Buddha, Sri Krishna, Christ, Adi Sankara, Sri Ramakrishna and Sri Ramana, who have a clear divine mission to reveal to us the path to attain true self-knowledge. No such real *guru* will ever claim to be the *guru*, either explicitly or implicitly, because the real *guru* is totally devoid of ego, and therefore knows himself only as 'I am' and not as 'I am God' or 'I am *guru*'.

Once we are caught in the influence of the real *guru*, we are like the prey that has been caught in the jaws of a tiger. Just as a tiger will unfailingly devour the prey it has caught, so *guru* will unfailingly devour us, destroying our mind or individual consciousness, and thereby absorbing us into himself, that is, making us one with our own true and essential being, which is what he really is.

However, Sri Ramana adds a cautionary note, saying that though *guru* will surely save us in this manner, and will never forsake us, we should nevertheless unfailingly follow the path that he has shown us. In the clause "it is necessary to proceed unfailingly according to the path that *guru* has shown", the original Tamil word that I have translated as 'to proceed' is *nadakka*, which means to walk, go,

proceed or behave, and therefore it implies that we should conduct ourself or act in accordance with his teachings, or in other words, we should unfailingly practise the twin path of self-investigation and self-surrender that he has taught us.

The purpose of the manifestation of our real self in the human form of *guru* is to teach us the means by which we can attain salvation, which is the state of true self-knowledge. It did not manifest itself as *guru* merely for us to worship him as God, expecting him to bestow upon us any finite benefit or happiness either in this world or some other world.

The function of *guru* is the ultimate function of God, which is to destroy for ever our illusion of individuality – our delusion that we are the body and mind that we now imagine ourself to be – and he performs this function by teaching us that we should turn our attention inwards, towards our innermost being, in order to know our real self and thereby surrender our false individual self. Therefore, if we truly wish to be saved from our own self-imposed delusion, we must unfailingly do as *guru* has taught us, making every possible effort to attend to our essential being, 'I am', and thereby to surrender our finite self in the infinity of that being or 'am'-ness.

The grace of God or *guru* is always providing us all the help we need to follow this spiritual path, but we must take full advantage of that help by turning our mind inwards and thereby remaining in our natural state of just being, which is the true state of self-investigation and self-surrender. God or *guru* is always bestowing grace upon us by shining within us as 'I am', but we must reciprocate that grace or love by attending to 'I am'.

The reason why we have not yet attained salvation is that we continue to ignore the true form of grace, which ever shines within us as 'I am'. As Sri Ramana says in verse 966 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*:

Since *ulladu* [the absolute reality, 'being' or 'that which is'] alone is [the true form of] *tiruvarul* [divine grace], which rises [clearly and prominently within each one of us] as *ullam* [our 'heart', 'core' or essential consciousness 'am'], the fault of

ignoring [or disregarding] 'that which is' is suited [to be considered as a defect that belongs] only to individuals, who do not unceasingly think [remember or attend to this grace, which shines lovingly as 'am'], inwardly melting [with love for it]. Instead, how can the fault of not bestowing sweet grace be [considered as a defect that belongs] to [God or *guru*, who is] 'that which is'?

Being ungracious, unloving, unkind or unhelpful is a fault that can be blamed only upon us individuals, who ignore and disregard the infinite and absolute reality – *ulladu*, 'being' or 'that which is' – which shines within us effulgently as 'am' or 'I am', and not upon God or *guru*, who is that reality. God or *guru* never ignores us, but constantly shines within us as our own being or 'am'-ness, beckoning us lovingly to turn within and merge in him. However, though he is always making himself so easily available to us, we choose to ignore him constantly and to attend instead to our thoughts about our petty life as an individual in this imaginary world.

For us to attain salvation, only two things are necessary, the grace of God or *guru* and our own willingness to submit to that grace. Of these two indispensable ingredients, the former is always abundantly available, and only the latter is lacking. Until we are perfectly willing to surrender and lose our individuality, God or *guru* will never force us, but he will be constantly nurturing the seed of such willingness or love in our heart, helping it to grow until one day it consumes us.

Therefore, though *guru* will certainly save us and will never forsake us, it is essential that we should do our part, which is to submit ourself willingly to his grace, which is the perfect clarity of our own fundamental self-consciousness – our absolutely non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'. The only way we can thus submit or surrender ourself to his grace is to 'think of' or constantly attend to our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', melting inwardly with overwhelming love for it. Sincerely attempting to surrender ourself in this manner is what Sri Ramana meant when he said, "Nevertheless, it is necessary to proceed unfailingly according

to the path that guru has shown".

In order to know our own real self, which is absolute, infinite, eternal and undivided being-consciousness-bliss or *sat-chit-ananda*, we must be willing to surrender or renounce our false finite self. And in order to surrender our false self, we must be wholly consumed by an overwhelming love to know and to be our own real self or essential being.

So long as we feel complacent about our present condition, in which we have imaginarily limited ourself as this finite mind and body, we will lack the intense motivation that we must have in order to be sufficiently willing to surrender our false self. Since we now imagine our mind and body to be ourself, our attachment to them is very strong, and hence we will not be willing to surrender this attachment unless we are very strongly motivated to do so.

Our attachment to our mind and body is so strong that it induces us to delude ourself into a deceptive state of complacency, making us feel that our present condition is not as intolerable as it really is. Rather than recognising the fact that the deep dissatisfaction that we feel with our present condition as a finite body-bound individual consciousness is an inevitable consequence of our imaginary separation of ourself from the infinite happiness that is our own real nature, and that we can therefore never overcome this dissatisfaction by any means other than true self-knowledge – that is, other than experiencing ourself as the adjunct-free, infinite, undivided and therefore absolutely non-dual real self-consciousness 'I am' – we complacently continue our life as a body-bound individual imagining that we can achieve the happiness that we seek by enjoying the petty transient pleasures that we experience by satisfying any of our countless temporal desires.

This self-deceptive complacency is a serious problem that all true spiritual aspirants experience, and we must overcome it if we truly wish to surrender our false finite self and thereby to know our real infinite self. Since this deep-rooted complacency is an inevitable consequence of our having succumbed to our power of *maya* or self-delusion, which is the power that causes us to imagine ourself to be

this finite body and mind, we normally cannot overcome it unless we experience an intense internal crisis, such as being suddenly confronted by an profound inward fear of death.

Therefore when we reach a certain stage of spiritual maturity, the power of grace will generally induce us to experience some such internal crisis, and when we experience it we will be shocked out of our present sense of complacency and will therefore turn our attention selfwards with intense love to know what we really are.

In the life of Sri Ramana such an internal crisis occurred in the form of the sudden intense fear of death that he experienced when he was a sixteen-year-old boy. As we saw in the introduction to this book, this intense fear prompted him to turn his attention inwards to discover whether he was really the body, which is subject to death. So intensely did he focus his attention upon his innermost being — his essential self-consciousness 'I' — that he experienced it with perfect clarity, and thus he came to know from his own direct experience that he was not the mortal body but was only the immortal, eternal and infinite spirit, which is absolutely non-dual being, consciousness and bliss.

Sri Ramana describes this experience of his in the second of the two verses of the *mangalam* or 'auspicious introduction' to *Ulladu Narpadu*:

Those mature people who have intense fear of death will take refuge at the feet of God, who is devoid of death and birth, [depending upon him] as [their protective] fortress. By their surrender, they experience death [the death or dissolution of their finite self]. Will those who are deathless [having died to their mortal self, and having thereby become one with the immortal spirit] approach the death-thought [or thought of death] [ever again]?

Though the Tamil word *am* literally means either 'those' or 'beauty', I have translated it here as 'those mature', because in this context the beauty that it denotes is the true beauty of spiritual maturity, which is the truly desirable condition in which our mind has been cleansed of most of its impurities – namely its cruder forms

of desire – and is therefore ready to surrender itself entirely to God.

The fear of death is naturally inherent in all living beings, but it usually remains in a dormant form because we spend most of our time thinking about our life in this world and hence we seldom think about death. Even when some external event or some internal thought reminds us that we will sooner or later die, our fear of death seldom becomes intense, because the thought of death prompts us to think of the things in our life to which we are most strongly attached.

However, though it usually remains in a dormant form, our fear of death is in fact the greatest, most fundamental and most deep-rooted of all our fears. We fear death because it appears to us to be a state of non-existence – a state in which we ourself will cease to exist, or at least cease to exist as we now know ourself. Since we love our own being or existence more than we love any other thing, we fear to lose our own being or existence more than we fear any other thing. In other words, our fear of death is rooted in our self-love – our basic love for our own essential self or being.

The reason why we love our own self or being is that we ourself are happiness. Because by our very nature we love happiness, and because happiness is in fact our own being, we cannot avoid loving our own being or existence, and hence we cannot avoid fearing the loss or destruction of our being or existence. Therefore so long as we experience ourself as a physical body – that is, so long as we confuse our existence with the existence of a mortal body – we cannot avoid having a deep-rooted fear of death.

Hence the fear of death will always exist in us until we truly decide to free ourself from our self-created illusion that we are a mortal body. Because we imagine ourself to be this body, we are unavoidably attached to it, and therefore we fear to lose it. However, though we all know that one day our body will die, and that death can come at any time, our power of *maya* or self-delusion lulls us into a state of complacency, making us imagine that death is far away, or that we do not really fear death.

Though we may imagine that we do not fear death, if our life is put in sudden danger, we will certainly respond with intense fear.

However, as soon as the immediate danger is past, our fear will subside and we will continue our life in our usual state of self-deceptive complacency.

Though we experience intense fear of death whenever the life of our body is in extreme danger, the intensity of that fear is short-lived. It is not sustained because when we are confronted with death we react by thinking of our loved ones, our friends, our material possessions, our status in life and other such external things to which we are attached, and which we consequently fear to lose.

Even our religious beliefs can be a means by which we sustain the comfort of our complacency. If we believe, for example, that after the death of our body we will go to some other world called heaven, where we will be reunited with all our loved ones and friends, and where we will live with them an eternal life free from all suffering, that belief will help us to ward off our fear of death. Even if we have some less optimistic belief about life after death, so long as our belief is sufficiently comforting, as most such beliefs are, it will help us to feel complacent about the certainty of death.

So long as we lack true spiritual maturity or freedom from desire for anything external, the fear of death will impel our mind to rush outwards to think of our life in this world or the next, and due to such thoughts our attention will be diverted away from the thought of death, and thus our fear will lose its intensity. However, when we eventually gain true spiritual maturity, our reaction to the thought of death will be different.

If we are spiritually mature, the intensity of our desire for and attachment to external things, either in this world or the next, will be greatly reduced. Therefore, when we think of death, we will not fear to lose any external thing, but will only fear to lose our own existence or being. Since the last vestiges of our desire and attachment will be centred on our own very existence as an individual, and since we confuse our existence with the existence of whatever body we currently imagine ourself to be, when the thought of the death of our body arises within us, our mind will turn inwards to cling to its own existence or essential being.

This is what happened in the case of Sri Ramana. When the thought of death suddenly arose within him, his reaction was to turn his attention within, towards his own very being, in order to discover whether he himself would die along with the death of his body. Because his attention was focused so keenly on his own essential being or 'am'-ness, he clearly experienced himself without any superimposed adjunct such as his mind or body, and thus he discovered that his real self was not a mortal body or a transient mind, but was only the infinite, eternal, birthless and deathless spirit – the one true non-dual consciousness of being, which always knows 'I am' and nothing other than 'I am'.

In the first sentence of this second *mangalam* verse of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

Those mature people who have intense fear of death will take refuge at the feet of *mahesan* [the 'great Lord'], who is devoid of death and birth, [depending upon him] as [their protective] fortress. ...

This is a poetic way of describing his own experience of self-investigation and self-surrender. Though the word *mahesan*, which literally means the 'great Lord', is a name that usually denotes Lord Siva, the form in which many Hindus worship God, Sri Ramana did not use it in this context to denote any particular form of God, but only as an allegorical description of the birthless and deathless spirit, which always exists in each one of us as our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

No name or form of God is truly devoid of birth or death – appearance or disappearance – because like all other names and forms the various names and forms in which devotees worship God are transitory appearances. They can appear only when our mind has risen to know them, and they disappear when our mind subsides. Therefore in this context the words "the great Lord, who is devoid of death and birth" do not denote merely the *saguna* or qualified aspect of God – that is, God as he is conceived by our finite mind – but only his essential *nirguna* or unqualified aspect – that is, God as he is really, which is the nameless and formless absolute reality, our

own true self-conscious being, which always knows its own existence without ever appearing or disappearing.

However, though in this context Sri Ramana is not actually describing any form of *saguna upasana* or worship of God in name and form, by using the word *mahesan*, which is a personal name of God, he does allude to such worship. This allusion is intentional, because if we worship God in name and form with true heart-melting devotion, our mind will gradually be purified or cleansed of its cruder forms of desire, and thus it will eventually gain the maturity that is required for it to be able to surrender itself entirely to him.

However, no matter how much we may worship God in name and form, we cannot achieve the final goal of the path of devotion, which is the complete surrender of ourself to him, until we turn our attention inwards to worship him in the profound depth of our own heart – in the innermost core of our being – as our own true and essential being. In other words, in order for us to attain the true goal of *saguna upasana* or worship of God in name and form, such worship must eventually flower into *nirguna upasana*, which is the true worship of God as the one nameless and formless absolute reality, which always exists within us as our own essential self-conscious being.

We can experience God as he really is only when we turn our mind inwards – away from all names and forms, which are merely thoughts that we have formed in our mind by our power of imagination – and thereby allow it to dissolve in the absolute clarity of our own true and essential self-conscious being, which is the true 'form' or nature of God. However, in order to turn our mind inwards and thereby surrender it completely in the all-consuming light of God's own true being, we must have overwhelming love for him, and such love is cultivated by the practice of *saguna upasana* or dualistic worship.

However, though the true love that we require in order to be willing to surrender ourself entirely in the absolute clarity of pure self-conscious being, which is the reality of both God and ourself, can be cultivated gradually by the practice of dualistic devotion, the quickest and most effective way to cultivate it is by the practice of non-dualistic devotion – that is, by the practice of self-attentiveness, which is the true adoration of God as our own real self or essential being.

Whether we cultivate the true love or willingness to surrender ourself entirely to the absolute reality, which is the infinite fullness of being that we call 'God', by dualistic devotion or by non-dualistic devotion, once we have cultivated it sufficiently any internal crisis such as an intense fear of death will impel our mind to turn inwards and to sink into the innermost depth of our own being in order to surrender itself entirely to him. Only when our mind thus merges in the source from which it had risen, which is our own true and essential self-conscious being, will its surrender to God become complete.

This complete surrender of our mind or individual self in the innermost depth of our own being is what Sri Ramana describes in this verse by the words "will take refuge at the feet of God, who is devoid of death and birth, [depending upon him] as [their protective] fortress".

In Hindu devotional poetry and literature the adoration of God is often described as bowing to his feet, falling at his feet, clinging to his feet, taking refuge in or at his feet, and so on, because such actions imply humility, devotion and submission. Therefore in Indian languages the term 'feet' has come to be synonymous with God as the ultimate object of worship or adoration.

Moreover, as Sri Ramana often explained, the term 'the feet of God' is an allegorical description of his true state – the egoless and perfectly non-dual state of unalloyed self-conscious being, which always shines within each one of us as 'I am'. In order to remind us that we can experience God as he really is only in the core of our own being, he always emphasised the truth that the 'feet of God' cannot be found outside but only within ourself. On one occasion, when a lady devotee bowed before him and caught hold of his feet saying, "I am clinging to the feet of my guru", he looked at her kindly and said, "Are these the feet of guru? The feet of guru are

that which is always shining within you as 'I I'. Grasp that".

Therefore the words "those mature people will take refuge at the feet of God" mean that they will lovingly subside in the innermost depth of their own being, where they will experience God as their own real self. The only true refuge or fortress which will protect us from the fear of death and every other form of misery is the innermost core of our own being, which is the real abode of God and which, being the foundation that underlies and supports our mind and everything known by it, is figuratively described as his 'feet'.

In the second sentence of this verse Sri Ramana says, "By their surrender, they experience death". The death that they previously feared was the death of their body, but when the fear of that death impels them to take refuge at the 'feet of God', they experience death of an entirely different kind. That is, when they take refuge at the 'feet of God' by subsiding into the innermost depth of their own being, they will experience the absolute clarity of unadulterated self-consciousness, which will swallow their mind just as light swallows darkness.

Our mind or finite individual self is an imagination – a false form of consciousness that experiences itself as a body, which is one of its own imaginary creations. We imagine ourself to be this mind only because we ignore or fail to attend to our own true and essential being. If we knew what we really are, we could not mistake ourself to be any other thing. Hence, since our mind has come into existence because of our imaginary self-ignorance, it will be destroyed by the experience of true self-knowledge.

Therefore when we subside into our 'heart', the innermost core of our own being, where our true self-consciousness shines free from all adjuncts, all thoughts, all imaginations, all duality and all forms of limitation, our mind will disappear in the absolute clarity of that pure self-consciousness, just as an imaginary snake will disappear when we see clearly that what we mistook to be that snake is in fact only a rope. Because our mind is a false knowledge about ourself – an imagination that we are a material body – the experience of true self-knowledge will reveal that it is unreal.

Therefore the death that we will experience when we surrender our false individual self in the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge, which always shines in the innermost core of our being, is the death of our own mind. The death of our body is not a true death, because when our body dies our mind will create for itself another body by its power of imagination. As long as our mind survives, it will continue thus creating for itself one body after another. Hence the only true death is the death of our own mind.

However, though the experience of true self-knowledge is figuratively described as the death or destruction of our mind, we should not imagine that this implies that our mind has ever really existed. The death of our mind is like the 'death' of a snake that we imagine we see in the dim light of night. In the morning when the sun rises, that imaginary snake will disappear, because we will clearly see that it is in fact only a rope. Similarly, in the clear light of true self-knowledge our mind will disappear, because we will clearly recognise that it is in fact only our infinite and non-dual consciousness of our own essential being.

Just as the snake does not really die, because it never actually existed, so our mind will not really die, because it has never actually existed. Its death is real only relative to its present seeming existence. Therefore though in figurative terms the experience of true self-knowledge may be described as the death of our unreal self and as the birth of our real self, in reality it is the state in which we know that our real self alone exists, that it has always existed, and that our mind or unreal self has never truly existed.

In the third and final sentence of this verse Sri Ramana says, "Will those who are deathless approach the death-thought?". Here the word *savadavar*, which means 'those who do not die' or 'those who are deathless', denotes those who have surrendered themself entirely to God, thereby dying as their mind or mortal self, and thus becoming one with the immortal spirit, the infinite and eternal self-consciousness 'I am', which is the true and essential being of both God and ourself.

The rhetorical question 'will they approach the death-thought?' is

an idiomatic way of saying that they will never again experience any thought of death. Death is just a thought, as also is the fear of death. We can think of death and experience fear of it only when we imagine ourself to be a mortal body.

Our body, its birth and its death are all mere thoughts or imaginations. When we imagine that we are this body, we accordingly imagine that we were born at some time in the past and that we will die at some time in the future. Who or what imagines all this? Only our mind imagines these and all other thoughts. If our mind is real, these thoughts are also real, but if we keenly scrutinise our mind to see whether it is real, it will disappear, and only our own essential self-conscious being will remain as the eternal and deathless reality.

Our mind, which imagines the existence of our body, its birth and its death, is itself a mere thought or imagination. It is a phantom that comes into existence only by imagining itself to be a mortal body, and though it will disappear when this body dies, just as it disappears every day in sleep, it will reappear by imagining itself to be some other body, just as it reappears in a dream or on waking from sleep. It will itself die or disappear permanently only when we surrender it in the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge.

Since death is a thought, and even the thinker of death is a thought, the true state of deathlessness or immortality is only the thought-free state of absolutely clear self-conscious being – the state in which our thinking mind has died. When by our complete self-surrender we abide permanently in this egoless and mind-free state of true immortality, we will never again be able to imagine the thought of death or any other thought.

Thus in this verse Sri Ramana describes both the goal and the means to attain that goal. The goal is the state of immortality, in which our thinking, fearing and desiring mind has died, and the means by which we can attain that goal is complete self-surrender, which we can achieve only by subsiding within ourself and taking refuge there in the birthless and deathless absolute reality, which is our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'.

As we have been seeing throughout this chapter, the essence of both self-investigation and self-surrender is just being. So long as we feel ourself to be thinking or doing anything, our attention is not focused entirely upon our own being, and therefore we have not yet surrendered ourself entirely to God.

The essence of all spiritual practice can be summarised in two words, 'just be'. However, though these two words are the most accurate possible description of the only means by which we can attain the infinitely happy experience of true self-knowledge, most of us are unable to understand their full significance, and therefore we wonder how we can just be.

We are so accustomed to doing, and to considering that we cannot achieve anything without doing something, that we tend to think, 'what must I do in order to just be?'. Even if we have understood that being is not doing anything, and that we therefore cannot do anything in order to be, we still wonder how we can refrain from thinking or doing anything.

To save us from all such confusion, Sri Ramana gave us a simple clue to enable us to be without doing anything. That is, he taught us that in order to be without doing anything, all we need 'do' is to focus our entire attention upon ourself, that is, upon our own essential being 'I am'. Though this practice of focusing our attention upon our being may appear to be a 'doing', the only 'doing' that it actually involves is the withdrawing of our attention from all other things, because once our attention is thus withdrawn and allowed to settle on itself, all 'doing' will have ceased and only 'being' will remain.

Moreover, though this withdrawing of our attention from all other things towards our own innermost being may appear to be a 'doing' or action, it is actually not so, because in practice it is just a subsiding and cessation of all activity. That is, since our mind rises and becomes active only by attending to things other than itself, when it withdraws its attention back towards itself, it subsides and all its activity or 'doing' ceases. Thus this clue of self-attention which Sri Ramana has given us is an infallible means by which we

can make our mind subside in our natural state of just being.

This subsiding of our mind in our natural state of being is what is otherwise known as complete self-surrender. True self-surrender is a conscious and voluntary cessation of all mental activity, and what remains when all our distracting thoughts have thus subsided is the clear and undisturbed consciousness of our own true being. Therefore just as self-attentiveness automatically results in self-surrender, so self-surrender automatically results in self-attentiveness, which is the true practice of self-investigation.

In fact, though we speak of self-investigation and self-surrender as if they were two different practices, they are not actually so, but are merely two seemingly different approaches to the same practice, which is the practice of just being – just being, that is, with full consciousness of our being. What exactly do we mean when we describe them thus as different approaches? Though in actual practice they are one and the same, they differ only in their being two different ways of conceptualising and describing the one practice of just being.

Whereas self-investigation is the practice of just being conceived in more strictly philosophical terms, self-surrender is the same practice conceived in more devotional terms. However, this distinction is not a rigid one, because when understood correctly from a deeper and broader perspective, self-investigation and selfsurrender are in fact both based upon the same broad philosophy and are both motivated by the same deep love and devotion.

It is only in the view of people who have a superficial and narrow understanding of philosophy and devotion, and who therefore see them as being fundamentally different viewpoints, that this seeming distinction exists. If however we are able to recognise that philosophy and whole-hearted devotion to the absolute truth are essentially the same thing, we will understand that there is really no difference between self-investigation and self-surrender.

Therefore, since self-investigation and self-surrender are two names given to the same practice of self-attentive being, let us now consider this practice or art of being in greater depth.

CHAPTER 10

The Practice of the Art of Being

The art of being is the skill to remain firmly established in the actionless and therefore thought-free state of perfectly clear self-conscious being, which is the state of absolute self-surrender and true self-knowledge.

Like any other skill, the art of being is cultivated and perfected by practice. The more we practise it, the more we will develop the strength that we require to remain steadily poised in our natural thought-free consciousness of our own essential being.

How much practice each one of us will actually require in order to perfect our skill in this art of being will depend upon the relative degree of our present maturity or ripeness of mind. In the case of Sri Ramana, only a moment of practice was required, because at that time his mind was already perfectly ripe and therefore willing to surrender itself and be consumed in the effulgent light of infinitely clear self-consciousness. However, most of us do not possess even a fraction of such ripeness, so we require long and persistent practice of this art of being in order to develop it.

What do we mean when we speak of ripeness or maturity of mind? Our mind will be spiritually ripe when it has been purified or cleansed of all its desires – all its likes and dislikes, its attachments, its aversions, its fears and so on – and when it has thereby developed the willingness and true love to surrender itself entirely and thus subside peacefully in its own essential self-conscious being or 'am'-ness. Our desires are the obstacles that make us unwilling to surrender ourself to our infinite being, and therefore they are the cause and the form of our unripeness for self-knowledge.

How can we develop the spiritual ripeness that we require in

order to be able to surrender ourself entirely in the state of absolute being? Though there are many means by which we can indirectly and gradually begin to cultivate such ripeness, ultimately we can perfect it only by practising the art of being. All the other countless forms of spiritual practice — such as selfless service, dualistic devotion, ritualistic worship, repetition of a name of God, prayer, meditation, various forms of internal and external self-restraint (including the important virtue of *ahimsa* or 'non-harming', that is, the compassionate avoidance of causing any form of harm or suffering to any living being), the 'eightfold limbs' of *yoga* and so on — are indirect means which can enable us gradually to purify our mind, cleansing it of the grosser forms of its desires and thereby ripening it, but only to a certain extent.

That is, since all spiritual practices other than the art of being involve an extroversion of our mind, a turning of our attention away from ourself towards something else, they can enable us to free ourself effectively only from the grosser forms of our desires and attachments, but not from the more subtle forms. Until and unless we begin to practise the art of being, keeping our attention fixed firmly and exclusively upon our own essential being, as our own essential being, we cannot gain the inward clarity and focus that is required to detect and prevent the rising of our mind and its desires at their very starting point.

How are we thus able to detect and prevent the rising of our mind by practising the art of being? When we practise this art, our attention is fixed upon our essential self-conscious being, which is the source from which our mind arises along with all its most subtle desires, and so long as our attention thus remains vigilantly and firmly fixed on, in and as its source, our mind will be unable to rise.

However, whenever due to even the slightest slackening of our vigilant self-attentiveness we allow our attention to waver and be diverted by any thought, we will thereby rise in the form of our thinking mind. But by repeatedly practising this art of self-attentive being, we will gain the skill to detect any such slackening in our vigilant self-attentiveness at the very moment that it occurs, and thus

we will be able to regain our self-attentiveness instantly and thereby prevent the rising of our mind at the very moment that it occurs.

The more we practise this art of being, the more keen, sharp and clear our self-attentiveness will become, and thereby our skill in the art of crushing the rising of our mind in its very source will steadily increase. Every moment that we succeed in thus vigilantly preventing even the least rising of our mind, the desires that impel it to rise will be steadily weakened, and our love to remain peacefully in our natural state of just being will be proportionately strengthened, until finally it will totally overpower all our remaining and much weakened desires, thereby enabling us to surrender ourself entirely in the infinite clarity of true self-knowledge.

Other than this practice of keenly vigilant self-attentive being, there is no adequate means by which we can weaken and destroy all of our desires, including even our most subtle and therefore most powerful ones. All other spiritual practices involve some sort of activity of our mind, and so long as our mind is active, it will effectively be guarding and protecting all its innermost desires, including its fundamental desire to exist as a separate individual consciousness. By engaging our mind in any activity, we cannot destroy its basic desire for self-preservation, and so long as it retains this basic desire, it will continue to support and nourish it by cultivating other desires.

That is, our mind's desire for self-preservation, which is satisfied and supported by all forms of spiritual practice other than the totally self-denying art of vigilantly self-attentive being, cannot stand on its own, but must be accompanied by some desire or other for something other than itself. This need is satisfied by every other form of spiritual practice, because all such practices provide our mind with something other than itself to attend to – in fact, they force our mind to attend to something other than itself. Therefore no such practice can train our mind to relinquish all of its desires, particularly its desire to preserve its own separate existence.

Some other spiritual practices do force our mind to subside, but such subsidence is only temporary, because it is not accompanied by clear self-attentiveness. Therefore in the eighth paragraph of *Nan*

Yar? Sri Ramana says:

To make the mind subside [permanently], there are no adequate means other than vichara [investigation, that is, the art of selfattentive being]. If restrained by other means, the mind will remain as if subsided, [but] will emerge again. Even by pranayama [breath-restraint], the mind will subside; however, [though] the mind remains subsided so long as the breath remains subsided, when the breath emerges [or becomes manifest] it will also emerge and wander under the sway of [its] vasanas [inclinations, impulses or desires]. The birthplace both of the mind and of the *prana* [the breath or life-force] is one. Thought alone is the svarupa [the 'own form'] of the mind. The thought 'I' alone is the first [or basic] thought of the mind; it alone is the ego. From where the ego arises, from there alone the breath also arises. Therefore when the mind subsides the prana also [subsides], [and] when the prana subsides the mind also subsides. However in sleep, even though the mind has subsided, the breath does not subside. It is arranged thus by the ordinance of God for the purpose of protecting the body, and so that other people do not wonder whether that body has died. When the mind subsides in waking and in samadhi [any of the various types of mental absorption that result from yogic or other forms of spiritual practice], the prana subsides. The prana is said to be the gross form of the mind. Until the time of death the mind keeps the prana in the body, and at the moment the body dies it [the mind] grabs and takes it [the prana] away. Therefore *pranayama* is just an aid to restrain the mind, but will not bring about *mano-nasa* [the annihilation of the mind].

Before going on to discuss the efficacy of other forms of spiritual practice, Sri Ramana begins this paragraph by stating the important truth that "To make the mind subside [permanently], there are no adequate means other than *vichara* [investigation]". Why is this so?

Since the state of true self-knowledge, which is the only state in which the mind will remain permanently subsided, is a state of just being, it cannot be brought about by any action or 'doing', but only by the practice of just being. Since *vichara* or investigation, which is

simply the practice of self-attentiveness, does not involve any action but is just a state of self-conscious being, and since every other form of spiritual practice is an action of one kind or another, *vichara* is the only practice that will enable us to abide in the state of eternal, infinite and absolute being, which is the state of true self-knowledge.

This same truth is also clearly stated by Sri Adi Sankara in verse 11 of *Vivekachudamani*:

Action [karma, which generally means action of any kind whatsoever, but which in this context means specifically any action that is performed for spiritual benefit] is [prescribed only] for [achieving] chitta-suddhi [purification of mind] and not for [attaining] vastu-upalabdhi [direct knowledge or experience of the reality, the true substance or essence, which is absolute being]. The attainment of [this experience of] the reality [can be achieved only] by vichara and not at all by [even] ten million actions.

That is, except *vastu-vichara*, investigation or scrutiny of our essential being or reality, all spiritual practices are actions, and as such they can only serve to purify our mind and thereby make it fit to subside and remain permanently in our own essential being or *vastu*. However, though they can purify our mind to a certain extent, they cannot by themselves enable us to experience our own true being as it really is. In order to experience an absolutely clear knowledge of our being, we must give up all actions or 'doings' and must cultivate perfectly pure love for just being, which we can do only by *vichara*, the practice of self-attentive being.

Therefore, when discussing the efficacy of other forms of spiritual practice in the eighth and ninth paragraphs of *Nan Yar?*, Sri Ramana repeatedly emphasises that they are all only aids that can prepare us for the practice of *vichara* or self-attentive being, but that by themselves they cannot bring about *mano-nasa*, the complete annihilation of our mind, which is the state of true self-knowledge or absolute self-conscious being.

Because the aim of Sri Ramana in the eighth paragraph is to explain the limited value of *pranayama* or breath-restraint, which is

one of the central practices of *yoga*, he explains the principle that underlies *pranayama* in terms of the *yoga* philosophy. It is therefore only from the standpoint of the *yoga* philosophy that he says that the breath does not subside in sleep, that God has arranged it thus in order to protect the body, and that the mind takes away the *prana* at the time of death.

However, from the viewpoint of his principal teachings, we should understand that all this is only relatively true, and is based upon the false belief cherished by most of us that the body and world exist independent of our mind. According to the truth revealed and explained by him on countless occasions, our body and the world exist only in the imagination of our own mind, like the body and world that we experience in a dream, and hence when our mind subsides in sleep or in death, not only does our breath or life-force subside and vanish along with it, but even our body ceases to exist.

The central import of this paragraph is the truth that is stated in the first two sentences. Our mind will subside permanently only by remaining firmly fixed in the state of self-attentive being, because only in that state will the truth be revealed that our mind is truly ever non-existent. If instead of practising the art of thus remaining fixed in the state of self-attentive being we try to make our mind subside by *pranayama* or any other means, it will remain as if subsided for a short while, as it does in sleep, but will again rise and wander under the sway of its deeply engrained impulsions or desires, which are not weakened in the least by such inattentive subsidence, any more than they are weakened in sleep.

Like *pranayama*, all other forms of spiritual practice except the art of self-attentive being are merely aids which enable us to restrain our mind temporarily, but which cannot by themselves enable us to destroy it. We can effectively destroy our mind only by remaining in our natural state of perfectly clear self-attentive being, and by no other means whatsoever.

This truth, which was explicitly stated by Sri Ramana in the first two sentences of the eighth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, is further emphasised by him with some more examples in the ninth

paragraph:

Just like pranayama, murti-dhyana [meditation upon a form of God], mantra-japa [repetition of sacred words such as a name of God] and ahara-niyama [restriction of diet, particularly the restriction of consuming only vegetarian food] are [just] aids that restrain the mind [but will not bring about its annihilation]. By both murti-dhyana and mantra-japa the mind gains onepointedness [or concentration]. Just as, if [someone] gives a chain in the trunk of an elephant, which is always moving [swinging about trying to catch hold of something or other], that elephant will proceed holding it fast without [grabbing and] holding fast anything else, so indeed the mind, which is always moving [wandering about thinking of something or other], will, if trained in [the practice of thinking of] any one [particular] name or form [of God], remain holding it fast [without thinking unnecessary thoughts about anything else]. Because the mind spreads out [scattering its energy] as innumerable thoughts, each thought becomes extremely weak. For the mind which has gained one-pointedness when thoughts shrink and shrink [that is, which has gained one-pointedness due to the progressive reduction of its thoughts] and which has thereby gained strength, atma-vichara [self-investigation, which is the art of self-attentive being] will be easily accomplished. By mita sattvika ahara-niyama [the restraint of consuming only a moderate quantity of pure or sattvika food], which is the best among all restrictions, the sattva-guna [the quality of calmness, clarity or 'being-ness'] of the mind will increase and [thereby] help will arise for self-investigation.

Both *murti-dhyana* and *mantra-japa* are practices in the path of dualistic devotion, and hence they are efficacious to the extent to which they are practised with genuine love for God. If we try to practise either of them without true love, our mind will constantly wander towards other thoughts because of the strength of its desire for whatever it happens to think about, and hence we will be unable to concentrate it entirely upon any single name or form of God. Therefore when Sri Ramana says that by practising either *murti-*

dhyana or mantra-japa our mind will gain one-pointedness, the meaning he implies is that our love for God will become focused and one-pointed. By thus concentrating our love and attention upon any one particular name or form of God, our desire to think other thoughts will be weakened, and our love to think of God will thereby gain strength. Once our mind has gained this strength of one-pointed love for God, it will be able to practise the art of self-attentive being easily.

Since our love for God cannot be complete until we surrender ourself entirely to him, any devotee who sincerely tries to think of God constantly will naturally develop a yearning to surrender himself or herself entirely to him. In order to surrender ourself thus, we must remain without doing or thinking anything, but simply being calmly and peacefully aware of the all-embracing presence of God.

Since God is the infinite totality or fullness of being, and since he is therefore present within each one of us as our own essential being, 'I am', surrendering ourself to him is nothing other than surrendering ourself entirely to being. In other words, it is just being submissively and firmly established in the state of deeply self-attentive and therefore thought-free being, which is the true state of *atma-vichara* or 'self-investigation'. Practising this art of self-attentive being is also therefore the true state of 'practising the presence of God', and for any mind that has developed the love to think of God constantly and one-pointedly, achieving this state of *atma-vichara* or self-attentive being will be easy and natural.

Therefore, though meditation upon a name or form of God is a mental activity and is therefore not in itself the state in which the mind has subsided in being, if practised with true and heart-melting love such meditation can be a great aid in leading our mind to the state of spiritual ripeness in which it will be genuinely willing to surrender itself entirely in the peaceful and all-consuming state of self-attentive being.

Whereas the practice of *pranayama* or breath-restraint will enable us to achieve merely a temporary state of mental subsidence, the

practice of meditating with love upon a name or form of God will enable us to achieve the state of overwhelming love for God and consequent freedom from other desires, which is the state of mind that we require in order to be able to remain firmly established in our natural state of self-attentive being. However, just as the mental activity of meditating upon a name or form of God, if practised with true love, becomes an aid that prepares our mind for the practice of self-investigation or self-attentive being, so *pranayama*, if practised with the right attitude, can also become an aid that prepares our mind for the practice of self-investigation.

What is that right attitude with which a person should practise *pranayama*? It is the understanding that achieving a sleep-like state of temporary subsidence of mind is not a worthwhile aim, because it cannot enable us to weaken our desires, and that a true spiritual benefit can therefore be achieved by practising *pranayama* only if, before allowing our mind to subside in such a sleep-like state of abeyance, we use the calmness of mind brought about by *pranayama* to withdraw our attention from our breath and to fix it instead on our simple self-conscious being.

That is, as a means to calm our mind, which is usually agitated by many other thoughts, *pranayama* can give us a relatively thought-free space in which we can practise the art of self-attentive being with a minimum of distraction. However, this aid that can potentially be provided by *pranayama* is truly unnecessary, because we can remain in the state of self-attentive being only if we have genuine love for it, and if we have genuine love for it we will remain in it effortlessly without the need for any external aid such as *pranayama* to calm our mind. Moreover, because the relatively thought-free space provided by *pranayama* is produced by an artificial means and not by a reduction in the strength of our desires, if we try to make use of that space by withdrawing our attention from our breath and fixing it instead upon our own self-conscious being, we are likely to experience a powerful urge to think of anything else as soon as we try to attend to our being.

Therefore, if we really want to do something other than self-

investigation in the hope that it will eventually help us to practise self-investigation, trying to meditate with love upon a name or form of God is a much safer and more beneficial course to follow than *pranayama*. However, if we truly understand that God is always present within us as our own essential self-conscious being, why should we make effort to attend to anything else instead of simply trying our best to be constantly attentive to our own being?

The other aid to self-investigation that Sri Ramana mentions in the ninth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* is *mita sattvika ahara-niyama*. The term *ahara-niyama* means 'food-restraint', but since the Sanskrit word *ahara* etymologically means procuring, fetching or taking, it can apply not only to the physical food that we take into our mouth, but also to the sensory food that we take into our mind through our five senses. Therefore, in order to keep our mind in a condition that is most favourable for us in our efforts to cultivate skill in the art of self-attentive being, we should by every reasonable means endeavour to ensure that both the physical food that we take into our body and the sensory food that we take into our mind are of a suitable quantity and quality.

The quantity and quality of the food we should consume is described by Sri Ramana as *mita* and *sattvika*. The word *mita* refers to the quantity of food we should consume, and means measured, limited, frugal or moderate. The word *sattvika* refers to the quality of food we should consume, and basically means pure and wholesome, or more precisely, endowed with the quality known as *sattva*, which literally means being-ness, 'is'-ness, essence or reality, and which by extension means calmness, clarity, purity, wisdom, goodness and virtue. The restriction or *niyama* of eating only *sattvika* food means abstaining from all types of non-*sattvika* food, which includes all meat, fish and eggs, all intoxicants such as alcohol and tobacco, and all other substances that excite passions or dull the clarity of our mind in any way.

Though Hindus usually consider milk products to be *sattvika*, in most cases nowadays this is no longer the case, because the modern dairy industry is based upon the cruel and exploitative practices of

factory farming. Even milk that is produced by less cruel means such as organic farming is not entirely untainted by cruelty, because it is obtained from cows that have been bred to produce unnatural and therefore basically unhealthy quantities of milk, and because the usual fate of dairy cows and their calves is to end their life by being slaughtered either for their meat, their leather or both.

Since one of the important principles underlying the observance of consuming only *sattvika* food is *ahimsa*, the compassionate principle of 'non-harming' or avoidance of causing suffering to any living being, any food whose production involves or is associated with the suffering of any human being or other creature must be considered as being not *sattvika*. In our present-day circumstances, therefore, the only food that can truly be considered as being *sattvika* is that which is organically produced, fairly traded and above all vegan.

Besides the important and morally imperative principle of *ahimsa*, another important reason for taking care about the food we eat is that the effect that food has upon our mind is extremely subtle. If our food has been produced through the suffering of any creature, the subtle influence of that suffering will be contained in that food, and will affect our mind. Similarly if our food has been handled, processed or cooked by a person with unhappy or negative thoughts in their mind, the subtle influence of such thoughts will be contained in that food. Therefore it is generally recommended that a spiritual aspirant should as far as possible eat only food that is raw or that has been freshly cooked from raw or minimally processed ingredients by a person in a happy mood and with kind, caring and loving thoughts in their mind, because kindness and love are the most important *sattvika* ingredients that can be added to food.

With regard to the 'food' that we take into our mind through our five senses, we should as far as possible avoid attending to any sense objects that excite passion, greed, lust, anger, envy or any other such undesirable thoughts and emotions. Though we cannot always avoid being exposed to undesirable sights and sounds, we should try to keep such exposure to a minimum. Moreover, not only should we try

to see and hear only *sattvika* sights and sounds, but we should also restrict the quantity of our sense perceptions to a *mita* or moderate level. In other words, we should avoid the habit of constantly bombarding our senses with unnecessary stimulation, which with all our modern technology is so abundantly available to us.

What exactly does all this have to do with practising the art of self-attentive being? In order for us to be able to remain steadily poised in the extremely subtle state of self-attentive being, it is essential that we restrain our desires and passions, reduce the quantity and vigour of our thoughts, and cultivate a contented, calm and peaceful attitude of mind. Such desirelessness, contentment, calmness and peace are qualities that in Sanskrit are described as *sattva-guna* or the quality of 'being-ness', which is the original and natural quality of our essential consciousness 'I am'.

Though this quality of sattva or 'being-ness' is the basic quality that always underlies the finite consciousness that we call our 'mind', our mental activity tends to cloud over and obscure it. Therefore besides this basic quality of sattva there are always two other qualities that function and compete in our mind, namely rajoguna, the dissipating quality of rajas, passion, emotion, restlessness, agitation and activity, and tamo-guna, the obscuring quality of darkness. dullness, delusion, ignorance, insensitivity, tamas, heartlessness, cruelty, meanness, selfishness, pride and baser emotions such as anger, greed and lust. Whereas sattva is the natural quality of our essential being or sat, rajas and tamas are the respective qualities of the two basic aspects of our power of selfdeception or maya, the former being the quality of our power of dissipation or vikshepa sakti, and the latter being the quality of our power of obscuration or avarana sakti.

Our mind is composed of a mixture of these three qualities, but in ever-varying proportions. So long as it exists, each of them will always be present in it to a greater or lesser degree, and throughout our waking and dream states they will be competing to dominate it. At any given time one or more of them will predominate, and their relative predominance will influence our ability to be vigilantly

attentive to our essential being, our consciousness 'I am'.

In order for us to be able to remain calmly and keenly attentive to our true but extremely subtle self-conscious being, the quality of *sattva* or 'being-ness' must predominate in our mind, overpowering and suppressing the other two qualities. So long as either or both of the other two qualities predominate, our mind will lack the clarity and calmness that is required for us to be able to remain keenly self-attentive.

Sri Ramana used to illustrate this by means of two similes. Just as we would be unable to separate the extremely fine fibres of a silk cloth using a thick and heavy iron bar, so we will be unable to distinguish our extremely subtle being so long as our mind is under the sway of *tamas*, the dense and heavy quality of darkness, insensitivity and pride. Likewise, just as we would be unable to find an extremely small object in the dark using a lamp that is flickering in a strong wind, so we will be unable to discern our extremely subtle and unmoving being so long as our mind is under the sway of *rajas*, the dissipating and distracting quality of passion and restless activity. Therefore in order to be established firmly and steadily in our natural state of clear and unwavering self-attentive being, we should make every possible effort to cultivate and maintain a predominance of *sattva* in our mind.

Since the quality of our mind is strongly influenced by the quality of the physical food we eat, Sri Ramana says that by consuming only moderate quantities of *sattvika* food the *sattva* quality of our mind will increase, and this will help us in our practice of self-investigation. In order to cultivate this *sattva* quality, we should not just consume only *sattvika* food, but should also consume such food only in moderate quantities, because if we eat an excess quantity of even the most *sattvika* food, it will have a dulling effect upon our mind.

Whereas we can dispense with most other aids, such as *pranayama*, *murti-dhyana* and *mantra-japa*, observing this restriction on the quantity and quality of food that we consume is one aid with which we should as far as possible never dispense,

because whereas other aids distract our mind from our central aim of practising the art of self-attentive being, this restriction on the nature and quantity of our food is no distraction and can only help us in our practice.

If the art of self-attentive being were really difficult, we might require aids such as *pranayama*, *murti-dhyana* and *mantra-japa* to help us to practise it, but it is in reality not at all difficult. In fact, it is the easiest thing of all, because whereas all other efforts that we make are unnatural to us, self-attentive being is our natural state and truly requires no effort at all. Effort appears to be necessary only because we have a greater liking to attend to other things than to abide attentively in our own being.

Our desire for and attachment to things other than ourself makes us unwilling to let go of everything and remain calm, unattached and unwavering in our thought-free natural state of self-attentive being, and our unwillingness to remain thus makes it appear difficult. However, in itself abiding in this true state of self-attentive being is not at all difficult. Therefore in the refrain and sub-refrain that he composed for his song *Anma-Viddai* Sri Ramana sings:

What a wonder, *atma-vidya* [the science and art of self-knowledge] is [so] extremely easy! What a wonder, [so] extremely easy!

[Our true] self is [so] very real even to ordinary [unlearned] people, that [in comparison even] an *amalaka* fruit in [our] palm ends [paling into insignificance] as unreal.

The Sanskrit word *vidya* basically means 'knowledge', but in actual usage it has a broad range of meanings including philosophy, science, art, learning or any practical skill. Thus the compound word *atma-vidya*, which in Tamil is generally modified as *anma-viddai*, means the practical science and art of knowing our own real self or essential being.

Our consciousness of our own being, 'I am', which is our true self, is our first and most basic knowledge, and hence it is clearly real to us at all times, even before we learn or understand anything else. 'As real as an *amalaka* fruit in the hand' is an idiomatic way of saying that something is perfectly clear and obvious, but in comparison to our absolutely clear and real consciousness 'I am' even the clarity and reality of such a fruit in our hand pales into complete insignificance. When our true self or essential being 'I am' is so very real to each one of us, the science and art of knowing and being ourself is extremely easy – far easier than any other thing imaginable.

In order to know our own real self, we need not do anything. Because we ourself are the reality that we call our 'self' or *atman*, we cannot know ourself as an object. We know objects by an act of knowing, that is, by paying attention to them. This act of paying attention to an object is a movement of our attention away from ourself towards that object, which we imagine to be other than ourself. Because the process of knowing anything other than ourself involves this stirring of our attention, arousing it from its natural state of reposing as our simple non-dual consciousness of being, and directing it outwards to something that seems to be other than ourself, it is an action or 'doing'.

However, we cannot know ourself in this same manner, because any movement or action of our attention takes it away from ourself. Therefore we cannot know ourself by any act of knowing, or by any other kind of 'doing'.

Because our real self is perfectly clear self-conscious being, we can know it only by being it, and not by 'doing' anything. By merely being self-attentive, we remain naturally as our own self-conscious being, without doing anything. Therefore, since this art of self-attentive being does not involve even the least action of our mind, speech or body, it is the easiest means – and in fact the only truly adequate means – for us to experience the infinite happiness of true self-knowledge.

Hence in verse 4 of *Anma-Viddai* Sri Ramana sings:

To untie the bonds beginning with *karma* [that is, the bonds of action, and of all that results from action], [and] to rise above [or revive from] the ruin beginning with birth [that is, to

transcend and become free from the miseries of embodied existence, which begins with birth and ends with death, only to begin once again with birth in another mind-created body], [rather] than any [other] path, this path [of simple self-attentive being] is exceedingly easy. When [we] just are, having settled [calmly and peacefully in perfect repose as our simple self-conscious being] without even the least *karma* [action] of mind, speech or body, ah, in [our] heart [the innermost core of our being] the light of self [will shine forth clearly as our non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am I']. [Having thereby drowned and lost our individual self in this perfectly peaceful and infinitely clear state of true self-knowledge, we will discover it to be our] eternal experience. Fear will not exist. The ocean of [infinite] bliss alone [will remain].

To attain this eternal experience of infinite happiness, we need not do anything by mind, speech or body, but must merely subside and settle calmly in our natural state of perfectly clear self-conscious being.

The words that Sri Ramana uses here to describe this state of just being are *summa amarndu irukka*. The word *irukka* is the infinitive form of the verbal root *iru*, meaning 'be', and is used idiomatically in the sense 'when [we] are'. The word *amarndu* is the past participle of the verb *amartal*, which means to abide, remain, be seated, become still, become calm, become tranquil, rest, settle down or be extinguished. And the adverb *summa* means just, merely, leisurely, silently, quietly, calmly, motionlessly, inactively, without doing anything, or in perfect peace and repose. Since *summa* can be taken as qualifying both *amarndu* and *irukka*, the clause *summa amarndu irukka* means 'when [we] just are, having settled silently, calmly and peacefully in perfect repose'.

The sense of these three words, especially the word *summa*, is further emphasised by the preceding words, which mean 'without even the least action of mind, speech or body'. Therefore the practice of *atma-vidya*, the science and art of knowing our own real self, is just being, without even the least action of mind, speech or body – our mind having subsided and settled peacefully in and as our

simple self-conscious being.

This practice of 'just being' or *summa iruppadu* is also clearly explained by Sri Ramana in the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, where he defines it as "making [our] mind to subside [settle down, melt, dissolve, disappear, be absorbed or perish] in *atma-svarupa* [our own essential self]". Therefore, since this practice of *atma-vidya* is just being our own ever self-conscious being, and since it does not involve any action of our mind, speech or body, it is indeed "exceedingly easy", far easier than any other 'path' or form of spiritual practice.

Nevertheless, due to the density of our self-imposed delusion or *maya*, and due to the strength of our resulting desires, knowing and being our real self appears in the view of our mind to be difficult. That is, though the state of absolutely clear self-conscious being is truly our natural state, and though it is always experienced by us as 'I am', its natural clarity appears to our mind to be clouded and obscured by thoughts, which are impelled by our deeply rooted desires, and hence discerning it clearly in the midst of all these thoughts seems to our mind to be difficult.

This seeming difficulty will persist so long as our mind is under the sway of *maya* and its *gunas* or 'qualities', *tamas* and *rajas*. As we saw earlier, trying to focus our attention on our essential consciousness of being when our mind is under the sway of *tamoguna*, the obscuring quality of darkness and insensitivity, is like attempting to separate the fine threads of a silk cloth with the blunt end of a heavy iron bar, and trying to do so when our mind is under the sway of *rajo-guna*, the dissipating quality of restlessness and agitation, is like attempting to find a tiny object in the dark with the aid of the flickering light of a lantern buffeted by a strong wind. Hence for those of us whose self-delusion and desires are strong, and in whose mind these two *gunas* therefore predominate, calmly attending to and abiding as our own essential consciousness of being will appear to be not easy.

However, just as the only way to learn to talk is to talk, the only way to learn to walk is to walk, and the only way to learn to read is

to read, the only way to learn the art of attending to and abiding as our own pure self-conscious being is to practise this art. However many times our attempts fail, we should persevere in trying again and again. As we do so, we will gradually but steadily gain the skill required to abide firmly as our own real self, our true and essential consciousness of being, 'I am'.

Self-abidance, which is the art of self-attentive being, is not impossible for anyone. All that is needed is persistent effort. Every moment that we are attentive to our natural consciousness of our own being, 'I am', however clumsily and imperfectly, the clear light of such relatively unadulterated self-consciousness will be cleansing and purifying our mind, dispersing the darkness of *tamo-guna* and calming the agitation of *rajo-guna*, and thereby allowing the natural clarity of *sattva-guna* or 'being-ness' to manifest itself.

To express the same truth in another way, when we practise the art of self-attentive being, the clarity of our self-attentiveness acts like the scorching rays of the sun, drying up all the seeds of desire in our heart and thereby rendering them infertile. Though the destruction of these seeds of our desires is the ultimate aim and purpose of all forms of spiritual practice, they can in fact be effectively destroyed – scorched and rendered infertile – only by the clarity of our self-attentive being-ness and by no other means.

These seeds of our desires – which in *vedanta* philosophy are named as *vasanas*, a word that is usually translated as latent mental 'tendencies' or 'inclinations', but whose actual sense can be better translated as latent mental 'impulsions' or 'driving forces' – are what rise and manifest in our mind as thoughts. Since their very existence is threatened by the clarity of our self-abidance or self-attentive being-ness, when we try to practise abiding in this state of self-attentive being they rise in rebellion, manifesting in our mind as innumerable thoughts of various kinds.

When they rebel against our self-attentive being-ness in this manner, the only way to vanquish them is to ignore them by keeping our attention firmly fixed upon our own essential being, as explained by Sri Ramana in the following passage from the sixth paragraph of

Nan Yar?:

... If other thoughts rise, without trying to complete them [we] must investigate to whom they have occurred. However many thoughts rise, what [does it matter]? As soon as each thought appears, if [we] vigilantly investigate to whom it has occurred, 'to me' will be clear [that is, we will be clearly reminded of ourself, to whom each thought occurs]. If [we thus] investigate 'who am I?' [that is, if we turn our attention back towards ourself and keep it fixed firmly and vigilantly upon our own essential self-conscious being in order to discover what this 'me' really is], [our] mind will return to its birthplace [the innermost core of our being, which is the source from which it arose]; [and since we thereby refrain from attending to it] the thought which had risen will also subside. When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly established in its birthplace will increase. ...

No thought can rise without us to think it. Therefore the easy way for us to divert our attention away from each thought as and when it rises is to remember that it has occurred only to ourself. Instead of allowing ourself to be distracted by any thought that arises, if we vigilantly continue to remember only ourself, each of our thoughts will perish as soon as it attempts to rise, because without our attention it cannot survive.

If however we do become momentarily distracted by any thought, we should immediately divert our attention away from it towards ourself by remembering that it has occurred only 'to me'. As soon as we remember this 'me' to whom that thought had occurred, our attention will return to its source, which is our own consciousness of being, 'I am'.

This process of drawing our attention back towards our own self-conscious being by keenly scrutinising ourself in an attempt to discover 'who am I to whom these thoughts have occurred?' is what Sri Ramana describes when he says, "If [we] investigate 'who am I?', [our] mind will return to its birthplace". Our mind is our power of attention, which becomes extroverted by thinking of things other

than ourself, and its birthplace or source is our own being – our basic and essential self-consciousness 'I am'. Therefore when we divert our mind away from all thoughts and focus it exclusively in our being, we are simply returning it to its own birthplace, the source from which it had arisen.

Our mind rises only by imagining things other than itself, and those imagined things are its thoughts. Therefore, when we turn our mind or attention towards our own essential being, it is diverted away from all its imaginary thoughts, and hence it subsides in its source and remains as our mere self-conscious being. When we thus remain as being instead of rising as our thinking mind, our thoughts are all deprived of our attention, and since no thought can exist unless we pay attention to it, Sri Ramana adds that when our mind thus subsides in its birthplace or source, "the thought which had risen will also subside".

He then concludes by saying, "When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly established in its birthplace will increase". That is, when we repeatedly practise this art of immediately turning our attention back towards its source whenever it is distracted even to the slightest extent by the rising of any thought, the ability of our mind to remain firmly and self-attentively established as mere being will increase.

Therefore repeated and persistent practice of this art of selfattentive being is the only means by which we can cultivate the ability and strength to remain unshaken by thoughts, and thereby to weaken and eventually destroy all our *vasanas*, the seeds of our desires, which give rise to them.

This process of gradually fixing our mind or attention more and more firmly in our own essential self-conscious being by repeatedly and persistently withdrawing it from all thoughts of anything other than ourself is clearly described by Sri Krishna in two extremely important verses of the *Bhagavad Gita*, verses 25 and 26 of chapter 6, which Sri Ramana has translated into Tamil as verses 27 and 28 of *Bhagavad Gita Saram*, a selection that he made of forty-two verses from the *Bhagavad Gita* that express its *sara* or essence:

By [an] intellect [a power of discrimination or discernment] imbued with firmness [steadfastness, resolution, persistence or courage] one should gently and gradually withdraw [one's mind] from [all] activity. Having made [one's] mind stand firm in *atman* [one's own real self or essential being], one should not think even a little [of anything whatsoever].

Wherever the [ever] wavering and unsteady mind goes, restraining [or withdrawing] it from there one should subdue it [by always keeping it firmly fixed] only in *atman* [one's own real self].

The key words used here are *atma-samstham manah kritva*, which literally mean 'having made the mind stand firm [or still] in self', and by clear implication they should be applied to each of the three sentences in these two verses. That is, we should gently and gradually withdraw our mind from all activity or thinking by making it stand firm and motionless in our essential self, having thus made it stand firm and motionless in our essential self we should refrain from thinking of anything whatsoever, and if due to our lack of vigilance it again wanders towards anything else, by making it stand firm once again in our essential self we should restrain its wanderings, withdrawing it from whatever it is thinking of, and thereby subduing it and making it subside in our essential self.

What exactly does Sri Krishna mean when he says that we should make our mind stand firm in self or *atman*? The word *samstha* is the word *stha*, which literally means 'standing', qualified by the prefix *sam*, which literally means 'with' or 'together with', but which is used to express not only conjunction or union, but also intensity, completeness or thoroughness. Thus *samstha* means standing with, standing united with, standing firm, standing still, standing fixed, or simply firmly abiding, remaining or being. Hence the words *atmasamstham manah* denotes the state in which our mind is firmly and motionlessly established in our essential being, as our essential being, having consciously subsided and thereby merged, united and become one with it. Therefore what Sri Krishna clearly implies by these words is that we should keep our entire mind or attention

firmly fixed or keenly focused upon our real self or essential being, and should thereby remain firmly in the state of clear self-attentive being.

However, until our *vasanas* or latent desires are greatly weakened, our mind will continue to be wavering and unsteady, and will therefore repeatedly rush out towards things other than ourself. When our mind is in such a condition, we cannot force it against its will to remain quietly and peacefully in our natural state of self-attentive being, and therefore by repeatedly practising this art of being steadfastly self-attentive we must gently and gradually train it and cultivate in it the willingness to withdraw from its habitual activity of thinking of things other than ourself.

The words in verse 25 that I have translated as 'gently and gradually' are *sanaih sanaih*. This repetition of the word *sanaih*, which is an adverb meaning 'quietly', 'calmly', 'softly', 'gently' or 'gradually', conveys the sense that this practice of withdrawing from all activity by establishing our mind firmly in our own being should be done not only gently and without any force or compulsion, but also repeatedly and persistently.

This same sense is also conveyed in the next verse. That is, whenever and wherever our mind may wander, we should persistently practise restraining it, withdrawing it each time from the objects it is thinking about, and subduing it by establishing it firmly in our own essential being.

Whenever we succeed in our efforts to establish our mind thus in our real self or *atman*, we should remain firmly established in that state of self-attentive being without thinking even the least about any other thing. By practising this art of repeatedly drawing our mind or attention back from thoughts towards ourself, we will gradually weaken and eventually destroy all our deeply rooted *vasanas* or desires.

This process of destroying our *vasanas* as soon as they rise in the form of thoughts is described by Sri Ramana in more detail in the tenth and eleventh paragraphs of *Nan Yar?*. In the tenth paragraph he says:

Even though *vishaya-vasanas* [our latent impulsions or desires to attend to things other than ourself], which come from time immemorial, rise [as thoughts] in countless numbers like oceanwaves, they will all be destroyed when *svarupa-dhyana* [self-attentiveness] increases and increases. Without giving room to the doubting thought, 'Is it possible to dissolve so many *vasanas* and be [or remain] only as self?', [we] should cling tenaciously to self-attentiveness. However great a sinner a person may be, if instead of lamenting and weeping, 'I am a sinner! How am I going to be saved?', [he] completely rejects the thought that he is a sinner and is zealous [or steadfast] in self-attentiveness, he will certainly be reformed [or transformed into the true 'form' of thought-free self-conscious being].

Our *vasanas* or latent desires, which are the driving forces that impel us to think, and our thoughts, which are their manifest forms, do not have any power of their own. They derive their power only from us. So long as we attend to them, we are feeding them with the power that is inherent in our attention.

As Sri Sadhu Om used to say, our attention is the divine power of grace, because it is in essence the supreme *chit-sakti* or power of consciousness, which is our essential being and the absolute reality. Our attention or consciousness is the power that underlies, supports and gives life to our imagination, and as such it is the power that creates this entire world of duality and multiplicity.

Therefore whatever we attend to is nourished and made seemingly real. Our desires and thoughts appear to be real only because we attend to them, and hence the power they seem to have is derived only from our attention. Just as our experience of a dream appears to be real and to have power over us only so long as we attend to it, so all our desires and thoughts appear to be real and to have power over us only so long as we attend to them.

Therefore if we fix our attention entirely and exclusively in our own essential being and thereby ignore all the thoughts that our *vasanas* or latent desires impel to rise, we will deprive those latent desires of the power which they need to survive, and which they can obtain only from our attention. The more we thus deprive them of

the attention they seek, the weaker they will become, and thus we will gain increasing power to resist the power of attraction with which they have till now been dominating us.

This is the reason why Sri Ramana said in the sixth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*, "When [we] practise and practise in this manner, to [our] mind the power to stand firmly established in its birthplace will increase". That is, the more we practise this art of being vigilantly self-attentive, steadfastly ignoring all our impulses or desires to think of anything else, the more we will gain the strength to remain firmly established in our own naturally and ever clearly self-conscious being.

When our strength or power to remain firmly established in our self-conscious being thus increases, all our latent desires or *vasanas* will be progressively weakened and will eventually lose the power that they now have to distract us away from our natural state of just being. This is the reason why Sri Ramana says that "they will all be destroyed when *svarupa-dhyana* [self-attentiveness] increases and increases", and why he says that we should therefore give no room to the rising of any type of thought, but should instead "cling tenaciously to self-attentiveness".

Whatever thought we may feel impelled to think, by clinging tenaciously to self-attentiveness we can then and there weaken not only that particular impulsion or *vasana* but also simultaneously all our latent impulsions to think any thoughts, and with continued tenacity we can eventually destroy completely all our latent impulsions or desires. Therefore if we truly wish to destroy all our latent desires and thereby attain our natural state of true self-knowledge, we must be extremely tenacious and persistent in our practice of self-attentiveness, which is the true art of being.

What in practice does Sri Ramana mean by the words 'without giving room to thought' when he says here, "Without giving room to the doubting thought whether it is possible to dissolve so many *vasanas* and be only as self, we should cling tenaciously to *svarupa-dhyana* [self-attentiveness]", and when he says in the thirteenth paragraph, "Without giving even the slightest room to the rising of

any thought except *atma-chintana* [the thought of self], being completely absorbed in *atma-nishtha* [self-abidance] is giving ourself to God"? Not giving room to the rising of any other thoughts means ignoring them completely, not allowing them even the slightest space within the field of our attention or consciousness. But how in practice is it possible for us to exclude all thoughts from our consciousness? It is possible for us to do so only by filling our attention or consciousness wholly and exclusively with the "thought of self", *svarupa-dhyana* or *atma-chintana*, that is, with clear, keen and vigilant self-attentiveness.

Though Sri Ramana sometimes referred to self-attentiveness as the "thought of self", using words that imply thinking such as *dhyana* or *chintana*, he often clarified that it is actually a state of just being, and not a state of 'thinking' or mental activity. Therefore, since paying attention to anything other than ourself is 'thinking', and since being attentive only to ourself is a state not of 'thinking' but of just 'being', self-attentiveness is the only practical and effective means by which we can exclude all thoughts from our consciousness.

In the last sentence of this paragraph Sri Ramana assures us that if we are zealous or steadfast in self-attentiveness, we will certainly be 'reformed' or 'transformed'. The word that I have translated as zealous or steadfast is *ukkam-ullavan*, which means a person who has *ukkam*, impulse, ardour, zeal, strength, firm conviction and sincerity. Thus in this context the word *ukkam* implies the same ardent tenacity and steadfastness that is emphasised by the words *vidappidiyay pidikka vendum*, which occur earlier in this paragraph and which I translated as 'should cling tenaciously to'. Clinging fast to self-attentiveness with such ardent tenacity, zeal, steadfastness and perseverance is essential if we truly wish to succeed in our efforts to attain absolute happiness, which can be experienced only in the calm and thought-free state of true self-knowledge.

The final word of this paragraph is *urupaduvan*, which etymologically means 'will become form', but which is commonly used in an idiomatic sense to mean 'will be elevated' or improved in

body, mind or morals, and hence I have translated it as 'will be reformed' or 'will be transformed'. However, since the word *uru* or 'form' can also denote *svarupa*, our 'own form' or essential self, in this context the meaning implied by *urupaduvan* is not merely that we 'will become morally reformed' or 'will be transformed into a better person', but is that we will be transformed into our own true and eternal 'form', which is thought-free, infinite, all-transcending, absolute and perfectly clear self-conscious being.

In the eleventh paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana goes on to explain more about how the practice of self-attentive being enables us to destroy all our *vasanas* or latent desires to experience things other than ourself:

As long as vishaya-vasanas [latent impulsions or desires to attend to anything other than ourself] exist in [our] mind, so long the investigation 'who am I?' is necessary. As and when thoughts arise, then and there it is necessary [for us] to annihilate them all by investigation [keen and vigilant selfattentiveness] in the very place from which they arise. Being [abiding or remaining] without attending to [anything] other [dispassion] ourselfl is vairagya [desirelessness]; being [abiding or remaining] without leaving [separating from or letting go of our real] self is jñana [knowledge]. In truth [these] two [desirelessness and true knowledge] are only one. Just as a pearl-diver, tying a stone to his waist and submerging, picks up a pearl which lies in the ocean, so each person, submerging [beneath the surface activity of their mind] and sinking [deep] within themself with vairagya [freedom from desire or passion for anything other than being], can attain the pearl of self. If one clings fast to uninterrupted svarupa-smarana [self-remembrance] until one attains svarupa [one's own essential self], that alone [will be] sufficient. So long as enemies are within the fort, they will continue coming out from it. If [we] continue destroying [or cutting down] all of them as and when they come, the fort will [eventually] come into [our] possession.

The investigation or *vichara* 'who am I?' that Sri Ramana refers to here is the same practice of self-attentiveness that he referred to in the previous paragraph as *svarupa-dhyana* or 'meditation upon one's own essential form'. Since this practice of self-attentive being is the only means by which we can effectively weaken and eventually destroy all our *vasanas* or latent desires, it is necessary for us to continue practising it tenaciously until all of them have been thoroughly eradicated. Since these latent desires are the driving forces that impel us to think, as long as any thought – any trace of a knowledge of anything other than our mere self-conscious being, 'I am' – appears in our consciousness, so long we should tenaciously persevere in clinging to keen and vigilant self-attentiveness.

So long as we continue to be vigilantly self-attentive, we will be effectively annihilating each thought that attempts to rise. Because our keen self-attentiveness will give no room for any thoughts to rise, as and when any latent desire attempts to rise in the form of a thought it will be immediately annihilated at the very moment and place in which it thus attempts to rise.

The 'place' or source in which and from which all our thoughts arise is our own essential being or consciousness, 'I am'. By self-attentiveness we remain in and as our self-conscious being, and thus we cut down each thought then and there as soon as it begins to rise.

If however our self-vigilance slackens even an iota, we will thereby give room to the rising of thoughts, and hence they will rush forth in great numbers in an attempt to distract our attention further away from our being. If we are attracted by these thoughts and therefore fail to regain our self-attentiveness immediately, they will continue to rise with great vigour and will thereby overpower us, subjecting us once again to the delusion of duality.

This self-negligence, self-forgetfulness or slackness in our natural self-attentiveness is named in *vedanta* philosophy as *pramada*. Since it enables our power of *maya* or self-delusion to overpower us with the manifold products of our imagination, beginning with our illusory individuality and including all our desires, our thoughts and the objects of this world, since ancient times sages have repeatedly

affirmed the truth that such self-negligence or *pramada* is death. That is, when due to our self-negligence we slip down from our firm self-attentive abidance as being, we seemingly transform ourself into the finite and unreal individual consciousness that we call our 'mind', and we thereby in effect die to our infinite real self.

When we succeed in our attempts to cling tenaciously to self-attentiveness, we will thereby avoid attending to any other thing, or in other words, we will avoid imagining or thinking of anything other than ourself. Since the forces that impel us to imagine and know things other than ourself are our latent desires, we will be able to refrain from attending to any other thing only when we are able to avoid the fatal error of succumbing to the delusive attraction of the imaginary objects of our desires. Therefore whenever we remain without attending to anything other than ourself, we are at that moment remaining free from all our desires, and hence Sri Ramana says, "Being without attending to [anything] other [than ourself] is *vairagya* [dispassion] or *nirasa* [desirelessness]".

In this state of self-attentive being, in which all our imaginary knowledge of other things is entirely excluded, all that we know is our own non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am'. Since (as we have seen in earlier chapters) this non-dual self-consciousness 'I am' is the only true knowledge, because it is the only knowledge that is not finite or relative, Sri Ramana says, "Being without leaving [our real] self [our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'] is *jñana* [knowledge]". That is, whenever we are able to be without leaving our firm and attentive hold on our clear, natural and eternal self-conscious being, 'I am', we are at that moment experiencing only the one true, infinite and absolute knowledge.

Since not attending to anything other than ourself and not leaving ourself are just two alternative ways of describing our natural state of thought-free self-attentive being, after defining desirelessness as 'being without attending to [anything] other [than ourself]' and true knowledge as 'being without leaving ourself', Sri Ramana concludes by saying, "In truth [these] two are only one". That is, the only state of true desirelessness is the state of true self-knowledge. Since this

state is not something alien to us but is our own natural and eternal state of being, we can begin to experience it even now by simply remaining vigilantly and firmly as our mere self-attentive being.

Because we always know 'I am', our consciousness of our own being is always present. However, because of our desire to pay attention to the thoughts and objects that we have created by our self-deceptive power of imagination, we tend to ignore or overlook this fundamental self-consciousness.

The more strongly our desires impel our mind or attention to flow out towards the objects of our imagination, the more we will tend to overlook our own essential self-conscious being. In other words, the stronger our desires become, the more dense our self-ignorance will grow. Conversely, the weaker our desires become, the more brightly and clearly our natural self-consciousness or self-knowledge will shine. In other words, the degree of our clarity of self-consciousness is inversely proportional to the strength of our desires and the consequent density of our thoughts or mental activities.

Therefore self-consciousness – or self-attentiveness, as we call it when we practise it as a spiritual exercise – is not something that is either white or black. That is, it is not a quality that is either present or absent, but is one that is always present but in widely varying degrees of clarity or intensity.

This is true, of course, only from the standpoint of our mind, which being an extroverted form of attention or consciousness never experiences its own essential consciousness of being with perfect and absolute clarity. From the standpoint of our real self, which is itself the absolute clarity of our consciousness of being, there are no relative degrees of self-consciousness, because its natural and infinite consciousness of its own being alone truly exists.

However, though the absolute truth is that our self-consciousness alone really exists, and that there is therefore no other thing that could ever obscure or diminish its intense and perfect clarity, in the relative and dualistic outlook of our mind self-consciousness appears to be something that we experience with varying degrees of clarity and intensity. From the standpoint of our spiritual practice, therefore,

our aim should always be to experience our self-consciousness or self-attentiveness with the greatest possible degree of clarity.

Hence we should try to focus our attention so keenly on our own self-conscious being that all our awareness or knowledge of any other thing is entirely excluded. The more we are able by such keen self-attentiveness to exclude all other knowledge or thoughts, the more clearly and intensely we will become conscious of ourself as we really are.

In order to illustrate this process by which we can make our self-consciousness become increasingly clear and intense, Sri Ramana gives us the analogy of a pearl-diver who sinks deep into the ocean to collect a pearl. Our thoughts, which are the imaginary knowledge that we have of things other than ourself, are like the ever-restless waves on the surface of the ocean. The closer we are to the surface of our mind, the more we will be buffeted about by the movement of our thoughts. However, instead of floating about near the surface, if we sink, dive or penetrate deep into our being, we will increasingly approach the absolute core and essence of our being, which is entirely free of all such movement. The deeper we sink into our being, the less we will be affected by the movement of any thought.

Sinking or diving deep into ourself therefore means penetrating deep beneath the surface activity of our mind by focusing our attention ever more keenly, pointedly, exclusively and firmly upon our 'am'-ness – our fundamental consciousness of our own essential being, which we always experience as 'I am'. When our attention penetrates thus into the very essence of our being, our mind will subside or sink into the state of just being, and thus all its activity or thinking will automatically and effortlessly cease.

Only by repeatedly and persistently penetrating thus into the depth of our own 'am'-ness – our essential self-conscious being – will we eventually be able to reach its innermost depth or absolute core, which is itself the 'pearl of self', the perfect state of true and infinitely clear self-knowledge, which we are seeking to attain.

Sri Ramana often used this analogy of diving or sinking into water to illustrate how deeply and intensely our attention should penetrate

into the innermost core or essence of our being. For example, in verse 28 of *Ulladu Narpadu* he says:

Like sinking [immersing or diving] in order to find an object that has fallen into water, diving [sinking, immersing, piercing or penetrating] within [ourself] restraining [our] speech and breath by [means of a] sharp intellect [a keen, intense, acute and penetrating power of discernment or attention] we should know the place [or source] where [our] rising ego rises. Know [this].

The key words in this verse are *kurnda matiyal*, which mean by a sharp, pointed, keen, intense, acute and penetrating mind, intellect or power of discernment, cognition or attention, and they are placed in this verse in such a position that they apply by implication to all the verbs that follow them. That is, we should restrain our speech and breath by a keenly focused and penetrating intellect, we should dive or sink within ourself by a keenly focused and penetrating intellect, and we should know the source from which our ego rises by a keenly focused and penetrating intellect.

But what exactly does Sri Ramana mean in this context by these words *kurnda mati* — a sharp, pointed, keenly focused and penetrating mind or intellect? The clue he gives us to answer this question lies in the last two verbs that they qualify. That is, since this keen and penetrating intellect is the means or instrument by which we can dive, sink, immerse or pierce deep within ourself, and by which we can thus know the source from which our ego rises, it must be an intellect — a power of discernment or attention — that is turned inwards and focused keenly, pointedly and penetratingly upon our real self or essential being, which is the source or 'place' from which our ego or individual sense of 'I' arises. Therefore a *kurnda mati* is a keenly, sharply, intensely and penetratingly self-attentive intellect.

In this context it is important to note that though the Sanskrit words *buddhi* and *mati* are usually translated in English by the word 'intellect', they do not merely mean 'intellect' in the superficial sense in which this word is normally used in English. That is, in English the word 'intellect' is normally understood to mean just our superficial power of reasoning or rational thought, whereas in

Sanskrit, Tamil and other Indian languages the words *buddhi* and *mati* convey a much deeper meaning than this.

The real meaning of these two words, particularly in the sense in which Sri Ramana uses the word *mati* in this verse, is 'intellect' in its original sense, which is derived from the Latin words *inter legere*, meaning 'to choose between', and which therefore denotes our power or faculty of discernment or discrimination. Therefore in this verse the word *mati* denotes our deep inner power of discernment or ability to distinguish and clearly recognise that which is real – a power that is derived not just from intellectual reasoning or rational thought, but rather from the profound natural clarity of pure self-consciousness which always exists within us, but which is usually clouded over by the density and intensity of our desires and attachments and our resulting thoughts.

Though in the philosophy of *advaita vedanta* the two words *manas* or 'mind' and *buddhi* or 'intellect' are often used in such a way that they appear to denote two different entities, Sri Ramana clarified the fact that they are not actually two different entities but are just two different aspects or functions of one single entity – namely our finite individual consciousness, which we usually refer to as our 'mind'. Therefore whenever a distinction is implied in the meaning of these two words, the word *manas* or 'mind' denotes our mind in its more superficial and dynamic function as a power of thinking, feeling and perceiving, whereas the word *buddhi* or 'intellect' denotes our mind in its deeper and more static function as a calm power of inner clarity, discernment, discrimination or true understanding.

Hence the word *mati*, which is used in this verse as an equivalent of the word *buddhi*, means our mind, but rather than just our mind in a vague or general sense, it more specifically means our mind as a power of inner clarity and discernment – a power of attention that is capable of turning itself away from all appearances and focusing itself keenly and clearly upon the one reality that underlies them, namely our own essential self-consciousness 'I am'.

Since our mind is a separate individual consciousness that

deserves this name 'mind' only so long as it attends to anything other than our own essential being, and since it subsides and becomes one with our being when it attends to it truly, wholly and exclusively, the keenly self-attentive 'mind' that is denoted by these words *kurnda mati* actually ceases to be an individual mind or ego as soon as it becomes truly self-attentive and thereby submerges and sinks into the depth of our being, and thus it is transformed by its self-attentiveness into our real self, of which it is now wholly conscious. In other words, a truly *kurnda* or keenly self-attentive mind is actually nothing other than our naturally and eternally self-conscious being.

Though Sri Ramana mentions "restraining [our] speech and breath" in association with "diving [sinking, immersing or piercing] within", it is not actually necessary for us to make any special effort to restrain either our speech or our breath, because just as our thoughts or mental activities will all subside automatically and effortlessly when we become intensely self-attentive, so too will our speech and breath. Therefore, if we undertake this simple and direct practice of self-attentive being from the very outset, there will never be any need for us to practise any of the artificial exercises of *pranayama* or breath-restraint, because by our mere self-attentiveness we will naturally restrain and bring to a complete standstill all the activity of our mind, speech, breath and body.

Since all these activities are merely imaginations that arise only when we allow our attention to leak out towards anything other than ourself, they will all disappear and become non-existent as soon as we effectively draw our entire attention back into the innermost depth or core of our being, which is the source from which it arises and flows outwards as our mind, intellect or ego.

Though the word *mati* is used in Tamil in the sense of mind, intellect, understanding, discrimination or discernment, it is actually a word of Sanskrit origin, and in Sanskrit besides these meanings it can also mean intention, resolution, will, desire or devotion. If we understand the words *kurnda matiyal* in this latter sense, they would mean 'by intense devotion or love'. Though this is not the principal

meaning of these words in this context, it is nevertheless appropriate as a secondary meaning, because we will be able to sink or penetrate deep within ourself only if we have great love for the state of just being, which is the true form of God.

Unless we truly have intense love for being, we will be unwilling to surrender ourself to it, and hence our mind together with all its *vasanas* or latent desires will continue to rise in rebellion whenever we try to cling firmly to self-attentiveness and thereby to sink deep into our innermost being. Devotion and desirelessness – that is, true love for being and freedom from desire for anything other than being – are like the two inseparable sides of a single piece of paper, and they each increase in direct proportion to the increase of the other. Therefore when Sri Ramana compares *vairagya* or freedom from desire to the stone that a pearl-diver ties to his waist, saying that by submerging beneath the surface activity of our mind and sinking deep within ourself with *vairagya* we can attain the 'pearl of self', he implies that in order to be able to sink to the innermost depth of our being we require not only *vairagya* but also great love or *bhakti*.

Devotion and desirelessness, or *bhakti* and *vairagya* as they are respectively called in Sanskrit and other Indian languages, are not only inseparable but are actually just two different ways of describing the same state of mind. However they are usually spoken of as two separate qualities because they are each a particular aspect of that one state of mind. Because they are both indispensable qualities that we require in order to be able to attain true self-knowledge, they are sometimes said to be the two wings by which we must learn to fly to the transcendent state of absolute being.

Both devotion and desirelessness arise due to another essential quality, which is called *viveka*, a Sanskrit word that means discrimination, discernment or the ability to distinguish the real from the unreal, the eternal from the ephemeral, the substance from the form, or the actual truth from what merely appears to be true. True *viveka* is not merely an intellectual understanding of the truth, but is a deep inner clarity that exists naturally in the core of our being and that arises in our mind when it becomes purified or cleansed of the

grosser forms of its desires. An intellectual understanding of the truth is a useful starting point from which we can commence our inward search for the actual experience of true knowledge, but it will blossom into true discrimination or *viveka* only if we apply it in practice by actually turning our mind inwards to discover the true nature of our essential being.

To the extent that our mind is purified of its desires, to that extent will the clarity of true discrimination or *viveka* arise within it. Conversely, the more clearly we are able to discriminate, understand and be truly convinced that happiness exists only within ourself and not in any other thing, the stronger will both our devotion and desirelessness become. Thus true discrimination or *viveka* enkindles in our mind true devotion or *bhakti* and true desirelessness or *vairagya*, and true devotion and desirelessness clarify our mind, thereby increasing our power of discrimination.

The most potent and effective means by which we can enkindle the clarity of true discrimination in our mind is to be constantly and deeply self-attentive, because when we are self-attentive we are focusing our attention on our consciousness of being, which is not only the light that illumines our mind, but is also the infinite fullness and source of all clarity, knowledge or understanding. Or to explain the same thing in another way, when we are self-attentive we are warding off all the thoughts that cloud and obscure the infinite clarity of being that always shines in our heart or innermost core. Thus by self-attentiveness we are opening our heart to the true grace of God, which is our natural clarity of perfect self-consciousness, and which by its pure light will enable us to discriminate, understand and be truly and deeply convinced of the truth.

If our understanding and discrimination does not give us sufficient strength of conviction to enable us to withdraw our mind easily from everything other than ourself and to focus it intensely upon our own essential being, it must only be a superficial and unclear form of discrimination or *viveka*. When our discrimination becomes truly deep, clear and intense – that is, when it becomes a truly *kurnda mati* or keenly penetrating power of discernment – it

will shine within us as an unshakeable strength of conviction, which we will experience as intense *bhakti* or love for our natural state of just being and as firm *vairagya* or freedom from desire for anything other than being, and thus it will enable us to surrender our finite individual self, our mind or ego, and thereby sink effortlessly into the innermost depth of our essential being.

Just as the weight of a stone enables a pearl-diver to sink deep into the ocean, so the intensity of our *bhakti* and *vairagya* will enable us to sink deep into the innermost core of our being. However, until we actually cultivate sufficiently intense *bhakti* and *vairagya*, whenever we attempt to be vigilantly self-attentive, we will not be able to sink very deep but will continue to float just below the surface of our mind, where our thoughts will continue to disturb us. That is, our self-attentiveness will not be very deep and clear, but will continue to be shallow and clouded by the thoughts that we constantly like to think due to our lack of true *vairagya* or desirelessness.

Our liking to think of anything other than ourself is the sole obstacle that prevents us from sinking deep into our real self-conscious being, and such liking is caused by our lack of true discrimination or *viveka*. If we were truly convinced that happiness exists only within ourself and not in any other thing, we would certainly gain the love to subside into the peaceful thought-free depth of our own self-conscious being, and would therefore lose our desire to think of anything else. However, though we need this firm conviction, which arises as a result of clear discrimination, in order to be able to remain firmly and deeply self-attentive, the only way to gain it is by practising self-attentiveness.

By repeatedly and persistently practising the art of being self-attentive to whatever extent we can, we will gradually enkindle within our mind the necessary clarity of true discrimination or *viveka*, and thus we will cultivate a steadily increasing strength of true love or *bhakti* and true desirelessness or *vairagya*, which will in turn enable us to sink deeper into our naturally ever self-conscious being.

Thus the three inseparable qualities of *viveka*, *bhakti* and *vairagya* – which Sri Ramana describes collectively as *kurnda mati* or a keenly penetrating power of discernment and love – will drive our mind deeper into our natural state of self-conscious or self-attentive being, and by sinking deep into this state we will cultivate and increase these three qualities. Therefore however weak or strong our present *viveka*, *bhakti* and *vairagya* may be, the only way for us to progress from where we now stand towards our goal of attaining the infinitely happy experience of true self-knowledge is to attempt repeatedly and persistently to be ever self-attentive.

After saying that in order to attain the pearl of self-knowledge we should sink deep within ourself with steadfast desirelessness, Sri Ramana goes on to say, "If one clings fast to uninterrupted *svarupa-smarana* [self-remembrance] until one attains *svarupa* [one's own essential being or real self], that alone [will be] sufficient". Why exactly does he use the term *svarupa-smarana* or 'self-remembrance' here?

We never actually forget ourself, because we always know 'I am'. However, though we are always conscious of our own being as 'I am', we tend to ignore or overlook it because we are so interested in attending to things other than ourself, which are all mere products of our imagination. When our mind is thus constantly absorbed in thinking of things other than itself, it in effect forgets its own real self, its essential being, which does not think anything, but just is. Since all our thoughts or imaginations are thus constantly distracting our attention away from our natural consciousness of just being, we can put an end to their distracting influence only by trying to remember our being uninterruptedly.

Self-remembrance is therefore the antidote to our fascination with thinking of things other than ourself. However, because our desire to think of other things is so strong, when we try to cling fast to selfremembrance our mind will rebel and rise in the form of innumerable thoughts, thereby interrupting our effort to remember only ourself.

Whenever our self-remembrance is thus interrupted by the rising

of other thoughts, we should again remember our being and thereby withdraw our attention from them. The more we practise remembering ourself in this manner, the more we will gain the strength and ability to cling exclusively and uninterruptedly to our remembrance of our own simple self-conscious being.

This practice or exercise of self-remembrance is not an attempt to regain the memory of something that we have forgotten, as for example we would try to remember where we had placed something that we have lost and are now trying to find, because our own self or essential being is always present and known by us, and is therefore something we have never really lost or forgotten. Rather this practice is an attempt to retain the memory of something that we wish to avoid forgetting, as for example we would try to remember constantly a person or thing whose memory gives us great joy. Self-remembrance is therefore simply another name for self-attentiveness, that is, being constantly attentive, conscious, mindful or aware of our own mere being or 'am'-ness.

Therefore this term *svarupa-smarana* or 'self-remembrance' that Sri Ramana uses here in this eleventh paragraph, the term *svarupa-dhyana* or 'self-meditation' that he used in the previous paragraph, the term *atma-chintana*, 'self-thinking', 'self-thought', 'self-consideration' or 'self-contemplation' that he uses in the thirteenth paragraph, and the term *atma-vichara*, 'self-investigation', 'self-examination' or 'self-scrutiny' that he uses in many other places all denote the same simple practice of self-attentive being. As Sri Ramana says in the sixteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?*:

... The name 'atma-vichara' [is truly applicable] only to [the practice of] always being [abiding or remaining] having put [placed, kept, seated, deposited, detained, fixed or established our] mind in atma [our own real self]...

What exactly does Sri Ramana mean when he talks of putting, placing, keeping or detaining our mind in *atma* or our own real self? Our real self or essential being is the sole reality that underlies the appearance of our mind, and as such it is its source and natural abode. So long as we know nothing other than our own being, our

mind remains naturally in and as our own infinite, undivided and non-dual real self. When however we begin to imagine and know anything other than our own being, our mind seemingly comes out from our real self as a separate and finite individual consciousness, whose nature appears to be thinking – that is, constantly attending to those other things, which it has created by its imagination. Hence putting, placing, keeping or detaining our mind in our real self means preventing it from rising and coming out as a separate thinking or object-knowing consciousness.

Therefore, since our mind comes out from our real self only by attending to things other than itself, and since it remains in our real self whenever it attends to and knows only our own being, putting, placing, keeping or detaining our mind in our real self means fixing or retaining our attention wholly and exclusively in our own essential self-conscious being, without allowing it to come out to know or experience any other thing.

Thus this simple definition given by Sri Ramana, which expresses perfectly the very essence of the practice called *atma-vichara* or self-investigation, can be paraphrased by saying that *atma-vichara* is a name that is applicable only to the practice of always being steadfastly self-attentive or conscious only of our own essential being, 'I am'.

Self-remembrance or self-attentiveness is a practice that we can train ourself to maintain even while we are engaged in other activities. Whatever we may be doing by mind, speech or body, we always know that we are, so by persistent practice it is possible for us to gain the skill to maintain a tenuous current of self-attentiveness in the midst of all our other activities. When we cultivate this skill to be always tenuously aware of our underlying self-consciousness throughout our waking and dream states, we will also become more clearly aware of our continuing self-consciousness in sleep.

That is, by persistently practising self-attentiveness or selfremembrance whenever our mind is free from any other work, we will gradually become so familiar with our natural and essential selfconsciousness that we will continue to be tenuously aware of it even when our mind is engaged in activity, and even when it has subsided in sleep. Though we cannot be wholly or deeply attentive to our being when our mind is engaged in activity, we can nevertheless be tenuously attentive to it at all times. This is the state that Sri Ramana describes as "clinging fast to uninterrupted *svarupa-smarana* or self-remembrance", and as "always being or remaining keeping our mind fixed in *atma* or our own real self", and he says that practising thus "alone is sufficient".

Why does he say that "clinging fast to uninterrupted *svarupa-smarana* or self-remembrance until we attain our own real self will alone be sufficient"? Though in the initial stages of this practice our self-remembrance will be frequently interrupted by the rising of thoughts and the consequent activity of our mind, and though in the more advanced stages of practice it may not be entirely interrupted but is nevertheless greatly diminished by whatever activity our mind may be engaged in, due to our persistence in this practice our *vasanas* or latent desires to think of things other than ourself will be steadily weakened, and thus we will gain the *vairagya* or freedom from desire that is required for us to be able to sink into the innermost depth of our being, where we can obtain the pearl of true self-knowledge.

So long as we mistake ourself to be this physical body, we will feel impelled to engage in physical, vocal and mental activities, if not at all times at least at certain times, because such activity is necessary for the maintenance of our life in this body. Therefore until we transcend this illusion that we are this body, we will not be able to remain completely untouched by the rising of thoughts. Hence sinking or diving deep within ourself is a practice that we cannot be engaged in uninterruptedly at all times.

However, though we cannot uninterruptedly and at all times be deeply, keenly, intensely and clearly self-attentive until we actually attain the perfect experience of true and absolute self-knowledge, even during the stage of practice we can strive to be uninterruptedly self-attentive at least tenuously. By trying to maintain at least a tenuous degree of self-attentiveness at all times, we can steadily

weaken our latent desires and thereby make it easier for ourself to sink deep into our being at certain times, and by sometimes sinking deep into our being, we can gain an increased degree of clarity of self-consciousness, which will make it easier for us to maintain a tenuous but uninterrupted current of self-attentiveness even in the midst of various activities.

However, though attempting to maintain uninterruptedly a tenuous current of self-attentiveness in this manner is an important element of our spiritual practice, we cannot actually attain the true experience of absolute self-knowledge until we thereby gain sufficient *viveka*, *bhakti* and *vairagya* to be able to sink into the innermost depth of our being, where the bright and infinite light of perfectly clear and absolutely non-dual self-consciousness is eternally shining as 'I am'.

In the final two sentences of this eleventh paragraph Sri Ramana gives another analogy in order to illustrate what he had said in the first two sentences, namely:

As long as *vishaya-vasanas* [latent desires for things other than ourself] exist in [our] mind, so long the investigation 'who am I?' is necessary. As and when thoughts arise, then and there it is necessary [for us] to annihilate them all by *vichara* [self-investigation or self-attentiveness] in the very place from which they arise...

The analogy he gives to illustrate this process of annihilating all thoughts as soon as they arise is as follows:

... So long as enemies are within the fort, they will continue coming out from it. If [we] continue destroying [or cutting down] all of them as and when they come, the fort will [eventually] come into [our] possession.

In this simile, the fort is our own real self, the core of our being, which is the source of our mind, and the enemies that reside within it are our *vasanas* or latent desires for things other than our own being. In order to take possession of a fort, we must besiege it, and when we do so the enemies inside will not just remain there peacefully and

submissively. For their own survival it is necessary for them to come out in an attempt to break our siege and replenish their food supply.

The food that our latent desires require for their gratification and survival is the knowledge of things other than our being. So long as we feed our mind with the knowledge of otherness or duality, it will survive and flourish, but if we deprive it of such knowledge, it will grow weak, because in the absence of such knowledge its separate identity or individuality will be dissolved. For its own survival, therefore, our mind will rise in rebellion as soon as we try to retain it in our mere being. That is, it will rebel by constantly trying to think of anything other than our own essential self-conscious being.

Since thoughts can rise only when we attend to them, they can be destroyed at the very place and moment that they arise only by our clinging tenaciously to self-attentiveness. If we are steadfast in our self-attentiveness or self-remembrance, every thought that our mind tries to think will perish due to its being ignored by us.

This ignoring of all thoughts by our clinging tenaciously to self-attentiveness is what Sri Ramana describes as cutting down all the enemies as and when they come out of the fort. Therefore if we persist long enough in our practice of self-attentive being, all our *vasanas* or latent desires to think will eventually be destroyed, and our mind will thereby sink back into the source from which it arose.

This eventual sinking of our mind or attention back into our source or essential being is what Sri Ramana describes by saying that "the fort will [eventually] come into [our] possession". It is not necessary for us to continue struggling eternally to resist the attraction of things other than ourself and thereby to remain in our mere being, because by struggling to do so for a while we will be able to completely annihilate our desires, which make those other things appear to be so attractive.

Other things attract us because we wrongly believe that we can obtain happiness from them, and we believe this due to our lack of *viveka* or true discrimination. However, by being constantly self-attentive, we will be feeding our mind with the natural clarity of *viveka* that exists within us as the clear light of our ever self-

luminous consciousness of our own being, and thereby we will steadily gain an increasingly strong conviction that happiness lies only within ourself and not in any other thing. The stronger this conviction becomes, the more our *bhakti* or love for our own being and our *vairagya* or freedom from desire for anything other than our being will grow, and the easier it will therefore become for us to resist the false and delusive attraction of knowing anything other than being.

Therefore as a practice self-attentiveness is necessary for us only until such time as all our *vasanas* or latent desires are destroyed by the dawning of true self-knowledge, whereupon we will discover that self-attentiveness or self-consciousness is the very nature of our being, and is therefore something that truly does not require any effort or practice. When our mind and all its *vasanas* are thus destroyed by our experience of true self-knowledge, our false and imaginary individuality will be dissolved and we will remain effortlessly and eternally as the infinite and absolute consciousness of just being, 'I am'.

In this state of *mano-nasa* or complete annihilation of our mind, which is the state that is also known as *nirvana* or total extinction of the illusion of our individual self, there is nothing further for us to do, and nothing other than our being for us to know. This is the true experience of Sri Ramana and all other sages, and it is clearly expressed by him in verse 15 of *Upadesa Undiyar* and verse 31 of *Ulladu Narpadu*:

When [his] mind-form is annihilated, for the great *yogi* who is [thereby] established as the reality there is not a single action [or 'doing'], [because] he has attained his [own true] nature [which is actionless being].

For one who is [completely immersed in and therefore one with] *tanmaya-ananda* [bliss composed only of *tat*, 'it' or the infinite and absolute reality], which rose [as true self-knowledge, 'I am I'] having destroyed [his finite individual] self, what single thing is there to do [or for 'doing']? He does not know any other thing but only [his own real] self.

[Therefore] how to think [or who can think] that his state is such-and-such?

The state of true self-knowledge, which is the state of infinite and absolute happiness, is the state of just being – the state in which we have discovered that the finite thinking consciousness that we called our 'mind' was a mere illusion that existed only in its own limited and distorted view, and is therefore in reality entirely non-existent. Since our mind is the original cause, source and base of all activity, this mind-free state of just being is entirely devoid of even the least activity, action, *karma* or 'doing'.

Since this state of true self-knowledge is thus utterly devoid of our 'thinking', 'doing' and 'knowing' mind, it is also devoid of all knowledge of otherness or duality. Because it is therefore a state that completely transcends all thoughts and words, Sri Ramana asks how anyone could possibly conceive it or think of it as it really is.

Any conception that we may form in our mind about this state of true self-knowledge is therefore inaccurate, because it is merely an attempt to conceive the inconceivable. Likewise any words that we may use to describe it are inadequate, because they are merely an attempt to define the indefinable.

The state of true self-knowledge can never be known by our finite mind, but can be experienced by us only when our thinking mind is destroyed. In order to experience it, therefore, we must turn our mind inwards and drown it in its own source, which is our true and essential being. Hence we can never gain true knowledge from mere words, or by turning our attention outwards to read word-filled books, but only by turning our attention inwards to read the silent book of our own heart.

Words and books can serve a useful purpose only insofar as they point our mind in the right direction in which it must focus its attention in order to be able to experience true knowledge. However, even those few books that direct us to turn our mind selfwards will be truly beneficial to us only if we follow their directions and attempt to make our mind sink with true love and steadfast desirelessness into the deepest core of our own being.

Therefore instead of concentrating our efforts in repeatedly studying a few books that truly convince us and remind us of the need for us to turn our mind inwards, and in sincerely and persistently trying to practise the art of self-attentive being that those books teach us, if we continue reading innumerable books to gather more and more extraneous knowledge, we will be wasting our valuable time and distracting our mind from our true purpose, which is to give up all other knowledge and thereby to sink in the only true knowledge – the simple non-dual knowledge or consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

Therefore in the sixteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana says:

Since in every [true spiritual] treatise it is said that for attaining mukti [spiritual emancipation, liberation or salvation] it is necessary [for us] to restrain [our] mind, after knowing that mano-nigraha [holding down, holding within, restraining, subduing, suppressing or destroying our mind] is the ultimate intention [or purpose] of [such] treatises, there is no benefit [to be gained] by studying without limit [a countless number of] treatises. For restraining [our] mind it is necessary [for us] to investigate ourself [in order to know] who [we really are], [but] instead [of doing so] how [can we know ourself by] investigating in treatises? It is necessary [for us] to know ourself only by our own eye of jñana [true knowledge, that is, by our own selfward-turned consciousness]. Does [a person called Raman need a mirror to know himself as Raman? [Our] 'self' is within the pancha-kosas [the 'five sheaths' with which we seem to have covered and obscured our true being, namely our physical body, our prana or life force, our mind, our intellect and the seeming darkness or ignorance of sleep], whereas treatises are outside them. Therefore investigating in treatises [hoping to be able thereby to know] ourself, whom we should investigate [with an inward-turned attention] having removed [set aside, abandoned or separated] all the panchakosas, is useless [or unprofitable]. Knowing our yathartha svarupa [our own real self or essential being] having investigated who is [our false individual] self, who is in bondage [being bound within the imaginary confines of our mind], is *mukti* [emancipation]. The name 'atma-vichara' [is truly applicable] only to [the practice of] always being [abiding or remaining] having put [placed, kept, seated, deposited, detained, fixed or established our] mind in atma [our own real self], whereas dhyana [meditation] is imagining ourself to be sat-chit-ananda brahman [the absolute reality, which is being-consciousness-bliss]. At one time it will become necessary [for us] to forget all that [we] have learnt.

To attain emancipation or salvation from the bondage of imagining ourself to be a finite individual we must know ourself as we really are, that is, as the non-dual, infinite and absolute consciousness of our own essential being. But where must we look in order to know ourself thus? Can we know ourself merely by looking in books or sacred texts? No, we obviously cannot, because to know ourself truly and accurately, we must look within ourself in order to discern the true essence of our own being.

That is, since we ourself are the 'self' that we wish to know, we can know ourself only by investigating or examining our innermost being with a keenly focused and inwardly piercing attention. Our power of attention, which is our power to direct and focus our consciousness upon something, is the basic and essential instrument by which we are able to know anything. Without attending to something, we cannot know it. Therefore, unless we actually attend to ourself very keenly and carefully, we cannot truly and accurately know ourself as we really are.

True self-knowledge is not just some theoretical knowledge that we may understand by our intellect, but is only a clear and direct non-dual knowledge that we can acquire only through actual self-experience. By attending to books that provide conceptual information about our real self, we can know only that conceptual information, but we cannot actually know ourself. Whatever conceptual information or theoretical knowledge we may acquire about ourself is extraneous to us, and hence it is something other than ourself. Learning some theoretical information about the taste

of chocolate is entirely different to actually experiencing the taste of chocolate. Likewise, learning some theoretical knowledge about our own real self is entirely different to actually experiencing ourself as we really are.

We can never know ourself by looking outside ourself, but only by looking within. In fact, it is our habit of looking outside ourself, and our intense liking to do so, that actually prevents us from knowing ourself as we really are. We do not need any other knowledge to know ourself, because we always know 'I am'. All we need 'do' to know ourself is to remove all the extraneous knowledge that we have superimposed upon our basic knowledge of ourself as 'I am'.

The extraneous knowledge that we have superimposed upon ourself comes in many different forms, but what is common to all these manifold forms of knowledge is that we experience them all as 'I am knowing this'. What is real in this experience is only the 'I am' and not the 'knowing this', which is merely a transient appearance. Therefore, in order to know the real 'I am' as it is, all we have to 'do' is to experience it without the superimposition of this ephemeral apparition or adjunct 'knowing this'.

Of all the ephemeral and imaginary adjuncts that we superimpose upon our basic knowledge 'I am', the most fundamental are our body and the other objects that we mistake to be ourself. Because we imagine certain objects such as our body to be ourself, we imagine other objects outside this body to be other than ourself, and hence we create the illusion of a distinction between ourself and other things, and the parallel illusion of 'inside' and 'outside'.

In the philosophy of *vedanta*, the objects that we imagine to be ourself are described as the *pancha-kosas*, the 'five sheaths' or 'five coverings', because in effect they enclose or cover our real self, obscuring in our view its true and infinite nature. These 'five sheaths' that are classified in *vedanta* are our physical body, our *prana* or the life-force within this body, our thinking mind, our discerning intellect, and the happiness that we experience in sleep as a seeming darkness or ignorance.

Because the distinction between some of these 'sheaths' is rather arbitrary, this classification is often simplified by saying that our real self is seemingly enclosed within three bodies, our 'gross body', which means our physical body, our 'subtle body', which is our mind, and which is usually said to include both our *prana* and our intellect, and our 'causal body', which is the seeming darkness-yethappiness that we experience in sleep. However, how we choose to classify these phenomena that we imagine to be ourself is unimportant, because none of them are the real 'self' that we seek to know.

Sri Ramana mentions this term *pancha-kosas* or 'five sheaths' in this context only to emphasise the fact that we experience ourself as if we existed inside these 'sheaths' or extraneous adjuncts, whereas we experience books as if they existed outside of them. Though books appear to exist outside ourself, we can know them and understand them only through the medium of at least three of these sheaths, namely the senses of our physical body, our mind and our intellect. However, to know our real self, we must set aside or ignore all of these five sheaths, since they are not really ourself, and we must concentrate our entire attention upon our essential self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

Therefore, since we cannot study any book without mistaking ourself to be this body and mind, and since we cannot know our real self without giving up this mistaken identification, we can never know ourself merely by studying books. Since the ultimate import of all sacred texts and other truly useful books is that we should know ourself in order to experience true and perfect happiness, we must eventually forget all that we have learnt in books by turning our attention inwards with overwhelming love to know only our own real self or essential being.

Everything that we learn from books or from any other source outside ourself is an extraneous knowledge, which, having come to us at one time, must leave us at some other time. The only knowledge that is eternally with us is our basic knowledge 'I am', which is our consciousness of our own essential being.

However, though it is ever present and known by us as our own self-conscious being, the true nature of this eternal knowledge now appears to be clouded and obscured by the transient superimposition of all our other knowledge. Since no knowledge that comes and goes can give us permanent happiness, the only knowledge we should seek is perfectly clear and accurate knowledge of our own being – that is, knowledge of ourself free from the superimposition of any other form of knowledge.

The only truly useful and beneficial knowledge that we can acquire from books or other external sources, including even the most sacred and holy books, is the knowledge that impresses upon us and convinces us of the need for us to turn our attention selfwards in order to experience and directly know our own essential being. So long as our mind feels impelled by its desires to be active, studying a select few books that constantly, repeatedly and convincingly emphasise the truth that in order to experience eternal and infinite happiness we must know our own real self, and musing frequently upon the truth revealed in such books, will be a great aid in giving impetus to our love and efforts to practise self-attentiveness.

This three-fold process of repeatedly reading such books, musing upon their import, and trying to put what we learn from them into practice is known in *vedanta* as *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana*, and is recommended by Sri Ramana and other sages as the means by which we can gradually acquire the skill to remain steadfastly in the state of self-attentive being. However, though *sravana* or reading the right type of books is recommended by Sri Ramana, this does not mean that we should read an endless number of books. Just a few really pertinent books are quite sufficient to support us in our efforts to practise self-attentiveness.

Whereas studying deeply a few truly pertinent books can be a great aid to our practice of self-attentive being, reading a vast number of books can be a serious impediment. Therefore in verse 34 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana says:

For people of little intelligence, wife, children and others [other

relatives] form [just] one family. [However] know that in the mind of people who have vast learning, there are not [just] one [but] many families [in the form] of books [that stand] as obstacles to *yoga* [spiritual practice].

Though a strong attachment to our family can be an obstacle to our spiritual practice, because it can draw our mind outwards and make it difficult for us to remain free of thoughts in the state of self-attentive being, a strong attachment to all the knowledge that we have acquired from studying many books is a still greater obstacle, because it will fill our mind with many thoughts.

If we are really intent upon experiencing the true goal of *yoga*, which is perfectly clear self-knowledge, we will not feel inclined to read vast quantities of sacred texts or other philosophical books, because we will be eager to put into practice what we have learnt from a few really pertinent books which explain that simple self-attentive being is the only means by which we can experience that goal. If instead we feel enthusiasm only to study an endless number of books, we will merely succeed in filling our mind with countless thoughts, which will draw our attention away from our essential consciousness of our own being. Thus filling our mind with knowledge gathered from many books will be a great obstacle to our practice of self-attentive being.

Excessive study will not only fill our mind with innumerable thoughts, which will cloud our natural inner clarity of self-consciousness, but will also fill it with the pride of learning, which will prompt us to display our vast knowledge to other people, and to expect them to appreciate and praise it. Therefore in verse 36 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana says:

Rather than people who though learned have not subsided [surrendered or become subdued, humble or still], the unlearned are saved. They are saved from the ghost of pride that possesses [the learned]. They are saved from the disease of many whirling thoughts. They are saved from running in search of fame [repute, respect, esteem or glory]. Know that what they are saved from is not [just] one [evil].

Of all the obstacles that can arise in our path when we are seeking true self-knowledge, the desire for praise, appreciation, respect, high regard, renown or fame is one of the most delusive and therefore dangerous, and it is one to which the learned are particularly susceptible. Therefore in verse 37 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana says:

Though all the worlds are [regarded by them as] straw, and though all the sacred texts are within [their] hand, [for] people who come under the sway of the wicked whore who is *puhazhchi* [praise, applause, appreciation, respect, high regard, renown or fame], escaping [their] slavery [to her], ah, is rare [or very difficult].

The first clause of this verse, 'though all the worlds are straw', implies that those of us who have studied vast amounts of philosophy may look down upon the normal mundane pleasures of this world, heaven and all other worlds as being a mere trifle, and may therefore imagine that we have renounced all desire for them. The second clause, 'though all the sacred texts are within hand', implies that we may have mastered a vast range of scholastic knowledge about various systems of philosophy, religious belief and other such subjects. However, in spite of all our vast learning and our seeming renunciation, if we fall prey to desire for the extremely delusive pleasure of being an object of praise, appreciation, admiration, respect, high regard, acclaim or fame, to free ourself of such desire is very difficult indeed.

The desire for appreciation and respect is very subtle and therefore powerful in its ability to delude us, and it is a desire to which even otherwise perfectly good people can easily fall a prey, particularly if they engage themselves in any activity that seems to benefit other people, such as teaching the principles of religion, philosophy or moral conduct through either speech or writing. This desire is particularly dangerous for a spiritual aspirant, because the pleasure we feel in being appreciated and respected derives from our attachment to our ego or individual personality – our delusive sense that we are the person who is appreciated and respected. Therefore,

if we are sincere in our desire to attain true self-knowledge, we should be extremely vigilant to avoid giving any room in our mind to the rising of this desire.

Until we attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge, we will not be able to remain completely unaffected either by any recognition, respect, appreciation or praise that we may receive, or by any of their opposites such as disregard, disrespect, depreciation or criticism. Only when we attain true self-knowledge and thereby discover that we are not this individual person who is being recognised, appreciated or praised, or disregarded, disrespected, depreciated or criticised, can we be truly unaffected by them. Therefore in verse 38 of *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham* Sri Ramana says:

When we always abide unswervingly in our own [true] state [of non-dual self-knowledge], without knowing [the illusory distinction between] 'myself' [and] 'others', who is there besides ourself? What [does it matter] if whoever says whatever about us? [Since in that state we know that there is no one other than our own essential being, it would be as if we were extolling or disparaging ourself only to ourself.] What indeed [does it matter] if [to ourself] we extol or disparage ourself?

So long as we experience the existence of any person besides ourself, or the existence of anything other than our single, undivided and non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am', we should not imagine that we have attained true self-knowledge, or that we are impervious to all forms of appreciation and depreciation. Most importantly, we should never delude ourself by imagining that we can be a true spiritual *guru* to other people, or pose as such, because the true spiritual *guru* is only the 'person' who has ceased to exist as a separate individual person, having merged and dissolved in the absolute reality, thereby becoming one with it, and who therefore knows that the absolute reality, which is our own essential being, alone exists, and that there is truly no person other than it.

So long as we feel ourself to be a separate individual, we should always be wary of the delusion of pride, which can so easily rise within us. Even if, for example, we happen to write a book like this one that I am now writing, exploring and discussing the teachings of a true spiritual *guru* such as Sri Ramana, we should never allow ourself to fall prey to the subtle and powerful delusion of pride or egoism, imagining that we can claim credit for any clarity or wisdom that might appear in what we write.

If we are able to express any clarity of understanding about the nature of the absolute reality, or about the means by which we can attain it, we should understand that that clarity is not our own, but belongs only to the source from which it arises, which is the one absolute reality that exists within each one of us as our own essential self-conscious being, and which manifests outwardly in the form of the true *guru* in order to indicate the truth that we are that reality, and that to know it we must turn our attention back on ourself in order to experience and thereby drown in our own essential being. If we have truly understood the teachings of any manifestation of the one true *guru*, such as Sri Ramana, we will understand that as an individual person we are truly nothing, and that our mind or individual personality is a mere delusion, and is therefore not worthy of any praise or other form of appreciation.

Self-delusive pride is the greatest danger that can arise as a result of excessive study of sacred texts and other philosophical books. The real purpose of studying such books, and the only true benefit we can derive from doing so, is twofold. Firstly it is to understand clearly the means by which we can annihilate our ego, our sense of separate individuality, and thereby experience the one true and absolute knowledge, which is our non-dual consciousness of our own essential being. Secondly and still more importantly, it is to cultivate an overwhelming love to practise that means and thereby drown in the infinite happiness and peace of that true non-dual selfconsciousness. Therefore in verse 35 of Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham Sri Ramana says:

What [is the use of] people who do not intend to erase the letter [of fate], scrutinising where they who know the letter [the words written in books] were born, knowing [that] letter? O

Sonagiri the Wise, say, who else [are they] but people who have acquired the erudition [or nature] of a sound recording machine?

The 'letter' is an idiomatic way of referring to destiny, the 'writing of fate', and also to the words written in books, the 'letter of the scriptures', as opposed to their spirit or true significance. The purpose or spirit of the words written in sacred texts is to teach us how we can 'erase the letters of fate' only by annihilating our ego or mind, which imagines that it is doing actions or *karmas* and experiencing the destiny or fate that results from such actions.

If we study the words written in sacred texts and other philosophical books, but still make no effort to put what we learn from those books into practice by turning our mind inwards to experience our own essential being, which is the source from which we as our ego were 'born' or originated, and thereby annihilating this ego, who experiences the letters of fate, all our study and erudition are of no use whatsoever.

Therefore, addressing God poetically as 'Sonagiri the Wise', Sri Ramana concludes that if we gain vast erudition by studying books which teach that we can attain true and lasting happiness only by annihilating our ego or mind, yet still have no intention to practise self-scrutiny, which is the only means by which we can annihilate it, we are merely gaining the erudition of a sound recording machine – that is, the ability to regurgitate repeatedly whatever words or concepts we have recorded in our mind as a result of our study.

What initially motivates us to read books on philosophy or religion is our desire to know the truth, but the true knowledge that we seek to acquire cannot be contained in any book or any words. True knowledge is only the absolute knowledge that lies beyond the reach of all thoughts and words.

The words and concepts that are expressed in philosophical writings can only show us the means by which we can attain the true knowledge we seek, which always exists within us as our fundamental non-dual consciousness of our own essential being, 'I am'. Therefore, in order to attain true knowledge, we must turn our

attention away from books and concentrate it instead upon our own essential self-conscious being.

True *jñana-vichara*, investigation or examination of knowledge, is not the study of any philosophical concepts, but is only the keen and vigilant scrutiny of our own fundamental self-consciousness. Therefore in verse 19 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

When [we] scrutinise within [ourself] 'what is the place in which it [our mind] rises as I?' [this false] 'I' will die. This [alone] is *jñana-vichara*.

The word which I have translated here as 'will die' is the compound verb *talai-sayndidum*, which literally means 'becomes head-bent', that is, bows its head in shame, modesty or reverence, but which is commonly used in an idiomatic sense to mean 'dies'. So long as our mind or ego – our false individual sense of 'I', which is our basic consciousness 'I am' mixed with various adjuncts or *upadhis* that we imagine to be ourself – appears to exist, we cannot experience the true adjunct-free nature of our real self-consciousness 'I am' – that is, our unqualified, undivided, non-dual and absolute consciousness of our own essential being.

Since this mind, our false 'I' or ego, rises only by knowing things that appear to be other than itself, and since it seems to exist only so long as we allow it to continue dwelling upon those other things, in order to annihilate it we must turn it away from all its thoughts and concepts – that is, from all forms of knowledge that are extraneous to our fundamental self-consciousness – by concentrating it wholly and exclusively upon our own essential self-conscious being, which is the source from which it had arisen to know all those other forms of knowledge. No matter how many books we may read, we cannot attain true knowledge until and unless we forget all that we have learnt from them by thus concentrating our entire attention only upon our own true non-dual self-conscious being.

If we have great enthusiasm to study a vast number of books, and to remember all the concepts that we have learnt from them, we are likely to forget the true purpose of the books we study. Therefore, rather than reading many books, we would be wise to select a few books which clearly and repeatedly emphasise the need for us to turn our mind inwards and drown it in the source from which it has risen, and that thereby enkindle and sustain our enthusiasm to practise the art of vigilantly self-attentive and therefore thought-free being.

The most important books for us to study are those that contain the teachings of our own *guru*. Though all sages have taught the same truth, they each have expressed it in different terms and with differing degrees of explicitness, in order to suit the circumstances and the understanding of those they were addressing. Though our own real self has at various times manifested itself in the form of various sages, it has now manifested for us in the form of our own particular *guru* in order to teach us the truth in a manner that is best suited to our own particular needs.

It does not matter if we have never seen our *guru* in physical form, as most of us have never seen Sri Ramana, because he is always manifest and available to us in the form of his teachings. Therefore, though we should have respect for the teachings of all sages, the teachings of our own *guru* are sufficient for us and will provide us with all the help and guidance that we need in order to be able to turn our mind inwards and practise steadfastly the art of self-attentive being.

Whatever books we may read, we should always remember that the only true benefit we can derive from reading is an added impetus or urge to turn our mind inwards and remain firmly self-attentive. If a book does not enkindle in our mind a clear understanding and strong conviction that the only means by which we can attain true happiness is to practise persistently the art of self-attentive being, or if it does not reinforce our existing understanding and conviction concerning this truth, there is truly no benefit in our reading such a book.

In order for us to develop the skill that we require to hold fast to self-attentiveness – that is, in order for us to cultivate the necessary *bhakti* or love for our own being and *vairagya* or freedom from desire for anything other than our being – we must be single-mindedly interested in and focused upon this one aim, and hence we

should avoid as far as possible anything that distracts us from it or that scatters our single-pointedness. Therefore, though there may be many books that emphasise more or less directly that we should restrain our mind from running outwards and should instead turn it inwards to attend to our mere being, we would nevertheless be wise to avoid reading more than a select few such books, because the same truth is expressed in many such books in many different ways and with varying degrees of clarity and intensity, and hence by reading too many books our mind will tend to become scattered and thereby to lose its concentrated and keenly focused impetus to cling tenaciously to simple self-attentiveness.

Moreover, though repeatedly reading a select few books may help to clarify our understanding and strengthen our conviction, we should always remember that the truth we seek is not actually contained in those books but only within ourself. The truth or reality transcends all thoughts and words, so it can never be adequately expressed in any book, no matter how sacred we may hold that book to be.

The words in sacred books can never express the truth as it really is, but can only point our mind towards that truth, which exists in the innermost depth of our being. Therefore the benefit we can obtain from reading any book is very limited. As Sri Adi Sankara wrote in verse 364 of *Vivekachudamani*, a hundred times greater than the benefit of *sravana* or reading is the benefit of *manana*, musing or reflecting upon the truth that we have read, and a hundred thousand times greater than the benefit of *manana* is the benefit of *nididhyasana* or keen self-attentiveness, which is the correct application of the truth we have learnt by *sravana* and understood by *manana*.

In the first sentence of this sixteenth paragraph, Sri Ramana says that every sacred text or treatise teaches that to attain emancipation or salvation we should restrain our mind, and that teaching mind-restraint is therefore the ultimate aim or intention of all such texts.

However, though all sacred texts agree on the fact that we should restrain our mind, different texts explain what is meant by 'mindrestraint' in different terms. Some sacred texts emphasise only the less subtle aspects of mind-restraint such as curbing the grosser forms of our desires, but though we may curb many or even most of our desires, we cannot restrain our mind completely and perfectly unless we manage to prevent it from rising at all to know even in the least thing other than ourself.

Therefore, since we can prevent or restrain the rising of our mind only by being vigilantly self-attentive, in the second sentence Sri Ramana clarifies the true meaning of the term mind-restraint or *mano-nigraha* by saying, "For restraining [our] mind it is necessary [for us] to investigate ourself [to know] who [we really are]". What happens when we truly investigate ourself is revealed by him in verse 25 of *Ulladu Narpadu* and verse 17 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

Grasping form [a body] it [our mind or ego] comes into existence. Grasping form [that body] it persists. Grasping and feeding on form [thoughts or objects] it flourishes abundantly. Leaving form [one body or one thought] it grasps form [another body or another thought]. [However] if [we] examine [it], [this] formless phantom ego takes flight. Know [that is, know this truth, or experience this disappearance of the ego by examining it].

When [we] scrutinise the form of [our] mind without forgetfulness, [we will discover that] there is no such thing as 'mind' [separate from or other than our real and essential self]. For everyone, this is the direct path [to true self-knowledge].

That is, the more keenly we investigate, examine or scrutinise ourself, whom we now feel to be this finite individual consciousness that we call our 'ego' or 'mind', the more this 'mind' will subside and dissolve in our being, because, having no substantial existence or form of its own, it cannot stand in front of the clear and intense gaze of our self-attentiveness. When by repeated practice we gain the ability to maintain our self-scrutinising attentiveness without forgetfulness, our mind will eventually sink into the innermost depth or core of our being, where we will experience the infinite clarity of true self-knowledge, which will dissolve our mind entirely by

revealing the truth that no such thing has ever really existed.

That is, in the clear light of true self-knowledge we will discover that we were never the mind that we imagined ourself to be, but were always the real, infinite and absolute consciousness of mere being, just as in the clear light of day we would discover that a rope that in the darkness of night we imagined to be a snake was never a snake, but was always only a rope. Like the snake, our mind is a mere figment of our imagination, and like the rope, our infinite consciousness of being is the sole reality underlying the illusory appearance of this mind. Just as we were actually seeing only a rope even when we imagined it to be a snake, so we are actually experiencing only our own infinite and absolutely non-dual self-consciousness even when we imagine it to be this duality-knowing consciousness that we call our 'mind'.

Therefore, since our mind is merely an illusion, an insubstantial, elusive and ever-fleeting phantom created by our own imagination, we can effectively restrain it only by knowing the truth that we are really not it, as we now imagine ourself to be, but are only the infinite fullness of being, consciousness and happiness. Until we know this truth as our actual experience of ourself, we will continue to be deluded by this imaginary mind, and we will never really be able to restrain it entirely. Hence, since we can know ourself as we really are only by keenly and attentively scrutinising our being, this practice of self-scrutiny, self-attentiveness or self-investigation is the only means by which we can thoroughly and effectively restrain our mind.

After saying that to attain *mukti* or emancipation we must restrain our mind, and that to restrain our mind we must investigate or examine ourself in order to know who or what we really are, Sri Ramana goes on to define true emancipation later in the same paragraph by saying:

... Knowing our *yathartha svarupa* [our own real self or being] having investigated who is [our false individual] self, who is in bondage, is *mukti* [emancipation or liberation]. ...

What exactly does he mean by saying that we are in bondage?

The 'bondage' we are now in is not only our imaginary confinement within the limitations of this physical body, but is more fundamentally our imaginary confinement within the limitations of this finite consciousness we call our 'mind'. We are in reality the infinite non-dual consciousness that knows nothing other than its own being, which is absolute peace and perfect happiness. Therefore, by imagining ourself to be this finite mind, which rises by knowing duality or otherness, we are seemingly confining our perfectly happy and infinite being within the finite realm of dualistic knowledge, in which we experience a mixture of relative happiness and unhappiness.

If we want to be eternally free from all unhappiness, we must free ourself from the illusion that we are this finite mind, and to free ourself from this illusion we must know ourself as we really are, that is, as infinite being, consciousness and happiness. Since true self-knowledge is our real state of absolute non-duality, it is the state of infinite freedom, because when we experience it we will know that we alone exist, and that there is therefore nothing other than ourself to limit our freedom.

The bondage that we now experience is an illusion, a figment of our imagination, because in reality our infinite being is never limited or bound in any way. Therefore when we experience true self-knowledge, we will know the truth that we have always been perfectly free. Bondage is a state that is experienced only by our unreal mind, and not by our real self. Therefore, since bondage exists only in the limited and distorted view of our mind, and not in the unlimited and clear view of our real self, the concept of liberation or emancipation is true only in relation to our bondage-ensnared mind. Hence in verse 39 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

Only so long as [we imagine] 'I am a person in bondage', [will] thoughts of bondage and liberation [arise]. When [we] see [our real] self [by investigating] 'who is [this] person in bondage?', [our real] self, [which is] eternally liberated, will remain [alone experiencing itself] as that which is [always] attained. When [our real self remains experiencing itself thus], since the

thought of bondage cannot remain, can the thought of liberation [alone] remain in front [of such clear self-knowledge]?

Liberation or true self-knowledge is not actually a state that we can newly attain, because in truth we are always the non-dual consciousness of being, which never ceases to know itself and which is therefore eternally liberated. However, since we now imagine ourself to be this bondage-ensnared mind, from the standpoint of this imaginary experience it is necessary for us to free ourself from this illusion of self-ignorance and bondage. Therefore so long as we experience ourself to be this mind, our notions of bondage and liberation are in effect quite true and perfectly valid. That is, so long as we experience ourself as being bound by limitations, our desire to attain true self-knowledge and thereby to be liberated from such bondage is both valid and necessary.

However, though it is necessary for us now to make every possible effort to attain true self-knowledge by investigating the reality of our mind, which is in bondage, when we actually experience the self-knowledge that we now seek, we will discover that we are not this bondage-ensnared mind but only our eternally liberated real self. When we thus discover that our bondage is entirely unreal, being a mere figment of our imagination, our liberation or emancipation from that bondage will also be unreal. That is, we will discover that we are eternally and infinitely free, and hence we will not feel that we have ever been freed or liberated from anything.

After defining *mukti* or liberation, and indicating that we can attain it only by investigating or scrutinising ourself, Sri Ramana goes on to define *atma-vichara* or 'self-investigation', and while doing so he contrasts it with the practice of *dhyana* or 'meditation', saying:

... The name 'atma-vichara' [is truly applicable] only to [the practice of] always being [or remaining] having put [placed, kept, seated, deposited, detained, fixed or established our] mind in atma [our own real self], whereas dhyana [meditation] is imagining ourself to be sat-chit-ananda brahman [the absolute reality, which is being-consciousness-bliss]. ...

Since self-investigation or *atma-vichara* is the practice of remaining with our mind fixed in our real self, which is infinite and absolute being, it is a practice of just being without any mental activity. In contrast, the term meditation or *dhyana* is commonly understood to denote the practice of thinking or imagining ourself to be God or *brahman*, the infinite and absolute reality, whose nature is *sat-chit-ananda* or being-consciousness-bliss, and as such meditation is merely a mental activity.

This radical distinction between the practice of true self-investigation or *atma-vichara* and the practice of meditating 'I am *brahman*' was often emphasised by Sri Ramana, as for example in verse 29 of *Ulladu Narpadu*, in which he says:

Without saying 'I' by mouth, scrutinising by [our] inward sinking [diving or piercing] mind 'where does it [this mind] rise as I?' alone is the path of *jñana* [the practice that leads to true knowledge]. Instead [of practising such deep thought-free self-scrutiny], thinking '[I am] not this [body or mind], I am that [brahman or the absolute reality]' is [merely] an aid, [but] can it be vichara [self-investigation or self-scrutiny]?

True *vichara* or self-investigation is only the practice of our sinking or penetrating inwards with our entire mind or attention focused on our source or true being, our fundamental consciousness 'I am'. Meditating or dwelling upon the thought that we are not this body or mind but are only the infinite and absolute reality may be an aid in helping us to convince ourself of our need to turn inwards to know ourself, but it cannot itself be the actual process of self-investigation, because it is an extroverted activity of our mind.

When sages and sacred books tell us that we are not this finite body or mind but are only the infinite and absolute reality, their aim is to prompt us to turn our attention inwards to scrutinise ourself in order to discover what we really are. Instead of turning and sinking inwards thus, if we merely think 'I am not this, I am that', we have clearly misunderstood the purpose of their teaching. Therefore in verse 32 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

When the Vedas [or other sacred texts] proclaim 'that [absolute

reality] is you', our thinking 'I am that [absolute reality], [and] not this [body or mind]' [and] not [just] being [that absolute reality by] examining ourself [to ascertain] 'what [am I]?' is due to lack of mental strength [or discrimination], because that [absolute reality] always abides as ourself.

When we are told 'that is you', we should investigate and know 'what am I?'. If instead we simply meditate 'I am that', Sri Ramana says that this is due to absence or lack of *uran* or mental strength. The word *uran* literally means strength of will, self-control or knowledge, but in this context it means specifically strength of conviction. If we are truly convinced that we are that, we will not feel any need or desire to meditate 'I am that', but will instead feel only a strong urge and love to scrutinise ourself in order to discover 'I am what?'.

Since that absolute and infinite reality always exists as our own real self or essential being, we cannot know it until we know ourself. Therefore if we truly have love for the infinite fullness of being that we call 'God', we should meditate only upon ourself, and not upon any thought of God, or even upon the thought 'I am God'.

Any thought that we form in our mind is an imagination, and is experienced by us as something other than ourself, so no thought can be God. Whatever may be our conception of God, that conception is not God, and does not come even close to defining him, because he is the infinite reality, which transcends all thoughts and mental conceptions.

The thought of God is useful to us only so long as we imagine ourself to be this finite individual who feels 'I am this body', but if we get rid of this imagination by knowing ourself as we really are, no thought of God will be necessary, because we will experience him directly as our own real self. Until we experience him thus, thinking of him is beneficial, but rather than thinking of him as other than ourself, thinking of him as our real self is more beneficial. Therefore in verse 8 of *Upadesa Undiyar* Sri Ramana says:

Rather than anya-bhava [considering God to be anya or other than ourself], ananya-bhava [considering him to be ananya or

not other than ourself], 'he is I', is indeed best among all [ways of thinking of God].

However, since God is our own real self, rather than meditating 'he is I' or thinking of him as not other than ourself, putting aside all thoughts of God and meditating only upon our own self or essential being is the most perfect way of meditating upon him. If we are truly convinced that 'he is I', why should we continue thinking repeatedly 'he is I', instead of just being keenly self-attentive in order to experience ourself as the pure and infinite being that we really are? Therefore in verse 36 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana asks:

If we think that we are [this] body, that [meditation] which is thinking [instead] that 'no [we are not this body], we are that' is a good aid [to convince and remind us of the need] for abiding [in the state of true non-dual self-consciousness, in which we experience ourself] as 'we are that [absolute reality]'. [However] since we [in truth always] abide as that, why [should we be] always thinking that we are that? [In order to know that we are human] do we [need to] think 'I am a man'?

Thinking that we are God or the absolute reality is beneficial only insofar as it can help us to convince and remind ourself that we should not rise as this thinking mind but should instead abide as our own real self, which is that absolute reality, whose nature is just being and not doing or thinking anything. But just as we do not feel any need to think 'I am a human being', because we always experience ourself as such, so there is no need for us to think repeatedly 'I am that', because we are always that, whether or not we think so.

Therefore, since we are in truth always only that absolute reality, our aim should be to experience ourself as such, and in order to experience ourself thus, we must subside in our being, remaining without rising to think anything. Therefore in verse 27 of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana says:

The state of [just] being, in which 'I' [this mind] does not rise [as a seemingly separate entity], is the state in which we are that. Without scrutinising the place [abode or source] where 'I'

rises, how [is it possible for us] to reach the loss of [our individual] self, [which is the egoless state] in which 'I' does not rise? Without reaching [this state of egolessness or annihilation of our individuality], say, how [can we remain] abiding in the state of [our own real] self, in which [we experience ourself as] 'myself is that'?

We can experience ourself as God, the infinite and absolute reality, only in our natural state of complete egolessness, in which we do not rise as a separate individual 'I' or mind. In order to remain without rising as this mind, we must keenly scrutinise our innermost being, which is the source from which we have risen. When we keenly, vigilantly and unwaveringly scrutinise our innermost being, we will sink and merge into it, becoming one with it, and in the resulting state of egoless non-dual self-consciousness we will experience the truth that we are the absolute reality that we now call 'God' or *brahman*.

This practice of keen, vigilant and unwavering self-scrutiny or self-attentiveness is the practice of 'being having placed [our] mind in [our real] self', which Sri Ramana described when he said, "The name 'atma-vichara' [is truly applicable] only to [the practice of] always being [abiding or remaining] having put [placed or fixed our] mind in atma [our own real self]", and it is the only means by which we can effectively restrain or prevent the rising of our mind. In contrast to this simple practice of self-attentive being, which is entirely devoid of mental activity, the practice of meditating 'I am the absolute reality' is a mental activity, and hence it actually sustains the rising of our mind and prevents its subsidence.

In practice, the meditation or *dhyana* that Sri Ramana described when he said, "... whereas *dhyana* is imagining ourself to be *sat-chit-ananda brahman* [the absolute reality, which is being-consciousness-bliss]", is just a process of remembering some information that we have learnt from sacred books or sages, namely that we are in truth the absolute reality, which is infinite being, consciousness and happiness, and trying to imagine ourself as such. So long as we practise such *bhavana* or imaginative meditation, we

clearly do not know our real self, because if we did, we would not feel any need for such practice. Therefore, since we do not know our real self, we clearly do not know *brahman* or the absolute reality, nor do we know the true experience of being infinite being-consciousness-bliss. For our self-ignorant mind, terms such as God, *brahman*, the absolute reality and *sat-chit-ananda* or being-consciousness-bliss all denote only mental concepts, and not any actual experience.

Sri Ramana concludes this sixteenth paragraph by saying, "At one time it will become necessary [for us] to forget all that [we] have learnt", because all the information that we have learnt, including all that we have learnt from sacred books about God or the absolute reality, is only a collection of thoughts or mental conceptions, whereas the reality transcends not only all thoughts and concepts, but even the mind which thinks and knows such thoughts and concepts. Therefore, to know ourself as the absolute reality or *brahman*, we must forget all such thoughts and even our mind that thinks them, and must instead remain self-attentively as our own mere being, which is devoid of all thoughts and mental activity.

When Sri Ramana defines *dhyana* or 'meditation' as the practice of "imagining ourself to be *sat-chit-ananda brahman*", we should not confuse his use of the word *dhyana* in this context with his earlier use of the term *svarupa-dhyana* or 'self-meditation' in the tenth paragraph. The Sanskrit word *dhyana* derives from the verbal root *dhya* or *dhyai*, which means to think of, imagine, meditate upon, ponder over, reflect upon, consider or recollect, and hence it literally means meditation, thought or reflection. As such, *dhyana* is definitely a mental activity, a process of imagining or thinking of something.

However, when the word *dhyana* is applied to ourself as in *svarupa-dhyana*, it does not literally mean meditation or thinking, because our real self or being is not an object that we think of. If we try to think of or meditate upon ourself, our thinking mind will begin to subside, because it can rise and be active only by thinking of or attending to things other than itself. Therefore the practice of

svarupa-dhyana or 'self-meditation' is unlike all other forms of meditation, because it is not a mental activity or any form of 'doing' or 'thinking', but is just the state of self-attentive being.

The true meaning of 'meditating' upon being, the reality or 'that which is', is beautifully explained by Sri Ramana in the first of the two verses of the *mangalam* or 'auspicious introduction' to *Ulladu Narpadu*, which he initially composed as a two-line verse in *kural venba* metre, in which he said:

How to [or who can] meditate upon [our] being-essence? Being in [our] heart as [we truly] are alone is meditating [upon our being]. Know [this].

However, in order to match the metre of all the other verses in *Ulladu Narpadu* and to explain in more detail the subtle truth that he expressed so succinctly in this *kural* verse, he later added to it two opening lines, thereby transforming it into its present form, which is a four-line verse in *venba* metre, in which he says:

Other than *ulladu* ['that which is' or being], is there consciousness of being? Since [this] being-essence [this existing substance or reality which is] is in [our] heart devoid of [all] thought, how to [or who can] think of [or meditate upon this] being-essence, which is called 'heart'? Being in [our] heart as [we truly] are [that is, as our thought-free non-dual consciousness of being, 'I am'] alone is meditating [upon our being]. Know [this truth by experiencing it].

The Tamil original of this verse is a beautiful composition rich in alliteration and profound in meaning. Of its fifteen metrical feet, the first fourteen begin with the syllable ul, which is a root word that has two distinct but closely related meanings. That is, ul is the base of a tenseless verb meaning 'to be' or 'to have', and is also a separate but related word meaning 'within', 'inside' or 'interior'.

Of the fourteen words in this verse that begin with this syllable *ul*, eight are various words derived from the former sense of *ul* as the base of a tenseless verb meaning in this context 'to be', while the other six are words derived from the latter sense of *ul* as a word meaning 'within', 'inside' or interior'. Of these six words, three are

forms of the word *ullam*, which means 'heart', 'core', 'mind', 'consciousness' or 'self', and the other three are the word *ullal*, which means 'thought', 'thinking' or 'meditating', being a literary form of the verbal stem *ullutal*, which means 'thinking'.

The first sentence of this verse is a simple question, but one with a very deep and broad meaning, *ulladu aladu ulla-unarvu ullado?* As a noun *ulladu*, which is a term used in Tamil philosophical literature to denote the reality, truth or spirit, is both a compound noun meaning 'that (*adu*) which is (*ulla*)' and a gerund meaning 'being'. However these two meanings are essentially identical, because 'that which is' is not other than or any way distinct from its own natural state of being, and hence they are both appropriate in this context. The word *aladu* can be an adversative conjunction meaning 'or', 'if not' or 'else', or it can mean 'except as', 'other than' or 'besides'. The compound word *ulla-unarvu* means 'consciousness which is', 'being-consciousness' or 'consciousness of being', and *ullado* is an interrogative form of the third person singular verb *ulladu* and therefore means 'is there?' or 'does [it] exist?'.

Thus this first sentence gives various shades of meaning such as 'If being were not, could there be consciousness of being?', 'Except as [other than or besides] that which is, is there [any] consciousness of being?' or 'Can [our] consciousness of being ['I am'] be other than [our] being?'. Though all these shades of meaning are closely related, parallel and compatible with each other, they are each an alternative and helpful way of understanding the same basic truth.

Among the various shades of meaning implied in this first sentence, an important one derives from the fact that *ulladu* means 'that which is', and therefore in its literal sense it denotes only that which really is, and not anything which merely seems to be. That is, it does not denote merely a relative, finite, partial or qualified form of being, but only the absolute, infinite, indivisible and unqualified form of being – the being which really is. Hence an important meaning implied in this sentence is that if there were not an absolute being, could we be conscious of being?

That is, we are conscious of being only because there is something that really is — something that is absolutely, unconditionally, infinitely, eternally and immutably real. Thus this sentence is a powerful argument that establishes the truth that our mere consciousness of being clearly indicates the existence of an absolute reality — an unqualified form of being, an essential 'is'-ness or 'am'-ness which underlies all forms of knowledge.

This essential and absolute being is our own being, 'I am', because 'I am' is the fundamental being which we always experience and which is the base for our knowledge of all other forms of being. Since our essential being or 'am'-ness underlies and supports all our knowledge, including our knowledge of time, space and all other such limiting dimensions, it itself must transcend all limitations and must therefore be eternally, immutably, infinitely and absolutely real.

Though the word *ulladu* or 'that which is' may superficially appear to denote some being that exists as 'that', an object other than ourself, this is not the sense in which Sri Ramana intends us to understand it. That which really exists, and which we always know as existing, is only our own being, which we experience as 'I am'.

Our knowledge or consciousness of the being or existence of any other thing appears and disappears, and is therefore just an ephemeral apparition. Moreover, the 'consciousness' that knows the being or existence of other things is only our mind, and those 'other' things that it knows are all merely thoughts or mental images that it forms within itself by its own power of imagination. Since both our mind and all the 'other' things that it knows appear and disappear, their seeming reality is finite, relative and conditional, and hence they cannot be the absolute reality that is denoted by the word *ulladu* or 'that which [really] is'.

Therefore, in the context in which Sri Ramana uses it, the word *ulladu* does not denote any seeming reality that our mind knows as other than itself, but denotes only the absolute reality that underlies and supports the appearance of our mind. That is, it denotes only our own being, the first person being 'I am', and not any other form of

being, any second or third person being such as 'it is'. This fact is made even more clear by Sri Ramana in the second sentence of this verse, in which he says that the *ulla-porul*, the 'substance that is' or 'reality that is', exists in our heart and is devoid of thought, and that it is in fact that which we call our 'heart' or the core of our being. Therefore the words *ulladu* and *ulla-porul* denote only the thought-free reality that exists within us as our own essential being.

Whereas most sacred texts and other philosophical writings that attempt to establish the existence of God or the absolute reality do so by arguing that there must be an absolute cause, source or basis for the appearance of this world, in this first sentence of *Ulladu Narpadu* Sri Ramana establishes the existence of the absolute reality by simply pointing out that we could not be conscious of our own being or existence if we were not that which really is. That is, if we did not really exist, we could not know 'I am'. Therefore our own essential self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am', is absolutely real.

Since all other things depend for their seeming existence or being upon our knowledge of them, they are all merely relatively real, and not absolutely real. The only thing that we know as the absolute reality is our own essential being or 'am'-ness, whereas the being or 'is'-ness of all other things, including both this entire world and any God whom we conceive as being separate from our own being, are only relative forms of reality.

Therefore in this simple sentence, "If that which is were not, would there be consciousness of being?", Sri Ramana indicates that the only evidence we require to prove the existence of the absolute reality, 'that which really is', is our simple consciousness of our own being. Thus he implies that, since our knowledge of all other things depends upon our knowledge of our own being, 'I am', any argument that we may give to establish the existence of the absolute reality based merely upon the seeming existence of otherness instead of upon our fundamental knowledge of our own being is inherently flawed.

This is why all the usual arguments about the existence or non-

existence of God can never be resolved unless we first consider the reality of our own existence. We can never establish the existence of the absolute reality or 'God' on the basis of the seeming existence of this world, but only upon the indubitable existence of ourself.

Because we know the world, we know that we certainly exist to know it. The existence of the world may be a mere apparition or imagination, like the seeming existence of the world that we know in a dream, but our own existence is undoubtedly real, because if we did not really exist, we could not know either our own existence or the seeming existence of any other thing. Therefore Sri Ramana begins the main text of *Ulladu Narpadu* by saying in verse 1:

Because we see [or perceive] the world, accepting [the existence of] one *mudal* [first principle, origin, source, base, fundamental reality or primal substance] which has a power which is manifold [or diverse, that is, a power to appear as if it were many diverse things] is indeed unavoidable. The picture of names and forms [this entire world-appearance], the seer [our mind which perceives it], the underlying [or existing] screen [on which it appears] and the shining light [of consciousness by which we perceive it] — all these are he [this one primal substance], who is [our own real] self.

The one *mudal* – the sole fundamental reality, basic essence or primal substance – which Sri Ramana refers to in this verse, and which he says is our own real self, is the same absolute reality that he describes as *ulladu* or 'that which is' in the first *mangalam* verse. Because we know 'I am', we know that this one original, fundamental and absolute reality, which is our own real self or essential being, does indeed exist. And because when we rise as our mind we seemingly experience within it many other things besides our own being, we know that our single self-conscious being has the power to appear as if it were many diverse things.

All these diverse things – namely this entire world-appearance, which rises in our mind as series of mental images and which is like a motion picture projected upon a screen, our mind, which experiences this picture, the underlying 'screen' or substratum of

being from which, in which and upon which both our mind and this whole picture of ever-changing mental images appear, and the clear light of consciousness that enables us to experience this entire dream-show – are in essence only the one primal substance or fundamental non-dual reality, which is our own real self or essential being. That is, because all this multiplicity arises in us like a dream, and disappears when our mind subsides in sleep, the substance from which it is formed is only our own non-dual self-conscious being, which is the one fundamental and absolute reality.

Though in this verse Sri Ramana seems to affirm the existence of this one non-dual absolute reality on the basis of our experience of this world-appearance, he actually begins this verse with the word nam, which means 'we', thereby placing emphasis not upon the world as such, but only upon ourself, who seem to perceive this world. This emphasis is reiterated by him still more strongly in the final words of this verse, tan am avan, which mean 'he who is self', and which therefore clearly indicate what he actually means by the term 'one mudal', namely that 'he', the 'one mudal' or God, who is the one fundamental reality or primal substance that underlies and appears as all this multiplicity, is only our own real self or essential being. Thus in this verse Sri Ramana actually establishes the existence of the absolute reality based not upon the seeming existence of the world, but only upon the indubitable existence of ourself, who seem to cognise it.

However, whereas in this first verse of the main text of *Ulladu Narpadu* he establishes the existence of the absolute reality in an indirect manner based upon our transient consciousness of this world, in the first sentence of the first verse of the *mangalam* or 'auspicious introduction' to *Ulladu Narpadu* he establishes it in a direct manner based upon our permanent consciousness of our own simple being. That is, whether or not we perceive this world, we always experience the absolute reality, 'that which is', because we are always conscious of our own essential being, 'I am'.

Since we always clearly know our own being or 'am'-ness, it is indeed 'that which really is', and hence we need no other evidence to

convince ourself of the indubitable existence of 'that which is'. We, who are in essence the self-conscious being that we always experience as 'I am', are ourself that which truly is, that which definitely is, that which exists unconditionally and independently, and which is therefore absolutely real.

Another shade of meaning conveyed in this first sentence is based upon the meaning implied by the compound word *ulla-unarvu*. That is, since *ulla-unarvu* means 'being-consciousness' or 'consciousness of being', and since the first and fundamental form in which we are conscious of being is the consciousness or knowledge that we have of our own being, which we experience as 'am', the meaning implied by *ulla-unarvu* is this basic consciousness 'am', which is our first person consciousness of our own being. Since 'am' is a predicate, it must have a subject, and that subject can only be 'I', which is the real being denoted here by the word *ulladu*. Therefore, one meaning implied in this first sentence is: "If the fundamental being 'I' did not really exist, could we experience this consciousness 'am'?".

Moreover, since *aladu* means not only 'unless' or 'if not' but also 'other than' or 'besides', another parallel but slightly different shade of meaning conveyed in this sentence is: "Can our consciousness 'am' be other than our essential being 'I'?". That is, our consciousness of our being, which is denoted by the word 'am', is not other than our being, which is denoted by the word 'I'.

When we interpret *aladu* as meaning 'other than', this same basic meaning stands even without our involving the inferred words 'I' and 'am'. That is, one meaning that is clearly conveyed in this first sentence is: 'Other than that which is, is there [any] consciousness which is [to know that which is]?', or more simply, 'Other than being, is there [any] consciousness of being?'.

In other words, consciousness is itself being, because if it were other than being, consciousness would not be and therefore could not know being. This is the same crucially important truth that Sri Ramana expresses in very similar words in verse 23 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

Because of the non-existence of [any] *unarvu* [consciousness] other [than *ulladu*] to know *ulladu* ['that which is' or being], *ulladu* is *unarvu*. [That] *unarvu* itself exists as 'we' [our essential being or true self].

The crucial truth which is stated explicitly in this verse of *Upadesa Undiyar*, and which is also implied clearly in this first sentence of *Ulladu Narpadu*, is in perfect accord with the experience of each one of us, because the basic form in which we each experience our consciousness is as our consciousness of ourself or our own being. Our consciousness is conscious of its own being because, since it is consciousness, its being is essentially self-conscious. Or to express the same truth more directly, we are consciousness, our being is essentially self-conscious, and hence our consciousness and our being are inseparable. That is, we are not only being or *ulladu*, 'that which is', but are also consciousness of being or *ulla-unarvu*, 'that which is conscious of that which is'.

Yet another shade of meaning, one that is important in the context of the rest of this verse, derives from the fact that besides meaning 'which is' or 'of being' the word *ulla* in *ulla-unarvu* can also mean 'to think', because it can be interpreted as being the infinitive form of the verb *ullutal*. Viewed in this sense, the meaning of this first sentence would be, 'Other than that which is, is there a consciousness to think [of it]?'. That is, since we are not separate from the absolute reality upon which we wish to meditate, we can only meditate upon it truly by experiencing it as ourself, and since it is devoid of all thoughts, we can experience it as ourself only by experiencing ourself without any thought as our own simple self-conscious being.

The second sentence of this verse is a longer but still quite simple question, *ulla-porul ullal ara ullatte ulladal, ullam enum ulla-porul ullal evan?* The compound word *ulla-porul*, which denotes the same real and absolute being that is denoted by the word *ulladu* in the first sentence, literally means the thing, entity, reality, substance or essence which is, or in other words, the existing reality or being

essence. The word *ullal* means 'thought' or 'thinking', and *ara* means 'devoid of'. The word *ullatte* is a locative form of *ullam* and therefore means 'in [our] heart', that is, in the core or innermost depth of our being, and *ulladal* means 'since [it] is'. The words *ullam enum ulla-porul* mean 'the being-essence, which is called heart', *ullal* here means 'thinking' or 'meditating', and *evan* means 'how' or 'who'.

Thus this sentence means, 'Since [this] being-essence is in [our] heart devoid of [all] thought [or all thinking], how to [or who can] meditate [upon this] being-essence, which is called [our] heart?'. That is, since our true and essential being transcends and is therefore devoid of all thoughts, how can any person think of it, conceive it or meditate upon it?

In this sentence the use of the word *ullam* or 'heart' is very significant, because Sri Ramana not only says that our essential being exists in our heart or innermost core, but also says that it is called our heart. In other words, *ullam* or 'heart' is just another name for our essential being, which is the infinite and absolute reality. Since our 'heart' or innermost core is our own real self, we ourself are the absolute reality or being that exists in our heart as our heart.

Moreover, in literary Tamil *ullam* can be used as an alternative form of *ullom*, the first person plural form of the verb *ul*, and as such it means 'are' as in 'we are'. In this context, however, *ullam* is not intended to mean 'are' as a first person plural verb, but rather 'are' as an inclusive form of the first person singular verb 'am', and hence we can translate it simply as 'am'. Interpreted in this sense, therefore, the words *ullam enum ulla-porul* would mean the "being-essence, which is called 'am'".

Thus by using this word *ullam* in this context, Sri Ramana indicated that the real meaning of the word 'heart' or 'core' when used in a spiritual context is only our essential self-conscious being, 'am', and also that an appropriate name for the absolute reality, the essence or substance that just is, is not only 'heart' or 'core' but also 'am'. In fact, since the word 'am' necessarily implies the word 'I', and vice versa, either jointly or separately 'I' and 'am' are the most

appropriate of all the names we can use to denote the absolute reality or 'God', because the absolute reality is always experienced directly by each one of us as 'I am'.

In the third sentence Sri Ramana concludes by defining what true 'meditation' upon the reality is, saying *ullatte ullapadi ullade ullal*. As we have seen, *ullatte* means 'in [our] heart', or by implication 'in am', and *ullal* here means 'meditation' or 'meditating'. The word *ullade* is the gerund *ulladu* meaning 'being' with the suffix *e* added as a stress implying 'alone', 'itself' or 'indeed'. Thus these three words *ullatte ullade ullal* mean 'being in [our] heart [or 'am'-ness] alone is meditating', or in other words, being in our real self or essential self-conscious being, 'I am', is truly 'meditating' upon it.

However, the most important word in this sentence is *ullapadi*, because it explains precisely what is meant by the words *ullatte ullade* or 'only being in [our] heart'. How exactly we are to be in our heart or true being is *ullapadi*, which means 'as [it] is' or 'as [we] are'. But what does Sri Ramana actually imply in this context by using this term 'as [it] is' or 'as [we] are'? The meaning he implies is 'devoid of thought' or 'without thinking', because in the previous sentence he revealed the true nature of our being-essence saying that it exists within us 'devoid of [all] thought' or 'devoid of [all] thinking'.

Moreover, since he indicated in the first sentence that our true being is itself our consciousness of being – in other words, that our true being is self-conscious – and that we are therefore the perfectly non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am', he uses this term *ullapadi* here not only to imply 'devoid of thinking' but also to imply 'as our non-dual consciousness of being' or 'as our non-dual self-consciousness'. Therefore the meaning of this entire sentence, *ullatte ullapadi ullade ullal*, is: 'Being in [our] heart as [we truly] are [that is, as our thought-free non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am'] alone is meditating [upon our being, which is the absolute reality]'.

The final word with which Sri Ramana then concludes this verse is *unar*, which is an imperative meaning 'know' or 'be conscious', and which implies in this context either 'understand this truth' or

'experience your real being by thus being as you really are'.

Thus in this verse the conclusion to which Sri Ramana leads us is that we can never conceive or think of the absolute reality, which is both our being and our consciousness of our being, because it transcends all thinking and can therefore never be reached or grasped by any thought, and that the only way to 'meditate' upon it or to know it is therefore just to be it as it is, that is, as our simple thought-free and non-dual consciousness of our own being, 'I am'.

In the first of the two verses of his *payiram* or preface to *Ulladu Narpadu*, Sri Muruganar writes that Sri Ramana joyfully composed this clear and authoritative text in response to his request, "So that we may be saved, [graciously] reveal to us the nature of reality and the means to attain [join, reach, experience or be united with] it". Accordingly, in this first *mangalam* verse Sri Ramana reveals to us both the essential nature of reality and the means by which we can experience it, which is possible only by our being one with it.

In the first two sentences of this verse Sri Ramana reveals several crucial truths about the nature of the one absolute reality, which is *ulladu* or 'that which is'. Firstly he explains that it is not only being but also consciousness, because other than 'that which is' there cannot be any consciousness to know 'that which is'. Therefore 'that which [really] is' is self-conscious – that is, it is absolutely non-dual self-conscious being.

Secondly he says that that truly existing reality or 'being-essence' exists devoid of thoughts, or devoid of thinking. That is, it is not a mere thought or mental conception, but is the fundamental reality that underlies and supports the seeming existence of our thinking mind and all its thoughts. However, though it supports the imaginary appearance of thoughts, in reality it is devoid of thoughts, and hence devoid of the thinking consciousness that we call our 'mind', because both this thinking mind and its thoughts are unreal. In the clear view of the one self-conscious reality, thoughts do not exist, because they appear to exist only in the distorted view of our mind, which is itself one among the thoughts that it imagines and knows.

Thirdly he says that it exists 'in heart', that is, in the innermost

core of our being. In other words, it is not merely something that exists outside us or separate from us, but is that which exists within us as our own essential reality. He also adds that it is called 'heart', thereby indicating that the word 'heart' does not merely denote the abode in which the reality exists, but more truly denotes the reality itself. Moreover, since the word *ullam* means not only 'heart' but also 'am', by saying that the truly existing reality or 'being-essence' is called *ullam* Sri Ramana reveals that it is not something that exists as an object but is our own self – our essential being or 'am'-ness.

In other words, the absolute reality exists not only in us but also as us. It is the real 'heart' or core of our being. That is, it is our own very essence, substance or reality. It is that which we really are. Other than as the one absolute reality, we truly do not exist.

Because we mistake ourself to be this thinking mind or object-knowing consciousness, the one fundamental reality is said to exist within us, but this is only a relative truth – a truth that is only true relative to the distorted perspective of our mind, which experiences dualities such as subject and object, 'self' and 'other', 'inside' and outside', and so on. Since the one fundamental reality transcends all such dualities, the absolute truth about its nature is not merely that it exists within us, but that it exists as us.

Finally, by asking, "ulla-porul ullal evan?", which means 'how to [or who can] meditate [upon this] being-essence?', Sri Ramana emphasises the truth that since the absolute reality is that which transcends thought, it cannot be conceived by mind or reached by thought. Therefore, since its nature is such, what is the means by which we can 'reach' it, 'attain' it or experience it as it really is?

Since it is not only that which is completely devoid of thought, but is also that which is essentially self-conscious, and since it is our own 'heart' or essential being, the only way we can experience it is by just being it. In other words, the only means by which we can 'attain' this one non-dual absolute reality is by simply remaining as we always truly are – that is, as our own true, essential, thought-free, self-conscious being. Therefore in the third sentence of this verse Sri Ramana says, "Being in [our] heart as it is alone is meditating [upon

this truly existing reality, which is called 'heart']", thereby declaring emphatically that this practice of 'being as we are' is the only means by which we can experience the absolute reality as it is.

Thus in this first *mangalam* verse Sri Ramana succinctly reveals both the essential nature of reality and the means by which we can 'reach' it, 'attain' it or experience it as it really is. Hence in a nutshell this verse expresses the very essence of *Ulladu Narpadu*, and all the other forty-one verses of this profound text are a richly elaborated explanation of the fundamental truths that he expressed so briefly yet so clearly and powerfully in this first verse.

Indeed, since it reveals so clearly not only the nature of the one absolute reality but also the only means by which we can actually experience it, this verse summarises the essence not only of *Ulladu Narpadu* but of the entire teachings of Sri Ramana. Therefore it is truly the *chudamani* or crest-jewel of his teachings, and if we are able to understand its full import correctly, comprehensively and clearly, we have truly understood the very essence of his teachings.

As in all his other teachings, in this verse Sri Ramana explains to us the nature of reality for a single purpose, namely to direct our mind towards the one practice that will actually enable us to experience reality as it truly is. Unless we understand the real nature of our goal, we will not be able to understand why the only one path by which we can 'reach' that goal is to practise just being as we always really are.

If our goal were something other than ourself, there would be some distance for us to travel in order to reach it. But since we ourself are the goal that we seek, there is absolutely no distance between us and it, and hence the path by which we can reach it cannot be essentially any different from it. That is, between us and our goal, which is our own real self, there is truly no space to accommodate any path that is other than our goal. Hence our path and our goal must be one in their essential nature. Since our goal is just thought-free self-conscious being, our path must likewise be just thought-free self-conscious being. This is the essential truth that Sri Ramana reveals so clearly in this verse, and that he reiterates in so

many different words throughout his other teachings.

In our natural state of absolutely non-dual self-knowledge, which is our goal, our experience of our thought-free self-conscious being is effortless, because it is what we always really are. However in our present state, in which we imagine ourself to be this thinking mind, we appear to be not devoid of thought, as in truth we are, and hence we feel that we have to make effort to experience our thought-free self-conscious being. Thus the only difference between our path and our goal is the effort that now seems to be necessary in order for us to abide in our natural state of thought-free self-conscious being.

In this path, the effort that we have to make is not actually an effort to be, because we always effortlessly are, but is an effort to avoid mistaking ourself to be this thinking mind. So long as we imagine ourself to be this mind, we do not experience ourself as the true thought-free self-consciousness that is our real nature. Therefore in order to avoid mistaking ourself to be this thinking mind, we have to make effort to focus our entire attention upon our essential self-conscious being, 'I am', thereby withdrawing it from all thoughts.

This state in which we focus our entire attention upon our own self-conscious being, thereby excluding all thoughts, is the true state of 'meditation', which Sri Ramana describes in this verse as *ullatte ullapadi ullade* or 'only being in heart as it is [or as we are]'. That is, since the true nature of our essential self or 'heart' is just thought-free self-conscious being, 'being in heart as it is' is just the state of abiding calmly and peacefully in our own essential self as our own essential self – that is, free of all thoughts as our own true non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am'.

Thus the only path by which we can 'reach' or 'attain' our own essential self, which is the one and only absolute reality, is this simple practice of keenly attentive self-consciousness — self-consciousness that is so keenly attentive that it gives absolutely no room for the rising of any thought. Since no thought can rise unless we attend to it, when we focus our entire attention upon our own essential self-consciousness, 'I am', we automatically exclude the possibility of any thought arising.

That is, thoughts arise only because we think them, and this act of thinking involves an imaginary diverting of our attention away from our essential self-consciousness, 'I am'. Therefore the only effective means by which we can remain completely free of all thoughts – and hence completely free of our mind, which can rise and appear to exist only by thinking – is by just being attentively, keenly and vigilantly self-conscious.

This state of thought-free and therefore mind-free self-conscious being alone is the state that Sri Ramana describes as 'being as we are', and it is not only our path but also our goal. When we practise this vigilantly attentive and therefore thought-excluding self-consciousness with effort, it is the path, and when we experience it effortlessly as our unavoidable natural state, it is our goal, which is the absolutely non-dual state of true self-knowledge.

The experience of true self-knowledge that we will attain by practising this art of being as we really are, without thinking of any other thing, is clearly described by Sri Ramana in the fifth and final verse of *Anma-Viddai*:

In the *ullam* [heart, mind or consciousness] which investigates [itself] within [itself], [by just being] as it is [as clear self-conscious being] without thinking of [anything] other [than itself], *atma* [our real self], which is called Annamalai [and which is] the one *porul* [absolute reality or essential being] that shines as the eye to [our] mind-eye, which is the eye to [our five physical] senses beginning with [our] eyes, which illumine [or enable us to know the material world, which is composed of the five elements] beginning with space, [and] as the space to [our] mind-space, will indeed be seen. [For us to be able to remain thus as we really are] grace is also necessary. [In order to be a suitable receptacle to imbibe grace, we should] be possessed of love [for just being as we are]. [Infinite] happiness will [then] appear [or be experienced].

The word Annamalai is a name that Sri Ramana often used when referring to God, the absolute reality, which is the *paramatman*, the transcendent spirit 'I am', the one real self of all living beings. Using

the word *kan* or 'eye' as a metaphor for consciousness, he describes this absolute reality as the "eye to [our] mind-eye, which is the eye to [our five physical] senses beginning with [our] eyes, which illumine [or enable us to know the material world, which is composed of the five elements] beginning with space".

That is, the absolute reality is our essential self-consciousness – our fundamental consciousness of our own being, 'I am' – which is the true light of consciousness that illumines our mind, enabling it to know both itself and all other things, which are merely thoughts that it forms within itself by its power of imagination, which is a distorted function of consciousness. There is truly no 'eye', 'light' or consciousness other than our fundamental non-dual consciousness of our own being, but when we imagine that consciousness to be our mind, it is seemingly reflected in the adjuncts or *upadhis* that we imagine to be ourself, and thereby it seems to know things other than itself.

That is, the limited consciousness that we call our 'mind', and which Sri Ramana here refers to as our 'mind-eye', is a reflected and thereby distorted form of consciousness, an apparition whose sole underlying reality is our real non-dual consciousness of being. Hence he describes our real consciousness as the 'eye to [our] mind-eye' not because it actually knows anything through our mind, but because it is the one reality that we mistakenly experience as our mind. Since our mind could not know anything if the light of our real consciousness were not shining within it as 'I am', that 'light' is the 'eye' that illumines our mind.

Our mind is in turn the 'eye' to our five senses, because it is the consciousness that sees through our eyes, hears through our ears, and so on. Our five senses function like lenses through which we direct our mind in the form of our attention to perceive the seemingly external world, which is considered to be composed of five 'elements' or basic qualities known as space, air, fire, water and earth (which in approximate terms may be described respectively as the qualities of accommodation, motility or non-cohesive fluidity, transformation, cohesive fluidity and solidity). Since this directing of

our attention through our senses thus enables us to know this imaginary world, Sri Ramana says figuratively that our senses 'illumine [the material world, which is composed of the five elements] beginning with space'.

Besides describing the absolute reality, which is our own real self, our fundamental and essential consciousness of being, as the 'eye to [our] mind-eye', he also describes it as the 'space to [our] mind-space'. The physical space or *bhutakasa* in which all the objects of this universe are contained is itself contained within our mind-space or *chitakasa*, which is in turn contained within our consciousness-space or *chidakasa*.

That is, just like the world that we experience in our dream, this entire universe and the physical space in which it is contained are mere thoughts or mental images that we form in our mind by our power of imagination, and hence the 'space' in which this physical space is contained is our own mind. Likewise, since our mind rises and subsides within ourself, the 'space' in which this 'mind-space' is contained is our own fundamental consciousness of our being.

In order for us to 'see' or experience within ourself this absolute reality, which is *atman*, our own true self or spirit, the 'eye to [our] mind-eye' and the 'space to [our] mind-space', Sri Ramana says we only have to "investigate within as it is without thinking of [anything] other". That is, we have to investigate or scrutinise ourself within ourself, by just being as we really are, that is, as our clear self-conscious being, without thinking of anything other than ourself. Only by practising this art of simple self-attentive being can we experience the absolute reality as our own self or essential being.

However, after saying this, Sri Ramana adds an important proviso, "arulum venume", which means 'grace is also necessary'. What exactly is the 'grace' that he refers to here, and why does he emphasise the need for it in this context?

Grace is a power – the supreme and only truly existing power. It is the power that is inherent in our real self, and that is indeed not different from our real self, because our real self is absolute, infinite and therefore perfectly non-dual being, consciousness, happiness and

love. Grace is the power of love, the love that our real self has for itself, the love that it has just to be as it is, as perfectly self-conscious and infinitely blissful being.

Grace is therefore not a power that is extraneous or alien to us. It is our own power, our power of love for ourself – for our own essential self-conscious and blissful being.

Our power of grace is the true and original nature of all other forms of power. The first other form of power that seemingly arises from grace, which is the only real power, is our power of *maya* or self-delusion. Our power of *maya* arises because we seemingly choose to forget or ignore our true, infinite, undivided and non-dual self-conscious being, and to imagine ourself to be a finite consciousness that experiences the existence of duality or otherness. This self-imposed self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance is not real, but is a mere imagination, and it is experienced not by our real self, but only by our mind, which is itself part of the imagination that it experiences.

Other than our mind or power of imagination, which is just a distorted and illusory function of our simple non-dual consciousness of being, there is no such thing as *maya* or self-delusion. Our power of *maya* arises in the form of our own mind, and it and its effects appear to exist only so long as we imagine ourself to be this mind – that is, only so long as we ignore our true non-dual self-conscious being, and therefore fail to investigate or scrutinise the real, fundamental and essential nature of our mind. If we keenly scrutinise our mind, which we experience as our seemingly finite individual consciousness 'I', in order to discover what it really is, it will dissolve and merge in our true non-dual self-conscious being, because it has no reality other than that.

However, in order for us to investigate or scrutinise our mind effectively, Sri Ramana says that grace is necessary. Why is this so? When we undertake the practice of self-investigation or self-attentive being, we feel ourself to be this mind, which is the power of *maya* or self-delusion. If we believe that we can attain our natural state of true self-knowledge by our own efforts, that is, by the power of our

own mind, we will surely fail, because our mind is the power of selfdelusion, and hence it will delude us in an infinite variety of ways in order to ensure its own survival. In order for us to attain true selfknowledge, therefore, we must surrender our mind, that is, we must entirely dissociate ourself from it. So long as we continue to cling to the illusion that this mind is ourself, it will continue to delude us.

Therefore, since we cannot rely upon the power of our mind to enable us to experience ourself as we really are, upon what power must we instead depend? Only upon the power of grace, which is the source from which our mind derives its limited power. We can attain absolute true knowledge only by the infinite power of grace, and not by the finite power of our mind, because no finite power can produce an infinite or absolute result.

Therefore, so long as we continue to experience ourself as this finite consciousness that we call our 'mind', which we will continue to do until it is dissolved entirely in the clarity of true self-knowledge, we must depend entirely upon the power of grace to motivate us and impel us in our efforts to practise the thought-free and therefore mind-free art of self-attentive being.

How in practice can we depend entirely upon the power of grace? Or in other words, how can we avoid depending even in the least upon the self-delusive power of our mind?

The answer is given by Sri Ramana in the next clause, "anbu punume", in which anbu means 'love' and punume literally means 'put on', 'wear', 'undertake', 'assume', 'be possessed of', 'be yoked with', 'be caught by', 'be ensnared by', 'be entangled with' or 'be fettered with'. Thus anbu punume basically means 'be possessed of love', or simply 'have love'.

Only by true, whole-hearted and all-consuming love for our natural state of just being can we truly become a receptacle fit to receive, imbibe and assimilate grace. As explained by Sri Ramana in verse 966 of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, which we discussed in the previous chapter, grace is always available to us, existing in the core of our being as the clear light of our own absolute self-consciousness, 'I am'. To receive, imbibe and assimilate it,

therefore, all we need do is to turn our entire attention towards it. But in order to be able to turn and keep our attention firmly fixed in the clear light of grace, which is our own essential consciousness of being, devoid of even the least contamination in the form of thinking or knowing otherness, we must have overwhelming love for being.

What obstructs and obscures the clear light of grace is only the rising of our mind with all its restless activity of thinking and its resulting knowledge of duality or otherness. Therefore we can experience and assimilate grace only to the extent to which our mind subsides, or in other words, only to the extent to which we surrender ourself to being.

Normally, however, our mind is not willing to surrender itself entirely by subsiding self-attentively in our own essential being, and hence when we try to turn our attention towards ourself it rises in rebellion, trying to think of anything other than our simple being. Only when we succeed in cultivating overwhelming *bhakti* or love for just being, and consequently steadfast *vairagya* or freedom from even the least desire to think of anything other than being, will our mind willingly submit to its own annihilation.

The overwhelming and all-consuming love for absolute being that we require in order to be able to surrender ourself entirely to the infinite fullness of being that we call 'God' is cultivated within us both by the magnetically attractive power of grace, which is always shining in the innermost core of our being as infinite peace, happiness and love, and by our responding to it by willingly turning our attention towards it and thereby trying to abide as our own naturally self-conscious being.

All we can 'do' to cultivate the required love in our heart is to yield to the attracting power of grace by tenaciously persevering in our practice of the art of self-attentive being. If we sincerely and repeatedly attempt to keep our entire attention fixed in our mere being, grace will bestow upon us every form of help that we need, both inwardly and outwardly, and will thereby steadily nurture within us the true love that we require.

The power that motivates us and enables us to turn our mind

inwards and to abide firmly as our simple self-conscious being is not the power of our mind, but only the power of true love or grace, which is the power of our own real self. The power of our mind is a power of extroversion, self-delusion and egocentric desire, and hence it can never enable us either to turn within or to remain firmly in the egoless and thought-free state of just being. It is in fact the power that by its very nature drives our attention outwards and therefore prevents us from abiding as being.

Therefore we should never imagine that by our own egotistical power we can attain the non-dual experience of true self-knowledge. Without the power of grace we can never cultivate the perfectly submissive and heart-melting love that we require to abide eternally as the infinite and mind-free reality.

If we imagine that we can attain the supreme and egoless state of absolute oneness with the infinite reality by the finite power of our own mind and our mind-driven efforts, we are merely allowing our mind to delude us into believing its power to be real. The seeming power of our mind is not only trivial in comparison with the infinite power of grace, but is actually entirely unreal. It is in truth merely a self-deceptive illusion, and if we scrutinise it keenly to discover the reality that underlies it, it will dissolve and disappear in the clear light of pure self-conscious being.

So long as our mind tries to assert its own power in an attempt to turn its attention away from all thoughts towards itself, it is merely struggling with itself, thereby giving reality to its own seeming existence, and hence it will not be able to subside truly and completely. It can subside completely only by lovingly yielding itself and all its self-assertive power to the true power of grace, which is the naturally attractive power of the perfect peace and happiness that we can experience only in the state of thought-free self-conscious being. Hence we will be able to surrender our mind completely only when, by the all-loving power of grace and by our reciprocal love and effort just to be, we steadily gain the inner clarity that is necessary for us to be able to experience fully the overwhelming attraction of the infinitely blissful state of just being.

When we sincerely, lovingly and submissively persevere in practising the art of being to the best of our ability, the power of grace, which is the infinite happiness of absolute self-conscious being, will steadily attract our mind more and more strongly, and thus it will naturally draw it gently within, into the innermost depth of our being, where it will consume it in the perfect clarity of true non-dual self-knowledge.

What we will then experience is expressed by Sri Ramana in the final clause of this verse, "inbu tonume", which means simply 'happiness will appear' or 'happiness will shine forth'. That is, when, by the power of grace and by our responding to it appropriately by willingly subsiding into our natural state of self-conscious being, we are finally overwhelmed entirely by our love for just being, the apparition of our unreal mind or ego will vanish, and in its place we will experience ourself as infinite and eternal happiness.

In order to yield ourself entirely to the power of grace and thereby just to be as we really are, we must be extremely vigilant to avoid giving even the least room to the rising of our thinking mind. Since we allow our mind to rise only by imagining anything other than our own being, in order to avoid allowing it to rise we must keep our attention firmly fixed in our mere being. In other words, to be as we really are, we must be vigilantly self-attentive.

Sri Ramana has therefore taught us that vigilantly, steadfastly and tenaciously practising this art of self-attentive being is the only means by which we can surrender our mind or false individual self entirely and thereby experience our real self or infinite being. To practise this art successfully we must have a true and deep love for being. That is, we must have a sincere and wholehearted love just to be, and not to be 'this' or 'that' or anything else.

So long as we have even the least liking or desire for anything other than being, we will be impelled by that desire to rise as our mind to experience that thing. Therefore we must free ourself from all our desire for anything other than our essential being, and as we saw earlier, the only way we can do so effectively and entirely is by

clinging tenaciously to our practice of self-attentiveness or *svarupa-dhyana*.

Self-attentive being is both our means and our end – our path and our goal. Since the nature of our true self or absolute reality is eternally self-conscious being, being that is ever clearly conscious only of itself and of nothing else, we can experience it only by being as it is – that is, as thought-free self-conscious being. The only difference between our path, which is our practice of self-conscious being, and our goal, which is our natural and effortless state of self-conscious being, lies in the effort that we now seem to require in order to remain as our self-conscious being.

The effort that we now require to remain as our naturally and eternally self-conscious or self-attentive being is only the effort we need to make in order to resist the impelling force of our own desires. Our desires impel us to rise as this finite object-knowing consciousness we call our 'mind', to imagine things other than ourself, and to attend to or think of those 'other' things. Therefore so long as even the least desire remains in our heart, we have to make a tenacious effort to remain attentively as our self-conscious being.

Effort is the application of force. To resist the driving force of our desires and to remain steadily and motionlessly poised as being, we have to apply an equal and opposite force. That opposite force is the force of our love to be. If the force of our love to be is not equal to or greater than the force of our desires to think, our desires will overpower us and we will begin to think of the objects of our desire. Therefore the practice of the art of being is the practice of cultivating the force of our love to be and applying it to resist the delusive force of our desires for other things.

By repeated and persistent practice of this art of self-attentive being, we will steadily gain the love we require to remain effortlessly as being. Only when our love grows by means of our sincere and tenacious efforts to be ever self-attentive, and when it thereby finally overwhelms us entirely, will we achieve the skill to remain effortlessly in our natural state of just being, which is our thought-free and therefore perfectly clear self-consciousness, 'I am'. The love we have just to be is the purest and most perfect form of love. Since our natural state of just being is the true form of God, attending to and thereby abiding as our essential being is the only way we can truly express our love for God. As Sri Ramana says in verse 9 of *Upadesa Undiyar* and verse 15 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*:

By the strength of [such *ananya*] *bhava* [the attitude or conviction that God is not other than ourself], being [abiding or remaining] in *sat-bhava* [our natural state of being], which transcends [all] *bhavana* [imagination, thinking or meditation], is alone *para-bhakti tattva* [the true state of supreme devotion].

Since God exists as *atma* [our own real self or essential being], *atma-anusandhana* [self-contemplation or self-attentiveness] is *parama-isa-bhakti* [supreme devotion to God].

When we rise as our mind or finite individual self, we seemingly separate ourself from God, who is our own true being, and thereby we commit the 'original sin' of imagining divisions in the infinite and indivisible being that is God. By imagining ourself to be separate from God, we are defiling his infinity, reducing him in our view to something less than the infinite fullness of being that he really is. Therefore if we wish to restore to God what we have unrightfully usurped from him, we must surrender our finite self back into his infinite being, and we can do this only by remaining in the egoless state of absolutely non-dual self-consciousness, which is our natural state of infinite, undivided and therefore thought-free being.

In order to be able to give ourself entirely to God in this manner, we must be overwhelmed by an unreserved and all-consuming love for him. So long as we retain even the least love for our existence as a separate individual, we will resist yielding ourself entirely to him. However, the more we practise abiding as our perfectly thought-free and clearly self-conscious being, the more we will experience the taste of the infinite peace and happiness which are the real nature of our being, and thereby our love for being will steadily increase, until eventually it will consume our mind and drown it for ever in the ocean of infinite being, consciousness, happiness, peace and love.

Abiding in this state of absolute bliss is the true way of serving God in the manner in which he wants us to serve him. This important truth about the only manner in which we can render real service to God is stated by Sri Ramana in verse 29 of *Upadesa Undiyar*:

Abiding permanently in this state of *para-sukha* [supreme or transcendent happiness], which is devoid of [both] bondage and liberation, is abiding in the service of God.

When we imagine ourself to be a finite individual, we are doing a great disservice to God, because we are thereby making it necessary for him to draw us back into himself. Therefore so long as we imagine ourself to be separate from him, nothing that we may do is truly a service to him. The only service he requires of us is for us to surrender ourself entirely to his will, which is that we should remain happily as one with himself. Therefore surrendering our finite self by abiding as our essential non-dual self-conscious being, which is both the thought-free state of supreme happiness and the absolute reality that we call 'God', is truly abiding in his service.

Since our natural state of supreme happiness is the state of just being, it is completely free of any doing or thinking, and hence it is devoid of all thoughts, including the thoughts of bondage and liberation. Bondage and liberation are a pair of opposites, and therefore they exist only in the unreal state of duality. In the non-dual state of true self-knowledge or absolute oneness with God, all thoughts of bondage and liberation disappear along with our thinking mind and all its imaginary duality.

When we first learn about this art of self-attentive being, and understand the importance of practising it to our utmost ability, many of us wonder how we can practise it in the midst of all our day-to-day activities. Our mundane life in this world and the absolute truth taught by Sri Ramana and other sages appear to be two completely different states of reality, divided by such a vast chasm that it is difficult for us to imagine how we can in practice even begin to reconcile the two of them. How can we actually practise this art of being when our mind is being constantly pulled hither and thither by the outward demands of our life in this world and by the

inward pressure of our desires and attachments?

Whatever may be the circumstances of our life, and however great may be the external and internal pressures upon us, we always know 'I am'. Therefore the chasm that we imagine existing between ourself and the absolute reality is unreal. The absolute reality is our simple self-conscious being, which we always experience as 'I am', and therefore it is our nearest and dearest. There is nothing so close or so dear to us as the absolute reality, because it is our own real self.

Since we always experience it as 'I am', it is always possible for us to attend to it. Nothing can truly prevent us from being selfattentive whenever we want to be. The imaginary chasm or divide that seems to separate us from the infinite fullness of being, consciousness and happiness is in fact nothing but our own desires.

However, our desires have no reality or power of their own. They appear to be real and powerful only because we give them reality and power by attending to them. If we steadfastly ignore them by clinging tenaciously to self-attentive being, they will be powerless to distract us from our natural state of being.

In practice, however, most of us experience difficulty in holding firmly and uninterruptedly to self-attentiveness, because our desire to think of other things is greater than our love to remain as our naturally thought-free and self-conscious being. But no matter how much difficulty we experience, if we persist in our efforts to draw our attention back to our own being whenever we notice that it has slipped away to think of other things, we will gradually gain the skill – the love and desirelessness – that we require to remain simply as our self-conscious being.

As Sri Sadhu Om used to say, "Where there's a will there's a way, but where there's no will there's a hill". That is, if we sincerely want to practise self-attentiveness, we will find that it is possible for us to do so, even if only falteringly and intermittently, but if we lack a sincere wish to practise it, we will feel that it is too difficult for us. Ultimately all difficulty is in our own mind, because it can never really be difficult for us to be self-attentive, even if only momentarily. If we feel that being self-attentive is too difficult for

us, we feel so only because we really do not have sufficient will even to try, or after trying a little to persist in our attempts.

Even if we are able to be self-attentive only momentarily, that will be sufficient as a start. However, to gain a real benefit from such momentary self-attentiveness, we must persist in our attempts to catch such moments as frequently as possible, and to hold on to each such moment as long as possible. The more frequently we remember to withdraw our attention towards ourself, and the longer we manage to maintain our self-attentiveness each time that we thus catch it, the more quickly we will cultivate the love that we require to be firmly self-attentive.

One question that is often raised is whether or not it is necessary for us to sit with closed eyes in order to practise self-attentiveness. The simple answer to this is that it is certainly not necessary, because we can be self-attentive whatever our body may be doing or not doing, and whether our eyes are open or closed.

Self-attentiveness has nothing to do with either the posture of our body or the closing of our eyes, but is only a matter of our attention. Our eyes may be open but our attention may still be focused on our being, and conversely our eyes may be closed but our attention may nevertheless be dwelling upon thoughts of things other than ourself.

However, though it is not essential for us to sit in 'meditation' with closed eyes in order to practise self-attentiveness, it may sometimes be helpful for us to do so. In order to sink into a state of deep and intense self-attentiveness, we may find it helpful to refrain not only from mental activity but also from physical activity.

However refraining from physical activity does not necessarily mean sitting with our eyes closed. Our body may be sitting or lying or in any other posture, so long as our attention is not on it but only on our essential self-conscious being. Likewise, our eyes may be open or closed so long as our attention is not going outwards either to see or to think of any object in the outside world.

The attitude we should have to our body whenever we attempt to experience clear and intense self-attentiveness is expressed by Sri Ramana in the words *pinam pol tirndu udalam*, which mean 'leaving

the body like a corpse', and which were the words that he added between verses 28 and 29 when he expanded the two plus forty verses of *Ulladu Narpadu* into a single verse in *kalivenba* metre. Though he added these words to the last line of verse 28, in their meaning they form part of the first sentence of verse 29, which with their addition means:

Leaving [our] body like a corpse, and without saying 'I' by mouth, scrutinising by [our] mind sinking [diving or piercing] inwards 'where does [this mind] rise as I?' alone is the path of *jñana* [the practice that leads to true knowledge]. ...

In this context, 'leaving [our] body like a corpse' may either refer to the attitude with which we should withdraw our attention from it, or to the posture in which we should leave it. When as a sixteen-year-old boy Sri Ramana was overwhelmed by a sudden and intense fear of death, he lay down like a corpse and turned his entire attention towards his essential being in order to discover whether his being or 'I' would survive the death of his physical body. Because he withdrew his attention entirely from his body, his mind and all other things, and instead focused it wholly and exclusively upon his consciousness of his own being, he instantly experienced true self-knowledge, and thus his mind was dissolved for ever in the infinite and absolute reality.

Thus in his own case Sri Ramana not only withdrew his attention from his body as if it were a lifeless corpse, but also laid his body down as if it were a corpse that had been laid out in preparation for its cremation. This does not mean, however, that we should necessarily lie down when we practise self-attentiveness. We certainly can practise self-attentiveness while lying down, but in practice we may often find it preferable to sit instead of lying, because while sitting upright it is usually easier for us to remain alert and thereby to avoid drowsing off into sleep or a dream.

However the posture of our body really does not matter, because the only thing that is important during our intense practice of just being is that our attention is withdrawn entirely from our body and from every other object or thought, and instead focused keenly and vigilantly upon our mere consciousness of being.

Therefore when Sri Ramana said, 'leaving [our] body like a corpse', he did not merely mean that we should physically lay it down like a corpse, but that we should mentally withdraw our attention from it as if it had become a lifeless corpse – something with which we no longer have any connection. Since our sole aim during moments of intense practice is to penetrate deep within our being, we must entirely disregard our body, and hence we should not concern ourself in the least with its posture or any other such trivial matter.

So long as our attention is fixed only on ourself and on nothing else, it does not matter what posture our body may be in, or whether it happens to be active or inactive. In fact we may often find it easier to be self-attentive while our body is engaged in some mechanical activity such as walking, which does not require any significant attention, than when we are sitting or lying down with our eyes closed, because as soon as we close our eyes to meditate upon our being, our mind tends to struggle to resist such meditation or self-attentiveness, and hence we may quickly forget why we have closed our eyes and instead begin thinking of anything except our own being.

If we sincerely attempt to practise self-attentiveness whenever our mind is not pressingly engaged in any other work, we will soon find what suits us best in terms of bodily posture or activity. Whether we are sitting, lying, walking or engaged in any other physical activity, we should attempt as frequently and as intensely as circumstances permit to focus our attention keenly on our being, or at least to maintain a certain degree of self-attentiveness. Therefore all questions about bodily posture are missing the whole point of the art of self-attentive being, which is that we should concentrate our entire attention upon our being and should thereby ignore our body and all other things.

Another question that is often raised is whether or not we should set aside certain periods of time each day to practise self-attentiveness. Again the answer to this question is that it is not necessary for us to do so, but that we may find it to be helpful.

It is all a matter of personal preference and lifestyle. So long as we find it helpful, we should set aside certain periods of time each day to practise self-attentiveness, but if we find that our set periods of 'meditation' are just becoming a mechanical routine, and that we are not really spending those periods usefully engaged in clear and steady self-attentiveness, we should find some better way of ensuring that we spend some time each day engaged in self-attentiveness.

To experience our true and essential being with perfect clarity does not in truth require any time. If we have an overwhelming and all-consuming love to know ourself, we can attain true and eternal self-knowledge by just a moment of total self-attentiveness, as Sri Ramana himself did.

Just as death is something that happens in an instant, and is not something that we can ever experience partially, so the experience of true self-knowledge 'happens' in an instant, and can never be experienced partially. Either we imagine ourself to be a finite individual, as we do so long as we still feel that our self-attentiveness or self-conscious being is a practice and not something entirely natural and unavoidable, or we are wholly consumed by the absolute clarity of true self-knowledge, in which case we will know that we have always been nothing other than infinite and perfectly clear self-conscious being.

Our aim during practice, therefore, is to experience that one moment of absolute unqualified self-attentiveness. Hence long periods of 'meditation' are not necessary. It may be helpful for us at times to sit quietly for a while attempting to focus our attention wholly and exclusively upon our being, but if our mind rebels too strongly we should relax for a while and try again later with a fresh and calm mind. If we struggle for too long a period to oppose the force of our desires to think, our mind will become agitated, and will therefore cease to be a suitable instrument for practising self-attentiveness. But if we relax our efforts for a while and allow our mind to become relatively calm once again, then we will be able to

practise self-attentiveness with a renewed vigour.

In practice what we need is not long hours seated in a desperate struggle to maintain continuous self-attentiveness, but rather many brief periods of time here and there throughout each day when we try with fresh vigour and intense enthusiasm to experience our naturally ever self-conscious being. During the midst of our normal daily activities, there are many times when our mind is not pressingly engaged in any particular work, and normally during such times we allow our mind to wander and think of many trivial and unnecessary matters. Each such time is a precious opportunity for us to be self-attentive.

Most of the thoughts we think each day are not pressingly urgent, but are merely the way in which our mind usually chooses to occupy itself. Therefore if we have a true love for self-attentiveness, instead of wasting most of our day in idle thoughts, we can very easily spend many moments here and there attempting to be self-attentive. This frequent drawing of our mind back towards ourself is what Sri Ramana sometimes referred to as the practice of 'self-remembrance'.

Therefore, as Sri Sadhu Om used to say, what we need is not long periods of 'meditation', which usually turn out to be merely a futile struggle attempting to resist the force of our desire to think, but is rather just many intermittent attempts to be self-attentive. If we remember to make such intermittent attempts frequently throughout the day, each individual attempt may only last a brief while, but all such brief attempts will together add up to a considerable amount of time spent in the state of self-attentive being.

By thus practising self-attentiveness intermittently, we will make each attempt with a fresh vigour and therefore a more intense clarity. Rather than longer periods of unsteady and therefore unclear selfattentiveness, shorter periods of more intense and therefore clearer and more precise self-attentiveness will be more beneficial.

Yet another question that is sometimes raised is whether it would not be beneficial for us to renounce all our worldly activities and responsibilities and to dedicate ourself solely to a life of contemplation. For some people a lifestyle of external renunciation may be beneficial, but for most of us such a lifestyle is not only unnecessary but also inappropriate. What is really important is not external renunciation but only internal renunciation.

Whatever may be our external lifestyle, we are always free inwardly to renounce our desires and attachments. If we succeed at least partially in such inward renunciation, no external lifestyle will be an obstacle to our practising the art of self-attentive being. Conversely, however, if we fail inwardly to renounce our desires, no amount of external renunciation will be of any use to us. The only obstacle to our practice of self-attentiveness is our own desires, and is not anything in the external world.

Our ability to be clearly and steadily self-attentive is proportionate only to our love for being and our corresponding freedom from desire for anything else, and has nothing to do with our external lifestyle. No matter what our external lifestyle may be, if we have even a little love to know ourself and to be free of our desires, we will to that extent be able to practise the art of self-attentive being.

However, though our external lifestyle cannot directly influence our ability to be self-attentive, our practice of self-attentiveness may to some extent influence our lifestyle. That is, since our practice will gradually weaken and erode our desires, we will naturally begin to lose interest in many of the seeming pleasures of life that we formerly desired, and hence we will feel contented with a simpler, less extroverted and less busy style of life.

However, there is really no need for us to concern ourself about the outward mode of our life, because our external life is moulded by our destiny, and our destiny is ordained by God in such a way that will be most beneficial to our spiritual progress. Whatever we experience in our outward life is according to the will of God, and is therefore what is most conducive to our practice of self-attentive being.

Even the seeming difficulties and obstacles that arise in our life are intended by God to create in our mind the state of *vairagya* or desirelessness, which is otherwise called equanimity or 'holy

indifference'. Only if we learn to be inwardly detached from our life in this world, will we gain the strength that we require to turn our mind inwards to drown in the perfect clarity of true self-knowledge.

For most of us, this spiritual path of persistently trying to practise the art of self-attentive being may appear at times to be anything but a smooth, peaceful and trouble-free course, because our self-deluded and desire-driven mind will certainly try to create many obstacles in our way. However, whatever obstacles our mind may create, we can overcome all of them by undaunted perseverance. Except by tenaciously persevering in our practice of self-attentiveness, there is no way that we can effectively overcome all the seeming obstacles that we as our mind create for ourself.

One of the many self-deceptive tricks that we as our mind tend to play on ourself is to expect and look for some cognisable results from our practice, and to feel dejected when we do not experience the results that we hope for. However, any cognisable results that we may experience on this path are deceptive, because they are experienced only by our mind, whose nature is to delude itself with appearances, and to distort and thereby see out of proportion whatever it happens to experience. Therefore nothing that is experienced by our mind can be a true indicator of our spiritual progress.

As Sri Ramana used to say, our perseverance is the only true sign of our progress. That is, if we persevere in our practice, that is clear evidence of our love for being, and so long as we have that love, we are surely making progress. If, on the other hand, we fail to persevere, that indicates that we lack the love that we require to make rapid progress. However, if we make even a little effort to be self-attentive, or at least have a liking to try, to that extent we do have love for being, so we should not feel dejected because of our inadequate perseverance, but should continue to persist in our attempts to whatever extent we find possible. Even a little sincere effort will go a long way towards cultivating in our heart the true love that we require to reach our ultimate goal of absolute self-knowledge.

Whenever we find that our enthusiasm and perseverance are faltering, we should read once again the teachings of Sri Ramana, or books that explore and discuss their import and significance, and we should ponder deeply over their meaning, because such repeated reading or *sravana* and musing or *manana* will rekindle our enthusiasm to persevere in the practice or *nididhyasana* of keen self-attentiveness. We cannot force our mind to remain calmly and peacefully self-attentive, but by repeated *sravana*, *manana* and *nididhyasana* we can gently tempt it to return again and again to our natural state of peaceful self-attentive being.

Our mind is like a runaway horse, and our natural state of calm self-conscious being is like its stable. Just as we would not use physical force to catch and pull a runaway horse back into its stable, but would simply tempt it to return willingly by gently and patiently holding a handful of grass in front of it, so we should not try in vain to overcome our desires and the resulting self-deceptive workings of our mind by confronting and fighting with them, but should gently and stealthily tempt our mind by whatever means possible to return willingly to our natural state of serene self-conscious being, which is its source and natural abode.

Until our mind is completely dissolved in the infinite luminescence and clarity of true self-knowledge, we will continue to experience ourself as a finite individual, and as such we will feel ourself to be one among the many living beings in this world, and hence we will have to interact constantly with other people. When we interact with other people, our deeply rooted *vasanas* or mental impulsions will tend to rise vigorously to the surface of our mind in the form of subtle and therefore strong likes and dislikes, attachments and aversions, possessiveness, selfishness, greed, lust, anger, jealousy, pride, egoism and other such undesirable feelings and emotions.

Thus our interactions with other people are a good opportunity for us to recognise such bad qualities in ourself, and to resist the sway that they hold over us by applying the *vairagya* or 'holy indifference' that we are gradually cultivating through our practice of self-attentive being. Therefore in the last two paragraphs of *Nan*

Yar? Sri Ramana gives us some valuable tips regarding the inward attitude with which we should interact with other people and conduct ourself in this world. In the nineteenth paragraph he says:

There are not two [classes of] minds, namely a good [class of] mind and a bad [class of] mind. Only vasanas [impulsions or latent desires] are of two kinds, namely subha [good or agreeable] and asubha [bad or disagreeable]. When [a person's] mind is under the sway of subha-vasanas [agreeable impulsions] it is said to be a good mind, and when it is under the sway of asubha-vasanas [disagreeable impulsions] a bad mind. However bad other people may appear to be, disliking them is not proper [or appropriate]. Likes and dislikes are both fit [for us] to dislike [or to renounce]. It is not proper [for us] to let [our] mind [dwell] much on worldly matters. It is not proper [for us] to enter in the affairs of other people [an idiomatic way of saying that we should mind our own business and not interfere in other people's affairs]. All that one gives to others one is giving only to oneself. If [everyone] knew this truth, who indeed would refrain from giving?

The only thing that we should truly dislike is our own likes and dislikes, because they agitate our mind and disturb our natural peace and equanimity. We dislike certain people because we feel they are the cause of the irritation and annoyance that we feel when we interact with them or think of them, but in fact the real cause of our irritation and annoyance is only our own likes and dislikes. If we were completely free of likes and dislikes, no other person could make us feel any aversion or other negative emotion.

What truly disturbs us when we interact with a person we dislike is not actually that person's *asubha-vasanas* or disagreeable impulsions, but is only our own *asubha-vasanas*, because our *asubha-vasanas* are what manifest as our likes and dislikes. Our likes and dislikes are both forms of desire, and like all forms of desire they drive our mind outwards, away from the infinite peace and happiness that exists in the core of our being. Therefore if we truly wish to turn our mind inwards and thereby dissolve it in our

perfectly clear consciousness of being, we must reject all our likes and dislikes, and develop instead a love only for being.

All our selfish attitudes, feelings, emotions, reactions and behaviours, such as our possessiveness, greed, lust, anger, jealousy, pride and egoism, are rooted in our likes and dislikes. Therefore to the extent to which we are able to free ourself from our likes and dislikes, we will accordingly free ourself from all forms of selfishness and from all the disagreeable feelings and emotions that they arouse in us. Since our interactions with other people tend to bring to the surface of our mind all our deep-rooted likes and dislikes, they are God-given opportunities for us not only to identify our likes and dislikes but also to curb them.

By practising the art of self-attentive being, we cultivate the skill to restrain not only our likes and dislikes but also their root, which is our mind. Hence our practice of self-attentiveness will make it easier for us to recognise and curb the likes and dislikes that arise in our mind when we interact with other people. Conversely, by curbing our likes and dislikes when we interact with other people, we are cultivating our *vairagya* or freedom from desires, and this will in turn help us in our practice of self-attentive being.

When Sri Ramana says that it is not proper for us to allow our mind to dwell much upon worldly matters, or for us to interfere in the affairs of others, he does not mean that we should be indifferent to the sufferings of other people or creatures. It is right for us to feel compassion whenever we see or come to know of the suffering of any other person or creature, because compassion is an essential quality that naturally arises in our mind when it is under the sway of *sattva-guna* or the quality of 'being-ness', goodness and purity, and it is also right for us to do whatever we reasonably can to alleviate such suffering.

However, suffering is an unavoidable fact of embodied existence, and there is little that we with our limited powers can do to alleviate the many forms of suffering that exist and will always exist in this world. Therefore if we allow our mind to dwell upon the sufferings and injustices in this world, we will only lose our own peace of

mind, and to little or no avail.

Rather than imagining that we can really do anything significant to alleviate the suffering in this world, it would be more beneficial if we simply take care to avoid contributing in any way to that suffering. For example, hundreds of millions of animals are subjected to unnecessary and unjustifiable suffering due to the cruel practices of factory farming, and every day millions of them are cruelly slaughtered just to satisfy the unnatural and inhumane craving that people have to eat their flesh. This is a sad fact of life, and a very sorry reflection on the so-called civilisation and humanity of the modern human race, but there is little we can actually do to prevent all such cruelty from happening. However, though we cannot prevent it, we can easily avoid contributing to it simply by refraining from eating meat, fish, eggs or any other animal-derived products.

Similarly, so many unjustified wars are fought in this world, all as a result of human greed, and every year more than a hundred million children and adults die of starvation and other poverty-related causes, in spite of all the abundant food and other material resources that a large section of the human race are enjoying. Many factors contribute to such sufferings, but at the root of all those factors lies human selfishness and greed. Though in the complex economy of the modern world, in which we are all to some extent unavoidably involved, it is difficult for us to know exactly what effects our means of earning and each of our spending habits and other forms of behaviour are having on the lives of those less fortunate than ourself, to whatever extent possible we should try to avoid contributing by our own actions to the sufferings that are caused by this unjust economy, and we can avoid this by simplifying our lifestyle and minimising our dependence upon material possessions and other objects of sense enjoyment.

Most importantly, however, though we cannot know all the repercussions that each of our actions may be having on other people and creatures, we do know that the root cause of much of the suffering that exists in this world is the selfishness and greed that

exists in the minds of people like ourself. Therefore, to avoid contributing to the sufferings of others, the most essential thing that we must do is to root all selfishness and greed out of our own mind, and we can do this effectively only by turning our mind inwards to drown it in our own self-conscious being, which is the source from which it rises together with all its selfishness and greed.

So long as our mind is turned outwards, dwelling upon worldly matters or trying to interfere in the affairs of other people, we will be overlooking the defects that exist in our own mind. Therefore, before trying to rectify the defects of this world or of other people, we should first succeed in rectifying our own defects, which we can effectively do only by withdrawing our attention entirely from this world and from matters that concern other people, and vigilantly focusing it upon our own self-conscious being in order to curb and prevent the rising of our mind, which is the root of all our defects. This is the reason why Sri Ramana says that it is not proper for us to allow our mind to dwell much upon worldly matters, or for us to interfere in the affairs of others.

Moreover, in the final analysis, this world and all the sufferings that we see in it are created by our own power of imagination and exist only in our own mind, just as the world and the sufferings that we see in a dream are. If we feel compassion on seeing the sufferings of other people and animals in our dream, and if we wish to alleviate all such suffering, all we need do is to wake up from that dream. Likewise, if we truly wish to put an end to all the sufferings that we see in this world, we must strive to wake up from this dream that we mistake to be our waking life, into the true waking state of perfectly non-dual self-knowledge, by tenaciously practising the art of self-attentive being.

However, though our life in this world is in fact just a dream, so long as we experience this dream we should not dismiss the sufferings of others as being simply unreal and therefore of no consequence. We who experience this imaginary dream are ourself a part of it, and hence everything that we experience or witness in this dream is just as real as we are.

So long as we feel ourself to be a person – a body-bound mind – who is experiencing this dream, we cannot but feel that the joys and sufferings that we are undergoing are perfectly real, and so long as we thus feel that our own joys and sufferings are real, we cannot deny that the joys and sufferings of other people and creatures are equally real and just as consequential. Hence, since we each naturally wish to avoid any form of suffering being caused to ourself, we should wish equally strongly to avoid any form of suffering being caused to any other sentient being.

Therefore, when Sri Ramana advises us to avoid interfering in the affairs of others or allowing our mind to dwell much upon worldly matters, he does not suggest that we should avoid such actions of body, speech or mind due to heartless indifference, but only that we should do so due to holy indifference – compassionate indifference, truly loving and caring indifference.

Sri Ramana never advised anyone to be heartlessly indifferent – uncaringly and unkindly indifferent – to the sufferings of others. On the contrary, through his own actions he clearly exemplified how compassionate, tender-hearted and caring we should all be, and how strictly we should avoid causing even the least *himsa* or harm to any other living being.

Though Sri Ramana seldom taught the importance of compassion explicitly in words, he did teach it very clearly through his own life – through his every action and attitude. In every situation, his attitude and his response through speech or action clearly demonstrated his unbounded love, compassion, tender-heartedness, kindness, consideration and *ahimsa* – sensitive and careful avoidance of causing any harm, injury or hurt to any living being.

Compassion, kindness and love shone through every action of Sri Ramana because that is what he was. His very being was itself the fullness of love — infinite and all-inclusive love. Because his seeming individuality had merged and been consumed in the infinite light of true self-knowledge, he was truly one with the absolute reality, whose nature is perfectly non-dual and indivisible being, consciousness, happiness and love.

He therefore loved all of us – each and every sentient being – as his own self, because he experienced himself as the one infinite reality, other than which none of us can be. He truly was and is the real and essential self of each and every one of us, and hence none of us can be excluded from his infinite love – his all-inclusive self-love – which is his own essential being.

Therefore the seeming 'person' that was Sri Ramana was a perfect embodiment of *parama karuna* – supreme compassion, grace, kindness and love. His kindness and love were equal to all. To him sinner and saint were all alike. He showed the same simple care, kindness, tenderness, love and compassion to people whom we may consider to be bad as he did to people whom we may consider to be good.

His love and kindness were absolutely impartial. He showed no greater love, kindness or concern for his most sincere devotees – those who most truly understood and put his teachings into practice – than he did either for those people who disregarded him, disparaged him or even ill-treated him, or for those devotees who were unconcerned about his teachings, or who misunderstood them, or who even tried to distort, misinterpret or misrepresent them.

In fact, if he ever seemed to show any partiality, it was not for those who loved him most sincerely, but only for those who had least love or no love at all for him. Devotees who loved him most sincerely, and who earnestly tried to follow his teachings by turning their mind inwards and surrendering it to him in the core of their being, sometimes felt that outwardly he seemed to ignore them, and to give his attention only to other less sincere devotees. However, if they understood him correctly, they knew that he outwardly gave his attention to those who were most in need of it, and that if he outwardly ignored us it was only to encourage us to turn inwards to seek the true form of his love, which is always shining blissfully in our heart as our own non-dual self-conscious being, 'I am', waiting to draw us within by its magnetic power of attraction.

The reason why he showed equal love and kindness to each and every person, irrespective of the fact that a particular person may have been the worst of sinners or the greatest of saints, was that in his view there is no essential difference between a sinner and a saint, between an atheist and a devotee, or between a cruel person and a kind person. He knew that in essence every person is the same single non-dual self, which he experienced as himself. If at all there seems to be any such thing as a separate person, he or she appears to be such only due his or her imaginary ignorance of the true nature of the one real non-dual self, which we all always experience as our own essential self-consciousness, 'I am'.

Not only are we all in essence the same one non-dual self, but as people we are all also equally ignorant of our own true nature. Even our theoretical knowledge of our own true nature does not make us any less ignorant than another person who has no such theoretical knowledge, because this theoretical knowledge exists only in our own mind, which arises only because of our basic underlying self-ignorance or self-forgetfulness.

In our self-ignorant view, Sri Ramana appears to us to be a person like us, and even our honest belief and conviction that he is in reality not a person but only our own infinite real self is a faith that exists only in our own mind. So long as we experience ourself as a person, and not as the one infinite and undivided real self, we cannot experience Sri Ramana as our own essential self, but can only know him as a person, albeit a person immeasurably superior to ourself.

Therefore in our self-ignorant view, Sri Ramana seemed to be a person, and as such he seemed to see each one of us as a separate person. However, even insofar as he seemed to see each of us as a person, he did not see any essential difference between us. He saw us all as being equal in our ignorance of our real self. In his view there was no person who was any more or any less ignorant than any other person. We either know ourself as we really are, or we ignore our real nature and experience ourself as a person – a finite body-bound mind.

Since in his view we are all equally ignorant, we are all equally in need of his *karanam illada karunai* – his causeless grace, mercy, compassion, kindness and love. Nothing that we can do can make us

worthy of his grace, and equally nothing that we can do can make us unworthy of his grace. Just as the rain falls on the good and evil alike, his divine grace and love is equally available to all creatures, including the greatest saints and the most evil sinners, the most brilliant intellectuals and the dullest of fools, the richest and the poorest, kings and beggars, human beings and all the so-called lesser animals.

His grace or love is uncaused because it is his essential nature. As the one infinite real self, he cannot but love us all as himself, because he experiences us all as himself. Since his grace is infinite, and not dependent upon any cause other than itself, it can never either increase or decrease. In truth it is the only reality – the one absolute reality, which is eternal, immutable and self-shining.

Though Sri Ramana is truly the one infinite reality that we call 'God', who is always making his grace available to each and every one of us by shining eternally in the innermost depth of our heart as our nearest and dearest – our own true self-conscious being, 'I am' – he manifested himself in human form in order to teach us that we can experience the perfect and ever-undiminishing happiness that we all seek only by turning our mind selfwards and thereby surrendering it in the absolute clarity of our own non-dual self-conscious being, which is the true form of his grace or love.

His human form was thus an embodiment of *parama karuna* or supreme compassion, grace, mercy, tender-heartedness, kindness, care and love, and as such no creature could ever be excluded from his infinite kindness and love. And though his human form passed away in 1950, before most of us were even born, his grace, love and inner guidance are ever available to us, because they are the one eternal reality that ever shines within us as 'I am', our own most beloved self. Moreover, not only does he always remain as our own essential self, but he also continues to be manifest outwardly in the form of his precious teachings, which are still available to remind us constantly of our need to turn selfwards in order to experience the infinite happiness of true self-knowledge.

In order to avail of his love or grace in all its infinite fullness, all we

have to do is to turn selfwards and to drink thus at the source from which it springs. Though his grace is always helping us, so long as we attend to anything other than our own essential self we are ignoring it, and by doing so we are in effect closing the doors of our heart on it, obstructing it from flowing forth and consuming us in its infinite clarity.

His grace is the light of consciousness that shines within us, enabling us to know both ourself and all the imaginary objects that we have created in our mind. Both subject and object are illumined only by his grace, and without his grace as their essential substance and reality they could not even seem to exist.

However, so long as we attend to any form of object – whether the objects that we recognise as being only thoughts in our own mind, or the objects that we imagine exist in a world outside our mind – we are misusing the light of his grace, and we are distorting his infinite non-dual self-love and experiencing it as our desire for some objects and our aversion for other objects. Rather than misusing his grace in this manner to know objects, or expecting it to fulfil any of our petty desires, we should derive true benefit from it by using it to know ourself.

That is, our mind, which the distorted light of consciousness that we now use to know objects, is a reflected form of our original light of self-consciousness, which is his grace. Therefore if we turn our mind away from all objects towards the source of its light, it will merge in that source like a ray of sunlight that is reflected from a mirror back towards the sun. By thus turning the reflected light of our mind back on ourself, we are surrendering ourself to our original light of grace — our fundamental self-consciousness, 'I am', which is the true form of love that we call 'Sri Ramana'.

When Sri Ramana manifested himself in human form, the compassion, tender-heartedness, kindness and love that he showed towards every person he encountered was an outward expression of the infinite, eternal, undivided and non-dual love that he experienced as his own self, and that always shines within each one of us as our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am'. Therefore the impartiality

of his outward kindness and love demonstrated clearly the absolute impartiality of his true inward grace, which is always surging in the heart of every sentient being.

The same love that he showed to all people he showed to every other creature. He did not consider any animal to be any less worthy of his kindness, love and compassion than any human being, and animals naturally responded to the love they felt in him, and therefore approached him without any fear. Numerous stories and incidents in his life have been recorded that beautifully illustrate his extraordinary relationship with both wild and domesticated animals – the tender-heartedness, kindness, care and love that he showed to them, and their reciprocal fondness for and trust in him.

Moreover, not only was he equally kind to and caring about individual animals of every species, but he also showed his strong disapproval whenever any person treated unkindly or caused any harm to any animal. He would not tolerate or allow people to kill even poisonous animals such as snakes and scorpions, and he pointed out that our fear of such animals is caused only by our attachment to our own bodies. He said that just as we cherish our life in our present body, so every other creature equally cherishes their life in their present body, and hence we have no right to deprive any creature of its cherished life, or to cause it harm or suffering of any kind whatsoever.

One very clear illustration of his unbounded and absolutely impartial compassion and love was an incident that occurred when he was a young man. One day while he was walking though a thicket his thigh accidentally brushed against a hornet's nest, disturbing its numerous occupants, who immediately flew out in a rage and began to sting his offending thigh. Understanding their natural response, and feeling sorry for the disturbance that he had accidentally caused them, he stood quite still and, in spite of the intense pain that they were inflicting upon him, patiently allowed them to string his thigh until they were all fully satisfied and returned to their nest. In later years, when Sri Muruganar wrote a verse (which is now included in *Guru Vachaka Kovai* as verse 815) asking him why he felt repentant

and allowed the hornets to sting his thigh even though the disturbance he caused them was not intentional, he replied by composing verse 7 of *Upadesa Tanippakkal*, in which he said:

Though the swarming hornets stung the leg so that it became inflamed and swollen when it touched and damaged their nest, which was spread [and concealed] in the midst of green leaves, and though it [the act of disrupting their nest] was a mistake that happened accidentally, if one did not at least feel sorry [pity for the hornets and repentant for the trouble caused to them], what indeed would be the nature of his mind [that is, how thoroughly hard-hearted and insensitive it would be]?

By his own life and example Sri Ramana taught us the great importance not only of kindness, love, tender-heartedness, consideration, compassion and *ahimsa*, but also of humility, selflessness, desirelessness, non-acquisitiveness, non-possessiveness, non-wastefulness, generosity, contentment, self-restraint, self-denial and utter simplicity of lifestyle. None of these qualities were cultivated or practised by him with any effort, but were all quite effortless, because they were natural effects of his absolute egolessness.

Because he did not experience himself as an ego, a finite and separate individual consciousness, he did not experience any person, animal, plant or inanimate object as being other than himself, and hence in the infinite fullness of his love — his absolutely non-dual self-love — there was no room for even the least trace of selfishness, greed, desire, attachment, possessiveness, unkindness, insensitivity or any other defect that tends to arise when we mistake ourself to be a finite body-bound ego or mind. He therefore lived what he taught, and taught only what he himself lived.

His actions, his attitude and his response to each person, to each animal and to each outward situation and event were therefore teachings that were no less powerful or significant than his spoken and written words. He exemplified in his life the same state of absolute egolessness that he taught us as being the only goal worth seeking. Therefore, though we cannot emulate his perfectly egoless

life so long as we mistake ourself to be a person, a body-bound mind or ego-consciousness, we can learn much from it, and if we truly wish to lose our false individual self in our own natural state of absolutely egoless self-conscious being, we should humbly and sincerely try to apply what we are able to learn from his outward life in our own outward life.

That is, if we truly wish to be absolutely egoless, we must begin even now to practise the selfless qualities and virtues that are natural to egolessness. If we do not love and cherish such qualities, we do not truly love the state of perfect egolessness.

The consistently selfless simplicity of Sri Ramana's lifestyle was legendary and witnessed by thousands of people. Though his devotees built an *ashram*, a community dwelling-place and religious institution, around him, he never claimed anything as his own. And though there were rich people who offered him and honestly desired to give him anything that he might want, he availed himself of nothing other than the minimum food, clothing and shelter that were necessary for the survival of his body.

From the time he left home at the age of sixteen till the end of his bodily lifetime, he lived the simple life of a *sadhu*, a religious mendicant. His only clothing was a *kaupina*, a simple loincloth. Until his devotees built a simple dwelling-place for him, he lived only in caves or in *mandapams*, open temple hallways. Even in the later years of his life, when he lived in a small hall that his devotees had built for him, its doors were open to visitors day and night, and he shared it freely with other permanent or temporary residents, who lived and slept there with him. He had no private life or time for himself, but was available always for anyone who needed him.

He preferred to eat only the simplest of food, and even when he was offered any type of special food, whether a delicacy such as a sweet or a savoury titbit, an elaborately prepared feast, or even a medicinal tonic for bodily health, he would eat it only if it were first shared equally with all people who were present. Just as he shared his shelter, his time and his entire life with everyone in his presence, so he shared with them freely and equally whatever food or other

material thing he was given.

The only type of food that he strictly avoided, and that he advised others to avoid equally strictly, was any form of non-vegetarian food such as meat, fish or eggs. In this and many other ways he taught us emphatically that we should always avoid any action that would cause even the least harm, injury or suffering to any creature.

By both his words and his example he taught us the virtue of perfect *ahimsa* or compassionate avoidance of causing any harm, injury or hurt to any sentient being. Through his life and his teachings he clearly indicated that he considered *ahimsa* or 'non-harming' to be a greater virtue than actively trying to 'do good'. Whereas *ahimsa* is a passive state of refraining from doing any action that could directly or indirectly cause any harm or suffering to any person or creature, 'doing good' is an active interference in the outward course of events and in the affairs of other people, and even when we interfere thus with good intent, our actions often have harmful repercussions.

When we try to do actions that we believe will result in 'good', we often end up causing harm either to ourself or to others, or to both. The danger to ourself in our trying to do 'good' to others lies principally in the effect that such actions can have on our ego. If we engage ourself busily and ambitiously in trying outwardly to do 'good', it is easy for us to overlook the defects in our own mind, and to fail to notice the subtle pride, egotism and self-righteousness that tend to arise in our mind when we concentrate on rectifying the defects of the outside world rather than rectifying our own internal defects.

Moreover, what we consider to be 'good' is often quite different to what other people consider to be 'good', so unless we are very careful the 'good' that we try to do to others may in fact be unwanted. Even if we feel strongly that our idea of 'good' is right and some other people's idea of it is wrong, we should be careful not to try to impose our idea of 'good' upon them, because when we do so our efforts will only create resentment and conflict, which will usually result in causing more harm than any actual good.

Most actions have multiple effects, so the repercussions of our

actions are often not what we intend them to be. The greater the 'good' that we try to do, the greater the harm that may result. Since the beginning of human history, many social, political and religious reformers have come and gone, but none of their attempted reforms have ever resulted in unmixed good. Any action or series of actions that has a significant impact upon this world inevitably results in a mixture of good and bad – benefit and harm.

Many of the greatest evils and injustices in this world have resulted from supposedly well-intentioned social, political, economic or religious reforms. Even in the name of God countless conflicts have occurred, which have sometimes even resulted in cruel persecutions, wars and terrorism. From all this we should understand that attempts to do good can result in great harm, and that our primary moral duty is therefore to avoid causing any harm rather than to try to do any good.

In many situations, far greater good can result by our refraining from doing any action than could possibly result by our doing any action, because whatever good might result from any action that we could do would not compensate for the harm that would result from it. In other words, our inaction — our just being without doing anything — can often be truly more beneficial than any amount of action or 'doing' could be.

As a general rule, if any action is likely to cause harm to any sentient being, we should refrain from doing it, even though it may also result in some good. Moreover, whatever action we may decide either to do or to refrain from doing in any particular situation, we always should remember that the ultimate good, which is the infinite happiness of true self-knowledge, can never be achieved by any amount of action or 'doing', but only by just 'being' – that is, by our abiding peacefully in our own natural state, which is the egoless, thought-free and therefore absolutely actionless state of perfectly clear self-conscious being.

This is not to say, however, that we should not do anything to help other people or creatures when an immediate need arises, but only that we should not be too ambitious in our desire to do good. We should respond appropriately to any situation we find ourself in, but we need not actively seek situations in which we imagine that our help may be required. Moreover, even when a situation does arise in which our help appears to be required, we should take care to do only whatever help or 'good' is truly appropriate, and we should at the same time be very vigilant not to cause any form of harm in our attempt to do good.

From the example set by Sri Ramana, we should understand that it is good for us to be always humble, unselfish, kind, caring, considerate, gentle, compassionate, generous and sharing, and that all our outward actions and reactions – which in many cases may appropriately include our refraining from doing certain actions or any action whatsoever – should always be guided by these inward qualities of mind and heart. The great importance of such true generosity, kindness and care was clearly emphasised by Sri Ramana when he concluded this nineteenth paragraph of *Nan Yar?* by saying:

... All that one gives to others one is giving only to oneself. If [everyone] knew this truth, who indeed would refrain from giving?

All that we give to others (especially the tender-hearted love, kindness, compassion, sympathy, affection, care and consideration that we give to them) we are giving only to ourself because no one – no person, animal, plant or any other thing – is truly other than ourself, our essential self-conscious being or 'am'-ness.

This is the real meaning of the teaching of Christ, "Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy mind... Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself" (*Matthew* 22.37, 39, and *Mark* 12.30-31). We cannot truly love either God or our neighbour – any of our fellow sentient beings – as ourself unless we actually experience them as ourself, and if we do not love them as ourself, we cannot really love them with all our heart, soul and mind.

Love for anything other than ourself can never be a whole love, but can only be a divided and therefore partial love, because we always love ourself more than we can ever love any other person or thing. Therefore if we truly wish to love either God or our neighbour wholly – with all our heart, soul and mind – we must experience them as ourself, and in order to experience them thus, we must experience ourself as we really are – that is, as the one infinite and indivisible absolute reality, which is the real essence or true substance of all that is. Hence, since we cannot experience ourself thus as the one infinite, undivided, non-dual and all-inclusive whole so long as we attend to anything that appears to be other than ourself, in order to experience and love both God and our neighbour as ourself, we must withdraw our mind entirely from their imaginary outward forms and focus it keenly and exclusively upon our own essential self-conscious being, 'I am', which alone is their real and essential form.

Therefore until we merge and lose ourself entirely in our natural state of absolutely non-dual self-conscious being, which alone is the state of true self-knowledge, our love for God and for our neighbour will only be partial and imperfect. However, even though we may not yet actually experience and love all our fellow sentient beings as ourself, if we have really understood at least theoretically that they are truly not other than ourself, we will naturally feel compassion for them and will therefore empathise with all their sufferings. When we feel such compassion and empathy for all sentient beings, we will naturally refrain as far as possible from causing even the least harm or suffering to any of them.

However, our love, compassion and concern for other people and animals should not lead us to believe that we can do any great good in this world, or that this world needs us to reform it. Whenever any person told Sri Ramana that he had an ambition to reform the world in some way or to do any other such 'good', he would say, "He who has created this world knows how to take care of it. If you believe in God, trust him to do whatever is necessary for this world". On many occasions and in many ways, Sri Ramana made it clear that our duty is not to reform the world but only to reform ourself.

To people who lacked subtle understanding, he would say that since this world is created by God, he knows how to take care of it, thereby indicating that this world is exactly as God intends it to be, and that he intends it to be thus for the true benefit of all concerned. However, to people of more subtle understanding, he would say that this world is a creation of our own mind, and exists only in our mind in the same manner that a dream exists only in our mind, and that whatever defects we see in this world are therefore reflections of our mind's own defects. Hence, rather than trying to reform the reflection, we should try to reform the source of it, which is our own mind. If we reform our mind by restoring it to our natural state of just being, its reflection will also merge and become one with our true being, which is the infinite fullness of unalloyed happiness and love.

Though all the manifold problems of this world can be effectively solved only by our turning our mind inwards and drowning it in its source, which is our own absolutely non-dual self-conscious being, so long as our mind is turned outwards, we will continue to mistake ourself to be just a body-bound person — one among the many such body-bound creatures living in this material world. When we thus mistake ourself to be a finite person, we inevitably become involved in the activities of our body, speech and mind, and our actions unavoidably have an effect upon other people and creatures.

Therefore in this dualistic state of activity we are responsible for the effects of our actions, and hence we must take care not to cause any harm to any of our fellow embodied beings. The benefit of our thus carefully practising the virtue of *ahimsa* or 'non-harming' is twofold. Not only do we thereby avoid as far as possible causing any harm or suffering to any other sentient beings, but we also thereby cultivate the tenderness of mind that is required for us to be able to turn within and merge in our natural state of just being.

If we are heartlessly indifferent to the sufferings of others, we will not be able to succeed in any effort that we may make to turn within, because such heartlessness is caused only by the density of our ego – by our strong attachment to and identification with our own individual self. Only when our attachment to our own ego is greatly attenuated will we have the *vairagya*, desirelessness or detachment

that is necessary for us to be able to relinquish all thoughts or attention to anything other than our own essential self-conscious being, and as an inevitable consequence of this attenuation of our ego, true heart-melting kindness, love and compassion will also naturally arise within us.

Only to the extent to which our ego and all its desires and attachments are truly attenuated will the real love for just being arise in our heart. When this true love for just being arises within us, it will impel us to try repeatedly to withdraw our mind from all objects and to rest in our own essential self-conscious being. However, until our love for just being consumes us entirely, our mind will often slip down from our natural state of self-conscious repose, and whenever we thus experience this seemingly external world our heart-melting love for just being will manifest as tender-hearted compassion, kindness, love and consideration for all other sentient beings, who are each in essence nothing other than our own self-conscious being.

Sri Ramana used to say that *bhakti* is *jñana mata* – that is, that devotion or love is the mother of true self-knowledge. In this context *bhakti* means true heart-melting love for just being – love, that is, for our own infinite self-conscious being. Since our true self-conscious being is infinite, it knows no other, and hence if we truly love our own being we will not feel anything – particularly any sentient being – to be excluded from it or from our love for it.

Therefore so long as we experience even the least duality or otherness, our true love for just being will be experienced by us as a tender-hearted and all-inclusive love and compassion for our fellow sentient beings. Hence if we cultivate true love for just being, as we will naturally do by our persistent practice of self-attentiveness, we need make no separate effort to cultivate any other qualities such as compassion, tenderness or kindness for other sentient beings, because such qualities will result automatically from our love for true being.

However, though we need not make any special effort to cultivate qualities such as compassion or sensitivity for the feelings of others, by cherishing such qualities we can indirectly nourish our love for just being, which alone can enable us to experience the egoless state of true self-knowledge. Only an extremely tender-hearted mind will be overwhelmed by such great love for just being that it will be willing to surrender itself entirely, turning its attention wholly towards its own self-conscious core or essence and thereby subsiding and merging within, losing itself in the absolute clarity of true non-dual self-knowledge.

Just as compassion is a natural effect of true love for just being, so *ahimsa* or 'non-harming' is a natural effect of compassion. If we feel true compassion and tenderness for the feelings of others, we will automatically take care not to do any action that might cause any harm or suffering. Therefore the most important quality that we should strive to cultivate is the true love to subside and rest in our natural state of self-conscious being. If we cultivate this one essential quality, all other qualities will flourish effortlessly and naturally in our heart.

Absolute *ahimsa* is possible only in the non-dual state of true self-knowledge. The first *himsa* or 'harm' – that is, the first action that causes harm, injury and suffering both to ourself and to all 'others' – is the rising of our own mind. When our mind does not rise, everything remains peacefully merged in the true state of non-dual self-conscious being, which is the state of infinite happiness. The imaginary rising of our mind is not only the primal form of *himsa*, but is also the cause and origin of all other forms of *himsa*.

Therefore, so long as we imagine ourself to be this body-bound mind or ego, we cannot experience absolute *ahimsa*, and we cannot entirely avoid doing any form of *himsa*. Hence if we truly wish to avoid causing any harm whatsoever, we should not only try carefully to regulate all our actions of mind, speech or body in accordance with the morally imperative principle of *ahimsa*, but should also try to destroy the root cause of every form of *himsa*, which is our own mind or ego. In order to destroy this root cause of all suffering, the only means is to turn our mind away from all otherness or duality and thereby to drown it in the infinite clarity of our own self-conscious being. This is the reason why Sri Ramana says in the

nineteenth paragraph of Nan Yar?:

... It is not proper [for us] to let [our] mind [dwell] much on worldly matters. It is not proper [for us] to enter [or interfere] in the affairs of other people...

The fact that we can truly do good to the world only by withdrawing our mind from it and searching within ourself for the real cause of all suffering is aptly and beautifully illustrated by the compassionate life of Lord Buddha. Like Bhagavan Ramana, Bhagavan Buddha was an embodiment of *parama karuna* or supreme compassion, kindness and love. As a young man, when he came to know of the inevitable sufferings of embodied existence such as disease, old age and death, he was overwhelmed by an intense desire to discover the root cause of all suffering and the means to destroy that cause. Therefore, though he had great love for his wife, son, father, aunt and other relatives and friends, he left them all and lived the life of a wandering mendicant, earnestly searching for the true knowledge that would put an end to all suffering.

Though at an early stage of his search he hoped to attain such knowledge by practising severe bodily austerities, he eventually understood that no such external means could enable him to attain the truth that he was seeking, and that he could attain it only by searching calmly within himself. Thus by turning his mind away from his body and this world, he was able to experience the true state of *nirvana* – the absolute extinction of his mind or false finite self.

The reason why Lord Buddha left his beloved wife, child and other relatives was not because he did not care for them. He left them only because his love for them was so great that he could not bear the thought that he was powerless to save them from the inevitable sufferings of embodied existence, and he was therefore determined to find the means to do so.

Only because his love and compassion were so great that he was impelled to withdraw his mind from those he loved most in order to find the real solution to the sufferings of all embodied beings, was he able to attain the true knowledge that enabled him to teach us all the means by which we can attain *nirvana*, the true state of just being, in which all suffering is extinguished along with its cause, our mind or illusory sense of finite selfhood.

In order to attain true self-knowledge – the state of absolutely non-dual self-conscious being – and thereby to extinguish the root of all suffering, we need not outwardly renounce either our family or the entire world, as Lord Buddha did, but we must inwardly renounce all thought of our false finite self and everything else other than our own essential self-conscious being. Still more importantly, in order to be sufficiently motivated to be able to surrender or let go of our false finite self, we must be impelled by the same intensity of tender-hearted love that impelled Lord Buddha and every other true sage to melt inwardly and surrender themself in the all-consuming fire of true self-knowledge.

All the suffering that we see in this world is only a dream that arises due to the rising of our own mind, so if we are truly concerned about the sufferings of others, we should earnestly try to wake up from this dream by surrendering our self-deceptive mind in the clarity of our own essential self-conscious being. However, though true heart-melting love for our own essential being, which is also the essential being of every other person and creature, is the only means by which we can wake up from this dream of duality or otherness, our present finite love will blossom as the absolute fullness of infinite love only when we have actually destroyed this illusory dream of duality in the perfect clarity of true non-dual self-knowledge.

This world and everything that we experience in it, including our body and our own individual personality with all its likes and dislikes, appear to exist only because we have risen as this finite object-knowing consciousness that we call our mind. Therefore if our mind subsides and ceases to exist as a separate individual consciousness, everything else will also subside and cease to exist. Hence in the final paragraph of *Nan Yar?* Sri Ramana concludes by saying:

If [our individual] self rises, everything rises; if [our individual]

self subsides [or ceases], everything subsides [or ceases]. To whatever extent we behave humbly, to that extent there is goodness [or virtue]. If [we] are restraining [curbing, subduing, condensing, contracting or reducing our] mind, wherever [we] may be [we] can be [or wherever we may be let us be].

The key word in the second sentence of this paragraph is *tazhndu*, which I have translated as 'humbly', but which is actually the past or perfect participle of *tazhtal*, a verb that has many meanings such as to bow, worship, fall low, be low, be bowed down, become subdued, be suspended, be deep, be engrossed in anything, descend, decline, sink, diminish, decrease, stay, rest, stop, bend, droop or hang down. In this context, therefore, proceeding or behaving *tazhndu* means conducting ourself humbly in this world, submitting to the will of God, with our mind subsided, subdued, submerged or resting calmly in our own essential self-conscious being.

To the extent that we live our life thus, says Sri Ramana, there is *nanmai* – goodness, righteousness, benefit, benefaction, virtue or morality. That is, the relative goodness of any of our actions or of our behaviour in general is determined solely by the extent to which, while acting or behaving, we are truly humble, subdued, desireless, calm, equanimous and resigned to the will of God.

In the final sentence Sri Ramana says that if we are able to be thus, always restraining, curbing, subduing or reducing our mind, "wherever [we] may be [we] can be" or "wherever [we] may be let [us] be". These concluding words, *enge irundalum irukkalam*, imply that in whatever place or circumstances we may be placed in our life, it is always possible for us just to be. If we always keep our mind subsided in our true and natural state of self-conscious being, no external circumstances can prevent us from remaining thus.

Therefore, since we have no duty or responsibility other than just to be in our own self-conscious and blissful being, and since there is no higher happiness than simply to be thus, *summa irukkalam* – let us just be.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

When citing the Tamil writings and other recorded teachings of Sri Ramana in this book, I have given my own translations, many of which are based largely upon the explanations and Tamil prose renderings of Sri Sadhu Om.

The following are some details about the works that I have cited:

Philosophical poems of Sri Ramana

Upadesa Undiyar – a Tamil poem of thirty verses that Sri Ramana composed in 1927 in answer to the request of Sri Muruganar, and that he later composed in Sanskrit, Telugu and Malayalam under the title *Upadesa Saram*, the 'Essence of Instruction'.

Ulladu Narpadu – the 'Forty [Verses] on That Which Is', another Tamil poem that Sri Ramana composed in 1928 when Sri Muruganar asked him to teach the nature of the reality and the means to attain it.

Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham – the 'Supplement to Forty [Verses] on That Which Is', a collection of forty-one Tamil verses that Sri Ramana composed at various times during the 1920's and 1930's.

Ekatma Panchakam – the 'Five Verses on the Oneness of Self', a poem that Sri Ramana composed in 1947, first in Telugu, then in Tamil, and later in Malayalam.

Anma-Viddai – also known as Atma-Vidya Kirtanam, the 'Song on the Science of Self', a Tamil song that Sri Ramana composed in 1927 in answer to the request of Sri Muruganar.

Upadesa Tanippakkal – the 'Solitary Verses of Instruction', a collection of twenty-seven Tamil verses that Sri Ramana composed

at various times.

Devotional poems of Sri Ramana

Sri Arunachala Aksharamanamalai – the 'Marriage Garland of Letters' or 'Garland of Imperishable Union', a Tamil hymn of 108 verses addressed to God in the form of the holy hill Arunachala, which Sri Ramana composed spontaneously one day in 1914 or 1915.

Sri Arunachala Ashtakam – the 'Eight [Verses] to Sri Arunachala', another Tamil hymn that Sri Ramana composed at about the same time.

Prose writings of Sri Ramana

Nan Yar? – 'Who am I?', a treatise of twenty paragraphs that Sri Ramana wrote in the late 1920's, of which all but the first paragraph are an edited version of a collection of answers that he had given to a series of questions asked by Sri Sivaprakasam Pillai in the years 1901 to 1902.

Vivekachudamani Avatarikai – the introduction that Sri Ramana wrote, probably in 1903 or 1904, to his Tamil prose translation of Sri Adi Sankara's great philosophical poem, Vivekachudamani.

Ancient text translated by Sri Ramana

Bhagavad Gita Saram – the 'Essence of the Bhagavad Gita', a selection of forty-two verses from the Bhagavad Gita that Sri Ramana translated as a Tamil poem.

Oral teachings of Sri Ramana recorded by Sri Muruganar

Guru Vachaka Kovai – the 'Series of Guru's Sayings', the most comprehensive and reliable collection of the sayings of Sri Ramana, recorded in 1255 Tamil verses composed by Sri Muruganar, with an additional 42 verses composed by Sri Ramana (of which 27 are included in *Upadesa Tanippakkal*, 12 in *Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham*, 2 in *Ekatma Panchakam* and 1 in *Ulladu Narpadu*).

The Tamil originals of most of these works are available in several

books, often with basic explanations or detailed commentaries, and many translations of them are available in various languages. However, the principal source of all of them, except *Upadesa Tanippakkal* and *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, is *Sri Ramana Nultirattu*, the 'Collected Works of Sri Ramana', published by Sri Ramanasramam, Tiruvannamalai, Tamil Nadu, India (www.sriramanamaharshi.org).

The principal source of *Upadesa Tanippakkal* is *Sri Ramanopadesa Nunmalai – Vilakkavurai*, a Tamil commentary by Sri Sadhu Om on all the philosophical poems of Sri Ramana, published by Sri Arunachalaramana Nilayam, Tiruvannamalai, Tamil Nadu, India.

The original Tamil text of *Guru Vachaka Kovai*, and a Tamil prose rendering by Sri Sadhu Om, are published as two separate volumes by Sri Ramanasramam. A complete English translation by Sri Sadhu Om and myself, together with comments by both Sri Muruganar and Sri Sadhu Om, is published separately by Sri Arunachalaramana Nilayam.

Note: Many key words occur so often in this book that it would not be feasible to list all the pages on which they each occur, and hence for each such word I have listed only some of its more significant occurrences followed by 'etc.' Therefore this index is far from complete. However, if you wish to find any word or phrase in this book that is not included in this index, or whose occurrences are not all included, you may do a search for it on the electronic version of this book, which is available on my website at www.happinessofbeing.com.

Wherever I have used Tamil, Sanskrit or other non-English words in this book, I have explained their meaning, and hence I have not compiled a glossary as such. However, so that this index can also function as a glossary, after each non-English entry I have given in brackets its meaning in English.

A

- abheda (not different, undivided, identical) 261
- abidance *see nishtha*; self-abidance Abraham, 'I am' was before 40, 322, 346
- absolute, definition of 239-40, 249-50, 282, 288-9, 339-40, etc.
- absolute reality 15-6, 27-8, 46-8, 147-8, 196-7, 239-44, 248-56, 264-5, 284-9, 337-49, 549-54, 557-71, etc.
- experience of 211-2, 240, 256, 265, 287-8, 309, 330-1, 333, 404, 431, 436, 560, 567, 571, etc.
- is consciousness 27, 173, 241, 244, 250-3, 565, etc.
- is 'I am' 27, 197, 244, 251-3, 337-8, 349, 486, etc.
- is indivisible 154, 212, 249-50, 273, 289, 341, 446, 556, 593, 604, etc.
- is infinite whole 124, 154, 207, 209, 212, 240, 249-50, 253, 277, 289,

- 339-41, 483, 553, etc.
- is non-dual 144, 154, 212, 239-41, 249-50, 287-9, 338, 401, 560, 566, etc.
- is our essential self 86, 92, 179, 214, 271, 280, 306, 338, 559, 571, 580, etc.
- is our own being 27, 92, 252, 256, 289, 308, 436, 540, 558, 565, etc.
- is our own self-consciousness 124, 134, 209, 211, 251, 308, 320, 481-2, 486, 541, etc.
- is self-conscious 124, 241, 244, 577, 580, etc.
- is substratum and substance of all duality 58, 194, 240, 271, 287, 604
- is what we truly are 140, 142, 147-8, 199, 553, etc.
- action see 'doing'; karma
- fruit of 258-61, 275-6
- good see good action
- ocean of 259-60

- wheel of 259 adal (being or becoming) 140, 326 adarku adangi iramal (instead of being having yielded to that) 472 adhara (support) 128, 153, 319 adhishthana (base) 384 adi (beginning) 342 adi-guru (original guru) 345 adjunct 26-8, 163-5, 170, 173, 301-3, 318, 324, 402, etc. (see also upadhi) a-dvi-ta (no-two-ness) 355 advaita (non-duality) 18-19, 355, 453 advaita vedanta (non-dualistic vedanta) 18-22, 26, 31, 49, 163, 191, 337, 355-6, etc. aham (I) 192, 323 aham brahmasmi (I am brahman) 323, 343, 349, 550 ahamukham ('I'-facing) 183, 192, 458 ahandai (ego, 'I'-ness) 220, 318 ahara (food) 498 ahara-niyama (food-restraint) 495, 498 ahimsa (non-harming) 490, 499, 593, 599, 601, 605, 607 ajñana – see ignorance ajñani (a person who lacks selfknowledge) 92, 134 akasa (space) – see bhutakasa; chidakasa; chittakasa akhanda (unbroken, unfragmented, undivided, indivisible) 339-42 allah (God) 343 am (those or beauty) 478 'am' 219, 252, 343-350, 475-6, 561, 563, 566 (see also asmi; ehyeh; eimi; irukkiren; sum) — is implied by 'I' 345-6, 350, 563 — is name of God 219, 343-5 — oneness with 'I' 345-7, 561 'am'-ness 3, 49, 123, 209, 211, 251-2, 288, 306, 308, 312, 331, 333-4, 402, 419, 434, 475-6, 481, 489, 518, 526, 557-8, 560, 564, 566, 603 amalaka (a grape-sized fruit) 502-3

amarndu (having settled) 504 *anadi* (beginningless) 339-42 analogies and illustrations

- battery, recharging a 217
- blueness of the sky 306-7
- burnt rope, charred form of 13
- cake, eating and still having 432
- cake, reading about, but not tasting 433
- calm in the eye of a storm 1, 86
- chains, iron and golden 260, 465
- chocolate 75-6, 78
- chocolate, learning about taste of, but not tasting 534-5
- cinema, background darkness 365-6
- cinema, light projected without a film 366
- cinema picture 83
- cinema projector, lens in 205
- cinema screen 128, 314, 365
- cinema show 5, 127, 177, 265
- cloud obscuring the light 2, 8, 70-1, 96, 115, 137, 166, 199, 216-7, 302-3, 379, 447, 500, 505, 523-4, 537-8
- confidence trickster's testimony 100
- conjuror not deluding himself 198
- copper coin, unwillingness to give in exchange for gold coin 433
- corpse-burning stick 182, 451-2
- counting without knowing value of one 394-5
- currency, knowing the value of a single unit of 395
- darkness dissolved by rising sun 177
- darkness swallowed by light 484
- daydream 101, 174
- death happening in an instant 584
- diving in water 518-28
- dog and scent 404
- dream see dream
- elephant and chain 495
- embryo 219-20, 318
- enemies in fort 514, 529-30

- film, imperceptible gap between each frame of 83, 112-3
- film, projection of 83, 113, 128, 177, 205-6, 314, 365-6, 559-60
- fire, pain caused by 285
- fire, pouring petrol on 74
- flickering lamp, trying to find a small object with 501, 505
- food, relishing even tasteless 77
- fruit and seeds 258-61
- glasses, not knowing colour of 430
- gold and gold ornaments 134, 321
- headache 68
- horse, grass and stable 588
- 'I am a man', no need to think 552
- illness, desire to be free from 90
- illusion mistaken to be real 293
- iron bar, separating the fibres of a silk cloth using an 501, 505
- learning to talk, walk or read 505-6
- lens 205, 281, 570
- light 322, etc.
- magnet, needle moving near 281
- magnetic attraction 574, 594
- mirage 74, 286, 292
- mirror reflecting light back to the sun 330, 597
- mirror, sun reflected in pieces of 171
- mirror, using the light of the sun reflected in a 330
- mist 119
- necklace of pearls 174
- ocean see action, ocean of
- paper, two sides of one 26, 471, 522
- pearl-diver 514, 518, 522, 524, 525, 528
- physics, studying 60
- pixels 232-3
- Raman not needing a mirror to know he is Raman 533
- reflected light merging in original light 330, 597
- rubbish, scrutinising 161

- screen 235-6, 314, 559, etc.
- screen is within picture, thinking that 128
- seed 52, 79, 124, 172, 203, 205, 220, 258-61, 318, 373, 377, 468, 476, 506, 508
- seeds being scorched by the sun 506
- shade and sunshine 92
- shadow 177-9, 377
- silver seen in shell 201, 274
- sinking in water 514, 518-33
- sky, blueness of 306-7
- snake and rope 19, 25-6, 116, 166, 176, 178, 200-1, 209, 226, 240, 286, 307-8, 310, 318, 320, 377, 402, 425, 429, 484-5, 547
- snake, imaginary, 'death' of an 485
- snake, imaginary, 'killing' an 178, 377
- snake, imaginary, will disappear in the light of dawn 485, 547
- snake, imaginary, will disappear when we scrutinise it 25-6, 178, 226, 307-8, 318, 320, 429
- snake, imaginary, will disappearwhen we see the rope as it is 26,176, 178, 200-1, 310, 377, 425, 484
- snake, skin slipping off 262
- space, not affected by other elements 282
- spider spinning out its thread 202
- string of pearls 174
- sun, not affected by activities on earth 282
- television picture formation 323-4
- television, watching 76, 127
- tenth man (dasaman) 310-3
- tiger's jaws, prey caught in 473-4
- train carrying all our luggage 466
- tree, cutting root of 24
- unnoticed urge 85
- walls, space divided by two 121
- waves 77, 438, 511, 518
- waves, water is one substance of

```
134-5, 421
— wheel – see action, wheel of
analysis – see self-analysis
ananda (happiness, bliss) 144, 338,
   531 (see also sat-chit-ananda)
anandamaya kosa ('sheath' composed
  of happiness) 163-5
ananta (endless) 339-42
ananya (otherless) 469, 551
ananya bhava (meditation on [God as]
  not other [than ourself]) 469-70,
   551-2, 578
anatma (non-self, no self, anatta) 49
anatta (no self) – see anatma
anbu (love) 573
anbu punume (have love) 573
animals 257, 265, 275, 596, 603
— compassion for 590-3, 598-9, 604
— cruelty to 499, 591, 598
- killing 598
— kindness to 85, 598-9, 602-3, 609
— not harming 591, 598-9, 601, 605
— Sri Ramana's love and compassion
  for all creatures 593-601
anma (atman or self) 194
anma-viddai – see atma-vidya
Anma-Viddai 611
— refrain and sub-refrain 502-3, 505
— verse 1: 176-8
— verse 2: 173-6, 178-9, 350-1
— verse 3: 321-2
— verse 4: 503-5
— verse 5: 569-76
annamaya kosa ('sheath' composed of
  food) 163-5
anta (end) 18, 337, 342, 355
antar (inside) 192
antarmukham ('inward-facing',
  introversion) 183, 191-2
anugraha (grace) 283
anusandhana (investigation,
  contemplation) 23-4, 458, 578
anuvum (even an atom) 177, 466
anya (other) 469, 551
```

```
anya bhava (meditation on [God as]
   other [than ourself]) 469, 551
apparition 110, 145, 173, 234, 237, etc.
appearance 19, 26, 36-9, 110, 116, etc.
ar (interrogative pronoun meaning
   'who?', or the base of a verb
  meaning 'become full', 'spread
  over', 'abide', 'combine with', 'put
  on', 'obtain', etc.) 173, 177, 220
araycchi (investigation, scrutiny) 458
araytal (to investigate, scrutinise) 458
arive nan (consciousness alone is 'I')
   143
arivu (knowledge, consciousness) 143
ariyade muyalum (which [we] attempt
   only [due to] not knowing) 312
art of being 1-3, 8-9, 45, 61, 459, 488,
  489-512, 524, 533, 544, 569, 571,
   573-9, 583, 586-7, 590, 592
arul (grace) 466, 475, 571
arulum venume (grace is also
  necessary) 571
Arunachala 13, 162, 180, 612
Arunachala Aksharamanamalai, Sri
— verse 43: 162
— verse 60: 468-9
Arunachala Ashtakam, Sri 612
— verse 7: 179-82
asat (unreal, non-existent) 163-5
asmi (am) 323
asti-bhati-priya (being-luminescence-
  love) 339
asubha vasanas (disagreeable
   impulsions) 589
atita (that which has gone beyond, that
   which transcends) 382-5
atma (self) 24, 49, 92, 143, 194, 323,
   345, 354, 437, 439-40, 526, 534,
   549, 553, 569, 578 (see also atman)
atma-anusandhana (self-investigation,
   self-contemplation) 24, 458, 578
atma-chintana ('self-thought') 24, 223-
  4, 458, 460-1, 512-3, 526
```

atma-jñana (self-knowledge) 45 atma-jñani (one who knows self) 45 atma-nishtha (firm self-abidance) 24, 223, 458, 460, 513

atma-samstham manah kritva (having made the mind stand firm in self) 508-10

atma-siddhi (self-attainment) 197 atma-sukha (self-happiness) 92 atma-svarupa (our essential self, the 'own form' of ourself) 92, 183, 194, 201-2, 274, 505

atma-vichara (self-investigation, self-scrutiny, self-enquiry, self-attention) 22, 155, 159, 218, 312, 437-44, 453-8, 495-6, 526-7, 534, 549-50, 553 atma-vidya (science of self) 502, 504-5

— is extremely easy 502-5

Atma-Vidya Kirtanam (Song on the Science of Self) – see Anma-Viddai atman (self, spirit) 179, 194, 503, 509-10, 571 (see also atma)

attachment 24-5, 32, 101, 132, 367, 380, 459-62, 477, 480, 502, 538-9, 579, 586, 588, 598-9, 605-6, etc.

attention 7, 96-7, 183, 188-90, 216, etc.

— focusing on ourself 8-9, 11-2, 87, 118, 132, 160, 165, 181-2, 184, 188-9, 211, 216-9, 287, 299-301, 317, 355, 357, 376, 380, 401, 403, 406, 410, 423-5, 427, 429, 431, 434, 438, 445, 450, 454, 456, 458, 460-1, 478, 481, 487, 490, 505, 508, 510, 518-21, 523, 532, 534, 544-5, 550, 568, 581-4, 592, 604

— is grace 511

- power of 96-7, 188-90, 226, 318, 358, 423-5, 454, 507, 520, 534, etc.
- power of, refining 233-5, 315-6, 423
- self see self-attention
- subtle 233-4, 316, 318, 423 attentiveness *see* self-attentiveness attraction 222, 375, 512, 515-6, 530-1,

574-6, 594

attuma (atman or self) 194
avan arul andri or anuvum asaiyadu
(except by his grace, not even an
atom moves) 466
avarana sakti (power of obscuration)
365-6, 370, 373, 375-6, 500
avastha (state, condition) 382

avastha (state, condition) 382 ayam atma brahma (this self is brahman) 323, 349

R

bahirmukham ('outward-facing', extroversion) 183

becoming 27-8, 139-41, 172, 188, 217, 269-71, 300-1, 325-6, 328, 330-1, 334, 348, 413, 485, 540, 553, etc.

beginning 147, 295, 327, 339-42 (see also adi)

beginningless 147, 152, 339-42, 355 (see also anadi)

being 1-610 (see also iruppadu; sat; unmai; ulladu; ulla-porul)

- absolute 86-7, 120, 139-45, 252-4, 336-8, 341-2, 556-7, etc.
- art of see art of being
- consciousness *see* being-consciousness
- consciousness of 3, 7-13, 146-51, 180-5, 189-92, 215-24, 241-4, 403-9, 503-7, 516-7, 547, 555-64, etc.
- core of our see core
- essential 86-8, 121-5, 150, 160-2, 201-4, 216-8, 223-4, 277-9, etc.
- finite 150
- fullness of see fullness
- fundamental 149, 323, 557, 561
- infinite 120, 136, 146, 149-155, 277-8, 279, 548, 552-4, 578, etc.
- is consciousness 86, 144, 150, 215, 244, 295-6, 334-5, 340, 561-2, etc.
- is self-conscious 3, 141, 145, 185, 210-1, 217, 251-2, 325, 333, 335, 348, 363, 562, 564-5, etc.
- just see just being

- pure 1, 193, 282, 334-5, 384, 405
- real 144, 150-2, 164-5, 210-1, etc.
- self-attentive see self-attentive being
- self-conscious see self-conscious being
- true 252, 338, 340, 564, etc.
- 'being' (as opposed to 'doing') 2-3, 72, 86-8, 117, 137, 156, 193-5, 222, 260, 278, 282-4, 305, 439-41, 471, 487, 492, 503, 531-2, 555, 602, etc.
- 'being consciousness' (as opposed to 'rising consciousness' or 'knowing consciousness') 6, 116-9, 165-6, 186, 230
- being-consciousness 3-4, 12, 146, 149-50, 156, 171-2, 179, 211, 295-6, 341, 357, 384, 556, 561
- being-consciousness-bliss 128, 143-4, 147, 159, 337, 339, 341-4, 355, 477, 534, 549-50, 553-4
- being-essence 343, 555, 562-6 being self is knowing self 7, 21, 140, 223, 304-5, 325-6, 335, 363, 440,

503, etc.

- being self-attentive or self-conscious 441, 459, 503, 580
- belief 2, 52, 54, 60-1, 129, 136, 167, 168, 170, 174, 225, 273, 294, 356-8, 360, 389-91, 430, 494, 595, etc.
- about God 24, 32, 42, 239, 256-7, 273-4, 277-80, 284, 472, 604
- blind 61, 129, 356
- dualistic 32, 39, 41-2, 115, 240, 390
- in 'good' actions 463, 601, 604
- in miraculous powers 195-8
- in testimony of sages such as Sri Ramana 61-3, 356-8
- religious 32, 39, 42, 50, 170, 236, 277-80, 390, 480, 539
- scientific 236, 389-90
- that body and world exist independent of our mind 99-100, 110, 129, 132, 136, 150, 168, 360,

- 368, 428, 430, 494
- that body is 'I' 4, 108-10
- that happiness comes from outside ourself 32, 66-7, 73, 83-4, 91, 238, 240, 285, 338-9, 362, 530-1
- that mind is real 115, 227, 390, 572-3, 575
- that objective knowledge is real 34, 136, 149-50, 238-40, 293-4, 359-60, 370, 389-90, 418

Bhagavad Gita 14, 18, 508, 612

— chapter 6, verses 25 and 26: 508-10

Bhagavad Gita Saram 508, 612

— verses 27 and 28: 508-10

Bhagavan (Lord, God) 11, 13-6, 608 (see also Ramana, Sri)

Bhagavatam, Srimad 14

bhakti (devotion, love) 23-4, 435, 470-1, 522-5, 529, 531, 544, 574, 606

- and *jñana* are one 435-6, 470-1
- is jñana mata 606
- is self-abidance 23-4, 470, 578 bhava (being, state, attitude, conviction or meditation) 469-70, 551-2, 578 bhavana (meditation, imagination) 553-4, 578

bhramana (wavering, bewilderment, confusion) 52

bhutakasa (physical space) 236, 571 Bible 17, 31, 323, 346-9 (see also Exodus; 'Genesis'; Gospels)

'Big Bang' 236

birth 119-20, 136, 139, 180, 478, 481, 483, 485-6, 503-4

'birthplace' of our mind 174, 182-3, 185-8, 191, 193, 213-4, 216, 444, 449, 492, 507-8, 512

bliss 16, 128, 144, 146-7, 152, 159, 164, 199, 200, 338-9, 341-4, 355, 477-8, 504, 531, 534, 549-50, 553-4, 572, 575, 578-9, 594, 610

body 4-12, 23-8, 33-4, 37, 43, 68-9, 371, etc. (see also deha; sarira)

— attachment to 24, 101, 367, 380,

- 386, 460-2, 477, 598
- causal 371, 377, 536
- gross see body, physical
- identification with 4, 6-8, 12-4, 23, 25-8, 30, 33-4, 37, 43, 75, 79, 89, 96, 98-9, 101, 103, 106, 108-11, 114, 148, 167, 169-71, 204, 227-8, 242, 255, 266, 304, 366, 368, 379, 387, 396, 402, 420, 460-2, 536
- is creation of mind 5, 99, 102, 110, 122, 215
- is imaginary 4, 99, 102, 122, 126, 138, 172-3, 175, 206, 210, 212-3, 215, 226, 230, 242, 255, 269, 361
- is mental projection 4, 43
- is not 'I' 11, 95, 103, 110, 154, 157-8, 163, 165, 170, 176, 179, 315, etc.
- leaving like a corpse 581-3
- material see body, physical
- physical 4, 6, 12, 26-7, 33-4, 68, 75, 79, 89, 107, 109-10, 128, 146, 148, 158-60, 163-4, 169, 171-5, 179, 203-5, 207-8, 212, 215, 218, 220, 225, 228, 230, 240, 242, 244, 269, 272-3, 300, 350, 358, 364, 366, 371, 396, 402, 409, 420, 479, 484, 528, 533, 535-6, 548, 582
- subtle 172, 175, 203, 205, 371, 536 bondage 26, 172, 199, 222, 260-1, 435, 464, 533-4, 547-9, 579
- books, scriptures and sacred texts 17, 31, 43-4, 50-2, 325, 532-46, 550, 553-4, 558, 588
- excessive study of 51-2, 537-44
- of *advaita vedanta* 17-22, 157-60, 163, 286, 320, 355, 382, 550
- that record the oral teachings of Sri Ramana 16-7, 50-1, 53, 384, 386-7, 441-8, 455-7
- true aim of 533, 545, 550
- true benefit of reading 9-10, 532-3, 537, 542-5, 588
- true knowledge cannot be found in 44, 52, 532-6, 542, 545

brahman (God, the absolute reality, the infinite spirit, our essential being) 15, 47-8, 92-4, 194, 323, 335, 337, 343, 349, 441, 534, 549-50, 553-4

- is pure consciousness 323, 349
- *nirguna* (without qualities) 47-8, 481-2
- saguna (with qualities) 47-8, 481-2 brahma-rishi (sage who experiences himself as brahman) 15
 Brahma Sutra 18
 brain 168, 183, 190, 426-9
 breath see life-force; prana breath-control see breath-restraint breath-restraint 184, 492-8, 519, 521
 Buddha 14, 46, 48-9, 327, 474, 608-9
- buddhi (intellect, faculty of discernment) 519-20
 dehatma see dehatma buddhi
 Buddhism 19, 26, 320, 377

C

causal body – *see* body, causal *chakras* (mystic centres in the body) 215

chidakasa (space of consciousness) 236, 571

chintana (thinking, thought) – *see atma-chintana*

chit (consciousness) 128, 143-4, 146-7, 159, 163-5, 171-2, 337-9, 342-3, 355, 477, 511, 534, 549-50, 553-4 *chit-jada-granthi* (the knot between

consciousness and the inconscient)
172

chit-sakti (power of consciousness) 511

chitta (mind) 52, 199, 493 chittakasa (mind-space) 236, 571 chitta-bhramana – see bhramana chitta-santi (peace of mind) 199 chitta-suddhi (purification of mind) 493

Christ, Jesus 28-31, 39-41, 43, 322, 327, 474, 603

Christian contemplatives 31
Christian Gospels – *see* Gospels
Christian Trinity 474
Christianity 17, 27, 39 *chudamani* (crest-jewel) 567
cinema – *see* analogies and illustrations
clarity 10, 118-9, 156, 182, 184, 217-8,
423, 434, 438, 447, 452, 490, 503,
517-8, 523, 584

- absolute 139, 177, 197, 236, 265, 317, 320, 325, 352, 382, 450, 482, 484, 486, 517, 584, 596, 607
- degree of 517-8, 529
- infinite 219, 491, 523, 546, 597, 607
- inner 45, 61, 199, 434, 447, 490, 520, 522, 538, 575
- lack of 118-20, 123, 126, 242, 365-6, 369-70, 377, 379-80, 438, 501
- natural 8, 45, 137, 178, 216-7, 236, 316, 351, 505-6, 520, 523, 530, 538
- of attention 316
- of being 2, 281, 523, 584
- of *viveka*, discrimination or discernment 43, 137, 276, 316, 520, 523-4, 530
- of mind 61, 434, 446, 498, 501
- of sattva-guna 495, 498, 501, 506
- of self-attentiveness 506, 517-8, 585
- of self-conscious being 281, 482, 505, 596, 607, 609
- of self-consciousness 2, 8, 156, 176, 178-9, 182, 184-5, 192, 199, 217, 219, 234, 290, 317, 320, 344, 351-2, 375, 386-7, 424, 434, 438, 452-3, 459, 476, 478, 484, 517-8, 520, 523, 529, 538
- of self-knowledge 90, 118-9, 139, 177, 184, 199, 234, 322, 325, 351-2, 458, 484-5, 486, 491, 546, 573, 576, 584, 587, 588, 607, 609
- of Sri Ramana's teachings 19-20, 446
- of understanding 55, 541

- source of 523 cogito ergo sum (I think, therefore I am) 347, 362
- cognition 163, 219, 426
- refined power of 233-5, 315, 519 compassion 16, 257, 275, 590-609 complacency 477-80 concealment of reality 281, 283 concentration 195-6, 495-6, 532, 601
- upon ourself 22, 97, 142, 431, 536, 542-3, 545, 583
- confusion 33, 50, 52, 108, 135, 253-6, 277, 290, 306, 308-9, 426, 430, 438-9, 442, 464, 468, 487
- about ourself 4, 5, 7, 8, 23, 33, 38, 61, 97-8, 108-10, 119-20, 159, 169, 254-5, 262, 270, 352-3, 361, 379-80, 421-2, 439, 479, 480
- about the teachings of Sri Ramana 442, 455, 554
- in spiritual literature 20, 50, 382 consciousness 103, 116-9, 165-6, 242-4, 295-6, 334-5, 415, 419, etc. (see also arivu; chit; jñana; unarvu)
- absolute 86, 114, 120, 142, 165, 204, 245, 249-50, 252-4, 336-8, 531, 534, 543, 547
- adjunct-bound 170, 173, 301-3, 318, 353, 358, 360, 402
- adjunct-free 27-8, 159, 173, 176, 179, 193, 211, 234, 269, 278, 301-3, 316-8, 320, 322, 330, 334-5, 365, 369, 374, 377, 450, 477, 543
- basic 6, 8, 36, 128, 178, 216, 227, 229, 231, 250, 269, 297, 329, 351, 358, 424, 428-9, 434, 437-8, 543, 561
- called 'mind' 6, 23, 25, 30, 33, 45, 84, 87-9, 110, 114, 116, 120-2, 126, 128, 164, 166-7, 188, 198, 204, 213, 217, 224, 226-8, 241, 251, 290, 299-302, 308, 329-30, 353, 373, 388, 407, 419, 422-3, 425, 430, 432, 450, 461, 464, 500, 516, 520-1, 532, 546-

- 8, 565, 570, 573, 577, 609, etc.
- compound 226, 269, 300, 361, 371
- distorted 23, 114, 126, 128, 139, 151, 167, 353, 570
- essential 7, 86, 142, 181, 209-11,
 214-9, 222-7, 234, 236, 242-4, 297,
 300-1, 378, 381-2, 389, 419-20,
 431, etc.
- false 25, 27, 38, 484
- finite 121, 126, 197, 206, 215, 224, 251, 299, 300, 354, 432, 500, 548, 572-3
- forms of 6, 7, 25, 27, 33, 45, 74, 80, 84, 89, 103-4, 108, 110, 116-7, 126, 142, 146, 165-9, 171, 173, 194, 197, 225, 229, 231, 234, 289, 303, 304, 329, 353, 385, 402, 407, 419, 424, 430, 484, 570
- fundamental 9, 12, 23, 27, 35, 36, 38, 40-1, 44, 45, 59, 63, 87, 89, 94, 106, 110, 114-5, 124-5, 147-8, etc.
- 'I' 4, 5, 7, 8, 23, 192, 220, 221, 315, 397, 438, 478, 572
- 'I am' 3-4, 11-3, 16, 22-3, 25-8, etc.
- individual 25-6, 169-70, 188, 192-3, 272, 274, 351, 387-8, 520, etc.
- infinite 28, 30, 126-7, 171, 173, 179, 215, 251, 262, 273, 279-80, 284, 299, 350, 423, 432-4, 464, 517, 547
- is always self-conscious 103, 415, 419
- is the one fundamental substance 12, 39, 58, 126, 134-5, 209, 211, 280, 298-9, 321, 333, 343, 345, 406, 415, 421
- 'knowing' 116-9, 165-6, 186
- light of see light
- limited 7, 25, 79-80, 84, 87, 89, 173, 178, 180, 234, 396, 570
- mixed 114, 169, 173, 228, 235, 270, 303, 325, 353, 402, 419, 423, 425, 543
- object-knowing see object-

knowing consciousness

- power of 2, 36, 188-9, 511
- pure 21, 25-8, 31, 34, 37-8, 169, 310, 323, 334-5, 349, 429
- real 6, 25-6, 33-4, 37-8, 127, 142, 146, 148, 151, 164-6, 169, 171, 181, 210, 226-7, 229-30, 242, 250-1, 254-5, 299-300, 308-9, 315, 361, 372-3, 390, 423-5, 477, 570, etc.
- reflected 86, 171, 254, 329-30, 570, 597
- 'rising' 6, 186, 230, 402
- self see self-consciousness
- simple 226, 269, 290, 351, 558
- space of see space, consciousness
- spurious 6, 33, 38, 167, 172-3, 179, 186, 192, 194, 303, 372-3, 385, 402
- thinking 241, 461, 527, 532, 565-6
- transient 6, 103, 110, 116, 229, 269, 560
- true 30, 28, 113, 142, 144, 165, 170, 188, 199, 235, 236, 299, 300, 302, 316, 322, 338, 340, 376, 423-4, 429, 431, 433, 450, 484
- unadulterated 2, 11, 23, 28, 93-4,
 114, 119, 121-2, 125, 179, 182, 193,
 198, 203, 217, 219, 225, 228, 234-5,
 303-4, 307, 312, 344, 427, 440, 450,
 484, 506
- unlimited 7, 13, 26, 114, 127, 173, 180, 373
- unreal 38, 146, 165-6, 304, 372-3, 424, 516
- contemplation 9-10, 22, 54, 92, 219-20, 458, 461, 465, 526, 578, 585 contemplatives 31
- core 2, 214, 343, 475, 556, 563, 566, etc. (see also heart; *hridaya*; *ullam*)
- of our being 1, 8, 12, 31, 44, 52, 59, 62, 80, 86, 92, 117, 147, 173, 176, 179-80, 182-3, 191-4, 199, 213-6, 218-9, 224-5, 350, 375, 410, 438, 444, 458, 469-70, 482-5, 504, 507, 518, 521-4, 529, 532, 546, 558, 563,

- 565-6, 573-4, 589, 594
- of consciousness 412
- of mind, self-conscious 607
- of every religion 41
- of soul 170-1
- of Sri Ramana's teachings 448 corpse 107, 315
- leaving body like a 11-2, 581-3
- stick for burning 182, 451-2 cosmology 50 creation 236
- God's function of 281-3
- imaginary 99, 102, 110, 122, 189, 205, 431, 484
- mental 5, 99, 102, 135, 198, 203, 205, 215, 274, 431, 484, 605
- mind's self-deceptive power of 4, 35, 99, 102, 110, 122
- creature(s), human and non-human 151, 212, 246, 257, 265, 275, 499, 590-1, 593, 596, 601-2, 605, 609
- imagining ourself to be a 298, 374, 393, 605
- non-human 598 (see also animals) cross 29-30
- is symbol of death 30 crucifixion 30, 41

D

Dakshinamurti 345

dasaman (tenth man) 310-3

daydream or reverie 101

- centred around imagination that we are a body 174-5
- death 43, 107, 120, 137-8, 180, 183, 242, 245, 306, 484-6, 492, 494, 504, 516, 582, 584, 608
- fear of 11, 355, 477-85, 582
- life after 480
- of mind or individuality 28-30, 378, 478, 484-6, 543
- self-negligence is 515-6
- Sri Ramana's experience of 11-3, 355, 478, 582 *deha* (body) 158

- dehatma buddhi ('I am the body' consciousness) 205, 402
- delusion 34, 75, 130, 189, 195, 199, 264, 293, 308-9, 365-6, 373, 375, 467-8, 477, 479, 500, 505, 515, 572-3, 575
- about what we are 44, 75, 156, 195, 197, 199, 206, 213, 226-7, 277, 279, 375, 475, 541
- of pride 56, 468, 540-1
- that happiness comes from outside ourself 73, 75

Descartes 347, 362-3

- desire 8, 24-5, 65-94, 238-9, 247-8, 259, 275-6, 462-8, 489-532, etc.
- and fear 1-2, 8, 66, 70, 78-9, 81-2, 86, 132, 137-9, 167, 174, 276, 467, 489
- 'conquering' 79-80
- for appreciation and praise 539-40
- for sexual pleasure 79
- to be happy 65-6, 68-70, 82-3, 91, 238, 463-4
- to do good 463, 602
- to exist as a mind or separate individual 491, 576
- to know the truth 3, 185, 539, 542, 549
- to think 185-6, 496, 517, 524-5, 551, 574, 580
- desirelessness 500, 514, 516, 522-5, 532, 580, 586, 599, 605, 610
- destiny 261, 276, 282, 542, 586
- is ordained by God 257-8, 275-6, 586
- devotees 23-4, 331-2, 481, 496, 595
- of Sri Ramana 13, 15-6, 143, 156, 483, 594, 600
- devotion 23-4, 331, 435-6, 465-6, 470-1, 482-3, 488, 521-3, 606
- dualistic 23-4, 180, 465-6, 482-3, 490, 495
- non-dualistic 482-3
- supreme 24, 470, 578

- to Sri Ramana 55
 devotional texts 17, 483
 composed by Sri Ramana 16, 612
 dharma ('that which is established',
 truth, sustaining essence) 50-1
 dhya or dhyai (to think) 554
 dhyana (meditation) 331, 554-5 (see
 also svarupa-dhyana)
- on a form of God 495-6, 501-2
- on a thought such as 'I am *brahman*' 534, 549-50, 553-4
- on oneself 458, 511-3, 515, 526, 554-5, 576-7
- diet see food
- dimensions 148-9, 310, 339-41, 352, 354, 393-5, 405, 410-5, 420, 557
- of mind 410-1
- of time and space 148, 214, 249, 251, 310, 339-41, 354, 393-5, 410-4, 557
- direct path *see* path, direct *dirgha* (long-lasting) 129-31 discernment 163, 314-6, 509, 519-23, 525
- discrimination (*viveka*) 44, 92, 137, 276, 455, 509, 520-5, 530, 551
- between the seer and the seen 427
- lack of 92
- dislike 8, 66, 73, 75, 78-9, 81, 92, 94, 247, 432, 462, 467, 489, 588-90, 609 (see also likes and dislikes)
- distraction 76, 137, 156, 220, 497, 501, 502, 512, 533, 544, 580
- caused by thoughts 3, 86, 132, 218, 221, 451-2, 454, 488, 507-8, 512, 515, 525
- freedom from 3, 156, 312, 488
 'diving' within oneself 514, 518-9,
 521-2, 524, 528, 550, 582 (see also
 'sinking' within oneself)
- doer 258, 260-1

 God as ultimat
- God as ultimate 283-4 doership (*kartritva*) 258, 262, 468 'doing' 2-3, 20, 72, 86-8, 93, 117-8,

137, 156, 195, 222, 243, 260-1, 278, 282-4, 305, 439-41, 461, 471, 487, 492, 503, 531-2, 555, 602, etc.

'doing good' – see good

doubt 35, 99-100, 103-4, 110-1, 196, 206, 268, 355, 387, 389, 440, 511-2

- applied to mind 32, 38, 42, 63, 292
- is necessary to know ourself 60-1, 63
- not applicable to our essential self12, 32-3, 35, 111, 176, 221, 302,387, 559
- dream 4-6, 34-37, 68-70, 87-90, 97-103, 107-11, 113-23, 126-36, 138-9, 141, 161-2, 175, 196-7, 205-9, 235-6, 241-2, 254-7, 263-71, 293-4, 297-8, 360-2, 365-72, 379-87, 421-2, 559-60, 592-3, 609, etc. (see also three states)
- appears real so long as we are experiencing it 129-33, 196, 226, 264, 293, 361, 511, etc.
- attachment to body in 101, 367, 380, 386
- consciousness of the people we see in 151
- dead friend seen in 268
- flying in 196-7, 417
- hunger in 263-4, 266-7
- of duality 127, 180, 182, 313, 609
- of wandering about the world 119, 141
- person we mistake ourself to be in waking is no more real than person we mistook ourself to be in a 267-8
- suffering seen in 592
- superseding reality of waking 267
- time and space in 149
- waking is no more real than a 99-102, 129-33, 196, 263-4, 268-9, 367, etc.
- waking life is a 43, 138, 242
- we should consider this world to be like a 161-2

626 drik drisva viveka (discrimination between the seer and the seen) 427 drishti (seeing, sight) 183, 195 dualistic devotion – see devotion duality (*dvaita*) 32-5, 38, 118-9, 126-7, 139, 180-2, 196-7, 211-2, 239-40, 243, 249-56, 263, 265, 288-9, 294-6, 307-15, 320-1, 385, 609, etc. — mind is the root cause of 32, 38, 119, 180, 254, 315, 317-8, 460, etc. duty 602, 604, 610 (see also responsibility; service) dvaita (duality) 18, 355, 435 e (a suffix used in Tamil for emphasis) 143, 162, 394, 564 edu (what) 173, 350 effort 3, 25, 48, 65, 82, 148, 165-6, 182, 185-6, 276-7, 281-2, 299, 310, 312, 380-1, 386, 426, 428, 431, 434, 451-2, 456, 463, 467, 469, 475, 497-8, 501-2, 506, 510, 513, 518, 521, 524-5, 531-2, 537, 542, 549, 568-9, 572-3, 575, 577, 580, 584, 587, 599, 601, 605-7 — need for 451-2, 568-9, 577

- will subside along with our mind 185-6, 451-2
- ego 23-6, 162, 164, 170, 172, 219-20, 314-8, 322, 344, 350, 352-3, 384, 450, 457, 459, 468, 474, 492, 519, 521, 524, 539, 541-3, 546, 576, 599-601, 605-7
- destruction of 26, 172, 219, 316-8, 322, 344, 350, 352-3, 384, 541-3, 546, 576, etc.
- is everything 317-8
- is mind 23, 172, 219-20, 353, etc.
- is primal imagination 'I am this body' 172, 219-20
- is root cause of all duality 219-20, 315, 317-8, etc.
- phantom 172, 546-7 ego ('I' in Greek and Latin) 347

ego eimi ('I am' in Greek) 346-7 egocentric desire 575 egoism 56, 541, 588, 590, 601 egoless state 193, 483, 486, 553, 575, 578, 599-600, 602, 606 egolessness 26, 193, 553, 599-600 egotistical power 575 ehyeh ('am' in Hebrew) 347-9 ehyeh asher ehyeh ('am what am') 28, 347-9 (see also I AM THAT I AM) eimi ('am' in Greek) 346-7 Ekatma Panchakam 611-2 — *kalivenba* version 128, 134, 345 — verse 1: 119-27, 136-41, 345 — verse 2: 437-9 — verse 3: 128-9 — verse 4: 134-5 — verse 5: 344-5 ekatma vastu (the one self-substance) 344-5 emancipation, spiritual 199, 262, 435-6, 533-4, 545, 547-9 (see also liberation; *mukti*; salvation) empathy 604 empirical research 54, 106, 159, 424, 433 empirical technique 53-4, 59, 155, 159, 358, 391 end – see anta endless 147, 152, 339-42, 355, 537-8 (see also ananta) endrum tannai vinavum usaval (by subtle investigation, which is constantly scrutinising self) 443 enjoyment 77, 158, 591 — of eating while watching a film 76-7 'enlightenment' 375 enna nazhuvum (when [we] scrutinise, it will vanish) 316-7 enquiry – see self-enquiry; vichara equanimity 586, 589, 610 essence 134, 144-5, 154-5, 161, 194, 211, 241, 278, 281-3, 332-3, 340,

343-5, 350-1, 354, 415, 437, 493,

- 498, 555, 559-60, 562-6
- absolute 288
- being *see* being-essence
- of *advaita* philosophy 18-20, 31, 337, 508
- of all desires is love for happiness 65-7, 463-4
- of all religions 17, 50-1
- of all spiritual paths 31, 435, 486-7
- of all that is 282-3
- of everything 277, 283, 340
- of Sri Ramana's teaching 17, 31, 143, 527, 567
- our own 97, 106, 117, 128, 147, 169, 191, 278, 299, 331, 333, 350-1, 385-6, 408, 415, 418-9, 434, 458, 511, 518, 534, 555, 560-1, 606-7
- real or true 145, 154-5, 194, 207, 209, 211, 278, 281-3, 333, 343-4, 604
- ettinum (even if one worships) 331 evaiyum kanum (which sees everything) 329
- existence 3, 32-8, 86-7, 103-4, 111-2, 144-6, 170-2, 209-10, 228-30, 245-54, 297-98, 304-8, 333-4, 336-8, 363, 387-8, 406-8, 418, 479-80, 557-61 (see also being)
- absolute 245, 249, 250, 253
- pure 334
- Exodus 28, 40, 179, 322, 343, 347-9 experience 18, 51-2, 310, 428, 432, 481, 493, 504, 529, 554, 568, etc.
- non-dual *see* non-dual experience
- of self 52
- of self-knowledge 9-11, 17, 20, 23, 44, 47, 51, 54-5, 59-60, 62, 106, 138, 141, 143, 152, 160, 176, 209, 256, 260, 300, 310, 313, 344, 351, 355, 358, 435, 484-5, 487, 523, 528-9, 531, 540, 569, 575, 584, etc.
- of true knowledge 183, 195, 385, 523, etc.
- of true self-attention 221

— of true self-consciousness 300, 424, 440, 445, 568 experiencer 260-1, 306 experiencership 262 extroversion 183, 199, 490, 575 eye 195, 273, 456, 569-71, etc.

- as metaphor for consciousness 273, 569-71, etc.
- limitless 273
- of a storm 1, 86

 \mathbf{F}

faith 197, 595

fame, desire for 538-40

fear 1-2, 8, 11, 66, 70, 78-82, 86, 101, 132, 137-9, 167, 174, 276, 355, 467, 478-81, 483-86, 489, 504, 582, 598

— of death 11, 355, 478-85, 582 figurative use of words 174, 193, 214, 322, 329, 399, 445-9, 451, 457-8,

322, 329, 399, 445-9, 451, 457-8, 484-5, 569-71

fire burning, relative reality of 285 first person – *see* persons, three — inclusive pronoun – *see* 'we' five senses – *see* senses, five 'five sheaths' – *see* sheaths, five food 495, 498-9, 501-2, 530, 591, 600-

1 (see also vegan; vegetarian)
— to God, becoming 325-6, 330

form 145-50, 153-5, 172-3, 206-7, 273, 420, etc.

- name and *see nama-rupa*; name and form
- of God *see* God, name of
- of light 300-2, 322, 376
- own 172, 183, 201-2, 274, 300-2, 322, 376, 514 (see also svarupa)

formless 145-6, 154-5, 172, 191, 212-5, 220, 273, 316, 331-3, 343, 420, 422, 448, 481-2, 546

'fourth' state (*turiya avastha*) 382-4 freedom 373-5, 465, 548

— from desire 285, 465, 480, 497, 514, 522, 524, 528, 531, 544, 574, 586, 590

free will 275

fullness 147, 252, 320, 338, etc.

- of being 29, 42, 252, 277, 282-4, 320, 328, 338, 343, 350-1, 404, 483, 496, 547, 551, 574, 578, 580
- of consciousness 252, 338, 350-1, 547, 580
- of happiness 67, 75, 252, 278, 338, 350, 433, 547, 580, 605
- of love 338, 593, 596, 599, 605, 609
- of true knowledge 320, 523

G

garbha (womb) 220

gati (way, path, refuge, remedy) 261 'Genesis' 236

goal 260-1, 441, 447, 470-1, 473, 482, 486, 525, 538, 567-9, 577, 587, 599

- and path see path and goal
- is complete self-surrender 471, 482, 486
- is immortality 486
- is self-conscious being 260-1, 441, 567-9, 577
- is self-knowledge 447, 473, 538, 569, 587

God 24-32, 40-3, 46-8, 201, 239, 256-8, 272-85, 322-34, 343-9, 465-76, 481-5, 495-8, 550-4, 558-60, 578-9, 596, 602-4, 610, etc.

- as *guru* 473-6
- Father, Son and Holy Spirit 474
- 'feet' of 478, 481, 483-4
- form of 25, 27-8, 31, 47, 224, 273, 331-2, 345, 481, 495-8, 522, 578
- functions of 271-2, 274-5, 278-81, 283-4, 473, 475
- giving ourself to 223, 328, 460, 465, 513, 578
- grace of see grace
- is absolute reality 15, 28, 46-8, 277, 323, 328, 330-1, 333, 338, 343-5, 483, 553-4, 563, 569, 579, etc.
- is all-knowing, all-powerful and all-loving 276-7, 280, 284, 466

- is consciousness 'I am' 25-7, 31, 40, 284, etc.
- is love 276, 279-80
- is our essential being 277, 323, 330, 333, 485, etc.
- is our real self 272, 277, 279, 326, 470, 472-3, 552, 578, etc.
- is self-conscious being 280, 330, 333, 344-6, 482, etc.
- love of 279-81
- name of 219-20, 331, 343-5, 482, 490, 495, 563-4
- oneness of 27, 31, 43, 474
- oneness with 41, 323, 579
- only flawless means to establish the existence of 558-61
- personal nature of 277-81
- presence of see presence of God
- seeing 273, 325-34
- service to 578-9
- surrender to 328, 459, 462, 465-73, 478, 483, 485, 487, 574, 578
- union with 31, 46 (see also yoga)
- vision of 326-7, 332
- voice of 327
- will of 24, 275-6, 459, 462, 466-7, 579, 586, 610

God, *guru* and self are one 473-6 good 144, 275-6, 306, 465, 601-4, 610

- action 180, 257-60, 275-6, 463
- desires 465
- doing 601-4, 608, 610
- intent 601
- people 539, 589, 594, 596 goodness 498, 590, 610

Gospels 346

- John 28-9, 39-41, 43, 322, 346
- Luke 29, 30
- *Mark* 29, 603
- *Matthew* 29, 322-3, 603

grace 54, 56, 162, 180, 275, 281, 283, 322, 375, 466, 468-9, 473, 475-6, 478, 511, 523, 569, 571-6, 594-8

— and *maya* 375, 572

- attraction of 375, 574-6, 594
- power of 162, 375, 478, 511, 571-6
- shines as 'I am' 475-6, 597

granthi (knot) – see chit-jada-granthi 'graven image' 332

greed 499-500, 588, 590-2, 599

Greek 346-7

guna (quality, attribute) 47-8, 481-2, 495, 500, 505-6, 590

guru ([true spiritual] teacher) 162, 344-5, 473-7, 483, 540-1, 544

- function of 162, 473, 475
- grace of 473, 475-6
- is God in human form 473-6

Guru Vachaka Kovai 53, 455, 612-3

- verse 99: 209-11
- verse 555: 135-6
- verse 559: 132-3
- verse 560: 130-1
- verse 579: 260-1
- verse 712: 219, 343
- verse 713: 219, 344
- verse 714: 219, 344
- verse 715: 219, 344
- verse 716: 219-21, 318
- verse 717: 354
- verse 815: 598-9
- verse 937: 384
- verse 938: 384
- verse 939: 384
- verse 957: 386
- verse 958: 386-7
- verse 966: 475-6, 573

H

happiness 1-2, 6-9, 32, 44, 58-9, 65-94, 120-1, 136-40, 142, 144, 146-7, 158, 173, 177, 179-80, 198, 200, 203, 238-40, 244-54, 257, 278-9, 322, 335-41, 350, 362, 433-4, 436, 459, 463-5, 473, 475, 477, 479, 523-4, 530-2, 535-7, 541-2, 544, 547-8, 571, 574-6, 578-80, 610, etc.

— absolute 58, 70-5, 86, 90, 94, 120, 238-9, 249-54, 336-9, 513, 532, etc.

— comes from within ourself 1, 68, 72-5, 92, etc.

- and love 66-8, 90-1, 248, 278, 338-9, 463, 571, 574, 593, 605, etc.
- infinite 58-9, 137, 278-9, 464, 477, 503-4, 537, 569, 596, 602, 607, etc.
- is our essential being 67, 88, 92, 463, 479, etc.
- is our natural state 68-9, 73-4, 158, 244, 278, 339, etc.
- is state of being 72, 87, 532, etc.
- of self-knowledge 9, 433, 503, 576, 596, 602, etc.
- supreme 244, 339, 579

Happiness and the Art of Being 57 harm, avoiding 67, 257, 275, 490, 593, 598, 601-5, 607 (see also ahimsa)

heart, spiritual 147, 164, 170-1, 176, 179-80, 183, 190-3, 213-9, 343-4, 350, 469, 475, 482, 504, 523, 532, 555, 558, 563-9, etc. (see also core; *hridaya*; *ullam*)

- is absolute reality 214-5, 343, 555, 558, 566, etc.
- is 'am' 475, 563-4, 566
- is 'being-essence' 343, 555, 563, 566
- is 'birthplace' of our mind 214, 216
- is consciousness 'I am' 214-6, 475
- is core of our being 170-1, 191-3, 214-5, 218, 225, 484, 558, 566, etc.
- is not in body 214-6
- is our real self 214, 469
- is self-conscious being 191, 563, 566, 568

heaven 30, 174-5, 469, 480, 539 Hebrew 346-7

'here' 214, 394-6, 403-6, 410-4

— undefined conception of 413-4 here and now 214, 396, 401, 409, 412,

433 (see also 'here'; 'now')

himsa (harm, injury or hurt) 593, 607 Hinduism 17-8, 56, 343, 356, 481, 483,

498 (see also sanatana dharma)

holy indifference – *see* indifference *hridaya* (heart, core) 192, 214-5 humility 143, 467, 483, 538, 599, 603, 610

I

- 'I' 4-5, 7-8, 11-2, 23-5, 97-9, 106-11, 153-5, 157-60, 163, 168-75, 178-83, 192-3, 213-21, 225-7, 234-5, 296, 314-8, 342-55, 358-61, 396-403, 449-51, 457-60, 543, 550-3, etc. (see also aham; ego; nan)
- and 'mine' 24, 459
- identifying body as 4, 7-8, 12, 34, 98-9, 101, 106-9, 111, 169, 204, 209-10, 213, 242, 315, 368, 460, 462, etc.
- imagining body to be 153, 205, 218, 225, etc.
- import of the word 352-4
- is implied by 'am' 345-6, 350, 563
- is name of God 219-20, 343-5, 563
- mistaking body to be 4-5, 34, 80,97-9, 107-8, 110, 126, 361, 367-8,375, 422, etc.
- oneness with 'am' 345-7, 561
- thinking continuously 213, 219, 221
- thought see thought 'I'
- 'I'-facing see ahamukham
- 'I am' 3-4, 22-8, 33-41, 103-604, etc.
- 'I am a person' 4, 23, 25, 27, 169, 188, 212, 255, 270, 366, 424, 548, etc.
- 'I am brahman' 323, 343, 349, 550
- 'I am doing' 189, 258, 262, 284, 462
- 'I am experiencing' 269-70
- 'I am I' 172-3, 176, 179, 192, 219-20, 344-5, 350-2, 354, 504, 531
- 'I am knowing' 189, 290, 364, 419, 461-2, 535
- 'I am so-and-so' 4, 23, 30, 169, 188, 212, 350, 366, 424
- 'I am that' 173, 188, 353, 550-2
- I AM THAT I AM (*ehyeh asher ehyeh*) 28, 40, 179, 322-3, 343, 347, 349
- 'I am this body' 4, 23, 27, 33, 80, 90,

- 98, 114-5, 151, 169-80, 188, 202, 205, 212-3, 226, 228, 230, 234-5, 255, 269-70, 272, 298, 300-1, 303, 310, 314-5, 319, 337, 350, 353, 360, 366, 371-2, 387-8, 396, 399, 402, 424-5, 457, 551 (see also dehatma buddhi)
- 'I am this or that' 173, 188, 353
- 'I am what?' 551
- 'I am who?' (nan yar?) 143, 156, 350, 450 (see also 'who am I?')
- 'I I' 172-3, 176, 213, 219, 221, 483
- means 'I am I' 350-2
- *iccha* (wish, desire, intention) 281-2 icon 332
- idam (place) 173-4, 399, 449 (see also birthplace; muvidam)
- identification 23, 96, 98, 110, 170, 207, 227-8, 230, 266, 366, 424, 460-1, 536, 605, etc.
- with adjuncts 27, 323-4
- with body 4, 6-7, 12, 27-8, 30, 33, 43, 75, 79, 98, 103, 106, 110, 148, 170, 204, 228, 266, 366, 379, 396, 420, 460-1, 536, etc.
- with mind 84 idol 332
- ignorance 7-9, 43-4, 90, 124-5, 136-9, 155-8, 175-9, 195, 197-9, 207, 212, 216-7, 309-14, 319-21, 338, 365, 369-70, 377, 379, 465, 484, 500, 517, 533, 535, 549, 572, 595 (see
- knowledge and 306, 309, 313-4, 319-20, 338
- is an imagination 311-2

also self-ignorance)

- is unreal 155, 197, 572
- illusion 19, 26-8, 34, 37-8, 42, 103, 110, 116, 119, 125-6, 128-30, 138-9, 145-6, 151-2, 162, 165, 170, 173, 175-6, 178, 181-2, 196, 201, 226, 234, 240, 242-3, 260-1, 284, 286-8, 290, 292-3, 298, 301, 318-21, 324, 329, 351, 361, 367, 371-3, 377-8,

intellect 7, 74, 162-4, 207, 314-7, 358,

381, 384, 387, 393-4, 396, 400, 402-3, 405-6, 408-9, 425, 428-9, 436, 450, 459, 464, 475, 479, 515, 528, 531-2, 535, 540, 547-9, 572-3, 575, 609 — mistaken to be real, example of 293 — of time and space 393-16 image – see mental image imagination 4-5, 25-7, 34-9, 98-110, 117-432, 450-86, 508-607, etc. — basic, fundamental or primal 174-5, 176, 178, 212-3, 272, 402 — is a distortion of consciousness 126, 298 — is a power of self-deception 195 immortality 478-9, 481, 485-6 inattentiveness 494 (see also pramada) inbu (happiness) 576 *inbu tonume* (happiness will appear) 576 inclusive first person pronoun 296 inclusive form of first person verb 'am' 563 inconscient (jada) 33-4, 95, 108, 128, 163-5, 171-2, 228, 314-5 indifference 590, 593 — heartless 593, 605 — holy 586, 588, 593 (see also desirelessness; vairagya) individuality 10, 26, 28-30, 32, 42, 47, 170, 432-3, 466, 475-6, 515, 530-1, 541 (see also consciousness, individual; self, individual) — attachment to 32, 42, 432-3 — illusion of 44, 475, 515 — loss of 26, 28-30, 54, 277, 476, 530-1, 541, 552-3, 593 — surrender of our 24, 281, 433, 476 indivisible, reality is 41, 43, 107, 150, 152, 154, 176, 272-3, 279, 334, 341, 345, 446, 474, 556, 578, 593, 604 infinite, definition of 249, 282 (see also absolute, definition of)

infinitude 249, 282

362, 466, 509, 519-21, 533-6 — is mind 74, 164, 358, 520 — sharp 315-6, 519-21 — subtle 314-7 intellectual — knowledge – see knowledge — speculation – see speculation — understanding – see understanding intermittent attempts 580, 585 introversion 92, 183, 191-2 investigation – *see* self-investigation irattaigal (pairs of opposites) 306 iru (be) 193-4, 439, 504 irudi tannai unarndu tan adal (finally knowing ourself [and] being ourself) 140 irukka (to be, when [we] are) 504 irukkalam ('let us be' or 'we can be') 610 irukkiren ('am' in Tamil) 346 iruppadu ('being' [as a gerund]) 193-4, 439-40, 458, 505 irul (darkness [of self-forgetfulness or self-ignorance]) 164 'is'-ness 211, 251-2, 282-3, 308, 333, 340, 498, 557-8 (*see also* 'am'-ness) isan (God) 283 — sannidhana (presence) 283 Islam 17, 343 *jada* (inconscient) 163-5, 172 jagrat-sushupti (waking sleep) 382

jada (inconscient) 163-5, 172
jagrat-sushupti (waking sleep) 382
japa (repetition) 331, 495-6, 501-2
Jesus – see Christ
jiva (soul) 49, 203, 281
jivatma (soul, individual self) 49
jña (to know) 195
jñana (knowledge) 44, 195, 384, 435,
470-1, 514, 516, 533, 543, 550, 582
— and bhakti are one 435-6
— marga – see marga (path), jñana
jñana-drishti (knowledge-sight) 183,
195

jñana mata (mother of knowledge) 606 jñana-vichara (knowledgeinvestigation) 91, 543 jñanendriyas (sense organs) 158 jñani (a sage, one who has true selfknowledge) 44, 92, 134 Judaism 343 'just be' (summa iru) 117, 194, 487, 610 just being (summa iruppadu) 1-3, 24, 45, 93, 117, 125-6, 137, 140, 145, 183, 185, 193, 195, 202, 222-4, 271, 276, 280-1, 284, 305, 434, 440-1, 456-62, 464, 468-72, 475, 486-8, 491-3, 496, 503-5, 512-3, 518, 522, 524-5, 531-2, 550-2, 565-7, 569, 571-9, 582, 602, 605-8, 610

K

kadanda-ullavan – see kadavul kadavul (God) 344 kalangare (they will not deluded) 308 kalivenba (an extended version of the venba metre) 128, 134, 258, 306, 312, 314, 316-7, 329, 345, 395, 402, 407, 582 kalpana (imagination) – see

kalpanaigal kalpanaigal (imaginations) 274

kan (eye) 569-70 kan (see) 326-7

kandavare (only those who have seen) 308

karana (cause) 52, 595

— sarira (causal body) 371

karanam illada karunai (causeless grace) 595

karma (action) 180, 257-62, 275, 281-3, 435, 470, 493, 503-4, 532, 542

- cannot give self-knowledge 259-60, 493
- ocean of 259-60
- path of 435, 470-1
- prarabdha (destiny) 281-2
- three *karmas* 258, 261-2

- two *karmas* 180
- wheel of 259

karma-vasanas (desires that impel us to do action) 259, 282

karmendriyas (organs of action) 158 kartritva (doership) 258

karu (embryo) 220, 317-8

karuna (compassion or grace) 594-6, 608

karunai – see karuna

karuvam ahandai (ego, which is the embryo) 317-8

katchi – see manomayamam katchi kaupina (loincloth) 600

kettal (asking or investigating) 442-4 khanda (broken, fragmented, divided, break, fragment, division) 339-42

kingdom of God 28, 30-1, 343

'knowing consciousness' (as opposed to 'being consciousness') 116-9, 165-6, 186

knowing self 7-8, 26, 44, 58, 60, 91, 117-9, 195-6, 199, 223, 321-2, 324-8, 334-5, 339, 342, 377-9, 385-6, 425, 435-6, 457, 459-60, 465, 535, 551, etc. (see also self-knowledge)

- is being self 7, 21, 140, 223, 304-5, 325-6, 335, 363, 440, 503, etc.
- is extremely easy 502-3, 505

knowing that we are, but not what we are 89, 111, 124, 184, 218, 302, 366, 369-70

knowledge 195, 291-3, 297, 299-304, 309, 312-4, 316, 319-21, 335, 350, 356-9, 361, 364, 376-7, 382, 385-6, 389-91, 532-3, 542-3, etc. (see also arivu; chit; jñana; unarvu)

- absolute 292, 295-7, 300, 313-4, 316, 319, 385, 390, 516, 541-2, etc.
- and ignorance 306, 309, 313-4, 319-20, 338, etc.
- false 189, 199, 319, 321, 359, 376, 378-9, 382, etc.
- intellectual 74-5, 137

- non-dual see non-dual knowledge
- objective 136, 164, 174, 200, 246-7, 294, 296, 304-6, 328, 359, 387-90, 411, 426, etc.
- pure 335, 343
- real 303, 306, 309, 321
- self see self-knowledge
- true *see* true knowledge

knowledge-investigation – see jñanavichara

kosa (sheath) 163-4, 206-7, 533, 535-6 Krishna, Sri 14, 327, 474, 508-9 kshanika (momentary) 129 kural venba (a two-line version of the

venba metre) 555 kurnda mati – see mati, kurnda

I

lakshya (aim, target, goal) 450-1 lakshyartha (intended meaning) 449-51 Latin 346-7, 520

laya (abeyance, temporary subsidence [of mind]) 378

learning 9, 17, 60, 62, 143, 502, 534-5

— excessive 537-9 (*see also* books) liberation, spiritual 26, 199-200, 258-

61, 533, 547-49, 579 (*see also* emancipation; *mukti*; salvation)

life-force 157, 163-4, 207, 492, 494, 535 (see also prana)

lifestyle 584-6

— simplicity of 586, 591, 599-600 light 36, 177-9, 241, 300-2, 322, 329-30, 344-5, 376, 425, 434, 523, 570, 597, etc.

- all-consuming 330, 482
- dim 19, 25, 116, 178-9, 226, 330, 485
- limited 178, 330
- metaphorical use of word 301, 322-3, 329-30, 449
- of attention 425
- of consciousness 35, 171, 241, 329-30, 366, 530, 560, 570, 597
- of grace 180, 574, 597

— of self 322, 504

- of self-consciousness 62, 119, 177, 307, 329-30, 345, 489, 506, 529-30, 573, 575, 597
- of self-knowledge 8, 12, 179, 220, 234, 485, 547, 593
- of Sri Ramana's teachings 17, 19, 31, 51-2, 447-8, 455
- reflected 171, 329-30, 597

likes and dislikes 8, 66, 73, 75, 78-9, 81, 432, 462, 467, 489, 588-90, 609 Lord 14, 180, 329-30, 481, 603, 608-9 — great 481

love 66-8, 90-1, 137, 276-81, 338-9, 436, 463-4, 468-70, 475-9, 482-3, 488, 495-8, 521-5, 571-8, 580-1, 584-7, 593-600, 603-9, etc. (see also anbu; bhakti; devotion)

- all-consuming 464, 477, 573-4, 578, 584
- and desire 463-4, 580, etc.
- and happiness 66-8, 90-1, 248, 278, 338-9, 463, 571, 574, 593, 605, etc.
- for being 436, 468, 479, 491, 493, 497, 522, 524, 531, 544, 551, 569, 572-8, 586-7, 590, 606-7, 609, etc.
- for happiness 66-8, 90-1, 137, 248, 278-9, 338-9, 463-4, 479, etc.
- for God 279-80, 331-2, 468, 482-3, 495-8, 551, 578, 603-4
- for self 66-8, 90-1, 278-9, 338-9, 436, 463, 476, 479, 571-2, 603-4, etc.
- for self-attentiveness 185, 537, 544, 551, 580-1, 585
- for self-knowledge 10, 185, 285, 434, 477-8, 536, 584, 586, 606, etc.
- God's 276, 279-81, 284, 466, 468-9, 473, 475
- is our true nature 137, 278, 464, 605, etc.
- just to be 276, 280, 464, 468, 491, 493, 522, 524, 563, 571-7, 580, 606-7, etc.

- non-dual see non-dual love
- overwhelming 476-7, 482, 497, 536, 541, 574, 584
- Sri Ramana's 16, 593-9, etc.
- to lose our finite self 10, 436, 468, 482-3, 489, etc.
- to subside 489, 524, 532, 541, 607, etc.

lust 79, 500, 588, 590

M

Madurai 11

magic 196 (see also powers; siddhis) mahakarta (great 'doer') 283 maharishi (great rishi or 'seer') 14-15 Maharshi 11, 13-15 mahavakya (great saying) 323, 343, 349 mahesan (great Lord, God) 481-2 mai (darkness, ignorance) 177 -mai (Tamil suffix denoting an abstract state or quality, similar to the suffix '-ness' in English) 333 (see also nanmai; tanmai; unmai; vinmai) Malayalam 16, 21, 442, 611 manana (musing, reflection) 9-11, 54, 447, 537, 545, 588 manam (mind) 439 (see also manas) manas (mind) 520 (see also manam) mandapam (temple hall) 600 mano-laya – see laya manomaya kosa ('sheath' composed of

manomayamam katchi ('vision which is composed of mind', mind-made vision) 326-7, 332

mind) 163-4

mano-nasa (annihilation or destruction of mind) 377-8, 492-3, 531

mano-nigraha (mind-restraint) 533, 546

mantra (sacred word or phrase) 196, 331, 454-5, 495-6, 501-2 mantra-japa (repetition of sacred

words or phrases) 495-6, 501-2 marga (path) 435 (see also path; vazhi)

- *bhakti* (path of devotion) 435-6, 470-71, 475, 482, 495
- *jñana* (path of knowledge) 378, 435-6, 470-71, 475, 550, 582
- *karma* (path of action) 435, 470-71
- *yoga* (path of union) 435, 470-71 mathematics 275, 411
- is inherently relative 418 *mati* (intellect, mind) 314-5, 329, 519-21, 523, 525 (*see also buddhi*)
- *kurnda* (sharp, pointed, piercing intellect) 315, 519-25
- mun (subtle intellect) 315
 mati iladal (since it is devoid of consciousness) 314
 matra (only, nothing but) 283
 maturity, spiritual 10, 43, 258, 276, 448, 478, 480-3, 489 (see also ripeness, spiritual)
 mauna (silence) 183, 193, 344
 maya (self-deception, delusion) 34, 130, 189, 199, 201, 213, 365-6, 373, 375-6, 477, 479, 500, 505, 515, 572
- and grace 375, 572
- and its *gunas* (qualities) 500, 505
- is our imagination 189, 201, 213, 373
- is our mind 34, 130, 201, 373, 572
- is our self-forgetfulness 365, 373, 375-6
- is *ya ma* (what is not) 365, 373
- two forms of (*avarana* and *vikshepa*) 365-6, 375-6, 500 meditation 84, 215-6, 331, 469-70, 490, 495-8, 549-56, 562-6, 568,
- imaginative 534, 549-54, 578
- misdirected 184, 195, 198, 378
- on God 331, 469-70, 495-8, 551-2
- on question 'who am I?' 437-9
- on self 215-6, 458, 469-70, 515, 526, 551-2, 554-5, 562-8, 581-5
- on spiritual teachings 9, 56
- practice of 581-5

578, 581-5, etc.

- to quieten mental activity 84, 378 mental images 93, 183, 191, 227, 232, 273-4, 305, 307, 317, 324, 557
- all objective knowledge is only 135-6, 167, 305, 557
- everything other than 'I am' is only129, 133, 136, 151, 340
- formation of 232, 305, 307
- God as a 273-4, 236-7, 332
- our body is a series of 129, 135, 154, 213, 227, 273-4, 370, 428
- our mind is a 214
- time and space are 149, 394, 408
- waking and dream consist only of 132-3, 370
- world is a series of 93, 129, 154, 201-3, 227, 273-4, 370, 430, 559-60, 571
- mey (real) 333, 343-4
- *meypporul* (real substance) 333, 343-4 *meypporul-vilakkam* (light of the real substance) 344
- mind 1-11, 23-7, 32-9, 68-610, etc. (see also chitta; manam; manas)
- abeyance of 88, 137-8, 366, 376-9, 497 (*see also laya*)
- absorption of 92, 492 (see also samadhi)
- annihilation of 26, 177, 322, 344, 377-8, 432, 492-3, 495, 531, 541-3, 553, 574 (see also mano-nasa)
- birthplace of see 'birthplace'
- body-bound 127, 217, 219-20, 260, 354, 356, 368, 374, 426, 457, 464, 477, 492, 595, 599, 605, 607
- cannot be without thinking 23, 88, 118, 234
- death of 28-9, 378, 478, 484-6, 543
- destruction of 26, 88-90, 175-8, 182, 192-3, 212, 219-20, 377-9, 453, 474-5, 484-5, 531-3, 607, etc. (see also mind, annihilation of)
- dissolution of 26, 176-7, 183, 194, 199, 204, 224, 234, 290, 316, 330-5,

352, 385, 482, 505, 531, 546, 572-3, 575, 582, 588-9, etc.

- fixed or established in self, keeping 182-6, 192, 329, 439-41, 494, 507-12, 526-8, 534, 549-50, 553, etc.
- forms itself 168, 175, 213, 224, 234-5
- investigation see mind, scrutiny of
- is a confused knowledge 7, 23, 33, 38, 110, 254-6, etc.
- is a distorted form of consciousness 23, 25, 27, 114, 126-7, 139, 151, 167, 243, 299, 353, 388, 402, 425, 570, 572, etc.
- is a limited form of consciousness 7, 23, 25, 27, 80, 84, 89, 114, 126-7, 139, 151, 167, 180-1, 189, 234, 243, 353, 396, 570, etc.
- is an object-knowing consciousness 122, 126, 128, 204, 241-2, 290, 299, 302, 304-8, 325-6, 329-30, 407, 429-30, 449, 457, 527, 577, 609
- is an unreal form of consciousness 38, 165-6, 304, 372-3, 424-5, etc.
- is 'I am this body' 4, 23, 27, 33, 79-80, 90, 114, 151, 169-80, 188-9, 205, 212-3, 226-8, 230, 234-5, 269-70, 272, 300-1, 303, 314-5, 350, 353, 360, 371-2, 387-8, 396, 402, 425, 547, etc.
- is illusion 34, 36-7, 38, 110, 162, 165, 175, 182, 377, 425, 532, 547
- is imagination 38-9, 174-5, 212-3, 230, 226, 262, 265, 269, 313, 431, 547, 551, etc.
- is impostor 164, 166, 172, 353
- is *maya* (power of self-deception) 34, 130, 201, 373, 572
- is non-existent 163, 306, 308, 316-21, 342, 377, 494, 532, etc.
- is obstacle to self-knowledge 166-7, 199, 303, 471, 581
- is phantom see phantom, mind is a
- is reflected consciousness 171, 329-

30, 570, 597 - is root though

— is root thought 'I' 168-9, 171, 173, 175, 180, 213, 225-7, 234-5, 273, 318, 339-400, 492

— is unreal 38, 166, 227-9, 254-6, etc.

— no such thing as 172, 204, 546

— peace of -see peace of mind

— purification of 423, 447, 482, 489-90, 493, 506, 522-3

- restraint of 78, 492, 494-5, 500, 509-10, 533, 545-7, 553, 590, 610

scrutiny of 172-3, 176, 178, 203-4,214, 216, 262, 307, 309, 314-8, 486,543, 546, 550, 552, 572, 575, etc.

— space of – see chittakasa; space 'mine' 24,459

miraculous powers – *see* powers misery 7-8, 25, 82, 90-2, 180, 247-8, 335, 484

— cause of 7-8, 25, 27

— freedom from 8, 25, 68-9, 79, 82, 90-1, 484, 504

mita (moderate) 495, 498, 500 Monier-Williams, Sanskrit-English dictionary 22

morals 257-9, 463, 499, 514, 539, 602, 607, 610 (*see also* good)

mudal (origin, cause, root, base) 225, 258, 327-8, 559-60

mudiyum (will end, finally appear) 204 *mukti* (liberation, emancipation) 199-200, 262, 533-4, 547, 549

munnilai (second person) 399

mupputi (triad) 305-6

murti-dhyana (meditation on a form of God) 495, 501-2

Muruganar, Sri 53-4, 384, 386, 442, 565, 598, 611-3

muttozhil (threefold function [of God]) 281

muvidam (three 'places') 399 (see also munnilai; padarkkai; tanmai; persons, three) mystic 44-5 — centres 215

mystical love 16, 46, 51, 180

mystical 'power' 196

mystical traditions 19, 44-5, 356, 458

mystical union 31

mystical writings 16, 31, 46, 50-1, 179-80, 322, 375

mysticism 322, 356, 375

— Christian 19, 31

— Islamic – see Sufism

— Jewish 19

N

na iti (not thus) 157 (see also neti neti)
nadakka (to walk, proceed) 474
nadutal (seeking, investigating) 456-7
nam (we) 407, 560
nama-rupa (name-form) 135, 191
name and form 14, 130, 135, 183, 1901, 331-3, 343, 481-2, 495-8, 559
name of God – see God, name of
nameless and formless 191, 331-3,
481-2
nan (I) 143, 173, 346, 350, 352, 402,

nan (1) 143, 173, 346, 350, 352, 402, 450 (see also aham; ego; 'I')

nan enum sol-porul (the import of the word 'I') 352

nan nan ('I I') 350 (see also 'I am I') 'nan yar?' ('I am who?') 143, 350, 450 (see also 'who am I?')

Nan Yar? (Who am I?) 91-3, 156-8, 222, 612

— paragraph 1: 91, 157-8, 612

— paragraph 2: 158-60

— paragraph 3: 200-2

— paragraph 4: 202-5, 371

— paragraph 5: 213-26

— paragraph 6: 182-200, 216, 218, 444-5, 451-3, 505, 506-8, 512

— paragraph 7: 201-2, 274

— paragraph 8: 491-4, 496-8

— paragraph 9: 493, 494-502

— paragraph 10: 510-5, 526, 554-5

— paragraph 11: 155-6, 222, 510, 514-30

- paragraph 12: 473-6 — paragraph 13: 24, 223-4, 460-1, 465-8, 471-2, 512-3, 526 — paragraph 14: 92-4, 203 – paragraph 15: 281**-**4 — paragraph 16: 439-40, 526-7, 533-54 — paragraph 17: 160-3 — paragraph 18: 129-36 — paragraph 19: 588-609 - paragraph 20: 588, 609-10 nanavu-tuyil (waking sleep) 382 nanmai (goodness) 610 nasa (annihilation) – see mano-nasa nattam (investigation) 456-7 natural state, our 1, 43, 68-71, 88, 91, 120-1, 137, 140, 188, 200, 212, 299, 325, 345, 351, 383, 385, 436, 440, 446, 453-4, 465, 473, 475, 487, 491, 494, 497, 501-5, 510, 512, 516, 524-5, 553, 556, 568-9, 572-3, 576-80, 588, 600, 602, 604-7, 610 nature, our real 3-4, 7-8, 12, 59, 61-2, 67-70, 73-5, 86-8, 90-2, 106, 115, 118, 122, 144, 147-8, 155-6, 158, 165, 179, 194, 201, 203, 217, 222, 278, 309, 313, 325, 334, 337, 339, 342-3, 348, 357, 365, 367, 369-70, 372-4, 374, 379-81, 382, 424, 428-9, 433, 445-6, 460, 464, 477, 523, 531, 537, 564, 567-8, 578, 595 negligence – see pramada neti neti (not thus, not thus) 157-9, 163 nididhyasana (contemplation, scrutiny, attentiveness) 9-10, 54, 447, 537, 545, 588 nihazhvinai (present time) 395 nihazhvu (present time) 394 ninaivu (thought, mind) 177 nirasa (desirelessness) 514, 516 nirguna (without qualities) 47-8, 481-2 nirvana (extinction, annihilation) 26, 49, 343, 377, 531, 608 *nishtha* (abidance, 'standing firmly')
- 24, 223, 335, 441, 458, 460, 513

 nitamum mannum (which always endures) 394

 nitya (eternal) 262

 non-dual 10-3, 39, 54, 120-6, 146-55, 170-83, 210-2, 239-41, 250, 287-90, 302-17, etc.
- being 146, 150, 152-4, 180, 183, 251-2, 282, 295, 434, 478, 571, 593
- being-consciousness 117-8, 146-7, 165, 179, 357, 295-6
- consciousness 12, 19, 26, 35, 49, 54, 58, 113, 116, 121-4, 139, 146, 151-2, 155, 170-1, 173-4, 178, 180, 188, 197-8, 201-4, 209-11, 243-4, 251-2, 254, 262, 278, 290, 295, 297, 302-4, 306, 325-6, 335, 350, 387, 402, 406, 408-9, 415, 419, 422-5, 429, 432, 448-9, 476-8, 481, 485, 503-4, 516, 533-4, 540-3, 548-9, 555, 564, 570-2, 593, etc.
- experience 23, 44-5, 47, 52, 54-5,138, 141, 160, 176, 212, 252, 256,300, 334, 391, 445, 540, 575, etc.
- knowledge 54, 200, 295, 297, 300, 302-4, 309, 314, 335, 355-8, 360, 364, 385, 390, 418, 533-4, etc.
- love 280, 571-2, 593, 597, 599
- practice 97, 449, 457
- reality 18-9, 39, 45, 144, 149, 154, 162, 192, 212, 239-41, 243-4, 249-54, 279, 287-90, 312, 338-9, 341, 374, 401, 433, 446, 560, 566, etc.
- self 134, 271, 527, 595, etc.
- self-attention 97
- self-consciousness 11, 13, 21, 35, 38, 43, 86, 120-6, 131, 139, 141-2, 159, 166, 176, 178, 182, 196, 209, 211, 217, 244, 251, 290, 300, 302, 304, 307-8, 312-7, 320, 330, 344-5, 351, 374, 382, 402, 445-6, 452-4, 459, 477, 529, 541, 547, 552-3, 564, 578
- self-conscious being 91, 140, 154,

```
201, 211, 251-2, 260-1, 280, 308-9,
  312-3, 328, 334, 345, 349, 351, 403,
  406, 408, 439-41, 445, 454, 457,
  483, 543, 560, 564, 568, 572, 579,
  594, 596, 604-5, 609
— self-knowledge 10, 12, 23, 51, 139,
   142, 176-7, 200, 256, 265, 295, 302,
  312, 383, 385, 390, 433, 440, 447,
  458, 465, 540, 568-9, 575-6, 579,
  592, 607, 609
— spirit 170, 179-80, 182, 448
— state 23, 26, 196, 200, 265, 302-3,
  342, 383-5, 434, 440, 569, 579, 607
non-dualistic 32, 38, 41, 285
— devotion 482-3
non-duality 18, 41-6, 50-1, 289, 310,
  337, 355-7, 432, 453, 548
non-existence 86-7, 146, 245-9, 253,
  306, 332, 334, 336-8, 352-3, 479,
  558-9, 562
— is not absolute 146, 245-8, 253, 336
 — of our mind or finite self 306, 308,
  319
non-objective 220-2, 348-9, 402, etc.
— attention 20
— consciousness 220-2, 402
— experience 440
— nature of being 348-9
- reality 445
non-self 160-1 (see also anatma)
'now' 214, 394-6, 403-6, 410-1, 413-6
  (see also here and now)
— undefined conception of 413-4
object(s) 72-83, 96-7, 134-7, 230-1,
   360-2, 397-401, etc.
— are mental images 190, 305, etc.
— are thoughts 305, 360, 398, 401, etc.
— imaginary 172, 300, 317, 597, etc.
— subject and -see subject and object
object-knowing
— attention 189
— consciousness 49, 103-4, 122, 126,
   128, 204, 223, 241-2, 290, 299, 302,
```

```
304-8, 325-6, 329-30, 335, 407,
  429-30, 449, 457, 527, 566, 577,
— mind 223, 308, 326, 330, 407
objective attention 20, 30, 97, 220
objective knowledge – see knowledge
obscuration 202, 349, 373, 375, 500
odukkidave (when it is subdued,
   dissolved, destroyed, merged) 177
oli (light) 345
olirum (shines) 208
ondru (one) 394
or vazhi (one path of knowing) 378
original \sin - see \sin, original
oru (one) 378
orum (knowing, which knows) 378
otherness 33, 57, 80, 123, 126-7, 142,
   151, 197, 211, 220, 228, 235, 263,
  265, 295, 298-9, 307-8, 312, 317-8,
  320, 326, 328-9, 362, 376-7, 379,
  387, 419-20, 422-3, 427, 429, 441,
  464, 467, 530, 532, 548, 558, 572,
   574, 606-7, 609
'own form' - see form, own; svarupa
padarkkai (third person) 399
pain 68-9, 101, 247, 258-9, 262, 275,
  285, 433, 464-5, 598 (see also
  pleasure and pain)
pairs of opposites 87, 180, 253, 306-9,
   337, 464
Pali Canon – see Tipitaka
pancha-kosas (five sheaths) 163, 207,
   533, 535-6
panchakrityas (five functions) 281-3
pancha vayus (five 'vital airs') 158
para-bhakti (supreme devotion) 578
para-sukha (supreme happiness) 579
para-vak (supreme word) 344-5
parama-isa-bhakti (supreme devotion
  to God) 24, 578
parama karuna (supreme compassion)
   594, 596, 608
paramarthika satya (essential reality,
```

absolute reality) 286 paramatman (supreme self) 161, 569 paramesvara sakti (supreme power of God) 466, 471-2 passion 78, 498-501, 514 path, spiritual 56, 91, 172, 204, 275, 331-2, 378, 435-6, 441, 470-1, 473-6, 482, 495, 504-5, 539, 546, 550, 582, 587 — and goal 486, 525

- and goal are essentially not different 260-1, 441, 567-9, 577
- direct 172, 204, 546
- is only self 261
- of action see marga, karma
- of devotion see marga, bhakti
- of knowledge see marga, jñana
- of union see marga, yoga
- of self-investigation 378, 436, 475, 504-5
- of self-surrender 436, 459, 462, 465, 475
- only one 260-1, 378, 436, 441 pati (Lord) 329
- peace 41, 71-2, 93-4, 199-200, 341, 500, 504, 578, etc.
- absolute 199, 548
- infinite 541, 574, 578, 589
- natural 79, 81, 589
- of mind 71, 79, 199, 500, 589-91
- perfect 1, 203, 279, 336, 341, 344, 459, 504, 575
- perception(s) 6, 45, 62, 95, 97, 100, 102, 126-7, 143, 158, 162, 167, 174, 200-1, 205-8, 225, 292, 294, 298, 366, 393, 398, 400, 411, 414-5, 420, 500
- perseverance 506, 513, 515, 574, 576, 587-8
- is the only true sign of progress 587 persistent practice 204, 235, 387, 423, 431, 434, 452, 489, 506, 508-10, 512, 518, 524-5, 527-8, 530, 533, 544, 577, 580-1, 587, 606

person

- guru is not a 16, 39-41, 473, 540, 594-5
- mistaking God to be a 27-8, 277-81
- mistaking ourself to be a 4, 23, 25, 27-8, 120, 127, 169-171, 188-9, 212, 255, 265-71, 277-81, 309, 366, 375, 387-8, 459, 466, 541, 548, 593, 595, 600, 605
- what defines us as a 169-70 personality 13, 329, 539, 541, 609 persons, three 194, 347, 397, 399, 437
- first person (tanmai) 213, 221, 225-6, 252, 295-6, 333, 342-3, 347-9, 396-7, 399-403, 437, 557, 561, 563
- second person (*munnilai*) 213, 225-6, 230, 333, 342, 348, 397-401, 403, 557
- third person (padarkkai) 213, 225-6, 230, 295, 333, 342, 348-9, 397-401, 403, 443, 556-7
- per-uruvil ('nameless and formless' or 'in name and form') 332 phantom 324
- mind is a 33, 37, 110, 164, 172, 262, 290, 307, 353, 385, 486, 546-7 philosophers 287, 418, 425, 427, 432-3 philosophical terminology 46, 134, 143, 191, 193-4, 332-5, 352, 397,
 - 439, 446, 502, 556
- philosophical writings 17-8, 31, 90, 191, 194, 286, 333, 355-6, 538, 541-2, 558, 611-3
- philosophy 18-20, 46, 50-2, 59-61, 82, 122, 134, 148, 257, 285-7, 334, 352, 389-91, 397-9, 425-7, 432-3, 494, 502, 539, 543, etc.
- and devotion to absolute truth 488
- and science 52, 59-60, 106, 122, 143, 160, 355, 357-8, 389-91, 432
- Indian 18, 160-1, 191
- of advaita vedanta 18-20, 285-6, 323, 335, 337, 355-6, 435, 506, 515, 520, 535

```
— of non-duality 337, 355-7, 432-3
— of self-knowledge 59, 106, 389-90
— of Sri Ramana 143, 257, 355-8
— perennial 50-1, 356
— spiritual 18-9, 285, 442, 448-9
philosophy-science 358
pinam pol tirndu udalam (leaving the
   body like a corpse) 581
'place' (idam), figurative use of 174,
   181, 188, 193, 214, 449, 515, 519
places, three (muvidam) 397, 399
pleasure 66, 68-9, 72, 75-6, 79, 85, 91,
   258-9, 261, 275, 285, 433, 464-5,
  477, 539, 586
— and pain 44, 69, 258-9, 261, 433,
   464 (see also pain)
pon (gold) 134
pori (sense organ or mind) 163-4
porul (substance, essence, reality) 207,
  209, 323, 332-3, 343-5, 350, 352,
   354, 407, 558, 562-3, 566, 569
power 188-90, 195-202, 217, 570-6,
   580, etc.
— of attention – see attention
— of consciousness (chit-sakti) 2, 36,
   188-9, 511
— of creation 4, 35, 99, 189, 198, 242
— of discrimination or discernment
   314-6, 509, 519-20, 523, 525
— of dissipation – see vikshepa sakti
— of extroversion 199, 575
— of grace – see grace
— of imagination – see imagination
— of knowing 2, 91, 97, 115, 188, 232,
   305, 358, 418, 423, 534
— of maya – see maya
— of obscuration – see avarana sakti
— of self-delusion – see self-delusion
— to stand firmly in self 182, 185, 444,
   507-8, 512
powers, miraculous or supernatural 15,
   195-200
poy (false, unreal) 177
poy mai ar ninaivu anuvum uyyadu
```

```
odukkidave (when thought, which is
  unreal darkness, is destroyed
  without reviving even an iota) 177
pov (having gone) 328
practice, spiritual 6-10, 20-2, 59-60,
   142, 221, 312-3, 358, 423-4, 435-
  59, 462, 470-1, 482-3, 487-8, 489-
  610, etc.
— perseverance in - see perseverance
 – persistent – see persistent practice
prajñanam brahma (pure
   consciousness is brahman) 323, 349
pramada (self-negligence, self-
   inattentiveness) 515-6
— is death 516
prana (breath, life, life-force, vitality)
   158, 163, 492, 494, 533, 535-6
pranamaya kosa ('sheath' composed of
  breath) 163-4
pranayama (breath-restraint) 492-8,
   501-2, 521
prarabdha (destiny) 281-2
prasthana-traya (triple source) 18
pratibhasika satya (seeming reality)
  286-7
pravritti (extroverted activity) 90
prayer 24, 41, 162, 468-70, 490
presence of God 273, 281-4, 327, 496
   practising the 496
presence of 'I am' 395, 406
present 81, 264-8, 394-7, 403-16, etc.
— moment 81, 130, 132, 264, 382,
  394-6, 401, 404-6, 409-16 (see also
   'now')
— place 394-7, 401, 403-6, 409-16
  (see also 'here')
pride 56, 468, 500-1, 538, 540-1, 588,
   590, 601
progress, spiritual 447, 525, 586-7
— only true sign of 587
projection 4, 34, 43, 83, 113, 128, 177,
  202-3, 205-6, 283, 298, 314, 365-6,
   399, 559
psychology 50, 426
```

puhazhchi (praise, fame) 539 puja (ritual worship) 331 purna (full, totality, whole) 320, 243 purusha (primal 'person' or spirit) 161

R

rajas (passion, restless activity) 500-1, 505

rajo-guna (quality of *rajas*) 500, 505-6 *ram* (to experience and give joy) 14 Ramakrishna, Sri 474

ramana (joy, that which gives joy) 14 Ramana, Sri 11-24, 26, 31, 34-5, 44, 50-6, 59-63, 90-3, etc.

- answers given by 14, 16-7, 130, 143, 147, 156-8, 160, 216, 442, 454, 599, etc.
- death experience of 11-3, 355, 478, 480-1, 489, 582
- disciples of 15-6, 53-4
- life of 142, 478, 598-601, etc.
- sayings of 18, 53, 219, 442, 447, 456, 612, etc.
- simplicity of his lifestyle 599-600
- simplicity of his teachings 20, 446
- teachings of 15-20, 22, 31, 50-6, 61, 125, 160, 174, 241, 296, 397, 442, 445-8, 455-6, 475, 544, 567, 588, 594, 601, etc.
- true experience of 16, 19, 44, 143, 147, 334, 478, 531, 594-5, 597, etc.
- true form of 54, 596-7
- words of 54, 63, 357, 447-8, 450, 601, etc.
- writings of 17-8, 53, 219, 356, 440, 442, 447-8, 455-6, 611-3, etc.

Ramana Nultirattu, Sri 613

Ramanopadesa Nunmalai – Vilakkavurai, Sri 613

rational 61, 148, 157, 159, 163, 391, 432, 519-20

reading 9-10, 455, 533, 537, 543-5, 588 (*see also* books; learning; *sravana*; studying)

reality 18, 27, 35-6, 140-55, 237-89,

318-45, etc. (see also porul; sat; unmai; ulladu; vastu)

- absolute see absolute reality
- definition of 237-41
- is self-shining 35-6, 240-1, 243, 596
- must be absolute 35, 237-8, 291, 297, 388, etc.
- nature of 144, 237-89, 337, 357, 446, 541, 565, 567, etc.
- relative 125, 131, 141, 211, 229, 237-9, 245, 256-7, 263-5, 267-8, 273-4, 277, 283-8, 558, etc.
- seeming 4, 35, 37, 102, 187, 226-7, 237, 241, 254, 265, 269-70, 286-7, 303-4, 318, 337-8, 361-2, 384, 388, 511, 557, etc.

rebirth 43, 139

— as spirit 30

recollection, mystical 458

refining our power of attention – see attention, power of, refining

reform 511, 513-4, 602, 604-5

reincarnation 139

relativity 120-1, 239-40, 254-6, 288-9, 313-4, 385, etc.

religion 4, 16-7, 26-8, 31-2, 39,41-5, 50-2, 82, 276, 279, 332, 338, 343-4, 356, 375, 389-90, 539, 542

religious beliefs 32, 42, 236, 390, 539

— sustain our complacency 480 renunciation 539, 585-7, 609

- of everything 318
- of individual will 24, 459, 589
- of self 462, 477, 609

responsibility 467-8, 585, 605, 610 (see also duty; service)

resurrection 30

reverie – see daydream

ripeness, spiritual 489-90, 496 (see also maturity, spiritual)

rishi ('seer') 15, 45

'rising consciousness' (as opposed to being consciousness') 6, 186, 230 rising-place 449, 470

root thought − *see* thought, root

rupa (form) 135, 191, 194 (see also nama-rupa; svarupa) sabda jala maharanyam (great forest of snares of words) 52 saccidananda (being-consciousnessbliss) 143-4 sadakalamum manattai atmavil vaittiruppadu (always being, keeping mind fixed in self) 439 sadguru (real guru, being-guru) 474 sadhakattil (in spiritual practice) 312 sadhu (religious mendicant) 13, 600 Sadhu Om, Sri 53-5, 121, 511, 580, 585, 611, 613 sages 11, 18-9, 31, 44-52, 54, 59-63, 95, 131-2, 134-5, 147-9, 152-5, 159, 257, 322, 384, 426, 515, 531, 537, 544, 550, 553, 579, 609 — experience of 18, 45, 59, 152-4, 531 — sense in which the word 'sage' is used in this book 44-5 — testimony of 45, 59-63, 131 — trust in words of 60-3 saguna (with qualities) 47-8, 481-2 sakti (power) 365-6, 375-6, 500, etc. — atisaya (extraordinary) 202 — avarana – see avarana sakti — *chit* (consciousness) 511 — paramesvara (God) 466, 471-2 — maya – see maya — vikshepa – see vikshepa sakti Sakti (God as divine mother) 327 salvation, spiritual 26-7, 39-41, 219-20, 262, 275, 435, 473-6, 511, 533-4, 545, 565 (see also emancipation; liberation; *mukti*) samadhi (mental absorption) 92, 492 samkalpa (volition, intention) 281-2 samkalpa sahitar (person possessed of volition) 282 samhara ('contraction' or destruction [of the universe]) 283

samsara (wandering, restless activity [of mind]) 90, 172 — is mind 172 samstha (standing firm) 509 sanaih sanaih (gently, gradually) 510 sanatana dharma (eternal truth, way or 'religion') 50-1 Sankara, Sri Adi 10, 14, 24, 52, 90, 474, 493, 545, 612 Sanskrit 9, 13, 16, 21, 22-3, 45, 49-50, 134, 143, 160, 163, 191-2, 194-5, 205, 220, 222, 258, 286, 305, 323, 339, 345-6, 382, 427, 437, 439, 445, 456, 458, 498, 500, 502, 519, 520-2, 554, 611 Sanskrit-English dictionary – see Monier-Williams santi (peace) 199 sapta dhatus (seven constituents) 158 sara (essence) 508, 611, 612 sarira (body) 203, 205, 371 sarvakarta ('all doer') 283 sastras (scriptures) 52 sat (being, that which is, reality, truth) 144, 163-5, 338-9, 474, 500 sat-bhava (real being, state of being) 578 sat-chit (being-consciousness) 146, 171 sat-chit-ananda (being-consciousnessbliss) 128, 143-4, 147, 159, 337-9, 342-3, 355, 477, 534, 549-50, 553-4 sattva (being-ness, calmness, clarity) 495, 498, 500-1, 506, 590 sattva-guna (quality of being-ness) 495, 500, 506, 590 sattvika (pure, endowed with sattva) 495, 498-501 — food 495, 498-9, 501 satya (truth, reality) 286-7 — paramarthika (absolute) 286 — pratibhasika (seeming) 286-7 — vyavaharika (relative) 286-7 savadavar (those who do not die) 485

- science 1-4, 8-9, 60, 82, 95-6, 122, 160, 355, 389-91, 417-8, 425-32, 474, 502-4
- and philosophy see philosophy
- method of research adopted by 95
- objective 60, 95, 389-90, 417, 426
- of being 1-2
- of consciousness 2, 389-90, 417-34
- of self-knowledge 2, 8-9, 59-60, 95, 106, 358, 389-91, 417-8, 432, 502-4
- spiritual 95, 417
- taught by Sri Ramana 52, 59-60, 143, 357-8, 502-4
- scriptures 31, 43-4, 52, 355, 542 (see also books; sastras)
- seeing God 273, 325-34
- seeing, process of 167-8
- seer and seen 427
- self 1-610 (see also atma; atman; svarupa; tan)
- abiding as -see self-abidance
- attention to -see self-attention
- being 8, 21, 335, 459, 461, 505, etc.
- essential 84-7, 91, 97, 114, 150,
 153, 165, 183, 188-9, 192-4, 201-3,
 215, 222, 256, 261, 265, 274, 280,
 285, 342, 387, 402, 406, 440, 448-9,
 479, 509, 514, 546, 568, 594-7, etc.
- false 23, 26, 49, 57, 170, 194, 328, 402-3, 434, 436, 459-62, 471, 473, 475, 477, 547, 576, 600, 608-9, etc.
- finite 328, 459, 471, 475, 477-9, 608-9, etc.
- individual 10, 23, 25, 49, 170, 201, 203, 223, 273-4, 284, 296, 319, 322, 326, 328, 350-1, 353, 432, 434, 436, 459-62, 464, 470-1, 473, 475, 483-4, 504, 524, 531, 533, 547, 553, 576, 578, 600, 605, 609
- infinite 134, 273, 328, 477, 595
- knowing 8, 21, 44, 117, 161, 195, 199, 327-8, 377-9, 460, 465, 502, 504-5, etc.
- real or true 7-9, 21-6, 48-9, 86-93,

116-25, 134-40, 152-66, etc. self-abidance 8, 21-4, 123, 196, 223, 303, 335, 441, 458-61, 465, 493, 502, 505-6, 513, 516, 552-3, 568, 574-5, 578-9, etc.

- self-analysis 2, 5-6, 39, 53, 91, 97, 124, 136, 147-8, 157, 159, 163, 165, 169, 268, 292, 298-9, 338, 356-7
- critical 61-3, 69, 95, 106, 114, 143, 147, 159, 165, 299, 356-7
- self-assertive power of mind 575
- self-attention 8-9, 21-4, 97, 118, 159, 178, 183, 185, 220-4, 357, 380-1, 424, 437, 456, 459, 471, 487, etc.
- self-attentive being 488-504, 506, 508, 510, 514-7, 521, 525-6, 530, 533, 537-8, 544, 553-5, 571-4, 576-7, 579-80, 583, 585-8, 590, 592
- self-attentiveness (*svarupa-dhyana*) 159, 233, 235, 316, 441, 453, 455-6, 458-9, 461, 482, 488, 490-1, 493, 506, 511-8, 521-4, 526-31, 537, 544-7, 553-4, 576, 578, 580-8, 590, 606
- tenacity in 511-3, 515-6, 530, 545, 574, 576-7, 580, 587, 592
- thought-free 441, 461
- self-conscious being 3, 61, 86-8, 91, 93, 106, 112, 115, 120-3, 134, 140, 145, 150, 153-4, 161, 164-5, 181-90, 201, 211, 216, 222-4, 236, 251-2, 260-1, 278-81, 288, 308-9, 312-3, 317, 320, 324-35, 344-6, 351, 354, 363, 370, 400-9, 414-6, 437-41, 444-5, 450-62, 476, 481-3, 486, 489-90, 493, 497-8, 501-8, 512, 516-8, 521, 524-7, 530, 537, 541, 543, 558-85, 592-7, 600-10, etc.
- absolute 121, 333, 493, 576
- infinite 153, 326, 584, 606
- non-dual *see* non-dual
- thought-free 223, 261, 344, 440-1, 445, 450-1, 454, 566-9, 575, 577 self-consciousness 2-3, 8-9, 12-3, 38-9,

```
62-3, 119-42, 164-6, 176-204, 209-
11, 216-20, 234-5, 300-8, 312-20, 329-30, 343-5, 351-4, 373-6, 379-
82, 386-7, 401-2, 418-9, 445-6, 450-
6, 476-8, 484-5, 517-20, 527-31, 552-3, 568-70, 577-8, 595, 597, etc.
```

- absolute 131, 573
- adjunct-free 235, 302, 316, 330, 450
- attentive 568
- infinite 121, 124, 141, 547, 584
- knows only itself 151, 302-4, 313, 324, 391, 407, 418, 423, 425, etc.
- light of 62, 329, 597
- non-dual *see* non-dual
- pure 2, 203, 217, 234, 329, 387, 484, 520
- thought-free 438, 441, 452-4, 461, 568
- unadulterated 2, 12, 23, 28, 94, 119, 121-2, 125, 179, 182, 219, 234-5, 303-4, 307, 312, 344, 427, 450, 484, 506
- self-contemplation 10, 22, 458, 461, 465, 526, 578
- self-created illusion 289, 479
- self-deception 5, 34-5, 37-8, 99, 101, 110, 119, 166, 189, 195, 198-9, 201, 213, 215, 293, 326, 365, 368, 375, 422, 467-8, 477, 500, 517, 575, 587-8, 609 (see also maya)
- self-delusion 90, 128, 130, 166, 309, 366, 373, 468, 477, 479, 505, 515, 541, 572-3, 575 (see also maya)
- self-denial 23-4, 468, 491, 599
- self-diffusion 373
- self-discovery 61-3, 91, 198, 358
- self-dissipation 375
- self-enquiry (*atma-vichara*) 23, 142, 159, 222, 437, 443-5, 449, 457 (*see also* self-investigation)
- self-evident 291, 302, 363, 456
- self-examination (*atma-vichara*) 22, 142, 159, 222, 342, 424, 436, 526
- self-forgetfulness 43-4, 119-26, 136-

- 41, 172, 204, 216-8, 222, 242-3, 365-81, 385, 465, 515, 546, 572, 595 (see also pramada)
- self-ignorance 7-9, 43-4, 62, 90, 115, 124-5, 134, 136-9, 155-6, 175-9, 197-9, 212, 216-7, 222, 307, 309-12, 326, 362, 365, 369-70, 374, 377, 379, 409, 419, 465, 475-6, 484, 517, 525, 549, 554, 572, 595, 597 (see also self-forgetfulness)
- self-imposed delusion 206, 374, 475, 505, 572
- self-inspection 22, 24
- self-investigation (atma-vichara) 7, 11, 22-4, 52, 54-5, 59-60, 63, 91, 106, 123, 142, 155, 159-60, 179, 182, 184, 186-7, 202, 204, 213, 216, 218-9, 222, 258, 262, 312, 319, 357, 378, 386-7, 391, 397, 401-2, 404, 406, 408-9, 424, 427, 429, 433, 435-60, 471, 475, 481, 486, 488, 492-3, 495-8, 501, 507, 514, 526-7, 529, 533-4, 543, 546-51, 569, 571-2
- self-knowledge 7-23, 43-5, 54-62, 75, 90-5, 106, 118-23, 137-43, 152-3, 159-62, 172-9, 184-5, 194-200, 310-3, 320-5, 342, 350-8, 370-90, 432-40, 465-8, 473-7, 484-93, 502-4, 512-8, 528-34, 538-40, 546-9, 568-9, 584-8, 592-6, 602-9, etc.
- non-dual *see* non-dual
- self-love 66-8, 278-9, 338-9, 463, 479, 572, 594, 597, 599, 603-4, etc.
- self-luminous consciousness 301, 530
- self-meditation (*svarupa-dhyana*) 216, 458, 515, 526, 551-2, 554-5, 562-8,
- 583 (*see also* self-attentiveness) self-negligence 515-6
- self-obscuration 375, 375
- self-questioning 23, 181, 437-9, 441-5, 447-51, 453-6
- self-remembrance 155-6, 159, 181, 187, 217, 220-2, 380-1, 458, 476, 507, 514, 525-8, 530, 581, 585

self-restraint 490, 495, 498, 533, 545-6, 599 self-righteousness 601 self-scrutiny (atma-vichara) 9, 22-3, 46, 91, 118, 123, 132, 142, 159-60, 165-6, 172-3, 176, 178, 184-5, 187, 203-4, 214, 216, 219, 222, 236, 262, 307, 309, 314-8, 331, 333-4, 343, 350-1, 354-5, 357, 374, 378, 381-2, 385-7, 402-3, 405-6, 408-9, 424, 436-8, 443-5, 450, 457-8, 471, 473, 486, 493, 507, 526, 541-3, 546-7, 549-53, 571-2, 575, 582 self-shining 35-6, 240-1, 243, 596 self-surrender 23-6, 60, 223-4, 275-6, 280-1, 328, 432-6, 447, 459-91, 496, 522, 524, 538, 573-6, 578-9, 594, 596-7, 607, 609-10 self-thought 24, 223-4, 458, 460-1, 513, 526 self-vigilance 176, 182, 186, 444, 454, 471, 490-1, 500-1, 507, 509, 512-5, 517, 524, 540, 543-4, 546, 553, 569, 576, 582, 592 selfhood 107, 314, 318-9, 399, 402-3, 609 selfishness 275, 462, 500, 588, 590-2, 599 (see also unselfishness) 'self-ness' 399 sense perception(s) – *see* perception(s) senses 4-5, 10, 32-4, 76, 96, 98-9, 102, 109, 114, 126, 157, 200, 205-8, 210, 226-7, 230-1, 269, 272, 292-6, 360, 365, 367, 371, 375, 389, 398-9, 420-1, 423, 430, 461, 498-500, 536, 569-71 semblance 152, 286, 291 separateness 26, 151, 272 — seeming separation 27, 127, 136, 151, 170, 272, 276-80, 304, 398, 425, 441, 552, 578 serenity 459, 588 service 490 (see also duty; responsibility)

— to God 579 sexual desire 79 'sheaths', five 163, 206-7, 533, 535-6 siddha (attained) 196, 200 siddha (person who has attained) 198 siddhi (attainment) 196-200 silence (mauna) 173, 179, 183, 193-4, 344-5, 350, 456, 504, 532 — alone reveals the reality 344-5 sin 275 — original 28, 30, 578 'sinking' within oneself 179, 219, 438, 483, 514, 518-33, 546, 550, 553, 581-2, 610 Siva (a form of God) 201, 274, 327, 481 siva-svarupa (God as our 'own form', the absolute reality) 201, 274 Sivaprakasam Pillai, Sri 143, 147, 156-8, 160, 612 skill in the art of being 1, 3, 46, 423, 462, 489-91, 498, 506, 527, 537, 544, 577, 580, 590 — is perfected by practice 489 sleep 1, 3-6, 36-7, 68-72, 84, 86-93, 95, 97-142, 169-70, 183-5, 200-2,

- 216-8, 227-31, 235-6, 241-4, 246-7, 314-5, 335-7, 352-4, 363-72, 375-87, 407-8, 417-9, 494, etc. (see also three states)
- consciousness in 6, 36-7, 89, 104-6, 111-5, 120-6, 141-2, 212, 217, 227, 236, 242, 246-7, 250, 315, 379, 428, 527-8, etc.
- darkness of 115, 123, 164, 207-8, 365-6, 369-70, 533, 535-6
- energy gained from 217
- experience in 5, 68-72, 104-5, 111-5, 121, 124-5, 129, 131, 133, 137-8, 157, 163-4, 184, 207, 212, 217, 227, 229, 246-7, 252, 336-7, 363-7, 369-72, 379, 407, 417-8, 535-6, etc.
- memory of 112-3
- of self-forgetfulness 43-4, 119, 136,

- 138-9, 141, 242-3, 367, 369, 371-2, 375, 385
- 'unconsciousness' in 5-6, 104-5, 111-5, 244-7, 336, 366, 369-70, 381
- we know that we exist in 5-6, 89, 104-6, 111-5, 122, 124, 170, 184, 212, 217-8, 244, 295, 314-5, 352-3, 363-6, 369-70, 379, 381, 419

smarana – see svarupa-smarana sol (word) 352

sol-porul (word-import) 352 sorporul – see sol-porul

sorupam ('own form', self) 194

soul 10-1, 23, 25, 29, 46, 170-2, 194,

201, 203, 273-5, 323, 354, 603-4 source 31, 41, 46, 80, 185, 189, 217,

219, 434, 458, 464, 523, 532, 541, 573, 597, 605, etc.

- of all knowledge 3, 27, 523
- of all happiness 67, 79, 436
- of all love 280
- of everything 12, 14, 27, 40-1, 59, 174, 214, 236, 558-9
- of mind, ego or '1' 63, 80, 88, 92, 171, 173-4, 174, 178-9, 181-2, 187, 191, 193, 214, 216-7, 219, 224-5, 236, 315-7, 327, 330, 350, 438, 444, 454, 470-1, 473, 483, 490-1, 507-8, 515, 519, 521, 526, 529-30, 532, 542-4, 550-3, 588, 592, 597, 605 space 162, 174, 192, 207, 209, 236, 282, 307, 339-42, 393-416, 497, 513, 567, 569-71, etc.
- and time see time and space
- of consciousness (*chidakasa*) 121, 173-4, 179, 236, 307, 344, 571
- of heart 176, 344
- of mind (*chittakasa*) 193, 236, 397-9, 410-1, 569, 571
- physical (*bhutakasa*) 236, 397-8, 400, 403, 405, 410, 571
 speculation, intellectual 19, 54
 spirit 10, 12-3, 16, 24-5, 27-32, 39-41, 161, 170-1, 179-80, 182, 194, 214-

- 5, 217, 349, 436-7, 448, 474, 478, 481, 485, 556, 569, 571, etc.
- being 'born' as 28-31
- infinite 12-3, 39, 179-80, 182, 214, 436, 478
- non-dual *see* non-dual spirit spiritual – *see* emancipation; *guru*; heart; liberation; maturity; path; philosophy; practice; progress; ripeness; salvation; science
- aspirant 9-10, 52, 386, 447, 477, 499, 539
- attainment 15, 467-8
- benefit 493, 497
- development 473
- endeavour 470
- experience 55
- guidance 18
- instruction 194
- knowledge 44
- teachings 16-7, 31, 40-1, 52-3, 446, 473
- traditions 19, 27-8, 31, 44-5, 50-2, 56
- truth 10

sravana ('hearing', reading, studying) 9-11, 54, 447, 537, 545, 588

Sri (sacred) 15

srishti (creation [of the universe]) 283 sthiti (sustenance [of the universe]) 283 sthula deha (physical body) 158 sthula sarira (physical body) 371 stillness 459

studying 9-10, 20, 22, 44, 52, 391, 447, 455, 533, 536-9, 541-4 (see also reading; *sravana*)

subha vasanas (agreeable impulsions) 589

- subject 221, 258, 347, 361, 396-9, 561
- and objects 169, 220-1, 225, 294, 296, 303-5, 313, 359-61, 397-9, 401, 426-7, 446, 566, 597
- attention to 97, 221 submitting ourself 459, 472, 476, 574,

610 155, 222, 458, 514, 525-6, 528 substance 5, 47, 134, 154, 207, 220, sva-svarupa-anusandhana (self-286, 318, 323, 328, 333, 343-5, 350investigation, self-attention) 24 2, 367, 395, 406, 493, 522, 555, 558-60, 562-3, 566, 597 talai-sayndidum (becomes head-bent, — of all things 12, 14, 39, 59, 126, dies) 543 tamas (darkness, delusion) 500-1, 505 134-5, 154, 161, 194, 209, 211, 240, 271, 279-80, 286, 298-9, 318, 321, Tamil 16, 21-2, 53, 55, 90-1, 134, 143-333-4, 337, 352, 415, 421, 560, 604 4, 160-3, 191-4, 202, 204, 220, 225, 258, 305, 327, 333, 339, 345-6, 350, subtle attention – see attention, subtle subtle body – see body, subtle 382, 397-9, 437, 439, 442-5, 450, subtle intellect – see intellect, subtle 455-6, 458, 466, 472, 474, 478, 502, suffering 8, 65-6, 68, 139, 177, 247-8, 508, 519, 521, 555-6, 563, 611-3 257, 275, 465-6, 480, 490, 499, 590-Tamil Lexicon 22 tamo-guna (quality of tamas or 3, 598, 601, 604-5, 607-9 Sufism 19 darkness) 500, 506 sukha (happiness) 92, 579 tan ('self' in Tamil) 140, 162, 192, sukshma sarira (subtle body) 203, 205, 202, 327-8, 443, 456, 560 371 tan am avan (he who is self) 560 tanadu oliyal eppodum ulladu (that sum ('am' in Latin) 347, 362 summa (just, merely, silently, which always exists by its own inactively) 193-4, 458, 504-5, 610 light) 345 summa amarndu irukka (when [we] tane (self itself, self alone) 162, 261 just are, having settled) 504 tane tane tattuvam ... (self itself alone summa iru (just be) 194 is the reality) 162 tanmai ('self-ness', the first person) summa irukkalam (let us just be) 610 summa iruppadu (just being) 193-4, 399, 402 458, 505 tanmaiyin unmaiyai (the truth of the sunya (void) 320 first person) 402 supernatural powers – *see* powers tanmatras ('it-only's, essences) 162 supreme word – *see* word, supreme tanmaya-ananda (bliss composed of surrender – see self-surrender tat, 'it' or the absolute reality) 531 sva (own) 24, 194 tanmaya-nishtha (abidance as tat, 'it' or the absolute reality) 335, 441 svarupa ('own form', essential nature, self) 24, 92, 155, 183, 193-4, 201-2, tannattam (self-attention) 456-7 222, 261, 274, 458, 492, 505, 511-5, tannul (within self) 128 525-6, 528, 533, 547, 554, 576 Taoism 19 svarupa-darsana ('seeing self', selftat ('it', 'this', 'that', brahman or the experience) 201 absolute reality) 323, 335, 343, 441, svarupa-dhyana (self-meditation, self-531 attentiveness) 458, 511-3, 515, 526, tat tvam asi (it you are) 323, 349 554 tattuvam – see tattva — tenacity in 511-3, 515 tattva ('it-ness', reality) 161-2, 578 svarupa-smarana (self-remembrance) tazhndu (having subsided, humbly) 610 tedutal (seeking) 457
Telugu 16, 21, 442, 611
tenacity – see self-attentiveness
tender-heartedness 593, 596-9, 603,
606-7, 609
tenderness 594, 605-7
testimony
— of people who are awake while w

- of people who are awake while we sleep 99-100, 111, 418
- of sages *see* sages, testimony of that we are *see* knowing that we are, but not what we are

that which is (*ulladu*) 334, 345, 475-6, 555-62, 565, 611

The Truth of Otherness 57 theology 23, 50-1, 332

thinking 70-2, 83-8, 156-60, 185, 223-4, 231-5, 305-6, 362-3, 461, 486-7, 513, 525-7, 532, 550-6, 562-6, etc.

- act of 37, 169, 224, 305, 461
- activity of 71, 84, 334-5, 509-10, 555, 574, etc.
- being without 510, 564, 569, 571
- mind cannot be without 23, 88, 118, 234
- process of 205, 224, 231-2 thought(s) 5-8, 36-7, 70-2, 80-95, 135-8, 167-93, 201-5, 212-27, 230-6, 273-5, 303-7, 316-8, 344-5, 350, 358-67, 370, 388-95, 398-405, etc.
- are mental images 129, 135, 151, 154, 167, 176, 183, 189-90, 214, 231, 273, 305, 307, 317-8, 324, 340, 370, 428, 430, 557, 571, etc.
- gap between two 83, 93-4, 234-5
- is imagination 80, 126, 174, 178, 205, 224, 360, 362, 365, 374, 389, 402, 486, 525, etc.
- of self 513 (see also self-thought)
- root 169, 171, 173, 175, 234-5, 318, 402 (see also thought 'I')

thought-free state 58, 94, 112, 227, 261, 344-5, 363, 382, 438-41, 445, 449-54, 457, 461, 465, 486, 489,

496-7, 502, 513, 524, 544, 550, 555, 558, 564-9, 573, 575, 577-80, 602 thought 'I' 168-9, 171, 173, 175, 179-81, 183, 192-3, 213, 216, 218-9, 221, 225-7, 234-5, 273, 318, 399-400, 492

- is imagination 'I am the body' 169, 173, 175, 180, 192, 213
- mind forms itself as 168-9, 175, 213, 224-5, 234-5

thought 'I am this body' 173-7, 202, 235, 350

thought 'who am I?' 182, 185, 449, 451-4

three *karmas* – *see karmas*, three three persons – *see* persons, three three places (*muvidam*) 397, 399 three states (waking, dream and sleep) 5-6, 53, 61-2, 69-70, 95, 97, 102, 106, 114, 116-8, 121-2, 143, 147, 149, 155, 164-5, 207, 209, 242, 297, 356-7, 366, 381-7

time

- and space 5-6, 12, 27, 30, 40, 129, 148-9, 153, 214-5, 249, 251, 313, 339-42, 354, 393-416, 449, 557
- is an illusion 393, 405-6
- is an imagination 130-1
- is non-existent 342

Tipitaka (Pali Canon) 48

tirobhava (self-hiding) – *see tirodhana tirodhana* (concealment, veiling) 283

Tiruvannamalai 13, 613

tiruvarul (divine grace) 475

tondrum (appears, becomes clear) 186

totality 30, 146, 207, 209, 279, 306,

350, 352, 415, 466, 496

triad (three factors of objective

knowledge) 305-8, 359-60

Trinity, Christian 474

triputi (triad) 305

true knowledge 2, 44, 54, 59, 91, 155, 177, 183, 189, 195, 198, 202, 222, 239, 291-391, 416, 423, 453, 473,

514, 516, 523, 532-3, 542-3, 550,	— verse 7: 206-9
573, 582, 608	— verse 8: 331-4
— is 'I am' 189, 295, 297-9, 302-4,	— verse 9: 306-9
319-21, 361, 364	— verse 10: 319
— is self-knowledge 295, 300-4	— verse 11: 319
— must be absolute 291-2, 297	— verse 12: 319-20
— must be non-dual 295-7, 302-4	— verse 13: 321
— must be self-conscious 297, 302-4	— verse 14: 401-3
trust in the testimony of sages 60-3	— verse 15: 394-5
truth, simplicity of 50-2, 215	— verse 16: 406-9
turiya (the 'fourth' state) 382-4	— verse 17: 153-5
turiyatita (the 'fourth-transcending')	— verse 18: 153-5
382-4	— verse 20: 326-8, 332
two karmas – see karmas, two	— verse 21: 325-6, 328, 330
U	— verse 22: 329-30
udal (body) 163, 402	— verse 23: 314-7
udal nan ennum at tanmai (that first	— verse 24: 171-2, 371
person which says 'I am this body')	— verse 25: 171-2, 546-7
402	— verse 26: 317-9
<i>Udana – see Tipitaka</i> (Pali Canon)	— verse 27: 552-3
ukkam-ullavan (he who has zeal) 513	— verse 28: 315-6, 518-24, 582
<i>ul</i> (be) 333, 555, 563	— verse 29: 550, 582-3
<i>ul</i> (within) 555	— verse 30: 350-2
ul-mai ('be'-ness, 'am'-ness) 333	— verse 31: 531-2
ulla (to be, of being, which is, real)	— verse 32: 550-1
343, 556, 358, 561-3, 566	— verse 35: 196-7
<i>ulla</i> (to think) 562	— verse 36: 552
ulla-porul (being-essence, substance	— verse 37: 310-3
which is) 343, 358, 562-3, 566	— verse 38: 258-62
ulla-unarvu (being-consciousness) 556,	— verse 39: 548-9
561-2	Ulladu Narpadu Anubandham 611-2
<i>ullade</i> (only being) 564, 568	— verse 16: 199-200
<i>ulladu</i> ('that which is', being) 345,	— verse 32: 383-5
475-6, 555-9, 561-2, 564-5	— verse 34: 537-8
<i>Ulladu Narpadu</i> 456, 555, 567, 611-2	— verse 35: 541-2
— <i>kalivenba</i> version 258, 306, 312,	— verse 36: 538-9
314, 316-7, 329, 395, 402, 407, 582	— verse 37: 539-40
— payiram (preface) 565	— verse 38: 540-1
— payram (pictace) 303 — mangalam 1: 555-69	<i>ullal</i> (thought, thinking) 556, 562-4,
— mangalam 1: 333-07 — mangalam 2: 478-86	566
— werse 1: 559-60	ullam (heart, core, mind, 'am') 164,
— verse 4: 273	•
— verse 4. 273 — verse 5: 206-9	343, 475, 556, 562-3, 566, 569
	— as word denoting 'am' 475, 563-4,
— verse 6: 206-9	566

— as word denoting intellect 164 ullatte (in 'heart' or 'core') 562-4, 568 ullutal (thinking) 556, 562 un adal kan (becoming food [is] seeing) 326 un ar karu ahandai (ego, [which is] the body-bound embryo) 220 unar (know) 164, 407, 564 unara nindra porul (the reality that exists knowingly) 407 unarvu (consciousness, knowledge) 324, 556, 561-2 unconsciousness 5-6, 86-7, 104-5, 107-9, 111-5, 146, 208, 244-8, 253-4, 306, 336-8, 366, 369-70, 381 — in sleep – see sleep — is not absolute 113-4, 146, 245-8, 253, 336 — relative 113-4, 120, 122, 247, 253-4 — seeming 105, 114-5, 163, 247, 381 understanding 6-11, 17, 21-2, 35, 42-52, 58-9, 61, 67-9, 130, 136, 159-60, 165-6, 196-7, 215, 220, 285, 357-8, 426-8, 433-4, 445-8, 488, 520-3, 541, 544-5, 567, 604-5, etc. — clear 32, 50, 55, 68, 106, 148, 196, 358, 426, 433, 447, 541, 544 — intellectual 7, 59, 74-5, 82, 358, 522-3 — theoretical 6-7, 28, 44, 61, 95, 97, 165, 197, 211, 285, 358, 534-5, 595, 604 unhappiness 7-9, 28, 68-72, 74, 79, 82, 85-90, 92-3, 120, 142, 146-7, 203, 222, 245, 247-8, 252-4, 306, 335-8, 433, 548 union 31, 46, 435, 470-1, 509 (see also yoga) — seeming 107-8, 229 unmai (truth, reality, 'am'-ness) 211, 308, 333, 402 (see also ul-mai) unselfishness 65, 462-3, 603 Upadesa Saram 611 (see also Upadesa *Undivar*)

```
Upadesa Tanippakkal 611-3
— verse 7: 598-9
— verse 8: 198
— verse 12: 321
— verse 13: 408-9
— verse 15: 24, 578
— verse 16: 386-7, 443-4
— verse 18: 147
— verse 25: 453
Upadesa Undiyar 611
— verse 2: 259-60
— verse 4: 331
— verse 8: 469-70, 551-2
— verse 9: 470, 578
— verse 10: 470-1
— verse 13: 378
— verse 14: 378
— verse 15: 531-2
— verse 16: 300-2, 322, 376
— verse 17: 172-3, 204, 546-7
— verse 18: 169
— verse 19: 543
— verse 20: 172-3, 350-2
— verse 21: 352-4
— verse 22: 163-5, 207
— verse 23: 334-5, 561-2
— verse 24: 323-4
— verse 25: 324-5
— verse 26: 140, 335, 440-1
— verse 27: 320-1
— verse 28: 147, 339-42
— verse 29: 578-9
upadha (to place upon, seize) 324
upadhi (adjunct, superimposition,
  disguise) 324, 329, 353, 543, 570
upadhi-unarvu (adjunct-sense) 324
upanishad (a philosophical text in the
   Vedas) 18, 323, 343
— Aitareya 323
— Brihadaranyaka 323, 343
— Chandogya 323
— Mandukya 323
upasana (worship, adoration) 482
— nirguna 482
```

— saguna 482 upaya (approach, way, means) 261 upeya (aim, goal, that which is to be approached or achieved) 261 upeyamum tane upayamum tane (the aim is only self, and the means is only self) 261 uran (mental strength) 551 uru (form) 332, 513-4 urupaduvan (will be reformed) 513-4 usa (subtle investigation) 443, 458 usaval (by subtle investigation) 443 usavutal (investigating keenly) 458 uyarvu (superior) 331 uyir (life) 164 uyyadu (not reviving) 177 vachyartha (literal meaning) 449-50, 452 vairagya (desirelessness) 514, 516, 522-5, 528-9, 531, 544, 574, 586, 588, 590, 605 vaittiruppadu (keeping fixed) 439-40 Vasishtha 15 vasana (predisposition, inclination, impulsion, desire) 158, 222, 259, 261, 282, 492, 506, 508, 510-2, 514-5, 522, 528-31, 588-9 vastu (substance, essence, reality) 134, 344-5, 493 vastu-upalabdhi (direct knowledge of the reality or true essence) 493 vastu-vichara (scrutiny of our essential reality) 493 vattu (substance, vastu) 134 vattuvam (which is the substance) 134 vazhi (path) 378 veda (knowledge) 18, 355 Vedas 15, 18, 323, 337, 343, 349, 355, 550 — *Atharva* 323 — *Rig* 323 — Sama 323

— *Yajur* 323

vedanta (the 'end' or final conclusion of the Vedas) 18-20, 22, 26, 31, 47, 49, 157, 159-60, 163, 191, 236, 285-6, 310, 320, 323, 335, 337, 339, 355-6, 365, 371, 377, 382, 427, 435, 506, 515, 520, 535, 537 vedantic concepts 160 vedantic philosophy 18 vegan 499 (see also vegetarian) vegetarian 495, 601 (see also vegan) veiling of reality 283, 365-6 *venba* (a four-line Tamil poetic metre) 258, 555 (see also kalivenba) vichar (to investigate, ascertain) 445 vichara (investigation, scrutiny) 22-3, 91, 142, 155, 159, 216, 218, 312, 437, 439-41, 443-4, 453-8, 492-3, 495-6, 514, 526-7, 529, 534, 543, 549-50, 553 vicharittal (investigating) 444-5 vidappidiyay pidikka vendum (should cling tenaciously to) 513 vidya (knowledge, philosophy, science, art) 502, 504-5, 611 vigilance 603 (see also self-vigilance) vijnanamaya kosa ('sheath' composed of discriminative knowledge) 163-4 vikshepa sakti (power of dissipation) 365-6, 373, 375-6, 500 vilakkam (light) 344 vinavum (which is scrutinising) 443-4 vinavutal (investigating) 443-4 *vinmai* (blueness of the sky) 306-7 vinai-mudal (doer of action) 254 virtue 463, 490, 498, 600-1, 605 visesha (distinction, difference, special quality) 283 vishayas (sense 'domains', sense perceptions, sense pleasures, sense objects) 158 vishaya-vasanas (desires that impel us to attend to sense perceptions and to seek sense enjoyments) 158, 222,

511, 514, 529 (see also vasana)

vision – see God, vision of visishtadvaita (qualified or 'differential' non-duality) 18 vittu pondra (seed-like) 258 viveka (discrimination, discernment, power to distinguish the real from the unreal) 427, 522-5, 529-30 Vivekachudamani 90, 612

- avatarikai (introduction) 90-1, 612
- verse 11: 493
- verse 31: 24
- verse 60: 52
- verse 364: 10, 545

void (sunya) 320

vyavahara (doing, activity, conduct, affair, business) 129-30, 286
vyavaharika satya (relative reality)
286-7

W

wakeful sleep (*jagrat-sushupti*) 382-7 waking state 4-6, 34-7, 68-72, 87-90, 97-103, 107-38, 205-12, 263-71, 360-72, 379-87, 417-8, etc. (*see also* three states)

- is a dream 4-5, 110, 119, 128-38, 196, 206, 242, 266-70, 367-9, etc.
- is a product of our imagination 5, 35, 110, 136, 189, 206, 368, etc.
- is only thoughts 132, 138, etc.
- real or true 119, 141, 196, 592, etc. 'we' (*nam*) 296, 334, 406-9, 560, 562
- as first person inclusive pronoun 296

'what am I?' 317, 350, 551

what we are -see knowing that we are, but not what we are

'who am I?' 23, 91, 142-3, 173, 176, 178, 182, 184-7, 216, 218, 262, 350, 437-45, 447-56, 507, 514-5, 529

Who am I? – see Nan Yar? whole 12, 19, 27-30, 39, 42-3, 107, 146, 150, 173, 207, 209, 239-40, 249, 251, 277, 283, 295, 297, 338-9, 341, 343, 350-2, 415, 604

- love 603
- --- self 170
- truth 39, 42, 343

wholeness 27-9, 31, 43, 147, 297, 320 will of God – *see* God, will of word, supreme (*para-vak*) 344-5 world 4-5, 32-5, 92-3, 98-103, 107-11, 126-31, 196-8, 200-12, 255-7, 265-6, 269-74, 283-9, 360-2, 365-71, 558-60, 586-93, 601-2, 604-10, etc.

- disappears when self appears 201-2
- does not exist in sleep 99-102, 109-11, 369-70, 417-8, etc.
- is a dream 43, 99-102, 161-2, 189, 196-7, 203, 257, 592, 609, etc.
- is an imagination 4-5, 99-102, 118, 126, 189-90, 197, 201, 205-6, 255, 266, 269-74, 360, 365, 592, etc.
- is destroyed when mind is destroyed 200-1
- is mental projection 4-5, 202-3, 205-6, 365-6, 399, 559, etc.
- is only in our mind 101-2, 128-9, 135-6, 198, 207, 360, 605, etc.
- is thought 92-3, 129, 135, 168, 176-7, 201-3, 273-4, etc.
- reality of 99, 101-2, 110, 153-5, 196, 257, 265-6, 284-5, etc. worship 17, 180, 331-2, 470, 475, 481-3, 490, 610

\mathbf{V}

ya ma (what is not) 373
yar (who) 143, 350, 450
yathartha svarupa (real self) 533, 547
yatna (effort) 281-2
yielding ourself 276, 459, 466-7, 472,
574-6, 578
yoga (union, means to attain union)
198, 435, 470-1, 490, 494, 538
Yoga and the Art of Being 57
yogi (one who has attained union, or
who is seeking union) 531
yogic (pertaining to yoga) 160
— practices 184, 196, 378, 492